
           
FINAL AGENDA

*A M E N D E D
 

REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING
TUESDAY
MARCH 22, 2016

  COUNCIL CHAMBERS
211 WEST ASPEN AVENUE

4:00 P.M. AND 6:00 P.M.
 

4:00 P.M. MEETING
 

Individual Items on the 4:00 p.m. meeting agenda may be postponed to the 6:00 p.m.
meeting.

             
1. CALL TO ORDER

NOTICE OF OPTION TO RECESS INTO EXECUTIVE SESSION

Pursuant to A.R.S. §38-431.02, notice is hereby given to the members of the City Council and to
the general public that, at this regular meeting, the City Council may vote to go into executive
session, which will not be open to the public, for legal advice and discussion with the City’s
attorneys for legal advice on any item listed on the following agenda, pursuant to A.R.S.
§38-431.03(A)(3).

 

2. ROLL CALL

NOTE: One or more Councilmembers may be in attendance telephonically or by other technological means.

MAYOR NABOURS
VICE MAYOR BAROTZ
COUNCILMEMBER BREWSTER
COUNCILMEMBER EVANS

COUNCILMEMBER ORAVITS
COUNCILMEMBER OVERTON
COUNCILMEMBER PUTZOVA

 

3. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE AND MISSION STATEMENT

MISSION STATEMENT

The mission of the City of Flagstaff is to protect and enhance the quality of life of its citizens.
 

4. APPROVAL OF MINUTES FROM PREVIOUS MEETINGS
 

A.   Consideration and Approval of Minutes: City Council Work Session of September 29,
2015; City Council Work Session of January 12, 2016; the Regular Council Meeting of
February 2, 2016; The Regular Council Meeting of February 16, 2016; the Special Meeting
(Executive Session) of February 29, 2016; the Special Meeting (Executive Session) of March
1, 2016; the Regular Council Meeting of March 1, 2016; the Special Meeting (Executive
Session) of March 8, 2016; and the Special Meeting (Executive Session) of March 11, 2016.

 

5. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 



5. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 

Public Participation enables the public to address the Council about an item that is not on the
agenda. Comments relating to items that are on the agenda will be taken at the time that the
item is discussed. If you wish to address the Council at tonight's meeting, please complete a
comment card and submit it to the recording clerk as soon as possible. Your name will be called
when it is your turn to speak. You may address the Council up to three times throughout the
meeting, including comments made during Public Participation. Please limit your remarks to
three minutes per item to allow everyone an opportunity to speak. At the discretion of the Chair,
ten or more persons present at the meeting and wishing to speak may appoint a representative
who may have no more than fifteen minutes to speak. 

 

6. PROCLAMATIONS AND RECOGNITIONS
 

7. APPOINTMENTS

Pursuant to A.R.S. §38-431.02, notice is hereby given to the members of the City Council and to
the general public that the City Council may vote to go into executive session, which will not be
open to the public, for the purpose of discussing or considering employment, assignment,
appointment, promotion, demotion, dismissal, salaries, disciplining or resignation of a public
officer, appointee, or employee of any public body...., pursuant to A.R.S. §38-431.03(A)(1).

 

A.   Consideration of Appointments:  Open Space Commission.
 

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  Make two appointments to terms expiring April 2019.

Make one appointment to a term expiring April 2018.
 

B.   Consideration of Appointments:  Disability Awareness Commission.
 

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  Make three appointments to terms expiring March 2019.
 

8. LIQUOR LICENSE PUBLIC HEARINGS
 

A.   Consideration and Action on Liquor License Application: Rochan Goswami, “VP Racing",
4501 N. Hwy. 89, Series 10 (beer and wine store), New License.

 

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  Hold the Public Hearing; absent any valid concerns received from the public hearing, staff

recommends the Council forward a recommendation for approval to the State.
 

9. CONSENT ITEMS

All matters under Consent Agenda are considered by the City Council to be routine and will be
enacted by one motion approving the recommendations listed on the agenda. Unless otherwise
indicated, expenditures approved by Council are budgeted items.



 

A.   Consideration and Approval of Contract:  Annual Service Agreement for Landscape
Maintenance Services with Morning Dew Landscape to provide landscape maintenance and
snow removal services at City of Flagstaff facilities.

 

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  Accept the lowest, most responsive and responsible proposal from Morning Dew

Landscape of Flagstaff, in the amount of $114,160.00 to provide landscape maintenance
and snow removal services in the bid amount outlined on the attached bid tabulation and
approve the Annual Service Agreement with Morning Dew Landscape.

 

B.   Consideration and Approval of Cooperative Contract:  Contract with General Acrylics of
Phoenix, Arizona to replace the Nova Pro-Court XP - Synthetic Court Overlayment System
on three (3) tennis courts at McPherson Park in the amount of $113,643.87.

 

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  Approve the purchase of services for the replacement and installation of the Nova

Pro-Court XP - Synthetic Court Overlayment System by General Acrylics of Phoenix,
Arizona in the amount of $113,643.87 utilizing a cooperative purchase agreement through
Mohave Educational Services Contract # 150-GA13-020.  

 

C.   Consideration and Approval of Contract:  Approve contract with Buffalo Fence for Airport
Security Gates to replace three vehicle access gates and the control units at the Flagstaff
Airport.

 

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  Approve the contract with Buffalo Fence with the lowest bid of $77,556.10.
 

D.   Consideration and Approval of Contract:  Street Maintenance 2016 improvements -
Construction Phase 1. (MOVED FROM THE ROUTINE AGENDA)*

 

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  1)  Approve the Construction Manager at Risk Contract with C and E Paving and Grading,

LLC in an amount not to exceed $ 2,838,240.00 for Guaranteed Maximum Price (GMP) #
1. Authorize staff to perform asphalt surface treatments of Pulliam Drive at Pulliam Airport
not to exceed $200,000.00.
2) Authorize Change Order Authority of 10% each for GMP # 1 in the amount of $
283,824.00, to cover potential costs associated with unanticipated or additional items of
work.
3) Authorize the City Manager to execute the necessary documents.

 



             
10. ROUTINE ITEMS
 

A.   Consideration and Approval of Intergovernmental Agreement:  Between the State of
Arizona, Department of Public Safety and the City regarding the State Gang Task Force.

 

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  Approve the Intergovernmental Agreement DPS Contract #2016-023 between the

State of Arizona, Department of Public Safety and the City regarding the State Gang
Task Force.

 

B.   Consideration and Possible Adoption of Ordinance No. 2016-10:  An ordinance
authorizing the acquisition and dedication of certain real property as a public right-of-way
for the construction of permanent ADA ramps associated with the crosswalks on Fourth
Street at Third Avenue and at Dortha Ave.  (Acquisition of property for ADA ramps on
Fourth Street Project)

 

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
   At the March 22, 2016 City Council Meeting

1) Read Ordinance No. 2016-10 by title only for the first time
2) City Clerk reads Ordinance No. 2016-10 by title only for the first time (if approved
above)
At the April 5, 2016 City Council Meeting
3) Read Ordinance No. 2016-10 by title only for the final time
4) City Clerk reads Ordinance No. 2016-10 by title only for the final time (if approved
above)
5) Adopt Ordinance No. 2016-10 Read Ordinance

 

C.   Consideration and Approval of Contract:   With Sellers & Sons, Inc. in the amount of
$1,914,238.50 for the Brannen Neighborhood Water and Sewer Improvement Project,
Phase I.

 

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  1)  Approve the construction contract with Sellers & Sons, Inc. in the amount of

$1,914,238.50 (includes a contract allowance in the amount of $89,605.00 and contract
time of 200 days);  
2)  Approve Change Order Authority to the City Manager in the amount of $182,463.00
(10% of the contract amount, less allowance);
3)  Authorize the City Manager to execute the necessary documents.

 

D.   Consideration and Possible Adoption of Resolution No. 2016-14:  A resolution of the
City Council of the City of Flagstaff authorizing signatures for checks and payment
vouchers  (Authority to Sign Checks)  

 

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  1) Read Resolution No. 2016-14 by title only

2) City Clerk reads Resolution No. 2016-14 by title only (if approved above)
3) Adopt Resolution No. 2016-14



 

E.   Consideration and Adoption of Clean-Up Ordinances:

Consideration and Adoption of Ordinance No. 2016-11:  An ordinance of the City
Council of the City of Flagstaff Amending the Flagstaff City Code, Title 1, Administrative,
Chapter 15, Municipal Court, Division 1, Section 2, Municipal Judge, Presiding
Magistrate, Hearing Officers, to Require all Municipal Judges to be Admitted to the
Practice of Law in the State of Arizona; Providing for Repeal of Conflicting Ordinances,
Severability, and Establishing an Effective Date  (Municipal Judge Qualifications)

Consideration and Adoption of Ordinance No. 2016-12:  An ordinance of the City
Council of the City of Flagstaff, Amending the Flagstaff City Code, Title 1, Administrative,
Chapter 24, Insurance, Division 1, Section 7, Insurance, to Increase the Authority of the
City Manager to Settle Claims up to Fifty Thousand Dollars; Providing for Repeal of
Conflicting Ordinances, Severability, and Establishing an Effective Date.  (Bringing City
Code Consistent with Charter Regarding City Manager's Authority to Settle Claims)

 

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  1) Read Ordinance No. 2016-11 by title only for the final time

2) City Clerk reads Ordinance No. 2016-11 by title only (if approved above)
3) Adopt Ordinance No. 2016-11
4) Read Ordinance No. 2016-12 by title only for the final time
5) City Clerk reads Ordinance No. 2016-12 by title only (if approved above)
6) Adopt Ordinance No. 2016-12

 

RECESS 

6:00 P.M. MEETING

RECONVENE
 

NOTICE OF OPTION TO RECESS INTO EXECUTIVE SESSION
 

Pursuant to A.R.S. §38-431.02, notice is hereby given to the members of the City Council
and to the general public that, at this regular meeting, the City Council may vote to go into
executive session, which will not be open to the public, for legal advice and discussion with
the City’s attorneys for legal advice on any item listed on the following agenda, pursuant to
A.R.S. §38-431.03(A)(3 ).

 
 

11. ROLL CALL

NOTE: One or more Councilmembers may be in attendance telephonically or by other
technological means.

MAYOR NABOURS
VICE MAYOR BAROTZ
COUNCILMEMBER BREWSTER
COUNCILMEMBER EVANS

COUNCILMEMBER ORAVITS
COUNCILMEMBER OVERTON
COUNCILMEMBER PUTZOVA

 



12. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION
 

13. CARRY OVER ITEMS FROM THE 4:00 P.M. AGENDA
 

14. PUBLIC HEARING ITEMS
 

A.   Public Hearing, Consideration and Possible Adoption of Resolution No. 2016-13
and Ordinance No. 2016-22:  Public hearing to consider proposed amendments to
Flagstaff Zoning Code, Chapter 10-50 (Supplemental to Zones), Division 10-50.100 (Sign
Standards), and other related amendments in Chapter 10-20 (Administration, Procedures
and Enforcement), Chapter 10-80 (Definitions) and Chapter 10-90 (Maps); consideration
of Resolution No. 2016-13 declaring the proposed amendments as a public record; and
adoption of Ordinance No. 2016-22, adopting amendments to Flagstaff Zoning Code
Chapter 10-50 (Supplemental to Zones), Division 10-50.100 (Sign Standards), and other
related amendments in Chapter 10-20 (Administration, Procedures and Enforcement),
Chapter 10-80 (Definitions) and Chapter 10-90 (Maps), by reference.  (Zoning Code
Amendments - Sign Standards)

 

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
   At the Council Meeting of March 22, 2016

1) Hold public hearing
2) Read Resolution No. 2016-13 by title only
3) City Clerk reads Resolution No. 2016-13 (if approved above)
4) Read Ordinance No. 2016-22 for the first time by title only
5) City Clerk reads Ordinance No. 2016-22 for the first time by title only (if approved
above)
At the Council Meeting of April 5, 2016
6) Adopt Resolution No. 2016-13 (declaring a public record)
7) Read Ordinance No. 2016-22 for the final time by title only
8) City Clerk reads Ordinance No. 2016-22 by title for the final time (if approved above)
9) Adopt Ordinance No. 2016-22

 

B. HUB Student Housing Development
 

1.   Public Hearing, Consideration, and Adoption of Ordinance No. 2016-08:   An
ordinance of the Flagstaff City Council amending the Flagstaff Zoning Map Downtown
Regulating Plan designation of approximately 0.29 acres of land generally located west of
the southwest corner of Mikes Pike and Phoenix Avenue from the T4 Neighborhood 1 -
Open (T4N.1-O) and T5 Main Street (T5) transect zones to the T4 Neighborhood 2
(T4N.2) transect zone and of approximately 1.35 acres located at 17 S Mikes Pike from
the T4 Neighborhood 1 - Open (T4N.1-O) transect zone to the T5 Main Street (T5)
transect zone, conditional.  (The Hub Zoning Map Amendment) *ORDER CHANGED
TO DISCUSS SECOND READ OF ORDINANCE PRIOR TO DEVELOPMENT
AGREEMENT

 

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  1)  Read Ordinance No. 2016-08 by title only for the final time

2) City Clerk reads Ordinance No. 2016-08 by title only (if approved above)
3)  Adopt Ordinance No. 2016-08

 



 

2.   Consideration and Possible Adoption of Resolution No. 2016-18:  A resolution
authorizing the execution of a Development Agreement between Core Campus Flagstaff
LLC and the City of Flagstaff related to the development of approximately 2.39 acres of
real property generally located at 17 S Mikes Pike.  (HUB Development Agreement) 
*ORDER CHANGED TO CONSIDER SECOND READ OF ORDINANCE PRIOR TO
DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

 

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  1) Read Resolution No. 2016-18 by title only

2) City Clerk reads Resolution No. 2016-18 by title only (if approved above)
3) Adopt Resolution No. 2016-18

 

C. McMillan Mesa
 

1.   Public Hearing, Consideration and Possible Adoption of Resolution No. 2016-08:  A
resolution amending the Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 to change the area type
designation on Maps 21 and 22 from Area in White area type to Existing Suburban area
type for approximately 6.31 acres located at 1800 N. Gemini Drive.  (McMillan Mesa
minor Regional Plan Amendment)

 

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  1) Hold Public Hearing

2) Read Resolution No.2016-08 by title only
3) City Clerk reads Resolution No. 2016-08 by title only (if approved above)
4) Adopt Resolution No. 2016-08

 

2.   Public Hearing, Consideration and Possible Adoption of Ordinance No. 2016-04: 
An Ordinance of the City Council of the City of Flagstaff, Amending the Flagstaff Zoning
Map to rezone approximately 26.17 acres of real property located on McMillan Mesa, from
Suburban Commercial (SC) to Medium Density Residential (MR) for 7.67 acres, from
Research and Development (RD) to Medium Density Residential (MR) for 13.66 acres,
and from Residential Single-Family (R1) to Public Open Space (POS) for 4.84 acres, and 
amending to the McMillan Mesa Village Specific Plan to reallocate 192 units from
Development Area B to Development Areas C, D1 and D3.  (McMillan Mesa Village
Zoning Map and Specific Plan Amendments)

 

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  At the March 22, 2016 Council Meeting:

1) Hold the Public Hearing
2) Read Ordinance No. 2016-14 by title only for the first time
3) City Clerk reads Ordinance No. 2016-14 by title only (if approved above)
At April 5, 2016 Council Meeting:
4) Read Ordinance No. 2016-14 by title only for the final time
5) City Clerk read Ordinance No. 2016-14 by title only (if approved above)
6) Adopt Ordinance No. 2016-14

 

D. Ordinances re Open Space Designations



D. Ordinances re Open Space Designations
The following items are all proposed to address annexations, amendments to the flagstaff
Regional Plan 2030 designations, and rezoning for City-owned land including Guadalupe
Park, Highland Avenue parcels, Buffalo Park West, Observatory Mesa and Picture Canyon
for public recreation and open space purposes and will be considered during one Public
Hearing, following by individual actions.

 

1. Observatory Mesa
 

a.   Public Hearing, Consideration and Possible Adoption of Ordinance No. 2016-20: An
ordinance of the City Council of the City of Flagstaff, Arizona, extending and increasing
the corporate limits of the City of Flagstaff, Coconino County, State of Arizona, pursuant
to the provisions of Title 9, Chapter 4, Arizona Revised Statutes, by annexing certain land
totaling approximately 640.51 acres located in Section 12, Township 21 North, Range 6
East, which land is contiguous to the existing corporate limits of the City of Flagstaff, and
establishing city zoning for said land as Public Open Space (POS) for 640.51 acres.
(Observatory Mesa Annexation)

 

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  At the March 22, 2016 Council Meeting:

1) Hold Public Hearing
2) Read Ordinance No. 2016-20 by title for the first time
3) City Clerk reads Ordinance No. 2016-20 by title only for the first time (if approved
above)
At the April 5, 2016 Council Meeting:
4) Read Ordinance No. 2016-20 by title only for the final time
5) City Clerk reads Ordinance no. 2016-20 by title for the final time (if approved above)
6) Adopt Ordinance No. 2016-20

 

b.   Public Hearing, Consideration and Possible Adoption of Resolution No. 2016-12:  A
resolution amending the Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 to change the area type
designation on Maps 21 and 22 from Area in White area type and State Land
to Parks/Open Space area type for approximately 2253.20 acres located on
Observatory Mesa. (Observatory Mesa Minor Regional Plan Amendment)

 

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  1) Hold the Public Hearing

2) Read resolution No. 2016-12 by title only
3) City Clerk reads Resolution No. 2016-12 by title only (if approved above)
4) Adopt Resolution No. 2016-12

 

c.   Public Hearing, Consideration and Possible Adoption of Ordinance No. 2016-21: 
An ordinance of the City Council of the City of Flagstaff, amending the Flagstaff Zoning
Map to rezone approximately 1610.69 acres of real property located on Observatory
Mesa, from Rural Residential ("RR") to Public Open Space ("POS"), and approximately
2.0 acres from Rural Residential ("RR") to Public Facility ("PF") and to apply the Resource
Protection Overlay ("RPO") to approximately 640.51 acres.  (Observatory Mesa Zoning
Map Amendment)

 

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:



  At the March 22, 2016 Council Meeting:
1) Hold Public Hearing
2)  Read Ordinance No. 2016-21 by title for the first time
3)  City Clerk reads Ordinance No. 2016-21 by title only for the first time (if approved
above)
At the April 5, 2016 Council Meeting:
4)  Read Ordinance No. 2016-21 by title only for the final time
5)  City Clerk reads Ordinance no. 2016-21 by title for the final time (if approved above)
6)  Adopt Ordinance No. 2016-21

 

2. Picture Canyon
 

a.   Public Hearing, Consideration and Possible Adoption of Ordinance No. 2016-18: An
ordinance of the City Council of the City of Flagstaff Arizona, extending and increasing the
corporate limits of the City of Flagstaff, Coconino County, State of Arizona, pursuant to
the provisions of Title 9, Chapter 4, Arizona Revised Statutes, by annexing certain land
totaling approximately 77.8 acres located in Section 4, Township 21 North, Range 8 East,
which land is contiguous to the existing corporate limits of the City of Flagstaff, and
establishing no city zoning for said land.  (Picture Canyon Annexation)

 

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  At the March 22, 2016 Council Meeting:

1) Hold Public Hearing
2) Read Ordinance No. 2016-18 by title only for the first time
3) City Clerk reads Ordinance No. 2016-18 by title only for the first time (if approved
above)
At the April 5, 2016 Council Meeting:
4) Read Ordinance No. 2016-18 by title only for the final time
5 City Clerk reads Ordinance No. 2016-18 by title for the final time (if approved above)
6) Adopt Ordinance No. 2016-18

 

b.   Public Hearing, Consideration and Possible Adoption of Ordinance No. 2016-19: 
An ordinance of the City Council of the City of Flagstaff, amending the Flagstaff Zoning
Map to rezone approximately 477.8 acres of real property known as Picture Canyon, from
No Zoning (County) and Rural Residential (RR) to Public Open Space (POS), and to
apply the Landmarks Overlay (LO), the Resource Protection Overlay (RPO) and the Rural
Floodplain Designation to approximately 77.8 acres.  (Picture Canyon Zoning Map
Amendment)

 

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  At the March 22, 2016 Council Meeting:

1)  Hold Public Hearing
2)  Read Ordinance No. 2016-19 by title only for the first time
3)  City Clerk reads Ordinance No. 2016-19 by title only for the first time (if approved
above)
At the April 5, 2016 Council Meeting:
4)  Read Ordinance No. 2016-19 by title only for the final time
5)  City Clerk reads Ordinance No. 2016-19 by title for the final time (if approved above)
6)  Adopt Ordinance No. 2016-19

 



3. Buffalo Park Extension
 

a.   Public Hearing, Consideration and Possible Adoption of Resolution No. 2016-10:  A
resolution amending the Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 to change the area type
designation on Maps 21 and 22 from Area in White area type to Park/Open Space area
type for approximately 26.03 acres located at the northeast corner of Fir Avenue and
North San Francisco Street.  (Buffalo Park West Minor Regional Plan Amendment)

 

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  1) Hold the Public Hearing

2) Read Resolution No. 2016-10 by title only
3) City Clerk reads Resolution No. 2016-10 by title only (if approved above)
4) Adopt Resolution No. 2016-10

 

b.   Public Hearing, Consideration and Possible Adoption of Ordinance No. 2016-16: 
An ordinance of the City Council of the City of Flagstaff, amending the Flagstaff Zoning
Map to rezone approximately 26.03 acres of real property located at the northeast corner
of Fir Avenue and North San Francisco Street, from Single Family Residential (R1)
and Public Facility (PF) to Public Open Space (POS), and to apply the Rural Floodplain
Designation.   (Buffalo Park West Zoning Map Amendment) 

 

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  At the March 22, 2016 Council Meeting:

1) Hold the Public Hearing
2) Read Ordinance No. 2016-16 by title only for the first time
3) City Clerk reads Ordinance No. 2016-16 by title only (if approved above)
At the April 5, 2016 Council Meeting:
4) Read Ordinance No. 2016-16 by title only for the final time
5) City Clerk reads Ordinance No. 2016-16 by title only (if approved above)
6)  Adopt Ordinance No. 2016-16

 

4. Guadalupe Park
 

a.   Public Hearing, Consideration and Possible Adoption of Resolution No. 2016-09: A
resolution amending the Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 to change the area type
designations on Maps 21 and 22 from Existing Suburban and Future Urban to Park/Open
Space area type for approximately 1.07 acres located at 805 West Clay Avenue.
(Guadalupe Park Minor Regional Plan Amendment)

 

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  1) Hold the Public Hearing

2) Read Resolution No. 2016-09 by title only
3) City Clerk reads Resolution No. 2016-09 by title only (if approved above)
4) Adopt Resolution No. 2016-09

 

b.   Public Hearing, Consideration and Possible Adoption of Ordinance No. 2016-15: 



b.   Public Hearing, Consideration and Possible Adoption of Ordinance No. 2016-15: 
An ordinance of the City of Flagstaff, amending the Flagstaff Zoning Map to rezone
approximately 1.07 acres of real property located at 805 West Clay Avenue, from
Highway Commercial (HC) to Public Facility (PF).  (Guadalupe Park Zoning Map
Amendment)

 

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  At the March 22, 2016 Council Meeting:

1) Hold the Public Hearing
2) Read Ordinance No. 2016-15 by title only for the first time
3) City Clerk reads Ordinance No. 2016-15 by title only (if approved above)
At the April 5, 2016 Council Meeting:
4) Read Ordinance No. 2016-15 by title only for the final time
5) City Clerk reads Ordinance No. 2016-15 by title only (if approved above)
6)  Adopt Ordinance No. 2016-15

 

5. Highland Avenue Parcels
 

a.   Public Hearing, Consideration and Possible Adoption of Resolution No. 2016-11:  A
resolution amending the Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 to change the area type
designation on Maps 21 and 22 from Future Suburban area type to Park/Open Space
area type for approximately 5.31 acres located off Highland Avenue.  (Highland Avenue
Minor Regional Plan Amendment)

 

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  1) Hold the Public Hearing

2) Read Resolution No. 2016-11 by title only
3) City Clerk reads Resolution No. 2016-11 by title only (if approved above)
4) Adopt Resolution No. 2016-11

 

b.   Public Hearing, Consideration and Possible Adoption of Ordinance No. 2016-17: 
An ordinance of the City of Flagstaff amending the Flagstaff Zoning Map to rezone
approximately 5.31 acres of real property located off Highland Avenue from Highway
Commercial (HC) to Public Facility (PF).  (Highland Avenue Zoning Map Amendment)

 

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  At the March 22, 2016 Council Meeting:

1) Hold the Public Hearing
2) Read Ordinance No. 2016-17 by title only for the first time
3) City Clerk reads Ordinance No. 2016-17 by title only (if approved above)
At the April 5, 2016 Council Meeting:
4) Read Ordinance No. 2016-17 by title only for the final time
5) City Clerk reads Ordinance No. 2016-17 by title only (if approved above)
6)  Adopt Ordinance No. 2016-17

 

15. REGULAR AGENDA
 

A. Discussion and Possible Action re: Current Issues Before the Arizona Legislature
 



 

B.   Consideration to Remove Item from Table and Postpone: Settlement Agreement and
Release between the Hopi Tribe and the City of Flagstaff. (Removal of item from the
table and postponing action to a future meeting) 
THE COUNCIL WILL NOT DISCUSS THIS ITEM - THEY WILL MAKE A MOTION TO
REMOVE FROM THE TABLE AND POSTPONE TO A DATE SELECTED BY THE CITY
MANAGER.

 

16. DISCUSSION ITEMS

None
 

17. FUTURE AGENDA ITEM REQUESTS

After discussion and upon agreement by a majority of all members of the Council, an item
will be moved to a regularly-scheduled Council meeting.

None
 

18. INFORMATIONAL ITEMS AND REPORTS FROM COUNCIL AND STAFF, FUTURE
AGENDA ITEM REQUESTS

 

19. ADJOURNMENT
 

CERTIFICATE OF POSTING OF NOTICE 

The undersigned hereby certifies that a copy of the foregoing notice was duly posted at Flagstaff City Hall on ___________ , at
_________ a.m./p.m. in accordance with the statement filed by the City Council with the City Clerk.

Dated this _____ day of _________________, 2016.

____________________________________
Elizabeth A. Burke, MMC, City Clerk                                 



  4. A.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT

To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Elizabeth A. Burke, City Clerk

Date: 03/17/2016

Meeting Date: 03/22/2016

TITLE
Consideration and Approval of Minutes: City Council Work Session of September 29, 2015; City
Council Work Session of January 12, 2016; the Regular Council Meeting of February 2, 2016; The
Regular Council Meeting of February 16, 2016; the Special Meeting (Executive Session) of February 29,
2016; the Special Meeting (Executive Session) of March 1, 2016; the Regular Council Meeting of March
1, 2016; the Special Meeting (Executive Session) of March 8, 2016; and the Special Meeting (Executive
Session) of March 11, 2016.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Amend/approve the minutes of the City Council Work Session of September 29, 2015; City Council
Work Session of January 12, 2016; the Regular Council Meeting of February 2, 2016; The Regular
Council Meeting of February 16, 2016; the Special Meeting (Executive Session) of February 29,
2016; the Special Meeting (Executive Session) of March 1, 2016; the Regular Council Meeting of
March 1, 2016; the Special Meeting (Executive Session) of March 8, 2016; and the Special Meeting
(Executive Session) of March 11, 2016.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:
Minutes of City Council meetings are a requirement of Arizona Revised Statutes and, additionally,
provide a method of informing the public of discussions and actions being taken by the City Council.

INFORMATION:
COUNCIL GOAL

Improve effectiveness of notification, communication, and engagement with residents,
neighborhoods and businesses and about City services, programs, policies, projects and
development

8.

Attachments:  09.29.2015.CCWS
01.12.2016.CCWS
02.02.2016.CCRM
02.16.2016.CCRM
02.29.2016.CCSMES
03.01.2016.CCSMES
03.01.2016.CCRM
03.08.2016.CCSMES
03.11.2016.CCSMES



03.11.2016.CCSMES



CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION
TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 29, 2015

COUNCIL CHAMBERS
211 WEST ASPEN

 6:00 P.M.

  

MINUTES
 

               

1. Call to Order

Mayor Nabours called the Work Session to order at 6:02 p.m. 
 

2. Pledge of Allegiance

The audience and City Council recited the Pledge of Allegiance.
 

3. Roll Call

  
NOTE:    One or more Councilmembers may be in attendance telephonically or by other technological means.
  
PRESENT:

MAYOR NABOURS
VICE MAYOR BAROTZ
COUNCILMEMBER BREWSTER
COUNCILMEMBER EVANS
COUNCILMEMBER ORAVITS
COUNCILMEMBER OVERTON
COUNCILMEMBER PUTZOVA
 

ABSENT:

NONE

 

Others present: City Manager Josh Copley and City Attorney Michelle D'Andrea.
 

4. Preliminary Review of Draft Agenda for the October 6, 2015, City Council Meeting.*
 
* Public comment on draft agenda items may be taken under “Review of Draft Agenda Items”, at
the discretion of the Mayor. Citizens wishing to speak on agenda items not specifically called out
by the City Council for discussion under the Review section may submit a speaker card for their
items of interest to the recording clerk. 

 
  Councilmember Putzova asked why there would be no public comment received at next week's

meeting regarding the rate increase. Mayor Nabours said that for a possible rate increase they
have to have a public hearing and take it in steps. The public hearing will open next week, but
the first thing they will get is a presentation from the consultant and from staff. That is probably
about as much as they can get done that evening. They will then continue the public hearing to
the following week (October 13) and will have public comment at that time. Then, if they need to
they can continue the public hearing to another time.

Councilmember Putzova requested that they change that and allow public comment. Mayor
Nabours explained that it was more of a time constraint. They want to have plenty of time for the

  



Nabours explained that it was more of a time constraint. They want to have plenty of time for the
consultant and questions of staff and the consultants, and they do not want to keep the public too
late.

Councilmember Evans asked if the consultant would be available for the next meetings in case
the public asks questions. Mr. Hill replied that the consultant would be prepared to be at the next
three meetings if needed.

In reference to Item 15B (Picture Canyon Management Plan), Councilmember Overton asked if
they could get any financial analysis of what some of the elements might cost.

Mayor Nabours said that the review of another chapter of the Zoning Code next week would be
removed. They are going to have some special meetings to work on the Zoning Code so they are
not always addressing that late in the evening.

 

A. Review of 10/06/2015 Item 10-C: Microwave network design and build to replace current fiber
network.

 
  IT Director Ladd Vagen gave a PowerPoint presentation regarding the City's microwave network,

which addressed:

MICROWAVE NETWORK - A Brief History of Time
FAST FORWARD TO 2015
FY16 BUDGET PROCESS
IF WE LOSE ONE OF THESE LINKS
WHERE WE WANT TO GO
MICROWAVE NETWORK

 

5. Public Participation 

Public Participation enables the public to address the council about items that are not on the
prepared agenda. Public Participation appears on the agenda twice, at the beginning and at the
end of the work session. You may speak at one or the other, but not both. Anyone wishing to
comment at the meeting is asked to fill out a speaker card and submit it to the recording clerk.
When the item comes up on the agenda, your name will be called. You may address the Council
up to three times throughout the meeting, including comments made during Public Participation.
Please limit your remarks to three minutes per item to allow everyone to have an opportunity to
speak. At the discretion of the Chair, ten or more persons present at the meeting and wishing to
speak may appoint a representative who may have no more than fifteen minutes to speak.

 
  The following individuals addressed Council regarding the issues listed:

Andy Fernandez, free speech, recycling, 4th Street overpass
Ward Davis, Flagstaff Water Group, utility rate increases and need to continue conservation
efforts
Steve Garno, need for a fully-adaptive playground in Flagstaff
Amy McCackran, fully-adaptive playground needed

 

  

Flagstaff Special Work Session September 29, 2015        2 



           

6. Presentation on the City's Investments by The PFM Group.   

 
  Revenue Director Andy Wakemaker gave a brief report on the City's investments, and

began a PowerPoint presentation which addressed:

CITY RATES OF RETURN
FY10 / FY11 / FY15

He said that they had representatives from PFM Group tonight as they are the professionals
and know the ins and outs of the market. He then introduced Paulina Woo, Senior
Management Consultant, and Laura, Brant, Managing Director, who continued the
presentation:

CITY'S INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES
OVERVIEW OF PFM ASSET MANAGEMENT LLC
HOW PFM SUPPORTS THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
INVESTMENT PROGRAM ACHIEVEMENTS
OVERVIEW OF CITY'S CURRENT MANAGED PORTFOLIO
DYNAMIC SECTOR DIVERSIFICATION
VALUE OF PROACTIVE MANAGEMENT
ECONOMIC UPDATE
CURRENT INVESTMENT STRATEGY

 

7. Review of Constitutional Issues and Panhandling within the City of Flagstaff.   

 
  Public Safety Legal Advisor Marianne Sullivan began a PowerPoint presentation which

addressed:

BACKGROUND
A BRIEF HISTORY OF PANHANDLING PROBLEM IN FLAGSTAFF
FEDERAL DISTRICT COURT'S RULING
AGGRESSIVE SOLICITATION ORDINANCE
ROLE OF POLICE
WHAT FLAGSTAFF POLICE DEPARTMENT (FDP) IS DOING
     Better Bucks
FPD ONGOING EFFORTS
     Woods Watch
     Operation 40
     Repeat Offender (ROPE) Program
     Alcohol Stabilization Support (financial)
     Homeless Shelter Support

DATE COMPARISON
CONCLUSION

Mayor Nabours complimented them on the presentation and the department on doing what
they can in a compassionate way and under the Constitutional limitations they face. He said
that it is becoming obvious from the presentations that they cannot preclude someone from
standing on public property with a sign asking for help. They cannot preclude them from
having that sign and cannot preclude someone from giving them money, unless there is a
safety issue. He said that he would assume that it would be difficult to have an area of town
where no panhandling was signed. Ms. D'Andrea said that if they were going to discuss the
legal issues they would need to go into executive session.

  

Flagstaff Special Work Session September 29, 2015        3 



legal issues they would need to go into executive session.

Mayor Nabours said that it has been addressed in the conclusion--this is a tough problem.
He appreciated the Better Bucks program and asked if the panhandlers were generally
receptive to the information provided by officers. Lt. Lasiewicki said that they do not often
take advantage of it at that time, but may later.

Discussion was held on the fact that there are people struggling and have a need for
assistance, while there are others that are professional panhandlers. Councilmember
Oravits said that he receives calls from people talking about fights between panhandlers
they have seen and asked what they should be told. Lt. Lasiewicki said that if people see
things like that, they should call 9-1-1.

Councilmember Oravits asked what the City could do to assist private property owners that
have to clean up after the panhandlers to keep the corners litter free. Lt. Lasiewicki said
that they have limited resources at the Police Department, but they will place priorities to
have officers patrol specific areas. When they get a call from a citizen or business, it puts
them higher up on the priority list. Councilmember Oravits said that perhaps it was
something they need to be looking at going into the budget season.

Councilmember Evans thanked them for the presentation. She said that she knows that
getting more information out about the Better Bucks program is an issue with staff, and the
Foundation is helping. She would like to get more information out about where they can be
purchased.

Councilmember Brewster thanked the presenters as well, stating that she agreed that they
need to get more businesses involved to provide more choices.

Councilmember Putzova said that it was a good presentation. She hopted that one day they
can start addressing the issue; they seems to talk about how to treat the symptoms. She
was not thrilled about the undertones they have been engaging in, with criminalizing
poverty. She said that she receives comments from people that they do not like looking at
the homeless and she hoped they could move beyond that and talk about addressing
homelessness or mental illness.

A break was held from 7:42 p.m. to 7:52 p.m.

Mayor Nabours noted that the item later on the agenda regarding Zoning Code
amendments was being removed from the agenda as they will be holding special meetings
for that topic.

 

8. Fourth Street Safety/Pedestrian Improvements.   

 
  City Engineer Rick Barrett said that there had been questions raised about this project's

progress. They were committed to the project, but they also wanted Council to provide them
feedback about the great work that Randy and his team are doing before they go out with
the Open House.

Engineering Project Manager Randy Whitaker then gave a PowerPoint presentation to
review this project which addressed:

KEY PROJECT ELEMENTS
     Signalized Crosswalks
     Sidewalk Along East Side of Fourth Street, Seventh to Route 66

  

Flagstaff Special Work Session September 29, 2015        4 



     Sidewalk Along East Side of Fourth Street, Seventh to Route 66
     Improve Operation of Sixth/Seventh and Lockett/Cedar Intersections

PHASES
     Signalized crosswalks - Fall 2015 (JOC)
     Bus Pullouts & Sidewalk Along East Side of Fourth Street
          Additional right-of-way is required
     Improve Operation of Sixth/Seventh & Lockett/Cedar Intersecitons
          Scope needs to be defined

FUNDING
     Transportation Tax
          FY15/16     $   412,060
     Beautification/Streetscape
          FY15/16     $1,575,000

CURRENT STATUS
     Crosswalk and Pedestrian Signal Drawings Completed
     30% Plans completed for general layout of sidewalk and bus pullouts along Fourth

PEDESTRIAN SIGNALS
     Initially will place vertical poles with beacons (similar to Gore and University at Butler)
     Once right-of-way is acquired may look at overhead signage and possible street light

THIRD AVENUE CROSSWALK
     Center median
     Permanent ramp and temporary ramp
     This is where temporary crosswalk is located

DORTHA AVENUE CROSSWALK

THIRD AVENUE BUS PULLOUTS

JANUARY 23, 2014
APRIL 15, 2014
DISCUSSION
     Key Project Elements
     Signalized Crosswalks
     Sidewalk Along East Side of Fourth Street
     Improve operation of Sixth/Seventh Intersection and Lockett-Cedar

Councilmember Evans said that she thought it was important to have open houses and
different dates and times to allow for as many people to attend as possible. It was also noted
that efforts need to be made to contact as many business owners and property owners as
possible.

Discussion was held on the potential changes to parking lots with the sidewalk installations.
Mr. Whitaker said that even though the restriping may not be part of the project, they have
diagrams to show that through reconfigurations they could actually increase the number of
spaces available.

Andy Fernandez, Flagstaff, said that he had concerns with the location of the Dortha
crosswalk.

 

  

Flagstaff Special Work Session September 29, 2015        5 



9. Policy Discussion on Proposed Amendments to Zoning Code Chapter 10-30 (General
to All).

  

 
  Removed from the agenda.
 

10. Review of Draft Agenda Items for the October 6, 2015, City Council Meeting.*
 
* Public comment on draft agenda items will be taken at this time, at the discretion of the
Mayor.

 
  None
 

11. Public Participation
 
  None
 

12. Informational Items To/From Mayor, Council, and City Manager; future agenda item
requests.

 
  Vice Mayor Barotz said that she had attended the Rodel Foundation dinner the other night at

Forest Hylands and Dr Will Grundy from Lowell Observatory provide the most fantastic
pictures of Pluto.

Councilmember Putzova requested a CCR on adaptive playgrounds. She said that it would
be good to understand what is and is not available and what policies they have.

Councilmember Evans requested to expand that prior request. She would also like to know
what Parks and Recreation has that is adaptive, not only in parks but all of the facilities.She
would also like to find out what the plan and timeline is for Thorpe Park improvements.

Mr. Copley reminded everyone to save the dates for the upcoming budget retreat. He also
reminded everyone that Domestic Violence Awareness Month will be recognized at City Hall
and purple lights will be installed.

 

13. Adjournment
 
  The Work Session of the Flagstaff City Council held September 29, 2015, adjourned at 8:31

p.m.
 

 

 _______________________________
MAYOR

ATTEST:
 

 

_________________________________
CITY CLERK

 

  

Flagstaff Special Work Session September 29, 2015        6 



WORK SESSION
TUESDAY, JANUARY 12, 2016

COUNCIL CHAMBERS
211 WEST ASPEN AVENUE

6:00 P.M.
 

MINUTES
 

               

1. Call to Order
 
  Mayor Nabours called the Work Session of the Flagstaff City Council held on January 12,

2016, to order at 6:01 p.m.
 

2. Pledge of Allegiance
 
  The City Council and audience recited the Pledge of Allegiance.
 

3. Roll Call
  
NOTE: One or more Councilmembers may be in attendance telephonically or by other

technological means.
  
PRESENT

MAYOR NABOURS
VICE MAYOR BAROTZ
COUNCILMEMBER BREWSTER
COUNCILMEMBER EVANS
COUNCILMEMBER ORAVITS
COUNCILMEMBER OVERTON
COUNCILMEMBER PUTZOVA
 

ABSENT                      

 

Others present: City Manager Josh Copley and Deputy City Attorney Sterling Solomon.
 

4. Preliminary Review of Draft Agenda for the January 19, 2016, City Council Meeting.*

* Public comment on draft agenda items may be taken under “Review of Draft Agenda Items”
later in the meeting, at the discretion of the Mayor. Citizens wishing to speak on agenda items
not specifically called out by the City Council for discussion under the second Review section
may submit a speaker card for their items of interest to the recording clerk. 

 
  Councilmember Overton stated in regards to item 15A on Parking Management that the

ordinance specifically addresses the program, a parking management officer, and establishing
a special revenue fund; he would suggest some language on what the intent of that special
revenue fund is and what the revenues should be used for. Additionally, he requested that the
capital costs of the kiosks is included in the pro-forma because it currently shows as a lease
but no number. Vice Mayor Barotz added that one of the things the downtown community is
concerned about is that the funding will be swept down the road. Any information and
suggestions that legal can give about how to protect the funding would be helpful.
 

  



Mayor Nabours asked if Mr. Whitaker would cover the difference in cost between a roundabout
and a traffic light and how the grant plays into that when presenting on item 10B.
 
Mayor Nabours also asked if staff could provide some information on item 15B regarding
animal keeping in regards to the possibility of putting language in the ordinance that
established an expiration date unless renewed by Council.

 

5. Public Participation 

Public Participation enables the public to address the council about items that are not on the
prepared agenda. Public Participation appears on the agenda twice, at the beginning and at the
end of the work session. You may speak at one or the other, but not both. Anyone wishing to
comment at the meeting is asked to fill out a speaker card and submit it to the recording clerk.
When the item comes up on the agenda, your name will be called. You may address the Council
up to three times throughout the meeting, including comments made during Public Participation.
Please limit your remarks to three minutes per item to allow everyone to have an opportunity to
speak. At the discretion of the Chair, ten or more persons present at the meeting and wishing to
speak may appoint a representative who may have no more than fifteen minutes to speak.

 
  None
 

6. Life Safety Recognition.
 
  Mayor Nabours came down to the podium for the presentation of this item.

 
Mayor Nabours recognized Elizabeth “Libby” Champagne and presented her with a Citizen’s
Heroism Award for her life saving actions in providing aid and assistance to Gretchen Wilce.

 

7. Annual Report from staff and the Flagstaff Arts Council.   

 
  Executive Director of the Flagstaff Arts Council John Tannous addressed Council introducing

Deputy Director Elizabeth Voegler and some of the Board members in attendance.
Mr. Tannous provided a PowerPoint presentation that covered the following:
 
ANNUAL REPORT
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF – ARTS & SCIENCES
ARTS COUNCIL/CITY CONTRACT
ART & SCIENCE FUND GRANTS
 
Ms. Voegler continued the presentation.
 
FLAGSTAFF365.COM
THE ARTBOX INSTITUTE
FIRST FRIDAY ARTWALK
ARTWALK – INTERACTIVE ONLINE MAP
COCONINO CENTER FOR THE ARTS
VIOLA AWARDS
INCREASE OPPORTUNITIES
YOUTH ACCESS TO THE ARTS
 
Mr. Tannous continued the presentation
 
ART & SCIENCE FUND GRANTS

  

Flagstaff City Council Work Session January 12, 2016                          2 



RETURN ON INVESTMENT
ROI: LOCAL TAX REVENUES
ROI: TOURISM REVENUE
RETURN ON INVESTMENT
COMING IN 2016
THANK YOU!
 
Mayor Nabours asked how much money the Arts Council receives from BBB revenues.
Mr. Tannous stated that $300,000 is re-granted out into the community with an additional
$73,000 covering the support of the programs and administration. Mayor Nabours asked if
they receive any other funding that goes into the grants. Mr. Tannous explained that they do
not receive additional funding for grants, however, they do receive funding from a number of
other local, regional and national sources that supports their programs.
 
Councilmember Brewster stated that the Arts Council has been doing a great job and she
looks forward to continuing the partnership.

 

8. Sustainability Commission and Plastic Bag Focus Group’s Recommendations
Concerning Plastic Bags. (At the request of the City Council, the Sustainability
Commission and Interim City Manager’s Plastic Bag Focus Group will provide an
overview of recommendations for plastic bag management in Flagstaff as presented to
City Council in 2015.)

  

 
  Sustainability Manager Nicole Woodman addressed Council stating that she would be

reviewing the recommendations provided by the Sustainability Commission and the Plastic
Bag Focus Group. She introduced Kevin Ordean on behalf of the Sustainability Commission
and Kathy Flaccus, Moran Henn, and Rob Wilson on behalf of the Plastic Bag Focus group
who will be presenting information as well.
 
Ms. Woodman provided a PowerPoint presentation that covered the following:
 
MANAGING PLASTIC BAGS IN FLAGSTAFF
BACKGROUND
 
Mr. Ordean continued the presentation.
 
SUSTAINABILITY COMMISSION
SUSTAINABILITY COMMISSION’S RECOMMENDATION FOR A PLASTIC BAG BAN
 
Moran Henn, Kathy Flaccus, and Rob Wilson continued the presentation.
 
PLASTIC BAG FOCUS GROUP
PLASTIC BAGS FOCUS GROUP PHASE 1
PLASTIC BAGS FOCUS GROUP PHASE 2
PLASTIC BAGS FOCUS GROUP PHASE 3 AND PHASE 4
PLASTIC BAGS FOCUS GROUP ADDITIONAL CONSIDERATIONS
 
Councilmember Oravits asked where the funding for the recycling program comes from.
Ms. Woodman explained that the funding is generated from the Environmental Assessment
Fee that is on each water bill. The recommendation of increasing that fee by one dollar would
result in approximately $68,000.
 
Mayor Nabours stated that there had been previous discussion about moving forward with a
voluntary education program; he asked what has been done and the current status of the

  

Flagstaff City Council Work Session January 12, 2016                          3 



voluntary education program; he asked what has been done and the current status of the
program. Ms. Woodman explained that the City has had a voluntary recycling program since
2008 and programming has been continued and improved since that time. Stores have strict
policies in place regarding bag use. Staff has been able to do some free reusable bag
giveaways at the stores that have allowed it. There are also free reusable bag distribution
centers at three different locations where thousands of bags have been distributed to people in
the community. There is a robust social media campaign and staff continues to do education
and outreach throughout the community.
 
Councilmember Oravits asked how outreach is being done with the stores and if there has
been any effort to encourage cashiers to ask about reusable bags. Ms. Woodman stated that
staff has tried to work with grocery stores and what they have found is that the stores refer the
City back to their corporate offices. There are a lot of policies determined at the corporate
level; for example, the average bag load is 2.4 items and there has been little success in
attempting to increase that number. It has been difficult to get time with the stores but staff
continues the education piece as much and as often as they can.
 
Councilmember Oravits asked if there has been talk about the bag distribution centers being
put in stores. Ms. Woodman stated that there is a limited budget and at this time there is not
enough funding to supply distribution centers. She stated that Sustainability and Solid Waste
has partnered to initiate a reusable bag bank and work to target areas in the community that
could benefit from them.
 
Councilmember Evans stated that she would like to see the City begin Phase 1 and Phase 2
as soon as possible and she requested information on the actual budget for those phases.
Staff has done what they can on a voluntary basis and she feels that it is time to do more than
that.

 

9. Briefing on the Launch of the Flagstaff Community Forum, Online Civic Engagement
Platform.

  

 
  Comprehensive Planning Manager Sara Dechter introduced Nick Barry, Marlena Medford and

Rob Hines with Peak Democracy. She provided a PowerPoint presentation that covered the
following:
 
FLAGSTAFF COMMUNITY FORUM
ENGAGEMENT CYCLE
GOALS OF ONLINE CIVIC ENGAGEMENT
TWO PARTICIPATION CHANNELS TO THE RESCUE!
BENEFITS TO FORUM VISITORS
BENEFIT TO POLICY MAKERS AND STAFF
TYPES OF FORUM TOPICS
PEAK DEMOCRACY SUPPORT SERVICES
BENEFITS/WORK TO DO
LET’S TAKE A LOOK
 
Ms. Dechter provided a tour of the website and a demonstration of how the portal works.
 
Councilmember Oravits asked how the portal is different than placing something on Facebook
for comment. Ms. Dechter explained that the portal allows the City to combine the various
different audiences from social media and grow them together. For example, the Regional Plan
Facebook page has 250 people who have liked it and the Sustainability page has over 4,000,
this program helps to combine that audience and instead of having to post on several different
pages, the portal gives a central area for people to get information, make comments and

  

Flagstaff City Council Work Session January 12, 2016                          4 



pages, the portal gives a central area for people to get information, make comments and
provide input. Additionally, the portal is better set up to keep people on topic. Councilmember
Oravits asked if there is someone who has to moderate the topics. Mr. Barry explained that
Peak Democracy moderates all the comments and off topic comments are quite rare; people
that are participating are there for the specific topic and to provide input. Councilmember
Oravits asked if there is a way to require all participants to register to make sure staff is not
fielding hundreds of comments from people who are unassociated with Flagstaff. Ms. Dechter
explained that the moderator can flag posts and IP addresses to make sure the topic is not
being overrun by the same person. Staff gets notification if there are uncivil or off-topic
comments. The feedback of those who are registered allow staff to use the mapping feature to
show if they live in or out of the city limits, are on the NAU campus or other various parts of the
City. Comments received from a national forum are able to be filtered out should it be identified
that they are unassociated with Flagstaff.
 
Ms. Dechter added that the cost is currently $9,000 for a one year subscription. If the City were
to renew for a three or five year contract there would likely be some savings. The portal is
currently being funded from leftover monies in the Regional Plan budget but ongoing it may be
part of the Communications budget.

 

10. Discussion of Marriott Property Acquisition / Development Agreement (SEE ITEM 15-D
ON THE JANUARY 19, 2016, DRAFT AGENDA PACKET)

 
  Planning Director Dan Folke provided a PowerPoint presentation that covered the following:

 
MARRIOTT RESIDENCE INN
APPROVED SITE PLAN
            4 story building with 110 units
            8 foot setback from property line and building face
            2.5-3 feet that encroach into the public right of way at Aspen/Beaver
ITEMS FOR CONSIDERATION
APPROVED SITE PLAN
EXACTION VS. ACQUISITION
PROPOSED ROW TRANSACTIONS
DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT TERMS
ADA RAMP RELOCATION TO ASPEN
APPROVED SITE PLAN RECONFIGURED
WHY WIDEN HUMPHREYS STREET?
WHY PURCHASE RIGHT-OF-WAY NOW?
OPTIONS
 
Vice Mayor Barotz asked what the rationale was for including a property purchase in a
development agreement rather than pursuing a purchase contract with adequate protections
for buyers and sellers. Mr. Folke explained that staff was advised that a development
agreement was a good avenue for this kind of transaction. Vice Mayor Barotz stated that a
purchase agreement could be as long as the development agreement with protections and
rights and responsibilities of each party. She feels that it is a bad strategy in terms of protecting
the City. Mr. Solomon acknowledged that it is a good point and stated that an executive
session could be done should the Council wish to discuss it further.
 
Mayor Nabours asked if the transfer of property would happen in escrow with title insurance.
Mr. Folke stated that it would. Right now the development agreement talks about the transfer
happening prior to the Certificate of Occupancy being issued so there is no specific date that it
would occur on.
 

  

Flagstaff City Council Work Session January 12, 2016                          5 



 
Councilmember Putzova asked how the Arizona Department of Transportation (ADOT) was
involved with the conversation and agreement. She asked if the City approached ADOT to
have them purchase the land. Mr. Folke explained that there is a standard distribution list for
site plan reviews and staff solicits comments from all of them. He was not involved in any
meetings with ADOT but Community Development Director Mark Landsiedel and City
Engineer Rick Barrett have met with them monthly to discuss various projects. Mr. Landsiedel
offered that there has been many conversations with ADOT about the potential future widening
of Humphreys. FMPO Manager Dave Wessel presented to Council a few months ago about
the funding required to do the widening and that it was not currently available. As this
development came forward the City talked to ADOT about the daily traffic loads and asked
them if they wanted to do right turn lanes into the project or continue to seek funding for a
widening project. ADOT expressed that they are interested in the widening project should
funding become available and the right of way is acquired.
 
Councilmember Evans asked about the parking option and what Marriott has agreed to.
Mr. Folke stated that the language is not as strong as staff would like in the development
agreement; he explained that currently the draft agreement talks about future considerations
and the garage. It recognizes that the City and the Developer recognize the need for a parking
garage and when the time comes for the garage to be considered the Developer agrees to
evaluate the use of the parcel. Staff went back and forth with the developer on the language
looking for more of a commitment but there is concern about limitations being put on the
parcel. Mayor Nabours asked if the City moved forward with a parking garage and had access
to Marriott’s surface parking south of Aspen Avenue, a much more effective parking garage
could be developed. If Marriott were to get the same number of parking spaces they had with
the surface lot they would likely be willing to go along with it and the City would end up with a
much more efficient parking garage. Mr. Folke stated that there would definitely need to be
some assurances for the same amount of parking spaces but the idea would be to have a
multi-level parking structure and the City and Marriott would have to work out the terms of how
it is constructed, the funding sources and how any revenue would be allocated. It was
something that staff felt was important to include in the development agreement. While it plans
for future options the language does not really commit either party and staff felt that it was
better than nothing.
 
Mr. Landsiedel stated that one of the things staff considered was that as of today, Humphreys
is ADOT jurisdiction; when the widening project gets funding it may well be one of the roads
the City takes over as a route transfer. If so, the City would now have the ability to bring the
right of way as a local contribution should it be an ADOT project.
 
Councilmember Putzova stated that she would like to understand what it means legally to
explore the use of the parcel and what the developer is committing to in the agreement.
Mr. Solomon stated that he would be more comfortable discussing that question in executive
session.
 
Vice Mayor Barotz stated that she would like to see the comps for how the value of the
property was determined. Mr. Folke indicated that he is happy to provide that information to the
Council. He stated that what the developer will be purchasing is more than fair market value.
 
Councilmember Oravits asked where the money for the right of way purchase will come from.
Deputy City Manager Barbara Goodrich explained that the answer is two-fold; because of the
robust building activity over the last few years’ sales tax and building revenues have been
boosted and the funding would come from those additional revenues over budget. Because the
maximum appropriations are set with the budget the City would borrow appropriation from a
transportation project to fund the acquisition in the current year. She indicated that there should

  

Flagstaff City Council Work Session January 12, 2016                          6 



be no impact to the other projects because typically they are not all completed each year and
have to be carried forward into the next budget year anyway.
 
Vice Mayor Barotz asked if staff can provide more information on the proposal to widen
Humphreys at the meeting next week. It is an important decision in conjunction with a
development agreement and there has been no discussion with the public about the potential
widening. She also requested a map that shows what the widening would look like.
 
Terry Madeksza addressed Council on behalf of the Flagstaff Downtown Business Alliance.
She stated that they are in support of the project and are excited to have new hotel rooms in
the downtown. They are also excited about the future of the surface parking lot and what it
might be long term.

 

  Moved by Vice Mayor Celia Barotz, seconded by Councilmember Coral Evans to convene into
Executive Session for legal advice concerning the Marriott property acquisition. 

  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 
  After noticing that proper notice was not on the agenda to recess into executive session the

session immediately recessed and returned to regular session.
 

11. Review of Draft Agenda Items for the January 16, 2016, City Council Meeting.*
 
* Public comment on draft agenda items will be taken at this time, at the discretion of the Mayor.

 
  None
 

12. Public Participation
 
  None
 

13. Informational Items To/From Mayor, Council, and City Manager; Future Agenda Item
Requests.

 
  Councilmember Evans stated that she received an email from an individual about phone

numbers and addresses on board and commission applications and those being posted in the
Council agendas online to the public. She asked if staff can look at possibly removing phone
numbers and addresses from the public packet.
 
She also reported that she received an email about the timing of various public meetings and
how they often conflict with each other. She suggested developing a master schedule of these
types of meetings and encouraging developers to try and avoid scheduling public meetings
that conflict with other public meetings.
 
Vice Mayor Barotz thanked the Public Works staff for their efforts during the last snow storm.
She understands the berm issue that the public gets frustrated about but feels that the staff is
doing the best they can do and she appreciates their efforts.
 
Councilmember Oravits stated that during the snow he had the opportunity to do an interview
with ABC 15 and mentioned the sled debris. He suggested talking with ADOT about putting a
witty sign on the overhead signs coming into town asking people to haul out what they bring in.
 
He also reported that he went down to Phoenix for the opening day of the legislative

  

Flagstaff City Council Work Session January 12, 2016                          7 



session. He received some very positive news about the bill for the Veteran’s Home and
getting it moved through the session successfully.
 
Mr. Copley stated that City staff have been working hard to clear all of the city owned
sidewalks. Staff will continue to discuss and work through the issue of removing the blockages
of sidewalk access as quickly as possible.
 
He added that he will have his first meeting with some of the larger businesses in town to
discuss housing options and identifying solutions for workforce housing.
 
Lastly, the weather caused the Utility Rate Discussion to be postponed; staff is looking for
dates to reschedule and will be contacting Council soon for schedule availability.
 
Mayor Nabours stated that there is a constant issue of people shoveling their sidewalk during
and after a snow storm only to come back out to find it covered again. He asked if there was a
way to plow closer to the curb in an effort to reduce the amount of snow that is put back on the
sidewalk with subsequent passes. Public Works Director Erik Solberg addressed Council
stating that the City has a lot of new snow plow drivers this year. The protocol is to try and set
the snow berm the first time and then build upon it. The operators try but it is difficult.
Supervisors are working with the newer drivers to help them identify landmarks for the curbs
and hopefully this will help in the future and correct some of the problem.

 

14. Adjournment
 
  The Flagstaff City Council Work Session of January 12, 2016, adjourned at 8:04 p.m.
 

 

 
  

_______________________________
 

MAYOR
ATTEST:
 

 

 

_________________________________
 

CITY CLERK

  

Flagstaff City Council Work Session January 12, 2016                          8 



CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING
TUESDAY, FEBRUARY 2, 2016

COUNCIL CHAMBERS
211 WEST ASPEN

4:00 P.M. AND 6:00 P.M.
 

MINUTES
 

               

1. CALL TO ORDER
 
Mayor Nabours called the meeting of December 15, 2015, to order at 4:02 p.m.
 

NOTICE OF OPTION TO RECESS INTO EXECUTIVE SESSION
 
Pursuant to A.R.S. §38-431.02, notice is hereby given to the members of the City Council and
to the general public that, at this regular meeting, the City Council may vote to go into
executive session, which will not be open to the public, for legal advice and discussion with
the City’s attorneys for legal advice on any item listed on the following agenda, pursuant to
A.R.S. §38-431.03(A)(3).

 

2. ROLL CALL
  
NOTE: One or more Councilmembers may be in attendance telephonically or by other technological means.

  
PRESENT:

MAYOR NABOURS
VICE MAYOR BAROTZ
COUNCILMEMBER BREWSTER
COUNCILMEMBER EVANS
COUNCILMEMBER ORAVITS
COUNCILMEMBER OVERTON
COUNCILMEMBER PUTZOVA

ABSENT:

NONE

 

Others present: City Manager Josh Copley and Deputy City Attorney Sterling Solomon.
 

3. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE AND MISSION STATEMENT

The audience and City Council recited the Pledge of Allegiance and Mayor Nabours read the
City of Flagstaff Mission Statement.
 

MISSION STATEMENT

The mission of the City of Flagstaff is to protect and enhance the quality of life of its citizens.
 

4. APPROVAL OF MINUTES FROM PREVIOUS MEETINGS
 

A. Consideration and Approval of Minutes: City Council Special Work Session of October 19,
2015; City Council Work Session of October 27, 2015; and City Council Regular Meeting of
December 1, 2015.

  

 

  



  Moved by Councilmember Scott Overton, seconded by Councilmember Jeff Oravits to
approve the minutes of the City Council Special Work Session of October 19, 2015; City
Council Work Session of October 27, 2015; and City Council Regular Meeting of December
1, 2015. 

  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 

5. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 

Public Participation enables the public to address the Council about an item that is not on the
agenda. Comments relating to items that are on the agenda will be taken at the time that the
item is discussed. If you wish to address the Council at tonight's meeting, please complete a
comment card and submit it to the recording clerk as soon as possible. Your name will be
called when it is your turn to speak. You may address the Council up to three times
throughout the meeting, including comments made during Public Participation. Please limit
your remarks to three minutes per item to allow everyone an opportunity to speak. At the
discretion of the Chair, ten or more persons present at the meeting and wishing to speak may
appoint a representative who may have no more than fifteen minutes to speak. 

 
  Mayor Nabours said that since the Dew Downtown item had been moved to the 6:00 p.m.

portion of the meeting, he would welcome comments at this time as well if anyone was
present regarding that matter.

 

6. PROCLAMATIONS AND RECOGNITIONS

None 
 

7. APPOINTMENTS

Pursuant to A.R.S. §38-431.02, notice is hereby given to the members of the City Council and
to the general public that the City Council may vote to go into executive session, which will
not be open to the public, for the purpose of discussing or considering employment,
assignment, appointment, promotion, demotion, dismissal, salaries, disciplining or resignation
of a public officer, appointee, or employee of any public body...., pursuant to A.R.S.
§38-431.03(A)(1).

None
 

8. LIQUOR LICENSE PUBLIC HEARINGS
 
  Mayor Nabours said that the Police , Community Development and Sales Departments had

reviewed these applications and found no issued. He then opened the Public Hearing on
both liquor license applications. There being no put input, the Public Hearing was closed.

 

  Moved by Councilmember Jeff Oravits, seconded by Councilmember Karla Brewster to
forward both applications to the Arizona Department of Liquor Licenses with
recommendations for approval. 

  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 

A. Consideration and Action on Liquor License Application: Roger Burton, “Giant #084",
1010 N. Country Club Dr, Series 10 (beer and wine store), New License.

  

 

B. Consideration and Action on Liquor License Application:  Dara Wong Rodger,   

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting February 2, 2016                          2 



B. Consideration and Action on Liquor License Application:  Dara Wong Rodger,
"Shift", 107 N. San Francisco St., Suite 2, Series 12 (restaurant), New License.

  

 

9. CONSENT ITEMS

All matters under Consent Agenda are considered by the City Council to be routine and will
be enacted by one motion approving the recommendations listed on the agenda. Unless
otherwise indicated, expenditures approved by Council are budgeted items.

None
 

10. ROUTINE ITEMS
 

A. Consideration and Adoption of Ordinance No. 2015-17:  An ordinance of the City Council
of the City of Flagstaff, amending the Flagstaff City Code, by deleting Chapter 6-03, Animals,
in its entirety and adopting revised Chapter 6-03, Animal Keeping; providing for severability,
authority for clerical corrections, and establishing an effective date. (Animal Keeping Code)

  

 
  Sustainability Specialist McKenzie Jones reviewed proposed changes in response to

comments made at the last meeting. Under 6-03-001-0001, Purpose, they inserted
"common household and others." In addition, under 6-03-001-0002, Definitions, they
changed the wording about six months ago and forgot to take out the definition "dehorned."

With regard to 6-03-001-0-003, Slaughter, Ms. Jones said that they added the words
"slaughter must be for personal consumption and in compliance with all county, state and
federal laws." Under 6-03-001-0004, Beekeeping, it should now read, "beekeeping is
allowed in all zones where the use of the property on which the beehives are kept is
residential or educational." She noted that last week they removed "marked and
nonswarming characteristics."

 

  Moved by Councilmember Jeff Oravits, seconded by Councilmember Coral Evans to read
Ordinance No. 2015-17, as amended, by title only for the final time. 

  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 
  AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF, AMENDING

THE FLAGSTAFF CITY CODE, BY DELETING TITLE 6, POLICE REGULATIONS,
CHAPTER 6-03, ANIMALS, IN ITS ENTIRETY AND ADOPTING REVISED CHAPTER
6-03, ANIMAL KEEPING; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY, AUTHORITY FOR
CLERICAL CORRECTIONS, AND ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE DATE 

 

  Moved by Councilmember Jeff Oravits, seconded by Councilmember Coral Evans to adopt
Ordinance No. 2015-17. 

  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 

B. Consideration and Adoption of Ordinance No. 2016-05 - An ordinance of the City Council
of the City of Flagstaff, Arizona, amending Flagstaff City Code Title 9, TRANSPORTATION,
Chapter 9-01, TRAFFIC CODE; creating the Office of Parking Manager; modifying the duties
of the Traffic Engineer accordingly; modifying and adding traffic violations necessary for
permit parking and pay-to-park programs; authorizing the Parking manager to implement the
Comprehensive Parking Management Program for the downtown, southside and surrounding
areas with the installation of parking meters, signage, and other improvements for permit
parking and pay-to-park programs; and establishing a special revenue fund for revenues
generated by implementation of the Comprehensive Parking Management Program.

  

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting February 2, 2016                          3 



generated by implementation of the Comprehensive Parking Management Program.
(Downtown Comprehensive Parking Management Program)

 
  Community Design and Redevelopment Manager Karl Eberhard briefly reviewed the

proposed documents, noting that last week they had direction to include newspaper and
website in the noticing section. Council had also questioned whether they could repay the
seed money and stash away the 20%. He did a five-year plan and the answer to those
questions is yes.

He said that they had discussions with the stakeholders and one of the things they talked
about was staff coming back in a year's time or 15 months, with a review of
expenditures/income and allocations, reviewing the overall program.

 

  Moved by Mayor Jerry Nabours, seconded by Councilmember Jeff Oravits to read
Ordinance No. 2016-05, as amended, by title only for the final time. 

  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 
  AN ORDINANCE OF THE MAYOR AND COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF,

COCONINO COUNTY, ARIZONA, AMENDING CERTAIN TRAFFIC AND PARKING
REGULATIONS BY AMENDING THE FLAGSTAFF CITY CODE TITLE 9,
TRANSPORTATION, BY AMENDING CHAPTER 9-01, TRAFFIC CODE; SECTION
9-01-001-0001, TRAFFIC LAWS ADOPTED; SECTION 9-01-001-0003, STOPPING,
STANDING AND PARKING RESTRICTIONS; SECTION 9-01-001-0007, OFFICE OF
TRAFFIC ENGINEER CREATED; 9-01-001-0008, MUNICIPAL PARKING LOTS; BY
ADDING SECTION 9-01-001-0014, OFFICE OF THE PARKING MANAGER CREATED; 
AND BY ADDING SECTION 9-01-001-0015, COMPREHENSIVE PARKING
MANAGEMENT PROGRAM SPECIAL REVENUE FUND, AND PROVIDING FOR
SEVERABILITY, REPEAL OF CONFLICTING ORDINANCES, AND EFFECTIVE DATES 

 

  Moved by Mayor Jerry Nabours, seconded by Councilmember Coral Evans to adopt
Ordinance No. 2016-05. 

  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 
  Mayor Nabours added that it was Council's direction to bring this ordinance back for a

status report and update no later than 15 months.
 

C. Marriott Project.
 

i. Consideration and Adoption of Ordinance No.  2016-03:  An ordinance of the Flagstaff
City Council authorizing the acquisition of certain real property as a public right-of-way for the
possible widening of Humphreys Street between Route 66 and Cherry Avenue. (Acquisition
of right-of-way - Marriott development)

  

 
  Planning Director Dan Folke reviewed the three items involved with this project, noting that

the first two were second readings of ordinances. The first was to acquire right-of-way and
the second was to abandon right-of-way at the corner of Aspen/Beaver, and there was a
new exhibit included which identified the square footage at 64 sq. ft. rather than the earlier
82 sq. ft.

He said that the third item is the development agreement and the terms remain the same.
He noted that revisions were made to section 4.1.5 to clarify that the City was participating
in relocation of improvements to allow for the ramp; the developer was responsible for the

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting February 2, 2016                          4 



ramp itself.

Shane Shumway, representing the developers, said that he had nothing to add but was
available for any questions that anyone may have.

 

  Moved by Councilmember Scott Overton, seconded by Councilmember Karla Brewster to
read Ordinance No. 2016-03 by title only for the final time.

Councilmember Putzova said that she would be voting no due to the language in the clause
talking about the City's interest in purchasing the right-of-way for the widening of Humphreys.
She has not been a part of any discussion and she feels it would not be in the best interest of
the citizens to jump to the conclusion that it is the best option to deal with traffic issues.

Vice Mayor Barotz added that the FMPO may have had discussions, but it has not been
given to her. The only thing she could find on the internet was a 2003 letter to the editor
talking about the overuse of left-turn lanes.

Mayor Nabours said that he thought this was a rare opportunity to gain right-of-way for
possible future expansion. He appreciated that the Shumways have been cooperative in
giving the City this opportunity. He believed the Council would be ill-advised to not take the
opportunity.

Vice Mayor Barotz said that she thought it had not been transparent the way it has been
framed. 

  Vote: 5 - 2 
 

NAY: Vice Mayor Celia Barotz 
  Councilmember Eva Putzova 

 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE FLAGSTAFF CITY COUNCIL AUTHORIZING THE
ACQUISITION OF CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY AS A PUBLIC RIGHT-OF-WAY FOR THE
POSSIBLE WIDENING OF HUMPHREYS STREET BETWEEN ROUTE 66 AND CHERRY
AVENUE

 

  Moved by Mayor Jerry Nabours, seconded by Councilmember Jeff Oravits to adopt
Ordinance No. 2016-03. 

  Vote: 5 - 2 
 

NAY: Vice Mayor Celia Barotz 
  Councilmember Eva Putzova 

 

ii. Consideration and Adoption of Ordinance No. 2016-04:  An ordinance of the City
Council of the City of Flagstaff, abandoning whatever right, title or interest it has in an
approximately 82 square foot portion of public right-of-way generally located at the northwest
corner of Aspen Avenue and Beaver Street to FMH Enterprises, LLC. (Abandonment of
right-of-way - Marriott development)

  

 
  Moved by Councilmember Jeff Oravits, seconded by Councilmember Scott Overton to read

Ordinance No. 2016-04 by title only for the final time. 
  Vote: 5 - 2 
 

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting February 2, 2016                          5 



 
NAY: Vice Mayor Celia Barotz 
  Councilmember Eva Putzova 

 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF, ABANDONING
WHATEVER RIGHT, TITLE OR INTEREST IT HAS IN AN APPROXIMATELY 82 SQUARE
FOOT PORTION OF PUBLIC RIGHT-OF-WAY GENERALLY LOCATED AT THE
NORTHWEST CORNER OF ASPEN AVENUE AND BEAVER STREET TO FMH
ENTERPRISES, LLC

 

  Moved by Councilmember Scott Overton, seconded by Councilmember Karla Brewster to
adopt Ordinance No. 2016-04. 

  Vote: 5 - 2 
 

NAY: Vice Mayor Celia Barotz 
  Councilmember Eva Putzova 

 

iii. Consideration of Development Agreement:  With FMH Enterprises, LLC, for the Marriott
Project located at the corner of Humphreys and Aspen Avenue. (Development Agreement -
Marriott development)

  

 
  Moved by Councilmember Scott Overton, seconded by Councilmember Karla Brewster to

approve the Development Agreement with FMH Enterprises, LLC.

Councilmember Overton thanked the applicant, stating that it was a great example of an infill
property which had been underutilized and undeveloped.

Councilmember Putzova said that she would reiterate what was said before; she was not
opposed to the Development Agreement if it did not have the acquisition of the land built into
it. She said that it was her understanding that they could achieve the agreement with current
setbacks; instead staff went ahead and negotiated the purchase of the property. They have
not discussed anything about such widening.

Councilmember Brewster said that staff had the foresight to see the need for the right-of-way,
whether developed now or years from now. 

  Vote: 5 - 2 
 

NAY: Vice Mayor Celia Barotz 
  Councilmember Eva Putzova 

 

RECESS 
 

The 4:00 p.m. portion of the February 2, 2016, Regular Council Meeting recessed at 4:31 p.m.

6:00 P.M. MEETING
 

RECONVENE

Mayor Nabours reconvened the Regular Meeting of February 2, 2016, at 6:01 p.m.
 

 

NOTICE OF OPTION TO RECESS INTO EXECUTIVE SESSION

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting February 2, 2016                          6 



NOTICE OF OPTION TO RECESS INTO EXECUTIVE SESSION
 

Pursuant to A.R.S. §38-431.02, notice is hereby given to the members of the City Council and
to the general public that, at this regular meeting, the City Council may vote to go into
executive session, which will not be open to the public, for legal advice and discussion with
the City’s attorneys for legal advice on any item listed on the following agenda, pursuant to
A.R.S. §38-431.03(A)(3).

 
 

11. ROLL CALL
  
NOTE: One or more Councilmembers may be in attendance telephonically or by other technological means.

  
PRESENT:

MAYOR NABOURS
VICE MAYOR BAROTZ
COUNCILMEMBER BREWSTER
COUNCILMEMBER EVANS
COUNCILMEMBER ORAVITS
COUNCILMEMBER OVERTON
COUNCILMEMBER PUTZOVA

ABSENT:                 

NONE

 

Others present: City Manager Josh Copley and Deputy City Attorney Sterling Solomon.
 

12. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION
 
  Vice Mayor Barotz commented to outgoing Public Works Director Erik Solberg that she

thanked him from the bottom of her heart for everything he has given to the City. She said
that she has admired him; he was the most level-headed guy she has ever met. She wished
him happiness and relaxtion in his retirement.

 

13. CARRY OVER ITEMS FROM THE 4:00 P.M. AGENDA

None 
 

14. PUBLIC HEARING ITEMS
 

A. Public Hearing, Consideration and Adoption of Resolution No. 2016-02 and Ordinance
No. 2016-07:  Public hearing to consider proposed amendments to Flagstaff Zoning Code
the Preamble to the Zoning Code, Chapter 10-10 (Title, Purpose and Jurisdiction), Chapter
10-20 (Administration, Procedures and Enforcement), Chapter 10-30 (General to All), Chapter
10-40 (Specific to Zones), Chapter 10-50 (Supplemental to Zones) except for Division
10-50.100 (Sign Standards), Chapter 10-60 (Specific to Thoroughfares), Chapter 10-80
(Definitions) and Chapter 10-90 (Maps); consideration of Resolution No. 2016-02 declaring
the proposed amendments as a public record; and adoption of Ordinance No. 2016-07,
adopting amendments to Flagstaff Zoning Code Chapter 10-10 (Title, Purpose and
Jurisdiction), Chapter 10-20 (Administration, Procedures and Enforcement), Chapter 10-30
(General to All), Chapter 10-40 (Specific to Zones), Chapter 10-50 (Supplemental to Zones)
except for Division 10-50.100 (Sign Standards), Chapter 10-60 (Specific to Thoroughfares),
Chapter 10-80 (Definitions) and Chapter 10-90 (Maps), by reference. (Zoning Code
Amendments except Sign Code)

  

 
  Zoning Code Administrator Roger Eastman began the presentation, noting that they would

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting February 2, 2016                          7 



  Zoning Code Administrator Roger Eastman began the presentation, noting that they would
not be doing the sign standards today as they need to go back to the Planning and Zoning
Commissions due to the Reed case.

He said that staff started collecting amendments right after the 2011 adoption of the new
Zoning Code. In 2014, he started pulling them together and last year they started the
outreach, which included four or five policy work sessions with the Council.

Vice Mayor Barotz questioned the changes in the definition for dormitories and completely
eliminating rooming and boarding. She said that the reason she is reviewing this is that it
relates to student or high occupancy housing and these definitions are all part of the larger
conversation. If they remove rooming and boarding and dormitory, when a high occupancy
project comes before Council there will not be a conditional use permit (CUP) process any
more. Mr. Eastman said that was correct. It would either be dormitory or multifamily
apartment.

Mr. Eastman said that one of the recommendations of the Student Housing Work Study
Group was to discuss high occupancy housing as presented last year, and as discussed
with Council by Sara Dechter, that is one of her tasks.

Vice Mayor Barotz asked why they would not have some guidance, then, in the Zoning
Code. She asked why they would not include definitions during that review time. Mr.
Eastman said that he did not know that it was a bad idea, but it came out through the
working group. He said that if there were concerns, they could not amend that part of the
Code and leave it as is until they get through those discussions.

Vice Mayor Barotz asked if there was a reason why staff would not want to bring the
Council changes to the Code based on what they have learned. Mr. Eastman said that the
process is going to be a community process. They have existing definitions and the
question is how they enforce the separate leasing arrangements per room. They do not
have the ability to go into a building and start asking for lease arrangements.

Mr. Folke said that they currently do not need a CUP to achieve more than 29 units per
acre. They have the mixed-units incentive. In order to get more than that, such as Aspen
Place at Sawmill, it requires a Mixed Use project; it did not need a CUP to achieve those.
He said that they started these amendments some time ago and are trying to get this round
done. There are things that are critical to how they apply the Code. He said that rooming
and boarding is not critical; if they do not want to change that now they do not need to.
However, one concern would be to slow this down to include something on high occupancy
housing.

Vice Mayor Barotz said that she was not suggesting that they slow anything down. Her idea
was to understand the consequences of removing the definitions. She understands that the
CUP comes into play with only rooming and boarding. What they are seeing in the
community is that if they do not have the CUP process for higher density, there is less
opportunity for the public to express their concerns.

Mr. Folke said that any project over a certain density may require a CUP, but they want to
create some standards. The CUP is a permitted use, but those instances where they may to
apply certain conditions. All of these things they have talked about is what they are going to
go through. What they have proposed does not change when they need a CUP for density.
Vice Mayor Barotz said that she was not sure she would support removing rooming and
boarding and would like to vote on each separately.

Councilmember Evans agreed, stating that if they were not sure of what they were going to

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting February 2, 2016                          8 



do with this element, they should just leave it alone. She would not support removing them.

Mr. Eastman said that there are specific findings listed in the Zoning Code that staff uses for
evaluating a CUP that becomes the basis of the staff report that goes to the Commission.
The Commission has to base their decisions on those findings.

Discussion was held on a potential rent by the room situation in La Plaza Vieja.
Mr. Eastman said that it comes down to how staff would determine if there is a lease
arrangement by bed. He said that there is not a way that would stand up in court.

Councilmember Overton said that he liked the clarification of what they were doing. He said
that they would ask for a CUP for rooming and boarding, and they may add a condition or
two. He said that he did not know that the CUP process is understood as well as it needs to
be as it relates to leasing.

Mayor Nabours said that he was hearing that as far as density, whether they have a four
bedroom apartment leasing as one unit or four rooms, the density is the same.

Councilmember Putzova said that she has a problem in the argument that the City is unable
to track the leasing arrangements. If they do not disclose it in the beginning and a CUP is
required, and it is then brought to the attention of the City, it would be a matter of dealing
with a violation of the code. She did not support removing rooming and boarding until they
had an adequate replacement.

Discussion was held on single room occupancy (SRO). Mr. Eastman explained that SRO's
are permitted by right. They are only required a CUP in the suburban commercial zone.
They are treating them much like a hotel/motel.

Mr. Solomon said that if the Council wants to propose amendments they can do so. They
would vote on the amendments separately and then vote on the overall document.

Council then began review of the documents presented.

DOCUMENT A

Mr. Eastman said that this is talking about completeness of an application and if it is
contested by the applicant to the Director. He said that when they use Director, they are
talking about the Planning Director. The idea was to define Planning Director as Director
and the Community Development Director, which is used a lot less frequently, would not be
defined. In this area the Director and his staff would do the review. If there was an appeal it
would go to the Community Development Director.

Councilmember Overton suggested they go up one more level so that it was outside of the
Community Development division, for a more objective look, perhaps to the Deputy City
Manager. Mr. Eastman said that appeals of excactions and dedications would be heard by
the City Manager. Councilmember Overton said that he likes knowing there is a different
division, but he was not ready to make that amendment this evening.

Councilmember Oravits said that he would like to see that as well, to have a different body
or division review, and asked if that could be brought back in the future.

Mr. Landsiedel said that he thought it was appropriate to consider other sources and had no
problem with that. The Council needs to keep in mind that the subject matter is extremely
technical and that is the reason they have done this in the first place. To get someone up to
speed with the technical knowledge could be challenging.

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting February 2, 2016                          9 



Mayor Nabours, in referring to page 243, is talks about imposing special requirements to
ensure future rights-of-way needs. He was wondering if they can say to a property owner
they cannot use that 154 feet of property because some day in the future the City may want
it. Mr. Solomon said that he would review that section further. Councilmember Overton
asked why they would call out one rather than all of the things they could impose. He would
prefer to not call anything out.

Mayor Nabours said that in the prior paragraph it talks about necessary public
improvements that are required for "this develoipment." But in the following paragraph it
does not say anything about "this development," it talks about future needs. He asked that
Mr. Solomon look at that before second read.

Councilmember Oravits, in referencing page 248, asked about the site drainage and how it
affected it, or if it was just referring them to that document. Mr. Eastman said that was
correct, it was referencing the LID (low impact development) manual. Councilmember
Oravits said that he still wants to discuss that in a future session. Mr. Eastman said that the
philosophy they approached in 2011 was to not duplicate standards. The Zoning Code
excludes all of the standards in other documents and refers them to each.

Council agreed that chapters up through 10-30 were good.

DOCUMENT B (Page 310)

Mayor Nabours referenced the LIO (Light Industrial) zoning, noting that it has permitted
uses of a school, charter school, public, and with a CUP even a hospital. He said that there
is a lot of LIO zoning in the Woodlands Village area, originally contemplated to be light
industrial, but it has evolved into a lot of retail, offices, apartments, etc. With that in mind he
was wondering why churches and synagogues would not be allowed in an LIO zone, at
least with a CUP.

Rabbi Shapiro, Flagstaff, said that about five years ago the Jewish community purchased
two acres of land at the top of University across from the movie theater. The goal was to
build a synagogue and community center. They now have the opportunity to move forward,
but there is a challenge of a rezoning and the tremendous task involved. He said that they
were asking that a minor amendment be made at this time to permit a house of worship in
that zone.

Vice Mayor Barotz asked the Rabbi if they had investigated the zoning issue when they
purchased the property. Rabbi Shapiro said that they did and the City official said they did
not see why it would be a problem to go through the rezoning, but that figure is now close to
$100,000. He said that he did not want to get sidetracked. The issue is not whether they
should have to go through the process, but rather the ability to allow for a house of worship
in a LIO zone.

Vice Mayor Barotz asked if the community center would require memberships. Rabbi
Shapiro said that it would not; it would be open to the community.

Councilmember Oravits said that he would support this change. Mayor Nabours said that he
did not think that Rabbi Shapiro was asking just for himself, but rather the ability for those
properties to allow for a house of worship.

Mr. Eastman explained that one of the fundamental principles of the Zoning Code is that it
needs to be consistent with the Regional Plan. One of the big projects of the 2011 Zoning
Code rewrites was to reach that consistency. As explained in a CCR a few months ago,

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting February 2, 2016                          10 



there is no consistency with the Regional Plan if they allow meeting facilities because the
Regional Plan goal and policy talks about protecting zones. Industrial zones need to be for
industrial uses and that is why meeting facilities were not added. They honored what was
there already. Arguably schools should not be allowed, but they were already there and they
could not take them away.

Mr. Eastman said that they were not saying the cannot put in meeting facilities, but what
they should do is put the Regional Plan policy discussion first. He would argue that it is
inconsistent with the Regional Plan policy.

Mayor Nabours said that in looking at the current code, the intent of industrial zones is to
provide appropriate land uses in the areas that transition from industrial to commercial and
residential. If that is the intent, then this seems to be a logical use. Mr. Eastman said that he
understood his argument, but there is a different process to get there, involving the Planning
and Zoning Commission, rather than making this change tonight.

Mr. Solomon said that this proposed change is not in the proposed amendments and is
something that is new being brought to them right now. That coupled with the consistency
needed for Regional Plans, tends to make him consider taking this through the process
differently.

Councilmember Oravits said that it was his udnerstanding that in commercial zones, such
as with a strip mall, churches would require a CUP. He said that people have brought this
up to him. They have 500 to 1,000 sq. ft. of space with a congregation of 30 people and
have been told they had to move because they did not have a CUP. He would like to look
into that further.

Mayor Nabours said that it will be months to take this back through the commission process.

Councilmember Evans asked Mr. Solomon if his legal advice was that they take it up under
a separate discussion. Mr. Solomon said that was correct, because it was not consistent
with the Regional Plan and did not come through the Planning and Zoning Commission.

Councilmember Evans asked Mr. Eastman if it would be possible to have this discussion
with Planning and Zoning Commission, to also amend the Regional Plan, and asked what
that timeline would look like. He said that it may mean more of an amendment to the LIO
zone. He has already drafted the amendment, which was included in the CCR. The
question is if it was the right thing to do based on the Regional Plan. They could do it
relatively quickly after the Sign Code amendments, or they have talked about a regular
round of annual amendments.

Mayor Nabours said that in his opinion it was a minimal change. Vice Mayor Barotz said
that she would highlight that process is important. She puts a lot of weight in the Regional
Plan because it was adopted by the voters. They need to go through the proper steps.

Moved by Mayor Jerry Nabours and seconded by Councilmember Jeff Oravits to add
churches, synagogues and similar meetings places to the uses allowed with CUP in the LIO
zone.

Councilmember Putzova said that she specifically recalled discussion about the industrial
zones during the Regional Plan process. They were talking about the scarcity of land
suitable for employment and the LIO was specifcally tied to employment. She could see
where a church was not a place of employment. She felt strongly that if they think that the
Regional Plan is a real document, it is a guiding document, going around the Regional Plan
process is not really living up to the promise they gave the voters.

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting February 2, 2016                          11 



Councilmember Brewster asked about the chart on industrial zones, and asked what
"miscellaneous requirements" meant. Mr. Eastman said that a table was put into the new
Zoning Code as a result of combination of zones for 2011 zones. They have performance
zones and conventional zones. The former performance zones had limits allowed in the LIO
zone consistent with the Regional Plan. Councilmember Brewster asked if they could
consider the church to be miscellaneous.

Councilmember Evans said that she does not disagree with the Rabbi's statement that this
area would be amenable, but this is a different issue. She has heard that the process of
looking at what they were doing could take only a few months. She said that they should go
through the appropriate process. She said that she would not support the motion. Once they
have clear legal advice, they should go that way.

Councilmember Evans asked what kind of example they were setting. She said that none of
them have a problem with this. The importance is the process. They may get a council in
the future that thinks that something else would be a great idea, but it might be something
that the community would see as bad.

Councilmember Putzova said that it appears that a very specific case is driving a policy
discussion that is to apply to the entire city.

Mr. Solomon recommended that they go into Executive Session to discuss further.
 

  Moved by Vice Mayor Celia Barotz, seconded by Councilmember Eva Putzova to recess
into Executive Session. 

  Vote: 4 - 3 
 

NAY: Mayor Jerry Nabours 
  Councilmember Jeff Oravits 
  Councilmember Scott Overton 

 
  The Flagstaff City Council recessed into Executive Session at 7:23 p.m. and reconvened

into Open Session at 7:35 p.m.
 

 

  Moved by Councilmember Scott Overton, seconded by Councilmember Jeff Oravits to
postpone the topic of adding this use to the LIO zone to a future work session with more
conversation and staff time. 

  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 
 

Mayor Nabours said that he understood that the law originally said there were geographic
areas where they could have medical marijuana dispensaries in commercial zones, but that
limitation was just for two years and now they can be located anywhere. He said that he
understood that the statutes allow for a City to exercise reasonable land use control. He
asked if they could look into that further.

Councilmember Putzova asked if it would not be a FAIR item. Mr. Solomon said that in the
context of the Zoning Code amendments, the FAIR would be appropriate, or he could take it
to Legal and look into it--whatever was the direction of Council. Vice Mayor Barotz said that
a CCR would be fine for her. Councilmember Oravits asked if they could also get a CCR on
the churches.

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting February 2, 2016                          12 



the churches.

Mr. Coplay clarified that staff would begin work and the process through the Planning and
Zoning Commission to bring the question back for a vote in reference to text amendment on
whether to provide meeting houses.

Marie Jones, Flagstaff, said that she understood that tonight they were just doing these
amendments and she was not addressing those specifically, but it was a good opportunity
to bring up and suggest there should be some way to go back and take a second look at
transect zones. They have been in effect for four or five years but they are just now seeing
cases coming in. She has been in touch with dozens of concerned citizens about how they
are being interpreted and they would encourage some type of review mechanism.

DOCUMENT C

No discussion

DOCUMENT D

Vice Mayor Barotz asked that they leave in the rooming and boarding, SRO and dormitories
definitions for the time being.

 

  Moved by Mayor Jerry Nabours, seconded by Councilmember Scott Overton to close the
Public Hearing and read Resolution 2016-02 by title only.

Moved by Vice Mayor Celia Barotz and seconded by Councilmember Coral Evans to
amend the motion by leaving in the definition of rooming and boarding and other implications
that would have in other chapters.

Vice Mayor Barotz said that she was disappointed to hear that people are interested in
moving forward with these changes when this section of the code speaks to a contentious
issue they have. She said that the community has asked them to leave this alone for now and
Mr. Eastman said that leaving it alone was fine.

Vice Mayor Barotz said that she want to make sure the community understands that once this
ordinance becomes effective, a large development coming through, such as the HUB or the
Standard, would not require a public process because that process is being taken away.

Vote: 3-4 FAILED
AYE:  Vice Mayor Celia Barotz
          Councilmember Coral Evans
          Councilmember Eva Putzova
  

  Vote: 4 - 3 
 

NAY: Vice Mayor Celia Barotz 
  Councilmember Coral Evans 
  Councilmember Eva Putzova 

 
 

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting February 2, 2016                          13 



 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF, ARIZONA,
DECLARING AS A PUBLIC RECORD THAT CERTAIN DOCUMENT FILED WITH THE
CITY CLERK AND ENTITLED "2015/2016 AMENDMENTS TO CITY CODE TITLE 10,
ZONING CODE, EXCEPT FOR DIVISION 10-50.100 (SIGN STANDARDS)." 
 

 

  Moved by Mayor Jerry Nabours, seconded by Councilmember Jeff Oravits to read
Ordinance No. 2016-07 by title only for the first time. 

  Vote: 4 - 3 
 

NAY: Vice Mayor Celia Barotz 
  Councilmember Coral Evans 
  Councilmember Eva Putzova 

 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF, AMENDING
THE FLAGSTAFF CITY CODE, TITLE 10, THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF ZONING CODE, BY
ADOPTING BY REFERENCE THAT CERTAIN DOCUMENT ENTITLED "2015/2016
AMENDMENTS TO CITY CODE TITLE 10, ZONING CODE, EXCEPT FOR DIVISION
10-50.100 (SIGN STANDARDS)" ; PROVIDING FOR PENALTIES, REPEAL OF
CONFLICTING ORDINANCES, SEVERABILITY, AND ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE
DATE 

 

15. REGULAR AGENDA
 

A. Consideration and Adoption of Resolution No.2016-03: A Resolution of the City of
Flagstaff Urging the United States Congress to Pass Carbon Fee and Dividend Legislation.

  

 
  Sustainability Specialist Tamara Lawless said that in response to an August 4 citizen

petition, Council directed staff to bring back a resolution supporting carbon fee and dividend
legislation, which she then turned over to Clair Herrick to present a PowerPoint
presentation.

OVERVIEW
CITIZENS CLIMATE LOBBY
THE COST OF CARBON
CORRECTING A MARKET FLAW
CARBON FEE & DIVIDEND
BUSINESS SUPPORT FOR CARBON PRICING
JOB GROWTH UNDER CARBON FEE & DIVIDENT
EMISSION REDUCTIONS
ARIZONA SUPPORT FOR CARBON PRICING
IN RESPONSE TO COUNCIL'S QUESTIONS
FEE VS. TAX
ADMINISTRATION OF DIVIDEND
LOCAL ECONOMY?
COST INCREASES
SUMMARY

The following individuals then spoke in support of the resolution:

•Mark Alexander

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting February 2, 2016                          14 



•Ellen Vaughan
•Suzanne Treit, CCL Coordinator for Arizona
•Don Bayles
•Eric Souders
•Amanda Ormond

Comments received included:

•Very concerned about global change and how to deal with it
•Could wait until some climate catastrophe happens; better way is in front of them
•Implementation of this would use free market principles in order to encourage businesses
and individuals to reduce their carbon footprint
•Supports
•Most significant thing that can be done to move others is for US to lead and implement
federal legislation on climate change
•Need to take action
•Polluters have for a century gotten subsidies
•Shows the legislators that they are not sitting and waiting for them
•Both Arizona senators acknowledge climate change is human related
•Both senators would like to do something now but they need key stakeholders being
supportive of them
•Senators are asking for the cities' support
•The Council is the voice to represent the citizens
•Ripple effect; by third year they are seeing $2.1 million in revenue
•Businesses want tax certainty
•Cities are the innovation engine
•It has been found that carbon footprint and income correlate.

The following individual spoke in opposition to the resolution:

•Gabor Kovacs

Comments received included:

•Shady idea of promoting something like this has been rooted in decade old propaganda he
told them about last week
•Need to educate themselves
•Any far left agenda-ponze scheme, pyramid of the evil
•Find the creators of certain agendas, such as global warming, and below that in academia
they jump on the bandwagon for political or monetary benefits
•Below that are the foot soldiers, idiots, now called community organizers

 

  Councilmember Brewster said that she believed in global change, but she thought it was up
to individuals to do their own thing.

Councilmember Oravits said that he knew they had put a lot of work into the presentation,
and he thanked them for changing it as a "tax." He said that he could not support a tax
where all of the money is collected and distributed on a equitable basis. He said that the
cost of living is high; cost of gas is going to go up again. His gut tells him that this is going to
cost a lot of people a lot of money and will hurt those with little money.

Councilmember Putzova thanked them for their excellent presentation, noting that it was
rare to see such a complex issue presented in such a clear manner. She said that a lot of
them have a good idea of how much modeling went into these numbers. They are not
guesses, they are real assumptions behind them based on reality and Flagstaff data. She

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting February 2, 2016                          15 



thought it was a good proposal and was consistent with the City's Regional Plan.

Councilmember Evans thanked them for coming back and educating the Council. She
found it encouraging that their senators have been supporting this. She said that it was
fairly important for them to understand that change naturally happens at a grassroots level.
She doubted that the current written legislation will be final, but it would at least give them
an opportunity to show that it is more than just them.

Mayor Nabours said that this is something outside of the jurisdiction of the City, and he has
been consistent in his position of not telling other government entities what to do. He
thought this needed to be debated with appropriate testimony at the appropriate level. He
did appreciate the presentation and encouraged anyone interested to feel free to write their
senators and Congressmembers.

 

  Moved by Councilmember Eva Putzova, seconded by Councilmember Coral Evans to read
Resolution No. 2016-03 by title only. 

  Vote: 3 - 4 
 

AYE: Vice Mayor Celia Barotz 
  Councilmember Coral Evans 
  Councilmember Eva Putzova 

 
 

A break was held between 8:45 p.m. and 8:57 p.m.
 

B. Discussion and Possible Action re: Current Issues Before the Arizona Legislature (THIS IS
A STANDING ITEM - AS OF PUBLICATION OF THIS AGENDA NO ISSUES HAVE BEEN
RAISED)

 
  Assistant to the City Manager Stephanie Smith introduced the issue, noting that the contract

lobbyist, Richard Travis, was on the telephone. She said that there are hundreds of bills
being tracked, and thousands have been dropped in Legislature. That is more than she can
keep up with which is why they rely so heavily on Mr. Travis's team.

Mr. Travis said that this was the third week of session. Most of the bills to be dealt with have
been dropped. The Senate's deadline was Monday; the House's deadline will be next
Monday.

He then reviewed the following issues:

Guns - moving again this year in four or five different forms. They are working to develop a
coalition of folks that are concerned with them, but they do not know where the Governor is
with the second amendment issues. The last session ended before many of the bills made it
through and as a consequence, the Governor is not on the record of what he would do with
some of these bills.

Preemption bills - From last year's bill that passed taking away local control over bags and
energy reporting and recycling. Part of the litigation brought on that bill dealt with charter
cities and if the bill that became law covered more than one subject it would be
unconstitutional. So, the legislature has come back trying to repeal the bill and others are
trying to pass separate bills to get around the same subject issue being litigated. They are
renewing their calls to leave those decisions to the cities. Most are reverting back to their
votes last year.

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting February 2, 2016                          16 



Airports - The City of Mesa and Gateway Airport had an issue with a charter school building
within the flight path which had an impact on inbound and outbound flights. When the charter
legislation was passed it was decided to not require charter schools to go through typical
Planning and Zoning regulations and as a result every municipal airport is vulnerable. He
said that they were promoting this legislation.

Pension Reform - They understand how important this is and each city is uniquely situated
depending on the age of their employees. Senator Lesko is working with the Police and Fire
unions and brought a consensus bill to the Senate. It has support of the Governor and
President of the Senate. They were hoping to see a companion bill dropped in the House;
however, the House wanted their own review. As of today, while the House is dropping their
own bill, it looks like it will not be very different. The Governor and unions have agreed they
would like to see a Constitutional change to make the bills work. They plan to have those
changes go on the special election May ballot with Proposition 123, but the Legislature does
not have a lot of time to deliberate to make that special election.

He said that they are following a number of water issues, technical in nature, where they
rely on the City's expertise to guide them. Additionally, there is a new bill to create a
Department of Forestry. They were not sure if it was cosmetic rf if by creating a new
department forest health will get more attention and funding.

Vice Mayor Barotz asked if they were following any of the bills related to business
regulations. Mr. Travis said that they have been following HB2517 regarding business
professions. He said that many of the bills are also being supported or opposed by the
League and they are in communication with them on those efforts so they are coordinated.
That is one that has the League's attention.

Councilmember Putzova asked if there have been any water bills. Mr. Travis said that they
usually see water quality, water control, goundwater issues. This year they were also seeing
some bills dealing with a fee on hookups to prevent the City from using the hookup fees to
offset other costs.

Erin Young, Water Resources Manager, said that HB2391 is very recent. She said that it
was presented at the City of Phoenix and they were voting on the bill or how to approach
the issue. They are all watching this through the Northern Arizona Municipal Water Users
Association (NAMWUA).

Vice Mayor Barotz asked if the Council would be advised when NAMWUA considers its
action. Ms. Young said that Councilmember Oravits sits on the Board of NAMWUA.

Ms. Smith said that if there was legislation that they were looking for participation on by the
Flagstaff Council and it was not consistent with guiding principles or priorities, they would
be brought back. She said that at the next intergovern update she could plan to focus on the
different coalitions' activities.

Mr. Travis said that there was also a drone bill dropped by Kavanaugh. He said that there
were a couple of citiens that have enacted drone restrictions. Phoenix was headed toward
consideration, but have stopped in order to give state legislators an ability to do statewide
legislation.

He said that there was also donation bin legislation being proposed. He said that there is no
City regional required; it is the private right of action to allow owners to self regulate some of
the bins on their property.

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting February 2, 2016                          17 



He said that there are two bills that they are actively lobbying on behalf of the City--the VA
Home bill and the Technical Registration Bill. the Technical Registration is up for hearing
tomorrow and Mike Scheau and the Mayor were going down to testify. He said that they will
have a hearing in House Appropriations on the VA Bill and they believe they will have a
companion bill on the Senate side.

Ms. Smith asked Mr. Travis to talk a little about opportunities for the Council to engage in
advocacy at the Legislature. Mr. Travis said that those other than their own bills, the
challenge is always that they have to react to what others are doing. Depending on the
Chairs, they get cooperation or they don't. Part of the pension reform the League contacted
a couple of mayors and they will be testifying on that bill. If they have enough lead time and
there is an interest, they can cooperate and have members either come down and testify in
committee or identify some legislators that could be e-mailed.

Mr. Travis said that as they get further into the session there will probably be some media
opportunities with press conferences to be attended, such as with the gun bills. If anyone
knows they are coming down, he would be happy to meet them there.

 

  Councilmember Putzova asked Mr. Travis what he could tell them about the Governor's
proposed budget and its impact on cities. She asked what position they should be taking
and what the conversation is. Mr. Travis said that this year the Legislature did not put out an
alternative budget; they supported the Governor's budget. It holds all spending at the same
levels as last year with some increases for enrollment at prisons and universities. There are
some discretionary monies put into the child protective services that was created to address
the case backlog.

For the City's issues, the VA Home was not included in the Governor's budget. Their effort
is to try and get as much attention focused and have legislators ask that it be added to the
budget. The leadership in the House and Senate is already going around and asking for
their priorities in thebudget.

Councilmember Putzova asked if there was any process for councilmembers or the public
to learn more about the budget or become part of the public hearing.

Mr. Travis said that in the past the budget was built in the Appropriations Committee and
they would have hearings on Friday, in three different subcommittees and slowly built it that
way. In the end it would be blended; there would be trading and flexibility. That is not the
process being used for about a decade. The reality of this budget is that leadership and the
Governor will meet and develop a general agreement on a budget, then take that back to
the House and Senate and leadership will meet in small groups with legislators to get their
commitment to vote for their proposal. None of that is done in public.

Ms. Smith said that she shared a summary of the Governor's budget and tutorial in his
recommended budget earlier last month. She thinks they could provide education to the
public so they could be more informed with the process and could include that summary on
the Intergov Site to share with the community. She said that the City's #1 priority was to
preserve local funding and the Governor's recommended budget protects local funding.
There are no additional HURF sweeps and they remain at the same level of state shared
revenue.

Councilmember Oravits said that Speaker Gowan's office reached out to the Mayor and
himself and there will be a budget town hall this Saturday from 10:00 a.m. to 1:00 p.m. in the
Council Chambers.

Councilmember Evans said that the notice provided for that meeting was a little lacking, and

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting February 2, 2016                          18 



she asked that the City Clerk post it for a possible quorum.
 

C. Consideration of moving the March 15, 2016, Regular Council meeting to March 22,
2016, due to Spring Break.

 
  Moved by Mayor Jerry Nabours, seconded by Councilmember Jeff Oravits to change the

March 15, 2016, Council meeting to March 22, 2016, due to Spring Break. 
  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 

16. DISCUSSION ITEMS
 

17. FUTURE AGENDA ITEM REQUESTS

After discussion and upon agreement by a majority of all members of the Council, an item will
be moved to a regularly-scheduled Council meeting.

 

A. Future Agenda Item Request (F.A.I.R.): A request by Vice Mayor Barotz and
Councilmember Evans to place on a future agenda a discussion on winter snow play traffic
congestion.

  

 
  Vice Mayor Barotz said that she had requested this because there was great interest in the

community about the issue of traffic congestion in the northwest corridor and whether it is
caused by skiers or snow players. They would like to hold a work session and at a
minimum learn about what the County is talking about with a larger snow play area which
would divert some people from going through town. She would liie to have more discussion
about other options for alleviating the problem, and perhaps invite the Forest Service and
others that have a stake.

Councilmember Evans said that there was a document, 95% complete, that dealt with
winter snow play in Flagstaff where several groups got together to help create it. Maybe that
could be the basis for starting the discussion.

Mayor Nabours said that they have sort had a report like that a few years ago, but it would
not hurt to have an update. Councilmember Evans said that while they have had updates in
the past, she thought they could look at an update and let the citizens address the issue as
well.

Consensus of Council was to bring this item forward.
 

B. Future Agenda Item Request (F.A.I.R.): A request by Mayor Nabours to place on a future
agenda a comprehensive discussion on affordable housing.

  

 
  Mayor Nabours said that he would like to get an answer on why housing in Flagstaff is so

expensive and what can be done to make it less expensive. He said that there was a final
report dated December 5, 2005, which did not make any conclusions.  Councilmember
Brewster said that she was not against what was being asked, but they need to make sure
to include what is going on presently where ECoNA has already had a meeting about the
issue with major employers.

Mayor Nabours said that he would like to have members of the real estate community,
contractors, land developers, anyone that is affected, major employers, etc. and figure out
what the issue is.

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting February 2, 2016                          19 



Vice Mayor Barotz said that if it was just going to be a roundtable discussion in the back,
they run into a credibility issue. If they are going to have a discussion, she thinks everyone
should be able to participate. Councilmember Evans said that the conversation would be
interesting. She would like to have another work session and they have information. She
said that with everything she has read about housing, the why is not something that is well
understood.

Councilmember Oravits said that whatever they do, he brought up the Light Impact
Development (LID) some time back and what he asked about was to deal with costs on the
policy basis. If they are going to get into it, he would like to talk about that as well and the
resource protection and water meters on multifamily properties.

Vice Mayor Barotz said that she worries about people coming and giving their opinions. If
this is about reducing the regulatory burden and lowering the cost and changing the Zoning
Code, then they have to have a budget discussion.

Councilmember Overton said that they have been through this so many times. It will come
down to regulation versus supply/demand. They have tried a number of things, but it is good
to keep it in check and see where they are at. He said that they look to the City to solve the
problem, but it is not a solvable problem. It is a supply issue and the City does not control
that end of the market. They control the policies that tell the market what to do.

Consensus of Council was to bring the item back to a future meeting.
 

C. Future Agenda Item Request (F.A.I.R.): A request by Councilmember Evans to place on a
future agenda a Resolution of Support for Legislation Proposed by Representative Gosar and
Senator McCain Regarding Downwinders.

  

 
  Councilmember Evans said that the Council recently received an e-mail from Sherri Hanna

in Prescott regarding two bills being brought forward by Senators Gosar and McCain. It
would expand the area for those affected by the downwind of nuclear testing from Nevada
and those that were susceptible to cancer. She said that this was near and dear to her heart
as her Mother was a survivor and she is a breast cancer survivor.

Consensus was to bring this item forward to consideration. Councilmember Evans noted
that time was of the essence.

 

18. INFORMATIONAL ITEMS AND REPORTS FROM COUNCIL AND STAFF, FUTURE
AGENDA ITEM REQUESTS

 
  Vice Mayor Barotz asked for a FAIR item to have a work session with a presentation about

transect zones, the history and how they work. Councilmember Evans said that she
supported that request.

Councilmember Putzova said that awhile ago they asked for a presentation on wages that
was presented to Board of Supervisors to be given to the Council, and she asked for the
status on that.

Last time she requested a CCR on negotiations between the City and ADOT on route
transfers and although it was addressed some at the last meeting, she would still like to
receive that information.

She would like to get the meeting minutes or a CCR on the employer housing roundtable
that the City is organizing.

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting February 2, 2016                          20 



She also requested a FAIR item to discuss an implementation plan for climate change.

Mr. Copley explained that staff had sent out the RPI information to Council that came from
the presentation made to the County. He was looking currently at whether there was a
benefit to giving a presentation. That is out further on the agenda. Councilmember Oravits
said that he asked for an item that went through the process to get on an agenda a year ago,
and it has still not made it.

Councilmember Evans said that one of the things that would be helpful for the public is
knowing how to find the CCR's that Council requests from time to time. Mr. Copley noted
that they are currently posted on the City's website.

Mr. Copley reminded everyone that next Tuesday's meeting is canceled and there will be a
budget retreat on February 11 and February 16.

Mr. Copley also noted that they currently have 25 items, including FAIR items, on the future
agenda item list. He said that from to time he gets questioned on when items are going to
be brought forward. He endeavors to get those plugged into the calendar.

At this time Public Works Director Erik Solberg read a statement thanking the Council for
their trust and the dedicated City employees. He said that they have had fun working,
arguing, joking, etc.  He and his wife made Flagstaff home and his family has been here
since 1914. He thanked the Mayor, the Vice Mayor, Councilmembers and citizens for
allowing him to serve the City of Flagstaff.

 

19. ADJOURNMENT
 
  The Regular Meeting of the Flagstaff City Council held February 2, 2016, adjourned at 9:58

p.m.
 

 

  

 _______________________________
MAYOR

ATTEST:  

_________________________________
CITY CLERK

 

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting February 2, 2016                          21 



CERTIFICATION
   
STATE OF ARIZONA )  
 )    ss.
Coconino County )  

I, ELIZABETH A. BURKE, do hereby certify that I am the City Clerk of the City of Flagstaff, County of
Coconino, State of Arizona, and that the above Minutes are a true and correct summary of the Meeting of
the Council of the City of Flagstaff held on February 2, 2016. I further certify that the Meeting was duly
called and held and that a quorum was present.
  
DATED this 22nd day of March, 2016.           
  
 ________________________________

CITY CLERK

 

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting February 2, 2016                          22 



CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING
TUESDAY, FEBRUARY 16, 2016

COUNCIL CHAMBERS
211 WEST ASPEN

4:00 P.M. AND 6:00 P.M.
 

MINUTES
 

               

1. CALL TO ORDER 
 
Mayor Nabours called the Regular Meeting of the Flagstaff City Council held February 16, 2016, to
order at 4:01 p.m.
 

NOTICE OF OPTION TO RECESS INTO EXECUTIVE SESSION
 

Pursuant to A.R.S. §38-431.02, notice is hereby given to the members of the City Council and to the
general public that, at this regular meeting, the City Council may vote to go into executive session,
which will not be open to the public, for legal advice and discussion with the City’s attorneys for legal
advice on any item listed on the following agenda, pursuant to A.R.S. §38-431.03(A)(3).
 

 

2. ROLL CALL
  
NOTE: One or more Councilmembers may be in attendance telephonically or by other technological means.

  
PRESENT:

MAYOR NABOURS
VICE MAYOR BAROTZ
COUNCILMEMBER BREWSTER
COUNCILMEMBER EVANS
COUNCILMEMBER ORAVITS (telephonically)
COUNCILMEMBER OVERTON
 

ABSENT:

COUNCILMEMBER PUTZOVA

 

Others present:  City Manager Josh Copley and City Attorney Michelle D'Andrea.
 

3. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE AND MISSION STATEMENT 
 
The audience and City Council recited the Pledge of Allegiance and Mayor Nabours read the
Mission Statement of the City of Flagstaff
 

MISSION STATEMENT
 

The mission of the City of Flagstaff is to protect and enhance the quality of life of its citizens.
 

  



           

4. APPROVAL OF MINUTES FROM PREVIOUS MEETINGS
 

A. Consideration and Approval of Minutes: City Council Special Meeting (Executive Session)
of November 10, 2015; Special Meeting (Executive Session) of December 8, 2015; Special
Work Session/Special Meeting (Executive Session) of December 10, 2015; Regular Meeting
of December 15, 2015; Special Meeting (Executive Session) of January 19, 2016; and Special
Meeting (Executive Session) of February 2, 2016.

  

 
  Moved by Councilmember Scott Overton, seconded by Councilmember Karla Brewster to

approve the minutes of the City Council Special Meeting (Executive Session) of November 10,
2015; Special Meeting (Executive Session) of December 8, 2015; Special Work
Session/Special Meeting (Executive Session) of December 10, 2015; and Regular Meeting of
December 15, 2015; Special Meeting (Executive Session) of January 19, 2016; and Special
Meeting (Executive Session) of February 2, 2016. 

  Vote: 6 - 0 - Unanimously
 

5. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 

Public Participation enables the public to address the Council about an item that is not on the
agenda. Comments relating to items that are on the agenda will be taken at the time that the
item is discussed. If you wish to address the Council at tonight's meeting, please complete a
comment card and submit it to the recording clerk as soon as possible. Your name will be
called when it is your turn to speak. You may address the Council up to three times throughout
the meeting, including comments made during Public Participation. Please limit your remarks
to three minutes per item to allow everyone an opportunity to speak. At the discretion of the
Chair, ten or more persons present at the meeting and wishing to speak may appoint a
representative who may have no more than fifteen minutes to speak.

 
  Deputy City Manager Jerene Watson introduced John Mitchell, the Interim Public Works

Director, who was serving while a new Director is selected due to Mr. Solberg's retirement.
 

6. PROCLAMATIONS AND RECOGNITIONS

None 
 

7. APPOINTMENTS

Pursuant to A.R.S. §38-431.02, notice is hereby given to the members of the City Council and
to the general public that the City Council may vote to go into executive session, which will not
be open to the public, for the purpose of discussing or considering employment, assignment,
appointment, promotion, demotion, dismissal, salaries, disciplining or resignation of a public
officer, appointee, or employee of any public body...., pursuant to A.R.S. §38-431.03(A)(1).

None
 

8. LIQUOR LICENSE PUBLIC HEARINGS

None
 

9. CONSENT ITEMS 

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting February 16, 2016                          2 



9. CONSENT ITEMS 
 

All matters under Consent Agenda are considered by the City Council to be routine and will be
enacted by one motion approving the recommendations listed on the agenda. Unless
otherwise indicated, expenditures approved by Council are budgeted items.

 
  Moved by Councilmember Karla Brewster, seconded by Mayor Jerry Nabours to approve

Consent Items 9-A and 9-B. 
  Vote: 6 - 0 - Unanimously
 

A. Consideration and Approval of Contract: Well Siting Study. (Approval of the Agreement
will allow Clear Creek Associates to conduct a study to identify the next five (5) well
site locations for the City of Flagstaff)

1) Approve the Agreement with Clear Creek Associates for the amount of $206,000.
2) Authorize the City Manager to execute the necessary documents.

  

 

B. Consideration of Award of Consulting Contract:  Lockett Road Improvement Project
1) Award the Consultant Services Contract to Peak Engineering, Inc. of Flagstaff,
Arizona in an amount not to exceed $171,114.00.  The contract period is 545 calendar
days; and
2) Authorize Change Order Authority to the City Manager in the amount of $15,000 (10%
of contract amount excluding contingencies) for unanticipated or additional items of
work; and
3) Authorize the City Manager to execute the necessary documents.

  

 

10. ROUTINE ITEMS
 

A. Consideration and Adoption of Ordinance No. 2016-09:  An ordinance to enter into a third
Amendment to Development Agreement (DA) with Nestle-Purina Petcare Company to extend
the agreement and underlying lease for up to six months (Possible extension of
development agreement with Nestle-Purina).

  

 
  Business Retention and Expansion Manager John Saltonstall addressed the Council,

explaining that this was a request for an additional extension to the agreement with
Nestle-Purina. He noted that the Council had approved a six-month extension to the current
GPLET tax incentive arrangement with them to allow for an opportunity to conduct a study to
find a solution to odor issues related to the plant. The study has been completed, but they
are needing a little more time to complete a new development agreement that will address
the remedies.

Vice Mayor Barotz asked if there was a property tax incentive in place now, or if the taxes
were normal. Assistant City Attorney Anja Wendel replied that there is currently a property
tax incentive in place, per the original development agreement, which she believed to be
around $500,000 less the excise tax.

Community Investment Manager David McIntire added that this particular extension would
not have any additional financial impact; they are already off the tax rolls. Mayor Nabours
added that this extension would keep everything status quo for the next six months.

Nestle-Purina Petcare Plant Manager Ms. Kerr said that at the end of December they
received the initial draft of the study performed by Brown & Caldwell to look at biofilters,
ionizations, stack heights, etc. They have a few different options to install that will require a
phased approach due to the costs involved.

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting February 16, 2016                          3 



Mayor Nabours asked Ms. Kerr what it was that everyone smelled. Ms. Kerr replied that it
was the particulates. It was no different than baking, but they are baking dog food and the
moisture is pulled off as it is being dried.

Vice Mayor Barotz asked if new employees are made aware of the odor issue before they
are hired. Ms. Kerr said that if they had not had a tour before, she would invite them to do so.
It did not smell internally; the odor complaints are from the external environment.

Councilmember Oravits asked what kind of expenses they were talking about related to the
solutions. Ms. Kerr said that the initial phase in 2016 will be upward of $350,000 to run a
stack up the side of the building. After that point, anywhere from $3 to $4 million for
installation of an Unique Air System. It does not get them to zero, but it will substantially drop
the odor problems and take it to a minimal amount.

 

  Moved by Councilmember Scott Overton, seconded by Councilmember Karla Brewster to
read Ordinance No. 2016-09 by title only for the first time.

Vice Mayor Barotz asked staff to explain what the change in GPLET law is. Under the
Expanded Options it refers to a different arrangement than now.

Ms. Wendel said that staff is planning to do a comprehensive presentation in March on the tax
incentives. She said that the laws changed in 2010, raising the lease rates. She said that
under the older law they had lower rates and the City is governed by the older law because it
was approved prior to the 2010 change in the law and an extension to achieve the original
purposes is permitted.
  

  Vote: 6 - 0 - Unanimously
 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF, AUTHORIZING
THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF TO ENTER INTO A THIRD AMENDMENT TO DEVELOPMENT
AGREEMENT AMENDING THE DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT WITH NESTLE PURINA
PETCARE COMPANY TO ALLOW TEMPORARY EXTENSION OF AGREEMENT AND
UNDERLYING LEASE; PROVIDING FOR REPEAL OF CONFLICTING ORDINANCES,
SEVERABILITY, AND ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE DATE

 

RECESS 
 

The 4:00 p.m. portion of the Regular Council Meeting of February 16, 2016, recessed at
4:23 p.m.

6:00 P.M. MEETING
 
 

RECONVENE

Mayor Nabours reconvened the Regular Council Meeting of February 16, 2016, at 6:00 p.m.
 

 

NOTICE OF OPTION TO RECESS INTO EXECUTIVE SESSION

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting February 16, 2016                          4 



NOTICE OF OPTION TO RECESS INTO EXECUTIVE SESSION
 

Pursuant to A.R.S. §38-431.02, notice is hereby given to the members of the City Council
and to the general public that, at this regular meeting, the City Council may vote to go into
executive session, which will not be open to the public, for legal advice and discussion with
the City’s attorneys for legal advice on any item listed on the following agenda, pursuant to
A.R.S. §38-431.03(A)(3).

 

11. ROLL CALL
  
NOTE: One or more Councilmembers may be in attendance telephonically or by other technological means.

  
PRESENT:

MAYOR NABOURS
VICE MAYOR BAROTZ
COUNCILMEMBER BREWSTER
COUNCILMEMBER EVANS
COUNCILMEMBER ORAVITS
COUNCILMEMBER OVERTON
COUNCILMEMBER PUTZOVA
 

ABSENT:

NONE                         

 

Others present: City Manager Josh Copley and City Attorney Michelle D'Andrea.
 

12. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION
 
  Dawn Tucker, Flagstaff, thanked the Council for appointing a new committee to discuss the

high occupancy housing. She said that tonight she was asking Council to place a
moratorium on development in the downtown district until the issue has been resolved.

Barry Brenneman, Flagstaff, said that the mission of the City was to protect and enhance the
quality of life of its citizens, and asked that the Council make sure that when they act.

Charlie Silver, Flagstaff, thanked the Council for their work and asked that they do everything
in their power to encourage early involvement in developments that are consistent with
descriptions and words of the 2030 Flagstaff Regional Plan: Place Matters.

Mayor Nabours said that when they get to Item 14-B, the HUB, all they will be doing tonight is
hearing from staff and the applicant and that will take some amount of time. They will then
continue the public hearing and get public input a week from tonight and will go as long as
necessary.

He said at this time he would like to rearrange the order and move 14-A, Zoning Code
Amendments, up now and then take 13-A prior to the HUB public hearing.

Vice Mayor Barotz said that she thought there were a lot of people at the meeting that would
like to understand the Transect Zone.

Mayor Nabours said that the reason for doing that is he was going to propose that they do
the second read of the amendments first, because he would like to have further discussion
and consideration of those.

 

  Moved by Vice Mayor Celia Barotz, seconded by Councilmember Eva Putzova to keep the
current order of the agenda and not rearrange the order as directed by the Mayor. 

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting February 16, 2016                          5 



  Vote: 3 - 4 
 

AYE: Vice Mayor Celia Barotz 
  Councilmember Coral Evans 
  Councilmember Eva Putzova 

 

13. CARRY OVER ITEMS FROM THE 4:00 P.M. AGENDA
 

A. A Quick Tutorial on Transect Zones and Form-Based Code Standards   

 
  Zoning Code Administrator Roger Eastman gave a PowerPoint presentation on Transect

Zones and Form-based Codes, Exhibit B attached hereto and made a part hereof, which
addressed:

WHAT IS A TRANSECT?
AN OVERVIEW OF THE TRANSECT
TRANSECTS VARY FROM PLACE TO PLACE
AN OVERVIEW OF THE TRANSECT
     T-1
     T-2
     T-3
     T-4
     T-5
     T-6
APPLIED TO:
     Lighting standards
     Parking standards
     Landscape standards
     Building form
     Street standards
     Civic/open space standards
THE FLAGSTAFF TRANSECT
CONVENTIONAL VS. FORM-BASED CODES
WHAT IS A FORM-BASED CODE?
     Foster predictable built results
     Physical form
     Regulations
     Address the relationship between building facades and public realm, form and mass of
buildings in relation to one another, and scale and types of streets and blocks
A ONE-BLOCK PARCEL - Under Conventional Zoning
A ONE-BLOCK PARCEL - Under Form-based Code

Vice Mayor Barotz said that she was on the Council when they adopted this. She thought
that the application slide is hard to understand for the average person and asked Mr.
Eastman to explain the difference between regulatory and advisory.

Mr. Eastman said that a visioning document, such as the La Plaza Vieja Neighborhood Plan,
does not have binding standards. A regulatory document has standards and regulations that
are binding, like the Zoning Code is regulatory.

FORM-BASED CODE APPLICATION
     Regulatory not advisory
     Drafted to implement a plan
     Achieve a community vision - based on good urbanism

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting February 16, 2016                          6 



     Building form and mass standards are consciously based on context - place-based rules
     Easily understood code customized for the community
     May be applied using the Transect
THE FLAGSTAFF TRANSECT & FBC
FORM-BASED CODE STUDY AREA
MICRO-SCALE ANALYSIS - JULY 7TH
UNDERSTANDING THE EXISTING ZONING AND WHAT IT ALLOWS
WHAT THE EXISTING ZONING ALLOWS
WHAT THE ZONING CODE ALLOWS
DESIGN CHARRETTE
ILLUSTRATIVE PLAN
ILLUSTRATIVE PLAN - LOCALIZED STUDIES
GUIDING PRINCIPLES
TRANSECT ZONES - WOULD BE OPTIONAL
BASE ZONING ... OR ...
REGULATING PLAN
SAMPLE TRANSECT ZONE: T4N1
BUILDING TYPES
FRONTAGE TYPES
2007 TND STANDARDS?
FBCS IN SUMMARY
     Smart Growth
     New Urbanism in general
     Form-Based Codes
FBC IN SUMMARY
     Regulatory not advisory
     Implement a transect-based Regulatory Plan
     Establish good urbanism that is place-based and a result of a design charrette
     Include ALL of the following elements:
          Building placement - built-to line-setback
          Building form - height/coverage
          Building type
          Encroachments and frontage types
          Parking standards
          Allowed uses
     An important tool to implement the community's vision going back to GMG 2000 and 
        Vision 2020 documents

Vice Mayor Barotz asked if there were actually definitions of small, medium and large.
Mr. Eastman said there were not precise definitions. There has to be a little bit of flexibility in
application and intent.

Councilmember Overton asked if there was a reason why people have not been selecting
these types of developments. Mr. Eastman said that they have wrestled with that question.
There are very few under the transect zones, but the most obvious is on the south side of
Butler near Eldon. He said that he thinks that sometimes the existing zoning gives more
entitlement and it is easier to work under. They have tried their best to provide incentives
under Form-Based, most of which revolve around parking, landscaping, increased form,
increased height, but it is difficult to apply in a mandatory manner.

A break was held from 7:19 p.m. to 7:33 p.m.
 

14. PUBLIC HEARING ITEMS
 

A. Public Hearing, Consideration and Adoption of Resolution No. 2016-02 and Ordinance   

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting February 16, 2016                          7 



A. Public Hearing, Consideration and Adoption of Resolution No. 2016-02 and Ordinance
No. 2016-07:  Public hearing to consider proposed amendments to Flagstaff Zoning Code the
Preamble to the Zoning Code, Chapter 10-10 (Title, Purpose and Jurisdiction), Chapter 10-20
(Administration, Procedures and Enforcement), Chapter 10-30 (General to All), Chapter 10-40
(Specific to Zones), Chapter 10-50 (Supplemental to Zones) except for Division 10-50.100
(Sign Standards), Chapter 10-60 (Specific to Thoroughfares), Chapter 10-80 (Definitions) and
Chapter 10-90 (Maps); consideration of Resolution No. 2016-02 declaring the proposed
amendments as a public record; and adoption of Ordinance No. 2016-07, adopting
amendments to Flagstaff Zoning Code Chapter 10-10 (Title, Purpose and Jurisdiction),
Chapter 10-20 (Administration, Procedures and Enforcement), Chapter 10-30 (General to All),
Chapter 10-40 (Specific to Zones), Chapter 10-50 (Supplemental to Zones) except for Division
10-50.100 (Sign Standards), Chapter 10-60 (Specific to Thoroughfares), Chapter 10-80
(Definitions) and Chapter 10-90 (Maps), by reference. (Zoning Code Amendments
except Sign Code)

  

 
  Mayor Nabours said that the Council first reviewed the changes to rooming/boarding at the

December 15, 2015, meeting and there was no public comment received. When they tried to
hold first reading of the ordinance with the suggested changes, there was a lot of input from
the public. He did not want to hold up the rest of the amendments for that one item. By
making the motion he plans to make, to leave in the existing definition of rooming/boarding,
single room occupancy, and dormitory, it may make a lot of the comments to be made by the
public moot, but if, not, they will then get into those.

Mr. Eastman clarified that if they supported the suggested motion they would not only need
to amend Chapter 10-40, but other areas throughout the Code, so the motion would need to
be made broadly enough to cover those areas.

Vice Mayor Barotz asked about the page that dealt with transect zones, and the following
page that included the definition of carriage house and courtyard apartment. She asked if
that was a change. Mr. Eastman said that the only changes were those documented. Vice
Mayor Barotz asked if that meant that courtyard apartments would not be allowed. Mr.
Eastman said that on page 40 of the amendments package, there was a note; they have
added single-family cottage and stacked triplex.

Vice Mayor Barotz thanked the Mayor for changing his vote. She recognized the efforts of
the public and said that she had argued strenuously previously and she believes that the
reason for his change of heart was because of them, the public.

Councilmember Evans said that she wanted to apologize to everyone wanting to speak. She
said there were three of them that were clear that to take these definitions out of the Code
was premature; however there was a majority of Council willing to do so. Now the Mayor is
trying to add them back in and she thought that was rude. Several of the members of public
came to speak on the issue, and once again they were trying to do something before they
can participate.

Councilmember Oravits thanked everyone for their comments and e-mails. He said that what
they do is done through two reads of an ordinance. He was not going to apologize for
listening to the public. He was changing his vote because the people spoke. The process
does work. This went through the Planning and Zoning Commission who approved the
recommended changes; it went before the Council previously where the public did not have
comments. Now councilmembers are changing their votes because people spoke up; the
process does work.

 

  Moved by Mayor Jerry Nabours, seconded by Councilmember Karla Brewster to adopt

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting February 16, 2016                          8 



  Moved by Mayor Jerry Nabours, seconded by Councilmember Karla Brewster to adopt
Resolution No. 2016-02 with the change to leave definitions in 10-80 of rooming and boarding,
single room occupancy and dormitory as is and that the use table in 10-40 be amended
accordingly.

Councilmember Overton said that he was in the majority last week and believed that this does
not work properly for the correct type of input, but he was happy to leave it lie. He was still
concerned that they were not addressing the issue of finding the best, appropriate time and
place for input. This does not work for that reason. it was not because he was trying to take
away a public hearing. If they do not know the leasing arrangement there may or may not be a
public hearing. He felt it sent a very conflicting message.

Councilmember Overton asked staff if they felt this issue would be taken up by the high
occupancy housing committee. Mr. Eastman said that he believed they would. He said that it
has been brought forward that getting into leasing arrangements is difficult, but they will do the
work and research other communities, and bring something back.

Councilmember Putzova said that she would like to hear staff's explanation for the
recommendation they had made to take the definitions out. Mr. Eastman said that when the
planning staff are looking at new projects they look at the plans in front of them. The majority
of them are really apartment projects, with a number of units broken into rooms. It gets muddy
when they are trying to determine the leasing arrangements. They came to the conclusion that
they needed to go back to the real essence of what a dormitory was--a single room
occupancy--like an old Motel 6 that gets converted to a facility where contractors come to town
and stay a week or month. In their opinions, the rooming and boarding was, therefore, no
longer necessary. As a result of the input they have heard, they will go back and look at those
decisions in the context of high occupancy housing, which sometimes does involve a lease by
the bed.

Councilmember Putzova said that while it may appear that the process is working because
they were at second read and changes were being made, she thinks that the process is not
working.

Vice Mayor Barotz encouraged them to not venture into a decision making place about the
CUP for rooming and boarding until they have much more clarity. She understands the
problem with the current procedure in the Code. She was trying to argue that making the
change is premature. As staff does the research, she asked that they consider that their focus
is on the public having a right to speak. 

  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 
  Moved by Mayor Jerry Nabours, seconded by Councilmember Jeff Oravits to read

Ordinance No. 2016-07 by title only for the final time, with the changes expressed.

Councilmember Evans asked if they had any comment cards.

Moved by Councilmember Coral Evans and seconded by Councilmember Eva Putzova to
overrule the Chair's direction and take public comment on this issue.

Mayor Nabours said that he wanted the public comment, but was suggesting that it be taken at
the time the issue is on the table, when they get to the high occupancy housing.

Vote:  6-1
NAY:  Mayor Jerry Nabours

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting February 16, 2016                          9 



The following individuals addressed the Council on the proposed amendments:

•Sallie Kladnick
•Thomas Naifeh
•Adam Shimoni
•Rae Lynn Byars
•Roarie Johnson
•Sat Best
•Charlie Silver

Comments received included:

•Strongly feels that housing plans need public input
•Disagreed with taking CUP out of Planning and Zoning process
•Understands that NAU is planning a new dormitory with 600 beds
•Concerned with staff having the right to prevent rezones from becoming a public hearing
•They need public forum for an opportunity to come and be heard
•CUP requirement is important
•Glad to see the change of heart
•Hope it does not always take a public outpour to do the right thing
•Thank you for opening up the public forum
•Tonight they have successfully met 6 out of the 11 goals of Council. Hoped they would keep
those in mind with future decisions
•Keep the community involved
•Public comment is a fundamental right
•Hope they are sincere and it works; if it does not remember them at the election
•Flagstaff is a wonderful city; they want it to be a place where parents can send their kids and
know they will be okay
 
(MOTION TO READ ORDINANCE NO. 2016-07 BY TITLE ONLY FOR THE FINAL TIME, AS
AMENDED) 

  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 
   

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF, AMENDING
THE FLAGSTAFF CITY CODE, TITLE 10, THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF ZONING CODE, BY
ADOPTING BY REFERENCE THAT CERTAIN DOCUMENT ENTITLED "2015/2016
AMENDMENTS TO CITY CODE TITLE 10, ZONING CODE, EXCEPT FOR DIVISION
10-50.100 (SIGN STANDARDS)" ; PROVIDING FOR PENALTIES, REPEAL OF
CONFLICTING ORDINANCES, SEVERABILITY, AND ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE
DATE 

 

  Moved by Mayor Jerry Nabours, seconded by Councilmember Scott Overton to adopt
Ordinance No. 2016-07. 

 

B. Public Hearing, Consideration, and Adoption of Ordinance No. 2016-08:   An ordinance of
the Flagstaff City Council amending the Flagstaff Zoning Map Downtown Regulating Plan
designation of approximately 0.29 acres of land generally located west of the southwest
corner of Mikes Pike and Phoenix Avenue from the T4 Neighborhood 1 - Open (T4N.1-O) and
T5 Main Street (T5) transect zones to the T4 Neighborhood 2 (T4N.2) transect zone and of
approximately 1.35 acres located at 17 S Mikes Pike from the T4 Neighborhood 1 - Open
(T4N.1-O) transect zone to the T5 Main Street (T5) transect zone, conditional. (The Hub
Zoning Map Amendment)

  

 

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting February 16, 2016                          10 



  Mayor Nabours opened the Public Hearing, noting that this evening they would hear from
City staff and the developer and then the Public Hearing would be continued to the
February 23, 2016, Combined Special Meeting/Work Session to allow for public comment.
 
Planning Development Manager Brian Kulina gave a PowerPoint presentation, Exhibit C
attached hereto and made a part hereof, which addressed:
 
REQUEST
MAP
REQUIRED FINDINGS
DOWNTOWN REGULATING PLAN
URBAN ACTIVITY CENTER CHARACTERISTICS
GOALS & POLICIES
     Land Use
     Infill and Redevelopment
     Transportation and Parking
SOUTHSIDE 2005 PLAN
UNDERUTILIZED SITES MAP
ZONING – CITY OF FLAGSTAFF ZONING CODE
     Building Height
     Density/Intensity
TABLE 1 – COMPARISON OF DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS (TRANSECT)
TABLE 2 – DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS (TRADITIONAL)
PARKING
TABLE 3 – REQUIRED OFF-STREET PARKING CALCULATIONS (TRANSECT)
TABLE 4 – REQUIRED OFF-STREET PARKING CALCULATIONS (TRADITIONAL)
DESIGN REVIEW
PUBLIC SYSTEMS IMPACT
     Water and Wastewater
     Stormwater
PUBLIC COMMENT
NEIGHBORHOOD MEETING
DISCUSSION

RECOMMENDATION
     Subject to six conditions:
  

Development in substantial conformance with site plan as presented.1.
Building height immediately adjacent to Mikes Pike limited to f-stories/52 feet.2.
Development limited to 236 units and 664 beds.3.
Covered porch element, or other similar feature, added to Phoenix Avenue elevation.4.
Lot combination required prior to building permit submittal.5.
Developer providing 100 additional parking space6.

Vice Mayor Barotz asked what would happen to the CUP’s that were approved if this
application was not approved. Mr. Kulina said that they have a conditional approval. If this
rezone was not approved, the CUP's would be considered not approved.
 
Vice Mayor Barotz said that Mr. Kulina mentioned that the parking standards had been
calibrated. Given what she has heard, there are great concerns with parking. She asked if
staff was saying that the standards were okay. Mr. Kulina replied that from a staff
perspective, he trusts that they were calibrated. As a staff person he reviewed it in
conformance with the Zoning Code, and for his position it meets those requirements.
 
Councilmember Evans asked what the current zoning was and what could be built today.

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting February 16, 2016                          11 



Councilmember Evans asked what the current zoning was and what could be built today.
Mr. Kulina said that there are different zones. With the T5 Main Street zone, it is intended for
an extension of the downtown core. There they want development with larger buildings,
mixed use, primarily commercial with high density. The T4N1 Open zone does allow some
commercial uses of 3,500 sq. ft. or less unless they get a CUP to exceed that number. This
is another transition from T5, getting toward more neighborhood. He said that the T3 is all
residential with no commercial. He said that under the T4 Open, they are allowed up to 3.5
stories and some commercial uses. With the rezoning it would go to 4 stories and create a
commercial character along Mikes Pike which is a commercial street.
 
Councilmember Oravits asked what the parking requirements would be if the properties were
developed by right. Mr. Kulina said that parking within the T4 zone is somewhat like
traditional. If it had a studio or 1 bedroom, it would be 2+ spaces. Until staff sees a formal
application with a proposed development he could not say specifically.
 
Councilmember Oravits asked what could be built now without coming to Council. He asked
if the number of beds could be the same. Mr. Kulina said that it could be the same; it could be
more. It all depends on how the developer configures the internal circulation. He said that
90% of what is proposed could happen by right.
 
Mayor Nabours referenced the computer generated views of what the building would look
like by right and proposed. He asked if it was correct that they were both consistent with the
Regional Plan and no Regional Plan Amendment was needed. Mr. Kulina said that was
correct. It is indentified as urban land use area within two urban activity centers.
 
Councilmember Putzova said that they were talking about 664 beds. She asked what that
translates to into people. Mr. Kulina said that they would defer to the management company
on that question. They would try to limit it to one occupant per bed.
 
Mayor Nabours said that whether it is developed by right or as proposed, the occupant load
could be the same. Mr. Kulina said that was correct. It would depend on their revised
application to come in to develop by rights, but he would anticipate they would be looking at
similar numbers.
 
Current Planning Manager Mark Sawyers noted that the last recommendation, related to the
100 parking spaces, the minutes were approved by the Planning and Zoning Commission
and the last portion of the minutes eliminated the discussion about the payment of
$20/space. It was not included in the motion and because of the timing sequence of getting
the staff summary prepared, they did not have the ability to have a thorough review of that
motion.
 
Vice Mayor Barotz asked staff to explain a little about what assumptions were made for the
TIA, in particular the trip generation rates, taken from a study done in 2015 of existing
housing developments similar to the proposed development.
 
Traffic Engineer Jeff Bauman said that staff has done its own draft form for student housing
trip generation study. That is what the developer used for their generation rates. Staff has
looked at six similar apartment complexes. Vice Mayor Barotz said that she was trying to
understand if there is a difference in doing the analysis using data from an apartment
complex versus renting by the bedroom. Mr. Bauman said that they do compare those rates.
 
Councilmember Putzova asked if they factored in the commercial activity in the rates.
Mr. Bauman said that what he mentioned was just the residential. They have a pharmacy,
restaurant and office space as well, so there are trip generation rates for those as well.
 

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting February 16, 2016                          12 



Mr. Bauman said that it includes a traffic signal warrant at San Francisco and Frankin for a
new signal, some striping and signal work at San Francisco and Butler, and the pedestrian
signal by the High Country Conference Center would be upgraded.
 
Councilmember Oravits asked, assuming this was built as presented versus another project
of comparable size with the same number of people, if the traffic requirements would be the
same. Mr. Bauman said that they would be the same if it was the same number of people.
 
A break was held from 8:39 p.m. to 8:49 p.m.
 
Lindsay Schube, an attorney with Gammage & Burnham representing the HUB, said that
their site is currently being underused as industrial use. It is such an important corner in the
City of Flagstaff and all of the property owners wanted to sell; they did not have to relocate
anyone.
 
She said that they started looking at the Flagstaff market in 2012, and in 2013 looked at
different property. Their initial due diligence meeting with staff took place in 2014 to see what
rights were in place and what proposed zoning they would bring forward. In February 2015
they finalized the assemblage and held a kick off meeting with staff.
 
John Myefski with Myefski Architects said that on April 7, 2015, they held their first
neighborhood outreach. They held 5 key neighborhood meetings and 42 individual meetings.
Through that process the project has evolved into something completely different.
 
He said that at the third meeting they looked at the initial building, which is located on a
unique site fronting three streets. They wanted a place inside the building, like a courtyard,
with a cap above to cap the lighting. He said that they were not at the maximum amount of
space that they could get.
 
He said that their initial stage was to set the building back and create a retail base along
Mikes Pike. The reaction along Milton was still concern about too much mass on Mikes Pike.
They met with the Historic Preservation Commission and Phase I and Phase II were
approved. This included one home being moved off the project. They spent time making
revisions to elevations to give more of a residential setting with brick and stone and balcony
elements. They broke the residential windows down to what would be seen in a residential
home and included more siding.
 
He said that they then sat down and sketched out some ideas to break up Mikes Pike to have
8 to 10 different facades but tie into the architecture above. The direct intent was to divide it
so that retail could be used for smaller tenants with character for the street and as it would
grow over time. The Phoenix Avenue side got more of a residential feel and they tried to
bring the mass down, pushing the Milton side back another 12 feet for ADOT right-of-way.
 
He said that the big change on Mikes Pike was they pushed it back five feet past the property
line, dedicating that space needed to achieve the true pedestrian walkway.
 
She said that they will hear that this is a bad location; they disagree. There are trails and
bikeways, and it is close to the campus and close to good restaurants and coffee shops.

Ms. Schube continued, stating that instead of going through the details, they would take the
opportunity to talk about what they heard at the neighborhood meetings and at the Planning
and Zoning Commission meetings. It is walkable and bikeable and is located across the
street from the NAIPTA station. She said that they heard that students drive irresponsibility.
Their residents would be close and could bike, take the transit, or walk.
 

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting February 16, 2016                          13 



She said that they also heard that they were not well managed. She introduced Scott Stager,
Senior Vice President of Core Campus, who was present to tell about their approach taken
with new developments.
 
Mr. Stager came forward and said that it is easy for student housing to have bad reputations,
but it does not have to be that way. He said that the first thing they do that is different is they
look at the building design. They take the management and implement it into the design.
They want it to be as easy as possible to efficiently run the buildings and control the
environments. They have fob access controls for the front doors and amenities and they can
also set time zones for amenities. They have built large camera systems into all of their
properties with 70-100 cameras. He said that it has one single point of entry with an
emphasis on control of access. He said that they do have interior courtyard and amenities
that would allow it to be secluded from the outside and the parking structure would be
internal.
 
He said that their management will be hands on with a comprehensive, detailed management
plan for each building which they go over with staffing, including the policies and procedures.
They remain flexible enough to know they cannot detail everything out front; they have to be
able to make changes as situations come up.
 
He said that they look to hire the best they can in the market, looking for a lot of experience
with property managers with detailed training for their policies and procedures. They hire a
great staff and team under that property manager. Additionally, they hire employees that live
at the site and serve as a community liaison to residents as well as to management staff.
 
He said that as part of the lease they have a detailed emphasis on rules and regulations,
from security, guests, pets, etc. and they go over this with every tenant. He said that the
biggest aspect is that they hold their tenants responsible for their actions. Most students are
college age, but that does not mean they get a pass. They treat them as young adults and
hold them to that same standard. If there is a violation of the lease, it will either be a fine or
eviction, depending on the infraction. They will also participate in the Crime Free
Multihousing Program.
 
Mr. Stager said that during their past presentation some of the public brought up concerns in
Tucson, stating that they were not managing the property effectively, and quoted an article
about a mosque in that area. He said that they asked the Chairman of the mosque to support
this development. He noted that they have been excellent neighbors and were not a part of
the issue that existed in that article. He said that they have formed a great relationship with
them and saw what was happening with the other properties so they implemented some
additional program to ensure that they did not become part of the problem. They also allowed
their cameras to face the other building and help curb those problems.
 
Mr. Stager said that they also had a letter of support from the Mayor of Columbia, South
Carolina. They had a major renovation of a 22-story high rise and it was a main part of the
city’s revitalization. They were an integral part of turning around that area of town to become
lively and bring a population back to an area.
 
He said that a question had been raised as to number of people to a bed. He said that in
Arizona the Fair Housing Laws prohibit them from limiting one person per bedroom;
however, their policy is one person per bedroom, unless someone wants to double up and
then there is additional rent required. He said that the rooms are 10 x 10; they are not
conducive to having two people in a bedroom.
 
Speaking to his personal experience operating in Arizona, he has personally overseen four
properties in Arizona—two in Tempe and two in Tucson. They have not had any double-ups

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting February 16, 2016                          14 



in any of those developments. Ms. Schube added that the rooms come furnished and there
is only one bed provided per room.
 
Mr. Myefski then continued, stating that they shifted from being more central to having lower
masses around the outside, shifting to the Milton side because that is where the T5 zone is
located.
 
He said that the hope is that this will be a place making tool for future developments. They
are trying to do things that reinforce those things that are being asked for. It has been said
that it is not the best site in Flagstaff, but they believed it was probably one of the best sites
for student housing.
 
Ms. Schube further discussed parking, noting that they do not intend to make their parking
the City’s problem They think the parking program is going to alleviate the problem and they
are supportive of the Permit Parking Program and will continue working on that.
 
Councilmember Overton asked how the other units were performing in Tucson. Mr. Stager
said that they were at 100% leased. Councilmember Overton asked how the parking was
performing in Tucson and if it was meeting the needs correctly. Mr. Stager said that the
leasing is a strong indication of that as well. If someone wanted to lease, but wanted a car,
that would deter them and they would go farther away from campus to a location with more
parking.
 
Mayor Nabours asked if parking came with each unit. Mr. Stager said that a parking space is
a separate contract.
 
Vice Mayor Barotz asked if any of the communities they were comparing Flagstaff to were
the same size. It depends on the setting and Flagstaff does have a great transit system, but
they do have issues with frequency. She did not know that they were comparing apples to
apples.
 
Mr. Stager said that if a prospective tenant came in and asked about parking they would tell
them that they would either need a parking space, or there was limited parking on the street
through a parking permit program. Councilmember Oravits said that the main downtown area
will be permit-based; there would be no where to park.
 
Ms. Schube said that it is important to know that one day Core will have a presence. If they
cannot lease the beds, if they are wrong and they are 100 parking spots short, then they will
solve that problem from a business perspective and continue to work with the community.
 
Councilmember Oravits asked if that has ever happened elsewhere. Mr. Stager said that it
has never happened.
 
Councilmember Evans said that the way she understood the new parking district program is
that each block will determine if there is 51% of the property owners on the block wanting a
residential parking permit program. She asked Core if they would be willing to sign on to
make sure there is a residential parking permit program established. Ms. Schube replied that
they would envision those street commercial parking spaces to be for retail use with time
limits, but they would be willing to have a discussion.
 
Councilmember Putzova said that in reading all of the comments, she questioned how they
could say it was great and people like it, when in their minds it is not appropriate for the
neighborhood. Mr. Myefski said that his life revolves around those comments. Those that
support the project do not come out, but the support he has received at the meetings and
what has brought them to this point tells them they are headed in the right direction.

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting February 16, 2016                          15 



 
Councilmember Putzova said that context matters. The tenants will be NAU students and
70% are in-state. They come from somewhere, many from the Phoenix metro area, and they
bring cars. Mr. Myefski said that they are talking about 664 beds and they already have 231
parking spaces. The projects they have worked on have not seen the demand for more
parking.
 
Mayor Nabours asked Ms. Schube if the client had already purchased the land. She replied
that they had. They were in contract with the last piece on Milton, but it has not closed.
 
Ms. Schube said that in looking at the reasons voiced for opposition, it comes down to
density. There has been a sense that they get more density based on a rezone request, but
they have the same density by right. Also, the CUP does not allow any more or less density.
She said that the “by right” development plan contains the same number of beds and seven
more parking spots. It comes down to how they lay out the units. The rezone does not
alleviate parking. The 238 parking spots are by right; this project is better the way it is.
 
Councilmember Oravits said that if he was hearing right, the “by right” development would
have equitable parking and occupancy. Mr. Myefski said that was correct. The commercial
would disappear and there would be more residential, and it would go to 64 feet on Milton. He
said that the proposed development is more expensive as it includes almost $250,000 of
glass. To give the City the glass and the residential feel they have to build it reinforced. It
gives that look and Core has agreed to that.
 
Vice Mayor Barotz said that she believed that there have been so many concerns
communicated is because of a clash of values. She has read all of the e-mails and the things
being talked about are referenced in the Regional Plan. She believed that it was a big
clash of values and change.
 
Councilmember Overton said that he and Vice Mayor Barotz sit on the board for NAIPTA and
asked how the developers plan to encourage the use of the transit system by the students.
Ms. Schube said that they have met several times with Mr. Meilbeck and Erika and have
talked about the frequency issue. They are encouraging NAIPTA to be in Core’s leasing
office with info and bus pass sales. Also, when parents come in and guarantee leases, they
would encourage them to secure a full bus pass right there.
 
Councilmember Overton referred back to the slide showing the original plan and the
proposed plan. He asked if they ended up building by right if it would look more like the top
plan. Mr. Myefski said that they would probably start all over, but it would have less of the
masonry materials.
 
Dawn Cartier said, with regard to the vehicle trip distribution, they took two different
approaches. They looked at the data of plans with more pedestrians on the street and one
with more cars and addressed both of them. They have offered to do some improvements to
the signalized crosswalk and include some bump outs.

Written comments in opposition to the proposal were received from:

•Erika Mark
•Steve Kugler
•David Lang
•Katy Harding
•Claudine Taillor
•Holly Stahl
•Christopher Dunbar

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting February 16, 2016                          16 



Mayor Nabours said that the Public Hearing would be continued to the February 23, 2016,
Combined Special Meeting/Work Session.

 

15. REGULAR AGENDA
 
  Mayor Nabours noted that in compliance with the Rules of Procedure, agenda items should

not be started after 10:00 p.m. without a vote of the Council.
 

  Moved by Councilmember Scott Overton, seconded by Councilmember Jeff Oravits to
complete the rest of the agenda. 

  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 

A. Consideration and Adoption of Resolution No. 2016-06: A resolution of the Flagstaff City
Council supporting Congressman Gosar's and Senator McCain's bipartisan bills to ensure
justice for Downwinders exposed to government radiation testing.

  

 
  Moved by Councilmember Coral Evans, seconded by Councilmember Jeff Oravits to read

Resolution No. 2016-06 by title only.

Mayor Nabours said that he would not vote in support of the resolution, but he would be happy
to speak to both of them when he was in Washington D.C. 

  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 
  A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF FLAGSTAFF, COCONINO COUNTY,

ARIZONA, SUPPORTING CONGRESSMAN GOSAR’S AND SENATOR MCCAIN’S
BIPARTISAN BILLS TO ENSURE JUSTICE FOR DOWNWINDERS EXPOSED TO
GOVERNMENT RADIATION TESTING 

 

  Moved by Councilmember Coral Evans, seconded by Councilmember Eva Putzova to adopt
Resolution No. 2016-06. 

  Vote: 5 - 2 
 

NAY: Mayor Jerry Nabours 
  Councilmember Scott Overton 

 

B. Discussion and Possible Action re: Current Issues Before the Arizona Legislature (THIS IS
A STANDING ITEM - AS OF PUBLICATION OF THIS AGENDA NO ISSUES HAVE BEEN
RAISED)

 
  Assistant to the City Manager Stephanie Smith began the discussion noting that there is a

pension reform bill being discussed, and Mr. Travis was on the telephone should there be
any questions for him. She said that there is a reform tied to the public safety pension
system that includes a change to the State Constitution. The pension reform has been
discussed, the package of several different bills have been discussed and passed out of
committees. As a result of over a year of planning and collaborations, this is the best possible
solution for reforming the system. The ballot initiative, 124, includes language which is being
finalized through counsel. The question will change permanent benefit increases to an
annual cost of living for current members. Next week the pro/con statements are due and her
question is whether the Council wanted to submit a statement in support of this legislative fix
for the public safety retirement system.

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting February 16, 2016                          17 



Mayor Nabours said that this has been a legislative agenda item for several years and there
was a task force put together to come up with a resolution that was acceptable to the police,
fire and cities. Ms. Goodrich was a member of that task force. They met and presented their
proposal and the Senate adopted it in full. They eventually got it passed in the House. It is
much needed in the City.

Ms. Goodrich said that she would hope that the Council would support the measures as
proposed. The City has current liability of approximately $80 million. This legislation will not
do away with that, but it keeps it from accelerating and getting worse in years to come.
Mayor Nabours added that it is still a good pension plan; it is just that the
employer/employee contributions will be more balanced.

Councilmember Overton said that it was a noble cause, but he has some concern with
writing a letter. He would steer clear from that, but they could educate the public from their
personal positions.

After a brief discussion on the ability of the City to send a letter of support, Mayor Nabours
said that he would write a letter as an individual, noting that it did not reflect the opinion of the
entire Council.

Ms. Smith then brought up HB2333 for consideration, asking Mike Scheu, the City's Building
Official, to give some history of the bill. Mr. Scheu said that he started this process about four
years ago, trying to get some relief for the small businesses from the expense of hiring a
registered architect or engineer to approve plans for improvements that were not related to
structural changes.

He said that they got part of the bill rewritten into what is now 3B, townhomes to be added,
and putting on a deck. After that he tried to contact the AIP President and Board of
Registration, but could not get a returned phone call. This year he did not bother dealing with
them. He talked with Mr. Travis at the Legislative Breakfast and he then testified before the
House Commerce Committee. The had a conference call with the Technical Registration
people and the AIA President. They went through what was being proposed and concerns
were voiced. They have made some changes to the proposed wording and will be meeting
with them again tomorrow. He said that he had previously gotten buy-in from the local
architects with some parameters, but this year they said they could not support him
anymore.

Mayor Nabours said that he was at the Commerce Committee meeting when Mr. Scheu
testified and he did a great job. He said that he and Representative Barton both spoke as well
about the problems created when there is a tenant space where they want to make minor
changes and the approval process of requiring a registrants to approve the plans costs more
than the actual improvements.

Vice Mayor Barotz asked who all had seen the proposed wording. Mr. Scheu said that he
sent it to the AIA President to be distributed and he believed the engineering association was
at the meeting. Mr. Travis said that it has been distributed to representatives for architects,
engineers, registrants, lobbyists, etc.

Vice Mayor Barotz said that the language being shown was different than what she printed
off of the Internet. Ms. Smith explained that the verbiage being shown are the changes that
were developed to address concerns raised at their last meeting.

Councilmember Evans asked what the difference was between a registrant and a licensed
contractor. Mr. Scheu said that a licensed contractors builds the improvements; the registrant

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting February 16, 2016                          18 



is the one that does the design, including engineering and electrical, etc., when needed. The
coordinate the plans so that when the plans are submitted it is all sealed, taking the licensing
and insurance responsibility, and submit it to the City for code compliance.

Councilmember Evans said that her recollection of how these proposed changes came
about was different than what was presented. Her understanding was that this came before
Council and someone mentioned that there were churches that might have to make changes
to nonload bearing walls, so they needed a small change made. She said that when she got
interested in the bill she made a phone call to one architect and she received 25 responses
from that one call. She said that it was pretty clear that what was written on the Internet was
too broad. She said they were talking about life and safety issues, ADA structural issues, and
possible liability to the City. When she first supported this, they were talking about something
that was not that technical. She would encourage the Council to sit down and have a
conversation with the registrants in Flagstaff that want to get them to a much better bill.

Mr. Scheu said that the initial bill was broad and then they came up with these parameters.
With regard to life and safety, they hired him to enforce the code. He does not care who
draws the plans. They are going to get life safety review from him and his team.

Councilmember Evans said that in the future if they have a legislative agenda and are writing
and shaping legislation at a statewide level, she would suggest that those interested be
invited to sit at the table.

Councilmember Putzova said that they are jumping into supporting this bill when there are so
many other bills that are affecting the City at a much greater level.

The following individuals addressed the Council voicing concern with the proposed
legislation:

•Michael Garrison
•Paul Moore

Comments received included:

•A lot of concerns with the legislation
•They see the potential in so many projects they do where just adding a single wall can
create life safety issues that are not obvious without training
•Liability for design and life safety issue lies with the design professional
•Not present to counter, but to question it
•Has heard reports that at the state meetings it was conveyed that the Flagstaff architects
were in favor of the bill
•Could not speak for all of the Flagstaff architects, but most of the members of their informal
group are not in favor of it
•Many Flagstaff architects are in opposition to the bill
•The initial conversation was in the spirit of cooperation. The more he thinks about it, he
does not see a clear answer. Many people do not understand what they do as architects. His
opinion is that it is not appropriate to address it at this level. Should be addressed locally

Written comments in opposition to the proposed legislation were also received from:

•Aaron Heise
•Michael Garrison

Mayor Nabours asked Mr. Garrison if the change made to no more than 3,000 sq. ft. or 125
lineal feet would be more acceptable.

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting February 16, 2016                          19 



Councilmember Oravits said that he has talked to so many customers that run into the issue
of having a $500 wall to put in requiring $2,000 to get plans drawn.

 

  Ms. Smith said that there were other legislative items, but she could cover them through
e-mail communication.

Vice Mayor Barotz left the meeting at this time (10:54 p.m.)
 

  Moved by Councilmember Eva Putzova, seconded by Councilmember Coral Evans to
withdraw support for the HB2333 and stop all negotiations in regard to amendments and
language.

Mayor Nabours said that would be pulling the rug from under their legislative agenda, and they
had asked Mr. Scheu to do this work.

Councilmember Evans said that her understanding of what the two architects just said was
they need to work on this at the local level and she wondered why it was not looked at there
first. Mr. Scheu said that they tried to do that, but received a nasty letter from the Attorney
General's office telling them that it was a state law and could not be changed at a local level. 

  Vote: 4 - 3 
 

NAY: Mayor Jerry Nabours 
  Councilmember Jeff Oravits 
  Councilmember Scott Overton 

 

16. DISCUSSION ITEMS

None
 

17. FUTURE AGENDA ITEM REQUESTS

After discussion and upon agreement by a majority of all members of the Council, an item will
be moved to a regularly-scheduled Council meeting.

 

A. Future Agenda Item Request (F.A.I.R.): A citizen petition requesting that a resolution
regarding Tequila Sunrise be placed on a future agenda for consideration.

  

 
  Mayor Nabours asked Ms. Watson if there was not a meeting set up next week to address

Tequila Sunrise. Ms. Watson said that there was, including the people that spearheaded this
petition.

 

  Moved by Mayor Jerry Nabours, seconded by Councilmember Jeff Oravits to take no action
on this petition since the Council is already moving forward with reviewing the topic with a
committee. 

  Vote: 6 - 0 - Unanimously
 

B. Future Agenda Item Request (F.A.I.R.): A citizen petition requesting that a comprehensive
discussion be scheduled to address transect zones in the City.

  

 
  Moved by Councilmember Eva Putzova, seconded by Councilmember Coral Evans to move

this item forward. 

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting February 16, 2016                          20 



  Vote: 4 - 2 
 

NAY: Mayor Jerry Nabours 
  Councilmember Jeff Oravits 

 

18. INFORMATIONAL ITEMS AND REPORTS FROM COUNCIL AND STAFF, FUTURE
AGENDA ITEM REQUESTS 

 
  Mayor Nabours mentioned that the Governor has now signed the Charter amendments from

the November 2015 election, so citizen petitions will now require 25 signatures.
 

19. ADJOURNMENT

The Regular Meeting of the Flagstaff City Council held February 16, 2016, adjourned at
11:00 p.m.

 

 _______________________________
MAYOR

ATTEST:
 

 

_________________________________
CITY CLERK

 

  

CERTIFICATION
I, ELIZABETH A. BURKE, do hereby certify that I am the City Clerk of the City of Flagstaff, County of
Coconino, State of Arizona, and that the above Minutes are a true and correct summary of the Meeting of
the Council of the City of Flagstaff held on February 16, 2016. I further certify that the Meeting was duly
called and held and that a quorum was present.
  
DATED this 22nd day of March, 2016.           
  
 ________________________________

CITY CLERK

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting February 16, 2016                          21 



SPECIAL MEETING (EXECUTIVE SESSION)
MONDAY, FEBRUARY 29, 2016

COUNCIL CHAMBERS
211 WEST ASPEN

10:15 A.M.
 

MINUTES
 

               

1. Call to Order

Mayor Nabours called the Special Meeting (Executive Session) of February 29, 2016, to order at
10:15 a.m. 

 

2. Roll Call
  
NOTE: One or more Councilmembers may be in attendance telephonically or by other

technological means.
  
PRESENT:

MAYOR NABOURS
VICE MAYOR BAROTZ
COUNCILMEMBER BREWSTER
COUNCILMEMBER EVANS
COUNCILMEMBER ORAVITS
COUNCILMEMBER OVERTON
COUNCILMEMBER PUTZOVA

ABSENT:

NONE                            

 

Others present: City Manager Josh Copley and City Attorney Michelle D'Andrea.
 

3. Recess into Executive Session.
 
  Moved by Mayor Jerry Nabours, seconded by Councilmember Jeff Oravits to recess into

Executive Session. 
 

4. Executive Session:
 

A. Discussion, consultation or consideration for international and interstate negotiations or for
negotiations by a city or town, or its designated representatives, with members of a tribal council,
or its designated representatives, of an Indian reservation located within or adjacent to the city or
town, pursuant to ARS 38-431.03(A)(6).

 

i. Hopi v. City of Flagstaff; City of Flagstaff vs. Arizona Snowbowl
 

  



           

5. Adjournment

The Flagstaff City Council reconvened into Open Session at 10:39 a.m. at which time the Special
Meeting held February 29, 2016, adjourned.

  
 

 _______________________________________
Mayor

ATTEST:

____________________________________
City Clerk

 

  

Flagstaff City Council Executive Session February 29, 2016                          2 



SPECIAL MEETING (EXECUTIVE SESSION)
TUESDAY, MARCH 1, 2016

COUNCIL CHAMBERS
211 WEST ASPEN

3:00 P.M. AND BETWEEN THE 4:00 P.M.
AND 6:00 P.M. PORTION OF THE REGULAR MEETING

 

MINUTES
 

               

1. Call to Order

Mayor Nabours called the Special Council Meeting of March 1, 2016 to order at 3:00 p.m. 
 

2. Roll Call
  
NOTE: One or more Councilmembers may be in attendance telephonically or by other

technological means.
  
PRESENT:

MAYOR NABOURS
VICE MAYOR BAROTZ
COUNCILMEMBER BREWSTER
COUNCILMEMBER EVANS
COUNCILMEMBER ORAVITS
COUNCILMEMBER OVERTON
COUNCILMEMBER PUTZOVA

ABSENT:

NONE                            

 

Others present: City Manager Josh Copley and City Attorney Michelle D'Andrea.
 

3. Recess into Executive Session.
 

4. Executive Session:
 
  Moved by Mayor Jerry Nabours, seconded by Councilmember Scott Overton to recess into

Executive Session. 
  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 

A. Discussion or consultation for legal advice with the attorney or attorneys of the public body; and
discussion or consultation with the attorneys of the public body in order to consider its position
and instruct its attorneys regarding the public body's position regarding contracts that are the
subject of negotiations, in pending or contemplated litigation or in settlement discussions
conducted in order to avoid or resolve litigation, pursuant to ARS 38-431.03(A)(3) and (4),
respectively.

 

i. Hopi v. City of Flagstaff; City of Flagstaff vs. Arizona Snowbowl
 
  The Flagstaff City Council reconvened into Open Session at 4:06 p.m.

  



  The Flagstaff City Council reconvened into Open Session at 4:06 p.m.
 
The Flagstaff City Council recessed from Open Session back into Executive Session at 5:13 p.m.

 

B. Discussion or consultation for legal advice with the attorney or attorneys of the public body
pursuant to ARS 38-431.03(A)(3).

 

i. HUB Development
 

5. Adjournment
 
  The Flagstaff City Council reconvened into Open Session at 6:02 p.m. at which time the Special

Meeting adjourned.
 

 

 _______________________________________
Mayor

ATTEST:

____________________________________
City Clerk

 

  

Flagstaff City Council Executive Session March 1, 2016                          2 



CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING
TUESDAY, MARCH 1, 2016

COUNCIL CHAMBERS
211 WEST ASPEN

4:00 P.M. AND 6:00 P.M.
 

MINUTES
 

               

1. CALL TO ORDER

Mayor Nabours called the Regular Meeting of the Flagstaff City Council held March 1, 2016, to
order at 4:10 p.m.
 

NOTICE OF OPTION TO RECESS INTO EXECUTIVE SESSION
 
Pursuant to A.R.S. §38-431.02, notice is hereby given to the members of the City Council and to the
general public that, at this regular meeting, the City Council may vote to go into executive session,
which will not be open to the public, for legal advice and discussion with the City’s attorneys for legal
advice on any item listed on the following agenda, pursuant to A.R.S. §38-431.03(A)(3).

 

2. ROLL CALL
  
NOTE: One or more Councilmembers may be in attendance telephonically or by other

technological means.
  
PRESENT:

MAYOR NABOURS
VICE MAYOR BAROTZ
COUNCILMEMBER BREWSTER
COUNCILMEMBER EVANS
COUNCILMEMBER ORAVITS
COUNCILMEMBER OVERTON
COUNCILMEMBER PUTZOVA

ABSENT:

NONE

 

Others present: City Manager Josh Copley and City Attorney Michelle D'Andrea.
 

3. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE AND MISSION STATEMENT

The audience and City Council recited the Pledge of Allegiance and Mayor Nabours read the
Mission Statement of the City of Flagstaff.

MISSION STATEMENT

The mission of the City of Flagstaff is to protect and enhance the quality of life of its citizens.
 

  ↵

  



           

4. APPROVAL OF MINUTES FROM PREVIOUS MEETINGS
 

A. Consideration and Approval of Minutes: City Council Work Session of December 8, 2015;
the Regular Council Meeting of January 19, 2016; and the Special Meeting (Executive
Session) of February 23, 2016.

  

 
  Moved by Councilmember Scott Overton, seconded by Councilmember Jeff Oravits to

approve the minutes of the City Council Work Session of December 8, 2015; the Regular
Council Meeting of January 19, 2016; and the Special Meeting (Executive Session) of
February 23, 2016. 

  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 

5. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 

Public Participation enables the public to address the Council about an item that is not on the
agenda. Comments relating to items that are on the agenda will be taken at the time that the
item is discussed. If you wish to address the Council at tonight's meeting, please complete a
comment card and submit it to the recording clerk as soon as possible. Your name will be
called when it is your turn to speak. You may address the Council up to three times
throughout the meeting, including comments made during Public Participation. Please limit
your remarks to three minutes per item to allow everyone an opportunity to speak. At the
discretion of the Chair, ten or more persons present at the meeting and wishing to speak may
appoint a representative who may have no more than fifteen minutes to speak. 

 
  Linda Webb addressed Council to encourage the Council to develop a comprehensive plan

on the development of Flagstaff. Additionally, she called for a moratorium on any
construction until a comprehensive plan can be established.

 

6. PROCLAMATIONS AND RECOGNITIONS

None 
 

7. APPOINTMENTS

Pursuant to A.R.S. §38-431.02, notice is hereby given to the members of the City Council and
to the general public that the City Council may vote to go into executive session, which will
not be open to the public, for the purpose of discussing or considering employment,
assignment, appointment, promotion, demotion, dismissal, salaries, disciplining or resignation
of a public officer, appointee, or employee of any public body...., pursuant to A.R.S.
§38-431.03(A)(1).

 

A. Consideration of Appointments:  Tourism Commission.   

 
  Moved by Councilmember Karla Brewster, seconded by Mayor Jerry Nabours to appoint

Thomas D'Agostino to a term expiring January 2019. 
  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 
   
 

 

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting March 1, 2016                          2 



  Moved by Councilmember Coral Evans, seconded by Councilmember Jeff Oravits to
appoint Dino Dullbson to a term expiring January 2019. 

  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 
  Moved by Mayor Jerry Nabours, seconded by Councilmember Karla Brewster to appoint

Debbie Grogan to a term expiring January 2019. 
  Vote: 14 - 0 - Unanimously
 
  Moved by Councilmember Jeff Oravits, seconded by Mayor Jerry Nabours moved to

appoint Lynda Fleisher to a term expiring January 2017. 
 

B. Consideration of Appointments:  Beautification and Public Art Commission.   

 
  Moved by Vice Mayor Celia Barotz, seconded by Mayor Jerry Nabours to appoint Robert

Chambers to a term expiring June 2018. 
  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 
  Moved by Mayor Jerry Nabours, seconded by Councilmember Jeff Oravits to appoint

Jasmine Barber-Winter to a term expiring June 2018. 
  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 

C. Consideration of Appointments:  Heritage Preservation Commission.   

 
  Moved by Councilmember Coral Evans, seconded by Vice Mayor Celia Barotz to appoint

Philip Scandura to a term expiring December 2018. 
  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 
  Moved by Councilmember Scott Overton, seconded by Councilmember Coral Evans to

appoint Charlie Webber to a term expiring December 2018. 
  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 
  Moved by Mayor Jerry Nabours, seconded by Councilmember Jeff Oravits to appoint Jerry

McLaughlin to a term expiring December 2018. 
  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 

D. Consideration of Appointments:  Board of Adjustment.   

 
  Moved by Councilmember Jeff Oravits, seconded by Mayor Jerry Nabours to appoint John

van Wyke to a term expiring May 2018. 
  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 
  Moved by Councilmember Coral Evans, seconded by Councilmember Eva Putzova to

appoint Margo Wheeler to a term expiring May 2018. 
  Vote: 3 - 4 
 

NAY: Mayor Jerry Nabours 

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting March 1, 2016                          3 



  Councilmember Karla Brewster 
  Councilmember Jeff Oravits 
  Councilmember Scott Overton 

 
  Mayor Nabours stated that he feels that the current board member should be reappointed.

 
Mayor Nabours asked Councilmember Evans if she would like to make another motion for
the remaining applicant to which Councilmember Evans responded no thank you.

 

  Moved by Mayor Jerry Nabours, seconded by Councilmember Jeff Oravits to appoint Dan
Anderson to a term expiring May 2018.

Vice Mayor Barotz stated that she thinks what happened is too bad.
 
Councilmember Overton stated that he hopes she did not speculate as to what happened and
offered that he feels that Mr. Anderson has been a fantastic commissioner and should be
reappointed.
 
Vice Mayor Barotz responded saying that he could have been reappointed with the first
appointment rather than appointing a new member and given Ms. Wheeler, who has applied
for other commissions, and every time gets voted out because she is a woman.
 
Councilmember Oravits stated that he feels that she is making broad statements and
assumptions and he resents that. Mr. van Wyke is a long standing member of the community,
he served in the United States Air Force for many years and will make a great addition to the
commission.
 
Councilmember Putzova stated that she is disappointed in the process as well because she
had other first choices as well for the other commission appointments but boards and
commissions is an area where the Council can be a little less divisive and allow all of the
Council to make appointments and make sure that the community is accurately represented.
Each member of Council will get an opportunity to appoint to the various boards and
commissions and should be respectful of the recommendations made by their peers.
 
Councilmember Evans stated she feels it is unfortunate if people vote against something
because of something else. This should not be a tit for tat process. Ms. Wheeler is more than
qualified for the position, she has applied for several different commissions and has been
turned down. In this case, her planning and development background directly suits this
commission. 

  Vote: 5 - 2 
 

NAY: Vice Mayor Celia Barotz 
  Councilmember Eva Putzova 

 

E. Consideration of Appointments:  Library Board.   

 
  Moved by Councilmember Karla Brewster, seconded by Councilmember Jeff Oravits to

appoint Patricia Horn to a term expiring November 2016. 
  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting March 1, 2016                          4 



  Moved by Mayor Jerry Nabours, seconded by Councilmember Scott Overton to appoint
Margaret “Marney” Babbitt to a term expiring November 2018. 

  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 

F. Consideration of Appointments:  Transportation Commission.   

 
  Moved by Vice Mayor Celia Barotz, seconded by Councilmember Coral Evans to appoint

Gary Robbins to a term expiring July 2018. 
  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 
  Moved by Mayor Jerry Nabours, seconded by Councilmember Jeff Oravits to appoint Julie

Leid to a term expiring July 2019. 
  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 

G. Consideration of Appointments:  Northern Arizona Intergovernmental Public
Transportation Authority (NAIPTA) Transit Advisory Committee (TAC) Citizen
Alternate Appointment.

  

 
  Moved by Councilmember Jeff Oravits, seconded by Mayor Jerry Nabours to appoint Paul

Wagner to a term expiring October 2018. 
  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 

8. LIQUOR LICENSE PUBLIC HEARINGS

None
 

9. CONSENT ITEMS

All matters under Consent Agenda are considered by the City Council to be routine and will
be enacted by one motion approving the recommendations listed on the agenda. Unless
otherwise indicated, expenditures approved by Council are budgeted items.

 
  Moved by Mayor Jerry Nabours, seconded by Councilmember Karla Brewster to approve

Consent Items 9A and 9B as presented. 
  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 

A. Consideration and Approval of Cooperative Contract:  Purchase of two (2)
Residential Side Load Refuse Trucks and two (2) Commercial Front Load Refuse Trucks
from Rush Truck Center through the Cooperative Purchase Agreement with the City Of
Tempe, Contract# T15-097-01.

Approve the purchase of two (2) 2017 Peterbilt 320 Cab and Chassis including Scorpion
Side Load Bodies in the amount of $264,268.64 each, and two (2) 2017 Peterbilt 320
Cab and Chassis including McNeilus Front Load Bodies in the amount of $258,996.37
each, for a total purchase amount of $1,046,530.02.  

  

 

B. Consideration and Approval of Purchase:   Two (2) Police Interceptor Utility Vehicles   

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting March 1, 2016                          5 



B. Consideration and Approval of Purchase:   Two (2) Police Interceptor Utility Vehicles
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION:

Approve the purchase of two (2) 2016 Ford Police Interceptor Utility Vehicles from
Peoria Ford (current contract holder) out of a City of Flagstaff Contingency Fund
account.  These funds were identified as the preferred purchase account by the Budget
Committee.  The total purchase price for these two (2) vehicles would be $57,988.88
(taxes and fees included).

  

 

10. ROUTINE ITEMS
 

A. Consideration and Adoption of Ordinance No. 2016-09:  An ordinance to enter into a third
Amendment to Development Agreement (DA) with Nestle-Purina Petcare Company to extend
the agreement and underlying lease for up to six months (Possible extension of
development agreement with Nestle-Purina).

  

 
  Moved by Councilmember Scott Overton, seconded by Councilmember Karla Brewster to

read Ordinance No. 2016-09 by title only for the final time.

Councilmember Putzova stated that one of the key considerations states that it will create a
more appealing workforce option; she asked what the underlying issues with the workplace
are, how they would be resolved and how it relates to the workforce. Business Retention and
Expansion Manager John Saltonstall offered that the idea of working on the odor mitigation is
in terms of trying to improve the perception of manufacturing in the community. There are a
number of things that contribute to a viable and developable workforce for future generation.
There is a perception that if manufacturing in the community is more clean it would be more
appealing to future workforce generations. There is not an odor situation inside the Purina
plant but how it is perceived by the community as a whole may influence the choice of future
generations to work there. 

  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 
  AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF, AUTHORIZING

THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF TO ENTER INTO A THIRD AMENDMENT TO DEVELOPMENT
AGREEMENT AMENDING THE DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT WITH NESTLE PURINA
PETCARE COMPANY TO ALLOW TEMPORARY EXTENSION OF AGREEMENT AND
UNDERLYING LEASE; PROVIDING FOR REPEAL OF CONFLICTING ORDINANCES,
SEVERABILITY, AND ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE DATE.

 

  Moved by Councilmember Karla Brewster, seconded by Mayor Jerry Nabours to adopt
Ordinance No. 2016-09. 

  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 

B. Consideration and Adoption of Resolution No.  2016-07:  A resolution to adopt the 
Coconino County Multi-Jurisdictional Hazard Mitigation Plan.

  

 
  Fire Chief Mark Gaillard addressed the Council stating that staff has been working with

Coconino County for about a year on revising the hazard mitigation plan. In March 2005 the
City Council adopted a City of Flagstaff Mitigation Plan. Across the United States mitigation
plans have evolved into multi-jurisdictional efforts. This is the second multi-jurisdictional
update of the plan with the prior being in September 2011. Some FEMA standards were
updated and a few additions were made such as earthquakes and facility hazardous

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting March 1, 2016                          6 



materials risk. Additionally, there are some improved descriptors put into the plan. Much of
the previous information regarding City planning remain.

 

  Moved by Councilmember Karla Brewster, seconded by Mayor Jerry Nabours to read
Resolution No. 2016-07 by title only. 

  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 
  A RESOLUTION OF THE FLAGSTAFF CITY COUNCIL ADOPTING THE DECEMBER

2015 COCONINO COUNTY MULTI-JURISDICTION HAZARD MITIGATION PLAN AND
REPEALING RESOLUTION 2011-05 ADOPTING THE PRIOR PLAN.

 

  Moved by Councilmember Karla Brewster, seconded by Mayor Jerry Nabours to adopt
Resolution No. 2016-07. 

  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 

C. Consideration and Adoption of Clean-Up Ordinances:

Consideration and Adoption of Ordinance No. 2016-11:  An ordinance of the City Council
of the City of Flagstaff Amending the Flagstaff City Code, Title 1, Administrative, Chapter 15,
Municipal Court, Division 1, Section 2, Municipal Judge, Presiding Magistrate, Hearing
Officers, to Require all Municipal Judges to be Admitted to the Practice of Law in the State of
Arizona; Providing for Repeal of Conflicting Ordinances, Severability, and Establishing an
Effective Date  (Municipal Judge Qualifications)

Consideration and Adoption of Ordinance No. 2016-12:  An ordinance of the City Council
of the City of Flagstaff, Amending the Flagstaff City Code, Title 1, Administrative, Chapter 24,
Insurance, Division 1, Section 7, Insurance, to Increase the Authority of the City Manager to
Settle Claims up to Fifty Thousand Dollars; Providing for Repeal of Conflicting Ordinances,
Severability, and Establishing an Effective Date. (Bringing City Code Consistent with
Charter Regarding City Manager's Authority to Settle Claims)

Consideration and Adoption of Ordinance No.  2016-13:  An ordinance of the City Council
of the City of Flagstaff, Amending the Flagstaff City Code, Title 11, General Plans
and Subdivisions, Chapter 20, Subdivision and Land Split Procedures and Requirements,
Division 1, Sections 30 and 40, Pre-Application Conference, and Land Split and Combination
Applications, to Provide Opportunity for Additional Lot Splits for Long-Term Parcel Owners;
Providing for Repeal of Conflicting Ordinances, Severability, and Establishing an Effective
Date.  (Lot Splits)
 

  

 
  Michelle D’Andrea addressed Council stating that there are three ordinances that have been

identified as needing clean up revisions. The first ordinance codifies the City’s current
practice making it clear that Judges need to have certain qualifications. The second
ordinance deals with the City Manager’s authority to settle claims under the $50,000
threshold. This update is typically done when the City Charter is amended however it was
not done when the authority moved from $25,000 to $50,000.
 
The last ordinance relates to lot splits. The City regulates lot splits to make sure they
conform to City development standards, staff also checks to make sure that lots are split so
many times to become a sub-division. Currently the code mentions that an applicant should
include ownership information for the past 15 years but it does not say what providing that

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting March 1, 2016                          7 



include ownership information for the past 15 years but it does not say what providing that
information will do or give to the applicant. The proposal is to make it clear that a long term
owner can do an additional lot split. The reason for this policy is unknown. The Council can
also have language removed that requires an applicant to provide information on how long
they have owned the lot. Either way, the ordinance needs to be clear on what the applicant
gets, if anything, when they provide the historical information.
 
Mayor Nabours stated that there are State laws on lot splitting that state a split is not
allowed if there is or has been a pattern of splits. For example, a family with 20 acres splits
into three lots, then those three lots are split into three lots which technically is not a sub
division however, if the original three lots were considered then it would be a sub-division.
He believes that providing historical data does nothing for the applicant because there are
no exemptions given for long term owners but it does show the history of the lot to
determine if other splits had been done in the past.
 
Ms. D’Andrea stated that the ordinance would allow people who have had their property
longer than 15 years to do another split that they are otherwise not entitled to. As it stands
now, the ordinance allows a for the creation of three parcels even if below 2.5 acres.
 
Mayor Nabours stated that he feels that the language is misleading. Ms. D’Andrea stated
that the language asks for proof but it does not indicate an allowance for additional splits.
Mayor Nabours stated that his inclination is to take the language out and a parcel either
qualifies or it does not regardless of how long it has been owned.

 

  Moved by Mayor Nabours seconded by Councilmember Jeff Oravits to remove the
reference to the 15 year ownership.

Councilmember Evans stated that she believes that there is a reason that the language is in
there and if it is to be removed she would like to have some additional time to research and
understand the implications. 

 

  Moved by Councilmember Coral Evans, seconded by Councilmember Eva Putzova to
postpone the item to the next available date. 

  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 
  Moved by Councilmember Karla Brewster, seconded by Councilmember Scott Overton to

read Ordinance No. 2016-11 by title only for the first time.

Councilmember Putzova indicated that the policy was discussed and approved by the
Council in September 2014 and the City has been operating under that policy since then.
She does not understand why it is necessary to make it an ordinance. Ms. D’Andrea
indicated that it is the Council’s choice on whether or not it is included in the ordinance. She
added that it is more transparent to the community when the code reflects the policy.
Councilmember Putzova asked if there are other appointments that follow the same level of
transparency when it comes to qualifications. Ms. D’Andrea stated that the City Manager and
the City Attorney qualifications are contained in the City Charter.
 
Councilmember Putzova stated that she will be voting no on the ordinance as she was not a
part of the original discussion and has not had a chance to hear the pros and cons associated
with the qualifications. Councilmember Evans added that she too would not be voting in favor
of the change because she did not agree with the original policy change. 

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting March 1, 2016                          8 



  Vote: 5 - 2 
 

NAY: Councilmember Coral Evans 
  Councilmember Eva Putzova 

 
  AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF, AMENDING

THE FLAGSTAFF CITY CODE, TITLE 1, ADMINISTRATIVE, CHAPTER 15, MUNICIPAL
COURT, DIVISION 1, SECTION 2, MUNICIPAL JUDGE, PRESIDING MAGISTRATE,
HEARING OFFICERS, TO REQUIRE ALL MUNICIPAL JUDGES TO BE ADMITTED TO
THE PRACTICE OF LAW IN THE STATE OF ARIZONA; PROVIDING FOR REPEAL OF
CONFLICTING ORDINANCES, SEVERABILITY, AND ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE
DATE.

 

  Moved by Councilmember Scott Overton, seconded by Councilmember Coral Evans to
read Ordinance No. 2016-12 by title only for the first time. 

  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 
  AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF, AMENDING

THE FLAGSTAFF CITY CODE, TITLE 1, ADMINISTRATIVE, CHAPTER 24, INSURANCE,
DIVISION 1, SECTION 7, INSURANCE, TO INCREASE THE AUTHORITY OF THE CITY
MANAGER TO SETTLE CLAIMS UP TO FIFTY THOUSAND DOLLARS; PROVIDING FOR
REPEAL OF CONFLICTING ORDINANCES, SEVERABILITY, AND ESTABLISHING AN
EFFECTIVE DATE.

 

D. Consideration and Adoption of Resolution No. 2016-05 A Resolution to abandon
1,103 Sq. Ft. of sewer easement, recorded in Docket 196, Pg. 613 Coconino County.
(Resolution to abandon an unused sewer easement near Route 66 and Ponderosa
Parkway)

  

 
  Real Estate Manager Charity Lee stated that in 2016 the portion of the sewer easement was

already disconnected, the private property owner has requested that the City abandon it to
unencumber the property.
 
Councilmember Overton asked if staff was sure that the City will not need the easement in
the future. Ms. Lee explained that the Utilities Division issued a utility clearance that
confirms that the site was reviewed for future need and none was identified; they are in
support of the abandonment.

 

  Moved by Councilmember Scott Overton, seconded by Mayor Jerry Nabours to read
Resolution No. 2016-05 by title only. 

  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 
  A RESOLUTION OF THE FLAGSTAFF CITY COUNCIL TO ABANDON 1,103 SQUARE

FEET OF A UTILITY/WASTEWATER (SEWER) EASEMENT WHICH WAS DEDICATED
TO THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF AS RECORDED IN COCONINO COUNTY DOCKET 196,
PAGE 613 ON NOVEMBER 29, 1962, WHICH EASEMENT ENCUMBERS THE
FOLLOWING DESCRIBED REAL PROPERTIES LOCATED AT 1688 EAST ROUTE 66,
FLAGSTAFF, ARIZONA (APN 107-07-001G).

 

  Moved by Councilmember Jeff Oravits, seconded by Councilmember Scott Overton to

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting March 1, 2016                          9 



  Moved by Councilmember Jeff Oravits, seconded by Councilmember Scott Overton to
adopt Resolution No. 2016-05. 

  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 

E. Consideration and Adoption of Resolution No. 2016-04:  A Resolution to abandon a
vacant public utility easement. Recorded in Coconino County, Docket 245, Pg. 5, which
easement encumbers the real properties described in Exhibit 'A' attached
hereto. (Resolution to abandon an unused public utility easement)

  

 
  Ms. Lee explained that the same situation applies to this request as well and a utility

clearance has been issued for the easement.
 

  Moved by Councilmember Scott Overton, seconded by Councilmember Jeff Oravits to read
Resolution No. 2016-04 by title only. 

  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 
  A RESOLUTION TO ABANDON AN UNUSED PUBLIC UTILITY EASEMENT RECORDED

IN COCONINO COUNTY DOCKET 245, PAGE 5, WHICH EASEMENT ENCUMBERS THE
REAL PROPERTIES DESCRIBED IN EXHIBIT ‘A’ ATTACHED HERETO.

 

  Moved by Councilmember Jeff Oravits, seconded by Councilmember Karla Brewster to
adopt Resolution No. 2016-04. 

  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 

RECESS 

The 4:00 p.m. portion of the March 1, 2016, Regular Meeting recessed at 5:00 p.m.

 
6:00 P.M. MEETING

 
RECONVENE

Mayor Nabours reconvened the Regular Meeting of March 1, 2016, at 6:09 p.m.
 

NOTICE OF OPTION TO RECESS INTO EXECUTIVE SESSION
 

Pursuant to A.R.S. §38-431.02, notice is hereby given to the members of the City Council
and to the general public that, at this regular meeting, the City Council may vote to go into
executive session, which will not be open to the public, for legal advice and discussion with
the City’s attorneys for legal advice on any item listed on the following agenda, pursuant to
A.R.S. §38-431.03(A)(3).

 
 

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting March 1, 2016                          10 



           

11. ROLL CALL
  
NOTE: One or more Councilmembers may be in attendance telephonically or by other

technological means.
  
PRESENT:

MAYOR NABOURS
VICE MAYOR BAROTZ
COUNCILMEMBER BREWSTER
COUNCILMEMBER EVANS
COUNCILMEMBER ORAVITS
COUNCILMEMBER OVERTON
COUNCILMEMBER PUTZOVA

ABSENT:

NONE

 

Others present: City Manager Josh Copley and City Attorney Michelle D'Andrea.
 

12. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION
 
  Karin Eberhard addressed Council on behalf of Flagstaff Unified School District. She

thanked the Council for their support of STEM and for creating a STEM City. She invited the
Council to attend the third annual STEM Celebration being held on Monday, March 7, 2016.
 
Marilyn Weisman addressed Council with concerns that the student housing developers are
not playing by the rules when withdrawing their Conditional Use Permit applications. She
urged the Council to make sure that the zoning rules regulations are being adhered to as
agreed.
 
Marie Jones addressed Council in regards to form based code not related to the HUB. She
stated that the code is well written but there are elements that need clarification such as the
words large and small. She urged the Council to review the code and make the necessary
modifications to avoid confusion in the public and with the design industry.
 
Gabor Kovacs addressed Council and provided quotes regarding climate change and
population control.
 
Andy Fernandez addressed Council with various concerns.

 

13. CARRY OVER ITEMS FROM THE 4:00 P.M. AGENDA

None 
 

14. PUBLIC HEARING ITEMS
 

A. Public Hearing, Consideration, and Adoption of Ordinance No. 2016-08:   An ordinance
of the Flagstaff City Council amending the Flagstaff Zoning Map Downtown Regulating Plan
designation of approximately 0.29 acres of land generally located west of the southwest
corner of Mikes Pike and Phoenix Avenue from the T4 Neighborhood 1 - Open (T4N.1-O) and
T5 Main Street (T5) transect zones to the T4 Neighborhood 2 (T4N.2) transect zone and of
approximately 1.35 acres located at 17 S Mikes Pike from the T4 Neighborhood 1 - Open
(T4N.1-O) transect zone to the T5 Main Street (T5) transect zone, conditional. (The Hub

  

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting March 1, 2016                          11 



(T4N.1-O) transect zone to the T5 Main Street (T5) transect zone, conditional. (The Hub
Zoning Map Amendment)

 
  Mayor Nabours stated that there were a few speaker cards remaining from the last meeting

and stated he will begin with those requests.
 
The following individuals addressed Council in opposition to the zoning map amendment for
the HUB: 

Charlie Silver
Nancy Branham
Miles Maurer
Lily Maurer
Kari Maurer
Jeff Maurer read the attached letter at the podium

Moved by Councilmember Coral Evans seconded by Councilmember Eva
Putzova to amend the rules of procedure to extend the three minute speaking
limit to allow Mr. Maurer to finish reading the letter.
Vote: 4-3 
NAY: Mayor Nabours
        Councilmember Oravits
        Councilmember Overton

Chris Gams
Michael Amundson
Ruth Ann Border
Stuart McDaniel
Sallie Page
Leslie Pickard
Sat Best
Andy Fernandez
Adam Shimoni
Karen Enyedy

Comments received included: 

Core Campus says they want to be part of the community but their words have quickly
grown threatning.
The project is so far down the development and planning path by the time the
developer gets to the public meetings there is little room left for public input.
Core’s business model is not part of Southside or Flagstaff’s vision.
An online petition was started 6 days that there are over 800 supporters of the Stop
the HUB Petition.
As of 2/19 according to CD there were 144 comments opposed to this project and only
10 in support.
The HUB is in the wrong location.
Traffic, parking and safety are the common concerns with the project.
The shadow the HUB will cast on Phoenix will be huge and ice will be an issue.
They would like to know if there is a mitigation plan should there be a train derailment.
The development does not meet all of the required findings needed to approve this
rezoning amendment.
The proposed zoning map amendment is detrimental to the safety of the city, this will
not add to the public good.
It is hard to understand how a developer can assume that they will get zoning

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting March 1, 2016                          12 



approval.
The developers rendition of the HUB is not within what the transect zone requires.
The transect zones are intended to ensure that development is consistent with the
existing character of community. The HUB is out of character and out of scale for the
area.
Underlying the principles in the Regional Plan is the premise that future growth and
development should be approached knowing that present actions have a direct impact
on the future of the community.
The project does not meet the objectives of transect zoning or the goals of the
Regional Plan.
Disappointed that the Planning and Zoning Commission voted to approve the zoning
request and two CUPs.
Without the amendment the HUB is wrong all together but with it, it becomes more out
of place and more out of character than before.
The findings of the staff report are flawed.
Approval of this request will set a dangerous precedent for future development.
I often have to drive around for long periods of time looking for a place to park to go to
work, the HUB will make an already difficult parking situation much worse.
I will be afraid of driving on Mikes Pike because of the increased foot traffic and bicycle
traffic along with speeding cars.
Please do not let the HUB ruin the vibe of a good place.
Southside is a great community, the apartment building will change this community.
Deny Core the transect zoning and save historic Southside.
When did the City start negotiating with Core about the project?
What did the City tell Core when they showed them the biggest building in Flagstaff
going into this neighborhood?
Does the Council think they have enough good information to make a decision?
He lives near a large student development in Tucson.
A primarily residential area has shifted to a primarily rental area.
Parking is a huge issue in and around the development.
Business in the area has had little to no uptick from the increase in students over the
last four years
The development is closed off and the residents do not engage with the community.
The police department spends a lot of time responding to student issues and public
safety issues in the area.
Developments such as the HUB are examples of environmental racism.
High density is a form of urban decay.
Neighbors should not be threatening each other, the developer should sit down with
the neighborhood to work out a solution.
It is not too late to start over.
The City should do all that it can to protect the people who have risked it all to bring
their independent businesses to the Southside and make it a one of a kind
neighborhood.
This huge project should go anywhere out of the historic Flagstaff core, but if they
want to stay here they should fit into what is already existing.
What are the effects of the shadow on the railroad?
Concerned about the increase in pedestrian traffic over the railroad.
The HUB should be required to have 24 hour security.
What impacts does this development have on the water supply in Flagstaff
The HUB should be held to the same standard to have a parking space for each
bedroom.
Land on the south NAU campus is available, go build the HUB there and let NAU deal
with providing housing for students and their behavior.

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting March 1, 2016                          13 



There are enough judgement calls to find a way to justifiably not make the findings in
this case.
Do not be intimidated by the Prop 207 threats.
Please spend my tax money and defend my community.
Students are great and growth is a good thing but Core should work with NAU to build
the HUB on campus.
Encourage the City to hire attorneys to work against Grady Gammage.
The Board of Regents funds based on student population, City needs to dialogue with
Board of Regents about funding more students with less quality.

The following individual addressed Council in favor of the zoning map amendment for the
HUB: 

John McCulloch
Stuart McDaniel

Comments received included: 

Flagstaff has grown a lot but the City has not changed.
The relationships that people built in Flagstaff were built on the common interests we
have. Buildings do not define this community to me.
The building can work in this location.
Students are an economic development piece of the Flagstaff puzzle, it is what sets us
apart from other northern Arizona cities.
The Chamber is in support of this project for economic reasons and the lack of
available housing.
Without NAU and its students Flagstaff would be Winslow.
Students are part of the community and contribute to the community.
Private property rights matter, they are constitutionally protected.
The rezoning gives the opportunity for a better project.
Without the rezoning the project will continue and the City and community will not have
a seat at the table.

The following individuals submitted written comment cards in opposition to the zoning map
amendment for the HUB: 

Katy Harding
Susan Alpera
Nancy Wardell
Connie Kim
Julia Schwalenstoker
Lucas Klein
Frederica Hall
Laura Myers
Susan Hueftle
Stanley Graves
Paul Zeller
Juliana Bartlett
Ethan Miles
Anthony Mancini
Ann Walka
Richard Klomassa
Luke Dickinson
Cathi Borthwick
Steve Hirst

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting March 1, 2016                          14 



Denise Hudson
Deb Linda
Maria Jensen
Andrew Ryder
Katarina Karjala
Sky Black
Lauren Amundson
Joan Abbott
Jill Lynn Farrell
Emily Davalos

A break was held from 7:33 p.m. through 7:45 p.m.
 
Mayor Nabours stated that the speaker requests have concluded. According to rules of
procedure the applicant and City staff will have an opportunity to respond.
 
Lindsey Shube, attorney with Gammage and Burnham, addressed Council on behalf of
Core Campus. Ms. Shube provided a PowerPoint presentation that covered the following:
 
REGIONAL PLAN 2030
TRANSECT ZONING: DOWNTOWN REGULATING PLAN
REGIONAL PLAN: GROWTH AREAS & LAND USE
REGIONAL PLAN: ACTIVITY CENTERS MAP
REGIONAL PLAN: URBAN AREAS
REGIONAL PLAN 2030: FUTURE GROWTH MAPS
WALKABILITY: FLAGSTAFF URBAN TRAILS AND BIKEWAYS MAP
PUBLIC TRANSIT
WALKABILITY: DISTANCES
EXISTING USE OF THE PROPERTY
REGIONAL PLAN: COMPACT DEVELOPMENT
 
Ms. Shube asked Council to accommodate what was approved and to make the property
better. The developer has worked with the City to improve the project and the design; for
example, they have reduced the amount of glass and windows, they changed the design to
flat roofs instead of pitched roofs, and they enclosed all of the amenities into the building.
Through design review staff asked that the height on Milton be reduced from 64 feet to 52
feet and the developer agreed to that change. The height was also reduced on Mikes Pike
and staff requested that the top story be pushed back. These are all things that have been
able to be communicated and achieved between the developer and City staff. The zone
change gives Flagstaff a better project.
 
One of the biggest concerns that has been heard is parking. The development adheres to
the existing parking regulation and Core Campus is supportive of the parking district. They
do not believe that there will be a problem but if there is it will be Core Campus’ problem to
solve. Core Campus has agreed to make a $500,000 contribution to the City for parking
solutions in the Southside neighborhood as well as a $75,000 contribution to a surface
parking lot. In exchange, the City will make available 100 parking spots for Core Campus to
rent on an annual basis if the spots are needed. Additionally, they have purchased the
People’s Mortgage to allow for shared parking to access the commercial spaces along
Milton.
 
This is different and this is change but though the rezone process the City gets a seat at the
table to help develop how the project looks. She believes that the project as has been

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting March 1, 2016                          15 



designed agrees and complies with the Regional Plan. There has been a 6-1 approval from
the Planning and Zoning Commission and recommendation from City staff who has worked
countless hours with all aspects of the development. She encourage Council to approve the
rezoning request.
 
Mayor Nabours asked if Core Campus is agreeable to the first five conditions of approval
provided by the Planning and Zoning Commission. Ms. Shube indicated that they are in
agreement with those conditions. Mayor Nabors clarified that Core Campus is proposing the
monetary contributions and rental spaces in lieu of condition six to which Ms. Shube
indicated yes.
 
Mayor Nabours stated that two weeks ago when Core Campus gave its presentation there
was a slide that showed a view of what type of building could build without a change of
zoning. The proposed design for the building with the rezone approval is quite different in
style and Mayor asked if those changes were required by staff. Ms. Shube explained that it
was heard at the public meetings and also required by staff to make changes to the look.
There was a laundry list of things that the City wanted changed with the design. Because of
the rezone process, it is a give and take in terms of design and conditions and not everyone
walks away happy but the parties work together to make changes and concessions to
develop a project that can be agreed upon.
 
Vice Mayor Barotz stated that she would like to see a draft development agreement soon.
She felt like the Council should have had it tonight because that is what the staff report
says. She stated that she is not prepared to move forward with the process without it.
 
Vice Mayor Barotz stated that she was appreciative of the Regional Plan policies that were
highlighted throughout the presentation. She identified several policies and goals that were
identified by the public in conflict of the project and she asked how that is interpreted by the
developer in the context of the rezone. There is definitely a difference in opinion in the
interpretation and she asked for justification from the developer perspective. Ms. Shube
stated that the Regional Plan is a long term planning document and it looks at the
community as it is today but also at how it will develop over time. In terms of design, the
elements that are being used compliment and are inspired by the surrounding
neighborhoods.
 
Vice Mayor Barotz stated that she does not understand is that if Core Campus believes that
the proposal before the Council tonight is a better project then why punish the community
with a less visually appealing building should the rezone request be denied. Ms. Shube
offered that the biggest reason it is a better building is because of the place making, it is the
commercial on Mikes Pike, and it is the three building heights that are uniform and pushing
the 5 th story back which is not currently permitted in a T5. This building is a better building
through the rezone process because of the rezone would allow for the three uniform
building heights, all the amenities contained in the middle of the project, and the
underground parking that is shielded for dark skies. Without the rezone the building will be a
good building and an attractive building but one that is designed for the client. The rezone
has allowed input and modifications to get to a building design that is acceptable for both
parties.
 
Councilmember Putzova stated that the Council has to make certain findings about going
from one zone to another. She would like to have more information about the proximity of
the development to the railroad, specifically how the project is taking into account the noise
level from the railroad and the safety related to the crossing of the railroad. Ms. Shube
stated that in terms of safety, something that is brought to the table with the rezone and

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting March 1, 2016                          16 



redesign is that there is one point of ingress and egress for pedestrians and vehicles. There
are key fobs for all the buildings and the development agreed to be part of the multi-family
crime free community. The HUB will have a community assistance program which functions
similar to residence assistance one finds on campus. If safe decisions are not being made
management is contacted to address solutions. Dawn Cartier with Syntac added that the
railroad crossings currently exist and are in operation, the City and the railroad have done a
great job of encouraging single points of crossing. Additionally, the safety of railroad
corssing are mandated and all of the necessary components are currently in existence.
There is not a lot of additional implementations that can be put in. The crossings were
evaluated in the study with additional pedestrian counts and the crash analysis showed
there was no increased concern for pedestrian related crashes. Ms. Shube offered that in
terms of noise, it will be contemplated in the building type and construction, the building will
mitigate the train noise for the residents.
 
Councilmember Evans stated that the public has mentioned numerous times the houses
currently existing on the property. Ms. Shube explained that there is one property on the site
and they will be making accommodates to move the house to another location.
 
Councilmember Evans asked if it is Core Campus’ intention to manage the property forever
or if it will be sold and managed to another agency. Ms. Shube explained that there are two
arms to the Core Campus company; one side is development and the other is management.
They could sell the property but the intention is to maintain the property and move it to the
management side of the company once developed.
 
Councilmember Evans asked why Core Campus would not build something that the
community wants if the rezoning is denied. Ms. Shube explained that what makes the
presented design better is the land use and that is accomplished through the rezone. As far
as the architecture is concerned the presented design is a result of input from City staff, the
community, and the developer. If the rezone is denied the building will be an attractive
building but at that point the property owner’s view and vision of the architecture may not
match the view of the community, it is a matter of private property rights. One of the biggest
disadvantages of not getting the rezone would be that the parking would be brought above
ground.
 
Councilmember Brewster asked which of the two proposals are cheaper for the developer to
build, the rezoned design or the existing zoning design. Ms. Shube stated that the building
materials used in the proposal that includes the rezone are far more expensive.
 
Councilmember Putzova stated that the project should take into consideration all of the
public input that was heard and use it in the development of the project without the rezone
to make it the best project for the community.
 
Ms. Putzova asked for Ms. Shube to describe the leasing arrangements that will be
implemented with the project. Ms. Shube stated that they are not able to lease by the
bedroom so they will lease the units as a whole. There will be four renters per unit.
Councilmember Putzova asked if Core Campus has other projects that utilize the lease by
unit model. Ms. Shube explained that most Core Campus developments are leased by the
bed and they prefer that model but it is not a consideration for the Flagstaff location.
 
Councilmember Evans asked a representative from La Plaza Vieja if Core Campus
presented to the neighborhood. Laura Meyers, on behalf of La Plaza Vieja, stated that the
neighborhood did attend the public meeting that was held at Our Lady of Guadalupe but that
the neighborhood did not meet with the developer directly. Ms. Shube stated that at the very

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting March 1, 2016                          17 



beginning of the project Core Campus met with Jesse Dominguez of La Plaza Vieja.
 
Planning Director Dan Folke provided a PowerPoint presentation that covered the following:
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION
ZONING DISTRICTS
PERMITTED USES AND DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS: ESTABLISH PROPERTY
RIGHTS
ZONING DISTRICT INTENT STATEMENTS
REQUESTED ZONING DISTRICTS
PROCESSING APPLICATIONS
ZONING MAP AMENDMENT REVIEW
SITE PLAN REVIEW
 
Planning Development Manager Brian Kulina continued the presentation
 
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF ZONING MAP
ZONING MAP OF PROPOSED LOCATION
DOWNTOWN REGULATING MAP
RESIDENTIAL COMMERCIAL
T4 NEIGHBORHOOD
T5 MAIN STREET
LOT COVERAGE
FLOOR AREA RATIO (FAR)
 
Mayor Nabours stated that there has been some discussion about the architectural view of
the building he asked for some background on how that evolved and the role staff played in
that. Mr. Kulina offered that transect zones do not have specific design standards associated
with them. Staff refers to the architectural design standards found elsewhere in the code.
Within those standards there are various options available to the applicant and as long as
those minimum standards are being met, they are meeting the intent of the code. Staff has
more leverage when a zoning map amendment is requested, they have the ability to push
harder to get a better design with rezone situations.
 
Mayor Nabours asked in terms of parking if the difference between the zoning that exists
now and the transect zoning is nine parking spaces. Mr. Kulina indicated that he could not
speak to the exact number of spaces because a site plan has not been submitted under the
current zoning. It would depend on how the project was laid out. He offered that in the T4
zoning parking is based per unit and in the T5 zoning it is based on the square footage.
 
Mayor Nabours asked Mr. Kulina what his understanding of the parking proposal from Core
Campus is. Mr. Kulina stated that $500,000 would be utilized for parking solutions in
Southside and $75,000 would be used for the construction of a surface lot for 100 additional
spaces. Those 100 spaces would either be leased back to the developer or utilized for city
parking. Mayor Nabours asked which lot would be used for the surface lot. Mr. Kulina
explained that staff has not done an analysis of the parcels in the area that would fulfill the
requirements. That analysis would be brought back to Council when the development
agreement was brought forward for consideration.
 
Councilmember Oravits asked what the duration of the parking lease agreement would be.
Ms. Shube stated that Core Campus has proposed a 20 year term at half market rate and
an additional 20 year term at 75% market rate should the lot need to be utilized by the HUB.
 

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting March 1, 2016                          18 



Councilmember Putzova asked for some background information on the reasoning behind
the transect zones in specific areas. Comprehensive Planning and Code Administrator
Roger Eastman stated that when the decision was made for the rewrite of the former Land
Development Code staff knew the code would be moving into form based coding. At that
time staff began a lengthy process of educating the public about what the City was doing
and why it was the most appropriate path. Design charrettes were held with the consultants,
staff, and the public to identify what parts of the community were special in terms of their
open form. That open form would be coded and applied as the form based code. The result
of the lengthy discussions with the consultants and the community resulted in the regulating
plan boundary that is presented currently. Within that regulating plan boundary was the
detailed analysis. The question became how it is applied; the consultants looked at the
existing zoning together with logic. The intent was to have the T5 main street along a busy
street. They considered T5 along Mikes Pike and it could be applied if it is anticipated that
the street would have a higher volume of traffic or commercial, there is some logic to doing
that. A lot of thought went into mapping it the way that it is but that is not to say that the
community has changed since that was put in place in 2008. Since that time a new Regional
Plan was adopted that shows three activity centers in the area which gives support for a
consideration of rezoning to adjust the T5 boundary based on the Regional Plan.
 
Councilmember Putzova stated that the Council has heard different legal opinions on
interpretations of the code, she asked how important legislative history is in representing
and interpreting the code. Michelle D’Andrea stated that Council gave her direction that they
have waived the attorney client privilege and she can give advice publicly this evening. A
court and anyone interpreting a legal code will not look at legislative intent unless there is
ambiguity in the standards that are articulated in the code. Here the standards are clear; the
transect zones set standards for height, setbacks, and density. That is the language that
controls, it is the more specific language that is looked at first and then it moves to the more
general language and only then if there is ambiguity is the legislative intent considered.
 
Councilmember Putzova asked if staff can articulate how swapping the zones would add to
public good. Mr. Kulina offered that staff believes that there is a benefit to the public in
carrying forward the visions of the Regional Plan. By putting T5 on Mikes Pike, it forces the
developer to carry forward the vision of the Regional Plan by putting commercial on Mikes
Pike and increasing density intensity within the established urban areas. The Regional Plan
asks for high intensity in specific urban areas as outlined by the activity center
designations. Without the rezoning the developer has the option of doing some commercial
along Mikes Pike but they are not required to. Mikes Pike only has two residential uses
currently, the rest is commercial; forcing more residential along there goes against the
established character of Mikes Pike. In his opinion the current designation along there does
a disservice to the Regional Plan by not carrying forward the redevelopment in these urban
areas.
 
Councilmember Putzova stated that she understands the Regional Plan perspective but she
would like to understand how the change would add to the public good. Mr. Kulina stated
that it adds to the public good by establishing the urban form that the Regional Plan calls for.

Moved by Mayor Nabours seconded by Councilmember Karla Brewster to read Ordinance
No. 2016-08 by title only for the first time based on the recommendation of the Planning and
Zoning Commission and find that the statements contained in sections 2, 3, and 4 of the
enactments portion of the proposed ordinance are supported by the information that Council
has received through the Public Hearing process. As to the conditions portion of the
proposed ordinance I move to delete paragraph 6 regarding parking and replaces that
paragraph with the following “this ordinance would be enacted subject to applicants

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting March 1, 2016                          19 



contribution of $500,000 towards Southside parking solutions at the City’s discretion and
$75,000 contribution for surface parking solutions and to allow the applicant to rent up to 100
spaces from the City if available for one half the market rate as more detailed in a
development agreement to be made between the City and the applicant. Further, the
development agreement referenced in section 7 of the enactments portion of the proposed
ordinance include that the development agreement will encompass the proposed deal points
for PZ-15-00164 dated March 1, 2016 subject to the parking provisions mentioned earlier.

Vice Mayor Barotz stated that she will not support the motion because it is totally
irresponsible for her to do so without a development agreement. She would request that she
has an opportunity to see the development agreement before being asked to vote. Mayor
Nabours offered that the development agreement is typically brought forward before the
second read of the ordinance.

 

  Moved by Councilmember Eva Putzova, seconded by Vice Mayor Celia Barotz to postpone
until there is a development agreement and time to digest the information received during the
public hearings.
 
Councilmember Overton stated that he is not in support of the motion to postpone, action and
direction need to be taken this evening. In regards to the motion from the Mayor, he is not
supportive of the way the motion was worded he is comfortable weighing in on the zoning
request. He understands the need for the development agreement and is comfortable in
principle with the development agreement points but would like to see them flushed out in the
development agreement prior to the second read. 

  Vote: 2 - 5 
 

NAY: Mayor Jerry Nabours 
  Councilmember Karla Brewster 
  Councilmember Coral Evans 
  Councilmember Jeff Oravits 
  Councilmember Scott Overton 

 
  Moved by Mayor Jerry Nabours, seconded by Councilmember Scott Overton to amend the

motion to read Ordinance 2016-08 by title only for the first time subject to an agreement
between the City and the Developer.

Councilmember Putzova stated that she will be voting against the motion because she finds
the proposed amendment inconsistent with the Regional Plan, specifically policies CC.3.1,
NH.1.2, NH.6.1, T.1.8, and T.3.4. She also cannot find a way to assure the public that the
proposed amendment will not be detrimental to the public interest, safety, convenience or
welfare of the City. She also cannot find how swapping the transect zones will add to the
public good. She does not feel that there is enough time to look for all ways this proposal
could meet the necessary requirements and believes no reasonable person can articulate
them.
 
Vice Mayor Barotz stated that the question before the Council is to approve or deny the
rezoning request and to do this the Council must make certain findings before they approve a
rezone request. She cannot find that this proposed amendment is consistent with the
Regional Plan even though staff states that it is. The following policies and goals support her
position: 

Policy CC.2.7

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting March 1, 2016                          20 



Goal CC.3
Policy CC.3.1
Policy CC.3.2
Policy C.3.3
Goal CC.4
Policy LU.5.6
Policy LU.10.5
Policy LU.18.13
Policy T.1.8
Policy NH.1.1
Policy NH.1.H.2
Policy NH.6.1
Policy N.1.2
 

At 99 dwelling units per acre with a floor area ratio of 3.54 this project would become the most
dense intense building in the city. She cannot find that the proposed amendment will not be
detrimental to the public interest, health, safety, convenience or welfare and it will not add to
the public good as outlined in the Regional Plan

 
Switching locations of the zones defeats the original intent of the way the zoning map was
designed. The transect zoning between Milton and Mikes Pike was designed to make a
transition from the T5 urban corridor into the neighborhood on the other side.

 
She has very serious concerns about parking issues that have been raised.
 
She feels that she cannot make the necessary findings because the urban infrastructure is
not mature enough for the parking incentive offered by the transect zoning. The lack of
adequate parking will exacerbate existing problems and create real problems for the residents
and businesses in the neighborhood. She does not believe that the rezone is in the public’s
interest. She is concerned about public safety, the mass and scale of the project and the
issues with parking and traffic.
 
Mayor Nabours stated that staff and the Planning and Zoning Commission spent a great deal
of time working through the project and Council has spent many hours discussing the need
for infill and redevelopment. This location is a perfect place to do infill and redevelopment.
Through the rezone process the City and the public have been able to provide input on the
design of the structure. The City will get some good things out of this including a huge
contribution to a much needed parking garage. He would rather see this option move forward
than to have no input. He also requested a roll-call vote.
 
Vice Mayor offered her thanks to everyone who has put time and effort into the participation of
the process.
 
Councilmember Brewster stated that the HUB will be built with or without the rezoning and
she would prefer it to be built to the standards developed by input from staff and the public.
 
Councilmember Evans stated that she has been watching the development in hopes that the
community and Core Campus could come to an agreement. She has had the opportunity to
speak with Core Campus about the parking issues and she was happy when Core offered to
put up $500,000 and $75,000 for parking improvements. There are a lot of other issues as
well but she believes that it is directly reflective of the direction that the Arizona Board of
Regents has taken in terms of funding and the absence of anyone from NAU speaks to the
kind of relationship the City has with NAU.

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting March 1, 2016                          21 



 
She offered that she was appreciative of the fact that Core Campus was a lot easier to speak
with and have a conversation with then the last student housing developer. While they may
not agree on everything Core was willing to have a conversation. She applauds everyone’s
effort and thanked them for being there; having an engaged community is important and
having the community engaged going forward is important.
 
She believes that there are a lot of unresolved issues with this development. The community
feels that there are health and safety and have been clear that this is not appropriate
development for the neighborhood or location. She is not in support of the rezoning on this
project and would make the findings based on policy NH 1.1 and NH.6.1 of the Regional
Plan.

  Vote: 4 - 3 
 

NAY: Vice Mayor Celia Barotz 
  Councilmember Coral Evans 
  Councilmember Eva Putzova 

 
  AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF, AMENDING

THE FLAGSTAFF ZONING MAP DOWNTOWN REGULATING PLAN DESIGNATION OF
APPROXIMATELY 0.29 ACRES OF LAND GENERALLY LOCATED WEST OF THE
SOUTHWEST CORNER OF MIKES PIKE AND PHOENIX AVENUE FROM THE T4
NEIGHBORHOOD 1 – OPEN (T4N.1-O) AND T5 MAIN STREET (T5) TRANSECT ZONES
TO THE T4 NEIGHBORHOOD 2 (T4N.2) TRANSECT ZONE AND APPROXIMATELY 1.35
ACRES LOCATED AT 17 S MIKES PIKE FROM THE T4 NEIGHBORHOOD 1 – OPEN
(T4N.1-O) TRANSECT ZONE TO THE T5 MAIN STREET (T5) TRANSECT ZONE WITH
CONDITIONS; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY, AND ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE
DATE.

A break was held from 10:10 p.m. - 10:20 p.m.
 

 

15. REGULAR AGENDA
 

A. Discussion and Possible Action re: Current Issues Before the Arizona Legislature
 
  Assistant to the City Manager Stephanie Smith reported that there is a joint meeting coming

up on Monday March 7, 2016 where an update will be given on the current issues and she
will also be reporting on the recent trip to Washington D.C. at the Work Session of March 8,
2016.
 
Councilmember Evans asked about HB2566. Ms. Smith stated that the bill is on her list to
report on. She added that it is a striker bill that restricts cities from collecting pawn fees.
Currently the City collects around $140,000 each year in pawn fees that helps offsets police
staffing. Many cities and towns are fighting the bill. Councilmember Evans stated that the
bill is troublesome for many reasons and requested that the Police Chief present before
Council the importance of the pawn officer. Ms. Smith stated that Chief Treadway will be
present to answer any questions at the upcoming meetings.
 
Councilmember Putzova requested an update on HB2579 during Ms. Smith’s future
presentations.

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting March 1, 2016                          22 



 

16. DISCUSSION ITEMS

None
 

17. FUTURE AGENDA ITEM REQUESTS

After discussion and upon agreement by a majority of all members of the Council, an item will
be moved to a regularly-scheduled Council meeting.

 
  Moved by Councilmember Jeff Oravits, seconded by Councilmember Scott Overton to

suspend the Rules of Procedure and hear the last agenda item. 
  Vote: 4 - 3 
 

NAY: Vice Mayor Celia Barotz 
  Councilmember Coral Evans 
  Councilmember Eva Putzova 

 

A. Future Agenda Item Request (F.A.I.R.): A request by Councilmember Putzova to place on a
future agenda a discussion on Regional Plan Goals/Policies regarding Climate Change.

  

 
  Councilmember Putzova withdrew her request for the Future Agenda Item.
 

18. INFORMATIONAL ITEMS AND REPORTS FROM COUNCIL AND STAFF, FUTURE
AGENDA ITEM REQUESTS

 
  Councilmember Evans stated that there is a continuing issue with Motel 6 and the posted

pricing that gets changed. She requested additional information on this issue. Mr. Copley
stated that staff will provide the information in a CCR.
 
Mr. Copley reported that Park maintenance staff is working to prune the dead and decaying
limbs of the trees in Wheeler Park.

 

19. ADJOURNMENT
 
  The Regular Meeting of the Flagstaff City Council held March 1, 2016, adjourned at 10:28

p.m.
 

 

 _______________________________
MAYOR

ATTEST:
 

 

_________________________________
CITY CLERK

 

  

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting March 1, 2016                          23 



  

CERTIFICATION
I, ELIZABETH A. BURKE, do hereby certify that I am the City Clerk of the City of Flagstaff, County of
Coconino, State of Arizona, and that the above Minutes are a true and correct summary of the Meeting of
the Council of the City of Flagstaff held on March 1, 2016. I further certify that the Meeting was duly called
and held and that a quorum was present.
  
DATED this 22nd day of March, 2016.           
  
 ________________________________

CITY CLERK

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting March 1, 2016                          24 



SPECIAL MEETING (EXECUTIVE SESSION)
TUESDAY, MARCH 8, 2016

COUNCIL CHAMBERS
211 WEST ASPEN

4:00 P.M.
 

MINUTES
 

               

1. Call to Order

Mayor Nabours called the Special Meeting (Executive Session) of March 8, 2016, to order at
4:03 p.m. 

 

2. Roll Call
  
NOTE: One or more Councilmembers may be in attendance telephonically or by other technological means.
  
PRESENT:

MAYOR NABOURS
VICE MAYOR BAROTZ
COUNCILMEMBER BREWSTER
COUNCILMEMBER EVANS
COUNCILMEMBER ORAVITS
COUNCILMEMBER OVERTON
COUNCILMEMBER PUTZOVA

ABSENT:

NONE

 

Others present: City Manager Josh Copley and City Attorney Michelle D'Andrea.
 

3. Recess into Executive Session.
 
  Moved by Councilmember Jeff Oravits, seconded by Councilmember Scott Overton to recess

into Executive Session. 
  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 

4. Executive Session:
 

A. Discussion or consultation for legal advice with the attorney or attorneys of the public body; and
discussion or consultation with the attorneys of the public body in order to consider its position
and instruct its attorneys regarding the public body's position regarding contracts that are the
subject of negotiations, in pending or contemplated litigation or in settlement discussions
conducted in order to avoid or resolve litigation, pursuant to ARS 38-431.03(A)(3) and (4),
respectively.

 

i. Potential Settlement of Hopi/Snowbowl Settlement - CV2011-00701
 

B. Discussion or consideration of employment, assignment, appointment, promotion, demotion,

  



B. Discussion or consideration of employment, assignment, appointment, promotion, demotion,
dismissal, salaries, disciplining or resignation of a public officer, appointee or employee of any
public body, except that, with the exception of salary discussions, an officer, appointee or
employee may demand that the discussion or consideration occur at a public meeting. The public
body shall provide the officer, appointee or employee with written notice of the executive session
as is appropriate but not less than twenty-four hours for the officer, appointee or employee to
determine whether the discussion or consideration should occur at a public meeting; and
discussion or consultation for legal advice with the attorney or attorneys of the public body,
pursuant to ARS 38-431.03(A)(1) & (3) respectively.

 

i. City Attorney's Office Civil Personnel, Methods of Succession Planning and Terms of Potential
Contract

 

5. Adjournment

The Flagstaff City Council reconvened into Open Session at 4:56 p.m. at which time the Special
Meeting held March 8, 2016, adjourned.

  
 

 _______________________________________
Mayor

ATTEST:

____________________________________
City Clerk

 

  

Flagstaff Special Meeting (Executive Session) March 8, 2016        2 



SPECIAL MEETING (EXECUTIVE SESSION)
FRIDAY, MARCH 11, 2016

COUNCIL CHAMBERS
211 WEST ASPEN

9:00 A.M.
 

MINUTES
 

               

1. Call to Order
 
  Mayor Nabours called the Special Meeting of March 11, 2016, to order at 9:02 a.m.
 

2. Roll Call
  
NOTE: One or more Councilmembers may be in attendance telephonically or by other technological means.

PRESENT:

MAYOR NABOURS
VICE MAYOR BAROTZ
COUNCILMEMBER BREWSTER
COUNCILMEMBER EVANS
COUNCILMEMBER ORAVITS (telephonically)
COUNCILMEMBER OVERTON
COUNCILMEMBER PUTZOVA (telephonically)
 

ABSENT:

NONE                        

 

Others present: City Manager Josh Copley and City Attorney Michelle D'Andrea.
 

3. Recess into Executive Session.
 
  Moved by Mayor Jerry Nabours, seconded by Councilmember Karla Brewster to recess into

Executive Session. 
  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 

4. Executive Session:
 

A. Discussion or consultation for legal advice with the attorney or attorneys of the public body; and
discussion or consultation with the attorneys of the public body in order to consider its position
and instruct its attorneys regarding the public body's position regarding contracts that are the
subject of negotiations, in pending or contemplated litigation or in settlement discussions
conducted in order to avoid or resolve litigation, pursuant to ARS 38-431.03(A)(3) and (4),
respectively.

 

i. Hopi v. City of Flagstaff; City of Flagstaff vs. Arizona Snowbowl (CV2011 00701)
 

  



           

5. Adjournment

The Flagstaff City Council reconvened into Open Session at 10:38 a.m. at which time the Special
Meeting of March 11, 2016, adjourned.

  
 

 _______________________________________
Mayor

ATTEST:

____________________________________
City Clerk

 

  

Flagstaff Special Meeting (Executive Session) March 11, 2016        2 



  7. A.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT

To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Stacy Saltzburg, Deputy City Clerk

Date: 03/16/2016

Meeting Date: 03/22/2016

TITLE: 
Consideration of Appointments:  Open Space Commission.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Make two appointments to terms expiring April 2019.
Make one appointment to a term expiring April 2018.

Executive Summary:
The Open Space Commission consists of seven regular members all of whom shall be appointed by the
City Council, except for designee from the Planning and Zoning Commission. The commission serves as
an advisory body on the acquisition, management, use, restoration, enhancement, protection, and
conservation of open space land. There is currently one vacant seat available and two current
commissioners whose terms end at the end of April. Both commissioners are seeking reappointment at
this time; should a new applicant be appointed their term will not start until the current commissioner's
term expires at the end of April. It is important to fill vacancies on Boards and Commissions quickly so as
to allow the Commission to continue meeting on a regular basis.

There are nine applications on file for consideration by the Council, they are as follows: 
Jim Burton (current commissioner)
Bryan Burton (current commissioner)
Thomas DeSimone (new applicant)
Bryce Esch (new applicant)
Stephen Hirst (new applicant)
Jackie Holm (new applicant)
Libby Kalinowski (new applicant)
Andi Rogers (new applicant)
Margo Wheeler (new applicant)

In an effort to reduce exposure to personal information the applicant roster and applications will be
submitted to the City Council separately.
  
COUNCIL APPOINTMENT ASSIGNMENT: Mayor Nabours, Councilmember Putzova
and Councilmember Brewster

Financial Impact:
These are voluntary positions and there is no budgetary impact to the City of Flagstaff.



Connection to Council Goal and/or Regional Plan:
There is no Council goal that specifically addresses appointments to Boards and Commissions; however,
boards and commissions do provide input and recommendations based on City Council goals that may
pertain to the board or commission work plan.

Has There Been Previous Council Decision on This:
The City Council recently took action to eliminate the specialty designations associated with the Open
Space Commission. 

Options and Alternatives:
1) Appoint three Commissioners: By appointing members at this time, the Open Space Commission will
be at full membership, allowing the group to meet and provide recommendations to the City Council.

2) Table the action to allow for further discussion or expand the list of candidates. 

Community Benefits and Considerations:
The City's boards, commissions, and committees were created to foster public participation and input
and to encourage Flagstaff citizens to take an active role in city government. 

Community Involvement:
INFORM: The vacancies are posted on the City's website and individual recruitment and mention of the
opening by Commission members and City staff has occurred, informing others of this vacancy through
word of mouth. 

Attachments:  Open Space Roster
Open Space Authority



City of Flagstaff, AZ

NAME APPOINTED TERM EXPIRES

OPEN SPACES COMMISSION  MEMBERS

TRAINING 
COMPLETED

686 W. Old Territory Trail

Burton, Bryan

Flagstaff, AZ  86001

Realtor/United Country Northern Arizona Realty

12/18/2012 04/16 02/19/2015

Cell Phone: 928-556-0556
Term: (1st 12/12-04/13; 04/13-04/16)

2466 W. Zepher Ave

Burton, Jim

Flagstaff, AZ  86001

Assistant Fire Managment Officer/Kaibab 
National Forest

07/07/2015 04/16 09/29/2015

Cell Phone: 480-225-8864
Term: (1st 7/15-04/16)

1823 W. Heavenly Court

Dorsett, Stephen

Flagstaff, AZ  86001

President/Architect/Shapes & Forms Architects

12/03/2013 12/16 10/20/2011

Work Phone: 928-213-9626
Term: (1st 6/09-12/10; 2nd 12/10-12/13; 3rd 
12/13-12/16)

PLANNING & ZONING REPRESENTATIVE

1715 N.Beaver

Eberly, Carrie

Flagstaff, AZ  86001

Program Manager/Diablo Trust

05/06/2014 04/17 02/16/2012

Home Phone: 208-691-8043
Term: (1st 6/11-4/14; 2nd 4/14-4/17))

Wednesday, March 09, 2016 Page 1 of 2



City of Flagstaff, AZ

1878 N. Mesa Dr.

Gist, Jessica

Flagstaff, AZ  86001

Habitat/Research Technician/Arizona Game & 
Fish Department

05/06/2014 04/17 02/16/2012

Cell Phone: 831-521-7916
Term: (1st 6/11-4/14; 2nd 4/14-4/17)

1200 W. Shullenbarger Dr.

Miller, Richard, Chairman

Flagstaff, AZ  86001

Retired

05/05/2015 04/18 03/12/2013

Home Phone: 928-853-6120
Term: (1st 6/12 - 4/15; 2nd 4/15-4/18)

Z-VACANT, 04/18 No

Staff Representative: Betsy Emery

As Of: March 09, 2016

Wednesday, March 09, 2016 Page 2 of 2





























  7. B.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT

To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Stacy Saltzburg, Deputy City Clerk

Date: 03/16/2016

Meeting Date: 03/22/2016

TITLE: 
Consideration of Appointments:  Disability Awareness Commission.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Make three appointments to terms expiring March 2019.

Executive Summary:
The Disability Awareness Commission consists of seven citizens serving three year terms. The
commission's goals are to expand educational opportunities; improve access to housing, buildings, and
transportation; have greater participation in recreational, social, and cultural activities; encourage greater
opportunity for employment; and expand and strengthen rehabilitative programs and facilities. There are
currently three seats available. It is important to fill vacancies on Boards and Commissions quickly so as
to allow the Commission to continue meeting on a regular basis.

There are five applications on file for consideration by the Council, they are as follows: 
Monica Attridge (new applicant)
Melinda DeBoer-Ayrey (new applicant)
Tarang Jain (new applicant)
Michael Sanderfer (new applicant)
Kaitlyn Verfuerth (current commissioner)
 

In an effort to reduce exposure to personal information the applicant roster and applications will be
submitted to the City Council separately.
  
COUNCIL APPOINTMENT ASSIGNMENT: Mayor Nabours, Councilmember Overton
and Councilmember Oravits.

Financial Impact:
These are voluntary positions and there is no budgetary impact to the City of Flagstaff.

Connection to Council Goal and/or Regional Plan:
There is no Council goal that specifically addresses appointments to Boards and Commissions; however,
boards and commissions do provide input and recommendations based on City Council goals that may
pertain to the board or commission work plan.

Has There Been Previous Council Decision on This:
None.



None.

Options and Alternatives:
1) Appoint three Commissioners: by appointing members at this time, the Disability Awareness
Commission will be at full membership, allowing the group to continue meeting to provide
recommendations to the City Council.

2) Table the action to allow for further discussion or expand the list of candidates.

Community Benefits and Considerations:
The City's boards, commissions, and committees were created to foster public participation and input
and to encourage Flagstaff citizens to take an active role in city government. 

Community Involvement:
INFORM: Board members and City staff have informed the community of these vacancies through word
of mouth in addition to the posting on the City's website. 

Attachments:  DAC Roster
DAC Authority



City of Flagstaff, AZ

NAME APPOINTED TERM EXPIRES

DISABILITY AWARENESS COMMISSION  MEMBERS

TRAINING 
COMPLETED

1401 North 4th St.  # 248

Gale, Debra

Flagstaff, AZ  86004

Coordinator/ResCare

05/06/2014 03/17 03/12/2013

Cell Phone: 928-853-4730
Term: (1st 3/11 - 3/14; 2nd 3/14-3/17)

2532 N. Fourth St. #154

Leland, Christina

Flagstaff, AZ  86004

Handicap Facilitator

07/15/2014 03/17 10/27/2014

Cell Phone: 928-707-3114
Term: (1st 7/14-3/17)

4801 E. Snowshoe Way

Martinez, James, Vice-Chairman

Flagstaff, AZ  86004

Customer Service Rep/DES/DDD

05/06/2014 03/17 02/20/2016

Work Phone: 928-773-4957
Term: (1st 5/13 - 3/14; 2nd 3/14-3/17)

1199 W. Coy Dr.

Randall, Russell

Flagstaff, AZ  86001

Transition Facilitator/Flagstaff Unified School 
District

05/06/2014 03/17 03/12/2013

Cell Phone: 928-607-8410
Term: (1st 12/12 - 3/14; 2nd 3/14-3/17)

1145 N. Flowing Springs Trail

Verfuerth, Kaitlyn, Chairman

Flagstaff, AZ  86004

Owner/BTO Yogurt

05/07/2013 03/16 10/27/2014

Cell Phone: 619-985-2793
Term: (1st 5/13-3/16)

Wednesday, March 09, 2016 Page 1 of 2



City of Flagstaff, AZ

Z-VACANT, 03/16 No

Z-VACANT, 03/16 No

Staff Representative: Denise Thompson

As Of: March 09, 2016

Wednesday, March 09, 2016 Page 2 of 2







  9. A.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT
To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Steve Zimmerman, Parks Manager

Co-Submitter: Eileen Brown

Date: 03/16/2016

Meeting Date: 03/22/2016

TITLE: 
Consideration and Approval of Contract:  Annual Service Agreement for Landscape Maintenance
Services with Morning Dew Landscape to provide landscape maintenance and snow removal services at
City of Flagstaff facilities.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Accept the lowest, most responsive and responsible proposal from Morning Dew Landscape of
Flagstaff, in the amount of $114,160.00 to provide landscape maintenance and snow removal
services in the bid amount outlined on the attached bid tabulation and approve the Annual Service
Agreement with Morning Dew Landscape.

Executive Summary:
The approval of this Agreement will allow for Landscape Maintenance and Snow Removal services at the
following facilities: USGS Buildings 3, 4, 5, and 6, NACET Building, Accelerator, Visitor Center and City
maintained medians throughout Flagstaff (North Hwy 89, Butler Ave., East Flagstaff Traffic Interchange,
Lonetree Ave., Woodland Village Blvd., Beulah Blvd.).

Financial Impact:
Landscaping services is managed by the Parks Section, with funding provided from various Divisions
within the City. The actual costs rendered at the USGS Campus are recaptured through the lease with
USGS. This contract includes one (1) additional building location and six (6) additional medians
throughout Flagstaff from the previous contract (2010-2015). Landscape maintenance services will be
provided annually for an amount not to exceed $65,619.50. Snow Removal services will be provided
annually for an amount not to exceed $44,016.00. Median Landscape maintenance services will be
provided annually  for an amount not to exceed $4,524.50.

  
 The FY2016 budgets for the USGS Buildings, Incubator and Accelerator, and Visitor Center are



 The FY2016 budgets for the USGS Buildings, Incubator and Accelerator, and Visitor Center are
$55,824, $26,309 and $16,419, respectively, for a total FY2016 budget for these services of $98,552.  In
the event that the increase is not approved in the FY2017 Council approved Budget the increase will
need to be addressed through a reduction in other operational line items.

Connection to Council Goal and/or Regional Plan:
Provide sustainable and equitable public facilities, services, and infrastructure systems in an efficient and
effective manner to serve all population areas and demographics

Has There Been Previous Council Decision on This:
No. This is the first time to be presented before Council for a decision.

Options and Alternatives:
1) Award contract as recommended
2) Not award the agreement and not provide Landscape Maintenance and Snow Removal Services at
these facilities

Background/History:
Purchasing in conjunction with the Parks Section put together a comprehensive Request for Proposals
(RFP) for Landscape Maintenance Services.  The RFP allowed for the evaluation of the following:
Organizational structure, experience/qualifications of key personnel, compliance with scope of
work/specifications, equipment/manpower, references, certifications and fee/price schedule.  A three
person committee was created to review and evaluate the proposals. This committee was composed of
two City staff; one from the Parks Section and one from the Facilities Maintenance Section. The other
committee member was from the Coconino County Parks and Recreation department. This RFP allows
for a firm fixed price in the initial term of two-years, with the option to extend for three additional one-year
terms by mutual agreement between both parties.

Purchasing posted this RFP to the Bid's posting page of the City of Flagstaff's website, where over
six-hundred subscribers' had an opportunity to review and bid on this item. A total of three (3) proposals
were received, reviewed and evaluated and the summary matrix of those evaluations is attached. 
Morning Dew Landscape of Flagstaff was found to be the most responsive, responsible proposer.

Services to be performed under this Agreement include a scheduled frequency, all inclusive of labor,
materials, tools, equipment and all items as needed to provide the services as required for servicing
USGS Campus, NACET, Accelerator, Visitor's  Center, and landscape medians. Additionally, the vendor
is responsible for clearing snow and ice from sidewalks, parking lots, and additional areas as outlined in
the RFP.
  



Key Considerations:
The City is responsible for providing landscaping and snow removal services to the USGS Campus and
all other City locations.

The previous contract for these services was held by Morning Dew Landscape They never asked for a
price increase during the contract period and completed the contract with excellence. 

Community Benefits and Considerations:
Landscape services keep our facilities looking well-kept, providing citizens and visitors with a visually
pleasing place to visit.

Community Involvement:
Inform

Attachments:  Morning Dew Contract
Summary Scoring Tabulation



Form GS-2:  Purchase Contract (short form).   Revised December 19, 2014 

 

CONTRACT FOR PURCHASE OF MATERIALS/SERVICES 
Contract No. 2016-09 

 
This Contract is entered into this _____ day of __________, 20___ by and between the City of 
Flagstaff, a political subdivision of the State or Arizona (“City”), and Morning Dew Landscaping, Inc. 
(“Contractor"). 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Flagstaff desires to receive, and Contractor is able to provide materials and/or 
services; 
   
NOW THEREFORE, in consideration for the mutual promises contained herein, the parties agree as 
follows: 
 
1. Scope of Work:  Contractor shall provide the materials and/or services generally described as 

follows: 
 
  Landscape Maintenance Services 
 

and as more specifically described in the scope of work attached hereto as Exhibit A.   
 
2. Compensation:  In consideration for the Contractor’s satisfactory performance, City shall pay 

Contractor the compensation described in Exhibit A.  Any price adjustment must be approved in 
writing and approved by the parties. The City Manager or his designee (the Purchasing Director) 
may approve an adjustment if the Contract price is less than $50,000; otherwise City Council 
approval is required. 

 
3. Standard Terms and Conditions: The City of Flagstaff Standard Terms and Conditions, are hereby 

incorporated in this Contractor by reference and shall apply to performance of this Contract, except 
to the extent modified in Exhibit A. 
 

4. Insurance:  Contractor shall meet insurance requirements of the City. 
 

5. Contract Term:  The Contract term is for a period of two (2) years, commencing on_____________, 
2016 and continuing through ______________, 2018. 

 
6. Renewal: This Contract may be renewed or extended for up to three (3) additional one (1) year 

terms by mutual written consent of the parties. The City Manager or his designee (the Purchasing 
Director) shall have authority to approve renewal on behalf of the City. 

 
7. Notice.  Any formal notice required under this Contract shall be in writing and sent by certified mail 

and email as follows: 
 

To the City: 

 

To Contractor: 

Eileen Brown, Senior Procurement Specialist 

City of Flagstaff 

211 W.  Aspen                                                         

Flagstaff, Arizona  86001 

embrown@flagstaffaz.gov  

Morning Dew Landscaping, Inc. 

14 S. Leroux St. 
Flagstaff, AZ  86001 

  

mailto:embrown@flagstaffaz.gov


Form GS-2:  Purchase Contract (short form).  Revised December 19, 2014 

 

With a copy to: 

 

 

 

With a copy to: 

 
 
8. Authority.  Each party warrants that it has authority to enter into this Contract and perform its 

obligations hereunder, and that it has taken all actions necessary to enter into this Contract. 
 
CONTRACTOR 
 
 
____________________________________ 
 
Print name:___________________________ 
 
Title:________________________________ 
 
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF 
 
____________________________________ 
 
Print name:___________________________ 
 
Title:________________________________ 
 
 
Attest: 
 
____________________________________ 
City Clerk 
 
 
Approved as to form: 
 
____________________________________ 
City Attorney’s Office 
 

 

 

Notice to Proceed issued:__________________, 20___ 

 
 



Form GS-2:  Purchase Contract (short form).  Revised December 19, 2014 

 

EXHIBIT A 

SCOPE OF WORK 

 

SCOPE OF WORK/SPECIFICATIONS 
 

The Scope of Work/Specifications outlined below will be applicable to and an explicit part of any 
contract awarded as a result of this Solicitation.  

 
 LANDSCAPE MAINTENANCE SPECIFICATIONS 
 

1. The Proposer shall have a minimum five (5) years’ experience providing Landscaping Services 
of native plants, trees, scrubs, etc. indigenous to Northern Arizona. 
 

2. The Proposer and all sub-proposers shall be certified by the State of Arizona Office of Pest 
Management as a qualifying party and Certified with any National Accreditation recognized by 
the State of Arizona current or future and shall remain so through the term of this contract.  
Failure to comply with this specification will result in disqualification of your RFP submittal and is 
grounds for immediate termination of any contract awarded as a result of this Solicitation.    
 

3. Proposer shall provide regular, weekly landscaping maintenance services as outlined herein.  
 

4. Proposer shall examine the landscape on a weekly basis (winter schedule bi-weekly) to identify 
any problems or potential problems with the landscape. 
 

5. Proposer shall provide at Proposer’s own risk all labor, materials, tools, equipment, insurance, 
transportation, hauling, dumping, and all other items needed to provide the services outlined in 
this Scope of Work/Specifications. 
 

6. Proposer shall make minor replacements and repairs to the landscape facilities as part of the 
required maintenance work. A minor item would be something that takes less than thirty (30) 
minutes to repair by skilled workmen, using minimal replacement parts. The following is a non-
exhaustive list of items that are considered to be minor replacement or repairs: damaged and 
clogged sprinkler nozzles, adjustment of sprinkler patterns or arcs, adjustment of sprinkler 
positions (raise, lower or straighten sprinkler head), replacement of clogged, broken, or missing 
drip emitters, and replacement or repositioning of drip distribution tubing.  Proposer at 
Proposer’s expense shall correct these repair items.  Major items needing replacement or repair 
must be reported to the City’s representative within one week of occurrence. Proposer shall be 
available to perform additional work related to the landscape maintenance as may be authorized 
in writing by the City.  Such work shall be non-minor items relating to landscape care, which are 
not a part of the normal maintenance work as outlined in this specification. 
 

7. Proposer shall take all reasonable precautions required to protect landscape areas from 
equipment and snow removal damage. 

 
CARE OF PLANTED AREAS 
 

1. Trees shall be maintained in a healthy, vigorous growing condition, free from disease and large 
concentrations of pests. 
 



Form GS-2:  Purchase Contract (short form).  Revised December 19, 2014 

 

2. Once a year, prune all trees to encourage a high-branching structure.  Trees are to be pruned to 
remove dead, diseased, broken, dangerous, or crossing branches, and as required below. 
Pruning of this type is a minor, non-reimbursable cost to be included as part of the regular 
maintenance. 
 

3. Prune trees only in appropriate months as determined by an arborist.  Prune in accordance with 
the International Society of Arboriculture Standards for proper pruning. 
 

4. Discard all tree trimmings off-site in a legal manner (i.e., no illegal dumping).  The City Landfill 
has a greenery area for disposal of trimmings. 
 

5. Any tree found to be dead or missing shall be replaced with plant material of identical species; 
replacement shall be paid for as additional work and shall conform to the American Nursery 
Association Standards.  Before replacement, Proposer shall submit a quote for replacement, as 
outlined in the Schedule and Frequency section of these specifications, within two (2) weeks of 
the discovery of the loss. 
 

6. The City’s authorized representative shall approve the size and appearance of replacement 
trees prior to planting.  Replacement trees must be double staked with 2-inch diameter stakes 
unless otherwise approved by the City's authorized representative.  Six slow-release fertilizer 
tablets must be placed the in backfill material evenly spaced around, but not touching, the root 
ball. 
 

7. Remove tree stakes from trees one (1) year after planting, if the trees are able to support 
themselves.  Tree ties should be adjusted as needed throughout the year.  Remove stakes from 
site and dispose of them in a legal manner.  Recycle used stakes if possible. 
 

8. The cutting blades on pruning shears, clippers, blades, saws, etc. shall be sterilized after 
pruning each tree to minimize the possibility of spreading disease. When pruning trees known or 
suspected to be diseased, cutting blades shall be sterilized after each cut.  Sterilize blades by 
dipping them in a solution of 1 part bleach and 9 parts water or heavily spray them with a 
disinfectant spray, such as Lysol.  After dipping or spraying, wait 20 seconds before using 
again. 
 

9. A vertical clearance of 114 inches is required above all parking spaces. A vertical clearance of 
80 inches is required above all walkways.  Trim trees to remove all limbs within these areas and 
any overhanging limbs or branches over driveways and roadways.  Obtain City approval prior to 
pruning. 

 
 
SHRUBS AND VINES 
 

1. Shrubs and vines shall be kept in a healthy, vigorous condition, free from disease and large 
concentrations of pests. 
 

2. Shrubs shall be pruned weekly only as needed to remove branches that are dead, broken, 
extending beyond the face of curbs or sidewalks, or are climbing building walls (unless they are 
intended to climb the wall, such as climbing vines).  Formal hedges and topiary shall be 
regularly pruned to maintain a uniform height and width.  Except as noted previously, allow the 
shrubs to grow un-pruned to their natural sizes. 
 



Form GS-2:  Purchase Contract (short form).  Revised December 19, 2014 

 

3. Shrubs uniformly planted in rows, where it is clear the intent was to create a hedge, shall be 
pruned so as to encourage a hedge.  Shrubs in hedges shall be encouraged through pruning to 
form a dense, continuous hedge branching fully to the ground.  All other shrubs shall be pruned 
only as required for safety, visibility, and plant health, and allowed to develop into the natural 
shapes expected of the plant variety. 
 

4. Any shrub found to be dead or missing shall be replaced with plant material of identical species; 
replacement shall be paid for as additional work.  Before replacement, Proposer shall submit a 
quote for replacement, as outlined in the Schedule and Frequency section of these 
specifications, within two (2) weeks of the discovery of the loss. 
 

5. Replacement shrubs shall be at least five gallon container or 18 inches in height when planted, 
unless otherwise approved by the City's authorized representative.  Two slow-release fertilizer 
tablets must be placed the in backfill material evenly spaced around, but not touching, the root 
ball. 
 

6. The cutting blades on pruning shears, clippers, blades, saws, etc. shall be sterilized between 
every three shrubs to minimize the possibility of spreading disease.  When pruning shrubs 
known or suspected to be diseased, the cutting blades shall be sterilized after each cut.  
Sterilize blades by dipping them in a solution of 1 part bleach and 9 parts water or heavily spray 
them with a disinfectant spray, such as Lysol.  After dipping or spraying, wait 20 seconds before 
using again. 
 

7. Discard all trimmings off-site in a legal manner.  The City Landfill has a greenery area for 
disposal of trimmings. 
 

GROUNDCOVER 
 

1. Groundcover shall be maintained in a healthy, vigorous growing condition. 
 

2. Any groundcover found to be dead or missing shall be replaced with plant material of identical 
species at the landscape maintenance Proposer's expense, unless the loss was due to 
excluded damage.  If the loss resulted from excluded damage, replacement shall be paid for as 
additional work. Before replacement, Proposer shall submit a quote for replacement, as outlined 
in the Schedule and Frequency section of these specifications, within two (2) weeks of the 
discovery of the loss.  Replacement groundcover shall be planted at 8 inches spacing from flats 
to encourage quick coverage.  Prior to planting replacement groundcover, the soil shall be tilled 
to a depth of 6 inches to prepare it for the new plants. 
 

3. Trim groundcover back from sidewalks, curbs, and paved areas on a weekly basis.  Do not 
create vertical edges when pruning groundcover.  Cut the edges at an angle /--\ for a more 
natural appearance and healthier plants. 
 

4. If regular foot traffic through a planter is preventing the groundcover from reaching full coverage 
of the soil, contact the City's authorized representative to discuss options for redirecting the foot 
traffic. Consider installing pavers, stepping-stones, a concrete walk, a gravel path, and/or 
barriers to redirect pedestrians.  Provide costs for these options to the City's authorized 
representative. 

 
FERTILIZER 
 



Form GS-2:  Purchase Contract (short form).  Revised December 19, 2014 

 

1. Granular fertilizer shall be applied at the manufacturer’s recommendation label rate for turf and 
plant type.  A soil sample shall be performed before applying fertilizer to determine appropriate 
fertilizer mix for the upcoming season.  Water immediately after applying to move the fertilizer 
into the soil and wash the fertilizer off any plant surfaces. 
 

2. Itemized receipts for fertilizer and other required soil amendments purchased and used by 
Proposer shall be submitted to show City's authorized representative as proof of application.  
The cost of all fertilizer work and materials shall be included in the proposal price for landscape 
maintenance. 

 
WEED CONTROL 
 

1. Weeds in planted areas, sidewalks, turf, curbs, cobble & decorative rock areas, cinder areas, 
gutters, natural areas, and pavement shall be removed.  Dispose of weeds off-site in a legal 
manner. 
 

2. Remove any weeds in natural areas larger than 12 inches high or wide or if they become a fire 
danger.   All noxious weeds shall be removed immediately. 
 

3. Weeding services shall be provided on a weekly basis to ensure that weeds do not become 
established.  The primary/preferred method for weed control shall be by mechanical or manual 
methods.   Herbicides may only be applied when authorized in advance by the City's authorized 
representative and their application must meet Arizona State Office of Pest Management (OPM) 
rules and regulations.  The City reserves the right to inspect equipment used in weed control and to 
authorize the use of herbicides by Proposer.  Proposer is to use environmentally friendly products 
when applicable.   

 
MULCH AND/ROCK LAYER 
 

1. Soil mulch and/or rock layer shall be cared for as needed to create and maintain an even and 
uniform appearance over the visible soil surface of each planter area. 
  

2. Proposer shall add additional mulch and/or decorative rock regularly to maintain a layer no less 
than 2 inches deep at all times in shrub planters.  Decomposition of organic mulch is considered 
normal wear and tear and Proposer shall replace decomposed mulch as part of the required 
maintenance work.  Mulch and/or decorative rock are not required in areas where plant foliage 
completely covers the soil surface, such that the soil is not visible through the foliage.  Note: 
only 2 inches of mulch is required; however, maintaining a deeper layer of mulch and/or 
decorative rock greatly reduces the labor and chemicals needed to control weeds, reduces 
water use, and helps the plants stay healthy. 
 

3. Replacement of large amounts of mulch and/or decorative rock (over one cubic yard) which has 
been stolen, vandalized, or washed away by a single storm shall be paid as additional work. 
Before replacement, Proposer shall submit a quote for replacement, as outlined in the Schedule 
and Frequency section of these specifications, within two (2) weeks of the discovery of the loss. 
 

4. Any mulch or decorative rock found outside planter areas shall be returned to the planter on a 
weekly basis. 
 

5. Mulch and/or decorative rock shall be uniform in color and appearance and free of leaves, 
sticks, and trash.  Mulch may be chipped or shredded wood, bark, or decorative rock.  When 



Form GS-2:  Purchase Contract (short form).  Revised December 19, 2014 

 

replacing existing mulch, use a mulch product that is similar in appearance to that already at the 
site. 
 

6. In areas of the site where wood-based mulch frequently washes away, submit a quote for 
replacement of the organic mulch with decorative rock having a similar color. 
 

7. Replacement rock shall be the same size and color as existing decorative rock on site. 
 

 
LAWNS 
 

1. Lawns shall be kept in a healthy, vigorous condition, free of disease and pests.  Weeding 
services shall be provided on a weekly basis to ensure that weeds do not become established.  
Whenever possible, weed control shall be by mechanical or manual methods. 
 

2. Prior to mowing, Proposer shall ensure that the area to be mowed is cleaned and free from all 
debris (paper, stone, bottles, tree limbs, etc.)  All debris shall be disposed of off-site by Proposer 
in a legal manner. 
 

3. The turf shall be mowed with mowing equipment that has proper deflection devices, adjustable 
cutting heights, and sharp cutting edges to provide a high quality cut at 2 to 2 ½ inch height.  
Mowing equipment shall be operated at an optimum speed that produces a smooth surface 
appearance without scalping. Mowing that produces varying heights of turf will be considered 
unsatisfactory.  Mowing patterns shall be alternated to avoid creating ruts and compaction. 
 

4. Lawn height shall not exceed 3 1/2 inches at any time. 
 

5. Edging at sidewalks, curbs, and other paved areas located on and surrounding the designated 
mowing areas shall be done directly following or in conjunction with the mowing operation. 
 

6. Mow, edge, and trim lawns weekly or as required to maintain an even, well-groomed 
appearance. 
 

7. Remove lawn clippings and dispose of them off-site in a legal manner.    The City landfill has a 
greenery area for disposal of lawn clippings.  Proposer is encouraged to use mulching mowers, 
which cut clippings into small pieces that sift down into the lawn when not required to pickup. 
 

8. Weeds shall be controlled in lawn areas as noted above under the weed-control section. 
 

9. Any lawn found to be dead or severely yellowed shall be replaced with sod of identical species 
at the landscape maintenance Proposer's expense, unless the loss was due to excluded 
damage.  If the loss resulted from excluded damage, replacement shall be paid for as additional 
work. Before replacement, Proposer shall submit a quote for replacement, as outlined in the 
Schedule and Frequency section of these specifications, within two (2) weeks of the discovery 
of the loss.  Replacement sod shall be similar in all respects to the existing grass.  Do not seed 
dead lawn areas. Sod must be used for replacement, unless directed, in writing, by the City's 
authorized representative. 
 

10. Thatching:  Proposer shall be required at the sole direction and authorization of the City to 
thatch all lawn areas covered under this Solicitation one time per year in the spring.  Any 
thatching performed shall be done in a manner specifically designed for such operation.  



Form GS-2:  Purchase Contract (short form).  Revised December 19, 2014 

 

Proposer shall be responsible for raking, vacuuming, removal, and proper disposal of all thatch 
clipping. 

 
 
WATER APPLICATION AND SCHEDULING 
 

1. Hand-water as needed to supplement natural rainfall and maintain plantings in a healthy, stress-
free condition.  It is Proposer's responsibility to make sure that plants receive adequate water 
regardless of weather conditions. 
 

2. It is the responsibility of Proposer to conserve water and assure that all watering rules and 
regulations are followed. Proposer shall coordinate with the City's authorized representative to 
establish a mowing and water schedule that coincides with the City’s irrigation water 
ordinances.  Proposer shall pay any penalties, fines, or citations for watering ordinance 
violations. 
 

3. Irrigation shall be made by the use of the permanent irrigation systems. Hand water as needed 
to supplement the permanent system. Failure of the irrigation system to provide full and proper 
coverage shall not relieve the landscape maintenance Proposer of the responsibility to provide 
adequate irrigation.  It is Proposer's responsibility to make sure that the irrigation system is 
maintained and operates properly. 
 

4. Proposer is responsible for the complete operation and maintenance of the irrigation systems. 
Proposer shall examine the irrigation system for damage or malfunction on a weekly basis.  
Proposer shall be responsible for all damages to grass/plants from the lack of watering from a 
malfunctioning system that should have been caught during routine inspections. 
 

5. Proposer shall adjust watering times on a weekly basis to ensure adequate irrigation.  Do not 
over-water plantings. Use multiple-start times and short-run times to prevent run-off if controller 
is capable.  Drip systems should be left on for sufficient time to allow for saturation of the root 
zone. Shorter runs with drip irrigation do not provide sufficient water penetration for healthy root 
development.  Avoid multiple-start times with drip systems if possible.  Do not allow run-off from 
any irrigation. 
 

6. When breakdowns or malfunctions exist, Proposer shall hand-water, if necessary, to maintain all 
plant material in a healthy condition. If the irrigation repairs are major, Proposer shall report 
damage or malfunction to the City's authorized representative in writing.  Do not wait for 
approval to begin hand-watering if it is required to save the plantings. 

 

 

IRRIGATION SYSTEM SCHEDULED MAINTENANCE 
 

1. Each valve zone shall be monitored on a weekly basis during the irrigation season for signs of 
damage. 
 

2. The landscape maintenance Proposer shall maintain the irrigation system, including cleaning of 
filter screens, yearly or more often as needed, and flushing pipes. 
 

3. The landscape maintenance Proposer shall flush drip irrigation systems to remove sediment on 
a periodic basis, or when flushing is necessary.  Drip systems shall be flushed at least once a 



Form GS-2:  Purchase Contract (short form).  Revised December 19, 2014 

 

year. When flushing, the ends of the drip lines should be opened and run for at least 10 minutes 
at full flow to flush.  It may be necessary to install flush outlets in order to flush the drip system. 
 

4. Run-off of water from irrigation systems into or onto streets, sidewalks, stairs, or gutters is not 
permitted.  Proposer shall immediately shut down the irrigation system and make adjustments, 
repairs, or replacements as soon as possible to correct the source of the run-off. 

 
 
IRRIGATION SYSTEM REPAIR 
 

1. The landscape maintenance Proposer shall replace or repair, at the landscape maintenance 
Proposer's expense, any damaged irrigation components, unless due to excluded damage.  
Repair shall be made within one (1) week of the day the damage occurred.  If the damage was 
due to excluded damage, the irrigation repairs shall be paid for as additional work.  Before 
replacement, Proposer shall submit a quote for replacement, as outlined in Schedule and 
Frequency section of these specifications, within one (1) week of the discovery of the damage. 
Regardless of the cause of damage, Proposer shall take immediate action to prevent further 
damage by shutting off the damaged part of the irrigation system and commencing with hand-
watering as needed. Proposer shall make repairs as soon as possible after receiving written 
authorization to proceed.  The following items are considered to be repairs: damaged heads, 
valves, wiring, broken irrigation lines, or missing drip emitters. 
 

2. Any replacement of irrigation system components shall be made with materials of the same 
manufacturer and model as the original equipment.  Substitutions of materials other than 
original equipment shall be approved only when the original equipment has been discontinued 
and is no longer available for purchase at any location.  The substituted equipment shall be 
completely compatible with the original and shall be approved in advance by the City's 
authorized representative. 
 

3. All repairs to the system shall be identical to the original installation, unless approved otherwise 
in advance by the City's authorized representative.  If a change to the installation may result in 
lower future maintenance costs, less frequent breakage, or an increase in public safety, 
Proposer shall request authorization to make the change from the City's authorized 
representative. 
 

4. For safety, never install sprinklers on risers above the ground level, even if the risers are 
flexible. Always use spring-operated, pop-up type sprinkler heads.  Sprinkler heads are 
available with pop-up heights up to 12 inches above ground level.  If the existing sprinklers are 
mounted on aboveground risers, the replacements shall be pop-up type sprinklers. 
 

5. If any existing sprinklers at the sites identified in this Solicitation are installed on risers above the 
ground level, submit a quote for additional work to the City's authorized representative covering 
the cost of removal and replacement of these sprinklers with new, spring-loaded, pop-up type 
sprinklers.  Submit the quote within two (2) weeks of being awarded a contract as a result of this 
Solicitation. 
 

6. Proposer shall check the entire irrigation system weekly for items such as dry spots and missing 
or malfunctioning irrigation components.  Check for leaking valves, water running across 
sidewalks, water standing in puddles, or any other condition that hampers the correct operation 
of the system or may be a safety concern.  Proposer shall carefully observe plant materials for 
signs of wilting or any other condition that indicates a lack of water.  Plants that die due to 



Form GS-2:  Purchase Contract (short form).  Revised December 19, 2014 

 

irrigation failure shall be considered to have died due to Proposer's negligence and shall be 
replaced at Proposer's expense. 
 

7. Plastic sprinkler nozzles with bad patterns shall be replaced with new nozzles of the same 
gallon age and arc as part of the regular maintenance of the sprinkler system.  Do not attempt to 
clean plastic nozzles by sticking knife blades or wire into the openings.  The plastic may be 
scratched and the pattern ruined.  Brass nozzles may be carefully cleaned if needed. 
 

 
CLEAN UP AND LITTER REMOVAL 
 

1. Sweep or blow-off all walks, curbs, and gutters weekly. 
 

2. Do not sweep or blow trash, leaves, clippings, or landscape debris into planters or onto adjacent 
property.  Collect all debris swept or blown from landscape areas and remove from the site. 
 

3. Do not use blowers around parked vehicles to avoid scratching vehicle paint with blowing sand 
and debris.  Blowers may not be used where prohibited by law. All litter shall be removed from 
sidewalks, gutters, and all planted areas on a weekly basis. In no case shall trash, litter, or 
leaves be blown or swept onto the property of others.  All trash, litter, leaves, etc. shall be 
collected, hauled away, and disposed of in a legal manner. 
 

4. In addition to removing all litter from sidewalks, gutters, and planted areas, Proposer shall 
remove and dispose of any large miscellaneous debris or trash in the parking lot. For the 
purpose of any contract awarded as a result of this Solicitation, "large" shall mean items the size 
of a small beverage cap or cigarette butt.  The intent of this requirement is that Proposer's 
workers should take sufficient pride in the appearance of the site and pick up any significant 
litter they come across at the site.  Sweeping of the parking lots is included in the landscape 
maintenance.  All litter shall be removed from planter areas, parking lots, and sidewalks 
regardless of the size of the litter. 

 
SNOW REMOVAL 
 

1. The Proposer shall have a minimum five (5) years’ experience providing snow removal services. 
 

2. Proposer is responsible for clearing snow and ice from sidewalks, parking lots, door entrances, 
emergency door exits, patios, plaza, snow against windows and all concrete and asphalt 
pavement areas at the sites identified in this Solicitation. 

 
3. Parking lots shall be plowed when there is over 3” of snowfall. 

 
4. Sidewalks shall be shoveled when there is ½” or more snowfall and de-iced as needed to 

provide safe walking conditions. 
 

5. Proposer and City will work together to establish a schedule and guidelines to meet the 
requirements of snow removal depending on the nature of the snowstorm.  Proposer shall keep 
owner informed and updated on work progress/so additional equipment is not needed..  
Examples:  Snow shall be removed off sidewalks and parking lots by the beginning of business 
hours (7am) during the weekdays and throughout the day until the business is closed (6pm).  
Weekend snow shall be removed when the snowfall has completed and depending on the 
amount of snowfall.  After 6pm, the snow removal may begin in the early morning hours before 



Form GS-2:  Purchase Contract (short form).  Revised December 19, 2014 

 

business opens.  Work may be continuous or intermittent depending upon the nature of the 
storm. 
 

6. Be very careful of curbs and landscaping when shoveling or plowing snow. 
 

7. Proposer may encounter some difficulties with parked cars or equipment. 
 

8. Proposer shall take all precautions when applying ice melt or any chemical deicers to treated 
areas.  Proposer shall follow the recommendations of the manufacturer and all applicable 
governmental and industry regulations when applying ice melt or any chemical deicers. 
 

9. Proposer shall comply with all City Sidewalk Snow Ordinances. 

 
HERBICIDES AND/OR PESTICIDE - USGS, NACET, FLAGSTAFF VISITOR’S CENTER, 
ACCELERATOR BBB SITE   
 

1. Proposer shall not apply any herbicides and/or pesticides without the prior approval of the City's 
authorized representative. Proposer shall supply the Safety Data Sheets (S.D.S.) in accordance 
with Federal requirements before any product can be applied on the premises.  
 

2. All herbicides and pesticides shall be used in accordance with label directions and the 
manufacturer’s recommended handling methods.  All herbicides and pesticides shall be handled 
in accordance with all applicable regulations.  Registered herbicides and pesticides shall be 
used only on the advice of a qualified and licensed (if required) pest control advisor.  Nothing in 
this specification shall be construed to be the advice of, or to substitute for the advice of, a pest 
control advisor. 
 

3. Pesticides shall not be applied within one (1) hour of the start of operating hours for businesses 
at the site.  In the event that it is not possible to complete the application by one (1) hour prior to 
business hours (e.g., 24 hour operations), applications shall be made at times when customer 
presence is minimal.  Pesticides shall be used as a last resort. 
 

4. Proposer shall take precautions to keep persons away from pesticide and herbicide-treated 
areas until the applied material is fully dry and the treated area is safe for entry.  Proposer shall 
follow the recommendations of the pesticide manufacturer and all applicable governmental and 
industry regulations. 

 
 HERBICIDES, PESTICIDES FOR SITES REFERENCED BELOW 

 
A. Woodlands Median   20,534 Square Feet 
B. Beulah Median    15,915 Square Feet 
C. North Hwy 89 Medians   67,905 Square Feet 
D. East Flagstaff Traffic Interchange 
Medians     39,803 Square Feet 
E. Lone  Tree Median    17,750 Square Feet 
F. Butler Medians    20,762 Square Feet 
 

a. Areas, as identified above, will receive a total of two (2) pre-emergent herbicide 
applications at the end of the correlating month (March, October). 

 



Form GS-2:  Purchase Contract (short form).  Revised December 19, 2014 

 

b. Areas, as identified in above, will receive a total of seven (7) post emergent applications 
at the beginning of the month (April thru October). 



Form GS-2:  Purchase Contract (short form).  Revised December 19, 2014 

 

SCOPE OF WORK/SPECIFICATIONS  
 

LANDSCAPE MAINTENANCE AND SNOW REMOVAL AREAS BY LOCATION 
 
Scope:  The City is soliciting bids to secure the services of a qualified Proposer to provide landscape 
maintenance and snow removal services for the following areas located at the United Geological 
Survey (USGS) facility site, Northern Arizona Center for Entrepreneurship and Technology (NACET), 
the Flagstaff Visitor’s Center, and the Accelerator BBB site 
 
USGS Building 3 Areas 

A. Parking Lot -   69,714 Square Feet 
B. Sidewalks -       1,615 Square Feet 
C. Planters/Natural Areas -  30,692 Square Feet 
D. East Atrium Planter # 1 -          648 Square Feet 
E. East Atrium Sidewalks # 1 -           974 Square Feet  
F. West Atrium Planter # 2 -           782 Square Feet 
G. West Atrium Sidewalks # 2 -           895 Square Feet  
 
 

USGS Building 4 Areas 
A. Parking Lot -   40,732 Square Feet 
B. Sidewalks -        3,520 Square Feet 
C. Planters/Natural Areas  42,020 Square Feet 
D. Turf Area  -   13,240 Square Feet 

 
 
USGS Building 5 Areas 

A. Parking Lot -   41,331 Square Feet 
B.  Natural Areas -      9,080 Square Feet 

 
 
USGS Building 6 Areas 
      A.  Parking Lot -    46,323 Square Feet 
      B.  Sidewalks -       7,710 Square Feet 
      C.  Planters -       6,575 Square Feet 

D.  Natural Areas -   61,487 Square Feet 
E.  Turf Areas -   13,240 Square Feet 

 
 
NACET Building Areas 
      A.  Parking Lot -    29,800 Square Feet 
      B.  Sidewalks -       3,700 Square Feet 
      C.  Natural Areas/Landscape Areas - 34,808 Square Feet 
 
 
Visitors Center Site 
      A.  Parking Lot -    30,880 Square Feet 
      B.  Sidewalks -     10,450 Square Feet 
      C.  Landscape Area   -     13,820 Square Feet 
Accelerator BBB 



Form GS-2:  Purchase Contract (short form).  Revised December 19, 2014 

 

A. Parking Lot   -   35,950 Square Feet 
B. Sidewalks -   10,450 Square Feet 
C. Natural Areas -   66,000 Square Feet 
D. Mulch/Hardscape Areas -  44,900 Square Feet 

 
Areas listed below will receive Herbicide applications only. 
 

A. Woodlands Median   20,534 Square Feet 
B. Beulah Median    15,915 Square Feet 
C. North Hwy 89 Medians  67,905 Square Feet 
D. East Flagstaff Traffic Interchange 

Medians    39,803 Square Feet 
E. Lone  Tree Median   17,750 Square Feet 
F. Butler Medians    20,762 Square Feet 
 

 Areas will receive a total of two (2) pre-emergent herbicide applications at the end of the 

correlating month (March, October). 

  Areas will received a total of seven (7) post emergent applications at the beginning of the 

month (April thru October) 

 
 
 



Form GS-2:  Purchase Contract (short form).  Revised December 19, 2014 

 

SCHEDULE:   

REGULAR LANDSCAPE MAINTENANCE 

Weekly:         April 1st to October 31st. 

Bi-Weekly:     November 1st to March 31st.  

 
1. Mow and edge lawns during the growing season. All turf shall be mowed no less than 

once a week. (26 - 30 mowing’s per season).  

2. Prune back any shrubs/groundcover hanging over curbs or sidewalks.  

3. Remove litter and leaves from plants, planters, and parking lots.  

4. Remove any broken or fallen branches from trees. Remove sucker growth from tree 
trunks.  

5. Remove any weeds from planters. In natural areas, landscape, hydro seeded areas, 
remove weeds larger than 12 inches high or wide.  Note:  All grasses and flowers shall 
be left to avoid soil erosions, unless instructed for removal.  All noxious weeds shall be 
removed.  

6. Replace bark mulch that has been knocked or washed out of planters.  Smooth mulch 
layer if it has been disturbed.  

7. Replace decorative rock that has been knocked or washed out of planters.  Smooth 
decorative rock surface if it has been disturbed.  

8. Check plants for signs of stress or disease.  Replace any plants that meet conditions for 
replacement.  Proposer shall request authorization in writing prior to replacing any dead 
or missing plants and trees.  

  Sweep or blow clean all walkways, curbs, and gutters.  
9. Treat plants, trees, and turf for any signs of disease or pest infestation.  

10. Complete any items required on the Monthly Checklist (referenced on following page).  

11. Hand-water any plants that are dry and stressed.  

12. Check the irrigation system and make all repairs as needed.   

13. Irrigation timers shall be set and irrigation controllers adjusted for current water 
requirements of plants, trees, and turf. 

 

 

NOTE: REPLACEMENT OF PLANTS, TREES, SOD, MULCH/DECORATIVE ROCK, AND 

GROUNDCOVER SHALL INCLUDE A COST OF TIME AND LABOR INCLUSIVE OF HOURLY 

RATES.  APPROVAL OF BILLABLE WORK IS TO BE OBTAINED BEFORE WORK BEGINS. 



Form GS-2:  Purchase Contract (short form).  Revised December 19, 2014 

 

SCOPE OF WORK/SPECIFICATIONS  
 

TENTATIVE MONTHLY MAINTENANCE CHECKLIST 
 

Proposer shall complete all the applicable items listed for the current month prior to the end of the 
month, dependent on weather conditions. 
 
January: Dependent on weather conditions 
  
February: Dependent on weather conditions 
 
March:  Dependent on weather conditions 
 
April:      

1. Charge irrigation system for upcoming season depending on day and night time 
temperatures. Make sure backflow preventer is tested by the City prior to operation.  Keep 
backflow preventer insulated to prevent freezing and damage due to cold nighttime 
temperatures.  Flush out irrigation systems as needed and check for proper operation of 
each valve zone. 

 

2. Remove and clean wye filter screens.  
 

3. Clean or replace plugged sprinkler nozzles.  Replace plugged drip emitters.  
 

4. Replace irrigation controller program back-up batteries. 
 

5. Start irrigation watering as needed depending on weather conditions. 
 
May: 

1. Apply fertilizer to all landscape plants, shrubs, trees, and turf areas.  The May fertilization of 
shrubs/groundcover areas may be deleted when the plants reach maturity or completely fill 
the planters without space between them. 

 

2. Submit receipts to City's authorized representative as proof of fertilizer purchase. 
 

3. Clean all tree and shrub wells to hold water.  Inspect all drip lines within well areas and 
when necessary bury to at least two (2) inches in-depth. 

 

4. Prune spring & winter-flowering shrubs as needed to maintain proper shape. 
 
June:  

1. Add new mulch to planters where the mulch depth has been reduced to less than 2 inches. 
Mulch shall not be required where shrubs or groundcover completely hide the soil surface 
from view. 

 



Form GS-2:  Purchase Contract (short form).  Revised December 19, 2014 

 

2. Plant annual color for spring/summer bloom.  
 
July:   

1. Apply fertilizer to all turf areas.  
 
August: 

1. No additional items. 

 
September:    

1. The September fertilization shall consist of a winter root fertilizer to promote healthy strong 
roots to the turf areas for the upcoming winter. 

 
October:  

1. Prepare irrigation system for winter depending on day and nighttime temperatures. Make 
sure backflow preventer is well insulated or drained prior to first freeze.  Blow out pipes 
using compressed air in areas where freezing could result in breakage.  

 
2. All native grasses and flowering plants (excluding shrubs) shall be mowed to a four (4) to six 

(6) inch height, eliminating all dead flowering stalks and seed heads while leaving the main 
plant intact. 

 
November:  

1. Prune any tree branches that interfere with public safety.  Prune all parking lot and street 
trees yearly to encourage strong upward growth. 

 
2. Prune summer and fall-blooming shrubs as needed to maintain proper shape. 
 
3. Mow all natural areas to three to four inches in height after all grasses and flowers have 

seeded. 
 
December:  

  Dependent on weather conditions 
 
 
 











Evaluation Criterion #1-- (100 Points) Experience and Qualifications of Company and Key Personnel
Morning Dew Landscaping The Groundskeeper WCD Enterprises

Evaluator #1 100 80 0
Evaluator #2 100 80 60
Evaluator #3 80 60 40
Subtotal: 280 220 100
Criteria Ranking: 1 2 3

Evaluation Criterion #2-- (50 Points) Compliance with Scope of Work/Specifications
Morning Dew Landscaping The Groundskeeper WCD Enterprises

Evaluator #1 50 40 30
Evaluator #2 50 30 30
Evaluator #3 50 0 0
Subtotal: 150 70 60
Criteria Ranking: 1 2 3

Evaluation Criterion #3-- (100 Points) Equipment and Manpower
Morning Dew Landscaping The Groundskeeper WCD Enterprises

Evaluator #1 100 60 40
Evaluator #2 100 60 40
Evaluator #3 80 60 100
Subtotal: 280 180 180
Criteria Ranking: 1 2 2

Evaluation Criterion #4-- (100 Points) Proposer's References
Morning Dew Landscaping The Groundskeeper WCD Enterprises

Evaluator #1 80 80 40
Evaluator #2 100 100 60
Evaluator #3 60 80 40
Subtotal: 240 260 140
Criteria Ranking: 2 1 3

Evaluation Criterion #5-- (75 Points) Certifications
Morning Dew Landscaping The Groundskeeper WCD Enterprises

Evaluator #1 75 60 0
Evaluator #2 60 45 0
Evaluator #3 60 45 30
Subtotal: 195 150 30
Criteria Ranking: 1 2 3

Evaluation Criterion #6-- (125 Points) Fee and Price Schedule
Morning Dew Landscaping The Groundskeeper WCD Enterprises

Evaluator #1 100 100 75
Evaluator #2 75 75 75
Evaluator #3 75 125 100
Subtotal: 250 300 250
Criteria Ranking: 2 1 2

TOTAL: 1395 1180 760
Criteria Ranking: 1 2 3

CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
PURCHASING DIVISION

LANDSCAPE MAINTENANCE SERVICES
RFP 2016-09

SCORING TABULATION



Consultant Name Total
Moss Adams #REF!

The Azimuth Group #REF!
Plante Moran #REF!
Pacific Technologies, inc. 1395

Management Partners 760
EGOV Consulting #REF!
Matrix Consulting #REF!
MSS Technologies #REF!

Reliable Resources #REF!
MTG Mgnt Consultants #REF!

Data Site Consortium #REF!
Vantage Tech Consulting Grp #REF!



  9. D.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT

To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Adam Miele, Senior Project Manager

Date: 03/16/2016

Meeting Date: 03/22/2016

TITLE: 
Consideration and Approval of Contract:  Street Maintenance 2016 improvements - Construction
Phase 1. (MOVED FROM THE ROUTINE AGENDA)*

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
1)  Approve the Construction Manager at Risk Contract with C and E Paving and Grading, LLC in
an amount not to exceed $ 2,838,240.00 for Guaranteed Maximum Price (GMP) # 1. Authorize staff
to perform asphalt surface treatments of Pulliam Drive at Pulliam Airport not to exceed
$200,000.00.
2) Authorize Change Order Authority of 10% each for GMP # 1 in the amount of $ 283,824.00, to
cover potential costs associated with unanticipated or additional items of work.
3) Authorize the City Manager to execute the necessary documents.

Executive Summary:
In awarding the Construction Manager at Risk contract, Council will demonstrate a commitment to
maintaining City infrastructure through the annual budgeting process as well as improving infrastructure
through the first project utilizing funding approved by the voters for the Road Repair and Street Safety
Initiative.

Financial Impact:
Funding for GMP # 1 is to be provided by the 2014 voter approved sales tax increase in account
046-06-163-3321-6. Funding for the Pulliam Dr. improvements is to be provided by the 2014 voter
approved sales tax increase in account 046-05-116-3330-6.

Connection to Council Goal and/or Regional Plan:
3) Provide sustainable and equitable public facilities, services, and infrastructure systems in an efficient
and effective manner to serve all population areas and demographics.

Has There Been Previous Council Decision on This:
Yes. Council previously approved the design phase services contract (Plateau Engineering, Inc.) on
January 19, 2016.

Options and Alternatives:
1) Approve the CM @ Risk Construction Phase Services Agreement and authorize staff perform asphalt



1) Approve the CM @ Risk Construction Phase Services Agreement and authorize staff perform asphalt
surface treatments on Pulliam Dr. as presented.
2) Reject the Agreement and direct staff to pursue traditional design-bid-build project delivery. This would
negatively delay progress on the project by three months. 

Background/History:
The City has established an annual program to maintain existing street pavements. This year, the
program provides three major services: non-structural upgrades by overlay, ADA compliance and chip
sealing.

The overlay streets are selected after evaluation of the street condition using pavement management
software owned by the City. One half of the City street pavements are evaluated and ranked each year.
Each street pavement is assigned an overall condition index (OCI) based on the type and severity of the
distress observed. A pavement that has no distress is given an OCI of 100. Each pavement distress such
as cracking or roughness reduces the street’s OCI. The street pavements are ranked by OCI and the
pavements exhibiting the most severe distress are programmed for resurfacing with asphaltic concrete
overlays as budget allows.

In recent years, the Arizona State Legislature has authorized the use of Alternative Project Delivery
Methods (APDM) in lieu of the traditional Design-Bid-Build method of project delivery. These alternative
methods allow a contracting agency the opportunity to select a construction team utilizing a Qualifications
Based Selection process to procure construction services from a firm deemed most qualified to perform
the work. The enabling legislation also allows for provision of multiple Guaranteed Maximum Prices
under a single procurement.

On August 31, 2014, a Request for Statements of Qualifications for Construction Manager at Risk
services was published in the Arizona Daily Sun and posted on the City’s Purchasing web site. On
September 23, 2014, the City of Flagstaff received five Statements of Qualifications from firms wishing to
provide CM at Risk services for the project. A selection committee of five members independently
reviewed and evaluated those statements in accordance with guidelines established by the enabling
legislation. Based on numerical evaluation of the statements received, the firm of C and E Paving and
Grading, LLC received the highest ranking and was deemed the most qualified among those submitting
proposals to provide the desired design phase services.

On November 18, 2014, Council approved award of the Design Phase Services Contract for the 2015,
2016 and 2017 programs to C and E Paving and Grading, LLC. in the amount of $ 112,821.00. Design
phase services including program and budget evaluation, project scheduling, design document reviews,
constructability reviews, detailed cost estimating, and preparation of final construction documents have
now been completed. Based upon the Design Phase Services, C and E Paving and Grading, LLC has
provided a Guaranteed Maximum Price (GMP) to complete construction of the annual improvement
project. The GMP will include costs for construction, a CM @ Risk contingency, construction fee, costs
for General Conditions including bonds and insurance, and sales taxes.

Key Considerations:
The goal of the Street Maintenance Program is to use the available funds in the most efficient manner to
lengthen the service life of the City street pavements and avoid costly pavement reconstruction. The ADA
improvements provide improved access for disabled citizens and visitors along existing streets and
provide compliance with Federal requirements. Chip seal work provides a cost effective pavement
preservation treatment to maintain newer pavements in a good condition.

Expanded Financial Considerations:
Funding for the overlay portion of the Street Maintenance Program is to be provided by the 2014 voter



Funding for the overlay portion of the Street Maintenance Program is to be provided by the 2014 voter
approved sales tax increase. The contract includes an owner’s contingency of $ 50,000.00 and $
50,000.00 to cover the potential cost of unanticipated or additional work which may be required during
construction.

FLAGSTAFF STREET MAINTENANCE PROGRAM 2016 FUNDING SUMMARY

ACCOUNT NUMBER       DESCRIPTION                           BUDGET
046-06-163-3321-6     Pavement Overlay (GMP #1)     $ 3,109,953
046-05-116-3330-6     Pulliam Dr. Overlay                    $     200,000

Community Benefits and Considerations:
The Street Maintenance Program provides surface treatments as required to preserve and maintain
pavement condition on the 664 lane miles of asphalt City streets. The ADA improvements provide
improved access for disabled citizens and visitors along existing streets and provide compliance with
Federal requirements.

The previous council approved Street Maintenance programs in the 2015 and 2016 ($3 million of the $6
million budgeted from the 2014 voter approved sales tax increase) fiscal year projects were a great
success. These projects were completed with $6.3 million dollars utilizing 2014 voter approved sales tax
funds (34 streets or 30 lane miles of overlay and 1 streets or 1.2 miles of repaving). In addition to the
sales tax funds, $2.8 million dollars in HURF funds (123 streets or 94.7 lane miles in chip sealing).

Use of the Construction Manager at Risk method of project delivery will eliminate the need for an
advertisement/bid/award process and will cut approximately two months off the project development
schedule. In addition, value engineering, constructability reviews and design input conducted as part of
this service agreement have the potential to realize significant construction cost savings over the
traditional design-bid-build delivery method.

Community Involvement:
Inform - The Public Works Division will prepare weekly news releases that are distributed to the local
media outlets describing the location of the street construction and any traffic restrictions planned for the
week. The contractor distributes written notices to all the adjacent businesses and residents in advance
of the construction. 

Expanded Options and Alternatives:
1. Approve the CM @ Risk Construction Phase Services Agreement as presented.
2. Reject approval of the Agreement and direct staff to pursue traditional design-bid-build project delivery.
This would effectively delay progress on the project by three months.

Attachments:  CMAR Contract
Phase 1 COF GMP 2016
Clarifications and Assumptions
Overlay Street List
Overlay Key Map



   

 
 

City of Flagstaff, Arizona 
 
 

 
 

Street Maintenance Program 2015, 2016, 2017 
 

CONSTRUCTION MANAGER AT RISK 
 

CONSTRUCTION SERVICES 
 

PROJECT NO.  01-16001  
 

Agreement No. 2015-08 
 

GMP Agreement Number: One  
 
 

MAYOR 
GERALD W. NABOURS 

 
 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

KARLA BREWSTER CELIA BAROTZ 
SCOTT OVERTON JEFF ORAVITS 
CORAL EVANS EVA PUTZOVA 

 
CITY MANAGEMENT 

 
City Manager 
Josh Copley 

 
Community Development Director 

Mark G. Landsiedel 
 

 

Utilities Director 
Brad Hill 

 
Public Works Director 

Andy Bertelsen 

  

  

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 



PROJECT NO. 01-16001  Street Maintenance Program 2015, 2016, 2017 

GMP Agreement One  

ii 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
 
 PAGE 

RECITALS ....................................................................................................................... 1 

ARTICLE 1 - DEFINITIONS ............................................................................................ 1 

ARTICLE 2 – CM@RISK’S SERVICES AND RESPONSIBILITIES ................................ 5 

ARTICLE 3 - CITY’S SERVICES AND RESPONSIBILITIES ........................................ 12 

ARTICLE 4 - CONTRACT TIME ................................................................................... 14 

ARTICLE 5 - CONTRACT PRICE ................................................................................. 18 

ARTICLE 6 - CHANGES TO THE CONTRACT PRICE AND TIME .............................. 19 

ARTICLE 7 - PROCEDURE FOR PAYMENT ............................................................... 22 

ARTICLE 8 – CLAIMS AND DISPUTES ....................................................................... 25 

ARTICLE 9 – SUSPENSION AND TERMINATION ...................................................... 27 

ARTICLE 10 - INSURANCE AND BONDS .................................................................... 29 

ARTICLE 11 - INDEMNIFICATION ............................................................................... 32 

ARTICLE 12 - GENERAL PROVISIONS ....................................................................... 33 

SIGNATURE PAGE ...................................................................................................... 39 

EXHIBIT A – PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

EXHIBIT B – APPROVED GMP PROPOSALS 

EXHIBIT C – REVISIONS OF MAG STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS 

EXHIBIT D – SPECIAL PROVISIONS 

 

 

 



 

 
 PROJECT NO. 01-16001   Street Maintenance Program 2015, 2016, 2017 

GMP Agreement One                                                                                                                        PAGE 1 

CITY OF FLAGSTAFF, ARIZONA 
 

Street Maintenance Program 2015, 2016, 2017  

CONSTRUCTION MANAGER AT RISK 

CONSTRUCTION SERVICES AGREEMENT 
 

PROJECT No. 01-16001; Agreement No. 2015-08 
 
This Construction Services Agreement (“Agreement”), is made and entered into by and between the City 
of Flagstaff, an Arizona municipal corporation (“City”), and C and E Paving and Grading, LLC. 
("Construction Manager at Risk" or CM@Risk”) on this ___ day of __________, 20__. 

 

RECITALS 
 
A. The City is authorized and empowered by provisions of the City Charter to execute agreements 

for construction services. 
 
B. The City intends to construct the Street Maintenance Program 2015, 2016, and 2017 projects as 

more fully described in Exhibit “A” attached (“Project”).  

 
C. To undertake the construction administration of the Project the City has entered into a separate 

agreement with Plateau Engineering, Inc. (“Design Professional.”) 
 
D. CM@Risk has represented to the City that it has the ability to provide construction services for 

the Project, and based on this representation, the City hereby engages CM@Risk to provide 
these services and construct the Project. 

 
E. Agreement # 2015-08 has been executed previously between the City and CM@Risk to perform 

design phase services for the Project.  Those services may continue during the duration of this 
Agreement. 
 

NOW THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the mutual covenants and considerations hereinafter 
contained, it is agreed by and between the City and CM@Risk as follows: 

 
 Article 1 - Definitions      
 
“Agreement” - This written document signed by the City and CM@Risk covering the construction phase 
of the Project, and including other documents itemized and referenced in, or attached to, and made part 
of this Agreement. 
 
“Change Directive” - A written order prepared and signed by the City, directing a change in the Work prior 
to agreement on an adjustment in the Contract Price and the Contract Time. 
 
“Change Order” - A type of Contract amendment issued after execution of the Contract Documents or 
future GMP Amendments signed by the City and CM@Risk, agreeing to changes to a GMP, for 
substantial unanticipated alterations in the character of Work.  The Change Order shall state the 
following: the addition, deletion or revision in the scope of Work; the amount of the adjustment to the 
Contract Price; and the extent of the adjustment to the Contract Times or other modifications to 
Agreement terms. 
 



 

 
 PROJECT NO. 01-16001   Street Maintenance Program 2015, 2016, 2017 

GMP Agreement One                                                                                                                        PAGE 2 

“The City (“Owner” or “OWNER”) - The City of Flagstaff, a municipal corporation, with whom CM@Risk 
has entered into this Agreement and for whom the services are to be provided pursuant to said Contact.  
Regulatory activities handled by the City of Flagstaff Community Development, Fire and Planning 
Departments or any other City Department are not subject to the responsibilities of the City under this 
Agreement.  
 
“City’s Representative” - The person designated in Subsection 8.3.1.2.  
 
"City’s Senior Representative"  - The person designated in Subsection 8.3.1.1.  
 
“CM@Risk” - The firm selected by the City to provide construction services as detailed in this Agreement. 
 
“CM@Risk’s Contingency”  - A fund to cover cost growth during the Project used at the discretion of 
CM@Risk usually for costs that result from Project circumstances.  The amount of CM@Risk’s 
Contingency shall be negotiated as a separate line item in each GMP package.  Use and management of 
CM@Risk’s Contingency is described in Subsection 5.3.1. 
 
“CM@Risk’s Representative”  - The person designated in Subsection 8.3.2.2. 
 
"CM@Risk’s Senior Representative" - The person designated in Subsection 8.3.2.1. 
 
“Construction Documents” - Certain plans, specifications and drawings prepared by the Design 
Professional after correcting for permit review requirements or dated plans and specifications specifically 
identified as the “Construction Documents” herein or in an Exhibit or Addendum which is attached hereto.  
 
“Construction Fee” - CM@Risk’s administrative costs, home office overhead, and profit as applicable to 
this Project whether at CM@Risk’s principal or branch offices.  
  
“Contract Documents” - The following items and documents in descending order of precedence executed 
by the City and CM@Risk:  (i) all written modifications, amendments and Change Orders; (ii) this 
Agreement, including all exhibits and attachments; (iii) Construction Documents; (iv) GMP Plans and 
Specifications. 
 
“Contract Price” - The amount or amounts set forth in Article 5. 
 
“Contract Time” - The days, as set forth in Article 4, the period of time, including authorized adjustments, 
allotted in the Contract Documents for Substantial Completion of the Work, subject to Winter Shutdown. 
 
“Cost of the Work” - The direct costs necessarily incurred by CM@Risk in the proper performance of the 
Work.  The Cost of the Work shall include direct labor costs, subcontract costs, costs of materials and 
equipment incorporated in the completed construction, costs of other materials and equipment, temporary 
facilities, permit and license fees, materials testing, and related items.  The Cost of the Work shall not 
include CM@Risk’s Construction Fee, General Conditions Costs, and taxes. 
 
“Critical Path Method” - A scheduling technique used to predict project duration by analyzing which 
sequence of activities has the least amount of scheduling flexibility thus identifying the path (sequence) of 
activities which represent the longest total time required to complete the Project.  Delay in completion of 
the identified activities shall cause a delay in achieving Substantial Completion. 
 
“Day(s)” - Calendar days unless otherwise specifically noted in the Contract Documents. 
 



 

 
 PROJECT NO. 01-16001   Street Maintenance Program 2015, 2016, 2017 

GMP Agreement One                                                                                                                        PAGE 3 

“Design Phase Contract” - The agreement between the City and CM@Risk for Services provided by 
CM@Risk during the design phase which may include the following:  design recommendations, Project 
scheduling, constructability reviews, alternate systems evaluation, cost estimate, Minority Business 
Enterprise/Woman’s Business Enterprise/Small Business Enterprise (“MBE/WBE/SBE”) utilization, 
subcontractor bid phase services, GMP preparation and other services set forth in this Agreement or 
reasonably inferable therefrom. 
 
“Design Professional” - A qualified, licensed design professional who furnishes, design, construction 
documents, and/or construction administration services required for the Project. 
 
“Differing Site Conditions” - Concealed or latent physical conditions or subsurface conditions at the Site 
that, (i) materially differ from the conditions indicated in the Contract Documents or (ii) are of an unusual 
nature, differing materially from the conditions ordinarily encountered and generally recognized as 
inherent in the Work. 
 
 “Final Completion” - 100% completion of all construction Work noted in or reasonably inferred from the 
Contract Documents, including but not limited to all Punch Lists work, all record and close-out documents 
specified in Owner’s Project specifications and Owner training/start up activities. 
 
“Float” - The number of Days by which an activity can be delayed without lengthening the Critical Path and 
extending the Substantial Completion date.   
 
“General Conditions Costs” - Includes, but is not limited to the following types of costs for CM@Risk 
during the construction phase: (i) payroll costs for Project manager or CM@Risk for work conducted at 
the Site, (ii) payroll costs for the superintendent and full-time general foremen, (iii) payroll costs for other 
management personnel resident and working at the Site, (iv) workers not included as direct labor costs 
engaged in support (e.g. loading/unloading, clean-up, etc.), (v) costs of offices and temporary facilities 
setup solely for this Project including office materials, office supplies, office equipment and minor 
expenses, (vi) cost of utilities, fuel, sanitary facilities and telephone services at the Site, (vii) costs of 
liability and other applicable insurance premiums not included in labor burdens for direct labor costs, (viii) 
costs of bond premiums, (ix) costs of consultants not in the direct employ of CM@Risk or Subcontractors. 
 
“Guaranteed Maximum Price” or “GMP” - The sum of the maximum Cost of the Work; the Construction 
Fee; General Conditions Costs, taxes, and CM@Risk’s Contingency. 
 
“GMP Plans and Specifications” - The plans and specifications upon which the Guaranteed Maximum 
Price proposal is based. 
 
“Legal Requirements” - All applicable federal, state and local laws, codes, ordinances, rules, regulations, 
orders and decrees of any government or quasi-government entity having jurisdiction over the Project or 
Site, the practices involved in the Project or Site, or any Work. 
 
“Notice to Proceed” or “NTP” - The directive issued by the City, authorizing CM@Risk to start Work. 
 
“Opening Physical Conditions” – The current physical conditions present on the Site as jointly 
documented by an inspection of the Site by City and CM@R at the Pre-construction Conference.  
 
“Owner’s Contingency” - A fund to cover cost growth during the project used at the discretion of the 
Owner usually for costs that result from Owner directed changes or unforeseen Site conditions.  The 
amount of the Owner’s contingency shall be set solely by the Owner and shall be in addition to the Project 
costs included in CM@Risk’s GMP packages.  Use and management of the Owner’s contingency is 
described in Section 5.3.2. 
 



 

 
 PROJECT NO. 01-16001   Street Maintenance Program 2015, 2016, 2017 

GMP Agreement One                                                                                                                        PAGE 4 

“Performance Period” - The period of time allotted in the Contract Documents to complete the Work 
comprised within a GMP.  The Performance Period shall be stated with each GMP and shown on the 
Project Master Schedule. 
 
“Payment Request” - The City form used by CM@Risk to request progress payments for Work in 
accordance with Article 7. 
 
“Pre-construction Conference” – A Conference held between City and CM@Risk prior to the 
commencement of any Work, as scheduled by the City’s Representative or designee.  
“Product Data” - Illustrations, standard schedules, performance charts, instructions, brochures, diagrams 
and other information furnished by CM@Risk to illustrate materials or equipment for some portion of the 
Work. 
 
“Project” - The work to be completed in the execution of this Agreement as amended and as described in 
the Recitals above and in Exhibit “A” attached.  
 
“Project Record Documents” - The documents created pursuant to Section 2.10. 
 
“Samples” - Physical examples, which illustrate materials, equipment or workmanship and establish 
standards by which the Work shall be evaluated. 
 
“Schedule of Values” - A statement furnished by CM@Risk to the City’s Representative for approval, 
reflecting the portions of the GMP allotted for the various parts of the work and used as the basis for 
evaluating CM@Risk’s applications for progress payments. 
 
“Shop Drawings” - Drawings, diagrams, schedules and other data specially prepared for the Work by 
CM@Risk or a Subcontractor, manufacturer, supplier or distributor to illustrate some portion of the Work. 
 
“Site”  - Land or premises on which the Project is located. 
 
“Specifications” - The part(s) of the Contract Documents for the construction phase consisting of written 
technical descriptions of materials, equipment, construction systems, standards and workmanship as 
applied to the Work and certain administrative details applicable thereto. 
 
 “Subcontractor” - An individual or firm having a direct Agreement with CM@Risk or any other individual 
or firm having an Agreement with the aforesaid Contractors at any tier, who undertakes to perform a part 
of the construction phase Work for which CM@Risk is responsible. 
 
“Submittals” - Documents and/or things that may be produced or presented by one party for consideration 
review or such other actions as may be required by this Agreement by another party, entity or person.  
Examples of Submittals include, but are not limited to, preliminary or evolving drafts, product data 
samples, etc. 
 
“Substantial Completion” - The established date when the Work or designated portion thereof is 
sufficiently complete, in accordance with the Contract Documents so that the Owner may occupy the 
Work, or designated portion thereof, for the use for which it is intended.  This may include, but is not 
limited to:  (i) Approval by the City or State Fire Marshall and/or other state or local authorities having 
jurisdiction over the Work or a portion thereof (Certificate of Occupancy); (ii) all systems in place, 
functional, and displayed to, and accepted by, the City or it’s representative; (iii) City operation and 
maintenance training complete; (iv) HVAC test and balance completed with reports provided to the 
Design Professional for review; (v) Operational and Maintenance manuals and final Project Record 
Documents delivered to the City or Design Professional for review.   
 



 

 
 PROJECT NO. 01-16001   Street Maintenance Program 2015, 2016, 2017 

GMP Agreement One                                                                                                                        PAGE 5 

“Supplier” - A manufacturer, fabricator, supplier, distributor, material man or vendor having a direct 
agreement with CM@Risk or any Subcontractor to furnish materials or equipment to be incorporated in the 
construction phase Work by CM@Risk or any Subcontractor. 
 
“Winter Shutdown” – The period of time typically including December through March during which no 
Work will be performed by any person or entity (including but not limited to the CM@Risk) on the Project 
and CM@Risk shall shutdown, properly insulate and shelter the Project in a safe and workmanlike 
manner pursuant to local, state and federal laws.  Although December through March is typically the time 
frame, the City reserves the right to initiate and terminate a Winter Shutdown at the City’s sole discretion 
in the event of adverse weather conditions.  A Winter Shutdown may be declared by the City despite 
delays, for any reason, on the Project. 
 
“Work” - The entire completed construction or the various separately identifiable parts thereof, required to 
be furnished during the construction phase.  Work includes and is the result of performing or furnishing 
labor and furnishing and incorporating materials, resources and equipment into the construction, and 
performing or furnishing services and documents as required by the Contract Documents for the 
construction phase.  
 

 Article 2 - CM@Risk’s Services and Responsibilities    
 
2.0 CM@Risk shall furnish any and all labor, materials, equipment, transportation, utilities, 

services and facilities required to perform all Work for the construction of the Project, and to 
completely and totally construct the same and install the material therein for the City. All Work 
shall be performed in a good and workmanlike and substantial manner and within the care and 
skill of a qualified CM@Risk in Flagstaff, Arizona. The Work shall be to the satisfaction of the 
City and strictly pursuant to and in conformity with the Project’s Contract Documents.  It is not 
required that the services be performed in the sequence in which they are described. 

  
2.1 General Services 
 
2.1.1. CM@Risk’s Representative shall be reasonably available to the City and shall have the 

necessary expertise and experience required to supervise the Work.  CM@Risk’s 
Representative shall communicate regularly with the City but not less than once a week and 
shall be vested with the authority to act on behalf of CM@Risk.  CM@Risk’s Representative 
may be replaced only with the written consent of the City. 

 
2.2 Government Approvals and Permits 
 
2.2.1 Unless otherwise provided, CM@Risk shall obtain all applicable and/or necessary permits, 

approvals and licenses required for the prosecution of the Work from any government or 
quasi-government entity having jurisdiction over the Project.  CM@Risk is specifically 
reminded of the need to obtain the applicable and/or necessary environmental permits or file 
the applicable and/or necessary environmental notices. 

 
2.2.2 Copies of the permits and notices listed in Subsection 2.2.1 above must be provided to the 

City's Representative prior to starting the permitted activity.  In the case of Fire Department 
permits, a copy of the application for permit shall also be provided to the City’s 
Representative.  This provision does not constitute an assumption by the City of an obligation 
of any kind for violation of said permit or notice requirements. 

 
2.2.3 City shall be responsible for City of Flagstaff review and permit(s) fees for building and 

demolition permits. City shall also pay review fees for grading and drainage, water, sewer, and 
landscaping. City shall also pay for utility design fees for permanent services.    

 
2.2.4 CM@Risk shall be responsible for all other permits and review fees not specifically listed in 



 

 
 PROJECT NO. 01-16001   Street Maintenance Program 2015, 2016, 2017 

GMP Agreement One                                                                                                                        PAGE 6 

Subsection 2.2.3 above.   
 
2.2.5 CM@Risk is responsible for the cost of water meter(s), water and sewer taps, fire lines and 

taps, and all water bills on the project meters until Substantial Completion of the Project.  
Arrangements for construction water are CM@Risk‘s responsibility. 

 
2.3 Pre-construction Conference 
 
2.3.1 Prior to the commencement of any Work, the City’s Representative or designee shall schedule 

and conduct a Preconstruction Conference. At the Pre-construction Conference, City and 
CM@R shall document the Opening Physical Conditions of the Site as jointly documented by 
an inspection of the Site by City and CM@R at the Pre-Construction. 

 
2.3.2 The purpose of this conference is to establish a working relationship between CM@Risk, utility 

firms, and various City agencies.  The agenda shall include critical elements of the work 
schedule, submittal schedule, cost breakdown of major lump sum items, Payment Requests 
and processing, coordination with the involved utility firms, the level of Project Record 
Documents required and emergency telephone numbers for all representatives involved in the 
course of construction. 

 
2.3.3 The Notice to Proceed date shall be concurred with by the parties or set by the City at the 

Preconstruction Conference.  After the meeting and upon receipt of a signed Agreement and 
delivery of the required bonds and insurance in a City approved format, a Notice to Proceed 
letter shall be issued confirming the construction start date, Performance Period and if 
applicable, the Substantial Completion date.  If a Substantial Completion date is established 
the conditions of the Substantial Completion shall be listed and/or as set forth in Article 1 
herein.  Failure by CM@Risk to provide the properly executed bond and insurance forms in a 
timely manner may delay the construction start date; however, it shall not alter the proposed 
Substantial Completion date nor be a basis for any time extension request or other claims. 

 
2.3.4 CM@Risk shall provide a Schedule of Values based on the categories used in the buy out of 

the Work but not greater than the approved GMP and identifying CM@Risk’s Contingency. 
The Schedule of Values shall subdivide the Work into all items comprising the Work.  The 
Schedule of Values shall contain sufficient detail to identify each individual element of the 
Work and shall relate to the approved GMP Schedule.  The Schedule of Values shall be 
subject to approval by the City’s representative. 

 
2.3.5 Minimum attendance by CM@Risk shall be CM@Risk’s Representative, who is authorized to 

execute and sign documents on behalf of the firm, the job superintendent, and CM@Risk's 
safety officer. 

 
2.4 Control of the Work 
 
2.4.1 Unless otherwise provided in the Contract Documents to be the responsibility of the City or a 

separate Contractor, CM@Risk shall provide through itself or Subcontractors the necessary 
supervision, labor, inspection, testing, start-up, material, equipment, machinery, temporary 
utilities and other temporary facilities to permit CM@Risk to complete the Work consistent with 
the Contract Documents. 

 
2.4.2 CM@Risk shall perform all construction activities efficiently and with the requisite expertise, 

skill and competence to satisfy the requirements of the Contract Documents.  CM@Risk shall 
at all times exercise complete and exclusive control over the means, methods, sequences and 
techniques of construction. 

 
2.4.3 CM@Risk’s Representative or CM@Risk’s Superintendent shall be present at the Site at all 

times that construction activities are taking place. 
 



 

 
 PROJECT NO. 01-16001   Street Maintenance Program 2015, 2016, 2017 

GMP Agreement One                                                                                                                        PAGE 7 

2.4.3.1 All elements of the Work shall be under the direct supervision of a foreman or his designated 
representative on the Site who shall have the authority to take actions required to properly 
carry out that particular element of the work. 

 
2.4.3.2 In the event of noncompliance with this Section, the City may require CM@Risk to stop or 

suspend the Work in whole or in part. 
 
2.4.4 Where the Contract Documents require that a particular product be installed and/or applied by 

an applicator approved by the manufacturer, it is CM@Risk’s responsibility to ensure the 
Subcontractor employed for such work is approved by the manufacturer. 

 
2.4.5 Before ordering materials or doing work, CM@Risk and each Subcontractor shall verify 

measurements at the Site and shall be responsible for the correctness of such measurements.  
No extra charge or compensation shall be allowed because of differences between actual 
dimensions and the dimensions indicated on the drawings; differences which may be found 
shall be submitted to the City for resolution before proceeding with the Work.  

 
2.4.6 CM@Risk shall take field measurements and verify field conditions and shall carefully 

compare such field measurements and conditions and other information known to CM@Risk 
with the Contract Documents before commencing activities. Errors, inconsistencies or 
omissions discovered shall be reported to the City at once. 

 
2.4.7 CM@Risk shall establish and maintain all building and construction grades, lines, levels, and 

bench marks, and shall be responsible for accuracy and protection of same. This Work shall 
be performed or supervised by a civil engineer or surveyor licensed as such in the State of 
Arizona. 

 
2.4.8 Any person employed by CM@Risk or any Subcontractor who, in the opinion of the City, does 

not perform his or her work in a proper, skillful, and safe manner or is intemperate or disorderly 
shall, at the written request of the City, be removed from the Work by CM@Risk or 
Subcontractor employing such person, and shall not be employed again in any portion of Work 
without the written approval of the City.  CM@Risk or Subcontractor shall hold the City harmless 
from damages or claims which may occur in the enforcement of this Section. 

 
2.4.9 CM@Risk assumes responsibility to the City for the proper performance of the work of 

Subcontractors and any acts and omissions in connection with such performance.  Nothing in 
the Contract Documents is intended or deemed to create any legal or contractual relationship 
between the City and any Subcontractor or Sub-Subcontractor, including but not limited to any 
third-party beneficiary rights. 

 
2.4.10 CM@Risk shall coordinate the activities of all Subcontractors.  If the City performs other work 

on the Project or at the Site with separate contractors under the City’s control, CM@Risk 
agrees to reasonably cooperate and coordinate its activities with those of such separate 
contractors so that the Project can be completed in an orderly and coordinated manner without 
unreasonable disruption. 

 
2.5 Control of the Work Site 
 
2.5.1 Throughout all phases of construction, including suspension of Work, CM@Risk shall keep the 

Site reasonably free from debris, trash and construction wastes to permit CM@Risk to perform 
its construction services efficiently, safely and without interfering with the use of adjacent land 
areas.  Upon Substantial Completion of the Work, or a portion of the Work, CM@Risk shall 
remove all debris, trash, construction wastes, materials, equipment, machinery and tools 
arising from the Work or applicable portions thereof to permit the City to occupy the Project or 
a portion of the Project for its intended use. 

 
2.5.2 CM@Risk shall take whatever steps, procedures or means to prevent any dust nuisance due 



 

 
 PROJECT NO. 01-16001   Street Maintenance Program 2015, 2016, 2017 

GMP Agreement One                                                                                                                        PAGE 8 

to construction operations.  The dust control measures shall be maintained at all times to the 
satisfaction of the City and in accordance with the requirements of the Arizona Department of 
Environmental Quality rules and regulations. 

 
2.5.3 CM@Risk shall maintain ADA, ADAAG and ANSI accessibility requirements during 

construction activities in an occupied building or facility.  ADA, ADAAG and ANSI accessibility 
requirements shall include, but not be limited to, parking, building access, entrances, exits, 
restrooms, areas of refuge, and emergency exit paths of travel. CM@Risk shall be responsible 
for the coordination of all work to minimize disruption to building occupants and facilities. 

 
2.5.4 Only materials and equipment which are to be used directly in the Work shall be brought to 

and stored on the Site by CM@Risk.  When equipment is no longer required for the Work, it 
shall be removed promptly from the Site.  Protection of construction materials and equipment 
stored at the Site from weather, theft, damage and all other adversity is solely the 
responsibility of CM@Risk. 

 
2.6 Shop Drawings, Product Data and Samples 
 
2.6.1 Shop Drawings, Product Data, Samples and similar Submittals are not Contract Documents. 

The purpose of their submittal is to demonstrate, for those portions of the Work for which 
Submittals are required, the way CM@Risk proposes to conform to the information given and 
the design concept expressed in the Contract Documents. 

 
2.6.2 CM@Risk shall review, approve, verify, and submit to the City five copies of each Shop 

Drawing, Product Data, Sample, and similar Submittals required by the Contract Documents in 
accordance with the approved GMP schedule as shown in Exhibit “B” as to cause no delay in 
the Work or in the activities of the City or of separate contractors. Submittals made by 
CM@Risk, which are not required by the Contract Documents, may be returned without 
action. 

 
2.6.3 CM@Risk shall perform no portion of the Work requiring submittal and review of Shop 

Drawings, Product Data, Samples, or similar Submittals until the respective submittal has 
been approved by the City or City’s designee.  Such Work shall be in accordance with 
approved Submittals. 

 
2.6.4 By approving, verifying and submitting Shop Drawings, Product Data, Samples and similar 

Submittals, CM@Risk represents that CM@Risk has determined and verified materials, field 
measurements and field construction criteria related thereto, or shall do so, and has checked 
and coordinated the information contained within such Submittals with the requirements of the 
Work and of the Contract Documents. 

 
2.6.5 CM@Risk shall not be relieved of responsibility for deviations from requirements of the 

Contract Documents by the City 's approval of Shop Drawings, Product Data, Samples or 
similar Submittals unless CM@Risk has specifically informed the City in writing of such 
deviation at the time of submittal and the City has given written approval to the specific 
deviation. CM@Risk shall not be relieved of responsibility for errors or omissions in Shop 
Drawings, Product Data, Samples, or similar Submittals by the City’s approval thereof. 

 
2.6.6 CM@Risk shall direct specific attention, in writing or on resubmitted Shop Drawings, Product 

Data, Samples, or similar Submittals, to revisions other than those requested by the City on 
previous Submittals. 

 
2.6.7 Informational Submittals upon which the City is not expected to take responsive action may be 

so identified in the Contract Documents. 
 
2.6.8 When professional certification of performance criteria of materials, systems or equipment is 

required by the Contract Documents, the City shall be entitled to rely upon the accuracy and 



 

 
 PROJECT NO. 01-16001   Street Maintenance Program 2015, 2016, 2017 

GMP Agreement One                                                                                                                        PAGE 9 

completeness of such calculations and certifications. 
 
2.7 Quality Control, Testing and Inspection  
 
2.7.1 All materials used in the Work shall be new and unused, unless otherwise noted, and shall 

meet all quality requirements of the Contract Documents. 
 
2.7.2 All construction materials to be used on the Work or incorporated into the Work, equipment, 

plant, tools, appliances or methods to be used in the Work may be subject to the inspection 
and approval or rejection by the City.  Any material rejected by the City shall be removed 
immediately and replaced in an acceptable manner. 

 
2.7.3 The procedures and methods used to sample and test material shall be determined by the 

City.  Unless otherwise specified, samples and tests shall be made in accordance with the 
most recently adopted edition of the City of Flagstaff Engineering Division Design and 
Construction Standards and Specifications. 

 
2.7.4 The City shall select a City or Independent Testing Laboratory and shall pay for initial City 

Acceptance Testing. 
 
2.7.4.1 When the first and/or subsequent tests indicate noncompliance with the Contract Documents, 

the cost associated with that noncompliance and the cost of all tests, except the first test, shall 
be paid for by CM@Risk.  CM@Risk’s Contingency cannot be utilized for the cost of re-
testing. 

 
2.7.4.2 When the first and/or subsequent tests indicate noncompliance with the Contract Documents, 

all retesting shall be performed by the same testing agency. 
 
2.7.5 CM@Risk shall cooperate with the selected testing laboratory and all others responsible for 

testing and inspecting the work and shall provide them access to the Work at all times. 
 
2.7.6 At the option of the City, materials may be approved at the source of supply before delivery is 

started. 
 
2.7.7 Code compliance testing and inspections required by codes or ordinances, or by a plan 

approval authority, and which are made by a legally constituted authority, shall be the 
responsibility of and shall be paid by CM@Risk, unless otherwise provided in the Contract 
Documents.  

 
2.7.8 CM@Risk’s convenience and quality control testing and inspections shall be the sole 

responsibility of CM@Risk and paid by CM@Risk.  
 
2.8 Trade Names and Substitutions 
 
2.8.1 Unless indicated that no substitutions are permitted, CM@Risk may request a substitution or 

alternative to Contract Document references to equipment, materials or patented processes by 
manufacturer, trade name, make or catalog number, subject to the following: 

 
2.8.2 The substitution shall be submitted by CM@Risk in writing to the City. 
 
2.8.3 CM@Risk shall certify that the substitution shall perform the functions and achieve the results 

called for by the general design, be similar and of equal substance, and be suited to the same 
use as that specified. 

 
2.8.4 The submittal shall state any required changes in the Contract Documents to adapt the design 

to the proposed substitution. 
 



 

 
 PROJECT NO. 01-16001   Street Maintenance Program 2015, 2016, 2017 

GMP Agreement One                                                                                                                        PAGE 10 

2.8.5 The submittal shall contain an itemized estimate of all costs and credits that will result directly 
and indirectly from the acceptance of such substitution, including cost of design, license fees, 
royalties, and testing.  Also, the submittal shall include any adjustment in the Contract Time 
created by the substitution.   

 
2.8.6 CM@Risk if requested by the City shall submit Samples or any additional information that may 

be necessary to evaluate the acceptability of the substitution. 
 
2.8.7 The City shall make the final decision and shall notify CM@Risk in writing as to whether the 

substitution has been accepted or rejected. 
 
2.8.8 If the City does not respond in a timely manner, CM@Risk shall continue to perform the Work 

in accordance with the Contract Documents and the substitution shall be considered rejected. 
 
2.9 Project Record Documents 
 
2.9.1 During the construction period, CM@Risk shall maintain at the Site a set of blueline or 

blackline prints of the Construction Document drawings and shop drawings for Project Record 
Document purposes. 

 
2.9.1.1 CM@Risk shall mark these drawings to indicate the actual installation where the installation 

varies appreciably from the original Construction Documents.  CM@Risk shall give particular 
attention to information on concealed elements, which would be difficult to identify or measure 
and record later.  Items required to be marked include but are not limited to: 
 
• Dimensional changes to the drawings. 
• Revisions to details shown on drawings 
• Depths of foundations below first floor 
• Locations and depths of underground utilities 
• Revisions to routing of piping and conduits. 
• Revisions to electrical circuitry. 
• Actual equipment locations. 
• Duct size and routing. 
• Locations of concealed internal utilities. 
• Changes made by Change Order, Change Order Directive, Field Order, Record of Field 

Change, ASI’s and RFI’s. 
• Addenda and other details not on original Agreement Drawings. 

 
2.9.1.2 CM@Risk shall mark completely and accurately Project Record Drawing prints of Construction 

Documents or Shop Drawings, whichever is the most capable of indicating the actual physical 
condition.  Where Shop Drawings are marked, show cross-reference on the Construction 
Documents location. 

2.9.1.3 CM@Risk shall mark Project Record Drawings sets with red erasable colored pencil. 

2.9.1.4 CM@Risk shall note RFI Numbers, ASI Numbers and Change Order numbers, etc., as 
required to identify the source of the change to the Construction Documents. 

2.9.1.5 CM@Risk shall, as a condition of Substantial Completion, submit Project Record Drawing 
prints and Shop Drawings to the City or its representative for review and comment. 

2.9.2 Upon receipt of the reviewed Project Record Drawings from the City, CM@Risk shall correct 
any deficiencies and/or omissions to the drawings and prepare the following for submission to 
the City within 14 Days: 



 

 
 PROJECT NO. 01-16001   Street Maintenance Program 2015, 2016, 2017 

GMP Agreement One                                                                                                                        PAGE 11 

2.9.2.1 CM@Risk shall provide a complete set of electronic Project Record Drawings prepared in 
AutoCAD format compatible with City of Flagstaff CADD technology.  The Design 
Professional shall provide files of the original Construction Documents to CM@Risk for the 
use of preparing these final Project Record Drawings or CM@Risk may contract with the 
Design Professional to revise and update the electronic drawing files.   Each drawing shall be 
clearly marked with “As-Built Document.”   

2.9.2.2  CM@Risk shall provide a complete set of reproducible mylars from the final AutoCAD 
drawings. 

2.9.2.3 CM@Risk shall provide the original copy of the Project Record Drawings (redline mark-ups). 

2.10 Project Safety 

2.10.1 CM@Risk recognizes the importance of performing the Work in a safe manner so as to 
prevent damage, injury or loss to (i) all individuals at the Site, whether working or visiting, (ii) 
the Work, including materials and equipment incorporated into the Work or stored on-Site or 
off-Site, and (iii) all other property at the Site or adjacent thereto. 

2.10.2 CM@Risk assumes responsibility for implementing and monitoring all safety precautions and 
programs related to the performance of the Work. 

2.10.3 CM@Risk shall, prior to commencing construction, designate a Safety Representative with 
the necessary qualifications and experience to supervise the implementation and monitoring 
of all safety precautions and programs related to the Work.  Unless otherwise required by the 
Contract Documents, CM@Risk’s Safety Representative shall be an individual stationed at 
the Site who may have other responsibilities on the Project in addition to safety. 

2.10.4 The Safety Representative shall make routine daily inspections of the Site and shall hold 
weekly safety meetings with CM@Risk’s personnel, Subcontractors and others as applicable. 

2.10.5 CM@Risk and Subcontractors shall comply with all Legal Requirements relating to safety, as 
well as any City-specific safety requirements set forth in the Contract Documents, provided 
that such City-specific requirements do not violate any applicable Legal Requirement.   

2.10.6 CM@Risk shall immediately report in writing any safety-related injury, loss, damage or 
accident arising from the Work to City’s Representative and, to the extent mandated by Legal 
Requirements, to all government or quasi-government authorities having jurisdiction over 
safety-related matters involving the Project or the Work. 

2.10.7 CM@Risk’s responsibility for safety under this Section is not intended in any way to relieve 
Subcontractors and Sub-Subcontractors of their own contractual and legal obligations and 
responsibility for (i) complying with all Legal Requirements, including those related to health 
and safety matters, and (ii) taking all necessary measures to implement and monitor all safety 
precautions and programs to guard against injury, losses, damages or accidents resulting 
from their performance of the Work. 

2.11 Warranty 

2.11.1 CM@Risk warrants to City that the construction, including all materials and equipment 
furnished as part of the construction, shall be new unless otherwise specified in the Contract 
Documents, of good quality, in conformance with the Contract Documents and free of defects 
in materials and workmanship.    

 
2.11.2 CM@Risk’s warranty obligation shall be for one (1) year, except for such greater period as 



 

 
 PROJECT NO. 01-16001   Street Maintenance Program 2015, 2016, 2017 

GMP Agreement One                                                                                                                        PAGE 12 

may be required by the technical specifications. 

2.11.3 Nothing in this warranty is intended to limit any manufacturer’s warranty which provides The 
City with greater warranty rights than set forth in this Section or the Contract Documents.  
CM@Risk shall provide City with all manufacturers’ warranties upon Substantial Completion. 

2.11.4 Nothing in this warranty is intended to limit any other remedy at law that may be available to 
the City. 

 
2.12   Correction of Defective Work 

 
2.12.1 CM@Risk agrees to correct any Work that is found to not be in conformance with the 

Contract Documents, including that part of the Work subject to Section 2.12 above, within a 
period of one (1) year from the date of Substantial Completion of the Work or any portion of 
the Work, or within such longer period to the extent required by the Contract Documents, or 
as may be available to the City by law.  A progress payment, or partial or entire use or 
occupancy of the Project by the City, shall not constitute acceptance of Work not in 
accordance with the Contract Documents. 

 
2.12.2 During the performance of the Work, CM@Risk shall take meaningful steps to commence 

correction of such nonconforming Work as notified by the City or as discovered by CM@Risk. 
This includes the correction, removal or replacement of the nonconforming Work and any 
damage caused to other parts of the Work affected by the nonconforming Work.  If CM@Risk 
fails to commence the necessary steps during the performance of the Work, City, in addition 
to any other remedies provided under the Contract Documents, may provide CM@Risk with 
written notice that City shall commence correction of such nonconforming Work with its own 
forces.   

2.12.3 CM@Risk shall, take meaningful steps to commence correction of nonconforming Work 
subject to Section 2.12 and/or Section 2.13.1 above, within seven (7) days of receipt of 
written notice from City.  This includes the correction, removal or replacement of the 
nonconforming Work and any damage caused to other parts of the Work affected by the 
nonconforming Work.  If CM@Risk fails to commence the necessary steps within such 
seven-day period, City, in addition to any other remedies provided under the Contract 
Documents, may provide CM@Risk with written notice that City shall commence correction of 
such nonconforming Work with its own forces.  2.12.4 If City does perform such 
corrective Work, CM@Risk shall be responsible for all reasonable costs incurred by City in 
performing such correction.   

 
2.12.4 For nonconforming Work that creates an emergency requiring an immediate response, 

CM@Risk shall respond and initiate corrections within twenty-four hours. 

2.12.5 The one year period referenced in Subsection 2.13.1 above applies only to CM@Risk’s 
obligation to correct nonconforming Work relative to the warranty set forth in that section and 
is not intended to constitute a period of limitations for any other rights or remedies the City 
may have regarding CM@Risk’s other obligations under the Contract Documents or as may 
be allowed by law. 

 

 Article 3 - The City’s Services and Responsibilities    

 
3.1 Duty to Cooperate.   
 
3.1.1 City shall, throughout the performance of the Work, cooperate with CM@Risk and perform its 

responsibilities, obligations and services in a timely manner to facilitate CM@Risk’s timely and 



 

 
 PROJECT NO. 01-16001   Street Maintenance Program 2015, 2016, 2017 

GMP Agreement One                                                                                                                        PAGE 13 

efficient performance of the Work and so as not to delay or interfere with CM@Risk’s 
performance of its obligations under the Contract Documents. 

 
3.1.2 City shall furnish at CM@Risk’s request, at no cost to CM@Risk, a CADD file of the 

Construction Documents in AutoCAD format compatible with the City of Flagstaff CADD 
technology. 

 
3.2 The City’s Representative  
 
3.2.1 City’s Representative shall be responsible for providing City (as defined in Article I) supplied 

information and approvals in a timely manner to permit CM@Risk to fulfill its obligations under 
the Contract Documents.  

 
3.2.2 City’s Representative shall also provide CM@Risk with prompt notice if City’s Representative 

observes any failure on the part of CM@Risk to fulfill its contractual obligations, including any 
default or defect in the project or non-conformance with the drawings and specifications. 

 
3.2.3 The City may utilize field inspectors to assist the City’s Representative during construction in 

observing performance of CM@Risk.  The inspector is for the purpose of assisting the City’s 
Representative and should not be confused with an inspector with a City regulatory 
department. 

 
3.2.3.1 The field inspector shall be authorized to inspect all Work and materials furnished.  Such 

inspection may extend to all or part of the Work and to the preparation, fabrication or 
manufacture of the materials to be used. 

 
3.2.3.2 The field inspector shall not be authorized to issue instructions contrary to the Construction 

Documents or to act as foreman for CM@Risk. 
 
3.2.3.3 The field inspector shall have the authority to reject work or materials until any questions at 

issue can be decided by the City’s Representative. 
 
3.2.3.4 The furnishing of such services for the City shall not make the City responsible for or give the 

City control over construction means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures or for 
safety precautions or programs or responsibility for CM@Risk’s failure to perform the work in 
accordance with Contract Documents.  

 
3.3 Design Professional Services 
 
3.3.1 The City may contract separately with one or more Design Professionals to provide 

construction administration of the Project.  The Design Professional's Agreement as well as 
other firms hired by the City shall be available for review by CM@Risk.  CM@Risk shall not 
have any right however, to limit or restrict any contract provisions and/or modifications that are 
mutually acceptable to the City and Design Professional. 

 
3.3.2 The City may contract with the Design Professional to provide some or all of the following 

services during the performance of the Work. 
   
3.3.2.1 Provide oversight of the Work. The City and CM@Risk shall endeavor to communicate 

through the Design Professional. Communications by and with the Design Professional's 
consultants shall be through the Design Professional.  

 
3.3.2.2 Conduct Site visits at intervals appropriate to the stage of construction to become generally 

familiar with the progress and quality of the completed Work and to determine in general if the 
Work is being performed in accordance with the Contract Documents.  The Design 



 

 
 PROJECT NO. 01-16001   Street Maintenance Program 2015, 2016, 2017 

GMP Agreement One                                                                                                                        PAGE 14 

Professional shall keep the City informed of progress of the Work and any noted defects and 
deficiencies of the Work, and shall endeavor to guard the City against defects and deficiencies 
in the Work. The Design Professional may have authority to reject construction, which does 
not conform to the Construction Documents and to require additional inspection or testing of 
the construction in accordance with Section 2.7. 

 
3.3.2.3 Review and recommend approval of Payment Requests.  
 
3.3.2.4 Review and approve or take other appropriate action upon CM@Risk's Submittals such as 

Shop Drawings, Product Data and Samples in accordance with Section 2.6. 
 
3.3.2.5 Interpret and decide matters concerning performance under and requirements of the Contract 

Documents on written request of either the City or CM@Risk. The Design Professional's 
response to such requests shall be made with reasonable promptness and within any time 
limits agreed upon.  

 
3.3.2.6 Prepare Change Orders, and may authorize minor changes in the Work as provided in Section 

6.6.1.   
 
3.3.2.7 Conduct inspections to determine Substantial Completion and Final Acceptance.  
 
3.3.2.8 Receive and forward to the City for the City's review and records written warranties and 

related documents required by the Contract Documents and assembled by CM@Risk.  
 
3.4 City’s Separate Contractors.   

 
City is responsible for all work performed on the Project or at the Site by separate contractors 
under City’s control.  City shall contractually require its separate contractors to cooperate with, 
and coordinate their activities so as not to interfere with CM@Risk in order to enable 
CM@Risk to timely complete the Work consistent with the Contract Documents.  

 
3.5 Permit Review and Inspections 
 
3.5.1 If requested by CM@Risk, the City’s Representative shall provide assistance and guidance in 

obtaining necessary reviews, permits and inspections, however, the responsibility for obtaining 
the necessary reviews, permits and inspections remains with CM@Risk.  

 
3.5.2 Regulating agencies of the City, such as Community Development, Fire, Planning, Building 

Inspection, Environmental Services, and Engineering Departments, enforce Legal 
Requirements. These enforcement activities are not subject to the responsibilities of the City 
under this Agreement.   

 
 Article 4 - Contract Time      

 
4.0 Contract Time.   
 
4.0.1 Contract Time shall start with the Notice to Proceed (“NTP”) with construction services and 

shall end with Substantial Completion.   
 
4.0.2 Where there is more than one GMP, each GMP shall establish a separate NTP date and a 

Performance Period.  The Performance Periods for individual GMPs may be sequential or 
concurrent as established in the individual Notices to Proceed.  The Performance Period for 
the GMP under this Agreement shall be 210 days starting with the NTP.  

 



 

 
 PROJECT NO. 01-16001   Street Maintenance Program 2015, 2016, 2017 

GMP Agreement One                                                                                                                        PAGE 15 

4.0.3 CM@Risk agrees that it shall commence timely performance of the Work and shall achieve 
substantial completion within the Performance Periods and Contract Time. 

 
4.0.4 All of the times set forth in this Article 4 shall be subject to adjustment in accordance with 

Article 6. 
 
4.0.5 Time is of the essence, for times and time matters set forth in Article 4 and the rest of this 

Agreement. 
 

Pursuant to Section 9.3 below, if, in the sole discretion of the Capital Improvments Department 
of the City of Flagstaff, the Project is not at Substantial Completion prior to the advent of 
adverce weather conditions, a Winter Shutdown shall occur during which no Work will be 
performed by any person or entity (including but not limited to the CM@Risk) on the Project 
and CM@Risk shall shutdown, properly insulate and shelter the Project in a safe and 
workmanlike manner pursuant to local, state and federal laws.  Although December through 
March is typically the time frame, the City reserves the right to initiate and terminate a Winter 
Shutdown at the City’s sole discretion in the event of adverse weather conditions.  A Winter 
Shutdown may be declared by the City despite delays, for any reason, on the Project. 
 

4.1 Substantial Completion 

 

4.1.1 Substantial Completion shall be for the entire Project unless a partial Substantial Completion 
is identified in the approved GMP schedule and stated in the Notice to Proceed letter or as 
may be mutually agreed by the parties in writing.   Substantial Completion shall be in 
accordance with its definition in Article 1 and with the criteria set forth in the Notice to Proceed. 

 
4.1.2 Prior to notifying the City in accordance to Section 4.1.3 below,  CM@Risk shall inspect the 

Work and prepare and submit to the City a comprehensive list of items to be completed or 
corrected. CM@Risk shall proceed promptly to complete and correct items on the list.  Failure 
to include an item on such list does not alter the responsibility of CM@Risk to complete all 
Work in accordance with the Contract Documents. 

 
4.1.3 CM@Risk shall notify City when it believes the Work, or to the extent permitted in the Contract 

Documents, a portion of the Work, is substantially complete.  
 
4.1.4 Within five (5) days of City’s receipt of CM@Risk’s notice, the City and CM@Risk shall jointly 

inspect such Work to verify that it is substantially complete in accordance with the 
requirements of the Contract Documents.   

 
4.1.5 If such Work is substantially complete, City shall prepare and issue a Certificate of Substantial 

Completion that shall set forth (i) the date of Substantial Completion of the Work or portion 
thereof, (ii) the remaining items of Work that have to be completed within thirty (30) calendar 
days before Final Acceptance, (iii) provisions (to the extent not already provided in the 
Contract Documents) establishing City’s and CM@Risk’s responsibility for the Project’s 
security, maintenance, utilities and insurance pending Final Acceptance and (iv) an 
acknowledgment that warranties commence to run on the date of Substantial Completion, 
except as may otherwise be noted in the Certificate of Substantial Completion.   

 
4.1.6 City, at its option, may use a portion of the Work which has been determined to be 

substantially complete, provided, however, that (i) a Certificate of Substantial Completion has 
been issued for the portion of Work addressing the items set forth in Section 4.1.5 above, (ii) 
CM@Risk and City have obtained the consent of their sureties and insurers, and to the extent 
applicable, the appropriate government authorities having jurisdiction over the Project, and (iii) 
City and CM@Risk agree that City’s use or occupancy shall not interfere with CM@Risk’s 
completion of the remaining Work. 



 

 
 PROJECT NO. 01-16001   Street Maintenance Program 2015, 2016, 2017 

GMP Agreement One                                                                                                                        PAGE 16 

 
4.2 Final Completion.   

 
Upon receipt of written notice that the Work or identified portions of the Work is ready for final 
inspection and acceptance, City and CM@Risk shall jointly inspect to verify that the remaining 
items of Work have been completed as set forth in Section 4.1.5. The City shall issue a Final 
Completion Letter and payment pursuant to Section 7.5. 

 
4.3 Liquidated Damages 
 
4.3.1 CM@Risk understands that if Substantial Completion is not attained within the Contract Time 

as adjusted, the City shall suffer damages, which are difficult to determine and accurately 
specify.  CM@Risk agrees that if Substantial Completion is not attained within the Contract 
Time as adjusted, CM@Risk shall pay the City $ 1,420.00 (to be determined on an agreement 
by agreement basis) per day as liquidated damages for each Day that Substantial Completion 
extends beyond the date determined by the Contract Time as adjusted and further agrees that 
such amount is reasonable under the circumstances.  

 
4.3.2 CM@Risk understands that if Final Completion is not attained within the Contract Time as 

adjusted, the City shall suffer damages, which are difficult to determine and accurately specify.  
CM@Risk agrees that if Final Completion is not attained within the Contract Time as adjusted, 
CM@Risk shall pay the City $ 1,420.00 (to be determined on an agreement by agreement 
basis) per day as liquidated damages for each Day that Final Completion extends beyond the 
date determined by the Contract Time as adjusted and further agrees that such amount is 
reasonable under the circumstances. 

4.4 Project Master Schedule 
 
4.4.1 The Project Master Schedule approved as part of a GMP shall be updated and maintained 

throughout the Work by CM@Risk.   
 
4.4.2 The Project Master Schedule shall be revised by CM@Risk as required by conditions and 

progress of the Work, but such revisions shall not relieve CM@Risk of its obligations to 
complete the Work within the Contract Time, as such dates may be adjusted in accordance 
with the Contract Documents. 

 
4.4.3 Updated Project Master Schedules shall be submitted monthly by CM@Risk to the City as part 

of the Payment Request. 
 
4.4.3.1 CM@Risk shall provide City with a monthly status report with each Project Master Schedule 

detailing the progress of the Work, including: (i) if the Work is proceeding according to 
schedule, (ii) any discrepancies, conflicts, or ambiguities found to exist in the Contract 
Documents that require resolution, and (iii) other items that require resolution so as not to 
jeopardize ability to complete the Work as presented in the GMP and within the Contract 
Time. 

 
4.4.3.2 With each schedule submittal CM@Risk shall include a transmittal letter including the 

following: 
•••• Description of problem tasks (referenced to field instructions, requests for information 

(“RFI’s”), as appropriate. 
•••• Current and anticipated delays including: 

o Cause of the delay 
o Corrective action and schedule adjustments to correct the delay 
o Known or potential impact of the delay on other activities, milestones, and/or the date 

of Substantial Completion 



 

 
 PROJECT NO. 01-16001   Street Maintenance Program 2015, 2016, 2017 

GMP Agreement One                                                                                                                        PAGE 17 

•••• Changes in construction sequence 
•••• Pending items and status thereof including but not limited to: 

o Time Extension requests 
o Other items 

•••• Substantial Completion date status: 
o If ahead of schedule, the number of calendar days ahead 
o If behind schedule, the number of calendar days behind 

•••• Other project or scheduling concerns 
 

4.4.4 City’s review of and response to the Project Master Schedule is only for general conformance 
with the scheduling requirements of the Contract Documents.   The review shall not relieve 
CM@Risk from compliance with the requirements of the Contract Documents or be construed 
as relieving CM@Risk of its complete and exclusive control over the means, methods, 
sequences and techniques for executing the Work. 

 
4.4.5 The Project Master Schedule shall include a Critical Path Method (“CPM”) diagram schedule 

that shall show the sequence of activities, the interdependence of each activity and indicate 
the Critical Path. 

 
4.4.5.1 The CPM diagram schedule shall be in Days and indicate duration, earliest and latest start 

and finish dates for all activities, and total Float times for all activities except critical activities. 
The CPM diagram shall be presented in a time scaled graphical format for the Project as a 
whole. 

 
4.4.5.2 The CPM diagram schedule shall indicate all relationships between activities. 
 
4.4.5.3 The activities making up the schedule shall be in sufficient detail to assure that adequate 

planning has been done for proper execution of the Work and such that it provides an 
appropriate basis for monitoring and evaluating the progress of the Work. 

 
4.4.5.4 The CPM diagram schedule shall be based upon activities, which would coincide with the 

Schedule of Values. 
 
4.4.5.5 The CPM diagram schedule shall show all Submittals associated with each work activity and 

the review time for each submittal. 
 
4.4.5.6 The schedule shall show milestones, including milestones for Owner-furnished information, 

and shall include activities for Owner-furnished equipment and furniture when those activities 
are interrelated with CM@Risk activities. 

 
4.4.5.7 The schedule shall include a critical path activity that reflects anticipated weather delay during 

the performance of the Agreement.  The duration shall reflect the average climatic range and 
usual industrial conditions prevailing in the locality of the Site.  Weather data shall be based 
on the information set forth on the City of Flagstaff’s Table of “Monthly Anticipated Adverse 
Weather Calendar Days” and the explanatory paragraphs attached thereto.  

4.4.6 The Project Master Schedule shall consider the City’s and the tenants’ occupancy 
requirements showing portions of the Project having occupancy priority, and Contract Time. 

 
4.4.7 Float time shall be as prescribed below: 
 
4.4.7.1 The total Float within the overall schedule, is not for the exclusive use of either the City or 

CM@Risk, but is jointly owned by both and is a resource available to and shared by both 
parties as needed to meet Agreement milestones and the Project completion date. 

 



 

 
 PROJECT NO. 01-16001   Street Maintenance Program 2015, 2016, 2017 

GMP Agreement One                                                                                                                        PAGE 18 

4.4.7.2 CM@Risk shall not sequester shared Float through such strategies as extending activity 
duration estimates to consume available Float, using preferential logic, or using extensive 
crew/resource sequencing, etc.  Since Float time within the schedule is jointly owned, no time 
extensions shall be granted nor delay damages paid until a delay occurs which extends the 
Work beyond the Substantial Completion date and then only if any such extensions or 
damages are shown to be justified under the Contract Documents. 

 
4.4.7.3 Since Float time within the schedule is jointly owned, it is acknowledged that City-caused 

delays on the Project may be offset by City-caused time savings (i.e., critical path Submittals 
returned in less time than allowed by the Agreement, approval of substitution requests and 
credit changes which result in savings of time to CM@Risk, etc.).  In such an event, CM@Risk 
shall not be entitled to receive a time extension or delay damages until all City-caused time 
savings are exceeded, and the Substantial Completion date is also exceeded. 
 

 Article 5- Contract Price      

 
5.0 CM@Risk agrees at his own cost and expense, to completely construct and install all Work and 

materials as called for by this Agreement, free and clear of all claims, liens and charges 
whatsoever, in the manner and under the conditions specified in the Contract Documents, within 
the time or times stated in the approved GMP. 

 
5.1 Contract Price 

5.1.1 The Contract Price shall be as approved in the Guaranteed Maximum Price Proposal # 1 
attached as Exhibit “B” in an amount of $ 3,374,179.29 with an additional $ 50,000.00 allowed for 
Owner’s Contingency, and Guaranteed Maximum Price Proposal # 2 in an amount of 
$2,729,486.39 with an additional $ 50,000.00 allowed for Owner’s Contingency, 

5.1.2 The Cost of the Work is actual costs and is a not-to-exceed reimbursable amount. 

5.1.3 The General Conditions Costs and the Construction Fee are firm fixed lump sums delineated in 
the GMP. 

5.1.4 Taxes are deemed to include all sales, use consumer and other taxes, which are legally enacted 
when negotiations of the GMP were concluded, whether or not yet effective, or merely scheduled 
to go into effect.  Taxes are actual costs and are a not-to-exceed reimbursable amount. 

 
5.2 Guaranteed Maximum Price 

5.2.1 The Guaranteed Maximum Price is composed of the maximum Cost of the Work; the 
Construction Fee; General Conditions Costs; taxes; and, CM@Risk’s contingency all of which are 
not-to-exceed cost reimbursable or lump sum amounts defined in Articles 5.1 and 5.3.  CM@Risk 
is at risk to cover any additional Project costs.  If the Cost of Work amount, set forth in the GMP, 
is in excess of the actual Cost of Work and/or CM@Risk’s Contingency, said amount by which 
the Cost of Work set forth in the GMP is in excess of the actual Cost of Work and/or CM@Risk’s 
Contingency, shall revert to the City.  

5.2.2 The GMP is subject to adjustments made in accordance with Article 6 and by GMP amendments 
to this Agreement. 

5.2.3 GMP amendments are cumulative except for CM@Risk’s Contingency. The amount of 
CM@Risk’s Contingency for each GMP shall be negotiated separately. 

5.2.4 If the GMP requires an adjustment due to changes in the scope of the Work the cost of such 
changes is determined subject to Article 6.  The markups that may be allowed on such changes 
shall be no greater than the markups delineated in the approved GMP. 



 

 
 PROJECT NO. 01-16001   Street Maintenance Program 2015, 2016, 2017 

GMP Agreement One                                                                                                                        PAGE 19 

 
5.3 Contingencies 

5.3.1 CM@Risk’s Contingency is an amount CM@Risk may use at its sole discretion for, an increase 
in the Cost of Work, and may use for increases in General Conditions Costs with written approval 
of the City.  CM@Risk’s Contingency is assumed to be a direct Project cost and all applicable 
markups shall be applied at the time of GMP submission.  

5.3.1.1 When CM@Risk utilizes CM@Risk’s Contingency funds, CM@Risk shall make the appropriate 
changes to the Schedule of Values with the next regular progress payment request.  CM@Risk 
shall deduct the amount of CM@Risk’s Contingency funds used from CM@Risk’s Contingency 
line item and add the same amount to the line item on the Schedule of Values where the funds 
were used.  If CM@Risk’s contingency funds are used for a new line item that was not given with 
the original Schedule of Values, these shall be so indicated. 

5.3.2 Owner’s Contingency are funds to be used at the sole discretion of the Owner to cover any 
increases in Project costs that result from Owner directed changes or unforeseen Site conditions.  
Owner’s Contingency shall be added to the GMP amount provided by CM@Risk, the sum of 
which shall be the full Contract Price for construction.  At the time that Owner’s Contingency is 
used the appropriate markups shall be applied. 

5.4 Open Book.   

CM@Risk shall submit to the City upon request all payrolls, reports, estimates, records and any 
other data concerning the Work performed or to be performed or concerning materials supplied or 
to be supplied, as well as Subcontractor or Consultant payment applications or invoices and such 
Subcontractor's or Consultant progress payment checks.  The requirements of this Section shall 
be included in all Agreements between CM@Risk and its Subcontractors and Consultants.   The 
City may exercise its rights under this Section as often as reasonably necessary in the City's sole 
judgment to assure the City has a complete and accurate understanding of all Project costs.  

 

 Article 6 - Changes to the Contract Price and Time    
 
6.0 Delays to the Work  
 
6.0.1 If CM@Risk is delayed in the performance of the Work that shall cause a change in the date of 

Substantial Completion due to acts, omissions, conditions, events, or circumstances beyond 
its control and due to no fault of its own, or, those for whom CM@Risk is responsible, the 
Contract Times for performance shall be reasonably extended by Change Order.  However, 
the City and the CM@R must agree on the determination of whether acts, omissions, 
conditions, events, or circumstances are actually beyond the CM@Rs control and/or whether 
they are due to no fault of the CM@R, or those for whom CM@Risk is responsible; if the City 
and the CM@R do not agree, then an independent third party, selected by both parties, shall 
make the determination of whether acts, omissions, conditions, events, or circumstances are 
actually beyond the CM@Rs control and/or whether they are due to no fault of the CM@R, or 
those for whom CM@Risk is responsible. 

 
6.0.2 CM@Risk shall request an increase in the Contract Time by written notice including an 

estimate of probable effect of delay on progress of the Work within three (3) days of the 
occurrence of the delay.  In the case of a continuing delay only one request is necessary.   

 
6.0.3 By way of example, events that shall entitle CM@Risk to an extension of the Contract Time 

include acts or omissions of City or anyone under City’s control (including separate 
Contractors), changes in the Work, Differing Site Conditions, Hazardous Conditions, delays by 
regulating agencies, wars, floods, labor disputes, unusual delay in transportation, epidemics 



 

 
 PROJECT NO. 01-16001   Street Maintenance Program 2015, 2016, 2017 

GMP Agreement One                                                                                                                        PAGE 20 

abroad, earthquakes, adverse weather conditions not reasonably anticipated, and other acts 
of God.  

 
6.0.4 If adverse weather conditions are the basis for a request for additional Contract Time, such 

requests shall be documented by data substantiating that weather conditions were abnormal 
for the period of time and could not have been reasonably anticipated, and that weather 
conditions had an adverse effect on the scheduled Substantial Completion.  All terms, 
conditions and definitions necessary for the application of this paragraph shall be as set forth 
on the City of Flagstaff’s Table of “Monthly Anticipated Adverse Weather Calendar Days” and 
the explanatory paragraphs attached thereto. 

 
6.0.5 It is understood, however, that permitting CM@Risk to proceed to complete any Work, or any 

part of the Work, after the date to which the time of completion may have been extended, shall 
in no way act as a waiver on the part of the City of any of its legal rights herein.   

 
6.0.6 In addition to CM@Risk’s right to a time extension for those events set forth in this Section, 

CM@Risk shall also be entitled to an appropriate adjustment of the Contract Price provided, 
however, that the Contract Price shall not be adjusted for those events set forth in this Section 
that are beyond the control of both CM@Risk and City, including the events of war, floods, 
labor disputes, earthquakes, epidemics, adverse weather conditions not reasonably 
anticipated, and other acts of God and shall not be adjusted absent a showing of actual 
damage.  

 
6.1 Differing Site Conditions 
 
6.1.1 If CM@Risk encounters a Differing Site Condition, CM@Risk shall be entitled to an 

adjustment in the Contract Price and/or Contract Times to the extent CM@Risk’s cost and/or 
time of performance are actually adversely impacted by the Differing Site Condition. 

 
6.1.2 Upon encountering a Differing Site Condition, CM@Risk shall provide prompt written notice to 

City of such condition, which notice shall not be later than seven (7) days after such condition 
has been encountered.  CM@Risk shall, to the extent reasonably possible, provide such 
notice before the Differing Site Condition has been substantially disturbed or altered.  

 
6.2 Errors, Discrepancies and Omissions   
 
6.2.1 If CM@Risk observes errors, discrepancies or omissions in the Contract Documents, CM@Risk 

shall promptly notify the Design Professional and request clarification.   
 
6.2.2 If CM@Risk proceeds with the Work affected by such errors, discrepancies or omissions, 

without receiving such clarifications, CM@Risk does so at its own risk. Adjustments involving 
such circumstances made by CM@Risk prior to clarification by the Design Professional shall be 
at CM@Risk’s risk.   

 
6.3 The City Requested Change in Work 
 
6.3.1 The City reserves the right to make, at any time during the progress of the Work, such 

alterations as may be found necessary or in the City’s best interest.  
 
6.3.2 Such alterations and changes shall not invalidate this Agreement nor release the surety and 

CM@Risk agrees to perform the Work as altered, the same as if it has been a part of the 
original Contract Documents. 

 



 

 
 PROJECT NO. 01-16001   Street Maintenance Program 2015, 2016, 2017 

GMP Agreement One                                                                                                                        PAGE 21 

6.3.3 The City shall request a proposal for a change in Work from CM@Risk, and an adjustment in 
the Contract Price and/or Contract Times shall be made based on a mutual agreed upon cost 
and time. 

 
6.4 Legal Requirements. The Contract Price and/or Contract Times shall be adjusted to 

compensate CM@Risk for the effects of any changes in the Legal Requirements enacted after 
the date of their Agreement or the date of the GMP, affecting the performance of the Work 

  
6.5 Change Directives and Change Orders 
 
6.5.1 City and CM@Risk shall negotiate in good faith and as expeditiously as possible the 

appropriate adjustments for a Change Directive if any adjustments are appropriate.  Upon 
reaching an agreement, the parties shall prepare and execute an appropriate Change Order 
reflecting the terms of the adjustment. 

 
6.5.2 All changes in Work authorized by Change Directives and/or Change Orders shall be 

performed under the conditions of the Contract Documents. 
 
6.6 Minor Changes in the Work  
 
6.6.1 The City has authority to order minor changes in Work that do not materially and adversely 

affect the Work, including the design, quality, performance and workmanship required by the 
Contract Documents.  Such changes shall be affected by written order and shall be binding on 
the City and CM@Risk.  CM@Risk shall carry out such written orders promptly. 

 
6.6.2 CM@Risk may make minor changes in Work, provided, however that CM@Risk shall promptly 

inform City, in writing, of any such changes and record such changes, if appropriate, on the 
Project Record Documents maintained by CM@Risk. 

 
6.6.3 Minor changes in Work shall not involve an adjustment in the Contract Price and/or Contract 

Times. 
 
6.7 Contract Price Adjustments 
 
6.7.1 The increase or decrease in Contract Price resulting from a change in the Work shall be 

determined by one or more of the following methods: 
 
6.7.1.1 Unit prices set forth in this Agreement or as subsequently agreed to between the parties; 
 
6.7.1.2 A mutually accepted, lump sum, properly itemized and supported by sufficient substantiating 

data to permit evaluation by City; and 
 
6.7.1.3 Costs, fees and any other markups.  
 
6.7.2 The markups that shall be allowed on such changes shall be no greater than the markups 

delineated in the approved GMP as shown on Exhibit “B”. 
 
6.7.3 If an increase or decrease cannot be agreed to as set forth in Sections 6.7.1.1 through 6.7.1.3 

above and City issues a Change Directive, the cost of the change of the Work shall be 
determined by the reasonable expense and savings in the performance of the Work resulting 
from the change, including a reasonable overhead and profit, as may be set forth in their 
Agreement.  CM@Risk shall maintain a documented, itemized accounting evidencing the 
expenses and savings associated with such changes. 

 



 

 
 PROJECT NO. 01-16001   Street Maintenance Program 2015, 2016, 2017 

GMP Agreement One                                                                                                                        PAGE 22 

6.7.4 If unit prices are set forth in the Contract Documents or are subsequently agreed to by the 
parties, but application of such unit prices shall cause substantial inequity to City or CM@Risk 
because of differences in the character or quantity of such unit items as originally 
contemplated, such unit prices shall be equitably adjusted. 

 
6.7.5 If City and CM@Risk disagree upon whether CM@Risk is entitled to be paid for any services 

required by City, or if there are any other disagreements over the scope of Work or proposed 
changes to the Work, City and CM@Risk shall resolve the disagreement pursuant to Article 8 
hereof.  

 
6.7.5.1 As part of the negotiation process, CM@Risk shall furnish City with a good faith estimate of 

the costs to perform the disputed services in accordance with City's interpretations.   
 
6.7.5.2 If the parties are unable to agree and City expects CM@Risk to perform the services in 

accordance with City's interpretations, CM@Risk shall proceed to perform the disputed 
services, conditioned upon City issuing a written order to CM@Risk (i) directing CM@Risk to 
proceed and (ii) specifying City's interpretation of the services that are to be performed.  

 
6.7.6 Emergencies.   

 
In any emergency affecting the safety of persons and/or property, CM@Risk shall act, at its 
discretion, to prevent threatened damage, injury or loss.  Any change in the Contract Price 
and/or Contract Time resulting from emergency work under this Section shall be determined 
as provided in this Article.  

 

 Article 7- Procedure for Payment   ______ 

 
7.0 For and in consideration of the faithful performance of the Work herein embraced as set forth 

in the Contract Documents, which are a part hereof and in accordance with the directions of 
the City and to the City’s satisfaction, the City agrees to pay CM@Risk the actual Cost of the 
Work and any applicable General Conditions Costs including, insurance and bonding, taxes 
and CM@Risk’s Construction Fee, but no more than the GMP as adjusted by any change 
orders.  Payment for the specific Work under this Agreement shall be made in accordance 
with payment provisions detailed below. 

 
7.1 GMP Payment Request 
 
7.1.1 At the pre-construction conference prescribed in Section 2.4, CM@Risk shall submit for City’s 

review and approval a Schedule of Values. The Schedule of Values shall serve as the basis 
for monthly progress payments made to CM@Risk throughout the Work. 

 
7.1.2 At least five (5) working days prior to the date established for a Payment Request, CM@Risk 

shall submit an updated Project Master Schedule and meet with the City’s Representative to 
review the progress of the Work as it shall be reflected on the Payment Request. 

 
7.1.3 The Payment Request shall constitute CM@Risk’s representation that the Work has been 

performed consistent with the Contract Documents, has progressed to the point indicated in 
the Payment Request, and that title to all Work shall pass to City free and clear of all claims, 
liens, encumbrances, and security interests upon the incorporation of the Work into the 
Project. 

 
7.1.4 The Payment Request may request payment for stored equipment and materials if 

construction progress is in reasonable conformance with the approved schedule. 
 
7.1.4.1 For equipment and materials suitably stored at the Site, the equipment and materials shall be 

protected by suitable insurance and City shall receive the equipment and materials free and 



 

 
 PROJECT NO. 01-16001   Street Maintenance Program 2015, 2016, 2017 

GMP Agreement One                                                                                                                        PAGE 23 

clear of all liens and encumbrances. 
 
7.1.4.2 For materials and equipment stored off the Site, the City must approve the storage.  The 

material and equipment must be stored within Coconino County or other Sites as may be 
approved and be accessible for City’s inspection.  CM@Risk must establish City title to such 
materials and equipment or otherwise protect the City's interest and shall include applicable 
insurance, bonding, storage and transportation to the Site. 

 
7.1.4.3 All bonds and insurance required for stored materials shall name the City as the loss payee to 

the extent of its interest in the stored materials.  
 
7.1.5 CM@Risk shall submit to City on a monthly basis either on the first of the month for payment 

on the 15
th
 or on the 19th of the month for payment on the 30th or 31st.  If the payment date is 

on a Saturday, payment shall be on Friday.  If the payment date is on a Sunday, payment shall 
be on Monday. 

      
7.2 Payment of GMP 
 
7.2.1 City shall make payment in accordance with A.R.S. §34-607.  Payment shall be made no later 

than fourteen (14) days after the Payment Request is certified and approved, but in each case 
less the total of payments previously made, and less amounts properly retained under Section 
7.3 below.  

 
7.2.2 City shall pay CM@Risk all amounts properly due. If City determines that CM@Risk is not 

entitled to all or part of a Payment Request, it shall notify CM@Risk in writing within (7) days 
after the date Payment Request is received by the City.  The notice shall indicate the specific 
amounts City intends to withhold, the reasons and contractual basis for the withholding, and 
the specific measures CM@Risk shall take to rectify City’s concerns.  CM@Risk and City shall 
attempt to resolve City’s concerns.   If the parties cannot resolve such concerns, CM@Risk 
may pursue its rights under the Contract Documents, including those under Article 8 hereof. 

 
7.3 Retention of GMP  
 
7.3.1 City shall retain ten percent (10%) of each Payment Request amount provided.  When fifty 

percent (50%) of the Work has been completed by CM@Risk, upon request of CM@Risk, City 
may reduce the amount retained to five percent (5%) from CM@Risk’s subsequent Payment 
Requests if CM@Risk’s performance of Work has been satisfactory. 

 
7.3.2 In lieu of retention, CM@Risk may provide as a substitute, an assignment of time certificates 

of deposit (CDs) from a bank licensed by the State of Arizona, securities of or guaranteed by 
the United States of America, securities of counties, municipalities and school districts within 
the State of Arizona or shares of savings and loan institutions authorized to transact business 
in Arizona. 

 
7.3.2.1 CDs assigned to the City must be maintained at the City's single servicing bank, in the form of 

time deposit receipt accounts.   
 
7.3.2.2 Securities deposited in lieu of retention must be deposited into a separate account with a bank 

within the State of Arizona. 
 
7.3.2.3 CDs and Securities shall be assigned exclusively for the benefit of the City of Flagstaff 

pursuant to the City's form of Escrow Agreement.  Escrow Agreement forms may be obtained 
from the Purchasing Department by contacting Patrick Brown, Senior Procurement Specialist. 

 
7.4 Substantial Completion.   

 
Upon Substantial Completion of the entire Work or, if applicable, any portion of the Work, City 



 

 
 PROJECT NO. 01-16001   Street Maintenance Program 2015, 2016, 2017 

GMP Agreement One                                                                                                                        PAGE 24 

shall release to CM@Risk all retained amounts relating, as applicable, to the entire Work or 
completed portion of the Work, less an amount up to two and one-half (2.5) times the 
reasonable value of all remaining or incomplete items of Work as noted in the Certificate of 
Substantial Completion. 
 

7.5 Final Payment 
 
7.5.1 After receipt of a final Payment Request, City shall make final payment within sixty (60) days 

after receipt by the City, provided that CM@Risk has completed all of the Work in 
conformance with the Contract Documents and a Final Completion Letter has been issued by 
the City. 

 
7.5.2 At the time of submission of its final Payment Request, CM@Risk shall provide the following 

information:  
 
7.5.2.1 An affidavit affirming that there are no claims, obligations or liens outstanding or unsatisfied for 

labor, services, material, equipment, taxes or other items performed, furnished or incurred for 
or in connection with the Work which shall in any way affect City’s interests;  

 
7.5.2.2 A general release executed by CM@Risk waiving, upon receipt of final payment by CM@Risk, 

all claims, except those claims previously made in writing to City and remaining unsettled at 
the time of final payment; and 

 
7.5.2.3 Consent of CM@Risk’s surety, if any, to final payment. 
 
7.6 Payments To Subcontractors or Suppliers 
 
7.6.1 CM@Risk shall pay its Subcontractors or suppliers within seven (7) calendar days of receipt of 

each progress payment from the City.  CM@Risk shall pay for the amount of Work performed 
or materials supplied by each Subcontractor or supplier as accepted and approved by the City 
with each progress payment.  In addition, any reduction of retention by the City to CM@Risk 
shall result in a corresponding reduction to Subcontractors or suppliers who have performed 
satisfactory work.  CM@Risk shall pay Subcontractors or suppliers the reduced retention 
within fourteen (14) calendar days of the payment of the reduction of the retention to 
CM@Risk.  No agreement between CM@Risk and its Subcontractors and suppliers may 
materially alter the rights of any Subcontractor or supplier to receive prompt payment and 
retention reduction as provided herein. 

 
7.6.2 If CM@Risk fails to make payments in accordance with these provisions, the City may take 

any one or more of the following actions and CM@Risk agrees that the City may take such 
actions: 

 
7.6.2.1 Hold CM@Risk in default under this Agreement; 
 
7.6.2.2 Withhold future payments including retention until proper payment has been made to 

Subcontractors or suppliers in accordance with these provisions; 
 
7.6.2.3 Reject all future offers to perform work for the City from CM@Risk for a period not to exceed 

one (1) year from Substantial Completion date of this Project; or  
 
7.6.2.4 Terminate this Agreement. 
 
7.6.3 If CM@Risk’s payment to a Subcontractor or supplier is in dispute, it shall act in compliance 

with A.R.S. § 32-1129.02(D) and related statutes as amended, and shall further hold the City 
harmless from any ensuing damages, claims or costs.  

 
7.6.4 Should the City fail or delay in exercising or enforcing any right, power, privilege, or remedy 



 

 
 PROJECT NO. 01-16001   Street Maintenance Program 2015, 2016, 2017 

GMP Agreement One                                                                                                                        PAGE 25 

under this Section, such failure or delay shall not be deemed a waiver, release, or modification 
of the requirements of this Section or of any of the terms or provisions thereof. 

 
7.6.5 CM@Risk shall include these prompt payment provisions in every subcontract, including 

procurement of materials and leases of equipment for this Agreement. 
 
7.7 Record Keeping and Finance Controls 
 
7.7.1 Records of CM@Risk's direct personnel payroll, reimbursable expenses pertaining to this 

Project and records of accounts between the City and CM@Risk shall be kept on a generally 
recognized accounting basis and shall be available for three (3) years after Final Completion 
of the Project. 

 
7.7.2 The City, its authorized representative, and/or the appropriate federal agency, reserve the 

right to audit CM@Risk’s records to verify the accuracy and appropriateness of all pricing 
data, including data used to negotiate Contract Documents and any Change Orders.   

 
7.7.3 The City reserves the right to decrease Contract Price and/or payments made on this 

Agreement if, upon audit of CM@Risk’s records, the audit discloses CM@Risk has provided 
false, misleading, or inaccurate cost and pricing data.   

 
7.7.4 CM@Risk shall include a similar provision in all of its agreements with Subconsultants and 

Subcontractors providing services under the Contract Documents to ensure the City, its 
authorized representative, and/or the appropriate federal agency, has access to the 
Subconsultants’ and Subcontractors’ records to verify the accuracy of cost and pricing data.  

 
7.7.5 The City reserves the right to decrease Contract Price and/or payments made on this 

Agreement if the above provision is not included in Subconsultant’s and Subcontractor’s 
Agreements, and one or more Subconsultants and/or Subcontractors do not allow the City to 
audit their records to verify the accuracy and appropriateness of pricing data. 

 

 Article 8- Claims and Disputes      

 

8.0 Requests for Agreement Adjustments and Relief. 
 
8.0.1 If either CM@Risk or City believes that it is entitled to relief against the other for any event 

arising out of or related to Work, such party shall provide written notice to the other party of the 
basis for its claim for relief. 

 
8.0.2 Such notice shall, if possible, be made prior to incurring any cost or expense and in 

accordance with any specific notice requirements contained in applicable sections of the 
Agreement.   

 
8.0.3 In the absence of any specific notice requirement, written notice shall be given within a 

reasonable time, not to exceed fourteen (14) days, after the occurrence giving rise to the claim 
for relief or after the claiming party reasonably should have recognized the event or condition 
giving rise to the request, whichever is later.   

 
8.0.4 Such notice shall include sufficient information to advise the other party of the circumstances 

giving rise to the claim for relief, the specific contractual adjustment or relief requested and the 
basis of such request.  

 
8.1 Dispute Avoidance and Resolution 
 
8.1.1 The parties are fully committed to working with each other throughout the Project and agree to 

communicate regularly with each other at all times so as to avoid or minimize disputes or 



 

 
 PROJECT NO. 01-16001   Street Maintenance Program 2015, 2016, 2017 

GMP Agreement One                                                                                                                        PAGE 26 

disagreements.  If disputes or disagreements do arise, CM@Risk and City each commit to 
resolving such disputes or disagreements in an amicable, professional and expeditious 
manner so as to avoid unnecessary losses, delays and disruptions to the Work.   

 
8.1.2 CM@Risk and City shall first attempt to resolve disputes or disagreements at the field level 

through discussions between CM@Risk’s Representative and City’s Representative. 
 
8.1.3 If a dispute or disagreement cannot be resolved through CM@Risk’s Representative and 

City’s Representative, CM@Risk’s Senior Representative and City’s Senior Representative, 
upon the request of either party, shall meet as soon as conveniently possible, but in no case 
later than thirty (30) days after such a request is made, to attempt to resolve such dispute or 
disagreement.  Prior to any meetings between the Senior Representatives, the parties shall 
exchange relevant information that shall assist the parties in resolving their dispute or 
disagreement. 

 
8.1.4 Except as otherwise agreed by the parties, any litigation brought by either party against the 

other to enforce the provisions of this Agreement shall be filed in the Coconino County 
Superior Court and Arizona law shall apply and control.  In the event any action at law or in 
equity is instituted between the parties in connection with this Agreement, the prevailing party 
in the action shall be entitled to its costs including reasonable attorneys’ fees and court costs 
from the non-prevailing party. 

 
8.2 Duty to Continue Performance.   

 
Unless provided to the contrary in the Contract Documents, CM@Risk shall continue to 
perform the Work and City shall continue to satisfy its payment obligations to CM@Risk, 
pending the final resolution of any dispute or disagreement between CM@Risk and City.  

 
8.3 Representatives of the Parties 
 
8.3.1 The City’s Representatives  
 
8.3.1.1 City designates the individual listed below or his designee as its Senior Representative ("City’s 

Senior Representative"), which individual has the authority and responsibility for avoiding and 
resolving disputes under Section 8.1.3:  
  

 Andy Bertelsen, Division Head  
 211 West Aspen Avenue  
 Flagstaff, AZ  86001 
 (928) 213-2105 
  

8.3.1.2 City designates the individual listed below as its City’s Representative, which individual has 
the authority and responsibility set forth in Section 8.1.2:  
 

 Adam Miele, Senior Project Manager 
 211 West Aspen Avenue 

 Flagstaff, AZ  86001 
 (928) 213-2108 

 
8.3.2 CM@Risk’s Representatives 
 
8.3.2.1 CM@Risk designates the individual listed below as its Senior Representative ("CM@Risk’s 

Senior Representative"), which individual has the authority and responsibility for avoiding and 
resolving disputes under Section 8.1.3: 

 



 

 
 PROJECT NO. 01-16001   Street Maintenance Program 2015, 2016, 2017 

GMP Agreement One                                                                                                                        PAGE 27 

  Harvey Heckethorn, Owner 
  P. O. Box 551 
  Flagstaff, Arizona 86002 
  (928)-774-4133. 
 
8.3.2.2 CM@Risk designates the individual listed below as its CM@Risk’s Representative, which 

individual has the authority and responsibility set forth in Section 8.1.2:  
 
  Earl Heckethorn, President 
  P. O. Box 551 
  Flagtstaff, Arizona 86002 
  (928)-774-4133 
 

 Article 9 – Suspension and Termination     

 
9.0 City’s Right to Stop Work 
 
9.0.1 City may, at its discretion and without cause, order CM@Risk in writing to stop and suspend 

the Work.  Such suspension shall not exceed one hundred and eighty (180) consecutive days.  
  
9.0.2 CM@Risk may seek an adjustment of the Contract Price and/or Contract Time if its cost or 

time to perform the Work has been adversely impacted by any suspension or stoppage of 
Work by City. 

 
9.1 Termination for Convenience 
 
9.1.1 Upon receipt of written notice from the City to CM@Risk, City may, at its discretion and 

without cause, elect to terminate this Agreement.  In such event, City shall pay CM@Risk only 
the direct value of its completed Work and materials supplied as of the date of termination.  
CM@Risk shall be entitled to profit and overhead on completed Work only, but shall not be 
entitled to anticipated profit or anticipated overhead. 

 
9.1.2 If the City suspends the Work for one hundred eighty-one (181) consecutive days or more, 

such suspension shall be deemed a termination for convenience. 
 
9.1.3 Upon such notice of termination for convenience, CM@Risk shall proceed with the following 

obligations: 
 
9.1.3.1 Stop Work as specified in the notice. 
 
9.1.3.2 Place no further subcontracts or orders. 
 
9.1.3.3 Terminate all subcontracts to the extent they relate to the Work terminated.  CM@Risk shall 

ensure that all subcontracts contain this same termination for convenience provision set forth in 
Section 9.1 et seq. 

 
9.1.3.4 At the City’s sole discretion and if requested in writing by the City, assign to the City all rights, 

title and interest of CM@Risk under the subcontracts subject to termination.   
 
9.1.3.5 Take any action that may be necessary for the protection and preservation of the property 

related to this Agreement that is in the possession of CM@Risk and in which the City has or may 
acquire an interest. 

 
9.1.4 CM@Risk shall submit complete termination inventory schedules no later than one hundred 

twenty (120) days from the date of the notice of termination. 



 

 
 PROJECT NO. 01-16001   Street Maintenance Program 2015, 2016, 2017 

GMP Agreement One                                                                                                                        PAGE 28 

 
9.1.5 The City shall pay CM@Risk the following: 
 
9.1.5.1 The direct value of its completed Work and materials supplied as of the date of termination.  
 
9.1.5.2 The reasonable and direct, actual costs and expenses attributable to such termination.  

Reasonable costs and expenses shall not include, among other things, anticipated profit, 
anticipated overhead, or costs arising from CM@Risk’s failure to perform as required under this 
Agreement.   

 
9.1.5.3 CM@Risk shall be entitled to profit and overhead on completed Work only, but shall not be 

entitled to anticipated profit or anticipated overhead.  If it is determined that CM@Risk would 
have sustained a loss on the entire Work had they been completed, CM@Risk shall not be 
allowed profit and the City shall reduce the settlement to reflect the indicated rate of loss. 

 
9.1.6 CM@Risk shall maintain all records and documents for three (3) years after final settlement.  

These records shall be maintained and subject to auditing as prescribed in Section 7.7.   
 
9.2 The City’s Right to Perform and Terminate for Cause 
 
9.2.1 If the City provides CM@Risk with a written order to provide adequate maintenance of traffic, 

adequate cleanup, adequate dust control or to correct deficiencies or damage resulting from 
abnormal weather conditions, and CM@Risk fails to comply in a time frame specified, the City 
may have work accomplished by other sources at CM@Risk’s sole expense.  

 
9.2.2 If CM@Risk persistently fails to (i) provide a sufficient number of skilled workers, (ii) supply the 

materials required by the Contract Documents, (iii) comply with applicable Legal 
Requirements, (iv) timely pay, without cause, Subconsultants and/or Subcontractors, (v) 
prosecute the Work with promptness and diligence to ensure that the Work is completed by 
the Contract Time, as such times may be adjusted, or (vi) perform material obligations under 
the Contract Documents, then City, in addition to any other rights and remedies provided in 
the Contract Documents or by law, shall have the rights set forth in Subsections 9.2.3 and 
9.2.4 below.   

 
9.2.3 Upon the occurrence of an event set forth in Subsection 9.2.2 above, City may provide written 

notice to CM@Risk that it intends to terminate this Agreement unless the problem cited is 
cured, or commenced to be cured, within seven (7) days of CM@Risk’s receipt of such notice.   

 
9.2.3.1 If CM@Risk fails to cure, or reasonably commence to cure, such problem, then City may give 

a second written notice to CM@Risk of its intent to terminate within an additional seven (7) 
day period.   

 
9.2.3.2 If CM@Risk, within such second seven (7) day period, fails to cure, or reasonably commence 

to cure, such problem, then City may declare this Agreement terminated for default by 
providing written notice to CM@Risk of such declaration. 

 
9.2.4 Upon declaring this Agreement terminated pursuant to Subsection 9.2.3.2 above, City may 

enter upon the premises and take possession, for the purpose of completing the Work, of all 
materials, equipment, scaffolds, tools, appliances and other items thereon, which have been 
purchased or provided for the performance of the Work, all of which CM@Risk hereby 
transfers, assigns and conveys to City for such purpose, and to employ any person or persons 
to complete the Work and provide all of the required labor, services, materials, equipment and 
other items.   

 



 

 
 PROJECT NO. 01-16001   Street Maintenance Program 2015, 2016, 2017 

GMP Agreement One                                                                                                                        PAGE 29 

9.2.5 In the event of such termination, CM@Risk shall not be entitled to receive any further 
payments under the Contract Documents until the Work shall be finally completed in 
accordance with the Contract Documents.  At such time, CM@Risk shall only be entitled to be 
paid for Work performed and accepted by the City prior to its default.   

 
9.2.6 If City’s cost and expense of completing the Work exceeds the unpaid balance of the Contract 

Price, then CM@Risk shall be obligated to pay the difference to City.  Such costs and 
expenses shall include not only the cost of completing the Work, but also losses, damages, 
costs and expense, including attorneys’ fees and expenses, incurred by City in connection 
with the reprocurement and defense of claims arising from CM@Risk’s default.  

 
9.2.7 If City improperly terminates the Agreement for cause, the termination for cause shall be 

converted to a termination for convenience in accordance with the provisions of Section 9.1. 
 
9.3 Maintenance During Winter Shutdown of Work; Snow Removal  
 
9.3.1 The Capital Improvement Department of the City of Flagstaff retains the right to declare a Winter 

Shutdown when, in the opinion of the City, it would be unreasonable to continue Work due to 
adverse weather conditions. The Winter Shutdown determination is at the sole discretion of the City. 
If Work has been suspended due to winter weather, the CM@Risk shall be responsible for 
maintenance and protection of the improvements and of partially completed portions of the Work until 
final acceptance of the project.  Winter Shutdown shall be by field order, change order or original 
contract.  If repairs and/or maintenance are needed during the Winter Shutdown, the CM@Risk is 
required to perform the repairs and/or maintenance within twenty-four (24) hours of notification from 
the City.  If the needed repairs and/or maintenance are not addressed within the timeframe, the City 
will accomplish the repairs and/or maintenance and deduct the cost from monies due or become due 
to the CM@Risk.   

 
9.3.2 The City shall provide snow removal operations on active traffic lanes only.  All other snow removal 

and maintenance operations shall be the responsibility of the Contractor.  All cost associated with 
snow removal and proper disposal shall be considered incidental to the work including repair of 
temporary surface improvements due to normal wear and snow removal operations.   

 
9.3.3 Upon termination of the Winter Shutdown by the City, the CM@Risk shall have the right to complete 

the Work and the Project. 
 
9.3.4 The CM@Risk shall be solely responsible for any and all costs incurred either as a direct or indirect 

result of a Winter Shutdown, and shall hold the City harmless from the same. 
  

 Article 10 - Insurance and Bonds     

 
10.0 Insurance Requirements  
 
10.0.1 CM@Risk and Subcontractors shall procure and maintain until all of their obligations have 

been discharged, including any warranty periods under this Agreement are satisfied, 
insurance against claims for injury to persons or damage to property which may arise from or 
in connection with the performance of the Work hereunder by CM@Risk, its agents, 
representatives, employees or Subcontractors.   

 
10.0.2 The insurance requirements herein are minimum requirements for this Agreement and in no 

way limit the indemnity covenants contained in this Agreement. 
 
10.0.3 The City in no way warrants that the minimum limits contained herein are sufficient to protect 

CM@Risk from liabilities that might arise out of the performance of the work under this 
Agreement by CM@Risk, its agents, representatives, employees, or subcontractors.  
CM@Risk is free to purchase such additional insurance as may be determined necessary. 



 

 
 PROJECT NO. 01-16001   Street Maintenance Program 2015, 2016, 2017 

GMP Agreement One                                                                                                                        PAGE 30 

 
10.1 Minimum Scope and Limits of Insurance.  CM@Risk shall provide coverage with limits of 

liability not less than those stated below:  
 
10.1.1 Commercial General Liability – Occurrence Form 
 Policy shall include bodily injury, property damage, broad form contractual liability and XCU 

coverage. 
• General Aggregate/for this Project $2,000,000/$1,000,000 
• Products – Completed Operations Aggregate $1,000,000 
• Personal and Advertising Injury $1,000,000 
• Each Occurrence $1,000,000 

 
 The policy shall be endorsed to include the following additional insured language: "The City of 

Flagstaff shall be named as an additional insured with respect to liability arising out of 
the activities performed by, or on behalf of CM@Risk". 

 
10.1.2 Automobile Liability - Bodily injury and property damage for any owned, hired, and non-owned 

vehicles used in the performance of this Agreement. 
 Combined Single Limit (“CSL”) $1,000,000 
 

The policy shall be endorsed to include the following additional insured language: "The City of 
Flagstaff shall be named as an additional insured with respect to liability arising out of 
the activities performed by, or on behalf of CM@Risk, including automobiles owned, 
leased, hired or borrowed by CM@Risk". 

 
10.1.3 Worker's Compensation and Employers' Liability 
  Workers' Compensation Statutory 
 Employers' Liability  
 Each Accident $100,000 
 Disease - Each Employee $100,000 
 Disease – Policy Limit $500,000 
 
10.1.4 Builders' Risk Insurance or Installation Floater $________ 
 In an amount equal to the initial Contract Amount plus additional coverage equal to Contract 

Amount for all subsequent change orders. 
 
10.1.4.1 The City of Flagstaff, CM@Risk, Subcontractors, Design Professional and Design 

Professional’s consultant and any others with an insurable interest in the Work shall be 
Named Insured on the policy. 

 
10.1.4.2 Coverage shall be written on an all risk, replacement cost basis and shall include coverage 

for soft costs, flood and earth movement. 
 
10.1.4.3 Coverage shall be maintained until whichever of the following shall first occur:  (i) final 

payment has been made; or, (ii) until no person or entity, other than the City of Flagstaff, has 
an insurable interest in the property required to be covered. 

 
10.1.4.4 Coverage shall be endorsed such that the insurance shall not be canceled or lapse because of 

any partial use or occupancy by the City. 
 
10.1.4.5 CM@Risk shall provide coverage from the time any covered property becomes the 

responsibility of CM@Risk, and continue without interruption during construction, renovation, 
or installation, including any time during which the covered property is being transported to the 
construction installation Site, or awaiting installation, whether on or off Site. 

 



 

 
 PROJECT NO. 01-16001   Street Maintenance Program 2015, 2016, 2017 

GMP Agreement One                                                                                                                        PAGE 31 

10.1.4.6 Coverage shall contain a waiver of subrogation against the City of Flagstaff. 
 
10.1.4.7 CM@Risk is responsible for the payment of all policy deductibles. 
 
10.2 Additional Insurance Requirements.   
 
 The policies shall include, or be endorsed to include, the following provisions: 
 
10.2.1 The City, its officers, officials, agents, employees and volunteers shall be additional insured to 

the full limits of liability purchased by CM@Risk even if those limits of liability are in excess of 
those required by this Agreement. 

 
10.2.2 CM@Risk's insurance coverage shall be primary insurance and non-contributory with respect 

to all other available sources. 
 
10.2.3 Coverage provided by CM@Risk shall not be limited to the liability assumed under the 

indemnification provisions of this Agreement. 
 
10.2.4 The policies shall contain a Waiver of Subrogation against the City, its officers, officials, 

agents, and employees for losses arising from work performed by the CM@Risk for the City. 
 
10.3 Notice of Cancellation.  
  
 Each insurance policy required by the insurance provisions of this Agreement shall provide the 

required coverage and shall not be suspended, voided, canceled, reduced in coverage or 
endorsed to lower limits except after thirty (30) days prior written notice has been given to the 
City.  Such notice shall be sent directly to the City Purchasing Department, attention Patrick 
Brown, Senior Procurement Specialist, and shall be sent by certified mail, return receipt 
requested. 

 
10.4 Acceptability of Insurers.   
 
 Insurance is to be placed with insurers who are duly licensed companies in the State of 

Arizona with an “A.M. Best” rating of A-7, or as approved by the City and licensed in the State 
of Arizona with policies and forms satisfactory to the City.  The City in no way warrants that the 
above-required minimum insurer rating is sufficient to protect CM@Risk from potential insurer 
insolvency. 

10.5 Verification Of Coverage  
 
10.5.1 CM@Risk shall furnish the City with Certificates of Insurance (ACORD form or equivalent 

approved by the City) as required by this Agreement.  The Certificates for each insurance 
policy are to be signed by a person authorized by that insurer to bind coverage on its behalf. 

 
10.5.2 All Certificates of Insurance and endorsements are to be received and approved by the City 

before work commences.  Each insurance policy required by this Agreement shall be in effect 
at or prior to commencement of Work under this Agreement and remain in effect for the 
duration of the Project.  Failure to maintain the insurance policies as required by this 
Agreement or to provide evidence of renewal is a material breach of contract. 

 
10.5.3 All Certificates of Insurance required by this Agreement shall be sent directly to City’s 

Purchasing Department, attention Patrick Brown, Senior Procurement Specialist.  The City 
project/contract number and project description shall be noted on the Certificate of Insurance.  
The City reserves the right to require complete, certified copies of all insurance policies 
required by this Agreement at any time.  

 



 

 
 PROJECT NO. 01-16001   Street Maintenance Program 2015, 2016, 2017 

GMP Agreement One                                                                                                                        PAGE 32 

10.5.4 If the Certificate of Insurance reflecting policy coverage and cancellation notice does 
not conform to the City’s requirements, the CM@Risk must: 
• Submit a current Certificate of Insurance (dated within fifteen (15) days of the 

payment request submittal) with each payment request form.  The payment request 
shall be rejected if the Certificate of Insurance is not submitted with the payment 
request. 

 
10.6 Subcontractors.    
 
 CM@Risk’s Certificate(s) of Insurance shall include all Subcontractors as additional insureds 

under its policies.  All coverages for Subcontractors shall be subject to the minimum 
requirements identified above. 

 
10.7 Approval.   
 
 Any modification or variation from the insurance requirements in this Agreement shall be made 

by the City Attorney’s Office, whose decision shall be final.  Such action shall not require a 
formal contract amendment, but may be made by administrative action. 

 
10.8 Bonds and Other Performance Security.    
 
10.8.1 Prior to execution of this Agreement, CM@Risk shall provide a performance bond and a labor 

and materials bond, each in an amount equal to the full amount of the GMP.     
 
10.8.2 Each such bond shall be executed by a surety company, or companies, holding a Certificate of 

Authority to transact surety business in the State of Arizona, issued by the Director of the 
Arizona Department of Insurance.  A copy of the Certificate of Authority shall accompany the 
bonds.  The Certificate shall have been issued or updated within two (2) years prior to the 
execution of this Agreement.   

 
10.8.3 The bonds shall be made payable and acceptable to the City of Flagstaff.   
 
10.8.4 The bonds shall be written or countersigned by an authorized representative of the surety who 

is either a resident of the State of Arizona or whose principal office is maintained in Arizona, 
as by law required, and the bonds shall have attached thereto a certified copy of Power of 
Attorney of the signing official.   

 
10.8.4.1 If one Power of Attorney is submitted, it shall be for twice the total GMP amount.   
 
10.8.4.2 If two Powers of Attorney are submitted, each shall be for the total GMP amount.  Personal or 

individual bonds are not acceptable. 
 
10.8.5 Upon the request of any person or entity appearing to be a potential beneficiary of bonds 

covering payment of obligations arising under the Contract Documents, CM@Risk shall 
promptly furnish a copy of the bonds or shall permit a copy to be made. 

 
10.8.6 All bonds submitted for this project shall be provided by a company which has been rated AM 

Best rating of “A-,7, or better for the prior four quarters” by the A.M. Best Company.  
 

 Article 11 - Indemnification     

 
11.1 CM@Risk’s Liability and Indemnification.   
 
11.1.1 To the fullest extent permitted by law, CM@Risk shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless the City, 

its agents, representatives, officers, directors, officials and employees from and against all claims, 
damages, losses and expenses (including but not limited to attorney fees, court costs, and the cost 



 

 
 PROJECT NO. 01-16001   Street Maintenance Program 2015, 2016, 2017 

GMP Agreement One                                                                                                                        PAGE 33 

of appellate proceedings), relating to, arising out of, or alleged to have resulted from the negligent, 
reckless, or intentional acts, errors, mistakes, omissions, work or services of CM@Risk, its 
employees, agents, or any tier of subcontractors in the performance of this Agreement.  CM@Risk’s 
duty to defend, hold harmless and indemnify the City, its agents, representatives, officers, directors, 
officials and employees shall arise in connection with the claim, damage, loss or expense that is 
attributable to bodily injury, sickness, disease, death, or injury to, impairment, or destruction of 
property including loss of use resulting therefrom, caused by any acts, errors, mistakes, omissions, 
work or services in the performance of this Agreement including any employee of CM@Risk or any 
tier of subcontractor or any other person for whose acts, errors, mistakes, omissions, work or 
services CM@Risk may be legally liable. 

 
The amount and type of insurance coverage requirements set forth herein shall in no way be 
construed as limiting the scope of the indemnity in this paragraph. 

 

 Article 12 – General Provisions      
 
12.1 Contract Documents  
 
12.1.1 Contract Documents are as defined in Article 1. This Agreement, Plans, Standard 

Specifications and Details, Special Provisions, Addenda (if any) dated “None” and used as the 
basis for the Guaranteed Maximum Price Proposal and Guaranteed Maximum Price Proposal, 
as accepted by the Mayor and Council per Council Minutes 3rd day of March, 2015, 
Performance Bond, Payment Bond, Certificates of Insurance, Construction Documents and 
Change Orders (if any) are by this reference made a part of this Agreement to the same extent 
as if set forth herein in full. 

 
12.1.2 The Contract Documents are intended to permit the parties to complete the Work and all 

obligations required by the Contract Documents within the Contract Times for the Contract 
Price. The Contract Documents are intended to be complementary and interpreted in harmony 
so as to avoid conflict, with words and phrases interpreted in a manner consistent with 
construction and design industry standards.   

 
12.1.3 In the event of any inconsistency, conflict, or ambiguity between or among the Contract 

Documents, the Contract Documents shall take precedence in the order in which they are 
listed in the definition of Contract Documents in Article 1.  

 
12.1.3.1  On the drawings, given dimensions shall take precedence over scaled measurements, and 

large-scale drawings over small-scale drawings.  
 
12.1.3.2  Specifications take precedence over Plans.  
 
12.1.3.3  In the event of any inconsistency, conflict, or ambiguity between the Contract Documents and 

the Design Phase Agreement, the Contract Documents take precedence over the Design 
Phase Agreement 

 
12.1.4  The headings used in this Agreement, or any other Contract Documents, are for ease of 

reference only and shall not in any way be construed to limit or alter the meaning of any 
provision. 

 
12.1.5  The Contract Documents form the entire agreement between City and CM@Risk and by 

incorporation herein are as fully binding on the parties as if repeated herein. No oral 
representations or other agreements have been made by the parties except as specifically 
stated in the Contract Documents. 

 
12.2 Amendments.   
 
 The Contract Documents may not be changed, altered, or amended in any way except in 



 

 
 PROJECT NO. 01-16001   Street Maintenance Program 2015, 2016, 2017 

GMP Agreement One                                                                                                                        PAGE 34 

writing signed by a duly authorized representative of each party. 
 
12.3 Time is of the Essence.   
  
 City and CM@Risk mutually agree that time is of the essence with respect to the dates and 

times set forth in the Contract Documents. 
 
12.4 Mutual Obligations.  
  
 City and CM@Risk commit at all times to cooperate fully with each other, and proceed on the 

basis of trust and good faith, to permit each party to realize the benefits afforded under the 
Contract Documents. 

 
12.5 Cooperation and Further Documentation.   
 
 CM@Risk agrees to provide the City such other duly executed documents as shall be 

reasonably requested by the City to implement the intent of the Contract Documents. 
 
12.6 Assignment.   
 
 Neither CM@Risk nor City shall, without the written consent of the other assign, transfer or 

sublet any portion of this Agreement or part of the Work or the obligations required by the 
Contract Documents. 

 
12.7 Successorship.   
 
 CM@Risk and City intend that the provisions of the Contract Documents are binding upon the 

parties, their employees, agents, heirs, successors and assigns. 
 
12.8 Third Party Beneficiary.   
 
 Nothing under the Contract Documents shall be construed to give any rights or benefits in the 

Contract Documents to anyone other than the City and CM@Risk, and all duties and 
responsibilities undertaken pursuant to the Contract Documents shall be for the sole and 
exclusive benefit of City and CM@Risk and not for the benefit of any other party. 

 
12.9 Governing Law.   
 
 This Agreement and all Contract Documents shall be deemed to be made under, and shall be 

construed, in accordance with and governed by the laws of the State of Arizona without regard 
to the conflicts or choice of law provisions thereof.  Any action to enforce any provision of this 
Agreement or to obtain any remedy with respect hereto shall be brought in the Superior Court, 
Coconino County, Arizona, and for this purpose, each party hereby expressly and irrevocably 
consents to the jurisdiction and venue of such Court. 

 
12.10 Severability.   
 
 If any provision of the Contract Documents or the application thereof to any person or 

circumstance shall be invalid, illegal or unenforceable to any extent, the remainder of the 
Contract Documents and the application thereof shall not be affected and shall be enforceable 
to the fullest extent permitted by law. 

 
12.11 Compliance with All Laws.   
 
 CMAR will comply with all applicable Federal, State, County and City laws, regulations and 

policies. CMAR understands and acknowledges the applicability of the Americans with 
Disabilities Act, the Immigration Reform and Control Act of 1986 and the Drug Free Workplace 



 

 
 PROJECT NO. 01-16001   Street Maintenance Program 2015, 2016, 2017 

GMP Agreement One                                                                                                                        PAGE 35 

Act of 1989.  CMAR agrees to comply with these laws in performing the Contract Documents 
and to permit the City to verify such compliance. 

 
12.12 Legal Requirements.   
  
 CM@Risk shall perform all Work in accordance with all Legal Requirements and shall provide 

all notices applicable to the Work as required by the Legal Requirements. 
 
12.13 Construction Documents.  
 
 It is not CM@Risk’s responsibility to ascertain that the Construction Documents are in 

accordance with applicable laws, statutes, ordinances, building codes, rules and regulations. 
However, if CM@Risk recognizes that portions of the Construction Documents are at variance 
therewith, CM@Risk shall promptly notify the Design Professional and City in writing, 
describing the apparent variance or deficiency.   

 
12.14 Independent Contractor.  
 
 CM@Risk is and shall be an independent contractor.  Any provisions in the Contract 

Documents that may appear to give the City the right to direct CM@Risk as to the details of 
accomplishing the Work or to exercise a measure of control over the Work means that 
CM@Risk shall follow the wishes of the City as to the results of the Work only. These results 
shall comply with all applicable laws and ordinances. 

 
12.15 The City's Right of Cancellation.   
  
 All parties hereto acknowledge that this Agreement is subject to cancellation by the City 

pursuant to the provisions of Section 38-511, Arizona Revised Statutes. 
 
12.16 Survival.   
 
 All warranties, representations and indemnifications by CM@Risk shall survive the completion 

or termination of this Agreement. 
 
12.17 Covenant against Contingent Fees.   
 
 CM@Risk warrants that no person has been employed or retained to solicit or secure this 

Agreement upon an agreement or understanding for a commission, percentage, brokerage, or 
contingent fee, and that no member of the City Council, or any employee of City has any 
interest, financially, or otherwise, in the firm.  For breach or violation of this warrant, the City 
shall have the right to annul this Agreement without liability, or at its discretion to deduct from 
the Contract Price or consideration, the full amount of such commission, percentage, 
brokerage, or contingent fee. 

 
12.18 No Waiver.  
 
 The failure of either party to enforce any of the provisions of the Contract Documents or to 

require performance of the other party of any of the provisions hereof shall not be construed to 
be a waiver of such provisions, nor shall it affect the validity of the Contract Documents or any 
part thereof, or the right of either party to thereafter enforce each and every provision. 

 
12.19  Notice.     
 
12.19.1 Unless otherwise provided, any notice, request, instruction or other document to be given 

under this Agreement by any party to any other party shall be in writing and shall be delivered 
in person or by courier or facsimile transmission or mailed by certified mail, postage prepaid, 
return receipt requested and shall be deemed given upon (a) confirmation of receipt of a 



 

 
 PROJECT NO. 01-16001   Street Maintenance Program 2015, 2016, 2017 

GMP Agreement One                                                                                                                        PAGE 36 

facsimile transmission, (b) confirmed delivery by hand or standard overnight mail or (c) upon 
the expiration of three (3) business days after the day mailed by certified mail, as follows: 

 
to CM@Risk:   
 

  Harvey Heckethorn, Owner 
  P. O. Box 551 
  Flagtstaff, Arizona 86002 
  (928)-774-4133 

 
to City: 
 
 City of Flagstaff  
 211 West Aspen Avenue 
 Flagstaff, Arizona 86001 
 Attn: Patrick Brown, Senior Procurement Specialist                                
 Phone: (928) 213-2277                       
 Fax: (928) 213-2209                          
 
With a copy to: 
 

  City of Flagstaff  
  211 West Aspen Avenue 
  Flagstaff, Arizona 86001 

 Attn: Adam Miele, Senior Project Manager 
  Phone: (928) 213-2108 

 Fax: (928) 213- 2109 
 
Design Professional: 

 
  Plateau Engineering, Jim Hall, P. E., President 
  323 N. San Francisco St., Suite 201 
  Flagstaff, Arizona 86001 
   928-556-0311 
 
 or to such other place and with such other copies as either Party may designate as to itself by 

written notice to the other Party.  Rejection, any refusal to accept or the inability to deliver 
because of changed address of which no notice was given shall be deemed to be receipt of 
the notice as of the date of such rejection, refusal or inability to deliver. 

 
12.19.2 Notices Related to Payment, Securities-in-lieu, Bonds.  Any notice, request, instruction or 

other document to be given under this Agreement by any party to any other party related to 
payment, securities-in-lieu, bonds or other instrument securing the performance of this 
Agreement, including but not limited to, bid bonds, performance bonds, payment bonds or 
letters of credit, shall be in writing and shall be delivered in person or by courier or facsimile 
transmission or mailed by certified mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested and shall be 
deemed given upon (a) confirmation of receipt of a facsimile transmission, (b) confirmed 
delivery by hand or standard overnight mail or (c) upon the expiration of three (3) business 
days after the day mailed by certified mail, as follows: 

 
to Contractor:   
 

  Harvey Heckethorn, Owner 
  P. O. Box 551 
  Flagtstaff, Arizona 86002 
  (928)-774-4133 

 



 

 
 PROJECT NO. 01-16001   Street Maintenance Program 2015, 2016, 2017 

GMP Agreement One                                                                                                                        PAGE 37 

to City: 
 
 City of Flagstaff  
 211 West Aspen Avenue 
 Flagstaff, Arizona 86001 

  Attn: Patrick Brown, Senior Procurement Specialist                                
  Phone: (928) 213-2277                        

 Fax: (928) 213-2209                       
 
 With copies to: 
 
 City of Flagstaff  
 211 West Aspen Avenue 
 Flagstaff, Arizona 86001 
 Attn: Adam Miele, City Representative (Project Manager) 
 Phone: (928) 213-2108  
 Fax: (928) 213-2109 
 
or to such other place and with such other copies as either Party may designate as to itself by 
written notice to the other Party.  Rejection, any refusal to accept or the inability to deliver 
because of changed address of which no notice was given shall be deemed to be receipt of the 
notice as of the date of such rejection, refusal or inability to deliver. 

 
12.20 Confidentiality of Plans and Specifications 
 
12.20.1 Any plans or specifications regarding this Project shall be for official use only.  CM@Risk shall 

not share them with others except as required to fulfill the obligations of this Agreement with the 
City. 

 
12.20.2 All Record Documents, Shop Drawings and other plans or drawings prepared or submitted by 

CM@Risk shall include the following language:  “These plans are for official use only and may 
not be shared with others except as required to fulfill the obligations of the Street Maintenance 
Program 2011 Project Agreement with the City of Flagstaff.” 

 
12.21 CM@Risk and Subcontractor Employee Security Inquiries.   
 
 The parties acknowledge that security measures required in this Section are necessary in order 

to preserve and protect the public health, safety and welfare.  In addition to the specific measures 
set forth below, CM@Risk shall take such other measures, as it deems reasonable and 
necessary to further preserve and protect the public health, safety and welfare. 

 
12.21.1 Security Inquiries.  CM@Risk acknowledges that all of the employees that it provides pursuant to 

this Agreement shall be subject to background and security checks and screening ("Security 
Inquiries").  CM@Risk shall perform all such security inquiries and shall make the results 
available to City for all employees considered for performing work (including supervision and 
oversight) under this Agreement.  City may make further security inquiries.  Whether or not further 
security inquires are made by City, City may, at its sole, absolute and unfettered discretion, 
accept or reject any or all of the employees proposed by CM@Risk for performing work under 
this Agreement.  Employees rejected by City for performing services under this Agreement may 
still be engaged by CM@Risk for other work not involving the City.  An employee rejected for 
work under this Agreement shall not be proposed to perform work under other City Agreements 
or engagements without City's prior approval. 

 



 

 
 PROJECT NO. 01-16001   Street Maintenance Program 2015, 2016, 2017 

GMP Agreement One                                                                                                                        PAGE 38 

12.21.2 Criteria for Evaluating Security Inquiries.  Once formally adopted by City, criteria for excluding an 
individual from performing work under this Agreement shall be communicated by City to 
CM@Risk and used by CM@Risk as a factor in making its decision.  Prior to such adoption, 
CM@Risk shall use its best judgment in making its decision using, among other criteria, 
applicable law, administrative regulations of federal, state and local agencies concerned with 
work performed under this Agreement, specific local concerns that deal with the specific work and 
work location(s) of the Project, and standards used by City in evaluating its own personnel. 

 
12.21.3 Additional City Rights Regarding Security Inquiries.  In addition to the foregoing, City reserves the 

right to: (1) have an employee/prospective employee of CM@Risk be required to provide 
fingerprints and execute such other documentation as may be necessary to obtain criminal justice 
information pursuant to A.R.S. § 41-1750(G)(4);  (2) act on newly acquired information whether or 
not such information should have been previously discovered; (3) unilaterally change its 
standards and criteria relative to the acceptability of CM@Risk 's employees and/or prospective 
employees; and, (4) object, at any time and for any reason, to an employee of CM@Risk 
performing work (including supervision and oversight) under this Agreement. 

 
12.21.4 Background and Security-Contracts and Subcontracts.  CM@Risk shall include the security 

inquiry terms of this Section for employee background and security checks and screening in all 
contracts and subcontracts for work performed under this Agreement, including supervision and 
oversight.  

 
12.21.5 Materiality of Security Inquiry Provisions.  The security inquiry provisions of this Agreement, as 

set forth above, are material to City 's entry into this Agreement and any breach thereof by 
CM@Risk may, at City's sole and unfettered discretion, be considered to be a breach of contract 
of sufficient magnitude to terminate this Agreement.  Such termination shall subject CM@Risk to 
liability for its breach of this Agreement. 

 
12.22 Hazardous Materials 
 
12.22.1 Unless included in the Work, if CM@Risk encounters material on the Site which it reasonably 

believes to contain asbestos, polychlorinated biphenyl (PCB), or other hazardous substances or 
materials regulated by applicable law, it shall immediately stop work and report the condition to the 
City.   

 
12.22.2 If the material is found to contain asbestos, PCB or other hazardous substances or materials 

regulated by applicable law, CM@Risk shall not resume work in the affected area until the 
material has been abated or rendered harmless.  CM@Risk and the City may agree, in writing, to 
continue work in non-affected areas on the Site.  

  
12.22.3 An extension of Contract Time may be granted in accordance with Article 6.   

 
12.22.4 CM@Risk shall comply with all applicable laws/ordinances and regulations and take all 

appropriate health and safety precautions upon discovery. 
 

12.23 Computer Systems.   
 
 CM@Risk shall warrant fault-free performance in the processing of date and date-related data 

including, but not limited to calculating, comparing, and sequencing by all equipment and 
software products, individually and in combination, from the commencement of the Work.  Fault-
free performance shall include the manipulation of data when dates are in the 20

th
 or 21

st
 

centuries and shall be transparent to the user.  Failure to comply with "Year 2000" requirements 
shall be considered a breach of this Agreement. 

 
12.24 Traffic Control.   
  
 CM@Risk shall comply with all provisions of the latest version of the Manual on Uniform Traffic 



 

 
 PROJECT NO. 01-16001   Street Maintenance Program 2015, 2016, 2017 

GMP Agreement One                                                                                                                        PAGE 39 

Control Devices and any other traffic control provisions as may be provided in the technical 
specifications. 

 
THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF, ARIZONA 

Street Maintenance Program 2015, 2016, 2017 

Project No. 01-16001; GMP Number One; Agreement No. 2015-08 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, two (2) identical counterparts of this Agreement each of which shall for all 
purposes be deemed an original thereof, have been duly executed by the parties herein above named, on 
the date and year first above written. 
 
CM@Risk agrees that this Agreement, as awarded, is for the stated Work and understands that payment 
for the total Work shall be made on the basis of the indicated amount(s), per the terms and conditions of 
this Agreement. 

Guaranteed Maximum Price One 
 

Two Million Eight Hundred Thirty Eight Thousand Two Hundred Forty Dollars and Zero Cents 
 

$ 2,838,240.00 
 
 

 
THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF, ARIZONA C and E Paving & Grading, LLC.  
   
 
By:_____________________________ By:_____________________________ 
     Josh Copley, City Manager   
  Title:____________________________ 
 
 
   (Corporate Seal) 
 
ATTEST:         
 
______________________________ ___________________________ 
City Clerk       ATTEST: (Signature and Title) 
 
 

APPROVED AS TO FORM:                                       
 
_____________________________________  
City Attorney 
 
 
 
 

 











































  10. A.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT
To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Lance Roberts, Police Lieutenant

Co-Submitter: Dan Musselman

Date: 03/16/2016

Meeting Date: 03/22/2016

TITLE: 
Consideration and Approval of Intergovernmental Agreement:  Between the State of Arizona,
Department of Public Safety and the City regarding the State Gang Task Force.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Approve the Intergovernmental Agreement DPS Contract #2016-023 between the State of Arizona,
Department of Public Safety and the City regarding the State Gang Task Force.

Executive Summary:
Approval of the Intergovernmental Agreement ("IGA") between the State of Arizona, Department of
Public Safety ("DPS") and the City regarding the State Gang Task Force will permit the Flagstaff Police
Department to participate in the Task Force.  The previous IGA was not renewed because of the
uncertainty about the State's budget and expired on June 30, 2014.  The duration of the IGA shall be the
fiscal year, July 1st through June 30th, beginning July 1, 2015, and shall renew annually on July 1st for a
period of time not to exceed five (5) years.

Under the terms of the proposed IGA, the Flagstaff Police Department would assign one (1) P.O.S.T.
certified law enforcement officer to the DPS State Gang Task Force, on a full time basis.  The officer
assigned to the State Gang Task Force is permitted to work outside of their regular jurisdictional
boundaries.  DPS will, in turn, agree to reimburse the Flagstaff Police Department seventy-five percent
(75%) of the payroll expense of the officer, related to their assignment, and up to eight (8) hours of
overtime each month.
  



Financial Impact:
The Flagstaff Police Department will receive a seventy-five percent (75%) savings on the officer’s
position that has already been budgeted for.   The total cost for the officer is approximately $81,600
($61,200 DPS share / $20,400 City Share).

Connection to Council Goal and/or Regional Plan:
COUNCIL GOALS:
4) Develop and implement guiding principles that address public safety service levels through
appropriate staff levels
8) Improve effectiveness of notification, communication, and engagement with residents, neighborhoods
and businesses and about City services, programs, policies, projects and developments

Has There Been Previous Council Decision on This:
Council has approved prior IGA's with the State of Arizona, Department of Public Safety, for Flagstaff
Police Department Officers to participate in the State Gang Task Force.

Options and Alternatives:
The Council can elect not to have the Police Department participate in the State Gang Task Force and
rely exclusively on Police Department and other community based efforts.

Background/History:

The Flagstaff Police Department would like to participate in the State Gang Task Force whose mission is
to identify, interdict and prevent gang-related activity in the City of Flagstaff and Coconino County.  In
addition to proactive uniformed investigations, the unit participates in anti-gang education, as well as
community oriented policing projects.  The Police Department has had as many as two officers assigned
to the task force in previous years.

Key Considerations:
Over the past few years, the Flagstaff community has continued to experience gang activity along with
associated incidents of graffiti vandalism.  The State Gang Task Force position will be a benefit to local
neighborhoods by targeting gang related crime including drug and weapons related crimes which are
typically associated with gangs.
  



Community Benefits and Considerations:
The State Gang Task Force has demonstrated in the past that it is a valuable resource capable of
addressing the problems associated with gang violence, weapons, and drugs, by providing a more
coordinated effort in enforcement, developing intelligence, and providing anti-gang education.  The State
Gang Task Force should continue to have a significant impact on making this community safer, thus
providing an improved quality of life for all Flagstaff citizens.  A Flagstaff Police Department Lieutenant
meets regularly with the local State Gang Task Force Command Staff to ensure effective communication
and coordinated efforts between the two agencies.

Community Involvement:
Collaborate

Attachments:  GIITEM-DPS IGA 2016-023











  10. B.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT

To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Randy Whitaker, Project Manager

Date: 03/16/2016

Meeting Date: 03/22/2016

TITLE: 
Consideration and Possible Adoption of Ordinance No. 2016-10:  An ordinance authorizing the
acquisition and dedication of certain real property as a public right-of-way for the construction of
permanent ADA ramps associated with the crosswalks on Fourth Street at Third Avenue and at Dortha
Ave.  (Acquisition of property for ADA ramps on Fourth Street Project)

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
 At the March 22, 2016 City Council Meeting
1) Read Ordinance No. 2016-10 by title only for the first time
2) City Clerk reads Ordinance No. 2016-10 by title only for the first time (if approved above)
At the April 5, 2016 City Council Meeting
3) Read Ordinance No. 2016-10 by title only for the final time
4) City Clerk reads Ordinance No. 2016-10 by title only for the final time (if approved above)
5) Adopt Ordinance No. 2016-10 Read Ordinance

Executive Summary:
This property acquisition will allow for the construction of two (2) pedestrian ramps on the east side of
Fourth Street at Third Avenue and at Dortha Ave to replace the temporary ramps that are currently in
place . The title reports and appraisals have been ordered and staff is in contact with the property
owners.
  



Financial Impact:
There is approximately 570 combined square-feet of fee title property and a temporary construction
easement that will need to be acquired from two (2) separate parcels.
 
There is $412,060 in the FY15/16 Transportation Tax Program budget (account 040-05-112-3313-6) that
has been used for the construction of the crosswalks and temporary pedestrian ramps. As of January
2016 approximately $250,000 has been encumbered and expended. This account will also be used for
the property acquisition.

Connection to Council Goal and/or Regional Plan:
COUNCIL GOALS:
3) Provide sustainable and equitable public facilities, services, and infrastructure systems in an efficient
and effective manner to serve all population areas and demographics. 

Has There Been Previous Council Decision on This:
This item was discussed at the September 29, 2015 Council work session.

Options and Alternatives:
Approval of the ordinance will allow for the installation of permanent pedestrian ramps.
 
Rejection of the ordinance will not allow the City to acquire the necessary property rights needed to
construct the permanent pedestrian ramps.

Background/History:
The project has been in development since 2009 with a study led by the consultant, Otak Incorporated.

On April 15, 2014 the results were presented to City Council and direction was given to provide two (2)
pedestrian crosswalks. Staff was also directed by council to talk with property owners regarding a
sidewalk on the east side of Fourth Street and develop a study for the Sixth/Seventh Avenue traffic
coordination.
 
In the summer of 2014 temporary crosswalks were placed on Fourth Street at Third Avenue and at
Dortha Ave. Pre-crosswalk installation and post-crosswalk pedestrian counts were taken along Fourth
Street. The decision was made to place permanent crosswalks at the temporary locations.
 
At a September 29, 2015 Council Work Session it was discussed that property acquisition would be
required for the permanent ramps on the east side of Fourth Street. Staff was directed to proceed with
the acquisition of the property required for ADA compliant ramps.
  



Key Considerations:
The crosswalks have been constructed and temporary ramps placed at both locations. The clouded
areas on the attached ramp drawing will be the location of the permanent ramps.  At Third Avenue the
City will move a driveway south approximately 20-feet which will require the temporary construction
easement.

Expanded Financial Considerations:
None.

Community Benefits and Considerations:
Allows for installation of permanent ramps for the crosswalks on Fourth Street to replace the temporary
ramps.

Community Involvement:
Inform:  A Fourth Street open house was held on November 19, 2015 at 11:00 and 6:00 at the Aquaplex.
There were no objections to crosswalks and pedestrian ramps on Fourth Street by the visitors to the open house.

Attachments:  Ord. 2016-10
Exhibit A Ordinance
Ramp Drawing



 
ORDINANCE NO. 2016-10 

 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE FLAGSTAFF CITY COUNCIL AUTHORIZING 
THE ACQUISITION OF CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY AS A PUBLIC RIGHT-
OF-WAY FOR CONSTRUCTION OF PEDESTRIAN RAMPS ON FOURTH 
STREET AT THIRD AVENUE AND AT DORTHA AVENUE AND 
DESIGNATING THE REAL PROPERTY AS PUBLIC RIGHT-OF-WAY 
 

 
RECITALS: 
 
WHEREAS, the Flagstaff City Council considered the Fourth Street enhancement project on 
September 29, 2015; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City has identified the real property identified in Exhibit “A” as an appropriate 
component of the City’s surface transportation system, and, more specifically, the real property 
is required for construction of pedestrian ramps located on Fourth Street at Third Avenue and at 
Dortha Avenue; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Flagstaff (“City”) has an interest in planning, developing, and maintaining 
an adequate infrastructure system, including a surface transportation system to meet the needs 
of the community; and 
 
WHEREAS, Article VII, Section 5 of the Flagstaff City Charter requires the City to acquire real 
property by ordinance. 
  
 
ENACTMENTS: 
 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF 
AS FOLLOWS: 
 
SECTION 1: That the City requires the property specifically described in Exhibit “A” for public 
right-of-way located on Fourth Street at Third Avenue and at Dortha Avenue; 
 
SECTION 2 That City staff is hereby authorized to acquire the property described in Exhibit 
“A” for use as right-of-way.  Staff may exercise the City’s right to condemn property for public 
use to acquire this property. 
   
SECTION 3:  That the City Manager, the City Attorney, the City Clerk, the Finance Director, the 
Assistant to the City Manager for Real Estate, or their delegees or agents, are hereby 
authorized and directed to take all steps and execute all documents necessary to carry out the 
purpose and intent of this Ordinance. 
 
SECTION 4: That if any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase or portion of this 
Ordinance or any part of the City Code adopted herein by reference is for any reason held to be 
invalid or unconstitutional by the decision of any court of competent jurisdiction, such decision 
shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions thereof. 



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-10  PAGE 2 
 

SECTION 5: That this Ordinance shall become effective thirty (30) days following adoption by 
the City Council.   

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Flagstaff this 5th day of April, 2016. 
 
 
    
             
      _______________________________________ 
      MAYOR 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
CITY CLERK 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
CITY ATTORNEY 
 





























  10. C.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT

To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Christine Cameron, Project Manager III

Date: 03/16/2016

Meeting Date: 03/22/2016

TITLE: 
Consideration and Approval of Contract:   With Sellers & Sons, Inc. in the amount of $1,914,238.50
for the Brannen Neighborhood Water and Sewer Improvement Project, Phase I.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
1)  Approve the construction contract with Sellers & Sons, Inc. in the amount of $1,914,238.50
(includes a contract allowance in the amount of $89,605.00 and contract time of 200 days);  
2)  Approve Change Order Authority to the City Manager in the amount of $182,463.00 (10% of the
contract amount, less allowance);
3)  Authorize the City Manager to execute the necessary documents.

Executive Summary:
Award of this contract to Sellers & Sons, Inc. will allow for construction of the Brannen
Neighborhood Water and Sewer Improvement Project, Phase I.  The apparent low bidder was deemed
non-responsive and non-responsible and the award is recommended to the second low bidder. The
scope of this project will replace deteriorated water, sewer, and surface infrastructure that dates back to
1909 in the downtown Flagstaff neighborhood. This project is scheduled in the Capital Five-Year plan, is
funded by Utilities funds, and is within available budget authority. The contractor is required to dedicate a
staff member to coordinate with the public to provide project updates and address project concerns.

Financial Impact:
This project is covered by FY 16 budget appropriation of $382,000 and anticipated FY17
budget appropriation of $2,400,000 in Utilities' Annual Waterline replacement account
(202-08-370-3157-0-4463).

Connection to Council Goal and/or Regional Plan:
3. Provide sustainable and equitable public facilities, services, and infrastructure systems in an efficient
and effective manner to serve all population areas and demographics. 
              - Maintain existing infrastructure by investing in ongoing maintenance and operations to get
closer to target condition.

Has There Been Previous Council Decision on This:
There has been no previous Council decision on this item.

Options and Alternatives:
1. Approve the award as recommended. Approval will allow the project to be constructed in the



1. Approve the award as recommended. Approval will allow the project to be constructed in the
summer/fall of 2016.
2. Reject approval of the award. This action would delay the project. If rejection occurs, possible options
include: 

Re-advertise the project and solicit new bids.
Suspend or cancel the project.

Background/History:
The Brannen Neighborhood Water and Sewer Improvement Project is located in downtown Flagstaff and
the project area includes work on Phoenix Avenue, Cottage Avenue, Brannen Avenue, Agassiz Street,
O'Leary Street, and Elden Street. The project scope includes replacement of water main and services,
replacement of sewer main and services, street asphalt reconstruction, and limited curb/gutter
and sidewalk replacement.  

Staff solicited for construction bids on January 28 and February 4, 2016. Ten bids were received by the
opening date of February 9, and Sellers & Sons, Inc. were determined to be the lowest responsive and
responsible bidder. One bidder was rejected due to non-responsiveness and non-responsibility. A
tabulation of bids is summarized below in Expanded Financial Considerations.

Phase II of the project is currently under design and is planned for construction in summer 2017.

Key Considerations:
The existing utilities in the Brannen Neighborhood area are aging and are in need of replacement. The
water main was constructed in 1906 and the sewer main was constructed in 1919. City Utilities
Division has approved funding for improvements in order to reduce maintenance cost and improve
service to the community. This project area also includes degraded roadway and portions of sidewalk,
which will be replaced. 

Expanded Financial Considerations:
Below is a summary of the bids received:

Engineer's Estimate   $2,114,870
Capital Improvements, LLC (non-responsive/non-responsible)   $1,789,000
Sellers & Sons, Inc.   $1,914,238
Standard Construction   $1,922,064
KCS   $1,941,806
McDonald Brothers   $1,959,134
RTR Paving and Resurfacing   $1,968,105
Eagle Mountain Construction   $1,988,962
Kinkaid Civil Construction   $2,040,671
LP's Excavating   $2,155,282
Fann Construction   $2,223,690

Capital Improvements, LLC's bid was determined to be non-responsive due to submitting an incomplete
bid package, and non-responsible due to past performance on a previous City project.  Capital
Improvements, LLC has been advised of the City's determination that it was a non-responsive and
non-responsible.  Staff recommends award to the second low bidder Sellers & Sons, Inc.

This project is covered by FY16 budget appropriation of $382,000 and anticipated FY 17 appropriation of
$2,400,000 in Utilities account 202-08-370-3157-0.



$2,400,000 in Utilities account 202-08-370-3157-0.

Community Benefits and Considerations:
The Community benefits of this project include updated utility mains and services, and improved road
and pedestrian facilities. 

Community Involvement:
Inform and Involve: In October 2015, city staff sent out an informational mailer describing the project
and inviting the community to a Public Open House to learn about the project and provide feedback. Staff
held the open house on November 16, 2015 in City Hall. City Capital staff has also been doing
one-on-one contact throughout the community and will continue to coordinate the construction work and
schedule throughout the duration of the project. The Contractor is required per the contract to have a
dedicated staff member on site to work with the public and address any project concerns. 

Expanded Options and Alternatives:
1) Approve the award as recommended. Approval will allow the project to be constructed in the
summer/fall of 2016.
2) Reject approval of the award. This option would delay the construction start and likely cause the work
to span to two construction seasons. This option would also increase project costs and delay needed
improvements for the community. 
3) Re-advertise the project and solicit new bids
4) Suspend or cancel the project.

Attachments:  Brannen Site Exhibit
Construction Contract





 1  

CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT 
 

City of Flagstaff, Arizona 
and 

Sellers & Sons, Inc. 
 

This Construction Contract (“Contract”) is made and entered into this    day of  

    2016, by and between the City of Flagstaff, an Arizona municipal 

corporation with offices at 211 West Aspen Avenue, Flagstaff, Arizona ("Owner") and Sellers & 

Sons, Inc., an Arizona corporation ("Contractor") with offices at 7301 S. Rainbow Road, Buckeye, 

AZ 85326.  Contractor and the Owner may be referred to each individually as a “Party” and 

collectively as the “Parties.” 
 

RECITALS 
 

A. Owner desires to obtain construction service; and  

 

B. Contractor has available and offers to provide personnel and materials necessary to 

accomplish the work and complete the Project as described in the Scope of Work within the 

required time in accordance with the calendar days included in this Contract. 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, the Owner and Contractor agree as follows: 

 

1. Scope of Work.  The Contractor shall furnish any and all labor, materials, equipment, 

transportation, utilities, services and facilities required to perform all work for the construction of 

Brannen Addition Water and Sewer Improvements Project (the “Project”).  Contractor shall 

construct the Project for the Owner in a good, workmanlike and substantial manner and to the 

satisfaction of the Owner through its engineers and under the direction and supervision of the City 

Engineer, or his properly authorized agents including but not limited to project managers and 

project engineers.  Contractor’s work shall be strictly pursuant to and in conformity with the 

Contract. 

 

1.1 A Pre-Construction Conference will be held with the successful Contractor after the Notice 

of Award is issued.   The date and time of the Conference will be agreed upon between the 

Contractor and the Engineer.  The meeting will be held at City Hall, 211 West Aspen 

Avenue, Flagstaff, AZ 86001.  The purpose of the meeting is to outline specific 

construction items and procedures that the City of Flagstaff (the “Owner”) feels require 

special attention on the part of the Contractor.  The Contractor may also present any 

variations in procedures to improve the workability of the Project, reduce the cost, or reduce 

inconvenience to the public.  The Contractor shall submit a written proposal at this 

conference outlining intended plans for pavement replacement, maintaining continuous 

access to residences and businesses along the construction site, and traffic control. 

 

2. Contract; Ownership of Work.  Contractor shall furnish and deliver all of the materials 

and perform all of the work in accordance with this Contract; Construction Plans; Special 

Provisions; the City of Flagstaff Engineering Design and Construction Standards and 



 2  

Specifications; the latest version of the Maricopa Association of Governments (“MAG”) 

Specifications for Public Works Construction and City revisions to the MAG Specifications for 

Public Works Construction (“Exhibit A”); and any Arizona Department of Transportation 

(A.D.O.T.) Standards that may be referenced on the Plans or in the specifications, incorporated in 

this Contract by reference, plans and associated documents.  All provisions of the Invitation for 

Construction Bids, Performance Bond, Payment Bond, Certificates of Insurance, Addenda, Change 

Orders and Field Orders, if any, are hereby incorporated into this Contract.  All materials, work, 

specifications and plans shall be the property of the Owner. 

 

The following exhibits are incorporated by reference and are expressly made a part of this 

Contract: 

 

2.1.1 Revisions of MAG Standard Specifications for Public Works Construction Exhibit A 

                    (“Flagstaff Addendum to MAG”)       

2.1.2 Special Provisions         Exhibit B 

 

3. Payments.  In consideration of the faithful performance of the work described in this 

Contract, the Owner shall pay an amount not to exceed $1,914,238.50 to the Contractor for work 

and materials provided in accordance with the bid schedule, which amount includes all federal, 

state, and local taxes, as applicable.  This amount shall be payable through monthly progress 

payments, subject to the following conditions: 

 

3.1 Contractor shall promptly submit to the Owner all proper invoices necessary for the 

determination of the prices of labor and materials; 

 

3.2 Progress payments shall be made in the amount of ninety percent (90%) of the value of 

labor and materials incorporated in the work, based on the sum of the Contract prices of 

labor and material, and of materials stored at the worksite, on the basis of substantiating 

paid invoices, as estimated by the Owner, less the aggregate of all previous payments, until 

the work performed under this Contract is fifty percent (50%) complete.  When and after 

such work is fifty (50%) complete, the ten percent (10%) of value previously retained may 

be reduced to five percent (5%) of value completed if Contractor is making satisfactory 

progress as determined by the Owner, and providing that there is no specific cause or claim 

requiring a greater amount to be retained.  If at any time the Owner determines that 

satisfactory progress is not being made, the ten percent (10%) retention shall be reinstated 

for all subsequent progress payments made under this Contract; 

 

3.3 The City Engineer shall have the right to finally determine the amount due to Contractor; 

 

3.4 Monthly progress payments shall be made by the Owner, on or before fourteen (14) 

calendar days after the receipt by the Owner of an approved estimate of the work 

completed;  

 

3.5 Contractor agrees that title to materials incorporated in the work, and stored at the site, shall 

vest with the Owner upon receipt of the corresponding progress payment; 



 3  

 

3.6 The remainder of the Contract price, after deducting all such monthly payments and any 

retention, shall be paid within sixty (60) days after final acceptance of completed work by 

the Owner.  The release of retention or alternate surety shall be made following the Owner’s 

receipt and acceptance of: Contractor's Affidavit Regarding Settlement of Claims, Affidavit 

of Payment, Consent of Surety for Final Payment, and Unconditional Full and Final lien 

waivers from all subcontractors and suppliers who have filed an Arizona Preliminary 20 

Day Lien Notice in accordance with A.R.S. §§ 33-992.01 and 33-992.02. 

 
4. Time of Completion.  Contractor agrees to complete all work as described in this Contract 

within Two Hundred (200) calendar days from the date of the Owner’s Notice to Proceed free of 

all liens, claims and demands of any kind for materials, equipment, supplies, services, labor, taxes 

and damages to property or persons, in the manner and under the conditions specified within the 

time or times specified in this Contract. 

 

5. Performance of Work.  All work covered by this Contract shall be done in accordance 

with the latest and best accepted practices of the trades involved.  The Contractor shall use only 

skilled craftsmen experienced in their respective trades to prepare the materials and to perform the 

work. 

 

6. Acceptance of Work; Non Waiver.  No failure of the Owner during the progress of the 

work to discover or reject materials or work not in accordance with this Contract shall be deemed 

an acceptance of, or a waiver of, defects in work or materials.  No payment shall be construed to be 

an acceptance of work or materials which are not strictly in accordance with the Contract. 

 

7. Delay of Work.  Any delay in the performance of this Contract due to strikes, lockouts, 

fires, or other unavoidable casualties beyond the control of the Contractor and not caused by any 

wrongful act or negligence of the Contractor shall entitle the Contractor to an extension of time 

equal to the delay so caused.  The Contractor shall notify the Owner in writing specifying such 

cause within twenty-four (24) hours after its occurrence.  In the event such delay is caused by 

strikes, lockouts, or inability to obtain workmen for any other cause, the Owner shall have the right 

but shall not be obligated to complete the work on the same basis as is provided for in Section 13 

below (Contract Violations). 

 

8.         Failure to Complete Project in Timely Manner.  If Contractor fails or refuses to execute 

this Contract within the time specified in Section 4 above, or such additional time as may be 

allowed, the proceeds of Contractor’s performance guaranty shall become subject to deposit into the 

Treasury of the municipality as monies available to compensate the Owner for damages as provided 

by A.R.S. § 34-201 for the delay in the performance of work under this Contract, and the necessity 

of accepting a higher or less desirable bid from such failure or refusal to perform this Contract as 

required.  If Contractor has submitted a certified check or cashier's check as a performance 

guaranty, the check shall be returned after the completion of this Contract.  

 

9. Labor Demonstration.  It is understood that the work covered by this Contract is for the 

Owner's business purposes and that any unfavorable publicity or demonstrations in connection with 



 4  

the work will have a negative effect upon the Owner.  If Contractor’s actions in performance of the 

Contract result in any public demonstration on behalf of the laborers or organized labor in the 

vicinity of the Owner's premises, whether such demonstration is in the form of picketing, posting of 

placards or signs, violence, threats of violence or in any other form, which in the Owner's judgment, 

might convey to the public the impression that the Owner or the Contractor or any subcontractor is 

unfair to laborers or to organized labor, the Owner shall have the right to terminate this Contract 

immediately, unless the Contractor shall have caused such demonstration to be discontinued within 

two (2) days after request of the Owner to do so.  In the event any such demonstration is attended by 

violence, the Owner may fix lesser time within which a discontinuance shall be accomplished.  In 

the event of Contract termination, the Contractor agrees to remove from the Premises within 

twenty-four (24) hours of termination, all machinery, tools, and equipment belonging to it or to its 

subcontractors.  All obligations or liabilities of the Owner to the Contractor shall be discharged by 

such termination, except the obligation to pay to the Contractor a portion of the Contract price 

representing the value based upon the Contract prices of labor and materials incorporated in the 

work as established by the Owner, less the aggregate of all previous payments, but subject to all of 

the conditions pertaining to payments generally. 

 

10. Material Storage.  During the progress of the work, the Contractor shall arrange for office 

facilities and for the orderly storage of materials and equipment.  Contractor shall erect any 

temporary structures required for the work at his or her own expense.  The Contractor shall at all 

times keep the premises reasonably free from debris and in a condition which will not increase fire 

hazards.  Upon completion of the work, the Contractor shall remove all temporary buildings and 

facilities and all equipment, surplus materials and supplies belonging to the Contractor.   Contractor 

shall leave the Premises in good order, clean, and ready to use by the Owner.  The establishment of 

any temporary construction yard, material storage area or staging area to be located within City of 

Flagstaff limits and outside the public right-of-way or Project limits generally requires a Temporary 

Use Permit.  (See Exhibit A, Section 107.2.1.) 

 

11. Maintenance During Winter Suspension of Work.  A “Winter Shutdown” is the period 

of time typically including December through March during which no Work will be performed 

by any person or entity (including but not limited to the Contractor) on the Project and Contractor 

shall shutdown, properly insulate and shelter the Project in a safe and workmanlike manner 

pursuant to local, state and federal laws.  Although December through March is typically the time 

frame, the City reserves the right to initiate and terminate a Winter Shutdown at the City’s sole 

discretion in the event of adverse weather conditions.  A Winter Shutdown may be declared by 

the City despite delays, for any reason, on the Project.  City retains the right to declare a Winter 

Shutdown. If work has been suspended due to winter weather, the Contractor shall be responsible 

for maintenance and protection of the improvements and of partially completed portions of the 

work until final acceptance of the project.  Winter Shutdown shall be by field order, change order or 

original contract.  If repairs and/or maintenance are needed during the Winter Shutdown, the 

Contractor is required to perform the repairs and/or maintenance within twenty-four (24) hours of 

notification from the City.  If the needed repairs and/or maintenance are not addressed within the 

timeframe, the City will accomplish the work and deduct the cost from monies due or become due 

to the Contractor.   

 



 5  

The City shall provide snow removal operations on active traffic lanes only during the Winter 

Shutdown.  All other snow removal and maintenance operations shall be the responsibility of the 

Contractor during the Winter Shutdown.  All cost associated with snow removal and proper 

disposal shall be considered incidental to the work including repair of temporary surface 

improvements due to normal wear and snow removal operations during the Winter Shutdown.   

 

12. Assignment.  Contractor shall not assign this Contract, in whole or in part, without the prior 

written consent of the Owner. No right or interest in this Agreement shall be assigned, in whole or 

in part, by Contractor without prior written permission of the City and no delegation of any duty 

of Contractor shall be made without prior written permission of the City.  The City shall not 

unreasonably withhold consent to such assignment.  Contractor agrees that any assignment 

agreement between Contractor and the Assignee shall include and subject to the assignee to all 

obligations, terms and conditions of this Agreement and that Contractor shall also remain liable 

under all obligations, terms and conditions of this Agreement.   

 

13. Notices.  Many notices or demands required to be given, pursuant to the terms of this 

Contract, may be given to the other Party in writing, delivered in person, sent by facsimile 

transmission, emailed, deposited in the United States mail, postage prepaid,  or deposited with 

any commercial air courier or express service at the addresses set forth below, or to such other 

address as the Parties may substitute by written notice, given in the manner prescribed in this 

paragraph.  However, notices of termination, notices of default and any notice regarding 

warranties shall be sent via registered or certified mail, return receipt requested at the address set 

forth below and to legal counsel for the party to whom the notice is being given.  

 

If to Owner: If to Contractor: 
Patrick Brown, C.P.M. 

Senior Procurement Specialist 

211 West Aspen Avenue 

Flagstaff, AZ  86001 

John Sellers 

President 

7301 S. Rainbow Road 

Buckeye, AZ 85326 

 
14. Contract Violations.  In the event of any of the provisions of this Contract are violated by 

the Contractor or by any of Contractor’s subcontractors, the Owner may serve written notice upon 

the Contractor and the Surety of its intention to terminate such Contract (the “Notice to 

Terminate”).  The Contract shall terminate within five (5) days of the date Contractor receives the 

Notice to Terminate, unless the violation ceases and Contractor makes arrangements for correction 

satisfactory to the Owner.  In the event of any such termination, the Owner shall immediately serve 

notice of the termination upon the Surety by registered mail, return receipt requested.  The Surety 

shall have the right to take over and perform the Contract.  If the Surety does not commence 

performance within ten (10) days from the date of receipt of the Owner’s notice of termination, the 

Owner may complete the work at the expense of the Contractor, and the Contractor and his or her 

Surety shall be liable to the Owner for any excess cost incurred by the Owner to complete the work. 

 If the Owner completes the work, the Owner may take possession of and utilize such materials, 

appliances and plants as may be on the worksite site and necessary for completion of the work. 

 



 6  

15. Termination for Convenience.  The Owner may terminate this contract at any time for any 

reason by giving at least thirty (30) days written notice to the Contractor.  If termination occurs 

under this Section 15, the Contractor shall be paid fair market value for work completed by 

Contractor as of the date of termination. The parties agree that fair market value shall be determined 

based on the Contractor’s original bid price, less any work not yet completed by the Contractor as 

of the date the written notice of termination is given to the Contractor. 

 

16. Contractor's Liability and Indemnification.  To the fullest extent permitted by law, 

Provider shall indemnify, save and hold harmless the City of Flagstaff and its officers, officials, 

agents, and employees (hereinafter referred to as “Indemnitee”) from and against liabilities, 

damages, losses and costs, including reasonable attorney fees, but only to the extent caused by 

the negligence, recklessness or intentional wrongful conduct of the contractor, subcontractor or 

design professional or other persons employed or used by the contractor, subcontractor or design 

professional in the performance of the contract.   The amount and type of insurance coverage 

requirements set forth in the Contract (Section 103.6 of Exhibit A) will in no way be construed as 

limiting the scope of the indemnity in this paragraph.   

 

17. Non Appropriation.  In the event that no funds or insufficient funds are appropriated and 

budgeted in any fiscal period of the Owner to meet the Owner’s obligations under this Contract, the 

Owner will notify Contractor in writing of such occurrence, and this Contract will terminate on the 

earlier of the last day of the fiscal period for which sufficient appropriation was made or whenever 

the funds appropriated for payment under this Contract are exhausted.  No payments shall be made 

or due to the other party under this Contract beyond these amounts appropriated and budgeted by 

the Owner to fund the Owner’s obligations under this Contract. 

 

18. Amendment of Contract.  This Agreement may not be modified or altered except in 

writing and signed by duly authorized representatives of the parties. 

 

19. Subcontracts.  Contractor shall not enter into any subcontract, or issue any purchase order 

for the completed work, or any substantial part of the work, unless in each instance, prior written 

approval shall have been given by the Owner.  Contractor shall be fully responsible to the Owner 

for acts and omissions of Contractor's subcontractors and all persons either directly or indirectly 

employed by them. 

 

20. Cancellation for Conflict of Interest.  This Contract is subject to the cancellation 

provisions of A.R.S. § 38-511. 

 

21. Compliance with All Laws.  Contractor shall comply with all applicable laws, statutes, 

ordinances, regulations and governmental requirements in the performance of this Contract.   

 

22.    Employment of Aliens.  Contractor shall comply with A.R.S. § 34-301, which provides 

that a person who is not a citizen or ward of the United States shall not be employed upon or in 

connection with any state, county or municipal public works project. 

 



 7  

23.    Compliance with Federal Immigration Laws and Regulations.  Contractor warrants that 

it complies with all Federal Immigration laws and regulations that relate to its employees and 

complies with A.R.S. 23-214.A.  Contractor acknowledges that pursuant to A.R.S. 41-4401 a 

breach of this warranty is a material breach of this contract subject to penalties up to and including 

termination of this contract, and that the City retains the legal right to inspect the papers of any 

employee who works on the contract to ensure compliance with this warranty. 

 

24. Contractor’s Warranty.  Contractor warrants that it complies with all Federal 

Immigration laws and regulations that relate to its employees and complies with A.R.S. § 23-

214.A, Verification of Employment Eligibility.  Contractor shall not employ aliens in accordance 

with A.R.S. § 34-301, Employment of Aliens on Public Works Prohibited.  Contractor 

acknowledges that pursuant to A.R.S. § 41-4401, Government Procurement; E-Verify 

Requirement; Definitions, a breach of this warranty is a material breach of this contract subject to 

penalties up to and including termination of this Contract, and that the Owner retains the legal 

right to inspect the papers of any employee who works on the Contract to ensure compliance with 

this warranty.  

 

25. Jurisdiction and Venue.  This Agreement shall be administered and interpreted under the 

laws of the State of Arizona.  The Contractor hereby submits itself to the original jurisdiction of 

those courts located within Coconino County, Arizona. 

 
26. Attorney's Fees.  If suit or action is initiated in connection with any controversy arising out 

of this Agreement, the prevailing party shall be entitled to recover in addition to costs such sum as 

the court may adjudge reasonable as attorney fees, or in event of appeal as allowed by the appellate 

court. 

 
27. Time is of the Essence.  Contractor acknowledges that the completion of the Contract by 

the dates specified final completion is critical to the Owner, time being of the essence of this 

Contract. 

 

28. No Third Party Beneficiaries.  The parties acknowledge and agree that the terms, 

provisions, conditions, and obligations of this Contract are for the sole benefit of, and may be 

enforceable solely by, the Parties to this Contract, and none of the terms, provisions, conditions, 

and obligations of this Contract are for the benefit of, or may be enforced by, any person or entity 

not a party to this Contract. 

 

29. Headings.  The article and section headings contained herein are for convenience in 

reference and are not intended to define or limit the scope of any provision of this Contract. 

 

30. Severability.  If any part of this Contract is determined by a court to be in conflict with any 

statute or constitution or to be unlawful for any reason, the parties intend that the remaining 

provisions of this Contract shall remain in full force and effect unless the stricken provision leaves 

the remaining Contract unenforceable. 

 

 



 8  

 

 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Owner and Contractor, by their duly authorized representatives, 

have executed this Contract as of the date written above.  

 

(Please sign in blue ink. Submit original signatures – photocopies not accepted)  

 

Owner, City of Flagstaff  Sellers & Sons, Inc. 
   

Josh Copley, City Manager  Signature 

   

   

Attest:  Printed Name 

   

City Clerk  Title 

 

 

 

  

Approved as to form:   

   

City Attorney   

   

 
 

 



  10. D.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT

To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Brandi Suda, Finance Director

Date: 03/16/2016

Meeting Date: 03/22/2016

TITLE: 
Consideration and Possible Adoption of Resolution No. 2016-14:  A resolution of the City Council of
the City of Flagstaff authorizing signatures for checks and payment vouchers (Authority to Sign
Checks)  

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
1) Read Resolution No. 2016-14 by title only
2) City Clerk reads Resolution No. 2016-14 by title only (if approved above)
3) Adopt Resolution No. 2016-14

Executive Summary:
When the City experiences a change in staff related to current authorized signers for checks and
payment vouchers, the City's bank requires a resolution to update the authorized signers.

The changes include deleting Jerene Watson and adding Shane Dille as an authorized signer as a
Deputy City Manager for the City general and payroll accounts.  The second change is deleting Michael
Gouhin and adding Sarah Darr as a signer for the Flagstaff Housing Authority.

Financial Impact:
None

Connection to Council Goal and/or Regional Plan:
None 

Has There Been Previous Council Decision on This:
The last change to the authorize signers was Resolution 2015-33 at the September 15, 2015 meeting.

Options and Alternatives:
• Adopt Resolution 2016-14 as submitted.
• Amend the Resolution with consideration of internal controls, 

o Change, expand or limit the authorized signatories.
o Raise or lower the dollar threshold for two signatures.

Background/History:
Recently we experienced a change to two positions that are authorized to sign checks and payment



Recently we experienced a change to two positions that are authorized to sign checks and payment
vouchers on behalf of the City.  This resolution give appropriate authority for our commercial banks to
process revised signatory cards.  The first change is for hiring Shane Dille as Deputy City Manager due
to the retirement of Jerene Watson.  The second change is the retirement of Michael Gouhin from the
Housing Authority. 

The Mayor, Vice-Mayor, City Manager, Deputy City Managers, and the Management Services Director
are authorized signatories for the City of Flagstaff.  Any one member of these designated positions is
authorized to sign checks up to $100,000 and any check over $100,000 requires two signatures.

For the Court, the Presiding Magistrate has the authority to sign and appoint additional signers. 
Historically this has included the Magistrates, the Court Administrator, and the Deputy Court
Administrators.  Any one member of these designated positions is authorized to sign checks up to
$10,000 and any check over $10,000 requires two signatures.  The Court's authority is to issue bond
refund checks.

For the Flagstaff Housing Authority, the Executive Director, Maintenance Director, Director of Section 8,
and Finance Director are authorized signatories for the Flagstaff Housing Authority bank accounts.  All
checks require two signatures. 

Key Considerations:
Authority for signing checks must be in place with those in the organization that have the depth of
understanding needed to understand the payment being processed, however they are far enough
removed from the accounts payable/purchasing process to maintain adequate internal control.

Community Benefits and Considerations:
The community is best served through the application of internal controls that dictate the separation of
duties to minimize the possibility of any fund misappropriation.  

Community Involvement:
Inform

Attachments:  Res. 2016-14



RESOLUTION NO. 2016-14 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF 
AUTHORIZING SIGNATURES FOR CHECKS AND PAYMENT VOUCHERS, 
AND REPEALING PRIOR RESOLUTION 

 
 
RECITALS: 
 
WHEREAS, the Wells Fargo Bank (Flagstaff Branch) has been designated the depository for the 
City of Flagstaff; and 
 
WHEREAS, the bank requires a corporate resolution naming those persons authorized by the 
municipal corporation to sign checks drawn upon the account as may be used by the City of 
Flagstaff. 
 
 
ENACTMENTS: 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF AS 
FOLLOWS: 
 
SECTION 1.  That Gerald W. Nabours, Celia Barotz, Shane Dille, Josh Copley, Barbara Goodrich, 
and Rick Tadder each be hereby authorized to sign checks drawn upon the general and payroll 
accounts of the above named bank for amounts up to $100,000.00 and that any combination of 
two of the authorized signatures be required for checks in excess of $100,000.00. 
 
SECTION 2. That Thomas Chotena, Michael Araujo, Donald Jacobson, Jessica Cortes, and Cathy 
Harrison each be hereby authorized to sign checks drawn upon the Court account of the above 
mentioned bank for amounts up to $10,000.00 and that any combination of two of the authorized 
signatures be required for checks in excess of $10,000.00. 
 
SECTION 3. That Sarah Darr, Jose J. Dominguez, Ellen Ishii, and Deborah S. Beals each be 
hereby authorized to sign checks drawn upon the Flagstaff Housing Authority account of the above 
mentioned bank and that any combination of two of the authorized signatures be required for all 
checks issued. 
 
SECTION 4. That the City Clerk of the City of Flagstaff is hereby authorized to certify the 
signatures of the above named individuals. 
 
SECTION 5.  That Resolution No. 2015-33 providing for authorized signatures is hereby repealed. 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Flagstaff this 22nd day of March, 
2016. 
 
 
              
       MAYOR 
  



RESOLUTION NO. 2016-14   PAGE 2 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
  
CITY CLERK 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
  
CITY ATTORNEY 



  10. E.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT

To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Michelle D'Andrea, City Attorney

Date: 03/16/2016

Meeting Date: 03/22/2016

TITLE: 
Consideration and Adoption of Clean-Up Ordinances:

Consideration and Adoption of Ordinance No. 2016-11:  An ordinance of the City Council of the City
of Flagstaff Amending the Flagstaff City Code, Title 1, Administrative, Chapter 15, Municipal Court,
Division 1, Section 2, Municipal Judge, Presiding Magistrate, Hearing Officers, to Require all Municipal
Judges to be Admitted to the Practice of Law in the State of Arizona; Providing for Repeal of Conflicting
Ordinances, Severability, and Establishing an Effective Date  (Municipal Judge Qualifications)

Consideration and Adoption of Ordinance No. 2016-12:  An ordinance of the City Council of the City
of Flagstaff, Amending the Flagstaff City Code, Title 1, Administrative, Chapter 24, Insurance, Division 1,
Section 7, Insurance, to Increase the Authority of the City Manager to Settle Claims up to Fifty Thousand
Dollars; Providing for Repeal of Conflicting Ordinances, Severability, and Establishing an Effective Date.

(Bringing City Code Consistent with Charter Regarding City Manager's Authority to Settle
Claims)

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
1) Read Ordinance No. 2016-11 by title only for the final time
2) City Clerk reads Ordinance No. 2016-11 by title only (if approved above)
3) Adopt Ordinance No. 2016-11
4) Read Ordinance No. 2016-12 by title only for the final time
5) City Clerk reads Ordinance No. 2016-12 by title only (if approved above)
6) Adopt Ordinance No. 2016-12

Executive Summary:
The City Attorney brings these two clean-up ordinances to the Council for consideration. The first
ordinance codifies the Council's policy regarding qualifications of city magistrates to require admission to
the Arizona bar.  The second ordinance increases the City Manager's settlement authority, consistent
with his authority to enter into contracts, to fifty thousand dollars.

Financial Impact:
None.

Connection to Council Goal and/or Regional Plan:
None. 

Has There Been Previous Council Decision on This:



Yes.  The City Council advised staff  to require admission to the state bar of Arizona as a qualification for
magistrates on September 9, 2014. First reading of these ordinances took place at the March 1, 2016,
Council meeting.

Options and Alternatives:
Ordinance 2016-11:  Magistrate Qualifications
1)  The Council may adopt the ordinance indicating the qualifications for magistrates; or
2)  The Council may not adopt the ordinance and continue with the policy requiring admission to the
Arizona bar for qualification as a magistrate; or
3)  The Council may decide not to require admission to the state bar as a qualification for magistrates; or
4)  The Council may require admission to the state bar for only certain magistrates.

Ordinance 2016-12:  Settlement Authority
1)  The Council may increase the City Manager's settlement authority to $50,000.00, consistent with his
authority to contract; or
2)  The Council may leave the City Manager's settlement authority at $25,000.00; or
3)  The Council may determine a different amount for the City Manager's settlement authority.

Community Involvement:
Inform

Attachments:  Ord. 2016-11
Ord. 2016-12



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-11 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF, 
AMENDING THE FLAGSTAFF CITY CODE, TITLE 1, ADMINISTRATIVE, 
CHAPTER 15, MUNICIPAL COURT, DIVISION 1, SECTION 2, MUNICIPAL 
JUDGE, PRESIDING MAGISTRATE, HEARING OFFICERS, TO REQUIRE ALL 
MUNICIPAL JUDGES TO BE ADMITTED TO THE PRACTICE OF LAW IN THE 
STATE OF ARIZONA; PROVIDING FOR REPEAL OF CONFLICTING 
ORDINANCES, SEVERABILITY, AND ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE DATE 

 
 
RECITALS: 

 
WHEREAS, the Flagstaff Charter requires the Flagstaff City Council to appoint police judges, 
also known as municipal judges, and the police judges hold office at the pleasure of the Council: 
and 
 
WHEREAS, the Flagstaff City Council determined that it is appropriate to require all municipal 
judges, including but not limited to the presiding judge, on-call judges, and part-time judges to 
be attorneys admitted to the practice of law in the State of Arizona. 
 
 
ENACTMENTS: 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF 
AS FOLLOWS: 
 
SECTION 1.  In General. 
 
The Flagstaff City Code, Title 1, Administration, Chapter 15, Municipal Court, Division 1, Section 
2, Municipal Judge, Presiding Magistrate, Hearing Officers, is hereby amended as set forth 
below (deletions shown as stricken, and additions shown as capitalized text): 

 
1-15-001-0002 MUNICIPAL JUDGE, PRESIDING MAGISTRATE, HEARING OFFICERS 
 
A. Municipal Judge: All Municipal Judges shall serve a term of two (2) years. The two (2) 

year term shall commence August 1, and terminate July 31. During such term, a 
Municipal Judge may be removed only for cause. All Municipal Judges shall be 
appointed by the Council.  ALL MUNICIPAL JUDGES, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED 
TO THOSE DESCRIBED IN SECTION (C) BELOW, MUST BE ADMITTED TO THE 
PRACTICE OF LAW IN THE STATE OF ARIZONA. 
 

B. Presiding Magistrate: Appointed by the Council, presides over a court calendar as well 
as having administrative authority to hire, supervise, discipline, and terminate its non-
appointed court employees. (Supreme Court Administrative Orders 83-11, 90-3, and 
Rule I, Uniform Rules of Practice of the Superior Court, and the principle of judicial 
independence under the doctrine of separation of powers as defined in the 
State Constitution, Article III). The Presiding Magistrate shall follow all Personnel 
Policies adopted and amended by the City Council. Further, the Presiding Magistrate 
shall utilize the Personnel Board created by Ordinance No. 971 and appointed by the 



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-11   PAGE 2 
 
 

City Council. The findings and recommendations of the Personnel Board shall be 
forwarded to the Presiding Magistrate for action. The Presiding Magistrate shall accept 
in whole or in part, or reject, said findings and recommendations. 

C. Additional Municipal Judges: In conformance with Paragraph A of this Section, the City 
Council may appoint one (1) or more additional Judge(s). 

 
1. On-Call: This position will be paid on an hourly basis for each hour worked at a 

rate determined by the City Council at the time of appointment. This position will 
not have a set schedule and will work only at such times as required by the 
Presiding Magistrate when other Municipal Judges are not available. 
 

2. Part-Time: This position will be paid on an hourly basis for each hour worked at a 
rate and for a specific number of hours per week as determined by the City 
Council at the time of appointment. The Presiding Magistrate will schedule actual 
times and days of work. Additional Judges working twenty (20) hours per week or 
more, as authorized by the City Council, will also be eligible for full health, life 
and dental insurance benefits. 
 

D.     Civil Traffic Hearing Officers: The Council may appoint Hearing Officers to preside over 
civil traffic violation cases as provided in Arizona Revised Statutes, section 28-1055, as 
amended. Hearing Officers shall serve under the supervision of the Presiding Municipal 
Judge, for a term of two (2) years. The two (2) year term shall commence August 1, and 
terminate July 31. During such term, a Hearing Officer may be removed only for cause. 
(Ord. 1860, 02/07/95) 

 
SECTION 2.  Repeal of Conflicting Ordinances.    
 
All ordinances and parts of ordinances in conflict with the provisions of this ordinance or any 
part of the code adopted herein by reference are hereby repealed. 
 
SECTION 3.  Severability.   
 
If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase or portion of this ordinance or any part of 
the code adopted herein by reference is for any reason held to be invalid or unconstitutional by 
the decision of any court of competent jurisdiction, such decision shall not affect the validity of 
the remaining portions thereof. 
 
SECTION 4.  Effective Date.   
 
This ordinance shall become effective thirty (30) days following adoption by the City Council.   
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Flagstaff this 22nd day of March, 
2016. 
 
 
         
               
        MAYOR 
 
 



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-11   PAGE 3 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
  
CITY CLERK 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
 
  
CITY ATTORNEY 
 



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-12 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF, 
AMENDING THE FLAGSTAFF CITY CODE, TITLE 1, ADMINISTRATIVE, 
CHAPTER 24, INSURANCE, DIVISION 1, SECTION 7, INSURANCE,  TO 
INCREASE THE AUTHORITY OF THE CITY MANAGER TO SETTLE CLAIMS 
UP TO FIFTY THOUSAND DOLLARS; PROVIDING FOR REPEAL OF 
CONFLICTING ORDINANCES, SEVERABILITY, AND ESTABLISHING AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE 

 
 
RECITALS: 

 
WHEREAS, the Flagstaff Charter allows the city manager to contract on behalf of the city for 
amounts of fifty-thousand dollars or less; and 
 
WHEREAS, in the past, the city manager’s authority to settle claims, which is set by ordinance, 
has been increased when his or her authority to enter into contracts has increased. 
 
 
ENACTMENTS: 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF 
AS FOLLOWS: 
 
SECTION 1.  In General. 
 
The Flagstaff City Code, Title 1, Administration, Chapter 24, Insurance, Division 1, Section 24, 
Insurance, is hereby amended as set forth below (deletions shown as stricken, and additions 
shown as capitalized text): 
 
1-24-001-0007 SETTLEMENT OF CLAIMS 
 
The City Manager or designee, shall have the authority to settle and authorize payment of 
claims against the City up to the amount of twenty-five thousand dollars ($25,000.00) FIFTY 
THOUSAND DOLLARS ($50,000.00). Any claim in excess of this amount shall require approval 
of the City Council. The Council shall be notified of all claim settlements.  
 
SECTION 2.  Repeal of Conflicting Ordinances.    
 
All ordinances and parts of ordinances in conflict with the provisions of this ordinance or any 
part of the code adopted herein by reference are hereby repealed. 
 
SECTION 3.  Severability.   
 
If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase or portion of this ordinance or any part of 
the code adopted herein by reference is for any reason held to be invalid or unconstitutional by 
the decision of any court of competent jurisdiction, such decision shall not affect the validity of 
the remaining portions thereof. 
 
 



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-12   PAGE 2 
 
 
SECTION 4.  Effective Date.   
 
This ordinance shall become effective thirty (30) days following adoption by the City Council.   
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Flagstaff this 22nd day of March, 
2016. 
 
 
 
         
               
        MAYOR 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
  
CITY CLERK 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
 
  
CITY ATTORNEY 
 



  14. A.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT

To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Roger Eastman, Zoning Code Administrator

Date: 03/16/2016

Meeting Date: 03/22/2016

TITLE: 
Public Hearing, Consideration and Possible Adoption of Resolution No. 2016-13 and Ordinance
No. 2016-22:  Public hearing to consider proposed amendments to Flagstaff Zoning Code, Chapter 10-50
(Supplemental to Zones), Division 10-50.100 (Sign Standards), and other related amendments in
Chapter 10-20 (Administration, Procedures and Enforcement), Chapter 10-80 (Definitions) and Chapter
10-90 (Maps); consideration of Resolution No. 2016-13 declaring the proposed amendments as a public
record; and adoption of Ordinance No. 2016-22, adopting amendments to Flagstaff Zoning Code Chapter
10-50 (Supplemental to Zones), Division 10-50.100 (Sign Standards), and other related amendments in
Chapter 10-20 (Administration, Procedures and Enforcement), Chapter 10-80 (Definitions) and Chapter
10-90 (Maps), by reference. (Zoning Code Amendments - Sign Standards)

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
 At the Council Meeting of March 22, 2016 
1) Hold public hearing
2) Read Resolution No. 2016-13 by title only
3) City Clerk reads Resolution No. 2016-13 (if approved above)
4) Read Ordinance No. 2016-22 for the first time by title only
5) City Clerk reads Ordinance No. 2016-22 for the first time by title only (if approved above)
At the Council Meeting of April 5, 2016
6) Adopt Resolution No. 2016-13 (declaring a public record)
7) Read Ordinance No. 2016-22 for the final time by title only
8) City Clerk reads Ordinance No. 2016-22 by title for the final time (if approved above)
9) Adopt Ordinance No. 2016-22

Executive Summary:
Amendments to Flagstaff Zoning Code Division 10-50.100 (Sign Standards) are needed in response to
the US Supreme Court's decision last year in the Reed v. Town of Gilbert sign case. At a work session
with the Council on December 8, 2015 the reason for these amendments was discussed and an
overview of them was presented by staff. Council provided direction to staff on these amendments which
has been included in the amendments, which were reviewed and recommended for approval by the
Planning and Zoning Commission on February 24, 2016, attached to Resolution 2016-13.

Financial Impact:
Council's possible adoption of the proposed amendments to the City's sign standards will not have a
financial or budgetary impact on the Comprehensive Planning and Code Administration Program's
budget.



Connection to Council Goal and/or Regional Plan:
COUNCIL GOALS:
7) Address key issues and processes related to the implementation of the Regional Plan.

REGIONAL PLAN:
The Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 supports the amendments to Division 10-50.100 (Sign Standards) with
the following goals and policies:

Goal CC.1.       Reflect and respect the region’s natural setting and dramatic views in the built
environment. The proposed amendments support this goal by ensuring the aesthetic beauty of the City’s
natural and built environment is protected (Purpose statement B.5).
 
Policy ED.7.1.    Support planning, design, and development that positively, creatively, and flexibly
contribute to the community image.” 

Has There Been Previous Council Decision on This:
The Council held an executive session and work session on December 8, 2015 to discuss the proposed
amendments to Division 10-50.100 (Sign Standards).

Options and Alternatives:
Please refer to the Expanded Options and Alternatives below.

Background/History:
 In June this year the US Supreme Court rendered its decision in the Reed v. Town of Gilbert sign code
case which clarified when government regulation of speech is content based. Content-based laws are
presumptively unconstitutional. The Supreme Court's decision in the Reed case has wide-ranging
implications for sign ordinances in cities across the nation. 

The key takeaway from the Reed case is that cities cannot categorize signs based on the topic or
message being conveyed and then impose restrictions within each content-based category. For
example, the current sign code provides different standards for different types of temporary signs
such as real estate signs, new development construction signs, political signs, and commercial
advertising signs. Subjecting each category of signs to different restrictions is no longer permissible
under Reed.

1.

As a result of the Reed decision, every sign code needs to be carefully scrutinized to ensure that it
does not contain content-based regulations. Planning staff has worked closely with the City's
Attorney's office to understand the implications of the Reed decision on the City's sign code and
over the past few months has developed many ideas for amendments to the sign regulations. Staff
also participated in a professional development workshop hosted by the Arizona Planning
Association in August 2015 on the implications of the Reed case, and was a panelist at
professional conferences in October and November (Quad States Conference in Kansas City in
October and the Arizona Planning Association annual conference in November), and most recently
the New Jersey Planning Association conference in January 2016, in which the principles behind
the City's draft amendments were presented to the attendees. Staff took advantage of being at
these conferences to talk with planners and attorneys familiar with the Reed case to solicit their
input and ideas on the City's ideas. The response was very supportive and favorable.
 
A summary of this important case is provided in the first attachment, "An Overview of Reed v. Town
of Gilbert, US Supreme Court No. 135 S.CT. 2218, 2015," Attachment A.

2.

Key Considerations:



The proposed amendments to Division 10-50.100 (Sign Standards) are intended to ensure consistency
with the US Supreme Court’s decision, and to streamline, simplify, and improve the standards to provide
flexibility and maintain a positive community image, while supporting the needs of business owners.
 
The amendment document attached to Resolution 2016-13 (2016 Amendments to City Code Title 10,
Zoning Code, Division 10-50.100 (Sign Standards) and Other Related Divisions) is a “Clean” version of
the amendments to the sign standards and other related sections with all changes accepted to assist in
the Council's review (Attachment C.). This version has been reorganized into a more logical structure,
cross references and formatting are completed, and it is a “final” draft. Note though that not all of the final
illustrations have been inserted into the document as they are still being prepared. A “Track Changes”
version of the draft amendments that shows new text in underline and text to be deleted in strikeout is
attached as Attachment D. Also attached is the existing Division 10-50.100 (Sign Standards) from the
adopted Zoning Code (Attachment E.). Finally Ordinance 2016-22 is attached (Attachment F.).
 
The majority of the amendments included within this Division, especially in the Portable Signs Section
(formerly Temporary Signs), are proposed in response to the US Supreme Court’s decision in the Reed
v. Town of Gilbert sign code case to ensure that the City’s sign provisions are content neutral. The
Planning and Zoning Commission as part of their review of the entire Zoning Code in June
2015 recommended approval of a few minor amendments within the Permanent Sign Section of the
Code (Section 10-50.100.060), and these, together with additional amendments, especially in the
Portable Signs Section (10-50.100.090) are included in the attached amendments documents. The
narrative below provides an overview of the more substantive amendments organized by Section and
Subsection.
 
10-50.100.010  Purpose 

B.   Includes minor amendments to remove redundant language and improve readability.
C.  Table 10-50.100.010.A (Sign Types) has been deleted as it provided information of little value
to readers and users of the Code.

10-50.100.020  Applicability
  

A.4 The provision allowing for speech in a traditional public forum has been moved from Section
10-50.100.040.A (Location Restrictions) to this Section where it is more appropriately placed.
B.   Interpretations. Includes additional language to provide that non-commercial speech may be
substituted for commercial speech on a sign without the need for a permit.
C.  Exemptions. 

The following Subsections have been deleted or removed from this Subsection: 
Display Board for Daily Specials
Political Signs
Neighborhood or District Signs (now included within Section 10-50.100.100.A (Flagstaff
Central District)
Non-Structural Modifications and Maintenance (moved to the Section 10-50.100.030
(Sign Permit Requirements)
Real Estate Signs
Signs Required by Law (now included within governmental signs)
Vehicle Signs (Moved to Table 10-50.100.060.P (Standards for Other Sign Types))
Yard and Garage Sale Signs

The following Subsections have been updated to clarify standards and improve readability: 
Flags
Governmental Signs (includes property address signs)
Internal Signs and Signs with City Recreation Facilities.

 10-50.100.030  Sign Permit Requirements 

A.  The requirement for Temporary Sign Permits for all temporary signs has been modified to only



require a permit for Temporary Wall Banner Signs. The draft amendments contemplate that all
other temporary signs (i.e. Portable Signs) will not be subject to a permitting requirement.
C.  The standards for Non-Structural Modifications and Maintenance have been moved from
Subsection C. (Exemptions) to this Section where they more appropriately should be placed.

10-50.100.040  General Restrictions for All Signs
  

A.  Prohibited Signs. Includes minor amendments to remove redundant language and improve
readability.

The provision allowing for speech in a traditional public forum has been moved to Section
10-50.100.020.A (Applicability).
The standards for signs on vehicles have been moved to Table 10-50.100.060.P (Standards for Other
Sign Types), except that the standard prohibiting a vehicle from being used as an advertising sign
remains in this Subsection. 

B.   Display Restrictions. Includes minor amendments to remove redundant language and improve
readability.

10-50.100.050  General Requirements for All Signs 

No significant amendments are proposed in this Section except to include an additional photograph
to better illustrate how to calculate sign area.

10-50.100.060  Permanent Signs 

C.4.b.(2) Building Mounted Signs. Includes minor amendments and an illustration to clarify and
better explain the standards for sign placement.
C.4.b.(5) Driveway Signs (formerly Directional Signs). Includes minor amendments to remove the
requirement that these signs may only be approved as part of a Comprehensive Sign Program.
C.4.b.(7) Freestanding Signs. Includes a new standard to allow for a freestanding sign to be
mounted on two or more posts. A new standard specific to the post signs typically used to advertise
a property or building for sale, rent or lease is also included.
C.4.b.(14) Window Signs. Includes an amendment to accommodate open signs. Also, the
combined area of permanent and temporary window signs has been increased from 25 to 40
percent of the window area.
C.4.b.(15) Vehicle Signs (formerly Other Sign Types). This Subsection now only applies to vehicle
signs. The standards for fuel pump topper signs have been deleted as these are portable signs not
permanent signs; the standards for open signs have been removed (inserted into Window Signs –
see above); the standards for vehicle signs have been moved from the Exemptions Subsection into
this table; and, the standards for vending machines have been deleted as they were hard to apply
and enforce.

10-50.100.070  Comprehensive Sign Programs 

C.  Review. Includes a minor amendment to also allow this Section to also apply to building
mounted signs.

 

10-50.100.080  Sign Design Performance Standards 

B.   Cumulative Adjustments. Includes a minor amendment to correct an error to ensure
consistency with other applicable standards.

10-50.100.090  Portable Signs 

In order to ensure that the City’s temporary sign regulations are consistent with the US Supreme
Court’s decision in the Reed v Town of Gilbert sign case, numerous and significant amendments
are proposed in this Section to ensure that the City’s sign provisions are content neutral.



are proposed in this Section to ensure that the City’s sign provisions are content neutral.
The Council directed staff to draft revisions to the Temporary Sign Section to allow temporary signs
to be displayed for an indefinite period of time without the need for a permit, subject to various
standards that, for example, limited the total area of the signs, their placement on private property,
etc. This means that the signs are hardly “temporary”, and staff has suggested instead that they be
called “portable signs”.

             Key decision points – Portable Signs: 

No portable signs will be permitted in public right-of-way (both City and ADOT).
No permit will be required for portable signs, except temporary wall banner signs.
It was agreed that all portable signs may be displayed for an unlimited period of time and will not be
required to be removed at the close of business as originally proposed by staff. An exception is that
temporary wall banner signs may only be displayed for 30 days. For this reason as these signs
could be in place for extended periods of time and, therefore, are not really “temporary”, they have
been called “portable signs”.
An area limitation will be established to determine the maximum area of portable signs permitted in
residential zones (16 sq. ft.) and non-residential zones (originally proposed as 32 sq. ft. and
reduced to 24 sq. ft.). Staff has proposed that the area of temporary wall banners (max. 24 sq. ft.)
should not be included in this area limitation

Temporary window signs will also not be included in the area allowance for portable signs.
The Flagstaff Sign Free Zone as authorized under ARS § 16.1019 is included in the proposed
amendments.
A.  Purpose. A minor amendment is proposed to eliminate redundant language.
B.   General to All. 

Clarifies that a temporary sign permit is only required for a temporary wall banner sign. It has
been renamed as a Temporary Wall Banner Sign Permit.
The redundant provisions stating that portable signs may not be illuminated (this standard
may be found in Table 10-50.100.090.A) and the sign standard for events on City property
approved under a Special Event Permit have been eliminated (See Section
10-50.100.090.B.3).
The provision allowing for speech in a traditional public forum has been moved to Section
10-50.100.020.A.4 (Applicability) where it is more appropriately placed.
The provision that allows the removal of portable signs in public right-of-way and in clear view
zones by City code enforcement staff when a hazard to pedestrian or vehicle traffic is present
has been moved to Section 10-50.100.120 (Enforcement).
A new standard is proposed that establishes no limitations on the length of time that portable
signs may be displayed except for temporary wall banners.

C.  Standards for Portable Signs. This Subsection has been significantly shortened and most of the
former standards have been eliminated because they were content-based. This includes for
example, the standards for various signs (e.g. temporary construction signs, signs for temporary
uses, new occupancy or use signs, grand opening signs, directional signs, promotional signs,
going-out-of-business signs, etc.). Furthermore, the standards for different sign types (e.g. A-frame
or upright signs, feather or vertical banners, and wall banners) have been consolidated into one
table (Table 10-50.100.090.B) to eliminate redundancy and to simplify the Code. This Section has
also been reorganized as summarized below: 

1.   Time, Place and Manner Restrictions for Portable Signs.
A new Table 10-50.100.090.A provides all the standards applicable to the placement of
portable signs. It is divided into three sections: Applicable to All Zones (e.g. includes
standards on what elements are prohibited on a portable sign and design and construction
standards); Commercial, Industrial and Other Non-Residential Zones; and All Residential
Zones (each of these subsections includes standards on period of use, hours of use,
allowable sign area and number of signs). A content neutral standard is assured because the
sign message is not regulated. However, the total area of portable signs in commercial etc.
zones is limited to 24 sq. ft. per business while the total area of portable signs in residential



zones is limited to 16 sq. ft. per lot or parcel. This maximum sign area limitation allows for
multiple portable signs to be displayed with a variety of messages (may be political, business
advertising, or ideological) provided they do not exceed the area limitation. Consistent with
Council’s direction provided in the October 8 th work session, the area of temporary window
signs and temporary wall banners is not included in the total sign area for portable signs.
2.   Standards for Specific Portable Sign types. 
Table 10-50.100.090.B consolidates the area, height, width, and number of signs, etc.
standards for various portable sign types, including A-frame or upright signs, feather or
vertical banner signs, wall banner signs, and two new sign types, flags displaying a
commercial message and yard signs. End Note #1 allows for various other types of portable
signs such as fuel pump topper signs or balloon bobbers. Balloon bobbers are preformed
into the shape of a balloon but are not inflated with pressurized air and are typically attached
to a short pole or stick.
3.   Civic and Non-Profit Events Signs on City Approved Sign Support Structures.
The standards in this Subsection are unchanged except that a purpose statement has been
added that clarifies that signs advertising a community event may be placed on these sign
structures rather than the current standard which requires them to be located on the sign
structures.

4.   Sign Walkers.
The existing standards have been updated and clarified to make them easier to apply.

In the alternative, the following options may be considered by the Council (Note that after discussing
these options the Planning and Zoning Commission agreed to recommend approval of the approach to
sign regulation presented in the attached amendments):
  

OPTION 1: Require a permit for all temporary signs and limit the display time that temporary signs
may be displayed (may be anywhere from 60 days to 5 months). Under this option there would be
no need for the proposed “portable sign” amendments as the length of time that they would be
displayed will be limited. Enforcement and permitting of this option will be challenging and may be
burdensome on staff. All temporary signs (except wall banners) could be required to be removed at
the close of business (current code standard) or permitted to remain in place overnight (staff’s
preferred approach). Note that as all temporary signs would require a permit, this would include
political, ideological, real estate, commercial advertising signs, etc.

OPTION 2: Do not require a permit for all temporary signs and limit the display time that temporary
signs may be displayed (may be anywhere from 60 days to 5 months), Under this option there
would also be no need for the proposed “portable sign” amendments. However, it would rely on an
honor system with business owners and others placing signs on their property, similar to the
approach used for civic/non-profit event banner signs on the City’s sign structures to inform the City
when a temporary sign would be displayed and removed within the time frame determined by the
Council. Enforcement and management of this option will be challenging and may be burdensome
on staff. All temporary signs (except wall banners) could be required to be removed at the close of
business (current code standard) or permitted to remain in place overnight (staff’s preferred
approach).

 10-50.100.100  Sign Districts of Special Designation 

A.  Flagstaff Central District. The standards for Neighborhood or District Signs have been moved
into the freestanding sign section.
B.   Downtown Historic District. The standards for stanchion signs in former Table 10-50.100.090.E
(Standards for Temporary Stanchion Signs) have been deleted consistent with the principle of
prohibiting all temporary (portable) signs in the public right-of-way. Also, the former prohibition on
A-frame and Upright Signs in this Downtown District has been removed, and only feather vertical
banners are now proposed to be prohibited in this District.
E.   Flagstaff Sign Free Zone. This is a new Subsection included into the Zoning Code pursuant to



A.R.S. §16-1019 which enables a municipality to establish a zone based on City rights-of-way in
which no portable signs are permitted.

 10-50.100.110  Nonconforming Signs 

No amendments proposed.

 

 10-50.100.120  Enforcement 

The provisions allowing for the removal of portable signs in public right-of-way and in clear view
zones by City code enforcement staff when a hazard to pedestrian or vehicle traffic is present has
been moved from the Portable Signs Section.

 10-50.100.130  Appeals 

No amendments proposed.

 10-50.100.140  Severability 

No amendments proposed.

Needed Amendments to Other Related Chapters of the Zoning Code
 
Chapter 10-20 Administration, Procedures, and Enforcement:
Division 10-20.40 Permits and Approvals
Section 10-20.40.130 Sign Permits – Temporary Wall Banner Sign Permits 

B.   Sign Permit Requirement. Includes minor amendments to state that a sign permit is only
required for a temporary wall banner.

Chapter 10-80 Definitions:
Division 10-80.20 Definition of Specialized Terms, Phrases, and Building Functions 

Includes minor amendments to the following definitions: 
Sign – includes signs for ideological and political purposes
Sign, Balloon Bobber – includes a new definition for this sign type
Sign, Portable – includes a new definition for this sign type
Sign, Post – includes a new definition for this sign type
Sign, Temporary– clarifies and simplifies the definition
Sign, Temporary A-frame – clarifies and simplifies the definition
Sign, Temporary Upright – clarifies and simplifies the definition
Sign, Temporary Feather or Vertical Banner – clarifies and simplifies the definition
Sign, Temporary Wall Banner – clarifies and simplifies the definition
Sign, Temporary Yard – includes a new definition for this sign type.

The following definitions are proposed to be deleted: 
Sign, Menu Display Board
Sign, Real Estate
Sign, Real Estate Directional
Sign, Stanchion
Sign Temporary
Sign, Temporary Directional
Sign, Temporary Event
Sign, Temporary New Development/Construction

Section 10-20.50.100.F of the Zoning Code establishes findings for the approval of text amendments. It



Section 10-20.50.100.F of the Zoning Code establishes findings for the approval of text amendments. It
is staff's recommendation that the Council may find that the proposed amendments to Division 10-50.100
(Sign Standards) and other related Divisions meets the following findings: 

Findings for Text Amendments:

The proposed amendment is consistent with and conforms to the objectives and policies of the
General Plan and any applicable specific plan;

1.

The proposed amendment will not be detrimental to the public interest, health, safety, convenience
or welfare of the City; and

2.

The proposed amendment is internally consistent with other applicable provisions of this Zoning
Code.

3.

Expanded Financial Considerations:
None.

Community Benefits and Considerations:
Flagstaff residents and business owners, users of the City's sign standards, and City staff will benefit
from the adoption of these proposed amendments as they will fix known deficiencies and redundancies
in the standards, simplify the permitting processes for temporary (portable) signs, clarify and simplify
standards and procedures, and importantly, provide consistency with the US Supreme Court's decision in
the Reed v. Town of Gilbert sign case by ensuring that the sign standards do no contain content-based
regulations.

Community Involvement:
INFORM, CONSULT, and INVOLVE 
Once a preliminary draft of the proposed amendments to the Sign Standards was completed, staff has
engaged with members of such local organizations as Friends of Flagstaff’s Future, Northern Arizona
Builders Association, Northern Arizona Association of Realtors, and the Flagstaff Chamber of Commerce
Economic Development Committee to solicit their comments and reaction to the amendments. Also, a
number of articles were published in the Flagstaff Business News and Cityscape, and staff has
participated in frequent interviews on KAFF Radio.
 
Consistent with state law and the requirements of the Zoning Code the Planning and Zoning Commission
held a work session on the proposed sign code amendments on February 10, 2016. No residents were in
attendance and no comments were provided to the Commission. The Council also held a work session
on December 8, 2015 on the proposed amendments at which time general policy direction was provided
to staff. No residents spoke to the Council at that work session.
 
In advance of all Council and Planning and Zoning Commission work sessions as well as the
Commission’s February 24th public hearing, staff has sent out an email to local stakeholder
organizations such as Friends of Flagstaff’s Future, Northern Arizona Builders Association, Northern
Arizona Association of Realtors, and the Flagstaff Chamber of Commerce Economic Development
Committee. These groups were requested to forward the email to their members. Interviews with KAFF
radio have also been scheduled regularly, and posts to the City’s Facebook accounts have been posted.
Further, in compliance with state law and the Zoning Code’s noticing requirements, a ¼ page display
advertisement (larger than the minimum required 1/8 page ad) was printed in the Arizona Daily Sun in
advance of all public meetings and public hearings of the Planning and Zoning Commission and the City
Council.

About six members of the public attended the Planning Commission's February 24th public hearing, but
none chose to speak to the Commission. At this meeting the Commission unanimously recommended
that the Council approve the amendments to Division 10-50.100 (Sign Standards) attached to Resolution



2016-13.

Expanded Options and Alternatives:
Adopt Resolution 2016-13 declaring that document entitled “2016 Amendments to City Code Title
10, Zoning Code, Division 10-50.100 (Sign Standards) and Other Related Amendments”  to be a
public record.

1.

Do not adopt Resolution 2016-13 and, therefore, do not declare that document entitled “2016
Amendments to City Code Title 10, Zoning Code, Division 10-50.100 (Sign Standards) and Other
Related Amendments”  to be a public record.

2.

Adopt Ordinance 2016-22 to amend the Zoning Code's sign standards (Division 10-50.100 (Signs
Standards)) and other related chapters of the Zoning Code.

3.

Modify and adopt Ordinance 2016-22 to amend the Zoning Code's sign standards (Division
10-50.100 (Signs Standards)) and other related chapters of the Zoning Code.

4.

Do not adopt Ordinance 2016-22 and, therefore, do not amend the Zoning Code's sign standards
(Division 10-50.100 (Signs Standards)) and other related chapters of the Zoning Code.

5.

Attachments:  Overview - Reed v. Town of Gilbert
Res. 2016-13
2016 Sign Standards Amendments
Sign Standards Amendments Redline Version 
Current Sign Standards
Ord. 2016-22



ReedSummaryFinal2015Dec22.docx    Page 1 

 
An Overview of Reed v. Town of Gilbert, US Supreme Court No. 135 S.CT. 2218, 2015 
 
The US Supreme Court, in a landmark decision 
rendered in June 2015, fundamentally changed the way 
cities and towns should approach sign regulation.  
 
Mr. Reed is the pastor of a small church, the Good 
News Community Church, whose Sunday services are 
held at various temporary locations within the Town of 
Gilbert, Arizona. As they do not have a fixed location, 
on Saturday mornings Pastor Reed posted signs 
bearing the name of the church and the time (typically 
9:00 am) and location of the next day’s service. The 
signs were removed shortly after the church service. 
 
The Town of Gilbert’s sign code prohibited the display of outdoor signs without a permit, 
except that 23 categories of signs were exempted. These included ideological signs, political 
signs and “temporary directional signs to direct the public to a church or other qualifying 
event”. In addition, each of these sign types had specific area limitations and time and 
placement restrictions as summarized below: 
    
Sign Type Example Message Area (Max.) Where? How long? 
Ideological Signs “Save the Whales” 20 sq.ft. Anywhere  No limit 
Political Signs “Vote for Bob” Res. 16 sq.ft. 

Com. 32 sq.ft. 
Private property; not 
town ROW 

60 days before 
primary election 
15 days after general 

Temp. Directional 
Sign Relating to a 
Qualifying Event 

“Church Meeting at 
9:00 am” 

6 sq.ft Public or private land; 
max. 4 on a property 
at one time 

12 hours before 
1 hour after 

 
The church was cited by the Town of Gilbert for placing temporary directional signs in violation 
of the Town’s sign code standards. Specifically, the church was cited for exceeding the time 
limits for displaying its temporary directional signs and for failing to include an event date on 
the signs. Unable to reach an accommodation with the Town, the church filed suit claiming that 
the sign code abridged their freedom of speech. After losing his case in front of the Arizona 
District Court, and the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals, Pastor Reed sought review by the U.S. 
Supreme Court. The case was argued in front of the Supreme Court on January 12, 2015, and 
decided on June 18, 2015. 
 
The Supreme Court’s decision in this case has far reaching implications for the day-to-day 
regulation of signs. The key takeaways from the Reed decision may be summarized as follows: 
 

 The Reed case clarified when a government regulation of speech is content based.  
 Content-based sign regulations are presumptively unconstitutional. 
 Time, place, and manner regulations are acceptable provided they are content neutral, 

narrowly tailored, and serve a legitimate government interest.  

Source: http://www.nytimes.com/2015/06/19/us/justices-side-
with-arizona-church-in-dispute-over-sign-limits.html  

Typical Sign used by the Church: "Temporary 
Directional Sign Relating to a Qualifying Event” 



ReedSummaryFinal2015Dec22.docx    Page 2 

 All signs are affected by the outcome of the Reed decision, i.e. temporary signs and 
permanent signs. 

 It appears that commercial signs may still be regulated differently than noncommercial 
signs (e.g., a municipality can likely still prohibit off-premise commercial signs). 

 A municipality cannot exempt certain categories of signs to avoid review. Exempting a 
category of signs, such as political signs or real estate, is the same as allowing them 
without regulation. Assuming other categories of signs containing noncommercial 
speech are regulated, those regulations will be deemed content based and 
presumptively unconstitutional. 

 Careful scrutiny of a sign code is essential to ensure content neutrality. 
 

Three Practical Considerations to Improve a Sign Code 
1. Every city and town should carefully review their sign regulations to ensure the Code is 

content neutral. 
 

2. Remove all references to the content of a sign. For example, regulations for different sign 
types, such as “real estate signs,” “garage sale signs,” “political signs,” or “grand 
opening signs,” are content based and need to be removed from the sign code. A better 
approach is to simply call them “temporary signs” and regulate the number, size, and 
location of the signs in a content-neutral manner. 
 

3. The sign code should include a severability clause and a substitution clause. The 
severability clause states that if a specific provision of the Code is found to be 
unconstitutional, it is the intent of the legislative body that the rest of the Code remains 
valid.  A substitution clause allows noncommercial speech to be substituted wherever 
commercial speech is allowed, which is intended to avoid arguments that the Code 
favors commercial speech over noncommercial speech.  
 

 
 



 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2016-13 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF, 
ARIZONA, DECLARING AS A PUBLIC RECORD THAT CERTAIN DOCUMENT 
FILED WITH THE CITY CLERK AND ENTITLED “2016 AMENDMENTS TO CITY 
CODE TITLE 10, ZONING CODE, DIVISION 10-50.100, SIGN STANDARDS, AND 
OTHER RELATED DIVISIONS” 

 
 
RECITALS: 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council wishes to incorporate by reference amendments to the Flagstaff 
City Code, Title 10, The City of Flagstaff Zoning Code, Chapter 10-50, Supplemental to Zones, 
Division 10-50.100, Sign Standards, Chapter 10-20, Administration, Procedures, and 
Enforcement, Division 10-20.40, Permits and Approvals, and Chapter 10-80, Definitions, 
Division 10-80.20, Definitions of Specialized Terms, Phrases, and Building Functions, by first 
declaring said amendments to be a public record; and  
 
WHEREAS, three copies of “2016 Amendments to City Code Title 10, Zoning Code, Division 10-
50.100, Sign Standards, and Other Related Divisions” have been deposited in the office of the City 
Clerk and are available for public use and inspection. 
 
 
ENACTMENTS: 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF AS 
FOLLOWS: 
 
The “2016 Amendments to City Code Title 10, Zoning Code, Division 10-50.100, Sign 
Standards, and Other Related Divisions,” attached hereto, three complete copies of which are 
on file in the office of the City Clerk, is hereby declared to be a public record. 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Flagstaff this    day of  
    , 2016. 
 
 
 
               
        MAYOR 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
  
CITY CLERK 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
  
CITY ATTORNEY 



 

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-1 

Division 10-50.100: Sign Standards 

Sections:    

10-50.100.010 Purpose 
10-50.100.020 Applicability 
10-50.100.030 Sign Permit Requirements 
10-50.100.040 General Restrictions for All  
10-50.100.050 General Requirements for All Signs 
10-50.100.060  Permanent Signs 
10-50.100.070 Comprehensive Sign Programs 
10-50.100.080 Sign Design Performance Standards 
10-50.100.090 Portable Signs 
10-50.100.100 Sign Districts of Special Designation 
10-50.100.110 Nonconforming Signs 
10-50.100.120 Enforcement 
10-50.100.130 Appeals 
10-50.100.140   Severability 

 
(Entire Division amended by Ord. 2014-27, adopted November 18, 2014)   
NOTE – This draft includes all sign amendments recommended for approval by P&Z in June 2015, additional staff 
amendments, and responses to the December 8th Council work session with specific reference to Section 10-
50.100.090 (Portable Signs – formerly called Temporary Signs) including the following key decision points: 
 

• No portable signs will be permitted in public right-of-way (both City and ADOT). 
• No permit will be required for portable signs, except temporary wall banner signs. 
• It was agreed that all portable signs may be displayed for an unlimited period of time and will not be required 

to be removed at the close of business as originally proposed by staff. An exception is that temporary wall 
banner signs may only be displayed for 30 days. For this reason as these signs could be in place for extended 
periods of time and, therefore, are not really “temporary”, they have been called “portable signs”. 

• An area limitation will be established to determine the maximum area of portable signs permitted in 
residential zones (16 sq. ft.) and non-residential zones (originally proposed as 32 sq. ft. and reduced to 24 sq. 
ft.). Staff has proposed that the area of temporary wall banners (max. 24 sq. ft.) should not be included in this 
area limitation.  

• Temporary window signs will also not be included in the area allowance for portable signs.  
• The Flagstaff Sign Free Zone as authorized under ARS § 16.1019 is included in the proposed amendments. 

 
The following options may be considered by the Council: 

• OPTION 1: Require a permit for all temporary signs and limit the display time that temporary signs may 
be displayed (may be anywhere from 60 days to 5 months). Under this option there would be no need for 
the proposed “portable sign” amendments as the length of time that they would be displayed will be 
limited. Enforcement and permitting of this option will be challenging and may be burdensome on staff. All 
temporary signs (except wall banners) could be required to be removed at the close of business (current 
code standard) or permitted to remain in place overnight (staff’s preferred approach). Note that as all 
temporary signs would require a permit, this would include political, ideological, real estate, commercial 
advertising signs, etc. 

• OPTION 2: Do not require a permit for all temporary signs and limit the display time that temporary 
signs may be displayed (may be anywhere from 60 days to 5 months), Under this option there would also 



 Sign Standards 

50.100-2  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

be no need for the proposed “portable sign” amendments. However, it would rely on an honor system 
with business owners and others placing signs on their property, similar to the approach used for civic/non-
profit event banner signs on the City’s sign structures to inform the City when a temporary sign would be 
displayed and removed within the time frame determined by the Council. Enforcement and management of 
this option will be challenging and may be burdensome on staff. All temporary signs (except wall banners) 
could be required to be removed at the close of business (current code standard) or permitted to remain 
in place overnight (staff’s preferred approach). 

 
This document is a clean version (i.e. all of the amendments made in Track Changes have been 
accepted) of the amendments proposed to Division 10-50.100 (Sign Standards) of the Flagstaff 
Zoning Code. The Track Changes version of these amendments is available as a separate document. 
It includes detailed explanations for each of the amendments which may be easily identified as they 
are written in italic font. 
 
The majority of the amendments included within this Division, especially in the Portable Signs 
Section, are proposed in response to the US Supreme Court’s decision in the Reed v. Town of Gilbert 
sign code case to ensure that the City’s sign provisions are content neutral. Additional amendments 
in the permanent signs section of this Division are also included based on suggestions by staff that 
was recommended for approval by the Planning and Zoning Commission in June 2015. The 
narrative below provides an overview of the more substantive amendments organized by Section 
and Subsection.  
 
10-50.100.010  Purpose 

• B. Includes minor amendments to remove redundant language and improve readability. 
• C. Table 10-50.100.010.A (Sign Types) has been deleted as it provided information of little value to 

readers of the Code. 
 
10-50.100.020  Applicability 

• A.4 The provision allowing for a traditional public forum has been moved from Section 10-
50.100.040.A (Location Restrictions) to this Section where it is more appropriately placed. 

• B. Interpretations. Includes additional language to provide that non-commercial speech may be 
substituted for commercial speech on a sign without the need for a permit. 

• C. Exemptions  
o The following Subsections have been deleted or removed from this Subsection: 

 Display Board for Daily Specials 
 Political Signs 
 Neighborhood or District Signs (now included within Section 10-50.100.100.A 

(Flagstaff Central District) 
 Non-Structural Modifications and Maintenance (moved to the Section 10-

50.100.030 (Sign Permit Requirements) 
 Real Estate Signs 
 Signs Required by Law (now included within governmental signs) 
 Vehicle Signs (Moved to Table 10-50.100.060.P (Standards for Other Sign Types)) 
 Yard and Garage Sale Signs 

o The following Subsections have been updated to clarify standards and improve readability: 
 Flags 
 Governmental Signs (includes property address signs) 
 Internal Signs and Signs with City Recreation Facilities. 

 



Sign Standards  

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-3 

10-50.100.030  Sign Permit Requirements 
• A. The requirement for Temporary Sign Permits for all temporary signs has been modified to only 

require a permit for Temporary Wall Banner Signs. 
• C. The standards for Non-Structural Modifications and Maintenance have been moved from 

Subsection C. (Exemptions) to this Section where they more appropriately should be placed. 
 

10-50.100.040  General Restrictions for All Signs 
• A. Prohibited Signs. Includes minor amendments to remove redundant language and improve 

readability. 
The provision allowing for a traditional public forum has been moved to Section 10-50.100.020.A 
(Applicability). 
The standards for signs on vehicles have been moved to Table 10-50.100.060.P (Standards for 
Other Sign Types), except that the standard prohibiting a vehicle from being used as an 
advertising sign remains in this Subsection. 

• B. Display Restrictions. Includes minor amendments to remove redundant language and improve 
readability. 

 
10-50.100.050  General Requirements for All Signs 

• No significant amendments are proposed in this Section except to include an additional photograph to 
better illustrate how to calculate sign area. 

 
10-50.100.060  Permanent Signs  

• C.4.b.(2) Building Mounted Signs. Includes minor amendments and an illustration to clarify and 
better explain the standards for sign placement. 

• C.4.b.(5) Driveway Signs (formerly Directional Signs). Includes minor amendments to remove the 
requirement that these signs may only be approved as part of a Comprehensive Sign Program. 

• C.4.b.(7) Freestanding Signs. Includes a new standard to allow for a freestanding sign to be mounted 
on two or more posts. A new standard specific to the post signs typically used to advertise a 
property or building for sale, rent or lease is also included. 

• C.4.b.(14) Window Signs. Includes an amendment to accommodate open signs. Also, the combined 
area of permanent and temporary window signs has been increased from 25 to 40 percent of the 
window area. 

• C.4.b.(15) Vehicle Signs (Formerly Other Sign Types). This Subsection now only applies to 
vehicle signs. The standards for fuel pump topper signs have been deleted as these are 
portable signs not permanent signs; the standards for open signs have been removed 
(inserted into Window Signs – see above); the standards for vehicle signs have been 
moved from the Exemptions Subsection into this table; and, the standards for vending 
machines have been deleted as they were hard to apply and enforce. 

 
10-50.100.070  Comprehensive Sign Programs  

• C. Review. Includes a minor amendment to also allow this Section to also apply to building mounted 
signs. 
 

10-50.100.080  Sign Design Performance Standards 
• B. Cumulative Adjustments. Includes a minor amendment to correct an error to ensure consistency 

with other applicable standards. 
 
 



 Sign Standards 

50.100-4  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

 
10-50.100.090  Portable Signs  

• In order to ensure that the City’s temporary sign regulations are consistent with the US Supreme 
Court’s decision in the Reed v Town of Gilbert sign case, numerous and significant amendments 
are proposed in this Section to ensure that the City’s sign provisions are content neutral. 

• The Council directed staff to draft revisions to the Temporary Sign Section to allow temporary signs 
to be displayed for an indefinite period of time without the need for a permit, subject to various 
standards that, for example, limited the total area of the signs, their placement on private property, 
etc. This means that the signs are hardly “temporary”, and staff has suggested instead that they be 
called “portable signs”. 

• A. Purpose. A minor amendment is proposed to eliminate redundant language. 
• B. General to All.  

o Clarifies that a temporary sign permit is only required for a temporary wall banner sign. It 
has been renamed as a Temporary Wall Banner Sign Permit. 

o The redundant provisions stating that portable signs may not be illuminated (this standard 
may be found in Table 10-50.100.090.A) and the sign standard for events on City property 
approved under a Special Event Permit have been eliminated (See Section 10-
50.100.090.B.3). 

o The provision allowing for a traditional public forum has been moved to Section 10-
50.100.020.A.4 (Applicability) where it is more appropriately placed. 

o The provision that allows the removal of portable signs in public right-of-way and in clear 
view zones by City code enforcement staff when a hazard to pedestrian or vehicle traffic is 
present has been moved to Section 10-50.100.120 (Enforcement).  

o A new standard is proposed that establishes no limitations on the length of time that portable 
signs may be displayed except for temporary wall banners..  

• C. Standards for Portable Signs. This Subsection has been significantly shortened and most of the 
former standards have been eliminated because they were content-based. This includes for 
example, the standards for various signs (e.g. temporary construction signs, signs for temporary 
uses, new occupancy or use signs, grand opening signs, directional signs, promotional signs, 
going-out-of-business signs, etc.). Furthermore, the standards for different sign types (e.g. A-
frame or upright signs, feather or vertical banners, and wall banners) have been consolidated into 
one table (Table 10-50.100.090.B) to eliminate redundancy and to simplify the Code. This Section 
has also been reorganized as summarized below: 
o 1. Time, Place and Manner Restrictions for Portable Signs.  

A new Table 10-50.100.090.A provides all the standards applicable to the placement of 
portable signs. It is divided into three sections: Applicable to All Zones (e.g. includes 
standards on what elements are prohibited on a portable sign and design and 
construction standards); Commercial, Industrial and Other Non-Residential Zones; and 
All Residential Zones (each of these subsections includes standards on period of use, 
hours of use, allowable sign area and number of signs). A content neutral standard is 
assured because the sign message is not regulated. However, the total area of portable 
signs in commercial etc. zones is limited to 24 sq. ft. per business while the total area of 
portable signs in residential zones is limited to 16 sq. ft. per lot or parcel. This maximum 
sign area limitation allows for an unlimited number of portable signs with a variety of 
messages (may be political, business advertising, or ideological) provided they do not 
exceed the area limitation. Consistent with Council’s direction provided in the October 
8th work session, the area of temporary window signs and temporary wall banners is not 
included in the total sign area for portable signs. 



Sign Standards  

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-5 

o 2. Standards for Specific Portable Sign types.  
Table 10-50.100.090.B consolidates the area, height, width, and number of signs, etc. 
standards for various portable sign types, including A-frame or upright signs, feather or 
vertical banner signs, wall banner signs, and two new sign types, flags displaying a 
commercial message and yard signs. End Note #1 allows for various other types of 
portable signs such as fuel pump topper signs or balloon bobbers. 

o 3. Civic and Non-Profit Events Signs on City Approved Sign Support Structures.  
The standards in this Subsection are unchanged except that a purpose statement has been 
added that clarifies that signs advertising a community event may be placed on these sign 
structures rather than the current standard which requires them to be located on the sign 
structures. 

o 4. Sign Walkers.  
The existing standards have been updated and clarified to make them easier to apply. 

 
10-50.100.100  Sign Districts of Special Designation 

• A. Flagstaff Central District. The standards for Neighborhood or District Signs have been moved 
into the freestanding sign section. 

• B. Downtown Historic District. The standards for stanchion signs in former Table 10-50.100.090.E 
(Standards for Temporary Stanchion Signs) have been deleted consistent with the principle of 
prohibiting all temporary (portable) signs in the public right-of-way. Also, the former prohibition 
on A-frame and Upright Signs in this Downtown District has been removed, and only feather 
vertical banners are now proposed to be prohibited in this District. 

• E. Flagstaff Sign Free Zone. This is a new Subsection included into the Zoning Code pursuant to 
A.R.S. §16-1019 which enables a municipality to establish a zone based on city rights-of-way in 
which no portable signs are permitted. 

 
10-50.100.110  Enforcement 

• The provisions allowing for the removal of portable signs in public right-of-way and in clear view 
zones by City code enforcement staff when a hazard to pedestrian or vehicle traffic is present has 
been moved from the Portable Signs Section. 

 
Needed Amendments to Other Zoning Code Chapters: 
 
Chapter 10-20 Administration, Procedures, and Enforcement: 
Division 10-20.40 Permits and Approvals 
Section 10-20.40.130 Sign Permits – Temporary Wall Banner Sign Permits 

• B. Sign Permit Requirement. Includes minor amendments to state that a sign permit is only 
required for a temporary wall banner. 

 
Chapter 10-80 Definitions: 
Division 10-80.20 Definition of Specialized Terms, Phrases, and Building Functions 

• Includes minor amendments to the following definitions: 
o Sign – includes signs for ideological and political purposes) 
o Sign, Balloon Bobber – includes a new definition for this sign type 
o Sign, Temporary– clarifies and simplifies the definition 
o Sign, Temporary A-frame – clarifies and simplifies the definition 
o Sign, Post – includes a new definition for this sign type 
o Sign, Temporary Yard – includes a new definition for this sign type. 

  



 Sign Standards 

50.100-6  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

10-50.100.010 Purpose  

A. The Council finds that the natural surroundings, climate, history, and people 
of the City provide the Flagstaff community with its unique charm and 
beauty. This Division has been adopted to ensure that all signs installed in 
the City are compatible with the unique character and environment of the 
community, and in compliance with the General Plan. 

B. The purpose of this Division is to promote public health, safety, and welfare 
through a comprehensive system of reasonable, effective, consistent, content-
neutral, and nondiscriminatory sign standards and requirements, including 
the following specific purposes:  

1. To promote and accomplish the goals, policies, and objectives of the 
General Plan; 

2. To balance public and private objectives by allowing adequate avenues 
for both commercial and non-commercial messages; 

3. To improve pedestrian and traffic safety by promoting the free flow of 
traffic and the protection of pedestrians and motorists from injury and 
property damage caused by, or which may be fully or partially 
attributable to, cluttered, distracting, and/or illegible signage; 

4. To protect the aesthetic beauty of the City’s natural and built 
environment for the citizens of and visitors to the City, and to protect 
prominent view sheds within the community; 

5. To prevent property damage, personal injury, and litter caused by signs 
that are improperly constructed or poorly maintained; 

6. To protect property values, the local economy, and quality of life by 
preserving and enhancing the appearance of the streetscape; and 

7. To provide consistent sign design standards that enables the fair and 
consistent enforcement of these sign regulations. 

10-50.100.020 Applicability 

A. Applicability 

1. This Division applies to all signs within the City, regardless of their 
nature or location, unless specifically exempted.  

2. Three levels of review standards are established in this Division, some or 
all of which may be applied to the sign depending on where it is located 
within the City: 



Sign Standards  

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-7 

a. All signs within the City of Flagstaff shall be reviewed based on the 
standards established in this Division; 

b. Signs in the Flagstaff Central District are reviewed based on the 
standards established in Section 10-50.100.100.A (Flagstaff Central 
District) as well as the standards and requirements otherwise 
established in this Division; and 

c. Signs in the Downtown Historic District, which have the highest 
standards of review in keeping with the historic character and urban 
scale of this district, are reviewed based on the standards in Section 
10-50.100.100.B (Downtown Historic District),  the Flagstaff Central 
District and the standards and requirements otherwise established in 
this Division. 

3. Applicable to Transect Zones 
Signs proposed in the transect zones shall comply with the standards 
established in the following Sections: 

a. Transect Zone T6: Section 10-50.100.100.A (Flagstaff Central District) 
and Section 10-50.100.100.B (Downtown Historic District). 

b. Transect Zone T5 and T5-O: Section 10-50.100.100.A (Flagstaff Central 
District) and Section 10-50.100.100.B (Downtown Historic District), 
where applicable. 

c. Transect Zone T4N.1 and T4N.1-O: Section 10-50.100.100.A (Flagstaff 
Central District). 

d. Transect Zone T3N.1: Section 10-50.100.100.A (Flagstaff Central 
District). 

4. Nothing in this Division shall be construed to prohibit a person from 
holding a sign while located on City property so long as the person 
holding the sign is located on public property determined to be a 
traditional public forum and does not block ingress and egress from 
buildings or create a safety hazard by impeding travel on sidewalks, bike 
and vehicle lanes, and trails. 

B. Interpretations  
This Division is not intended to, and does not restrict speech on the basis of 
its content, viewpoint, or message. Any classification of signs in this Division 
that permits speech by reason of the type of sign, identity of the sign user, or 
otherwise, shall also be interpreted to allow non-commercial speech on the 
sign. No part of this Division shall be construed to favor commercial speech 
over non-commercial speech. A non-commercial message may be substituted 
for any commercial message displayed on a sign, or the content of any non-
commercial message displayed on a sign may be changed to a different non-
commercial message, without the need for any approval or permit, provided 
that the size of the sign is not altered. To the extent any provision of this 



 Sign Standards 

50.100-8  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

Division is ambiguous, the term shall be interpreted not to regulate on the 
basis of the content of the message.  

C. Exemptions 
The provisions of this Division do not apply to the following signs : 

1. Building Identification Signs  
Building identification signs not exceeding one square feet in area for 
residential buildings and two square feet in area for nonresidential 
buildings. 

2. Business Name and Address on an Entry Door 
Name of a business, address information, and/or contact information 
displayed on an entry door, not exceeding two square feet in area. Sign 
must not include any commercial advertising. 

3. Community Bulletin Board Signs 
Signs posted on a community bulletin board shall not exceed a dimension 
of 11 x 17 inches. No more than one community bulletin board per 
property and per block with a maximum size of 32 square feet is allowed. 
A community bulletin board may be erected in public right-of-way, in a 
public space or on private property.  

4. Flags 
Any flag not containing a commercial message, official flags of national, 
state, or local government, and any other flag adopted or sanctioned by 
an elected legislative body of competent jurisdiction may be displayed as 
provided under the law that adopts or regulates its use. No more than 
three flags shall be displayed per lot or parcel except on federal holidays. 
Flags shall be mounted on a single flagpole, or three separate flagpoles 
installed either on the building or adjacent to a building or use.  

5. Governmental Signs 
Any sign, posting, notice or similar signs placed, installed or required by 
law by a city, county, or a federal or state governmental agency in 
carrying out its responsibility to protect the public health, safety, and 
welfare, including, but not limited to, the following:  

(1) Emergency and warning signs necessary for public safety or civil 
defense; 

(2) Traffic signs erected and maintained by an authorized public 
agency; 

(3) Signs required to be displayed by law; 

(4) Signs directing the public to points of interest; and 

(5) Signs showing the location of public facilities 



Sign Standards  

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-9 

6. Heritage Signs in Landmark Zones    
Heritage signs are governed by the ordinance designating the Landmark 
Overlay and its related guidelines (Refer to Division 10-30.30 (Heritage 
Preservation)). 

7. Historic and Architectural Features 
Historical plaques erected and maintained by non-profit organizations, 
building cornerstones, and date-constructed stones not exceeding four 
square feet in area. 

8. Internal Signs and Signs within City Recreation Facilities 
Includes; 

a. Signs or displays located entirely inside of a building and not visible 
from the building’s exterior; 

b. Signs intended to be readable from within a parking area but not 
readable beyond the boundaries of the lot or parcel upon which they 
are located or from any public right-of-way;  

c. Signs placed on the walkway directly in front of a store provided such 
sign does not interfere with pedestrian travel or encroach upon a 
required accessible path; and  

d. Temporary signs located within City Recreation Facilities. 

9. Seasonal Decorations 
Temporary, non-commercial decorations or displays that are incidental to 
and commonly associated with national, local, or religious celebration, 
provided that such decorations and displays are only displayed during 
the appropriate time of year, are maintained in an attractive condition, 
and do not constitute a fire hazard. 

10. Street Light Banner Sign 
Street light banner signs as permitted by the City on light poles in certain 
areas within the City. 

11. Vending Machine and Similar Facilities 
Signs that consitute an integral part of a vending machine  or similar 
facilities located outside of a business. 

10-50.100.030 Sign Permit Requirements 

A. The procedures for submittal, review and approval of Permanent Signs are 
provided in Section 10-20.40.120 (Sign Permit - Permanent Signs) and 
Temporary Wall Banner Sign Permits are provided in Section 10-20.40.130 
(Sign Permit - Temporary Wall Banner Sign Permits), including any required 
fees. Signs associated with and/or advertising a special event on City 



 Sign Standards 

50.100-10  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

property shall be approved as part of the Special Event Permit from the City. 
All signs not approved in the Special Event Permit are prohibited.   

B. No Sign Permit is required for a sign on property used exclusively for a 
single-family residence or duplex that complies with this Division and is 
limited to one sign per street frontage.   

C. Nonstructural Modifications and Maintenance 

No Sign Permit is required for the following non-structural modifications to 
and maintenance of existing signs: 

1. Changes to the face or copy of changeable copy signs;  

2. Changes to the face or copy of an existing single-tenant or multi-tenant 
freestanding or building mounted non-illuminated sign from one 
business to another with no structural or lighting modifications to the 
sign; and 

3. The normal repair and maintenance of conforming or legal non-
conforming signs, except as identified in Section 10-50.100.050.E. 

10-50.100.040 General Restrictions for All Signs 

A. Prohibited Signs  
Except where specifically authorized in this Division, the following signs are 
prohibited : 

1. No sign shall be placed within, on, or projecting over City right-of-way; 

2. No sign shall be attached to or placed on public property, except for 
government signs and those approved as part of a Special Event Permit; 

3. No sign shall obstruct the view of any authorized traffic sign, signal, or 
other traffic control device; 

4. No sign shall be constructed or placed in such a way as to be confused 
with any authorized traffic signal or device; 

5. No sign shall be constructed or placed in such as manner as to prevent or 
interfere with free ingress to or egress from any door, window, or any 
exit way required by the Building Code or Fire Department regulations 
currently in effect; 

6. No commercial, advertising, or business sign shall be located off the 
premises of the business to which it refers; 

7. Any sign mounted, attached, or painted on a trailer, boat, or motor 
vehicle parked to provide advertising visible from the public right-of-way 



Sign Standards  

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-11 

or parked on public property to clearly provide advertising close to the 
public right-of-way. This provision excludes vehicles and equipment 
engaged in active construction projects, and the on-premise storage of 
equipment and vehicles offered to the general public for rent or lease. 

8. No sign shall be painted, attached or mounted on fuel tanks, storage 
containers and/or solid waste receptacles or their enclosures, except for a 
manufacturer’s or installer’s identification, appropriate warning signs 
and placards, and information required by law; 

9. No sign shall be tacked, painted, burned, cut, pasted or otherwise affixed 
to trees, rocks, light and utility poles, posts, fences, ladders, benches, or 
similar supports that is visible from a public way;  

10. No sign shall cover the architectural features of a building, such as 
dormers, insignias, pilasters, soffits, transoms, trims, or other 
architectural feature; 

11. Billboards; and 

12. Bandit signs. 

B. Display Restrictions 

1. Purpose 
The purpose of this Subsection is to regulate the manner in which signs 
convey their messages by specifying prohibited display features that 
create distractions to the traveling public and create visual clutter that 
mar the natural and architectural aesthetics of the City. 

2. Applicability  
Signs with the following display features are prohibited: 

a. Lighting devices with intermittent, flashing, rotating, blinking or 
strobe light illumination, animation, motion picture, or laser or 
motion picture projection, or any lighting effect creating the illusion 
of motion, as well as laser or hologram lights;  

b. An exposed light source, except for neon incorporated into the design 
of the sign; 

c. Sound, odor or smoke; 

d. Inflatable balloons, spinners, strings of flags and pennants, fixed 
aerial displays, streamers, tubes, or other devices affected by the 
movement of the air or other atmospheric or mechanical means either 
attached to a sign or to vehicles, structures, poles, trees and other 
vegetation, or similar support structures;  



 Sign Standards 

50.100-12  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

e. Rotating or moving sign body or any other portion of the sign 
whether by mechanical or any other means. Barber poles no larger 
than three feet high and 10 inches in diameter, and clocks, are 
excepted from this restriction; 

f. Electronic displays;   

g. Any changeable copy LED signs, except fixed illumination display 
signs used to indicate that a business is “open”, display prices, or to 
confirm an order placed in a drive through lane;  

h. Stuffed or inflated animals; and 

i. Strings of lights arranged in the shape of a product, arrow or any 
commercial message. 

10-50.100.050 General Requirements for All Signs 

[No amendments are proposed in this Section other than to include an additional 
graphic (see below) on Page 50.100-15 to better explain how sign area is calculated 
when a symbol is included within a sign.] 

 

 

 

 

10-50.100.060 Permanent Signs  

C. Signs for All Non-residential Uses in All Zones 

4. Standards for Specific Sign Types    

b. The following sign types are permitted, subject to the criteria listed 
under each sign type. 

(2) Building Mounted Signs  
The standards provided in Table C (Standards for Building 
Mounted Signs) shall apply to all building mounted sign in all 
zones where allowed by Table 10-50.100.060.A (Standards for 
Permanent Signs by Use). 
 

  

 

 

 

 
 
  

 

 



Sign Standards  

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-13 

Table 10-50.100.060.C: Standards for Building Mounted Signs 

 Standard 

Sign Placement The total sign area for signs on single-tenant or multi-tenant 
buildings may be placed on any building elevation, subject to 
the following standards: 

(1) At least 1 sign shall be associated with the building 
entry zone1 (may be wall mounted, projecting, 
awning, etc.); 

(2) No sign shall face an adjoining residential zone; 

(3) Signs shall be placed at least 12 inches or 20% of the 
width of the building element on which they are 
mounted, whichever is less, from the sides of the 
building element; 

(4) The width of the sign shall be no greater than 60% 
of the width of the building element on which it is 
displayed; 

(5) Signs shall be placed at least 12 inches or 20% of the 
height of the building element on which they are 
mounted, whichever is less, from the top and 
bottom edge of the building element. 

 

If vertically placed on a mansard roof, structural supports 
shall be minimized, and secondary supports (angle irons, guy 
wires, braces) shall be enclosed/ hidden from view. 

Special Provisions 

Additional Increases in Sign Area Additional sign area may be sought under Section 10-
50.100.080 (Sign Design Performance Standards) 

 
 

 
(5) Driveway Sign 

(a) Driveway signs are exempted from the total allowable sign 
area permitted for each use. 

(b) The standards provided in Table F (Standards for Driveway 
Signs) shall apply. 

Table 10-50.100.060F: Standards for Driveway Signs 

 Standard Other Requirements 

Sign Area 3 sq. ft. per face. May be double-sided. 

 

Mounting Height – 
Building Mounted Sign  

Max. 8 feet from grade.  Flat against a wall of the building. 

Mounting Height – Max. 3 feet from grade.  



 Sign Standards 

50.100-14  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

Table 10-50.100.060F: Standards for Driveway Signs 

Freestanding Sign 

Number of Signs Max. 1 at each driveway or drive through lane. 

Illumination Internal illumination only.  May also be non-illuminated. 

Permitting Sign Permit is required.  

 
(7) Freestanding Signs  

 
Table 10-50.100.060.H: Standards for Freestanding Signs 

Standard   

Sign Height See this Section and Table A (Standards for Permanent Signs by Use). 

Elements to enhance the design of a sign structure may extend above 
the sign to a max. of 20% of the sign’s allowed height, or 12 inches 
whichever is greater. 

 
 

Special Provisions Standard  

Sign Width The sign base must be a min. of 60% of the width of the sign cabinet 
or face. 

A freestanding sign may be mounted on 2 or more posts with a min. 
diameter/dimension of 8” if the sign complies with the standards of 
Section 10-50.100.080 (Sign Design Performance Standards). 

 
 
Insert a new row between “Additional Increases in Sign Area” and “Landscaping”. 
 

Post Sign Max. 1 post sign per frontage. 

Sign Permit is required unless the post sign advertises property or a 
portion of the property for sale, rent or lease, in which case no Sign 
Permit is required and the sign area will be included in the allowable 
area for portable signs. See Table 10-50.100.090.A. 

 
 
 

(14) Window Sign  
The standards provided in Table O (Standards for Permanent 
Window Signs) shall apply. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Sign Standards  

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-15 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(15) Vehicle Signs  
The standards provided in Table P (Standards for Vehicle 
Signs) shall apply. 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Table 10-50.100.060.O: Standards for Permanent Window Signs 

 Standard Other Requirements 

Sign Area  Combined area of temporary 
and permanent window signs 
combined shall not exceed 40% 
of the area of the window on 
or within which they are 
displayed. 

Signs constructed of perforated 
vinyl or painted on the window 
shall be included as part of the 
40% area calculation. 

Permanent window signs are 
included in the total allowable sign 
area for building mounted signs. 

Sign Placement No higher than 1st story 
windows.  

Inside mounting required. 

Illumination Neon illumination only. Fixed copy or display only – no 
flashing, blinking, or moving text 
or images are permitted. 

Permitting Sign Permit is required.  

Open Signs Max. 2 sq. ft.  

Max. I per business. 

Excluded from the total allowable 
building mounted or window sign 
area. 

No Sign Permit required. 

Table 10-50.100.060.P: Standards for Vehicle Signs 

 Standard Other Requirements 

Vehicle Signs 

Vehicle Sign  May be: 

(1) Permanently painted or 
wrapped on the surface of a 
vehicle; 

(2) Adhesive vinyl film affixed to a 
window; or 

(3) Magnetically attached to a 
vehicle. 

May only indicate the name of the 
business and owner. 

 

 

Vehicle Use The vehicle shall be regularly and consistently used in the normal daily 
conduct of the business, e.g. used for delivering or transporting goods or 
providing services related to the business. 

Vehicle shall be operable and properly licensed. 

When not in use the vehicle shall be parked in a lawful manner on the 
business property so as not to be visible from the public right-of-way, or if 
this is not possible, as far from the public right-of-way as possible. 



 Sign Standards 

50.100-16  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

10-50.100.070 Comprehensive Sign Programs  

• Page 50.100-43 
C.  Review 
 3. The Planning Commission shall review all Comprehensive Sign Programs that request 

an increase in allowable sign height and area beyond the limits established in Section 10-
50.100.080 (Sign Design Performance Standards) for freestanding and building mounted 
signs for multi-tenant buildings or shopping centers. 
 

  

OR 

OR 

NOT permitted 

Permitted 

NOT permitted 

Permitted 

Figure O. Signs on Vehicles Used for Business Purposes 



Sign Standards  

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-17 

10-50.100.080 Sign Design Performance Standards  

 B. Cumulative Adjustments 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

10-50.100.090 Portable Signs 

A. Purpose  
The Council finds that the proliferation of portable signs is a distraction to 
the traveling public and creates aesthetic blight and litter that threatens the 
public’s health, safety, and welfare. The purpose of these regulations is to 
ensure that portable signs do not create a distraction to the traveling public 
by eliminating the aesthetic blight and litter caused by portable signs. 

B. General to All 

Portable signs are allowed only in compliance with the provisions of this 
Section; 

1. A Permit is only required for temporary wall banner signs. See Section 
10-20.40.130 (Temporary Wall Banner Sign Permits). 

2. There is no limitation on the length of time that a portable sign may be 
displayed, except for temporary wall banner signs (See Table 10-
50.100.090.B (Standards for Portable Signs).  

3. Portable signs must not be placed on or affixed to any City property, 
including City rights-of-way, except as specifically authorized in 
connection with a special event permitted under City Code Chapter 8-12 
(Special Events).  

Table 10-50.100.080.B: Cumulative Adjustments 

# of Features Used 
Freestanding Signs  Building 

Mounted Sign  

Area Height Area Height 

2 30% 20-30%1 20% 10% 

3 45% 35-40%1 30% 15% 

4 60% 50% 40% 20% 

Standard #5 w/ Standards 1-4 
Not to exceed 75% of 

original max. 
permitted sign area 

N/A N/A N/A 

Cumulative Maximum Sign Area 
Increase Allowed 

50% 50% 50% 20% 

End Notes     
1 This percentage varies depending on which design features listed in Table A are utilized. 



 Sign Standards 

50.100-18  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

4. Portable signs shall not be placed in the clear view zone at street 
intersections or driveways (Refer to Section 10-50.100.050.F (Sign 
Placement at Intersection)). 

C. Standards for Portable Signs  
Portable signs placed on the exterior of a structure or on private property are 
allowed in all Zones in compliance with the following standards: 

1. Time, Place and Manner Restrictions for Portable Signs  
Portable signs shall comply with the standards provided in Table A 
(Standards for All Portable Signs).  



Sign Standards  

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-19 

 

 

2. Types of Portable Signs  
Portable signs shall comply with the standards provided in Table B 
(Standards for Specific Portable Sign Types). 

Table 10-50.100.090.A: Standards for All Portable Signs  

 Standard  

Applicable to All Zones 

Placement  Shall not create a hazard for pedestrian or vehicular traffic. 

Height and width Refer to Table 10-50.100.90.B for height and width standards for 
portable signs. 

Prohibited elements Any form of illumination, including flashing, blinking, or rotating 
lights. 

Animation. 

Reflective materials. 

Attachments, including, but not limited to, balloons, ribbons, 
loudspeakers, etc. 

Design and construction Professionally crafted. 

Of sufficient weight and durability to withstand wind gusts, 
storms, etc. 

Commercial, Industrial and Other Non-Residential Zones 

Period of use No limitation, except for wall banners. Refer to Table 10-
50.100.090.B. 

Area of all portable signs at any 
one time 

Max. 24 sq. ft. per business; excludes the area of temporary 
window signs and wall banner signs.  

Exception: In the Flagstaff Central District, max. 12 sq. ft. per 
business; excludes the area of temporary window signs and wall 
banner signs. Refer to Section 10-50.100.100.A. 

Number of Signs 

 

 

Unlimited except that the total sign area of all portable signs not 
exceed 24 sq. ft. per business.  

Exception: Multi-tenant shopping centers or offices – Max. 2 
portable signs per 150 linear feet of property frontage not to 
exceed 24 sq. ft. combined. 

Permitting No Sign Permit required, except for temporary wall banner 
signs. 

All Residential Zones 

Period of use No limitation. 

Area of all portable signs at any 
one time 

Max. 16 sq. ft. per lot or parcel.  

Number of Signs 

 

Unlimited except that the total sign area of all  portable signs 
shall not exceed 16 sq. ft. 

Permitting No Sign Permit required.  

 



 Sign Standards 

50.100-20  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

Table 10-50.100.090.B: Standards for Specific Portable Sign Types 

 Standard Other Requirements 

Portable Sign Type1 Height 
(Max.) 

Width 
(Max.) 

Area 
(Max.) 

 

A-Frame or Upright 
Sign 

4’ from 
grade 

3’ 12 sq. ft. Only permitted in non-residential zones. 

Feather or Vertical 
Banner 

8’ from 
grade 

2’ 12 sq. ft. Secure attachment to mounting pole 
required. 

Only permitted in non-residential zones. 

Yard Sign 3’ 2’ 4 sq. ft. Installed securely in the ground. 

Number of Signs See Table 10-50.100.090.A.  

Portable Sign Type1 Height 
(Max.) 

Width 
(Max.) 

Area 
(Max.) 

 

Flags displaying a 
commercial 
message 

End 
Note2 

-- 24 sq. ft.  Secure attachment to flag pole required. 
Permitted in all zones. 

Wall Banner  -- -- 24 sq. ft. May only be mounted on a building wall or 
on T-posts or stakes installed ≤ 6” from a 
wall on which the temporary wall banner 
sign would be hung. 

Mounting height – max. 25 feet to the top 
of the temporary wall banner sign. 

Only permitted in non-residential zones. 
May only be displayed for 30 days per 
calendar year and shall not be used as 
permanent signs. 

Not included in the total sign area for all 
portable signs. 

Temporary Wall Banner Sign Permit 
required. 

Window Sign -- -- Refer to 
End 

Note3 

Placed no higher than 1st story windows. 

Inside mounting required. 

Not included in the total sign area for all 
portable signs. 

     

Number of Signs See Table 10-50.100.090.A.  

End Notes 
1 Other portable sign types may be allowed (e.g. fuel pump topper signs wraps around waste 
receptacles, or balloon bobbers) provided the max area limitation for all portable signs is not 
exceeded. 

2  Flag pole height is limited by the allowable building height of the zone in which it is located. Refer to 
the Building Form Standards in Chapter 10-40 (Specific to Zones). 



Sign Standards  

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-21 

 

 

3. Civic and Non-Profit Event Signs on City Approved Sign Support 
Structures  

a. Purpose 
The City has installed banner sign support structures at certain 
locations within the community where temporary banners used to 
advertise civic and non-profit organizations and events for which a 
Special Event Permit has been approved may be placed. The purpose 
of these banner sign support structures, therefore, is to provide a 
convenient, highly visible and safe location for the display of these 
temporary banners to minimize their proliferation within the 
community which causes visual blight. 

b. Signs advertising events organized and implemented by civic and 
non-profit organizations, or events for which a Special Event Permit 
has been approved by the Recreation Services Section, may be 
installed on City approved sign support structures in compliance with 
the standards provided in Table C (Standards for Temporary Off-
Premise Signs on City Approved Sign Support Structures). 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

3 The area of temporary and permanent window signs combined (including signs constructed of 
perforated vinyl or painted on the window) shall not exceed 40% of the area of the window on or 
within which they are displayed.  

Table 10-50.100.090.C: Standards for Temporary Off-Premise Signs  on City-
Approved Sign Support Structures  

Number of Events 
No more than 3 events per organization per year may be advertised 
on City-approved sign support structures. 

Period of Use Max.  7 days before an event. 

Sign Placement  Only at approved locations (See b. below).  

Sign Size and Area Max. 3’ by 8’; Max. 24 sq. ft.  

Banner Details 

Grommets shall be placed at each of the corners of the banner for 
secure attachment to the support structure. 

Banners shall not have brand identification, such as “Sponsored by 
XYZ Corporation”, or a product brand across the face of the 
banner as a background. 

Logos for sponsors of the event or the banner shall be limited to 
max. 20% of the area of the banner.  

Number of Signs 
1 sign for each event per support structure, to a max. of 3 sign 
support structures.  

Removal  Within 1 day after the event.  

Illumination Not permitted.  

Permitting 
No Sign Permit required – a reservation is needed for placement of 
a banner on a support structure. See Section 10-50.100.090.C.3.b. 



 Sign Standards 

50.100-22  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

 b. An application may be submitted to the Director for the placement of 
up to three banners on City-approved sign support structures 
(illustrated in Figure A) for the purpose of promoting a forthcoming 
civic or non-profit event, a City Recreation Services event, or an event 
for which a Special Event Permit has been approved by the Recreation 
Services Section. Placement on these structures is reserved on a first 
come, first serve basis up to three-months in advance of the event. 
The locations of the City’s approved sign support structures are 
available on a map on file with the Planning Section. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4. Sign Walkers  
This Subsection provides time, place and manner restrictions pertaining 
to sign walkers, i.e. a person who holds a sign to convey a commercial 
message, subject to the following standards: 

a. Sign walkers shall only be allowed in commercial and industrial 
zones, and Transect Zones T5 and T6;  

b. Sign walkers shall only be located on the premises of the business 
they are advertising with the property owner’s or property manager’s 
written approval or only on a public sidewalk, walkway or pedestrian 
thoroughfare immediately adjacent to the business premises;  

c. Sign walkers shall not be located within a minimum of 30 feet from a 
street or driveway intersection measured from the back of the curb or 
edge of pavement if no curb exists, and are not permitted in any of the 
following locations:  

(1) In parking aisles or stalls; 

(2) In driving lanes; or 

(3) On fences, walls, boulders, planters, other signs, vehicles, utility 
facilities or any other structure; or 

Figure A. Civic or Non-Profit Event Sign Structure  



Sign Standards  

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-23 

d. Sign walkers may not interfere with traffic or block pedestrians or 
bicyclists; 

e. Sign walkers are only permitted to advertise during the hours of 
operation of the business they are advertising;  

f. Sign walker signs shall not exceed eight square feet in area; shall not 
exceed eight feet in height when held; and shall be professionally 
crafted; 

g. Sign walker signs that include any of the following are prohibited:  

(1) Any form of illumination, including flashing, blinking or rotating 
lights; 

(2) Animation on the sign itself; or 

(3) Spinning, waving, throwing the sign in the air or any other such 
erratic movement intended to attract attention. 

h. No Sign Permit is required for a sign walker. 

10-50.100.100 Sign Districts of Special Designation 

A. Flagstaff Central District 

5. Standards 

 b. Freestanding Signs 
Two styles of freestanding signs are permitted within the Flagstaff 
Central District: either a low profile freestanding sign, or a 
freestanding suspended sign, either of which may also be used as a 
Neighborhood or District Sign. The standards provided in Table D 
(Standards for Freestanding Signs in Flagstaff Central District) shall 
apply. 
 

Table 10-50.100.100.D: Standards for Freestanding Signs in Flagstaff Central District 

 Standard Other Requirements 

Area1 Height 

Low Profile Freestanding Sign 
– Single Tenant Use 

24 sq. ft. 6 feet Shall be mounted on 2 poles placed at the 
outermost sides of the sign face, or on a 
low profile sign base. 

Low Profile Freestanding Sign 
– Multiple Tenant Use 

32 sq. ft. 8 feet Shall be mounted on 2 poles placed at the 
outermost sides of the sign face, or on a 
low profile sign base. 

Freestanding Suspended Sign  18 sq. ft. 10 feet to Sign structure shall consist of a vertical pole 



 Sign Standards 

50.100-24  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

top of 
sign pole 

and horizontal decorative sign support, 
and shall be constructed of wood or 
metal. 

Number of Signs 1 sign permitted per business. 

Illumination See Section                
10-50.100.050.C. 

Externally illuminated with down-directed 
and shielded fixtures only.  

Neighborhood or District Sign shall not be 
illuminated. 

Permitting Sign Permit is required.  

End Note: 
1 The area of a Neighborhood or District Sign shall not be counted against the permitted sign area 
applicable to the use(s) existing on the property where the Neighborhood or District Sign will be 
erected. 

B. Downtown Historic District  

5. Portable Signs 
Portable signs proposed within the Downtown Historic District shall 
comply with the standards established in Section 10-50.100.090 (Portable 
Signs), except as provided below: 

a. No feather vertical banners shall be permitted in the Downtown 
Historic District. 

 F. Flagstaff Sign Free Zone 

1. Purpose  
This Section establishes a commercial tourism, commercial resort and 
hotel sign-free zone pursuant to A.R.S. §16-1019. 

    2. Applicability 
The Flagstaff Sign Free Zone illustrated on Map 10-90.40.010 (Flagstaff 
Sign Free Zone) has been determined based on the location of a 
predominance of commercial tourism, resort and hotel uses within this 
Zone.  

    3. Standards 

  a. Within the Flagstaff Sign Free Zone all portable signs, including 
political signs, are prohibited within the public rights-of-way as they 
detract from the scenic and aesthetic appeal of the area adjacent to the 
Zone and deter its appeal to tourists. However, portable signs are 
permitted on private property adjacent to the Flagstaff Sign Free 
Zone.  

    b. The Director may remove or cause to be removed any portable sign 
erected or displayed in the public right-of-way in the Flagstaff Sign 
Free Zone. 



Sign Standards  

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-25 

10-50.100.110 Nonconforming Signs  

[No amendments are proposed in this Section.] 

10-50.100.120 Enforcement  

 A. It shall be unlawful for any person, firm or corporation to erect, construct, 
enlarge, alter, repair, display, or use a sign within the City contrary to, or in 
violation of, any provision of this Division. The requirements of this Division 
shall be enforced in compliance with the enforcement provisions of Division 
10-20.110 (Enforcement). 

 B. The Director may remove or cause to be removed any portable sign erected 
or displayed upon a public sidewalk, walkway or pedestrian thoroughfare 
within public right-of-way or within a clear view zone that creates a hazard 
to pedestrian or vehicular traffic.  

10-50.100.130 Appeals 

   [No amendments are proposed in this Section.] 

10-50.100.140   Severability 

[No amendments are proposed in this Section.] 

 

 

 

 

 

 [This page intentionally left blank] 
  



 Sign Standards 

50.100-26  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

Needed Amendments to Other Chapters of the Zoning Code: 
 
Chapter 10-20 Administration, Procedures, and Enforcement: 
Division 10-20.40 Permits and Approvals 
Section 10-20.40.130 Sign Permits – Temporary Wall Banner Sign Permits 

A.  Purpose 
This Section establishes the permitting requirements for temporary wall banner signs as 
described in Section 10-50.100.090 (Portable Signs) to ensure compliance with the applicable 
provisions of this Zoning Code. 

 
B.  Sign Permit Requirement 

 It shall be unlawful for any person to erect, place, display, alter, maintain or relocate a 
temporary wall banner sign without first obtaining a Temporary Wall Banner Sign Permit 
from the Director. 

 
C.  Duration of Temporary Wall Banner Sign Permit 

The Temporary Wall Banner Sign Permit will be valid for 30 days beginning with the date of 
issuance. 

 
D.  Review and Approval 
 

1.  Application 
 

a.  An application for a Temporary Wall Banner Sign Permit for a business located in a 
multi-tenant development or shopping center shall be made by the property 
manager or property owner as the applicant on behalf of a business(s) requesting a 
Temporary Wall Banner Sign Permit for temporary wall banner sign. A business 
owner who is also the property owner (e.g. in a single-tenant building) is considered 
the applicant for the purposes of this Section and may submit an application for a 
Temporary Wall Banner Sign Permit for the business. 

 
b.  No more than one temporary wall banner sign per 150 linear feet of property 

frontage or part thereof shall be permitted at any one time. The property manager or 
property owner shall be responsible for determining which of the tenants in a multi-
tenant development or shopping center will be entitled to a temporary wall banner 
sign in accordance with this Section. 

 
2.  Review 

The Director shall review the Temporary Wall Banner Sign Permit application and 
supporting documentation required by Section 10-20.30.020 (Application Process) for 
compliance with the standards of Section 10-50.100.090 (Portable Signs). 

 
3.  Determination 

The Director in compliance with the Review Schedule on file with the Planning Section 
shall determine whether the Temporary Wall Banner Sign Permit may be issued or if 
additional information is required from the applicant to complete the permit 



Sign Standards  

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-27 

application. If the Temporary Wall Banner Sign Permit application is denied, the reason 
will be stated in writing. 

 
4.  Authorization 

Issuance of a Temporary Wall Banner Sign Permit authorizes the holder to install a 
temporary wall banner in compliance with the terms of the permit. At any time after a 
Temporary Wall Banner Sign Permit is issued, a new owner, tenant or lessee of record, may 
be substituted for the original applicant, if a record of the new interest is made with the City 
and the new interest assumes all obligations he or she would have had in compliance with 
the original permit. The change of interest shall not imply that any fees paid for the permit 
will be returned to either the interest which has been replaced or the substitute. 

 
E.  Inspections 

 
1.  All wall banners for which a Temporary Wall Banner Sign Permit is required are subject to 

inspection to establish compliance with the provisions of Section 10-50.100.090 (Portable 
Signs) and any other applicable City codes.  

 
2.  A re-inspection fee (See Appendix 2 (Planning Fee Schedule)) will be charged if more than 

one inspection is made to determine compliance after issuance of a correction notice for an 
improperly displayed portable sign, or after issuance of any notice of violation. No fees will 
be charged for an inspection establishing that a violation exists, or for the first inspection 
following the issuance of a notice of violation. The re-inspection charge will be imposed if 
any subsequent inspection is required to determine compliance. 

 
F.  Violations 

Any temporary wall banner signs installed or displayed without a Temporary Wall Banner Sign 
Permit are in violation of this Division and will be grounds for the Director to issue a correction 
notice and/or to cause removal of the portable sign until appropriate permits are obtained. 
 
(Section 10-20.40.130 amended by Ord. 2014-27, adopted Nov. 18, 2014) 

 
 
  



 Sign Standards 

50.100-28  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

Chapter 10-80 Definitions: 
Division 10-80.20 Definition of Specialized Terms, Phrases, and Building Functions 
 
Section 10-80.20.010. Definitions, “A.” 
 ADOT: Arizona Department of Transportation. 
 
Section 10-80.20.160. Definitions, “P.” 
 Parkway: The area between the back of a curb  and a sidewalk that is usually landscaped. 
 
Section 10-80.20.190 Definitions, “S.” 
 

Sign: A structure, device, figure, display, message placard or other contrivance, or any part 
thereof, situated outdoors or indoors, which is designed, constructed, intended or used to 
advertise, provide information in the nature of advertising, provide historical, cultural, 
archeological, ideological, political, or social information, or direct or attract attention to an 
object, person, institution, business, product, service, message, event, or location by any 
means, including words, letters, figures, designs, symbols, fixtures, colors, or illumination.  
 
Sign, Balloon Bobber: A reusable pre-formed balloon filled with regular air made of a 
durable PVC vinyl that does not need to be inflated, and typically attached to a short pole. 
 
 
Sign, Permanent: A sign constructed of durable materials and intended to exist for the 
duration of time that the use or occupant is located on the premises. 
 
Sign, Portable: A sign that is capable of being moved and not designed to be permanently 
attached to a building or permanently anchored to the ground that is constructed of paper, 
cloth, canvas, light fabric, cardboard, plywood, light plastic or other similar materials.  
 
Sign, Post: A sign mounted on either a single post or two or more posts as illustrated below. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

SIGN 

MESSAGE 

HERE 

SIGN 
MESSAGE 

HERE 



Sign Standards  

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-29 

Sign, A-Frame: A portable and self-supporting sign used for 
advertising purposes, constructed in such a manner as to form 
an “A” or a tent-like shape, hinged or not hinged at the top 
(Syn. Sandwich Board Sign). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Sign, Upright: A portable sign constructed to be taller than it is 
wide, which may be mounted on a weighted base or similar 
support.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
Sign, Feather Vertical Banner: A portable sign typically constructed of cloth, bunting, 
plastic, paper or similar non-rigid material, and attached to a vertically mounted pole that is 
securely fastened to the ground.  
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Sign, Temporary Wall Banner: A sign constructed of cloth, bunting, plastic, paper or 
similar non-rigid material, and securely attached to the wall or support structure for which 
it is advertising. Flags are not considered temporary wall banners. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 Sign Standards 

50.100-30  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

 
Sign, Yard: A small portable sign used for advertising by local 
businesses that are also popular in election campaigns, typically 
constructed of corrugated plastic and supported on an H-shaped 
wire frame (Syn: Lawn Sign). 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Chapter 10-90 Maps: 
Division 10-90.40 Subject Specific Maps 
 
Section 10-90.40.010 Flagstaff Sign Free Zone Map 

Insert this new map on new Page 90.40-1. 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

SIGN 
MESSAGE 

HERE 



 

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-1 

Division 10-50.100: Sign Standards 

Sections:   Div10-50.100_Sign Regulations_revV3.1_2015Jan21CLEAN_narrative.docx 

10-50.100.010  Purpose 
10-50.100.020  Applicability 
10-50.100.030  Sign Permit Requirements 
10-50.100.040  General Restrictions for All  
10-50.100.050  General Requirements for All Signs 
10-50.100.060  Permanent Signs 
10-50.100.070  Comprehensive Sign Programs 
10-50.100.080  Sign Design Performance Standards 
10-50.100.090  Portable Signs 
10-50.100.100  Sign Districts of Special Designation 
10-50.100.110  Nonconforming Signs 
10-50.100.120  Enforcement 
10-50.100.130  Appeals 
10-50.100.140   Severability 

 
(Entire Division amended by Ord. 2014-27, adopted November 18, 2014)   
NOTE – This draft includes all sign amendments recommended for approval by P&Z in June 2015, additional staff 
amendments, and responses to the December 8th Council work session with specific reference to Section 10-
50.100.090 (Portable Signs – formerly called Temporary Signs) including the following key decision points: 
 

 No portable signs will be permitted in public right-of-way (both City and ADOT). 
 No permit will be required for portable signs, except temporary wall banner signs. 
 It was agreed that all portable signs may be displayed for an unlimited period of time and will not be required 

to be removed at the close of business as originally proposed by staff. An exception is that temporary wall 
banner signs may only be displayed for 30 days. For this reason as these signs could be in place for extended 
periods of time and, therefore, are not really “temporary”, they have been called “portable signs”. 

 An area limitation will be established to determine the maximum area of portable signs permitted in 
residential zones (16 sq. ft.) and non-residential zones (originally proposed as 32 sq. ft. and reduced to 24 sq. 
ft.). Staff has proposed that the area of temporary wall banners (max. 24 sq. ft.) should not be included in this 
area limitation.  

 Temporary window signs will also not be included in the area allowance for portable signs.  
 The Flagstaff Sign Free Zone as authorized under ARS § 16.1019 is included in the proposed amendments. 

 
The following options may be considered by the Council: 

 OPTION 1: Require a permit for all temporary signs and limit the display time that temporary signs may 
be displayed (may be anywhere from 60 days to 5 months). Under this option there would be no need for 
the proposed “portable sign” amendments as the length of time that they would be displayed will be 
limited. Enforcement and permitting of this option will be challenging and may be burdensome on staff. All 
temporary signs (except wall banners) could be required to be removed at the close of business (current 
code standard) or permitted to remain in place overnight (staff’s preferred approach). Note that as all 
temporary signs would require a permit, this would include political, ideological, real estate, commercial 
advertising signs, etc. 

 OPTION 2: Do not require a permit for all temporary signs and limit the display time that temporary 
signs may be displayed (may be anywhere from 60 days to 5 months), Under this option there would also 

reastman
Text Box
Attachment B: 2016 Amendments to City Code Title 10, Zoning Code, Division 10-50.100 (Sign Standards) and Other Related Amendments



 Sign Standards 

50.100-2  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

be no need for the proposed “portable sign” amendments. However, it would rely on an honor system 
with business owners and others placing signs on their property, similar to the approach used for civic/non-
profit event banner signs on the City’s sign structures to inform the City when a temporary sign would be 
displayed and removed within the time frame determined by the Council. Enforcement and management of 
this option will be challenging and may be burdensome on staff. All temporary signs (except wall banners) 
could be required to be removed at the close of business (current code standard) or permitted to remain 
in place overnight (staff’s preferred approach). 

 
This document is a clean version (i.e. all of the amendments made in Track Changes have been 
accepted) of the amendments proposed to Division 10-50.100 (Sign Standards) of the Flagstaff 
Zoning Code. The Track Changes version of these amendments is available as a separate document. 
It includes detailed explanations for each of the amendments which may be easily identified as they 
are written in italic font. 
 
The majority of the amendments included within this Division, especially in the Portable Signs 
Section, are proposed in response to the US Supreme Court’s decision in the Reed v. Town of Gilbert 
sign code case to ensure that the City’s sign provisions are content neutral. Additional amendments 
in the permanent signs section of this Division are also included based on suggestions by staff that 
was recommended for approval by the Planning and Zoning Commission in June 2015. The 
narrative below provides an overview of the more substantive amendments organized by Section 
and Subsection.  
 
10-50.100.010  Purpose 

 B. Includes minor amendments to remove redundant language and improve readability. 
 C. Table 10-50.100.010.A (Sign Types) has been deleted as it provided information of little value to 

readers of the Code. 
 
10-50.100.020  Applicability 

 A.4 The provision allowing for a traditional public forum has been moved from Section 10-
50.100.040.A (Location Restrictions) to this Section where it is more appropriately placed. 

 B. Interpretations. Includes additional language to provide that non-commercial speech may be 
substituted for commercial speech on a sign without the need for a permit. 

 C. Exemptions  
o The following Subsections have been deleted or removed from this Subsection: 

 Display Board for Daily Specials 
 Political Signs 
 Neighborhood or District Signs (now included within Section 10-50.100.100.A 

(Flagstaff Central District) 
 Non-Structural Modifications and Maintenance (moved to the Section 10-

50.100.030 (Sign Permit Requirements) 
 Real Estate Signs 
 Signs Required by Law (now included within governmental signs) 
 Vehicle Signs (Moved to Table 10-50.100.060.P (Standards for Other Sign Types)) 
 Yard and Garage Sale Signs 

o The following Subsections have been updated to clarify standards and improve readability: 
 Flags 
 Governmental Signs (includes property address signs) 
 Internal Signs and Signs with City Recreation Facilities. 

 



Sign Standards  

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-3 

10-50.100.030  Sign Permit Requirements 
 A. The requirement for Temporary Sign Permits for all temporary signs has been modified to only 

require a permit for Temporary Wall Banner Signs. 
 C. The standards for Non-Structural Modifications and Maintenance have been moved from 

Subsection C. (Exemptions) to this Section where they more appropriately should be placed. 
 

10-50.100.040  General Restrictions for All Signs 
 A. Prohibited Signs. Includes minor amendments to remove redundant language and improve 

readability. 
The provision allowing for a traditional public forum has been moved to Section 10-50.100.020.A 
(Applicability). 
The standards for signs on vehicles have been moved to Table 10-50.100.060.P (Standards for 
Other Sign Types), except that the standard prohibiting a vehicle from being used as an 
advertising sign remains in this Subsection. 

 B. Display Restrictions. Includes minor amendments to remove redundant language and improve 
readability. 

 
10-50.100.050  General Requirements for All Signs 

 No significant amendments are proposed in this Section except to include an additional photograph to 
better illustrate how to calculate sign area. 

 
10-50.100.060  Permanent Signs  

 C.4.b.(2) Building Mounted Signs. Includes minor amendments and an illustration to clarify and 
better explain the standards for sign placement. 

 C.4.b.(5) Driveway Signs (formerly Directional Signs). Includes minor amendments to remove the 
requirement that these signs may only be approved as part of a Comprehensive Sign Program. 

 C.4.b.(7) Freestanding Signs. Includes a new standard to allow for a freestanding sign to be mounted 
on two or more posts. A new standard specific to the post signs typically used to advertise a 
property or building for sale, rent or lease is also included. 

 C.4.b.(14) Window Signs. Includes an amendment to accommodate open signs. Also, the combined 
area of permanent and temporary window signs has been increased from 25 to 40 percent of the 
window area. 

 C.4.b.(15) Vehicle Signs (Formerly Other Sign Types). This Subsection now only applies to 
vehicle signs. The standards for fuel pump topper signs have been deleted as these are 
portable signs not permanent signs; the standards for open signs have been removed 
(inserted into Window Signs – see above); the standards for vehicle signs have been 
moved from the Exemptions Subsection into this table; and, the standards for vending 
machines have been deleted as they were hard to apply and enforce. 

 
10-50.100.070  Comprehensive Sign Programs  

 C. Review. Includes a minor amendment to also allow this Section to also apply to building mounted 
signs. 
 

10-50.100.080  Sign Design Performance Standards 
 B. Cumulative Adjustments. Includes a minor amendment to correct an error to ensure consistency 

with other applicable standards. 
 
 



 Sign Standards 

50.100-4  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

 
10-50.100.090  Portable Signs  

 In order to ensure that the City’s temporary sign regulations are consistent with the US Supreme 
Court’s decision in the Reed v Town of Gilbert sign case, numerous and significant amendments 
are proposed in this Section to ensure that the City’s sign provisions are content neutral. 

 The Council directed staff to draft revisions to the Temporary Sign Section to allow temporary signs 
to be displayed for an indefinite period of time without the need for a permit, subject to various 
standards that, for example, limited the total area of the signs, their placement on private property, 
etc. This means that the signs are hardly “temporary”, and staff has suggested instead that they be 
called “portable signs”. 

 A. Purpose. A minor amendment is proposed to eliminate redundant language. 
 B. General to All.  

o Clarifies that a temporary sign permit is only required for a temporary wall banner sign. It 
has been renamed as a Temporary Wall Banner Sign Permit. 

o The redundant provisions stating that portable signs may not be illuminated (this standard 
may be found in Table 10-50.100.090.A) and the sign standard for events on City property 
approved under a Special Event Permit have been eliminated (See Section 10-
50.100.090.B.3). 

o The provision allowing for a traditional public forum has been moved to Section 10-
50.100.020.A.4 (Applicability) where it is more appropriately placed. 

o The provision that allows the removal of portable signs in public right-of-way and in clear 
view zones by City code enforcement staff when a hazard to pedestrian or vehicle traffic is 
present has been moved to Section 10-50.100.120 (Enforcement).  

o A new standard is proposed that establishes no limitations on the length of time that portable 
signs may be displayed except for temporary wall banners..  

 C. Standards for Portable Signs. This Subsection has been significantly shortened and most of the 
former standards have been eliminated because they were content-based. This includes for 
example, the standards for various signs (e.g. temporary construction signs, signs for temporary 
uses, new occupancy or use signs, grand opening signs, directional signs, promotional signs, 
going-out-of-business signs, etc.). Furthermore, the standards for different sign types (e.g. A-
frame or upright signs, feather or vertical banners, and wall banners) have been consolidated into 
one table (Table 10-50.100.090.B) to eliminate redundancy and to simplify the Code. This Section 
has also been reorganized as summarized below: 
o 1. Time, Place and Manner Restrictions for Portable Signs.  

A new Table 10-50.100.090.A provides all the standards applicable to the placement of 
portable signs. It is divided into three sections: Applicable to All Zones (e.g. includes 
standards on what elements are prohibited on a portable sign and design and 
construction standards); Commercial, Industrial and Other Non-Residential Zones; and 
All Residential Zones (each of these subsections includes standards on period of use, 
hours of use, allowable sign area and number of signs). A content neutral standard is 
assured because the sign message is not regulated. However, the total area of portable 
signs in commercial etc. zones is limited to 24 sq. ft. per business while the total area of 
portable signs in residential zones is limited to 16 sq. ft. per lot or parcel. This maximum 
sign area limitation allows for an unlimited number of portable signs with a variety of 
messages (may be political, business advertising, or ideological) provided they do not 
exceed the area limitation. Consistent with Council’s direction provided in the October 
8th work session, the area of temporary window signs and temporary wall banners is not 
included in the total sign area for portable signs. 



Sign Standards  

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-5 

o 2. Standards for Specific Portable Sign types.  
Table 10-50.100.090.B consolidates the area, height, width, and number of signs, etc. 
standards for various portable sign types, including A-frame or upright signs, feather or 
vertical banner signs, wall banner signs, and two new sign types, flags displaying a 
commercial message and yard signs. End Note #1 allows for various other types of 
portable signs such as fuel pump topper signs or balloon bobbers. 

o 3. Civic and Non-Profit Events Signs on City Approved Sign Support Structures.  
The standards in this Subsection are unchanged except that a purpose statement has been 
added that clarifies that signs advertising a community event may be placed on these sign 
structures rather than the current standard which requires them to be located on the sign 
structures. 

o 4. Sign Walkers.  
The existing standards have been updated and clarified to make them easier to apply. 

 
10-50.100.100  Sign Districts of Special Designation 

 A. Flagstaff Central District. The standards for Neighborhood or District Signs have been moved 
into the freestanding sign section. 

 B. Downtown Historic District. The standards for stanchion signs in former Table 10-50.100.090.E 
(Standards for Temporary Stanchion Signs) have been deleted consistent with the principle of 
prohibiting all temporary (portable) signs in the public right-of-way. Also, the former prohibition 
on A-frame and Upright Signs in this Downtown District has been removed, and only feather 
vertical banners are now proposed to be prohibited in this District. 

 E. Flagstaff Sign Free Zone. This is a new Subsection included into the Zoning Code pursuant to 
A.R.S. §16-1019 which enables a municipality to establish a zone based on city rights-of-way in 
which no portable signs are permitted. 

 
10-50.100.110  Enforcement 

 The provisions allowing for the removal of portable signs in public right-of-way and in clear view 
zones by City code enforcement staff when a hazard to pedestrian or vehicle traffic is present has 
been moved from the Portable Signs Section. 

 
Needed Amendments to Other Zoning Code Chapters: 
 
Chapter 10-20 Administration, Procedures, and Enforcement: 
Division 10-20.40 Permits and Approvals 
Section 10-20.40.130 Sign Permits – Temporary Wall Banner Sign Permits 

 B. Sign Permit Requirement. Includes minor amendments to state that a sign permit is only 
required for a temporary wall banner. 

 
Chapter 10-80 Definitions: 
Division 10-80.20 Definition of Specialized Terms, Phrases, and Building Functions 

 Includes minor amendments to the following definitions: 
o Sign – includes signs for ideological and political purposes) 
o Sign, Balloon Bobber – includes a new definition for this sign type 
o Sign, Temporary– clarifies and simplifies the definition 
o Sign, Temporary A-frame – clarifies and simplifies the definition 
o Sign, Post – includes a new definition for this sign type 
o Sign, Temporary Yard – includes a new definition for this sign type. 

  



 Sign Standards 

50.100-6  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

10-50.100.010 Purpose  

A. The Council finds that the natural surroundings, climate, history, and people 
of the City provide the Flagstaff community with its unique charm and 
beauty. This Division has been adopted to ensure that all signs installed in 
the City are compatible with the unique character and environment of the 
community, and in compliance with the General Plan. 

B. The purpose of this Division is to promote public health, safety, and welfare 
through a comprehensive system of reasonable, effective, consistent, content-
neutral, and nondiscriminatory sign standards and requirements, including 
the following specific purposes:  

1. To promote and accomplish the goals, policies, and objectives of the 
General Plan; 

2. To balance public and private objectives by allowing adequate avenues 
for both commercial and non-commercial messages; 

3. To improve pedestrian and traffic safety by promoting the free flow of 
traffic and the protection of pedestrians and motorists from injury and 
property damage caused by, or which may be fully or partially 
attributable to, cluttered, distracting, and/or illegible signage; 

4. To protect the aesthetic beauty of the City’s natural and built 
environment for the citizens of and visitors to the City, and to protect 
prominent view sheds within the community; 

5. To prevent property damage, personal injury, and litter caused by signs 
that are improperly constructed or poorly maintained; 

6. To protect property values, the local economy, and quality of life by 
preserving and enhancing the appearance of the streetscape; and 

7. To provide consistent sign design standards that enables the fair and 
consistent enforcement of these sign regulations. 

10-50.100.020 Applicability 

A. Applicability 

1. This Division applies to all signs within the City, regardless of their 
nature or location, unless specifically exempted.  

2. Three levels of review standards are established in this Division, some or 
all of which may be applied to the sign depending on where it is located 
within the City: 



Sign Standards  

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-7 

a. All signs within the City of Flagstaff shall be reviewed based on the 
standards established in this Division; 

b. Signs in the Flagstaff Central District are reviewed based on the 
standards established in Section 10-50.100.100.A (Flagstaff Central 
District) as well as the standards and requirements otherwise 
established in this Division; and 

c. Signs in the Downtown Historic District, which have the highest 
standards of review in keeping with the historic character and urban 
scale of this district, are reviewed based on the standards in Section 
10-50.100.100.B (Downtown Historic District),  the Flagstaff Central 
District and the standards and requirements otherwise established in 
this Division. 

3. Applicable to Transect Zones 
Signs proposed in the transect zones shall comply with the standards 
established in the following Sections: 

a. Transect Zone T6: Section 10-50.100.100.A (Flagstaff Central District) 
and Section 10-50.100.100.B (Downtown Historic District). 

b. Transect Zone T5 and T5-O: Section 10-50.100.100.A (Flagstaff Central 
District) and Section 10-50.100.100.B (Downtown Historic District), 
where applicable. 

c. Transect Zone T4N.1 and T4N.1-O: Section 10-50.100.100.A (Flagstaff 
Central District). 

d. Transect Zone T3N.1: Section 10-50.100.100.A (Flagstaff Central 
District). 

4. Nothing in this Division shall be construed to prohibit a person from 
holding a sign while located on City property so long as the person 
holding the sign is located on public property determined to be a 
traditional public forum and does not block ingress and egress from 
buildings or create a safety hazard by impeding travel on sidewalks, bike 
and vehicle lanes, and trails. 

B. Interpretations  
This Division is not intended to, and does not restrict speech on the basis of 
its content, viewpoint, or message. Any classification of signs in this Division 
that permits speech by reason of the type of sign, identity of the sign user, or 
otherwise, shall also be interpreted to allow non-commercial speech on the 
sign. No part of this Division shall be construed to favor commercial speech 
over non-commercial speech. A non-commercial message may be substituted 
for any commercial message displayed on a sign, or the content of any non-
commercial message displayed on a sign may be changed to a different non-
commercial message, without the need for any approval or permit, provided 
that the size of the sign is not altered. To the extent any provision of this 



 Sign Standards 

50.100-8  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

Division is ambiguous, the term shall be interpreted not to regulate on the 
basis of the content of the message.  

C. Exemptions 
The provisions of this Division do not apply to the following signs : 

1. Building Identification Signs  
Building identification signs not exceeding one square feet in area for 
residential buildings and two square feet in area for nonresidential 
buildings. 

2. Business Name and Address on an Entry Door 
Name of a business, address information, and/or contact information 
displayed on an entry door, not exceeding two square feet in area. Sign 
must not include any commercial advertising. 

3. Community Bulletin Board Signs 
Signs posted on a community bulletin board shall not exceed a dimension 
of 11 x 17 inches. No more than one community bulletin board per 
property and per block with a maximum size of 32 square feet is allowed. 
A community bulletin board may be erected in public right-of-way, in a 
public space or on private property.  

4. Flags 
Any flag not containing a commercial message, official flags of national, 
state, or local government, and any other flag adopted or sanctioned by 
an elected legislative body of competent jurisdiction may be displayed as 
provided under the law that adopts or regulates its use. No more than 
three flags shall be displayed per lot or parcel except on federal holidays. 
Flags shall be mounted on a single flagpole, or three separate flagpoles 
installed either on the building or adjacent to a building or use.  

5. Governmental Signs 
Any sign, posting, notice or similar signs placed, installed or required by 
law by a city, county, or a federal or state governmental agency in 
carrying out its responsibility to protect the public health, safety, and 
welfare, including, but not limited to, the following:  

(1) Emergency and warning signs necessary for public safety or civil 
defense; 

(2) Traffic signs erected and maintained by an authorized public 
agency; 

(3) Signs required to be displayed by law; 

(4) Signs directing the public to points of interest; and 

(5) Signs showing the location of public facilities 



Sign Standards  

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-9 

6. Heritage Signs in Landmark Zones    
Heritage signs are governed by the ordinance designating the Landmark 
Overlay and its related guidelines (Refer to Division 10-30.30 (Heritage 
Preservation)). 

7. Historic and Architectural Features 
Historical plaques erected and maintained by non-profit organizations, 
building cornerstones, and date-constructed stones not exceeding four 
square feet in area. 

8. Internal Signs and Signs within City Recreation Facilities 
Includes; 

a. Signs or displays located entirely inside of a building and not visible 
from the building’s exterior; 

b. Signs intended to be readable from within a parking area but not 
readable beyond the boundaries of the lot or parcel upon which they 
are located or from any public right-of-way;  

c. Signs placed on the walkway directly in front of a store provided such 
sign does not interfere with pedestrian travel or encroach upon a 
required accessible path; and  

d. Temporary signs located within City Recreation Facilities. 

9. Seasonal Decorations 
Temporary, non-commercial decorations or displays that are incidental to 
and commonly associated with national, local, or religious celebration, 
provided that such decorations and displays are only displayed during 
the appropriate time of year, are maintained in an attractive condition, 
and do not constitute a fire hazard. 

10. Street Light Banner Sign 
Street light banner signs as permitted by the City on light poles in certain 
areas within the City. 

11. Vending Machine and Similar Facilities 
Signs that consitute an integral part of a vending machine  or similar 
facilities located outside of a business. 

10-50.100.030 Sign Permit Requirements 

A. The procedures for submittal, review and approval of Permanent Signs are 
provided in Section 10-20.40.120 (Sign Permit - Permanent Signs) and 
Temporary Wall Banner Sign Permits are provided in Section 10-20.40.130 
(Sign Permit - Temporary Wall Banner Sign Permits), including any required 
fees. Signs associated with and/or advertising a special event on City 



 Sign Standards 

50.100-10  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

property shall be approved as part of the Special Event Permit from the City. 
All signs not approved in the Special Event Permit are prohibited.   

B. No Sign Permit is required for a sign on property used exclusively for a 
single-family residence or duplex that complies with this Division and is 
limited to one sign per street frontage.   

C. Nonstructural Modifications and Maintenance 

No Sign Permit is required for the following non-structural modifications to 
and maintenance of existing signs: 

1. Changes to the face or copy of changeable copy signs;  

2. Changes to the face or copy of an existing single-tenant or multi-tenant 
freestanding or building mounted non-illuminated sign from one 
business to another with no structural or lighting modifications to the 
sign; and 

3. The normal repair and maintenance of conforming or legal non-
conforming signs, except as identified in Section 10-50.100.050.E. 

10-50.100.040 General Restrictions for All Signs 

A. Prohibited Signs  
Except where specifically authorized in this Division, the following signs are 
prohibited : 

1. No sign shall be placed within, on, or projecting over City right-of-way; 

2. No sign shall be attached to or placed on public property, except for 
government signs and those approved as part of a Special Event Permit; 

3. No sign shall obstruct the view of any authorized traffic sign, signal, or 
other traffic control device; 

4. No sign shall be constructed or placed in such a way as to be confused 
with any authorized traffic signal or device; 

5. No sign shall be constructed or placed in such as manner as to prevent or 
interfere with free ingress to or egress from any door, window, or any 
exit way required by the Building Code or Fire Department regulations 
currently in effect; 

6. No commercial, advertising, or business sign shall be located off the 
premises of the business to which it refers; 

7. Any sign mounted, attached, or painted on a trailer, boat, or motor 
vehicle parked to provide advertising visible from the public right-of-way 



Sign Standards  

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-11 

or parked on public property to clearly provide advertising close to the 
public right-of-way. This provision excludes vehicles and equipment 
engaged in active construction projects, and the on-premise storage of 
equipment and vehicles offered to the general public for rent or lease. 

8. No sign shall be painted, attached or mounted on fuel tanks, storage 
containers and/or solid waste receptacles or their enclosures, except for a 
manufacturer’s or installer’s identification, appropriate warning signs 
and placards, and information required by law; 

9. No sign shall be tacked, painted, burned, cut, pasted or otherwise affixed 
to trees, rocks, light and utility poles, posts, fences, ladders, benches, or 
similar supports that is visible from a public way;  

10. No sign shall cover the architectural features of a building, such as 
dormers, insignias, pilasters, soffits, transoms, trims, or other 
architectural feature; 

11. Billboards; and 

12. Bandit signs. 

B. Display Restrictions 

1. Purpose 
The purpose of this Subsection is to regulate the manner in which signs 
convey their messages by specifying prohibited display features that 
create distractions to the traveling public and create visual clutter that 
mar the natural and architectural aesthetics of the City. 

2. Applicability  
Signs with the following display features are prohibited: 

a. Lighting devices with intermittent, flashing, rotating, blinking or 
strobe light illumination, animation, motion picture, or laser or 
motion picture projection, or any lighting effect creating the illusion 
of motion, as well as laser or hologram lights;  

b. An exposed light source, except for neon incorporated into the design 
of the sign; 

c. Sound, odor or smoke; 

d. Inflatable balloons, spinners, strings of flags and pennants, fixed 
aerial displays, streamers, tubes, or other devices affected by the 
movement of the air or other atmospheric or mechanical means either 
attached to a sign or to vehicles, structures, poles, trees and other 
vegetation, or similar support structures;  



 Sign Standards 

50.100-12  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

e. Rotating or moving sign body or any other portion of the sign 
whether by mechanical or any other means. Barber poles no larger 
than three feet high and 10 inches in diameter, and clocks, are 
excepted from this restriction; 

f. Electronic displays;   

g. Any changeable copy LED signs, except fixed illumination display 
signs used to indicate that a business is “open”, display prices, or to 
confirm an order placed in a drive through lane;  

h. Stuffed or inflated animals; and 

i. Strings of lights arranged in the shape of a product, arrow or any 
commercial message. 

10-50.100.050 General Requirements for All Signs 

[No amendments are proposed in this Section other than to include an additional 
graphic (see below) on Page 50.100-15 to better explain how sign area is calculated 
when a symbol is included within a sign.] 

 

 

 

 

10-50.100.060 Permanent Signs  

C. Signs for All Non-residential Uses in All Zones 

4. Standards for Specific Sign Types    

b. The following sign types are permitted, subject to the criteria listed 
under each sign type. 

(2) Building Mounted Signs  
The standards provided in Table C (Standards for Building 
Mounted Signs) shall apply to all building mounted sign in all 
zones where allowed by Table 10-50.100.060.A (Standards for 
Permanent Signs by Use). 
 

  

 
 



Sign Standards  

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-13 

Table 10-50.100.060.C: Standards for Building Mounted Signs 

 Standard 

Sign Placement The total sign area for signs on single-tenant or multi-tenant 
buildings may be placed on any building elevation, subject to 
the following standards: 

(1) At least 1 sign shall be associated with the building 
entry zone1 (may be wall mounted, projecting, 
awning, etc.); 

(2) No sign shall face an adjoining residential zone; 

(3) Signs shall be placed at least 12 inches or 20% of the 
width of the building element on which they are 
mounted, whichever is less, from the sides of the 
building element; 

(4) The width of the sign shall be no greater than 60% 
of the width of the building element on which it is 
displayed; 

(5) Signs shall be placed at least 12 inches or 20% of the 
height of the building element on which they are 
mounted, whichever is less, from the top and 
bottom edge of the building element. 

 

If vertically placed on a mansard roof, structural supports 
shall be minimized, and secondary supports (angle irons, guy 
wires, braces) shall be enclosed/ hidden from view. 

Special Provisions 

Additional Increases in Sign Area Additional sign area may be sought under Section 10-
50.100.080 (Sign Design Performance Standards) 

 
 

 
(5) Driveway Sign 

(a) Driveway signs are exempted from the total allowable sign 
area permitted for each use. 

(b) The standards provided in Table F (Standards for Driveway 
Signs) shall apply. 

Table 10-50.100.060F: Standards for Driveway Signs 

 Standard Other Requirements 

Sign Area 3 sq. ft. per face. May be double-sided. 

 

Mounting Height – 
Building Mounted Sign  

Max. 8 feet from grade.  Flat against a wall of the building. 

Mounting Height – Max. 3 feet from grade.  



 Sign Standards 

50.100-14  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

Table 10-50.100.060F: Standards for Driveway Signs 

Freestanding Sign 

Number of Signs Max. 1 at each driveway or drive through lane. 

Illumination Internal illumination only.  May also be non-illuminated. 

Permitting Sign Permit is required.  

 
(7) Freestanding Signs  

 
Table 10-50.100.060.H: Standards for Freestanding Signs 

Standard   

Sign Height See this Section and Table A (Standards for Permanent Signs by Use). 

Elements to enhance the design of a sign structure may extend above 
the sign to a max. of 20% of the sign’s allowed height, or 12 inches 
whichever is greater. 

 
 

Special Provisions Standard  

Sign Width The sign base must be a min. of 60% of the width of the sign cabinet 
or face. 

A freestanding sign may be mounted on 2 or more posts with a min. 
diameter/dimension of 8” if the sign complies with the standards of 
Section 10-50.100.080 (Sign Design Performance Standards). 

 
 
Insert a new row between “Additional Increases in Sign Area” and “Landscaping”. 
 

Post Sign Max. 1 post sign per frontage. 

Sign Permit is required unless the post sign advertises property or a 
portion of the property for sale, rent or lease, in which case no Sign 
Permit is required and the sign area will be included in the allowable 
area for portable signs. See Table 10-50.100.090.A. 

 
 
 

(14) Window Sign  
The standards provided in Table O (Standards for Permanent 
Window Signs) shall apply. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Sign Standards  

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-15 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(15) Vehicle Signs  
The standards provided in Table P (Standards for Vehicle 
Signs) shall apply. 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Table 10-50.100.060.O: Standards for Permanent Window Signs 

 Standard Other Requirements 

Sign Area  Combined area of temporary 
and permanent window signs 
combined shall not exceed 40% 
of the area of the window on 
or within which they are 
displayed. 

Signs constructed of perforated 
vinyl or painted on the window 
shall be included as part of the 
40% area calculation. 

Permanent window signs are 
included in the total allowable sign 
area for building mounted signs. 

Sign Placement No higher than 1st story 
windows.  

Inside mounting required. 

Illumination Neon illumination only. Fixed copy or display only – no 
flashing, blinking, or moving text 
or images are permitted. 

Permitting Sign Permit is required.  

Open Signs Max. 2 sq. ft.  

Max. I per business. 

Excluded from the total allowable 
building mounted or window sign 
area. 

No Sign Permit required. 

Table 10-50.100.060.P: Standards for Vehicle Signs 

 Standard Other Requirements 

Vehicle Signs 

Vehicle Sign  May be: 

(1) Permanently painted or 
wrapped on the surface of a 
vehicle; 

(2) Adhesive vinyl film affixed to a 
window; or 

(3) Magnetically attached to a 
vehicle. 

May only indicate the name of the 
business and owner. 

 

 

Vehicle Use The vehicle shall be regularly and consistently used in the normal daily 
conduct of the business, e.g. used for delivering or transporting goods or 
providing services related to the business. 

Vehicle shall be operable and properly licensed. 

When not in use the vehicle shall be parked in a lawful manner on the 
business property so as not to be visible from the public right-of-way, or if 
this is not possible, as far from the public right-of-way as possible. 



 Sign Standards 

50.100-16  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

10-50.100.070 Comprehensive Sign Programs  

 Page 50.100-43 
C.  Review 
 3. The Planning Commission shall review all Comprehensive Sign Programs that request 

an increase in allowable sign height and area beyond the limits established in Section 10-
50.100.080 (Sign Design Performance Standards) for freestanding and building mounted 
signs for multi-tenant buildings or shopping centers. 
 

  

OR 

OR 

NOT permitted 

Permitted 

NOT permitted 

Permitted 

Figure O. Signs on Vehicles Used for Business Purposes 



Sign Standards  

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-17 

10-50.100.080 Sign Design Performance Standards  

 B. Cumulative Adjustments 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

10-50.100.090 Portable Signs 

A. Purpose  
The Council finds that the proliferation of portable signs is a distraction to 
the traveling public and creates aesthetic blight and litter that threatens the 
public’s health, safety, and welfare. The purpose of these regulations is to 
ensure that portable signs do not create a distraction to the traveling public 
by eliminating the aesthetic blight and litter caused by portable signs. 

B. General to All 

Portable signs are allowed only in compliance with the provisions of this 
Section; 

1. A Permit is only required for temporary wall banner signs. See Section 
10-20.40.130 (Temporary Wall Banner Sign Permits). 

2. There is no limitation on the length of time that a portable sign may be 
displayed, except for temporary wall banner signs (See Table 10-
50.100.090.B (Standards for Portable Signs).  

3. Portable signs must not be placed on or affixed to any City property, 
including City rights-of-way, except as specifically authorized in 
connection with a special event permitted under City Code Chapter 8-12 
(Special Events).  

Table 10-50.100.080.B: Cumulative Adjustments 

# of Features Used 
Freestanding Signs  

Building 
Mounted Sign  

Area Height Area Height 

2 30% 20-30%1 20% 10% 

3 45% 35-40%1 30% 15% 

4 60% 50% 40% 20% 

Standard #5 w/ Standards 1-4 
Not to exceed 75% of 

original max. 
permitted sign area 

N/A N/A N/A 

Cumulative Maximum Sign Area 
Increase Allowed 

50% 50% 50% 20% 

End Notes     
1 This percentage varies depending on which design features listed in Table A are utilized. 



 Sign Standards 

50.100-18  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

4. Portable signs shall not be placed in the clear view zone at street 
intersections or driveways (Refer to Section 10-50.100.050.F (Sign 
Placement at Intersection)). 

C. Standards for Portable Signs  
Portable signs placed on the exterior of a structure or on private property are 
allowed in all Zones in compliance with the following standards: 

1. Time, Place and Manner Restrictions for Portable Signs  
Portable signs shall comply with the standards provided in Table A 
(Standards for All Portable Signs).  



Sign Standards  

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-19 

 

 

2. Types of Portable Signs  
Portable signs shall comply with the standards provided in Table B 
(Standards for Specific Portable Sign Types). 

Table 10-50.100.090.A: Standards for All Portable Signs  

 Standard  

Applicable to All Zones 

Placement  Shall not create a hazard for pedestrian or vehicular traffic. 

Height and width Refer to Table 10-50.100.90.B for height and width standards for 
portable signs. 

Prohibited elements Any form of illumination, including flashing, blinking, or rotating 
lights. 

Animation. 

Reflective materials. 

Attachments, including, but not limited to, balloons, ribbons, 
loudspeakers, etc. 

Design and construction Professionally crafted. 

Of sufficient weight and durability to withstand wind gusts, 
storms, etc. 

Commercial, Industrial and Other Non-Residential Zones 

Period of use No limitation, except for wall banners. Refer to Table 10-
50.100.090.B. 

Area of all portable signs at any 
one time 

Max. 24 sq. ft. per business; excludes the area of temporary 
window signs and wall banner signs.  

Exception: In the Flagstaff Central District, max. 12 sq. ft. per 
business; excludes the area of temporary window signs and wall 
banner signs. Refer to Section 10-50.100.100.A. 

Number of Signs 

 

 

Unlimited except that the total sign area of all portable signs not 
exceed 24 sq. ft. per business.  

Exception: Multi-tenant shopping centers or offices – Max. 2 
portable signs per 150 linear feet of property frontage not to 
exceed 24 sq. ft. combined. 

Permitting No Sign Permit required, except for temporary wall banner 
signs. 

All Residential Zones 

Period of use No limitation. 

Area of all portable signs at any 
one time 

Max. 16 sq. ft. per lot or parcel.  

Number of Signs 

 

Unlimited except that the total sign area of all  portable signs 
shall not exceed 16 sq. ft. 

Permitting No Sign Permit required.  

 



 Sign Standards 

50.100-20  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

Table 10-50.100.090.B: Standards for Specific Portable Sign Types 

 Standard Other Requirements 

Portable Sign Type1 Height 
(Max.) 

Width 

(Max.) 

Area 

(Max.) 
 

A-Frame or Upright 
Sign 

4’ from 
grade 

3’ 12 sq. ft. Only permitted in non-residential zones. 

Feather or Vertical 
Banner 

8’ from 
grade 

2’ 12 sq. ft. Secure attachment to mounting pole 
required. 

Only permitted in non-residential zones. 

Yard Sign 3’ 2’ 4 sq. ft. Installed securely in the ground. 

Number of Signs See Table 10-50.100.090.A.  

Portable Sign Type1 Height 
(Max.) 

Width 

(Max.) 

Area 

(Max.) 
 

Flags displaying a 
commercial 
message 

End 
Note2 

-- 24 sq. ft.  Secure attachment to flag pole required. 
Permitted in all zones. 

Wall Banner  -- -- 24 sq. ft. May only be mounted on a building wall or 
on T-posts or stakes installed ≤ 6” from a 
wall on which the temporary wall banner 
sign would be hung. 

Mounting height – max. 25 feet to the top 
of the temporary wall banner sign. 

Only permitted in non-residential zones. 

May only be displayed for 30 days per 
calendar year and shall not be used as 
permanent signs. 

Not included in the total sign area for all 
portable signs. 

Temporary Wall Banner Sign Permit 
required. 

Window Sign -- -- Refer to 
End 

Note3 

Placed no higher than 1st story windows. 

Inside mounting required. 

Not included in the total sign area for all 
portable signs. 

     

Number of Signs See Table 10-50.100.090.A.  

End Notes 
1 Other portable sign types may be allowed (e.g. fuel pump topper signs wraps around waste 
receptacles, or balloon bobbers) provided the max area limitation for all portable signs is not 
exceeded. 

2  Flag pole height is limited by the allowable building height of the zone in which it is located. Refer to 
the Building Form Standards in Chapter 10-40 (Specific to Zones). 



Sign Standards  

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-21 

 

 

3. Civic and Non-Profit Event Signs on City Approved Sign Support 
Structures  

a. Purpose 
The City has installed banner sign support structures at certain 
locations within the community where temporary banners used to 
advertise civic and non-profit organizations and events for which a 
Special Event Permit has been approved may be placed. The purpose 
of these banner sign support structures, therefore, is to provide a 
convenient, highly visible and safe location for the display of these 
temporary banners to minimize their proliferation within the 
community which causes visual blight. 

b. Signs advertising events organized and implemented by civic and 
non-profit organizations, or events for which a Special Event Permit 
has been approved by the Recreation Services Section, may be 
installed on City approved sign support structures in compliance with 
the standards provided in Table C (Standards for Temporary Off-
Premise Signs on City Approved Sign Support Structures). 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

3 The area of temporary and permanent window signs combined (including signs constructed of 
perforated vinyl or painted on the window) shall not exceed 40% of the area of the window on or 
within which they are displayed.  

Table 10-50.100.090.C: Standards for Temporary Off-Premise Signs  on City-
Approved Sign Support Structures  

Number of Events 
No more than 3 events per organization per year may be advertised 
on City-approved sign support structures. 

Period of Use Max.  7 days before an event. 

Sign Placement  Only at approved locations (See b. below).  

Sign Size and Area Max. 3’ by 8’; Max. 24 sq. ft.  

Banner Details 

Grommets shall be placed at each of the corners of the banner for 
secure attachment to the support structure. 

Banners shall not have brand identification, such as “Sponsored by 
XYZ Corporation”, or a product brand across the face of the 
banner as a background. 

Logos for sponsors of the event or the banner shall be limited to 
max. 20% of the area of the banner.  

Number of Signs 
1 sign for each event per support structure, to a max. of 3 sign 
support structures.  

Removal  Within 1 day after the event.  

Illumination Not permitted.  

Permitting 
No Sign Permit required – a reservation is needed for placement of 
a banner on a support structure. See Section 10-50.100.090.C.3.b. 



 Sign Standards 

50.100-22  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

 b. An application may be submitted to the Director for the placement of 
up to three banners on City-approved sign support structures 
(illustrated in Figure A) for the purpose of promoting a forthcoming 
civic or non-profit event, a City Recreation Services event, or an event 
for which a Special Event Permit has been approved by the Recreation 
Services Section. Placement on these structures is reserved on a first 
come, first serve basis up to three-months in advance of the event. 
The locations of the City’s approved sign support structures are 
available on a map on file with the Planning Section. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4. Sign Walkers  
This Subsection provides time, place and manner restrictions pertaining 
to sign walkers, i.e. a person who holds a sign to convey a commercial 
message, subject to the following standards: 

a. Sign walkers shall only be allowed in commercial and industrial 
zones, and Transect Zones T5 and T6;  

b. Sign walkers shall only be located on the premises of the business 
they are advertising with the property owner’s or property manager’s 
written approval or only on a public sidewalk, walkway or pedestrian 
thoroughfare immediately adjacent to the business premises;  

c. Sign walkers shall not be located within a minimum of 30 feet from a 
street or driveway intersection measured from the back of the curb or 
edge of pavement if no curb exists, and are not permitted in any of the 
following locations:  

(1) In parking aisles or stalls; 

(2) In driving lanes; or 

(3) On fences, walls, boulders, planters, other signs, vehicles, utility 
facilities or any other structure; or 

Figure A. Civic or Non-Profit Event Sign Structure 



Sign Standards  

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-23 

d. Sign walkers may not interfere with traffic or block pedestrians or 
bicyclists; 

e. Sign walkers are only permitted to advertise during the hours of 
operation of the business they are advertising;  

f. Sign walker signs shall not exceed eight square feet in area; shall not 
exceed eight feet in height when held; and shall be professionally 
crafted; 

g. Sign walker signs that include any of the following are prohibited:  

(1) Any form of illumination, including flashing, blinking or rotating 
lights; 

(2) Animation on the sign itself; or 

(3) Spinning, waving, throwing the sign in the air or any other such 
erratic movement intended to attract attention. 

h. No Sign Permit is required for a sign walker. 

10-50.100.100 Sign Districts of Special Designation 

A. Flagstaff Central District 

5. Standards 

 b. Freestanding Signs 
Two styles of freestanding signs are permitted within the Flagstaff 
Central District: either a low profile freestanding sign, or a 
freestanding suspended sign, either of which may also be used as a 
Neighborhood or District Sign. The standards provided in Table D 
(Standards for Freestanding Signs in Flagstaff Central District) shall 
apply. 
 

Table 10-50.100.100.D: Standards for Freestanding Signs in Flagstaff Central District 

 Standard Other Requirements 

Area1 Height 

Low Profile Freestanding Sign 
– Single Tenant Use 

24 sq. ft. 6 feet Shall be mounted on 2 poles placed at the 
outermost sides of the sign face, or on a 
low profile sign base. 

Low Profile Freestanding Sign 
– Multiple Tenant Use 

32 sq. ft. 8 feet Shall be mounted on 2 poles placed at the 
outermost sides of the sign face, or on a 
low profile sign base. 

Freestanding Suspended Sign  18 sq. ft. 10 feet to Sign structure shall consist of a vertical pole 



 Sign Standards 

50.100-24  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

top of 
sign pole 

and horizontal decorative sign support, 
and shall be constructed of wood or 
metal. 

Number of Signs 1 sign permitted per business. 

Illumination See Section                
10-50.100.050.C. 

Externally illuminated with down-directed 
and shielded fixtures only.  

Neighborhood or District Sign shall not be 
illuminated. 

Permitting Sign Permit is required.  

End Note: 
1 The area of a Neighborhood or District Sign shall not be counted against the permitted sign area 
applicable to the use(s) existing on the property where the Neighborhood or District Sign will be 
erected. 

B. Downtown Historic District  

5. Portable Signs 
Portable signs proposed within the Downtown Historic District shall 
comply with the standards established in Section 10-50.100.090 (Portable 
Signs), except as provided below: 

a. No feather vertical banners shall be permitted in the Downtown 
Historic District. 

 F. Flagstaff Sign Free Zone 

1. Purpose  
This Section establishes a commercial tourism, commercial resort and 
hotel sign-free zone pursuant to A.R.S. §16-1019. 

    2. Applicability 
The Flagstaff Sign Free Zone illustrated on Map 10-90.40.010 (Flagstaff 
Sign Free Zone) has been determined based on the location of a 
predominance of commercial tourism, resort and hotel uses within this 
Zone.  

    3. Standards 

  a. Within the Flagstaff Sign Free Zone all portable signs, including 
political signs, are prohibited within the public rights-of-way as they 
detract from the scenic and aesthetic appeal of the area adjacent to the 
Zone and deter its appeal to tourists. However, portable signs are 
permitted on private property adjacent to the Flagstaff Sign Free 
Zone.  

    b. The Director may remove or cause to be removed any portable sign 
erected or displayed in the public right-of-way in the Flagstaff Sign 
Free Zone. 



Sign Standards  

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-25 

10-50.100.110 Nonconforming Signs  

[No amendments are proposed in this Section.] 

10-50.100.120 Enforcement  

 A. It shall be unlawful for any person, firm or corporation to erect, construct, 
enlarge, alter, repair, display, or use a sign within the City contrary to, or in 
violation of, any provision of this Division. The requirements of this Division 
shall be enforced in compliance with the enforcement provisions of Division 
10-20.110 (Enforcement). 

 B. The Director may remove or cause to be removed any portable sign erected 
or displayed upon a public sidewalk, walkway or pedestrian thoroughfare 
within public right-of-way or within a clear view zone that creates a hazard 
to pedestrian or vehicular traffic.  

10-50.100.130 Appeals 

   [No amendments are proposed in this Section.] 

10-50.100.140   Severability 

[No amendments are proposed in this Section.] 

 

 

 

 

 

 [This page intentionally left blank] 
  



 Sign Standards 

50.100-26  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

Needed Amendments to Other Chapters of the Zoning Code: 
 
Chapter 10-20 Administration, Procedures, and Enforcement: 
Division 10-20.40 Permits and Approvals 
Section 10-20.40.130 Sign Permits – Temporary Wall Banner Sign Permits 

A.  Purpose 
This Section establishes the permitting requirements for temporary wall banner signs as 
described in Section 10-50.100.090 (Portable Signs) to ensure compliance with the applicable 
provisions of this Zoning Code. 

 
B.  Sign Permit Requirement 

 It shall be unlawful for any person to erect, place, display, alter, maintain or relocate a 
temporary wall banner sign without first obtaining a Temporary Wall Banner Sign Permit 
from the Director. 

 
C.  Duration of Temporary Wall Banner Sign Permit 

The Temporary Wall Banner Sign Permit will be valid for 30 days beginning with the date of 
issuance. 

 
D.  Review and Approval 
 

1.  Application 
 

a.  An application for a Temporary Wall Banner Sign Permit for a business located in a 
multi-tenant development or shopping center shall be made by the property 
manager or property owner as the applicant on behalf of a business(s) requesting a 
Temporary Wall Banner Sign Permit for temporary wall banner sign. A business 
owner who is also the property owner (e.g. in a single-tenant building) is considered 
the applicant for the purposes of this Section and may submit an application for a 
Temporary Wall Banner Sign Permit for the business. 

 
b.  No more than one temporary wall banner sign per 150 linear feet of property 

frontage or part thereof shall be permitted at any one time. The property manager or 
property owner shall be responsible for determining which of the tenants in a multi-
tenant development or shopping center will be entitled to a temporary wall banner 
sign in accordance with this Section. 

 
2.  Review 

The Director shall review the Temporary Wall Banner Sign Permit application and 
supporting documentation required by Section 10-20.30.020 (Application Process) for 
compliance with the standards of Section 10-50.100.090 (Portable Signs). 

 
3.  Determination 

The Director in compliance with the Review Schedule on file with the Planning Section 
shall determine whether the Temporary Wall Banner Sign Permit may be issued or if 
additional information is required from the applicant to complete the permit 



Sign Standards  

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-27 

application. If the Temporary Wall Banner Sign Permit application is denied, the reason 
will be stated in writing. 

 
4.  Authorization 

Issuance of a Temporary Wall Banner Sign Permit authorizes the holder to install a 
temporary wall banner in compliance with the terms of the permit. At any time after a 
Temporary Wall Banner Sign Permit is issued, a new owner, tenant or lessee of record, may 
be substituted for the original applicant, if a record of the new interest is made with the City 
and the new interest assumes all obligations he or she would have had in compliance with 
the original permit. The change of interest shall not imply that any fees paid for the permit 
will be returned to either the interest which has been replaced or the substitute. 

 
E.  Inspections 

 
1.  All wall banners for which a Temporary Wall Banner Sign Permit is required are subject to 

inspection to establish compliance with the provisions of Section 10-50.100.090 (Portable 
Signs) and any other applicable City codes.  

 
2.  A re-inspection fee (See Appendix 2 (Planning Fee Schedule)) will be charged if more than 

one inspection is made to determine compliance after issuance of a correction notice for an 
improperly displayed portable sign, or after issuance of any notice of violation. No fees will 
be charged for an inspection establishing that a violation exists, or for the first inspection 
following the issuance of a notice of violation. The re-inspection charge will be imposed if 
any subsequent inspection is required to determine compliance. 

 
F.  Violations 

Any temporary wall banner signs installed or displayed without a Temporary Wall Banner Sign 
Permit are in violation of this Division and will be grounds for the Director to issue a correction 
notice and/or to cause removal of the portable sign until appropriate permits are obtained. 
 
(Section 10-20.40.130 amended by Ord. 2014-27, adopted Nov. 18, 2014) 

 
 
  



 Sign Standards 

50.100-28  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

Chapter 10-80 Definitions: 
Division 10-80.20 Definition of Specialized Terms, Phrases, and Building Functions 
 
Section 10-80.20.010. Definitions, “A.” 
 ADOT: Arizona Department of Transportation. 
 
Section 10-80.20.160. Definitions, “P.” 
 Parkway: The area between the back of a curb  and a sidewalk that is usually landscaped. 
 
Section 10-80.20.190 Definitions, “S.” 
 

Sign: A structure, device, figure, display, message placard or other contrivance, or any part 
thereof, situated outdoors or indoors, which is designed, constructed, intended or used to 
advertise, provide information in the nature of advertising, provide historical, cultural, 
archeological, ideological, political, or social information, or direct or attract attention to an 
object, person, institution, business, product, service, message, event, or location by any 
means, including words, letters, figures, designs, symbols, fixtures, colors, or illumination.  
 
Sign, Balloon Bobber: A reusable pre-formed balloon filled with regular air made of a 
durable PVC vinyl that does not need to be inflated, and typically attached to a short pole. 
 
 
Sign, Permanent: A sign constructed of durable materials and intended to exist for the 
duration of time that the use or occupant is located on the premises. 
 
Sign, Portable: A sign that is capable of being moved and not designed to be permanently 
attached to a building or permanently anchored to the ground that is constructed of paper, 
cloth, canvas, light fabric, cardboard, plywood, light plastic or other similar materials.  
 
Sign, Post: A sign mounted on either a single post or two or more posts as illustrated below. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

SIGN 

MESSAGE 

HERE 

SIGN 
MESSAGE 

HERE 



Sign Standards  

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-29 

Sign, A-Frame: A portable and self-supporting sign used for 
advertising purposes, constructed in such a manner as to form 
an “A” or a tent-like shape, hinged or not hinged at the top 
(Syn. Sandwich Board Sign). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Sign, Upright: A portable sign constructed to be taller than it is 
wide, which may be mounted on a weighted base or similar 
support.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
Sign, Feather Vertical Banner: A portable sign typically constructed of cloth, bunting, 
plastic, paper or similar non-rigid material, and attached to a vertically mounted pole that is 
securely fastened to the ground.  
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Sign, Temporary Wall Banner: A sign constructed of cloth, bunting, plastic, paper or 
similar non-rigid material, and securely attached to the wall or support structure for which 
it is advertising. Flags are not considered temporary wall banners. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 Sign Standards 

50.100-30  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

 
Sign, Yard: A small portable sign used for advertising by local 
businesses that are also popular in election campaigns, typically 
constructed of corrugated plastic and supported on an H-shaped 
wire frame (Syn: Lawn Sign). 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Chapter 10-90 Maps: 
Division 10-90.40 Subject Specific Maps 
 
Section 10-90.40.010 Flagstaff Sign Free Zone Map 

Insert this new map on new Page 90.40-1. 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

SIGN
MESSAGE 

HERE 



£¤89A

£¤180

£¤66

£¤89

£¤66

£¤66

§̈¦17

§̈¦40

§̈¦40

0 1,000 2,000 3,000

Feet μ
90.50-3

Section 10-90.50.010:
Flagstaff Sign Free 
Zone Map

Sign Free Zone

Street Name Segment From and To
W. Route 66 Woodlands Village Boulevard to Milton Road
Woodlands Village Boulevard Forest Meadows Street to Beulah Boulevard
Beaulah Boulevard Interstate 40 to end
Forest Meadows Street Woodlands Village Boulevard to Milton Road
Mc Connell Drive Woodlands Village Boulevard to entrance to NAU
Milton Road Mc Connell Drive to E. Route 66
Phoenix Avenue Milton Road to San Francisco Street
Mikes Pike Milton Road to Phoenix Avenue
Cottage Avenue Mikes Pike to San Francisco Street
Benton Avenue Mikes Pike to San Francisco Street
Butler Avenue Milton Road/Mikes Pike to San Francisco Street
Kendrick Street Butler Avenue to Benton Avenue
Humphreys Street Butler Avenue to Cherry Avenue
Beaver Street Butler Avenue to Cherry Avenue
Leroux Street Butler Avenue to Cherry Avenue
San Francisco Street Butler Avenue to Cherry Avenue
E. Route 66 Milton Road/Sitgreaves Street to Country Club Drive

Agassazi Street E. Route 66 to Cherry Avenue
Verde Street E. Route 66 to Cherry Avenue
Elden Street E. Route 66 to Cherry Avenue
Aspen Avenue Humphreys Street to Elden Street
Birch Avenue Humphreys Street to Elden Street
Cherry Avenue Humphreys Street to Elden Street
Lucky Lane Butler Avenue to Huntington Drive
Jay Street Lucky Lane to Huntington Drive
Bronco Way Lucky Lane to Huntington Drive
Huntington Drive Butler Avenue/Ponderosa Parkway to Lucky Lane
Ponderosa Parkway E. Route 66 to Butler Avenue
Butler Avenue Ponderosa Parkway to Rio de Flag culvert
Country Club Drive E. Route 66 to Old Walnut Canyon Road
Soliere Avenue Steve's Boulevard Wash culvert to Country Club Drive



 

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-1 

Division 10-50.100: Sign Standards 

Sections:      

10-50.100.010	 Purpose	
10-50.100.020	 Applicability	
10-50.100.030	 Sign Permit Requirements	
10-50.100.040	 General Restrictions for All Signs	
10-50.100.050	 General Requirements for All Signs	
10-50.100.060	 Permanent Signs	
10-50.100.070	 Comprehensive Sign Programs	
10-50.100.080	 Sign Design Performance Standards	
10-50.100.090	 Temporary Signs	
10-50.100.100	 Sign Districts of Special Designation	
10-50.100.110	 Nonconforming Signs	
10-50.100.120	 Enforcement	
10-50.100.130	 Appeals	
10-50.100.140  	Severability	

 
(Entire Division amended by Ord. 2014-27, adopted November 18, 2014)   
 

10-50.100.010 Purpose  

A. The Council finds that the natural surroundings, climate, history, and people 
of the City provide the Flagstaff community with its unique charm and 
beauty. This Division has been adopted to ensure that all signs installed in 
the City are compatible with the unique character and environment of the 
community, and in compliance with the General Plan. 

B. The purpose of this Division is to promote public health, safety, and welfare 
through a comprehensive system of reasonable, effective, consistent, content-
neutral, and nondiscriminatory sign standards and requirements, including 
the following specific purposes:  

1. To promote and accomplish the goals, policies, and objectives of the 
General Plan; 

2. To balance public and private objectives by allowing adequate avenues 
for both commercial and non-commercial messages; 

3. To recognize free speech rights by regulating signs in a content-neutral 
manner;  
 
This paragraph may be deleted as it is already stated above in Subsection B. 



 Sign Standards 

50.100-2  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

4.3. To improve pedestrian and traffic safety by promoting the free flow of 
traffic and the protection of pedestrians and motorists from injury and 
property damage caused by, or which may be fully or partially 
attributable to, cluttered, distracting, and/or illegible signage; 

5.4. To protect the aesthetic beauty of the City’s natural and built 
environment for the citizens of and visitors to the City, and to protect 
prominent view sheds within the community; 

6.5. To prevent property damage, personal injury, and litter caused by from 
signs that which are improperly constructed or, poorly maintained, or 
made of flimsy materials; 

7.6. To protect property values, the local economy, and the quality of life by 
preserving and enhancing the appearance of the streetscape; and 

8.7. To provide consistent sign design standards that enables the fair and 
consistent enforcement of these sign regulations. 

C. A summary of sign types addressed within this Division are listed in Table A 
(Sign Types). Table A also identifies the permitted uses of each sign type and 
whether it may be located in a walkable urban environment (Urban) or drivable 
suburban environment (Suburban), or both, as further defined and explained in 
the Preamble to this Zoning Code. 

Table 10-50.100.010.A: Sign Types 

Sign Type and Description Urban Sub-
urban 

Uses  Permit? Zoning Code 
Section 

Permanent Signs (See Table 10-50.100.060.A (Standards for Permanent Signs by Use)) 

Awning Sign 
P P 

SFR COM 
Yes 

10-50.100. 
060.C.4.b.(1) MFR IND 

Building Identification Sign 
P -- 

SFR COM 
Yes 10-50.100. 

100.A.5.a.(3) MFR IND 

Building Mounted Sign 
P P 

SFR COM 
Yes/No1 

10-50.100. 
060.C.4.b.(2) MFR IND 

Canopy Sign 
P P 

SFR COM 
Yes 

10-50.100. 
060.C.4.b.(3) MFR IND 

Changeable Copy Sign 
P P 

SFR COM 
Yes 10-50.100. 

060.C.4.b.(4) MFR IND 

Directional Sign 
-- P 

SFR COM 
Yes 

10-50.100. 
060.C.4.b.(5) MFR IND 

Directory Sign 
P2 P 

SFR COM 
Yes 

10-50.100. 
060.C.4.b.(6) MFR IND 

 
   

SFR COM 
 10-50.100. 

060.C.4.b.(7) MFR IND 



Sign Standards  

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-3 

Freestanding Sign 
 P2 P 

SFR COM 
Yes 

10-50.100. 
060.C.4.b.(7) MFR IND 

 
  

SFR COM 
 10-50.100. 

060.C.4.b.(7) MFR IND 

Interpretative Sign 
P P 

SFR COM 
Yes 

10-50.100. 
060.C.4.b.(8) MFR IND 

Landscape Wall Sign 
P2 P 

SFR COM 
Yes 

10-50.100. 
060.C.4.b.(9) 

 MFR IND 

 
  

SFR COM 
 

10-50.100. 
060.C.4.b.(7) MFR IND 

 
  

SFR COM 
 10-50.100. 

060.C.4.b.(7) MFR IND 

Painted Wall Sign 
P P 

SFR COM 
Yes 

Table 
10.50.100.060.C MFR IND 

Projecting Sign 
P2 P 

SFR COM 
Yes 

10-50.100. 
060.C.4.b.(10) MFR IND 

Roof Mounted Sign 
-- P 

SFR COM 
Yes 10.50.100. 

060.C.4.b.(11) MFR IND 

Service Island Canopy Sign 
-- P 

SFR COM 
Yes 

10-50.100. 
060.C.4.b.(12) MFR IND 

Suspended Sign 
P P 

SFR COM 
Yes 

10-50.100. 
060.C.4.b.(13) MFR IND 

Window Sign 
P P 

SFR COM 
Yes 10-50.100. 

060.C.4.b.(14) MFR IND 

Temporary Signs (See Section 10-50.100.090. (Temporary Signs)) 

Sign Walker 
P P 

SFR COM 
No 10.50.100.090.C.6 

MFR IND 

Temporary A-frame Sign 
P3 P 

SFR COM 
Yes/No4 10.50.100. 

090.C.4.c.(1) MFR IND 

Temporary Civic or Non-
Profit Event Sign P P 

SFR COM 
No 10.50.100.090.C.2 

MFR IND 

Temporary Directional Signs 
for Special Events, Recreation 
Events, and Approved 
Temporary Uses  

P P 

SFR COM 

No 10.50.100.090.C.3 
MFR IND 

Temporary New 
Development/ Construction 
Sign 

P P 
SFR COM 

No 10-50.100. 090.C.5 
MFR IND 

Temporary Sign for Approved 
Temporary Uses P P 

SFR COM 
No 10.50.100.090.C.1 

MFR IND 

Temporary Stanchion Sign 
P -- 

SFR COM 
No 10.50.100.100.B.5.b 

MFR IND 

Temporary Upright Sign: 
P3 P 

SFR COM 
Yes/No4 

10.50.100. 
090.C.4.c.(1) MFR IND 



 Sign Standards 

50.100-4  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

 
  

SFR COM 
  

MFR IND 

Temporary Vertical Banner 
-- P 

SFR COM 
Yes 10.50.100. 

090.C.4.c.(2) MFR IND 

Temporary Wall Banner 
P P 

SFR COM 
Yes 

10.50.100. 
090.C.4.c.(3) MFR IND 

Temporary Window Sign 
P P 

SFR COM 
No 

10.50.100. 
090.C.4.c.(4) MFR IND 

End Notes 
1 Except detached single-family dwellings and duplexes. 
2 This sign type is only allowed in accordance with the provisions of Section 10-50.100.100.A (Flagstaff 
Central District). 
3 Except, this sign type is not permitted in the Downtown Historic District (Section 10-50.100.100.B). 
4 See Section 10.50.100.090.C.4.c.(1) 

Key 

XXX Allowed XXX Not Allowed 
P          Sign type is permitted within the area type identified in this table. 
-- ....     Sign type is not  permitted within the area type identified in this table 
SFR = Single-family Residential; MFR – Multi-family Residential; COM = Commercial; and IND = 
Industrial 
 

Staff recommends that Paragraph C. and Table A should be deleted as this section is not 
used and it provides little information of value to readers of the Code.  

10-50.100.020 Applicability 

A. Applicability 

1. This Division applies to all signs within the City, regardless of their 
nature or location, unless specifically exempted.   

1.2. Three levels of review standards are established in this Division, some or 
all of which may be applied to the sign depending on where it is located 
proposed location within the City: 

a. All signs within the City of Flagstaff shall be reviewed based on the 
standards established in this Division, with the exception of Sections 
10-50.100.100.A (Flagstaff Central District) and 10-50.100.100.B 
(Downtown Historic District); 

b. Signs in the Flagstaff Central District are reviewed based on the 
standards established in Section 10-50.100.100.A (Flagstaff Central 
District) in keeping with the urban character and scale of this district 
as well as the standards and requirements otherwise established in 
this Division; and 



Sign Standards  

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-5 

c. Signs in the Downtown Historic District, which have the highest 
standards of review in keeping with the historic character and urban 
scale of this district, are reviewed based on. T the standards in Section 
10-50.100.100.B (Downtown Historic District), shall be applied in 
addition to the standards established for the Flagstaff Central District, 
and  as well as the standards and requirements otherwise established 
in this Division. 

2.3. Applicable to Transect Zones 
Signs proposed in the transect zones shall comply with the standards 
established in the following Sections: 

a. Transect Zone T6: Section 10-50.100.100.A (Flagstaff Central District) 
and Section 10-50.100.100.B (Downtown Historic District). 

b. Transect Zone T5 and T5-O: Section 10-50.100.100.A (Flagstaff Central 
District) and Section 10-50.100.100.B (Downtown Historic District), 
where applicable. 

c. Transect Zone T4N.1 and T4N.1-O: Section 10-50.100.100.A (Flagstaff 
Central District). 

d. Transect Zone T3N.1: Section 10-50.100.100.A (Flagstaff Central 
District). 

3.4. Nothing in this Division shall be construed to prohibit a person from 
holding a sign while located on City property so long as the person 
holding the sign is located on public property determined to be a 
traditional public forum and does not block ingress and egress from 
buildings or create a safety hazard by impeding travel on sidewalks, bike 
and vehicle lanes, and trails. 
 
The text in paragraph 4. has been moved from Section 10-50.100.040.A. 
(Location Restrictions) as it should more logically be included in the 
Applicability section of the Code. 

BC. Interpretations  
This Division is not intended to, and does not restrict speech on the basis of 
its content, viewpoint, or message. Any classification of signs in this Division 
that permits speech by reason of the type of sign, identity of the sign user, or 
otherwise, shall also be interpreted to allow non-commercial speech on the 
sign. No part of this Division shall be construed to favor commercial speech 
over non-commercial speech. A non-commercial message may be substituted 
for any commercial message displayed on a sign, or the content of any non-
commercial message displayed on a sign may be changed to a different non-
commercial message, without the need for any approval or permit, provided 
that the size of the sign is not altered. To the extent any provision of this 
Division is ambiguous, the term shall be interpreted not to regulate on the 
basis of the content of the message. 



 Sign Standards 

50.100-6  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

The purpose of this amendment is to clarify and prevent any inadvertent favoring of 
commercial speech, or favoring of any particular non-commercial message over any other 
non-commercial message. This provision would prevail over any more specific provision 
to the contrary 

D. C. Exemptions   
Unless specifically provided withinThe provisions of this Division do not apply 
to, the following signs provisions of this Division do not apply to: [ARRANGE 
THIS SUBSECTION ALPHABETICALLY AND CHECK CROSS-REFERENCES] 

1.5. Building Identification Signs  
Building identification signs not exceeding one square feet in area are 
permitted for residential buildings and two square feet in area for 
nonresidential buildings. 

2.6. Business Name and Address on an Entry Door 
Name of a business, address information, and/or contact information 
displayed on an entry door, not to exceeding two square feet in area. Sign 
mustshall not include any commercial advertising. 

3.7. Community Bulletin Board Signs 
A maximum of one community bulletin board per property is 
allowed.Signs posted on a community bulletin board shall not exceed a 
dimension of 11 x 17 inches.If the  No more than one community bulletin 
board per property and per block with a maximum size of 32 square feet 
is allowed. A community bulletin board may be is erected in public right-
of-way, or in a public space, or on private property. a maximum of one 
community bulletin board per block is allowed. The maximum size of a 
community bulletin board shall be 32 square feet. Signs posted on a 
community bulletin board shall not exceed a dimension of 11 x 17 inches. 

Display Board for Daily Specials 
Display board such as a white board, chalk board, or black board, on 
which daily specials are advertised. The display board may be mounted 
on an easel or similar support structure, or the wall of a building, and 
measure up to four square feet in area, provided it is not located within a 
public right-of-way and is not a hazard to pedestrians. 
 
This paragraph should be deleted as it is unnecessary. 

4.8. Flags 
Any flag not containing a commercial message, Oofficial flags of national, 
state, or local governments, and any other flag adopted or sanctioned by 
an elected legislative body of competent jurisdiction may be displayed as 
provided under the law that adopts or regulates its use. The length of the 
flag shall not exceed one-fourth the height of the flag pole.  No more than 
three flags shall be displayed per lot or parcel except on federal holidays. 
Flags shall be mounted on a single flagpole, or three separate flagpoles 
installed either on the building or adjacent to a building or use. No flag 
bearing an explicit commercial message shall be considered an exempt 



Sign Standards  

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-7 

flag.  
 
This minor amendment clarifies that flags should be displayed in accordance with 
the law that adopts or regulates its use. Further, the exception for federal holidays 
permits business owners to display more than three flags on these days, which is 
a common practice throughout the City anyway. 

5. Governmental Signs  
Signs installed by the City, County, or a Federal or State governmental 
agency for the protection of public health, safety, and general welfare, 
including, but not limited to, the following:  

a. Emergency and warning signs necessary for public safety or civil 
defense; 

b. Traffic signs erected and maintained by an authorized public agency; 

c. Signs required to be displayed by law; 

d. Signs showing the location of public facilities; 

e. Signs advertising temporary events organized by the Flagstaff Unified 
School District and its schools, charter schools, Northern Arizona 
University, Coconino Community College, Coconino County, or the 
City, provided no more than one sign is displayed on any business 
premises. The signs shall be no larger than 24 square feet in area, 
mounted no more than six feet in height on a wall or similar surface 
(signs mounted on stakes are not permitted), installed a maximum of 
seven days before an event, and removed no more than one day after 
the event. Illuminated signs are not permitted. The location 
restrictions listed in Section 10-50.100.040.A below shall apply to all 
signs falling under this exemption, except for paragraphs 6 and 9; and 

f. Any sign, posting, notice, or similar sign placed by or required 
by a governmental agency in carrying out its responsibility to protect 
the public health, safety, and general welfare. 
 
This paragraph has been moved with minor revisions to Page 50.100-10 of 
this draft. 

6.9. Heritage Signs in Landmark Zones    
Heritage signs areshall be governed by the ordinance designating the 
Landmark Overlay and its related guidelines (Refer to Division 10-30.30 
(Heritage Preservation)). 

7.10. Historic and Architectural Features  
Historical plaques erected and maintained by non-profit organizations, 
memorials, building cornerstones, and date-constructed stones not 
exceeding; provided that none of these exceed  four square feet in area. 



 Sign Standards 

50.100-8  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

11. Internal Signs and Signs within City Recreation Facilities 

a. Signs or displays located entirely inside of a building and not visible 
from the building’s exterior,; 

b.  sSigns intended to be readable from within a parking area but not 
readable visible beyond the boundaries of the lot or parcel upon 
which they are located or from any public right-of-way,;  

c. Signs placed on the walkway directly in front of a store provided such 
sign does not interfere with pedestrian travel or encroach upon a 
required accessible path; and  

8.d. Ttemporary signs located within City Recreation Facilities. 
 
This paragraph has been amended to provide clarification to these provisions 
and it has been expanded to include more signs as exempt signs when they 
are placed outside of a building or business and are not readable from off the 
property. 

a. Neighborhood or District Sign 
Signs used to identify a unique neighborhood or district. Such signs 
may be placed in a public right-of-way with approval of a Right-of-
Way Encroachment Permit (See City Code Section 8-03-002-0005 
(Other Permitted Encroachments)), provided such signs are not 
illuminated, and no larger than 20 square feet in area and eight feet in 
height.  
 
This paragraph has been moved to the freestanding sign Section of the 
Flagstaff Central District (Section 10-50.100.100.A (Flagstaff Central 
District) as this is a more appropriate location for this sign type. 

9.  

10. Nonstructural Modifications and Maintenance 

a. Changes to the face or copy of changeable copy signs;  

b. Changes to the face or copy of an existing multi-tenant freestanding 
non-illuminated sign from one business to another with no structural 
or lighting modifications to the sign; and 

c. The normal repair and maintenance of conforming or legal non-
conforming signs, except as identified in Section 10-50.100.050.E. 
 
This paragraph has been moved to the Applicability Section (10-
50.100.020.A) where is should have been more appropriately placed. 

11. Political Signs 
Political signs are permitted in compliance with ARS § 16-1019. 



Sign Standards  

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-9 

 
This standard has been removed because it is a content-based regulation. 

12. Real Estate Signs 

a. All Residential Zones.  

(1) One real estate sign per street frontage is permitted. Signs must be 
non-illuminated, constructed of durable materials, placed only on 
the property for sale, rent, or lease, be no more than six feet in 
height, and be no larger than eight square feet in area in single-
family residential zones and no larger than 12 square feet in area 
in multi-family residential zones.  

(2) Open house/auction directional signs are permitted within one 
mile of the residence as measured along the streets used to drive 
to it. Such signs must be no larger than four square feet in area, a 
maximum of three feet in height, and only one sign is allowed for 
each turning movement beginning at the residence for sale. Signs 
may be placed in a public right way or on off-site private property 
for the duration of the open house only while a sales person is 
present, provided such signs do not constitute a hazard to 
pedestrians or vehicular traffic, are not placed on medians, and 
they are removed no later than one hour after the conclusion of 
the open house. 

b. All Commercial, Industrial, and Non-residential Zones:  One 
real estate sign per street frontage is permitted. Signs must be non-
illuminated, constructed of durable materials, placed only on the 
property for sale, rent, or lease, be no more than six feet in height, and 
be no larger than 24 square feet in area. 
 
These standards have been removed because they are a content-based 
regulation. 

13.12. Seasonal Decorations 
Temporary, non-commercial decorations or displays that are incidental to 
and commonly associated with national, local, or religious celebration, 
provided that such decorations and displays are only displayed during 
the appropriate time of year, are maintained in an attractive condition, 
and do not constitute a fire hazard. 

14. Signs Required by Law 

15.13. Street Light Banner Sign 
Street light banner signs as permitted by the City on light poles in certain 
areas within the City. 

16. Vehicle Signs 
Signs indicating the name of the owner or business that are permanently 



 Sign Standards 

50.100-10  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

painted or wrapped on the surface of a vehicle, adhesive vinyl film 
affixed to the interior or exterior surface of a vehicle window, or signs 
magnetically attached to a vehicle or rolling stock, so long as the vehicle 
is being regularly and consistently used in the normal daily conduct of 
the business, e.g., when a company vehicle is being used for transporting 
and delivering goods or providing services related to the business (see 
also Section 10-50.100.040.A.7).  

The text referring to vehicle signs has been moved to Table 10-50.100.060.P 
(Standards for Other Sign Types). 

17.14. Vending Machine and Similar Facilities 
Signs that consitute an integral part of a vending machine  or similar 
facilities located outside of a business. Such signs are included in the total 
allowable building mounted sign area. 
 
Staff recommends that the last sentence of this paragraph should be deleted as it 
is hard to apply, unnecessarily restrictive, and difficult to enforce. 

 Yard or Garage Sale Signs 
Signs advertising a yard or garage sale, provided they are not displayed 
more than one day prior to the yard or garage sale and removed when 
the sale has concluded. 
 
This standard has been removed because it is a content-based regulation. 

15. Governmental Signs 
Any sign, posting, notice or similar signs placed, installed or required by 
law by a city, county, or a federal or state governmental agency in 
carrying out its responsibility to protect the public health, safety, and 
welfare, including, but not limited to, the following:  

(1) Emergency and warning signs necessary for public safety or civil 
defense; 

(2) Traffic signs erected and maintained by an authorized public 
agency; 

(3) Signs required to be displayed by law; 

(4) Signs directing the public to points of interest; and 

(5) Signs showing the location of public facilities. 
 
This paragraph includes the “signs required by law” paragraph in the 
current code (#14) and would also include street address signs that are 
required by law for public safety purposes.  



Sign Standards  

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-11 

10-50.100.030 Sign Permit Requirements 

A. The procedures for submittal, review and approval of Permanent Signs are 
provided in Section 10-20.40.120 (Sign Permit - Permanent Signs) and 
Temporary Wall Banner Sign Permits are provided in Section 10-20.40.130 
(Sign Permit - Temporary Wall Banner Sign Permits), including any required 
fees., are provided in Section 10-20.40.120 (Sign Permit - Permanent Signs) 
and Section 10-20.40.130 (Sign Permit - Temporary Signs), except that s Signs 
associated with and/or advertising a special event on City property shall be 
approved as part of the Special Event Permit from the City. All signs not 
approved in the Special Event Permit are prohibited.  

This amendment establishes the correct citation for Temporary Wall Banner Sign Permits. These are 
the only type of temporary sign for which a permit is required. 
  

B. No Sign Permit ishall be required for a sign on property used exclusively for 
a single-family residence or duplex that complies with this Division and is 
limited to one sign per street frontage.   

C. Nonstructural Modifications and Maintenance 

 No Sign Permit is required for the following non-structural modifications to 
and maintenance of existing signs: 

1. Changes to the face or copy of changeable copy signs;  

2. Changes to the face or copy of an existing single-tenant or multi-tenant 
freestanding or building mounted non-illuminated sign from one 
business to another with no structural or lighting modifications to the 
sign; and 

B.3. The normal repair and maintenance of conforming or legal non-
conforming signs, except as identified in Section 10-50.100.050.E. 
 
This text (C. Nonstructural Modifications and Maintenance) has been moved 
from Subsection D. (Exemptions) as it should more logically be included in the 
Permitting section of the Code. Two minor amendments to this standard were 
recommended by the Planning and Zoning Commission to include existing signs 
on single tenant buildings as well as building mounted signs. 

10-50.100.040 General Restrictions for All Signs 

A. Prohibited SignsLocation Restrictions  
Except where specifically authorized in this Division, the following signs are 
prohibited in the following locations: 

1. NoAny sign shall be placed located within, on, or projecting over a City 
right-of-way; 



 Sign Standards 

50.100-12  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

2. Any sign located within, on, or projecting over a property line which 
borders a public or private street, highway, alley, lane, avenue, road, 
sidewalk, or other right-of-way, except as specifically provided in this 
Division; 
 
This paragraph may be deleted as it duplicates the standard in paragraph #1 
above. 

3.2. No Any sign shall be attached to or placed any public utility pole, 
structure or street light, tree, fence, fire hydrant, bridge, curb, sidewalk, 
park bench, statue, memorial, or other location on public property, except 
for government signs and those signs approved as part of a Sspecial 
Eevent pPermit on City property;. Nothing in this Section shall be 
construed to prohibit a person from holding a sign while located on City 
property so long as the person holding the sign is located on public 
property determined to be a traditional public forum and does not block 
ingress and egress from buildings or create a safety hazard by impeding 
travel on sidewalks, bike and vehicle lanes, and trails; 
 
The text in paragraph 2. has been moved to the Applicability section of the Code. 

3. No Any sign shall , which by reason of its location, will obstruct the view 
of any authorized traffic sign, signal, or other traffic control device; 

4. No sign shall be constructed or placed in such a way as to  or which by 
reason of shape, color, or position interferes with or could be confused 
with any authorized traffic signal or device; 

5. No Any sign shall be which is constructed or placed in such as manner so 
as to prevent or interfere with or inhibit free ingress to or egress from any 
door, window, or any exit way required by the Building Code currently 
in effect, or by Fire Department regulations currently in effect; 

6. NoAny commercial, advertising, or business sign shall be that is not 
located offon the premises of the business to which it refers; 

7. Any sign mounted, attached, or painted on a trailer, boat, or motor 
vehicle parked to provide advertising visible from the public right-of-way 
or parked on public property to clearly provide advertising close to the 
public right-of-waywhen the principal use of the vehicle at the time of the 
display is for the display of the sign and the vehicle is parked, stored, or 
displayed conspicuously on public or private property for the purpose of 
exhibiting commercial advertising, advertising an on-site or off-site 
business, or supplying directional information to an off-site business or 
service. This provision excludes: vehicles and equipment engaged in 
active construction projects, and the on-premise storage of equipment 
and vehicles offered to the general public for rent or lease. 



Sign Standards  

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-13 

a. Signs that are permanently painted or wrapped on the surface of a 
vehicle, adhesive vinyl film affixed to the interior or exterior surface of a 
vehicle window, or signs magnetically attached to a vehicle or rolling 
stock, so long as the vehicle is being regularly and consistently used in 
the normal daily conduct of the business, e.g., when a company vehicle is 
being used for transporting and delivering goods or providing services 
related to the business. Such vehicles shall be operable, properly licensed, 
and when not being used to conduct daily business, parked or stored in a 
lawful and authorized manner on the business property so as not to be 
visible from the public right-of-way. Where parking limitations on the 
business property prevent the business owner from parking the vehicle in 
a manner not to be visible from the public right-of-way, the vehicle shall 
be parked as far from the public right-of-way as possible; and 
 

b. Vehicles and equipment engaged in active construction 
projects, and the on-premise storage of equipment and vehicles 
offered to the general public for rent or lease. 

 

 

 

 

The standards for vehicle signs have been simplified and consolidated. The text 
above ensures that a vehicle may not be parked to as a sign to provide advertising 
for a business, while the regulations governing signs on vehicles used in the daily 
conduct of the business have been moved to Table 10-50.100.060.P.  

8.7. No Any sign shall be painted, attached or mounted on fuel tanks, storage 
containers and/or solid waste receptacles or their enclosures, except for a 
manufacturer’s or installer’s identification, appropriate warning signs 
and placards, and information required by law; 

9. Any sign tacked, painted, burned, cut, pasted or otherwise affixed to the 
walls of any building, barn, shed, accessory structure, or other structures 
that are visible from a public way; 
 
This paragraph may be deleted as it duplicates the standard in paragraph #9 
below. 

10.8. No Any sign shall be tacked, painted, burned, cut, pasted or 
otherwise affixed to trees, rocks, light and utility poles, posts, fences, 
ladders, benches, or similar supports that areis visible from a public way;  

OR 

OR NOT permitted 

Permitted 

NOT permitted 

Permitted 

Figure A. Signs on Vehicles Used for Business Purposes 



 Sign Standards 

50.100-14  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

11.9. No Any sign shall that covers the architectural features of a building, 
such as dormers, insignias, pilasters, soffits, transoms, trims, or other 
architectural feature; 

12.10. Billboards; and 

13.11. Bandit signs. 

B. Display Restrictions 

1. Purpose 
The purpose of this Subsection is to regulate the manner in which signs 
convey their messages by specifying prohibited display features that 
create distractions to the traveling public and create visual clutter that 
mar the natural and architectural aesthetics of the City. 

2. Applicability  
Signs with Tthe following display features are prohibited: 

a. Any sign or lLighting devices, whether on the exterior of a building or 
on the inside of a window which is visible beyond the boundaries of 
the lot or parcel, or from any public right-of-way,  with intermittent, 
flashing, rotating, blinking or strobe light illumination, animation, 
motion picture, or laser or motion picture projection, or any lighting 
effectdevice creating the illusion of motion, as well as laser or 
hologram lights;  
 
The text from Paragraph c. below referring to laser or hologram lights has 
been moved into Paragraph a. 

b. Any sign with an exposed light source, except for neon that is 
incorporated into the design of the sign; 

c. Any sign which emits sSound, odor, or smoke, laser or hologram 
lights, or other visible matter, including any sign that uses motion 
picture projection; 

d. Any sign animated by any means, including fixed aerial displays, 
balloons, spinners, strings of flags and pennants, streamers, tubes, or 
other devices affected by the movement of the air or other 
atmospheric or mechanical means; Inflatable balloons, spinners, 
strings of flags and pennants, fixed aerial displays, streamers, tubes, 
or other devices affected by the movement of the air or other 
atmospheric or mechanical means either attached to a sign or to 
vehicles, structures, poles, trees and other vegetation, or similar 
support structures;  
 
This amendment clarifies this standard to eliminate the confusion with 
balloons being attached to vehicles and other structures, trees, vegetation, 



Sign Standards  

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-15 

etc. This amendment also makes a distinction between “inflatable balloons” 
and rigid “balloon bobbers”- see Page 50.100-34. 

e. Rotating or moving sign bodyAny sign or any other portion of the 
sign in which the sign body or any portion of the sign rotates, moves 
up and down, or any other type of action involving a change in 
position of the sign body or any portion of the sign, whether by 
mechanical or any other means. Barber poles no larger than three feet 
high and 10 inches in diameter, and clocks, are excepted from this 
restriction; 

f. Electronic Ddisplays signs;   

g. Any changeable copy LED or similar signs, except fixed illumination 
display signs used to indicate that a business is “open”, display 
prices, or to confirm an order placed in a drive through lane; and 

h. Animated signs or costumed character (except as permitted in Section 
10-50.100.090.C.6 (Sign Walkers), sStuffed or inflated animals, 
vehicle(s) used as a sign or sign structure (except as permitted in 
Sections 10-50.100.020.D.17 (Vehicle Signs) and 10-50.100.040.A.7), 
and s; and 
 
The reference to the Sign Walker standards in Section 10-50.100.090.C is 
not necessary in this paragraph and is, therefore, proposed to be deleted. 

h.i. Strings of lights arranged in the shape of a product, arrow, or any 
commercial message. 

10-50.100.050 General Requirements for All Signs 

[No amendments are proposed in this Section other than to include an additional 
graphic (see below) on Page 50.100-15 to better explain how sign area is calculated 
when a symbol is included within a sign.] 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 



 Sign Standards 

50.100-16  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

10-50.100.060 Permanent Signs  

C. Signs for All Non-residential Uses in All Zones 

4. Standards for Specific Sign Types    

b. The following sign types are permitted, subject to the criteria listed 
under each sign type. 

(2) Building Mounted Signs  
The standards provided in Table C (Standards for Building 
Mounted Signs) shall apply to all building mounted sign in all 
zones where allowed by Table 10-50.100.060.A (Standards for 
Permanent Signs by Use). 
 
 

Table 10-50.100.060.C: Standards for Building Mounted Signs 

 Standard 

Sign Placement The total sign area for signs on single-tenant or multi-tenant 
buildings may be placed on any building elevation, 
exceptsubject to the following standards: 

(1) At least 1 sign shall be associated with the building 
entry zone1 (may be wall mounted, projecting, 
awning, etc.);. 

(2) No sign shall face an adjoining residential zone;. 

(3) Signs shall be placed at least the lesser of 12 inches 
or 20% of the width and height of the building 
element on which they are mounted, whichever is 
less, from the sides of the building element;. 

(4) The width of the sign shall be not be greater than 
60% of the width of the building element on which it 
is displayed;. 

(3)(5) Signs shall be placed at least 12 inches or 
20% of the height of the building element on which 
they are mounted, whichever is less, from the top 
and bottom edge of the building element. 

Individual tenants in multi-tenant buildings are permitted 
building mounted signs only on the primary entrance 
elevation of the space occupied by the business.  

If vertically placed on a mansard roof, structural supports 
shall be minimized, and secondary supports (angle irons, guy 
wires, braces) shall be enclosed/ hidden from view. 

Special Provisions 

Additional Increases in Sign Area (Section 10-
50.100.080 (Sign Design Performance 
Standards)) 

Additional sign area may be sought under Section 10-
50.100.080 (Sign Design Performance Standards)., but is 
limited to a max. sign area of 100 sq. ft. 

 



Sign Standards  

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-17 

The Planning and Zoning Commission recommended the clarifying amendments in the “Sign 
Placement” row, paragraph (3) as there has been confusion on whether this means that the 12 inches 
or 20% of the width and height of the building element is applied to both the top and the bottom of the 
building element, or if it means that half of these dimensions is applied to the top and the bottom of 
the building element to give a total of 12 inches or 20%. As originally conceived, this rule was 
intended to apply the 12 inches or 20% standard to both the top and the bottom of the sign, and to 
each of the two sides of the sign on the building element. Also, insert the illustration and renumber all 
following illustrations throughout the Code. 

This standard in the “Sign Placement” row was included in this table in error and may be deleted 
because the intent of the amendments to the Sign Standards adopted last year was to allow business 
owners to place their signs on the building where they desired. 

The text shown in the bottom row under “Special Provisions” may be deleted as it is unnecessary and 
it conflicts with the standard for allowable building mounted sign area in Table 10-50.100.060.A 
which already establishes a cap of 100 sq. ft. for building mounted sign area. No additional limit to 
the additional sign area permitted if the sign design performance standards of Table 10-50.100.060.A 
are applied is necessary, as these are already in place in Table 10-50.100.080.B (Cumulative 
Adjustments). 
 

(5) DrivewayDirectional Sign 

(a) DrivewayDirectional signs are only permitted as part of a 
Comprehensive Sign Program, and are exempted from the 
total allowable sign area permitted for each use. 

(b) The standards provided in Table F (Standards for 
DrivewayDirectional Signs) shall apply. 

Table 10-50.100.060F: Standards for Driveway Directional Signs 

 Standard Other Requirements 

Sign Area 3 sq. ft. per face. May be double-sided. 

Included in the total allowable 
sign area for building mounted 
signs. 

Mounting Height – 
Building Mounted Sign  

Max. 8 feet from grade.  Flat against a wall of the building. 

Mounting Height – 
Freestanding Sign 

Max. 3 feet from grade.  

Number of Signs Max. 1 at each driveway or drive through lane. 

Illumination Internal illumination only.  May also be non-illuminated. 

Permitting Sign Permit is required.  

 
The term “directional sign” has been changed to “driveway sign” to better describe the sign’s 
function. Staff recommends that the requirement for a driveway sign to be included only as part of a 
Comprehensive Sign Program should be removed as it is overly limiting. There are many dozens of 
directory signs installed in the City either with or without a permit and many were not approved as 



 Sign Standards 

50.100-18  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

part of a Comprehensive Sign Program (except perhaps for some recent examples such as The Trax 
or The Village at Aspen Place). Staff also recommends that directional signs (a freestanding sign 
type) should not be included in the total allowable sign area standards for building mounted signs. 
Staff further recommends that directional signs should also not count against total freestanding sign 
area.  

 
(7) Freestanding Signs  

 
Table 10-50.100.060.H: Standards for Freestanding Signs 

Non-Residential Use in Commercial or Industrial Zone – Live/Work, Single Tenant Building, 
Multi-Tenant Buildings, Development Sites, Shopping Centers, and Detached Buildings within 
a Multi-Tenant Development or Shopping Center  

Standard   

Sign Height See this Section and Table A (Standards for Permanent Signs by Use). 

Elements to enhance the design of a sign structure may extend above 
the sign to a max. of 20% of the sign’s allowed height, or 12 inches 
whichever is greater. 

 
This amendment, suggested by a local sign contractor and recommended by the Planning and Zoning 
Commission, allows for meaningful embellishments to a low freestanding sign, i.e. one that is less 
than 5 feet in height. For example, if a 4-foot high sign is proposed, 20% of 4’ or 48” = 9.6 inches for 
sign embellishments. This amendment would allow a slight increase in the height of an 
embellishment. 

 
Special Provisions Standard  

Sign Width The sign base must beshall have a min. aggregate width of 60% of the 
width of the sign cabinet or face. 

A freestanding sign may be mounted on 2 or more posts with a min. 
diameter/dimension of 8” if the sign complies with the standards of 
Section 10-50.100.080 (Sign Design Performance Standards). 

 
This amendment allows for the installation of a freestanding sign on two or more poles or posts 
provided that compliance with the enhanced design standards of Section 10-50.100.080 is achieved. 
 
Insert a new row between “Additional Increases in Sign Area” and “Landscaping”. 

Post Sign Max. 1 post sign per frontage. 

Sign Permit is required unless the post sign advertises property or a 
portion of the property for sale, rent or lease, in which case no Sign 
Permit is required and the sign area will be included in the allowable 
area for portable signs. See Table 10-50.100.090.A. 

 
This amendment provides for real estate signs which do not cleanly fall into the 
definition of a temporary sign. Under Reed v. Town of Gilbert it is best not to 
describe this type of sign as a “realtor sign” because this description would no longer 
allow this sign type to be content neutral. Staff recommends that these signs be 
included in the freestanding sign section as they are a type of freestanding sign, 
except that if they are only used to advertise the sale, lease or rent of property or a 



Sign Standards  

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-19 

portion of the property then no sign permit is required and the sign area is counted 
against the total allowed sign area for all temporary signs for the property. By setting 
up this provision in this manner, a business may elect to use a post sign as their 
permanent freestanding sign (this is already allowed in the Flagstaff Central 
District), but then it would be subject to a Sign Permit and the sign’s area would 
count toward the total available freestanding sign area for the property. 

 
(14) Window Sign  

The standards provided in Table O (Standards for Permanent 
Window Signs) shall apply. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The amendments in the first row of this table increase the allowed sign area for 
temporary and permanent window signs combined from 25 percent to 40 
percent. This recommendation is based on the acknowledgement that there are 
already many businesses in the City with window sign area meeting or 
exceeding this standard, and given there have been no complaints about them, 
they do not appear to be a concern to City residents. 
Sign placement row – the change to making window signs required on the 
inside of a window is based on typical practice in the City for these signs.  
The standards for open signs have been moved from Table 10-50.100.060.P 
(below) and added to this table because open signs are typically mounted in 
windows.   

Table 10-50.100.060.O: Standards for Permanent Window Signs 

 Standard Other Requirements 

Sign Area  Combined Aarea of temporary 
and permanent window signs 
combined shall not exceed 
2540% of the area of the 
window on or within which 
they are displayed. 

Combined window coverage shall 
not exceed 25% of the area of any 
1 window. Signs constructed of 
perforated vinyl or painted on the 
window shall be included as part 
of the 4025% area calculation. 

Permanent window signs are 
included in the total allowable sign 
area for building mounted signs. 

Sign Placement No higher than 1st story 
windows.  

Inside mounting requiredpreferred. 

Illumination Neon illumination only. Fixed copy or display only – no 
flashing, blinking, or moving text 
or images are permitted. 

Permitting Sign Permit is required.  

Open Signs Max. 2 sq. ft.  

Max. I per business. 

Excluded from the total allowable 
building mounted sign area. 

No Sign Permit required. 

   



 Sign Standards 

50.100-20  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

(15) Vehicle Other Signs  Types 
The standards provided in Table P (Standards for Vehicle Other 
Signs Types) shall apply. 

Table 10-50.100.060.P: Standards for Vehicle Other Signs Types 

 Standard Other Requirements 

Drive Through Menu Board and Confirmation Signs 

Sign Area  Menu Board = Max. 40 sq. ft.  

Order Confirmation Board = 
Max. 2 sq. ft.  

If the sign area for both signs 
combined is greater than 42 sq. ft., the 
sign area is included in the total 
allowable building mounted sign area. 

Sign Placement One each per drive though lane  

Illumination Internally illuminated only. 

Permitting No Sign Permit required.  

Fuel Pump Signs 

Sign Dimensions Max. 1.5 ft. high and ≤ the width of 
the fuel pump. 

Sign area is excluded from the total 
allowable building sign area. 

Sign Placement Max one fuel pump sign per fuel 
pump. 

1 fuel pump topper sign, max. 2 sq. 
ft., per fuel pump also permitted. 

Illumination Internally illuminated only.  

Permitting No Sign Permit required.  

Menu Display Box 

Sign Area  4 sq. ft.  If > 4 sq. ft., area is included in the 
total allowable building mounted 
sign area.  

Sign Placement On a wall or within a window of 
the bar or restaurant it serves. 

Designed to be architecturally 
compatible with the building. 

Illumination Non-illuminated or externally illuminated with down directed, fully 
shielded fixtures only. 

Permitting No Sign Permit required for menu 
display box ≤ 4 sq. ft.  

Sign Permit required for menu 
display box > 4 sq. ft.  

Open Sign 

Sign Area  Max. 2 sq. ft.  Not included in the total allowable 
building mounted sign area. 

Sign Placement Max. 1 sign per business.  

Illumination and 
Display 

Fixed copy or display only – no flashing, scrolling, blinking, or moving text 
or images. 

Permitting No Sign Permit required.   

Vehicle Signs 

Vehicle Sign  May be: May only indicate the name of the 



Sign Standards  

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-21 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

After careful consideration staff proposes that the standards added to the Sign Code with the 
2011 Zoning Code update proposed for deleted in this table should be removed from the Code. 
Since 2011 these standards have not had to be applied or enforced, and staff recommends that 
it is better to allow these sign types to be regulated by market forces than to include them in 
the Code where they are really unnecessary. Further, removal of these sign types helps to 
ensure that the City’s sign standards are in better alignment with the Reed sign code case. 
 
The text referring to vehicle signs has been moved without amendment from Section 10-
50.100.020.D (Exemptions) as it more appropriately fits in this Section of the Code. 
Insert illustrations for each of these signs. 
 
“Vending machines and Similar Facilities” – this standard was recommended for deletion by 
the Planning and Zoning Commission because they are not necessary, add an overly 
restrictive level of sign control, and are very difficult to enforce. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(1) Permanently painted or 
wrapped on the surface of a 
vehicle; 

(2) Adhesive vinyl film affixed to a 
window; or 

(3) Magnetically attached to a 
vehicle. 

business and owner. 

 

 

Vehicle Use The vehicle must be regularly and consistently used in the normal daily 
conduct of the business, e.g. used for delivering or transporting goods or 
providing services related to the business. 

Vehicle must be operable and properly licensed. 

When not in use the vehicle must be parked in a lawful manner on the 
business property so as not to be visible from the public right-of-way, or 
if this is not possible, as far from the public right-of-way as possible. 

 

Vending Machine and Similar Facilities 

Sign Area When placed outside of a business, signs that are an integral part of such 
machines shall be included in total allowable building mounted sign area.  

Permitting No Sign Permit required.  

Figure 

Figure X. Signs on Vehicles Used for Business Purposes 



 Sign Standards 

50.100-22  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

 

 

 

 

 

10-50.100.070 Comprehensive Sign Programs  

 Page 50.100-43 
C.  Review 
 3. The Planning Commission shall review all Comprehensive Sign Programs that request 

an increase in allowable sign height and area beyond the limits established in Section 10-
50.100.080 (Sign Design Performance Standards) for freestanding and building mounted 
signs for multi-tenant buildings andor shopping centers. 

 
This amendment allows the Planning Commission to also consider increasing the area of building 
mounted signs as part of a Comprehensive Sign Program. 

10-50.100.080 Sign Design Performance Standards  

 B. Cumulative Adjustments 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Table 10-50.100.080.B: Cumulative Adjustments 

# of Features Used 
Freestanding Signs  

Building 
Mounted Sign  

Area Height Area Height 

2 30% 20-30%1 20% 10% 

3 45% 35-40%1 30% 15% 

4 60% 50% 40% 20% 

Standard #5 w/ Standards 1-4 
Not to exceed 75% of 

original max. 
permitted sign area 

N/A N/A N/A 

Cumulative Maximum Sign Area 
Increase Allowed 

750% 50% 50% 20% 

End Notes     
1 This percentage varies depending on which design features listed in Table A are utilized. 

NOT 

NOT permitted 

OR 

OR 

Permitted 



Sign Standards  

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-23 

The amendment in the last row of this table changing 75% to 50% is necessary 
because the 75% value is incorrect. This amendment ensures consistency with the 
standards in Table 10-50.100.060.H (Standards for Freestanding Signs) and the 
standards in the former Land Development Code. 

10-50.100.090 PortableTemporary Signs 

A. Purpose  
The Council finds that the proliferation of portabletemporary signs is a 
distraction to the traveling public and creates aesthetic blight and litter that 
threatens the public’s health, safety, and welfare. The purpose of these 
regulations is to ensure that portabletemporary signs doare not used to 
continuously advertise goods, services, or other events, and to limit  create a 
the distractions to the traveling public by eliminating the aesthetic blight and 
litter caused by portabletemporary signs by allowing them only in the time, 
place, and manner specified in this Section. 
 
In the October 8th work session a majority of Council members agreed that temporary 
signs should be allowed without a permit and without a time limitation. Ass this 
means temporary signs may be in place for extended period times, they become in a 
manner, permanent signs and the term “temporary” no longer is meaningful. For 
this reason throughout this Section “temporary sign” has been changed to “portable 
sign”. Also, unnecessary language is eliminated in this Subsection. 

B. General to All 

PortableTemporary signs are allowed only in compliance with the provisions 
of this Section; 

1. A Permit is only required for temporary wall banner signs. Unless 
specifically indicated, a Temporary Sign Permit is required for all 
temporary signs in accordance with Section 10-20.40.130 (Temporary Sign 
Permits). The applicable fee for a Temporary Sign Permit is established in 
Appendix 2 (Planning Fee Schedule).  See Section 10-20.40.130 
(Temporary Wall Banner Sign Permits). 
 
This amendment establishes that a Sign Permit is only required for wall banners 
and no Sign Permit is needed all other temporary signs. Refer also to the policy 
discussion on the following page. 

2. Temporary signs shall not be illuminated; 
 
This standard has been moved to Table 10-50.100.090.A (Standards for 
Temporary Signs on Private Property). 

3. Temporary signs associated with events restricted to a City park or other 
City-owned or operated public property, including streets, vacant land, 
and parking lots, shall be reviewed and approved by the Recreation 
Services Section in compliance with the Special Event Permit Policy; 



 Sign Standards 

50.100-24  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

 
This paragraph may be deleted because a cross reference to the Special Event 
section of City Code has been added to paragraphs #5. below. 

4. The following elements shall be prohibited on temporary signs:  

a. Any form of illumination, including flashing, blinking, or rotating 
lights; 

b. Animation; 

c. Reflective materials; and 

d. Attachments, including, but not limited to, balloons, ribbons, 
loud speakers, etc. 
 
These standards have been moved into Table 10-50.100.090.A (Standards for 
Temporary Signs). 

5.2. There is no limitation on the length of time that a portable sign may be 
displayed except for temporary wall banners (See Table 10-50.100.090.B 
(Standards for Portable Signs).  
 

This amendment is based on Council direction provided at the December 8th Council work session 
with specific reference to Section 10-50.100.090 (Portable Signs – formerly called Temporary Signs) 
including the following key decision points: 

o No portable signs will be permitted in public right-of-way (both City and ADOT). 
o No permit will be required for portable signs, except temporary wall banner signs. 
o It was agreed that all portable signs may be displayed for an unlimited period of time and will 

not be required to be removed at the close of business as originally proposed by staff. An 
exception is that temporary wall banner signs may only be displayed for 30 days. For this 
reason as these signs could be in place for extended periods of time and, therefore, are not 
really “temporary”, they have been called “portable signs”. 

o An area limitation will be established to determine the maximum area of portable signs 
permitted in residential zones (16 sq. ft.) and non-residential zones (originally proposed as 32 
sq. ft. and reduced to 24 sq. ft.). Staff has proposed that the area of temporary wall banners 
(max. 24 sq. ft.) should not be included in this area limitation.  

o Temporary window signs will not be included in the area allowance for portable signs.  
o The Flagstaff Sign Free Zone as authorized under ARS § 16.1019 is included in the proposed 

amendments. 
 
The following options may be considered by the Council: 
 
OPTION 1: Require a permit for all temporary signs and limit the display time that temporary signs 
may be displayed (may be anywhere from 60 days to 5 months). Under this option there would be no 
need for the proposed “portable sign” amendments as the length of time that they would be displayed 
will be limited. Enforcement and permitting of this option will be challenging and may be 
burdensome on staff. All temporary signs (except wall banners) could be required to be removed at the 



Sign Standards  

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-25 

close of business (current code standard) or permitted to remain in place overnight (staff’s preferred 
approach). Note that as all temporary signs would require a permit, this would include political, 
ideological, real estate, commercial advertising signs, etc. 
OPTION 2: Do not require a permit for all temporary signs and limit the display time that 
temporary signs may be displayed (may be anywhere from 60 days to 5 months), Under this option 
there would also be no need for the proposed “portable sign” amendments. However, it would rely on 
an honor system with business owners and others placing signs on their property, similar to the 
approach used for civic/non-profit event banner signs on the City’s sign structures to inform the City 
when a temporary sign would be displayed and removed within the time frame determined by the 
Council. Enforcement and management of this option will be challenging and may be burdensome on 
staff. All temporary signs (except wall banners) could be required to be removed at the close of 
business (current code standard) or permitted to remain in place overnight (staff’s preferred 
approach). 

 

6.3. PortableTemporary signs must are not  be placed on or affixed to allowed 
on any City property, including City rights-of-way, except as specifically 
authorized in connection with a special event permitted under City Code 
Chapter 8-12 (Special Events)and permitted by the City. This prohibition 
does not apply to temporary signs held by individuals and not affixed to 
or placed on City property, so long as the individual holding the sign is 
on property determined to be a traditional public forum and the 
individual is not blocking ingress or egress from buildings or creating a 
safety hazard by impeding travel on sidewalks, bicycle and vehicle lanes, 
or trails;  

7. The last sentence of this paragraph has been moved to a new Paragraph 4. in Section 10-
50.100.020.A (Applicability) where it is more logically and correctly placed. 

4. PortableTemporary signs shall not be placed in the clear view zones at 
street intersections or driveways (Refer to Section 10-50.100.050.F (Sign 
Placement at Intersection)). 

8. and are not allowed within the public right-of-way, including, but not 
limited to, travel lanes, bicycle lanes, street shoulders, parkway strips, 
medians, curbs, sidewalks, and trails; and 
 
This standard may be deleted because it duplicates an existing standard in 
Section 10-50.100.040.A (Prohibited Signs). 

9. The Director may remove or cause to be removed any temporary or 
portable sign erected or displayed upon, or projecting into public 
property. 
 
This standard has been moved to Section 10-50.100.120 (Enforcement). 

C. Standards for Portable Signs Specific to Commercial and Industrial Zones, 
Transect Zones T5 and T6, and Multi-family Residential Zones 
A summary of permitted temporary sign types permitted in this Section are 
listed in Table A (Summary of Permitted Temporary Sign Types) below. 



 Sign Standards 

50.100-26  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

Table A also identifies whether temporary directional off-premise signs, 
temporary off-premise signs, or temporary on-premise signs are permitted.  
 

Table 10-50.100.090.A: Summary of Permitted Temporary Sign Types 

Temporary Sign Type Off-premise 
Directional Sign 

Off-premise 
Sign 

On-site 
Sign 

Section        
10-50.100.090 

Approved Temporary 
Uses 

P P1 P C.1 

Civic or Non-Profit 
Events 

P P1 P C.2 

City Special Event or 
Recreation Event 

P P1 P2 C.3 

On-Premises Business 
Signs 

-- -- P C.4 

Temporary Development/ 
Construction Signs 

-- -- P C.5 

Sign Walkers -- P3 P C.6 

End Notes 
1 Permitted only on the City’s approved sign support structures. 
2 Such signs are permitted subject to the standards applicable to City Special Events. 
3 Only allowed on private property or on a public sidewalk immediately adjacent to the business or 
use being advertised. 

Key 

P          Permitted Sign  

--         Sign Not Allowed 

 
This table may be removed because it is not content neutral and new standards for 
temporary signs consistent with Reed v. Town of Gilbert are now being proposed. 
 
Portable Temporary signs placed on the exterior of a structure or on private 
property are allowed ion all Zones property zoned commercial, industrial, or 
transect zones T5 and T6 in compliance with the following standards:  
 
The amendments to the Temporary Sign Section include standards for all zones 
within the City. Refer to Table 10-50.100.090.A (Standards for Temporary Signs). 

 Signs for Approved Temporary Uses 
 

1. Signs displayed in connection with an approved temporary use as 
established in Section 10-20.40.150 (Temporary Use Permits) shall comply 
with the standards provided in Table B (Standards for Approved 
Temporary Uses at the Location of the Event). 



Sign Standards  

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-27 

Table 10-50.100.090.B: Standards for Approved Temporary Uses at the Location of the 
Event 

 Standard Other Requirements 

Sign Area Max. 24 sq. ft.   

Placement  Only on the site for which the 
temporary use is authorized. 

Securely attached to a stationary 
structure, canopy, fence or vehicle 
associated with the temporary use. 

Not in public right-of-way or 
on public property. Shall 
not create a hazard for 
pedestrian or vehicular 
traffic. See Section 10-
50.100.090.B. 

Period of Use Max. 7 days before an event. 

Removal Within 1 day after event.  

Number of Signs Max. 1 per street frontage for the approved temporary use.  

If the temporary use has multiple vendors, each vendor may have 1 
sign, max. I2 sq. ft., and it must be located at the vendor’s booth. 

Directional Signs See Table 10-50.100.090.E  

Material Rigid materials only. Banners, balloons and 
pennants prohibited. 

Illumination Not permitted.  

Permitting No Sign Permit required - reviewed as a part of the Temporary Use 
Permit for the use. 

 
The standards in this table have been removed because they were not content 
neutral and new standards for temporary signs consistent with Reed v. Town 
of Gilbert are now being proposed.  

1. Time, Place, and Manner Restrictions for Portable Signs  
Portable signs shall comply with the standards provided in Table A 
(Standards for All Portable Signs).  

Table 10-50.100.090.A: Standards for All Portable Signs 

 Standard  

Applicable to All Zones 

Placement  Shall not create a hazard for pedestrian or vehicular traffic. 

Height and width Refer to Table 10-50.100.90.B. for height and width standards 
for individual portable signs. 

Prohibited elements Any form of illumination, including flashing, blinking, or rotating 
lights. 

Animation. 

Reflective materials. 

Attachments, including, but not limited to, any balloons, ribbons, 
loudspeakers, etc. 



 Sign Standards 

50.100-28  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Design and construction Professionally crafted. 

Of sufficient weight and durability to withstand wind gusts, 
storms, etc. 

Commercial, Industrial, and Other Non-Residential Zones 

Period of use No limitation, except for wall banners. Refer to Table 10-
50.100.090.B. 

Area of all portable signs at any 
one time  

Max. 24 sq. ft. per business; excludes the area of temporary 
window signs and wall banner signs.  

Exception: In the Flagstaff Central District, max. 12 sq. ft. per 
business; excludes the area of temporary window signs and wall 
banner signs. Refer to Section 10-50.100.100.A. 

Number of Signs 

 

 

Unlimited except that the total sign area of all portable signs not 
exceed 24 sq. ft. per business.  

Exception: Multi-tenant shopping centers or offices – Max. 2 
portable signs per 150 linear feet of property frontage not to 
exceed 24 sq. ft. combined. 

Permitting No Sign Permit required, except for temporary wall banner 
signs. 

All Residential Zones 

Period of use No limitation. 

A rea of all portable signs at 
any one time 

Max. 16 sq. ft. per lot or parcel.  

Number of Signs 

 

Unlimited except that the total sign area of all portable signs 
shall not exceed 16 sq. ft. 

Permitting No Sign Permit required.  

 



Sign Standards  

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-29 

This new table provides the general standards for any type of temporary sign 
placed on private property. It is organized to provide standards applicable 
generally to all zones, standards for commercial, industrial and other non-
residential zones, and all residential zones. Most of the standards are consistent 
with those in the current code (e.g. the standards for prohibited elements, 
illumination and design and construction), but new standards have also been 
added. These include a new approach to establishing a limit on the area and 
number of temporary signs permitted on a property or for a business (e.g. in 
commercial zones a max. of 32 sq. ft. of temporary sign area is allowed regardless 
of the content of the sign, i.e. ideological, commercial, or political). 

2. Civic and Non-Profit Event Signs on City Approved Sign Support 
Structures [Move this section after Types of Temporary Signs – to 
become new Subsection 3.] 

a. Purpose 
The City has installed banner sign support structures at certain 
locations within the community where temporary banners used to 
advertise civic and non-profit organizations and events for which a 
Special Event Permit has been approved may be placed. The purpose 
of these banner sign support structures, therefore, is to provide a 
convenient, highly visible and safe location for the display of these 
temporary banners to minimize their proliferation within the 
community which causes visual blight. 

b. All sSigns advertising events organized and implemented by civic 
and non-profit organizations, or events for which a Special Event 
Permit has been approved by the Recreation Services Section, may be 
installed on City approved sign support structures in compliance 
shall comply with the standards provided in Table C (Standards for 
Temporary Civic or Non-Profit Event Signs at the Location of the 
Event) and Table CD (Standards for Temporary Off-Premise Signs on 
City Approved Sign Support Structures for City Special and 
Recreation Events, and Civic or Non-Profit Events). 

The current code required all temporary banner signs used to advertise civic 
and non-profit events to be placed on the City’s sign structures. However, 
following the decision in the Reed case, while it is preferred that these 
banners should only be placed on the sign structures, the City may no longer 
make this a requirement. Note that any such banner would count against the 
temporary sign area limitation proposed in Table A which may be enough of 
an incentive for a business owner to not grant permission for the display of 
the event banner on their property. Staff expects, therefore, that most banners 
will continue to be displayed on the City sign support structures. 

Table 10-50.100.090.C: Standards for Temporary Civic or Non-Profit Event Signs at 
the Location of the Event 

 Standard  

Period of Use Max. 7 days before an event. 



 Sign Standards 

50.100-30  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

 

 

The standards in the upper portion of this table have been removed because they are not 
content neutral and new standards for temporary signs consistent with Reed v. Town of 
Gilbert are now being proposed. 

 
 b. An application may be submitted to the Director for the placement of 

up to three banners on City-approved sign support structures 
(illustrated in Figure A) for the purpose of promoting a forthcoming 
civic or non-profit event, a City Recreation Services event, or an event 

Removal  Shall be removed within 1 day after an event. 

Sign Placement  

Only on the property where the event will be held. 

Not in public right-of-way, street medians, or FUTS trails. 

Shall not create a hazard for pedestrian or vehicular traffic. See 
Section 10-50.100.090.B. 

Mounting Height Max. 6 feet.  

Sign Area Max. 24 sq. ft.  

Number of Signs Max. 1 per frontage.  

Illumination Not permitted.  

Permitting No Sign Permit required. 

Table 10-50.100.090.CD: Standards for Temporary Off-Premise Signs  on City-
Approved Sign Support Structures for City Special or Recreation Events, and 
Civic and Non-Profit Events 

Number of Events 
No more than 3 events per organization per year may be advertised 
on City-approved sign support structures. 

Period of Use Max.  7 days before an event. 

Sign Placement  Only at approved locations (See b. below).  

Mounting Height Max. 6 ft.  

Sign Size and Area Max. 3’ by 8’; Max. 24 sq. ft.  

Banner Details 

Grommets shall be placed at each of the corners of the banner for 
secure attachment to the support structure. 

Banners shall not have brand identification, such as “Sponsored by 
XYZ Corporation”, or a product brand across the face of the 
banner as a background. 

Logos for sponsors of the event or the banner shall be limited to 
max. 20% of the area of the banner.  

Number of Signs 
1 sign for each event per support structure, to a max. of 3 sign 
support structures.  

Removal  Within 1 day after thean event.  

Illumination Not permitted.  

Permitting 
No Sign Permit required – a reservation is needed for placement of 
a banner on a support structure. See Section 10-50.100.090.C.32.b. 



Sign Standards  

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-31 

for which a Special Event Permit has been approved by the Recreation 
Services Section. Placement on these structures is reserved on a first 
come, first serve basis up to three-months in advance of the event. 
The locations of the City’s approved sign support structures are 
available on a map on file with the Planning Section. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3. Temporary Directional Signs for City Special Events, Parks and 
Recreation Events, and Approved Temporary Uses  
The standards provided in Table E (Standards for Temporary Directional 
Signs for City Special Events, Recreation Events, Civic and Non-Profit 
Events, and Approved Temporary Uses) shall apply. 

Table 10-50.100.090.E: Standards for Temporary Directional Signs for City 
Special Events, Recreation Events, Civic and Non-Profit Events, and Approved 
Temporary Uses 

 Standard Other Requirements 

Area  Max. 6 sq. ft.   

Height Max. 4 feet.  

Placement Private property only. 

Only allowed 1 day prior to an 
event. 

Not in public right-of-way or 
on public property. Shall not 
create a hazard for 
pedestrian or vehicular 
traffic. See Section 10-
50.100.090.B. 

Removal Within 1 day after an event.  

Number of Signs No limit.  

Illumination Not permitted.  

Permitting No Sign Permit required - reviewed as part of Special Event Permit. 

  

The standards in this table have been removed because they are not content neutral 
and new standards for temporary signs consistent with Reed v. Town of Gilbert are 
now being proposed. 

Permitted 



 Sign Standards 

50.100-32  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

4. Temporary On-Premises Business Signs  
Temporary signs related to an on-premises business use shall be allowed, 
subject to the following requirements and limitations: 

a. Applicability 
Temporary business signs shall not be used to continually advertise 
goods, services, or events on a site. Temporary signs shall only be used 
for short term advertising of promotional or seasonal sales events, and for 
a new occupancy or use, grand opening, going-out-of-business, or a 
temporary event such as a farmers market or flea market.  

b. Standards for Specific Temporary Business Signs  
 
Standards for specific types of temporary business signs are established 
in Table F (Standards for Specific Temporary Business Signs). Only one of 
the following temporary business signs may be displayed per 150 linear 
feet of property frontage or part thereof at any one time, and for no 
longer than the maximum time allowed for temporary business signs. 
 

Table 10-50.100.090.F: Standards for Specific Temporary Business Signs (Includes 
Temporary A-Frame, Wall Banner, Vertical Banner, and Temporary Window Signs) 

 Maximum Duration Other Requirements 

New Occupancy or 
Use Sign 

45 consecutive days within the 
first 6 months of establishment 
of a new occupancy or use. 

Max. 1 sign per business. 

May not be combined with a grand opening 
sign. 

Sign to be removed when permanent sign is 
installed. 

Grand Opening Sign 30 consecutive days. Max. 1 sign per business. 

May not be displayed at the same time as a 
new occupancy or use sign. 

Promotional or 
Seasonal Sales Sign1 

 Max. of 1 sign for no more 
than 10 consecutive days, max. 
6 times per calendar year. 

Only 1 permit is required per calendar year. 

Going-Out-of-
Business Sign 

30 consecutive days.  Max. 1 sign per business. 

Sign to be removed when business finally 
closes. 

A-Frame Sign used as 
Secondary Signage 
in a Multi-Tenant 
Shopping Center 

No limitation on the number of 
days they may be used 

Only on the walkway directly in front of the 
store.  

Shall not interfere with pedestrian travel or 
encroach upon a required accessible path. 

Not in public right-of-way, sidewalks, 
parking areas, driveways, or landscape 
areas. 

No Temporary Sign Permit required. 

 



Sign Standards  

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-33 

The standards in this table and the text above it have been deleted because they 
are not content neutral and new standards for temporary signs consistent with 
Reed v. Town of Gilbert are now being proposed. 

D. Types of PortableTemporary Signs (Becomes new #2 – renumber 
subparagraphs) 

1. Portable signs shall comply with the standards provided in Table 
B (Standards for Specific Portable Sign Types). 

c. Wall banners are preferred as the best option for business 
owners desiring to place temporary business signs. Where the 
placement of a wall banner is not practical due to limited visibility 
from a public right-of-way or other constraints a vertical banner 
may be permitted as an alternative to the wall banner.  
 
Staff recommends that wall banners should only be installed for a 
maximum of 30 days and that they should be subject to a permit. They 
are, therefore, not the most desired temporary sign type, and as a result 
this paragraph may be deleted.  

Temporary A-Frame or Upright Signs 
Temporary A-frame signs including upright signs shall comply 
with the standards provided in Table G (Standards for Temporary 
A-Frame or Upright Signs).  
 

 

 

Table 10-50.100.090.B: Standards for Specific Portable Sign Types 

 Standard Other Requirements 

Portable Sign Type1 Height 
(Max.) 

Width 

(Max.) 

Area 

(Max.) 
 

A-Frame or Upright 
Sign 

4’ from 
grade 

3’ 12 sq. ft. Only permitted in non-residential zones. 

Feather or Vertical 
Banner 

8’ from 
grade 

2’ 12 sq. ft. Secure attachment to mounting pole 
required. 

Only permitted in non-residential zones. 

Yard Sign 3’ 2’ 4 sq. ft. Installed securely in the ground. 

Number of Signs See Table 10-50.100.090.A.  

Portable Sign Type1 Height 
(Max.) 

Width 

(Max.) 

Area 

(Max.) 
 

Flags displaying a End -- 24 sq. ft.  Secure attachment to flag pole required. 

Figure B. Upright Sign 
Figure A. Civic or Non-
Profit Event Sign 
Structure  



 Sign Standards 

50.100-34  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This table consolidates all the standards for temporary signs in one place which, therefore, 
eliminates the redundancy in standards and tables found in the current Code. These 
standards also apply to temporary signs regardless of the message displayed on them to 
ensuring consistency with the content neutral standard for temporary signs resulting 
from with Reed v. Town of Gilbert decision. For this reason the standards on the 
following pages that were specific to various temporary sign types are proposed to be 
deleted. Note that flags when used to display a commercial message have been included as 
a permitted temporary sign type. Also, a new type of temporary sign (balloon bobbers) 
has been added as an alternative to inflatable balloons. 

(1)  Vertical Banners 
Temporary vertical banners shall comply with the standards 
provided in Table H (Standards for Temporary Vertical Banners). 
 

commercial 
message 

Note2 Permitted in all zones. 

Wall Banner  -- -- 24 sq. ft. May only be mounted on a building wall or 
on T-posts or stakes installed ≤ 6” from a 
wall on which the temporary wall banner 
sign would be hung. 

Mounting height – max. 25 feet to the top 
of the temporary wall banner sign. 

Only permitted in non-residential zones. 

May only be displayed for 30 days per 
calendar year and shall not be used as 
permanent signs. 

Not included in the total sign area for all 
portable signs. 

Temporary Wall Banner Sign Permit 
required. 

Window Sign -- -- Refer to 
End 

Note3 

Placed no higher than 1st story windows. 

Inside mounting required. 

Not included in the total sign area for all 
portable signs. 

Number of Signs See Table 10-50.100.090.A.  

End Notes 
1 Other portable sign types may be allowed (e.g. fuel pump topper signs wraps around waste 
receptacles, or balloon bobbers) provided the max area limitation for all portable signs is not 
exceeded. 

2  Flag pole height is limited by the allowable building height of the zone in which it is located. Refer to 
the Building Form Standards in Chapter 10-40 (Specific to Zones). 

3 The area of temporary and permanent window signs combined (including signs constructed of 
perforated vinyl or painted on the window) shall not exceed 40% of the area of the window on or 
within which they are displayed.  



Sign Standards  

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-35 

Table 10-50.100.090.H: Standards for Temporary Vertical Banners 

 Standard Other Requirements 

Placement  Private property only at the 
business location. 

Securely fastened to the ground. 

 

Not in public right-of-way or 
on public property. Shall not 
create a hazard for 
pedestrian or vehicular 
traffic. See Section 10-
50.100.090.B. 

Mounting Secure attachment to mounting pole required. 

Hours of use Business hours only. Removal at the close of 
business required. 

Duration of use See Table 10-50.100.090.F.   

Height Max. 10 feet.  Measured from grade to the 
top of the vertical banner. 

Width Max. 2 feet.   

Number of Signs Max. 1 per business.  

Illumination Not permitted.  

Permitting Temporary Sign Permit required.  

Design and construction Professionally crafted.  

 

 

(2) Temporary Wall Banners  
Temporary wall banners are permitted in all commercial and 
industrial zones in compliance with the standards provided in 
Table I (Standards for Temporary Wall Banners). 

Table 10-50.100.090.I: Standards for Temporary Wall Banners 

 Standard Other Requirements 

Placement  Private property only. Not in public right-of-way. 

Not attached to a vehicle. 

Mounting  Attached to a primary structure only, 
and not to any part of a roof or the 
supports for the roof. 

Secure attachment to 
building required. 

Duration of use See Table 10-50.100.090.F.   

Mounting Height Max. 25 feet to top of sign.  

Area Max. 24 sq. ft.  

Number of Signs Max. 1 per business.  

Illumination Not permitted.  

Permitting Temporary Sign Permit required. Wall banners shall not be 

Figure C. A-Frame Sign 



 Sign Standards 

50.100-36  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

used as permanent signs. 

Design and construction Professionally crafted.  
 

 

 

 

 

(4) Window Signs 
Temporary window signs shall comply with the standards 
provided in Table J (Standards for Temporary Window Signs). 

Table 10-50.100.090.J: Standards for Temporary Window Signs 

 Standard Other Requirements 

Sign Area  

 

 

Area of temporary and 
permanent window signs 
combined (including signs 
constructed of perforated vinyl 
or painted on the window) shall 
not exceed 25% of the area of 
the window on or within which 
they are displayed. 

Not included in the total allowable 
sign area. 

Sign Placement No higher than 1st story 
windows.  

Inside mounting preferred. 

Illumination Not permitted. 

Permitting No Sign Permit required.  

 

Temporary New Development/Construction Signs 
Temporary signs announcing new development or construction shall 
comply with the standards provided in Table K (Standards for 
Temporary New Development/Construction Signs). 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Table 10-50.100.090.K: Standards for Temporary  New Development/Construction 
Signs 

Sign Area  Max. 32 sq. ft.   

Sign Placement Max. 1 sign per street frontage. 

Only on the site where the new 
development is proposed. 

Only after Site Plan Approval has 
been granted. 

Sign Removal Prior to issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy. 

Illumination Not permitted. 

Permitting No Sign Permit required.   

Figure D. Temporary Vertical Banner 



Sign Standards  

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-37 

5.3. Sign Walkers (Becomes a new Subsection #4) 
This Subsection provides time, place and manner restrictions pertaining 
to sign walkers, i.e. a person who holds a sign to convey a commercial 
message,  are allowed, subject to the following standards: 

a. Sign walkers shall only be allowed in commercial and industrial 
zones, and Transect Zones T5 and T6;  

b. Sign walkers shall only be located on the premises of the business 
they are advertising private property with the property owner’s or 
property manager’s written approval, or only on a public sidewalk, or 
walkway or pedestrian thoroughfare immediately adjacent to the  
property for which the use, activity, business premises, sale, or 
advertising is being conducted;  

c. Sign walkers shall not be located within a minimum of 30 feet from a 
street or driveway intersection measured from the back of the curb or 
edge of pavement if no curb exists, and are shall not permittedbe 
located in any of the following locations:  

(1) On any public property or within any public right-of-way except 
as specified in paragraph b.;In parking aisles or stalls; 

(2) In driving lanes; or 

(3) On fences, walls, boulders, planters, other signs, vehicles, utility 
facilities or any other structure. 

(4) Within 30 feet from any other sign walker; or, 

(5) In a manner that results in sign walkers physically interacting 
with motorists, pedestrians, or bicyclists; 

d. Sign walkers may not interfere with traffic or block pedestrians or 
bicyclists. 

d.e. Sign walkers are only permitted to advertise during shall be limited to 
the hours of operation of the business they are advertising;  

e.f. Sign walker signs shall not exceed eight square feet in area;, shall not 
exceed eight feet in height when held; or in place, and shall be 
professionally crafted; 

f.g. Sign walker signs that include any of the following are prohibited:  

(1) Any form of illumination, including flashing, blinking or rotating 
lights; 

(2) Animation on the sign itself; or 



 Sign Standards 

50.100-38  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

(3) Spinning, waving, throwing the sign in the air or any other such 
erratic movement intended to attract attention. 

g.h. No Sign Permit is required for a sign walkers. 
 
The amendments proposed in this Subsection are intended to clarify and 
improve the former standards. No new standards are proposed. 

10-50.100.100 Sign Districts of Special Designation 

A. Flagstaff Central District 

5. Standards 

 b. Freestanding Signs 
Two styles of freestanding signs are permitted within the Flagstaff 
Central District: either a low profile freestanding sign, or a 
freestanding suspended sign, either of which may also be used as a 
Neighborhood or District Sign. The standards provided in Table D 
(Standards for Freestanding Signs in Flagstaff Central District) shall 
apply.  

Table 10-50.100.100.D: Standards for Freestanding Signs in Flagstaff Central District 

 Standard Other Requirements 

Area1 Height 

Low Profile Freestanding Sign 
– Single Tenant Use 

24 sq. ft. 6 feet Shall be mounted on 2 poles placed at the 
outermost sides of the sign face, or on a 
low profile sign base. 

Low Profile Freestanding Sign 
– Multiple Tenant Use 

32 sq. ft. 8 feet Shall be mounted on 2 poles placed at the 
outermost sides of the sign face, or on a 
low profile sign base. 

Freestanding Suspended Sign  18 sq. ft. 10 feet to 
top of 
sign pole 

Sign structure shall consist of a vertical pole 
and horizontal decorative sign support, 
and shall be constructed of wood or 
metal. 

Number of Signs 1 sign permitted per business. 

Illumination See Section                
10-50.100.050.C. 

Externally illuminated with down-directed 
and shielded fixtures only.  

Neighborhood or District Sign shall not be 
illuminated. 

Permitting Sign Permit is required.  

End Note: 
1 The area of a Neighborhood or District Sign shall not be counted against the permitted sign area 
applicable to the use(s) existing on the property where the Neighborhood or District Sign will be 
erected. 



Sign Standards  

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-39 

The Neighborhood or District Signs standards formerly located within Section 10-
50.100.020.D (Exemptions) have been moved to this table. The reasons for this are to 
reduce the number of exempt signs as much as possible and because a Neighborhood 
or District Sign would only be installed within the Flagstaff Central District where 
the historic districts in the City are located. Furthermore, the standards for 
freestanding signs in this district match those for a Neighborhood or District Sign. 
Under the current code these signs were permitted in the public right-of-way. As 
they are not considered government signs, and the amendments are set up to prohibit 
any signs except government signs or those required by law in a public right-of-way, 
they must be placed on private property. The new End Note is intended to ensure 
that the property owner where the Neighborhood or District Sign will be placed may 
also have freestanding signage to advertise their business. 

B. Downtown Historic District  

5. PortableTemporary Signs 
PortableTemporary signs proposed within the Downtown Historic 
District shall comply with the standards established in Section 10-
50.100.090 (PortableTemporary Signs), except as provided below: 

a. No A-frame, upright signs, or feather vertical banners shall be 
permitted in the Downtown Historic District. 

This amendment would allow A-frame and Upright Signs in the Downtown Historic District but 
would continue to preclude the use of feather vertical banners which are more appropriate in 
suburban areas of the City with greater traffic speed and volume. 

b. Temporary stanchion signs shall comply with the standards provided 
in Table 10.50.100.100.E (Standards for Temporary Stanchion Signs).  
 

Table 10-50.100.100.E: Standards for Temporary Stanchion Signs 

 Standard Other Requirements 

Placement  Only within the Downtown 
Historic District. 

Only within the amenity zone 
on the sidewalk directly in 
front of the store.  

Hours of use Business hours only. 

 

Removal at the close of 
business required. 

Height Max. 4 feet.   

Width Max. 12 inches.   

Number of Signs Max. 1 per business.  

Illumination Not permitted.  

Permitting No Sign Permit required.  

Design and construction Professionally crafted. 

Shall be compatible with the architectural character of the 
Downtown District. 



 Sign Standards 

50.100-40  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

 

 

 

The standards in this table have been deleted because they are not content neutral 
and new standards for temporary signs consistent with Reed v. Town of Gilbert are 
now being proposed. These amendments explicitly state that no temporary signs may 
be placed in City right-of-way regardless of what message they may be conveying. 

 F. Flagstaff Sign Free Zone 

  1. Purpose  
This Section establishes a commercial tourism, commercial resort and hotel sign-
free zone pursuant to A.R.S. §16-1019. 

  2. Applicability 
The Flagstaff Sign Free Zone illustrated on Map 10-90.40.010 (Flagstaff Sign Free 
Zone) has been determined based on the location of a predominance of 
commercial tourism, resort and hotel uses within the Zone.  

  3. Standards 

   a. Within the Flagstaff Sign Free Zone all portable signs, including political 
signs, are prohibited within the public rights-of-way as they detract from the 
scenic and aesthetic appeal of the area adjacent to the Zone and deter its 
appeal to tourists. However, portable signs are permitted on private property 
adjacent to the Flagstaff Sign Free Zone.  

   b. The Director may remove or cause to be removed any portable sign erected 
or displayed in the public right-of-way in the Flagstaff Sign Free Zone. 

C.   Arizona Revised Statutes (A.R.S. §6-1019) allow municipalities to establish up to two 
sign free zones the total area of which is limited to a maximum of three square miles. 
These sign free zones must however, be based on a determination that “the municipality 
has determined that based on a predominance of commercial tourism, resort and hotel 
uses within the zone the placement of political signs within the rights‐of‐way in the zone 
will detract from the scenic and aesthetic appeal of the area within the zone and deter 
its appeal to tourists”. Staff has created a Flagstaff Sign Free Zone Map (attached) to be 
inserted in Chapter 10-90 (Maps). The sign free zone includes City and state rights-of-
way (note that no temporary signs may be placed within ADOT right-of-way) in areas of 
the City where there are a predominance of hotels and resorts. This includes parts of West 
Route 66 and Woodlands Village Boulevard, S. Milton Road, East Route 66, parts of the 
downtown and Southside, and portions of Soliere Avenue and Country Club Drive. 
Within this sign free zone no temporary signs, regardless of the message conveyed, will 
be permitted.   

Figure E. Temporary Wall 
Banner 



Sign Standards  

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-41 

10-50.100.110 Nonconforming Signs  

   [No amendments are proposed in this Section.] 

10-50.100.120 Enforcement  

 A. It shall be unlawful for any person, firm or corporation to erect, construct, 
enlarge, alter, repair, display, maintain or use a sign within the City contrary 
to, or in violation of, any provision of this Division. The requirements of this 
Division shall be enforced in compliance with the enforcement provisions of 
Division 10-20.110 (Enforcement). 

 B. The Director may remove or cause to be removed any portable sign erected 
or displayed upon a public sidewalk, walkway or pedestrian thoroughfare 
within public right-of-way or within a clear view zone that creates a hazard 
to pedestrian or vehicular traffic.   
 
This text has been moved from the former Location Restrictions standards (Section 
10-50.100.040.A) to the Enforcement Section where it is more appropriately located. 

10-50.100.130 Appeals 

  [No amendments are proposed in this Section.] 

10-50.100.140   Severability 

[No amendments are proposed in this Section.] 

 

 

  



 Sign Standards 

50.100-42  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

Needed Amendments to Other Chapters of the Zoning Code: 
 
Chapter 10-20 Administration, Procedures, and Enforcement: 
Division 10-20.40 Permits and Approvals 
Section 10-20.40.130 Sign Permits – Temporary Signs 

A.  Purpose 
This Section establishes the permitting requirements for temporary wall banner signs as 
described in Section 10-50.100.0970 (PortableTemporary Signs) to ensure compliance with 
the applicable provisions of this Zoning Code. 

 
B.  Sign Permit Requirement 
 

 1.  Except as provided in Section 10-50.100.020 (Applicability), iIt shall be unlawful for any 
person to erect, place, display, alter, repair, maintain or relocate a temporary wall 
banner sign without first obtaining approval for a Temporary Wall Banner Sign Permit 
from the Director. 

 
2.  A Temporary Sign Permit is not required to place a civic or non-profit event sign on the 

City’s approved civic or non-profit event support structures as described in Section 10-
50.100.090.C.1. However, a reservation for the use of these support structures may be 
submitted to the Director up to three-months in advance of an event, approval of which 
shall be granted on a first come, first served basis. 

 
The amendment in paragraph #1. explicitly requires a Temporary Sign Permit for wall banners. 
The text in paragraph #2. has been deleted as it is redundant and is already included in Table 10-
50.100.090.C (Standards for Temporary Off-Premise Signs on Civic and Non-Profit Event Signs on 
City Approved Sign Support Structures). 

 
C.  Duration of Temporary Wall Banner Sign Permit 

The Temporary Wall Banner Sign Permit will be valid for 30 days the use for which it has 
been issued and for the duration established for each temporary sign type in Table 10-
50.100.090.C (Standards for Specific Temporary Business Signs) beginning with the date of 
issuance. 

 
D.  Review and Approval 

1.  Application 
a.  An application for a Temporary Wall Banner Sign Permit for a business located in a 

multi-tenant development or shopping center shall be made by the property 
manager or property owner as the applicant on behalf of a business(s) requesting a 
Temporary Wall Banner Sign Permit for temporary wall banner signa seasonal or 
promotional sales event. A business owner who is also the property owner (e.g. in a 
single-tenant building) is considered the applicant for the purposes of this Section, 
and may submit an application for a Temporary Wall Banner Sign Permit for the 
business. 

 
b.  No more than one temporary wall banner sign per 150 linear feet of property 

frontage or part thereof shall be permitted at any one time. The property manager or 



Sign Standards  

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-43 

property owner shall be responsible for determining which of the tenants in a multi-
tenant development or shopping center willould be entitled to a temporary wall 
banner sign in accordance with this Section. 

 
2.  Review 

The Director shall review the Temporary Wall Banner Sign Permit application and 
supporting documentation required by Section 10-20.30.020 (Application Process) for 
compliance with the standards of Section 10-50.100.0970 (Portable Temporary Signs). 

 
3.  Determination 

The Director in compliance with the Review Schedule on file with the Planning Section shall 
determine whether the Temporary Wall Banner Sign Permit may be issued or if additional 
information is required from the applicant to complete the permit application. If the 
Temporary Wall Banner Sign Permit application is denied, the reason will shall be stated in 
writing. 

 
4.  Authorization 

Issuance of a Temporary Wall Banner Sign Permit authorizes the holder to install a 
temporary wall banner sign(s) in compliance with the terms of the permit. At any time after 
a Temporary Wall Banner Sign Permit is issued, a new owner, tenant or lessee of record, 
may be substituted for the original applicant, if a record of the new interest is made with the 
City and the new interest assumes all obligations he or she would have had in compliance 
with the original permit. The change of interest shall not imply that any fees paid for the 
permit will be returned to either the interest which has been replaced or the substitute. 

 
E.  Inspections 

1.  All wall bannerssigns for which a Temporary Wall Banner Sign Permit is required are 
subject to inspection to establish compliance with the provisions of Section 10-50.100.0970 
(Portable Temporary Signs), and any other applicable City codes.  

 
2.  A re-inspection fee (See Appendix 2 (Planning Fee Schedule)) willshall be charged if more 

than one inspection is made to determine compliance after issuance of a correction notice for 
an improperly displayed portabletemporary sign, or after issuance of any notice of 
violation. No fees will shall be charged for an inspection establishing that a violation exists, 
or for the first inspection following the issuance of a notice of violation. The re-inspection 
charge willshall be imposed if any subsequent inspection is required to determine 
compliance. 

 
F.  Violations 

Any temporary wall banner signs installed or displayed without a Temporary Wall Banner Sign 
Permit are in violation of this Division and will beis grounds for the Director to issue a 
correction notice and/or to cause removal of the portabletemporary sign until appropriate 
permits are obtained. 
 
(Section 10-20.40.130 amended by Ord. 2014-27, adopted Nov. 18, 2014) 

 
Renumber all following Sections and check cross-references. 



 Sign Standards 

50.100-44  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

 
Chapter 10-80 Definitions: 
Division 10-80.20 Definition of Specialized Terms, Phrases, and Building Functions 
 
Section 10-80.20.010. Definitions, “A.” 
 ADOT: Arizona Department of Transportation. 
 
Section 10-80.20.160. Definitions, “P.” 
 Parkway: The area between the back of a curb and a sidewalk that is usually landscaped. 
 
 This term is used in the Zoning Code, and thus a definition to clarify its meaning is proposed. 
 
Section 10-80.20.190 Definitions, “S.” 
 

Sign: A structure, device, figure, display, message placard or other contrivance, or any part 
thereof, situated outdoors or indoors, which is designed, constructed, intended or used to 
advertise, provide information in the nature of advertising, provide historical, cultural, 
archeological, ideological, political, or social information, or direct or attract attention to an 
object, person, institution, business, product, service, message, event, or location by any 
means, including words, letters, figures, designs, symbols, fixtures, colors, or illumination, 
or projected images.  
 

 This amendment clarifies and expands the definition of a sign. 
 
Sign, Balloon Bobber: A reusable pre-formed balloon filled with regular air made of a 
durable PVC vinyl that does not need to be inflated, and typically attached to a short pole. 
 
This amendment ensures that the new term “balloon bobber” is defined. 
 
Sign, Temporary Directional: A temporary sign which is designed and erected to serve as a 
public convenience in directing pedestrian and vehicular traffic to approved temporary 
uses, City Special Events, or City Recreation Events, and not used for the purpose of 
advertising goods, uses, and activities on site. 
 
Sign, Menu Display Board: A sign advertising the menus for a restaurant, bar, or lounge. 
 
Sign, Permanent: A sign constructed of durable materials and intended to exist for the 
duration of time that the use or occupant is located on the premises. 
 
Sign, Portable: A sign that is capable of being moved and not designed to be permanently 
attached to a building or permanently anchored to the ground that is constructed of paper, 
cloth, canvas, light fabric, cardboard, plywood, light plastic or other similar materials. 
 
Sign, Post: A sign mounted on either a single post or two or more posts as illustrated below. 
 

 This term is used in the Zoning Code, and thus a definition to clarify its meaning is proposed. 
 
 



Sign Standards  

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-45 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Sign, Real Estate: A sign pertaining to the sale, or lease of the premises, or a portion of the 
premises, on which the sign is located. 
 
Sign, Real Estate Directional: A temporary sign used to direct traffic to a real estate sale 
such as an open house or auction. 
 
Sign, Stanchion: A temporary narrow upright sign that is easily moved used for advertising 
purposes. 
 
Sign, Temporary: Any sign advertising an event, special promotion, or sale for a limited 
period of time that is constructed of paper, cloth, canvas, light fabric, wallboard, light plastic 
or other light, non-rigid, flimsy material. 
 
Sign, Temporary A-Frame: A temporary portable, and self-
supporting "sandwich board" sign used for advertising 
purposes, constructed in such a manner as to form an “A” or a 
tent-like shape, hinged or not hinged at the top. (Syn. 
Sandwich Board Sign). 
 
These amendments clarify the definitions of a temporary signs and an 
A-Frame sign. 
 
Sign, Temporary Directional: A temporary sign which is designed and erected to serve as a 
public convenience in directing pedestrian and vehicular traffic to approved temporary 
uses, City Special Events, or City Recreation Events, and not used for the purpose of 
advertising goods, uses, and activities on site. 
 
Sign, Temporary Events: A sign associated with a temporary use authorized by a 
Temporary Use Permit. 

Sign, Temporary New Development/Construction: A temporary sign used to identify a 
future development that is, or will be, under construction. 
 
 
 

Sign 

Message 

Here 

Sign Message Here 



 Sign Standards 

50.100-46  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

Sign, Temporary Upright: A portabletemporary sign that may be 
used in lieu of an A-frame sign for advertising purposes, 
constructed to be taller than it is wide, which may beand mounted 
on a weighted base or similar support.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Sign, Temporary Feather or Vertical Banner: A portabletemporary sign type typically 
constructed of cloth, bunting, plastic, paper or similar non-rigid material, used for 
advertising purposes, and attached to a vertically mounted pole that is securely fastened to 
the ground.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Sign, Temporary Wall Banner: A portable temporary sign type constructed of cloth, 
bunting, plastic, paper or similar non-rigid material, used for advertising purposes, and 
securely attached to the wall or support primary structure for which it is advertising., not 
including official flags  Flags are not considered temporary wall bannersof the United 
States, the state of Arizona, and other states of the nation, counties, municipalities and 
official flags of foreign nations. 
 
Sign, Temporary Yard: A small portable sign used for advertising 
by local businesses that are also popular in election campaigns, 
typically constructed of corrugated plastic and supported on an H-
shaped wire frame (Syn: Lawn Sign). 
 
This term is used in the Zoning Code, and thus a definition to clarify its 
meaning is proposed. 
 
 
 
 

SIGN 

MESSAGE HERE 



Sign Standards  

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-47 

Chapter 10-90 Maps: 
Division 10-90.40 Subject Specific Maps 
 
Section 10-90.40.010 Flagstaff Sign Free Zone Map 

Insert this new map on new Page 90.50-1. 
 



Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-1 

Division 10-50.100: Sign Standards 

Sections: 

10-50.100.010 Purpose 
10-50.100.020 Applicability 
10-50.100.030 Sign Permit Requirements 
10-50.100.040 General Restrictions for All Signs 
10-50.100.050 General Requirements for All Signs 
10-50.100.060 Permanent Signs 
10-50.100.070 Comprehensive Sign Programs 
10-50.100.080 Sign Design Performance Standards 
10-50.100.090 Temporary Signs 
10-50.100.100 Sign Districts of Special Designation 
10-50.100.110 Nonconforming Signs 
10-50.100.120 Enforcement 
10-50.100.130 Appeals 
10-50.100.140   Severability 

 
(Entire Division amended by Ord. 2014-27, adopted November 18, 2014)   

10-50.100.010 Purpose  

A. The Council finds that the natural surroundings, climate, history, and people 
of the City provide the Flagstaff community with its unique charm and 
beauty. This Division has been adopted to ensure that all signs installed in 
the City are compatible with the unique character and environment of the 
community, and in compliance with the General Plan. 

B. The purpose of this Division is to promote public health, safety, and welfare 
through a comprehensive system of reasonable, effective, consistent, content-
neutral, and nondiscriminatory sign standards and requirements, including 
the following specific purposes:  

1. To promote and accomplish the goals, policies, and objectives of the 
General Plan; 

2. To balance public and private objectives by allowing adequate avenues 
for both commercial and non-commercial messages; 

3. To recognize free speech rights by regulating signs in a content-neutral 
manner;   

4. To improve pedestrian and traffic safety by promoting the free flow of 
traffic and the protection of pedestrians and motorists from injury and 
property damage caused by, or which may be fully or partially 
attributable to, cluttered, distracting, and/or illegible signage; 



10-50.100.010 Sign Standards 

50.100-2  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

5. To protect the aesthetic beauty of the City’s natural and built 
environment for the citizens of and visitors to the City, and to protect 
prominent view sheds within the community; 

6. To prevent property damage, personal injury, and litter from signs which 
are improperly constructed, poorly maintained, or made of flimsy 
materials; 

7. To protect property values, the local economy, and the quality of life by 
preserving and enhancing the appearance of the streetscape; and 

8. To provide consistent sign design standards that enables the fair and 
consistent enforcement of these sign regulations. 

C. A summary of sign types addressed within this Division are listed in Table A 
(Sign Types). Table A also identifies the permitted uses of each sign type and 
whether it may be located in a walkable urban environment (Urban) or 
drivable suburban environment (Suburban), or both, as further defined and 
explained in the Preamble to this Zoning Code. 

Table 10-50.100.010.A: Sign Types 

Sign Type and Description Urban Sub-
urban Uses  Permit? Zoning Code 

Section 

Permanent Signs (See Table 10-50.100.060.A (Standards for Permanent Signs by Use)) 

Awning Sign 
P P 

SFR COM 
Yes 10-50.100. 

060.C.4.b.(1) MFR IND 

Building Identification Sign 
P -- 

SFR COM 
Yes 10-50.100. 

100.A.5.a.(3) MFR IND 

Building Mounted Sign 
P P 

SFR COM 
Yes/No1 10-50.100. 

060.C.4.b.(2) MFR IND 

Canopy Sign 
P P 

SFR COM 
Yes 10-50.100. 

060.C.4.b.(3) MFR IND 

Changeable Copy Sign 
P P 

SFR COM 
Yes 10-50.100. 

060.C.4.b.(4) MFR IND 

Directional Sign 
-- P 

SFR COM 
Yes 10-50.100. 

060.C.4.b.(5) MFR IND 

Directory Sign 
P2 P 

SFR COM 
Yes 10-50.100. 

060.C.4.b.(6) MFR IND 

Freestanding Sign 
 P2 P 

SFR COM 
Yes 10-50.100. 

060.C.4.b.(7) MFR IND 

Interpretative Sign P P 
SFR COM 

Yes 10-50.100. 
060.C.4.b.(8) MFR IND 

Landscape Wall Sign 
P2 P 

SFR COM 
Yes 

10-50.100. 
060.C.4.b.(9) 

 MFR IND 



Sign Standards 10-50.100.010 

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-3 

Table 10-50.100.010.A: Sign Types 

Sign Type and Description Urban Sub-
urban Uses1  Permit? Zoning Code 

Section 

Permanent Signs (See Table 10-50.100.060.A (Standards for Permanent Signs by Use)) 

Painted Wall Sign 
P P 

SFR COM 
Yes Table 

10.50.100.060.C MFR IND 

Projecting Sign 
P2 P 

SFR COM 
Yes 10-50.100. 

060.C.4.b.(10) MFR IND 

Roof Mounted Sign 
-- P 

SFR COM 
Yes 10.50.100. 

060.C.4.b.(11) MFR IND 

Service Island Canopy Sign 
-- P 

SFR COM 
Yes 10-50.100. 

060.C.4.b.(12) MFR IND 

Suspended Sign 
P P 

SFR COM 
Yes 10-50.100. 

060.C.4.b.(13) MFR IND 

Window Sign 
P P 

SFR COM 
Yes 10-50.100. 

060.C.4.b.(14) MFR IND 

Temporary Signs (See Section 10-50.100.090. (Temporary Signs)) 

Sign Walker 
P P 

SFR COM 
No 10.50.100.090.C.6 

MFR IND 

Temporary A-frame Sign 
P3 P 

SFR COM 
Yes/No4 10.50.100. 

090.C.4.c.(1) MFR IND 

Temporary Civic or Non-
Profit Event Sign P P 

SFR COM 
No 10.50.100.090.C.2 

MFR IND 

Temporary Directional Signs 
for Special Events, Recreation 
Events, and Approved 
Temporary Uses  

P P 

SFR COM 

No 10.50.100.090.C.3 
MFR IND 

Temporary New 
Development/ Construction 
Sign 

P P 
SFR COM 

No 10-50.100. 090.C.5 
MFR IND 

Temporary Sign for Approved 
Temporary Uses P P 

SFR COM 
No 10.50.100.090.C.1 

MFR IND 

Temporary Stanchion Sign 
P -- 

SFR COM 
No 10.50.100.100.B.5.b 

MFR IND 

Temporary Upright Sign: 
P3 P 

SFR COM 
Yes/No4 10.50.100. 

090.C.4.c.(1) MFR IND 

Temporary Vertical Banner 
-- P 

SFR COM 
Yes 10.50.100. 

090.C.4.c.(2) MFR IND 

Temporary Wall Banner 
P P 

SFR COM 
Yes 10.50.100. 

090.C.4.c.(3) MFR IND 

Temporary Window Sign 
P P 

SFR COM 
No 10.50.100. 

090.C.4.c.(4) MFR IND 
 



10-50.100.020 Sign Standards 

50.100-4  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

End Notes 
1 Except detached single-family dwellings and duplexes. 
2 This sign type is only allowed in accordance with the provisions of Section 10-50.100.100.A (Flagstaff 
Central District). 
3 Except, this sign type is not permitted in the Downtown Historic District (Section 10-50.100.100.B). 
4 See Section 10.50.100.090.C.4.c.(1) 

Key 
XXX Allowed XXX Not Allowed 
P          Sign type is permitted within the area type identified in this table. 
-- ....     Sign type is not  permitted within the area type identified in this table 
SFR = Single-family Residential; MFR – Multi-family Residential; COM = Commercial; and IND = 
Industrial 

10-50.100.020 Applicability 

A. Applicability 

1. This Division applies to all signs within the City, regardless of nature or 
location.  Three levels of review standards are established in this 
Division, some or all of which may be applied to the sign depending on 
its proposed location within the City: 

a. All signs within the City of Flagstaff shall be reviewed based on the 
standards established in this Division, with the exception of Sections 
10-50.100.100.A (Flagstaff Central District) and 10-50.100.100.B 
(Downtown Historic District); 

b. Signs in the Flagstaff Central District are reviewed based on the 
standards established in Section 10-50.100.100.A (Flagstaff Central 
District) in keeping with the urban character and scale of this district 
as well as the standards and requirements otherwise established in 
this Division; and 

c. Signs in the Downtown Historic District have the highest standards of 
review in keeping with the historic character and urban scale of this 
district. The standards in Section 10-50.100.100.B (Downtown Historic 
District) shall be applied in addition to the standards established for 
the Flagstaff Central District as well as the standards and 
requirements otherwise established in this Division. 
 
 

 

 

 

 



Sign Standards 10-50.100.020 

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-5 

 

 

2. Applicable to Transect Zones 
Signs proposed in the transect zones shall comply with the standards 
established in the following Sections: 

a. Transect Zone T6: Section 10-50.100.100.A (Flagstaff Central District) 
and Section 10-50.100.100.B (Downtown Historic District). 

b. Transect Zone T5 and T5-O: Section 10-50.100.100.A (Flagstaff Central 
District) and Section 10-50.100.100.B (Downtown Historic District), 
where applicable. 

c. Transect Zone T4N.1 and T4N.1-O: Section 10-50.100.100.A (Flagstaff 
Central District). 

d. Transect Zone T3N.1: Section 10-50.100.100.A (Flagstaff Central 
District). 

B. Interpretations  
This Division is not intended to, and does not restrict speech on the basis of 
its content, viewpoint, or message. Any classification of signs in this Division 
that permits speech by reason of the type of sign, identity of the sign user, or 
otherwise, shall also be interpreted to allow non-commercial speech on the 
sign. No part of this Division shall be construed to favor commercial speech 
over non-commercial speech. To the extent any provision of this Division is 

Figure A. Map Showing the Relationship Between the Standards applied in the 
Downtown Historic District, Flagstaff Central District, and the City as a Whole 



10-50.100.020 Sign Standards 

50.100-6  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

ambiguous, the term shall be interpreted not to regulate on the basis of the 
content of the message. 

C. Summary of Incentives 
A summary of the incentives applicable to the permanent signs permitted in 
this Division is provided in Table A (Summary of Incentives Applicable to 
Permanent Signs). 

Table 10-50.100.020.A: Summary of Incentives Applicable to Permanent Signs 

Sign Type Description Section or Table  

Neon signs Neon lighting is not included within 
total outdoor light output limits. 

10-50.100.050.C.3.a 

Building mounted signs If painted on a building wall, allowable 
sign area is increased by 10%. 

Table 
10-50.100.060.C 

Building mounted signs If 1or more freestanding signs are not 
utilized, additional building mounted 
signage is permitted. 

Table 
10-50.100.060.C 

Corner signs Additional sign area is permitted if a 
sign is associated with a corner 
entrance to a building. 

Table 
10-50.100.060.C 

Directory signs If ≤ 16 sq. ft. in area, not included in 
total allowable sign area for the use. 

Table  
10-50.100.060.G 

Freestanding signs Name of the shopping center or 
development is not included in the 
area or height limit for the sign. 

Table  
10-50.100.060.H 

Freestanding signs – corner 
location 

If 1freestanding sign is proposed where 
2 signs are permitted, the allowable 
sign area may be increased to a max. of 
35%. 

Table  
10-50.100.060.H 

Suspended signs If ≤ 4 sq. ft. in area, not included in 
total allowable sign area for the use. 

Table  
10-50.100.060.N 

Comprehensive Sign 
Program and Sign Design 
Performance Standards 

Allows for increases in sign area and 
height for building mounted and 
freestanding signs. 

10-50.100.070  
and -080 

Nonconforming signs Includes an incentive to replace a 
nonconforming sign with a new sign 
that is closer in conformance with 
applicable standards. 

10-20.60.110.B.3 

   

D. Exemptions   
Unless specifically provided within this Division, the provisions of this 
Division do not apply to:  
 
 



Sign Standards 10-50.100.020 

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-7 

1. Building Identification Signs  
Building identification signs not exceeding one square feet in area are 
permitted for residential buildings and two square feet in area for non 
residential buildings. 

2. Business Name and Address on an Entry Door 
Name of a business, address information, and/or contact information 
displayed on an entry door, not to exceed two square feet in area. Sign 
shall not include any commercial advertising. 

3. Community Bulletin Board 
A maximum of one community bulletin board per property is allowed. If 
the community bulletin board is erected in public right-of-way or in a 
public space, or on private property a maximum of one community 
bulletin board per block is allowed. The maximum size of a community 
bulletin board shall be 32 square feet. Signs posted on a community 
bulletin board shall not exceed a dimension of 11 x 17 inches. 

4. Display Board for Daily Specials 
Display board such as a white board, chalk board, or black board, on 
which daily specials are advertised. The display board may be mounted 
on an easel or similar support structure, or the wall of a building, and 
measure up to four square feet in area, provided it is not located within a 
public right-of-way and is not a hazard to pedestrians. 

5. Flags 
Official flags of national, state, or local governments, and any other flag 
adopted or sanctioned by an elected legislative body of competent 
jurisdiction. The length of the flag shall not exceed one-fourth the height 
of the flag pole.  No more than three flags shall be displayed per lot or 
parcel. Flags shall be mounted on a single flagpole, or three separate 
flagpoles installed either on the building or adjacent to a building or use. 
No flag bearing an explicit commercial message shall be considered an 
exempt flag. 

6. Governmental Signs  
Signs installed by the City, County, or a Federal or State governmental 
agency for the protection of public health, safety, and general welfare, 
including, but not limited to, the following:  

a. Emergency and warning signs necessary for public safety or civil 
defense; 

b. Traffic signs erected and maintained by an authorized public agency; 

c. Signs required to be displayed by law; 

d. Signs showing the location of public facilities; 



10-50.100.020 Sign Standards 

50.100-8  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

e. Signs advertising temporary events organized by the Flagstaff Unified 
School District and its schools, charter schools, Northern Arizona 
University, Coconino Community College, Coconino County, or the 
City, provided no more than one sign is displayed on any business 
premises. The signs shall be no larger than 24 square feet in area, 
mounted no more than six feet in height on a wall or similar surface 
(signs mounted on stakes are not permitted), installed a maximum of 
seven days before an event, and removed no more than one day after 
the event. Illuminated signs are not permitted. The location 
restrictions listed in Section 10-50.100.040.A below shall apply to all 
signs falling under this exemption, except for paragraphs 6 and 9; and 

f. Any sign, posting, notice, or similar sign placed by or required by a 
governmental agency in carrying out its responsibility to protect the 
public health, safety, and general welfare. 

7. Heritage Signs in Landmark Zones    
Heritage signs shall be governed by the ordinance designating the 
Landmark Overlay and its related guidelines (Refer to Division 10-30.30 
(Heritage Preservation)). 

8. Historic and Architectural Features  
Historical plaques erected and maintained by non-profit organizations, 
memorials, building cornerstones, and date-constructed stones; provided 
that none of these exceed four square feet in area. 

9. Internal Signs and Signs within City Recreation Facilities 
Signs or displays located entirely inside of a building, signs not visible 
beyond the boundaries of the lot or parcel upon which they are located or 
from any public right-of-way, and temporary signs located within City 
Recreation Facilities. 

10. Neighborhood or District Sign 
Signs used to identify a unique neighborhood or district. Such signs may 
be placed in a public right-of-way with approval of a Right-of-Way 
Encroachment Permit (See City Code Section 8-03-002-0005 (Other 
Permitted Encroachments)), provided such signs are not illuminated, and 
no larger than 20 square feet in area and eight feet in height.  

11. Nonstructural Modifications and Maintenance 

a. Changes to the face or copy of changeable copy signs;  

b. Changes to the face or copy of an existing multi-tenant freestanding 
non-illuminated sign from one business to another with no structural 
or lighting modifications to the sign; and 

c. The normal repair and maintenance of conforming or legal non-
conforming signs, except as identified in Section 10-50.100.050.E. 



Sign Standards 10-50.100.020 

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-9 

12. Political Signs 
Political signs are permitted in compliance with ARS § 16-1019. 

13. Real Estate Signs 

a. All Residential Zones.  

(1) One real estate sign per street frontage is permitted. Signs must be 
non-illuminated, constructed of durable materials, placed only on 
the property for sale, rent, or lease, be no more than six feet in 
height, and be no larger than eight square feet in area in single-
family residential zones and no larger than 12 square feet in area 
in multi-family residential zones.  

(2) Open house/auction directional signs are permitted within one 
mile of the residence as measured along the streets used to drive 
to it. Such signs must be no larger than four square feet in area, a 
maximum of three feet in height, and only one sign is allowed for 
each turning movement beginning at the residence for sale. Signs 
may be placed in a public right way or on off-site private property 
for the duration of the open house only while a sales person is 
present, provided such signs do not constitute a hazard to 
pedestrians or vehicular traffic, are not placed on medians, and 
they are removed no later than one hour after the conclusion of 
the open house. 

b. All Commercial, Industrial, and Non-residential Zones:  One real 
estate sign per street frontage is permitted. Signs must be non-
illuminated, constructed of durable materials, placed only on the 
property for sale, rent, or lease, be no more than six feet in height, and 
be no larger than 24 square feet in area. 

14. Seasonal Decorations 
Temporary, non-commercial decorations or displays that are incidental to 
and commonly associated with national, local, or religious celebration, 
provided that such decorations and displays are only displayed during 
the appropriate time of year, are maintained in an attractive condition, 
and do not constitute a fire hazard. 

15. Signs Required by Law 

16. Street Light Banner Sign 
Street light banner signs as permitted by the City on light poles in certain 
areas within the City. 

17. Vehicle Signs 
Signs indicating the name of the owner or business that are permanently 
painted or wrapped on the surface of a vehicle, adhesive vinyl film 
affixed to the interior or exterior surface of a vehicle window, or signs 
magnetically attached to a vehicle or rolling stock, so long as the vehicle 



10-50.100.030 Sign Standards 

50.100-10  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

is being regularly and consistently used in the normal daily conduct of 
the business, e.g., when a company vehicle is being used for transporting 
and delivering goods or providing services related to the business (see 
also Section 10-50.100.040.A.7).  

18. Vending Machine and Similar Facilities 
Signs that consitute an integral part of a vending machine  or similar 
facilities located outside of a business. Such signs are included in the total 
allowable building mounted sign area. 

19. Yard or Garage Sale Signs 
Signs advertising a yard or garage sale, provided they are not displayed 
more than one day prior to the yard or garage sale and removed when 
the sale has concluded. 

10-50.100.030 Sign Permit Requirements 

A. The procedures for submittal, review and approval of Permanent and 
Temporary Sign Permits, including any required fees, are provided in Section 
10-20.40.120 (Sign Permit - Permanent Signs) and Section 10-20.40.130 (Sign 
Permit - Temporary Signs), except that signs associated with and/or 
advertising a special event on City property shall be approved as part of the 
Special Event Permit from the City. All signs not approved in the Special 
Event Permit are prohibited.   

B. No Sign Permit shall be required for a sign on property used exclusively for a 
single-family residence or duplex that complies with this Division and is 
limited to one sign per street frontage.   

10-50.100.040 General Restrictions for All Signs 

A. Location Restrictions  
Except where specifically authorized in this Division, signs are prohibited in 
the following locations: 

1. Any sign located within a City right-of-way;  

2. Any sign located within, on, or projecting over a property line which 
borders a public or private street, highway, alley, lane, avenue, road, 
sidewalk, or other right-of-way, except as specifically provided in this 
Division; 

3. Any sign attached to any public utility pole, structure or street light, tree, 
fence, fire hydrant, bridge, curb, sidewalk, park bench, statue, memorial, 
or other location on public property, except those signs approved as part 
of a special event permit on City property. Nothing in this Section shall 
be construed to prohibit a person from holding a sign while located on 
City property so long as the person holding the sign is located on public 



Sign Standards 10-50.100.040 

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-11 

property determined to be a traditional public forum and does not block 
ingress and egress from buildings or create a safety hazard by impeding 
travel on sidewalks, bike and vehicle lanes, and trails; 

4. Any sign, which by reason of its location, will obstruct the view of any 
authorized traffic sign, signal, or other traffic control device or which by 
reason of shape, color, or position interferes with or could be confused 
with any authorized traffic signal or device; 

5. Any sign which is placed so as to prevent or inhibit free ingress to or 
egress from any door, window, or any exit way required by the Building 
Code currently in effect, or by Fire Department regulations; 

6. Any commercial, advertising, or business sign that is not located on the 
premises of the business to which it refers; 

7. Any sign mounted, attached, or painted on a trailer, boat, or motor 
vehicle when the principal use of the vehicle at the time of the display is 
for the display of the sign and the vehicle is parked, stored, or displayed 
conspicuously on public or private property for the purpose of exhibiting 
commercial advertising, advertising an on-site or off-site business, or 
supplying directional information to an off-site business or service. This 
provision excludes: 

a. Signs that are permanently painted or wrapped on the surface of a 
vehicle, adhesive vinyl film affixed to the interior or exterior surface 
of a vehicle window, or signs magnetically attached to a vehicle or 
rolling stock, so long as the vehicle is being regularly and consistently 
used in the normal daily conduct of the business, e.g., when a 
company vehicle is being used for transporting and delivering goods 
or providing services related to the business. Such vehicles shall be 
operable, properly licensed, and when not being used to conduct 
daily business, parked or stored in a lawful and authorized manner 
on the business property so as not to be visible from the public right-
of-way. Where parking limitations on the business property prevent 
the business owner from parking the vehicle in a manner not to be 
visible from the public right-of-way, the vehicle shall be parked as far 
from the public right-of-way as possible; and 
 

b. Vehicles and equipment engaged in active construction projects, and 
the on-premise storage of equipment and vehicles offered to the 
general public for rent or lease. 

 

 

 



10-50.100.040 Sign Standards 

50.100-12  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

8. Any sign painted, attached or mounted on fuel tanks, storage containers 
and/or solid waste receptacles or their enclosures, except for a 
manufacturer’s or installer’s identification, appropriate warning signs 
and placards, and information required by law; 

9. Any sign tacked, painted, burned, cut, pasted or otherwise affixed to the 
walls of any building, barn, shed, accessory structure, or other structures 
that are visible from a public way; 

10. Any sign tacked, painted, burned, cut, pasted or otherwise affixed to 
trees, rocks, poles, posts, fences, ladders, benches, that is visible from a 
public way;  

11. Any sign that covers the architectural features of a building, such as 
dormers, insignias, pilasters, soffits, transoms, trims, or other 
architectural feature; 

12. Billboards; and 

13. Bandit signs. 

B. Display Restrictions 

1. Purpose 
The purpose of this Subsection is to regulate the manner in which signs 
convey their messages by specifying prohibited display features that 
create distractions to the traveling public and create visual clutter that 
mar the natural and architectural aesthetics of the City. 

OR 

OR 

NOT permitted 

Permitted 

NOT permitted 

Permitted 

Figure A. Signs on Vehicles Used for Business Purposes 



Sign Standards 10-50.100.050 

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-13 

2. Applicability  
The following display features are prohibited: 

a. Any sign or lighting device, whether on the exterior of a building or 
on the inside of a window which is visible beyond the boundaries of 
the lot or parcel, or from any public right-of-way, with intermittent, 
flashing, rotating, blinking or strobe light illumination, animation, 
motion picture, or laser projection, or any device creating the illusion 
of motion;  

b. Any sign with an exposed light source, except for neon incorporated 
into the design of the sign; 

c. Any sign which emits sound, odor, smoke, laser or hologram lights, 
or other visible matter, including any sign that uses motion picture 
projection; 

d. Any sign animated by any means, including fixed aerial displays, 
balloons, spinners, strings of flags and pennants, streamers, tubes, or 
other devices affected by the movement of the air or other 
atmospheric or mechanical means;  

e. Any sign in which the sign body or any portion of the sign rotates, 
moves up and down, or any other type of action involving a change in 
position of the sign body or any portion of the sign, whether by 
mechanical or any other means. Barber poles no larger than three feet 
high and 10 inches in diameter, and clocks, are excepted from this 
restriction; 

f. Electronic Display signs;   

g. Any changeable copy LED or similar signs, except fixed illumination 
display signs used to indicate that a business is “open”, display 
prices, or to confirm an order placed in a drive through lane; and 

h. Animated signs or costumed character (except as permitted in Section 
10-50.100.090.C.6 (Sign Walkers), stuffed or inflated animals, 
vehicle(s) used as a sign or sign structure (except as permitted in 
Sections 10-50.100.020.D.17 (Vehicle Signs) and 10-50.100.040.A.7), 
and strings of lights arranged in the shape of a product, arrow, or any 
commercial message. 

10-50.100.050 General Requirements for All Signs 

A. Sign Message  
Any permitted sign may contain, in lieu of any other message or copy, any 
lawful non-commercial message, so long as the sign complies with the size, 
height, area, location, and other requirements of this Division. 



10-50.100.050 Sign Standards 

50.100-14  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

B. Sign Measurement Criteria 

1. Sign Area Measurement   
Sign area for all sign types is measured as follows: 

a. Sign copy mounted, affixed, or painted on a background panel or 
surface distinctively painted, textured, or constructed as a 
background for the sign copy, is measured as that area contained 
within the sum of the smallest rectangle(s) that will enclose both the 
sign copy and the background, as shown in Figure A.  

b. Sign copy mounted as individual letters or graphics against a wall, 
fascia, mansard, or parapet of a building or surface of another 
structure, that has not been painted, textured or otherwise altered to 
provide a distinctive background for the sign copy, is measured as a 
sum of the smallest rectangle(s) that will enclose each word and each 
graphic in the total sign, as shown in Figure B. 

c. Sign copy mounted, affixed, or painted on an illuminated surface or 
illuminated element of a building or structure, is measured as the 
entire illuminated surface or illuminated element, which contains sign 
copy, as shown in Figure C. Such elements may include, but are not 
limited to, lit canopy fascia signs, and/or interior lit awnings. 

d. Multi-face signs, as shown in Figure D, are measured as follows: 

(1) Two face signs:  If the interior angle between the two sign faces is 
45 degrees or less, the sign area is of one sign face only. If the 
angle between the two sign faces is greater than 45 degrees, the 
sign area is the sum of the areas of the two sign faces. 

(2) Three or four face signs:  The sign area is 50 percent of the sum of 
the areas of all sign faces. 

e. Spherical, free-form, sculptural or other non-planar sign area is 
measured as 50 percent of the sum of the areas using only the four 
vertical sides of the smallest four-sided polyhedron that will 
encompass the sign structure, as shown in Figure D. Signs with 
greater than four polyhedron faces are prohibited.  



Sign Standards 10-50.100.050 

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-15 

     Figure A. Sign Area for Signs on       
Background Panel 

  Figure B. Sign Area for Signs with Individual Letters 

  Figure C. Sign Area for Signs with Illuminated Surfaces 

          

     Figure D. Sign Area for Multi-face Signs or Free Form Signs 

Total Sign Area =  
A or B 



10-50.100.050 Sign Standards 

50.100-16  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

2. Sign Height Measurement.  
 Sign height is measured as follows:  

a. Freestanding Signs  
Sign height is measured as the vertical distance from the average 
elevation of the finished grade within an eight-foot radius from all 
sides of the sign at the base of a sign to the top of the sign, exclusive of 
any filling, berming, mounding or landscaping solely for the purpose 
of locating the sign, excluding decorative embellishments as 
permitted in Table 10-50.100.060.H (Standards for Freestanding 
Signs).   

(1) If natural grade at the base of a sign is higher than the grade of the 
adjacent road, sign height shall be measured from the base of the 
sign, as shown in Figure E. 

(2) If natural grade at the base of a sign is lower than the grade of an 
adjacent road, the height of the sign shall be measured from the 
top of curb elevation, as shown in Figure F. 

b. Building Mounted Signs 
The height of wall, fascia, mansard, parapet, or other building 
mounted signs is the vertical distance measured from the base of the 
wall on which the sign is located to the top of the sign or sign 
structure, as shown in Figure G. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure E. Freestanding Sign Height – Signs Higher than the Grade of an Adjacent Road 

Figure F. Freestanding Sign Height – Signs Lower than the Grade of an Adjacent Road 



Sign Standards 10-50.100.050 

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-17 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

C. Sign Illumination  
Allowed permanent signs may be non-illuminated, illuminated by internal 
light fixtures, halo illuminated, or illuminated by external indirect 
illumination, unless otherwise specified. All illuminated signs shall comply 
with the time limitations of Section 10-50.70.050.H. All permanent signs for 
single-family residences or duplexes and all temporary signs shall be non-
illuminated. 

1. Externally Illuminated Sign Standards 

a. Lighting Class: External illumination for signs shall comply with all 
provisions of this Division, and shall be treated as Class 1 lighting, as 
defined in Section 10-50.70.050.B. All external sign lighting is included 
within the total outdoor light output limits of Section 10-50.70.050.C, 
and shall comply with applicable lamp source and shielding 
restrictions.  

b. Except as provided in Subsection c, externally illuminated signs shall 
be illuminated only with steady, stationary, fully shielded light 
sources directed solely onto the sign without causing glare.  

c. A light fixture mounted above the sign face may be installed with its 
bottom opening tilted toward the sign face provided: 

(1) The bottom opening of the light fixture is flat (i.e., it could be 
covered by a flat board allowing no light to escape); and, 

(2) The uppermost portion of the fixture’s opening is located no 
higher than the top of the sign face, as shown in Figure H. Light 
fixtures aimed and installed in this fashion shall be considered 
fully shielded for purposes of calculating the total outdoor light 
output limits of Section 10-50.70.050.C. 

Figure G. Building Mounted Sign Height  



10-50.100.050 Sign Standards 

50.100-18  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

Permitted and Prohibited External Sign Lighting Configurations 

Allowed Allowed Not Allowed 

 

 

  

Figure H. External Sign Lighting Configurations 

 

2. Internally Illuminated Sign Standards 

a. Internally illuminated signs shall either be constructed with an 
opaque background and translucent text and symbols, or with a 
colored (not white, off-white, light gray, or cream) background and 
generally lighter text and symbols (Figure I). Lamps used for internal 
illumination of internally illuminated signs shall not be counted 
toward the total outdoor light output limits of Section 10-50.70.050.C. 

(1) Lighting Zone 1  
The sign face(s) shall be composed of illuminated text and 
symbols against an opaque (non-illuminated) background. The 
colors of these elements are not restricted. 

(2) Lighting Zones 2 and 3 
The sign face(s) shall be either composed of illuminated text and 
symbols against an opaque background (as in Subsection (1) 
above), or with generally lighter text and symbols against a 
colored (not white, off-white, light gray,  cream, or yellow) 
background. Text and symbols may be white, off-white, light 
gray, cream, or yellow (See Figure I). 
 

 

 

Fully Shielded Fully Shielded Unshielded 



Sign Standards 10-50.100.050 

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-19 

Light Background 

Not Allowed 

Colored Background 

Allowed 

Opaque Background 

Allowed 

 
RESTAURANT 

CAFE 

 
GAS 

STATION HOTEL 

Figure I. Internally Illuminated Signs 

 

b. Other internally illuminated panels or decorations not considered to 
be signage according to this Division (such as illuminated canopy 
margins, building faces, or architectural outlining), shall be 
considered Class 3 lighting, as defined in Section 10-50.70.050.B, and 
shall be subject to the standards applicable for such lighting, 
including but not limited to the lamp source, shielding standards, and 
total outdoor light output limits established in Section 10-50.70.050.C. 

3. Neon Sign Standards 

a. Exposed neon sign lighting is only permitted in non-residential zones 
and shall be treated as Class 3 (decorative) lighting. Allowed neon 
signs shall not be included within the total outdoor light output limits 
of Section 10-50.70.050.C.  

b. Neon lighting extending beyond the area considered to be the sign 
area (as defined in this Division) shall comply with all provisions of 
Division 10-50.70 (Outdoor Lighting Standards). 
 

Figure J. Neon Sign 



10-50.100.050 Sign Standards 

50.100-20  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

4. Single-Color LED Sign Standards 
Single-color LED signs permitted under Section 10-50.100.040.B.2.g. shall 
be considered internally illuminated signs, and shall not have their lumen 
output counted toward the total outdoor light output limits of Section 10-
50.70.050.C. Any lighting extending beyond the area considered to be the 
sign area (as defined in this Division) shall be treated as Class 3 lighting 
and shall comply with the lumen limits of Section 10-50.70.050.C. 

5. Time Limitations 
All signs shall be turned off by 9:00 p.m. if located in Lighting Zone 1 and 
11:00 p.m. if located in Lighting Zones 2 or 3, or when the business closes, 
whichever is later. Signs subject to time limitations are required to have 
functioning and properly adjusted automatic shut-off timers. See Division 
10-90.50 (Lighting Zone Map) for lighting zones. 

D. Structure and Installation 

1. Raceway Cabinets 
Raceway cabinets shall only be used in building mounted signs when 
access to the wall behind the sign is not feasible, shall not extend in width 
and height beyond the area of the sign, and shall match the color of the 
building to which it is attached. Where a raceway cabinet provides a 
contrast background to sign copy, the colored area is counted in the total 
allowable sign area permitted for the site or business. Examples of 
raceway cabinets are shown in Figure K. 

 

2. Support Elements    
Any angle iron, bracing, guy wires, or similar features used to support a 
sign shall not be visible to the extent technically feasible. 

3. Electrical Service  
When electrical service is provided to freestanding signs or landscape 
wall signs, all such electrical service is required to be underground and 

Figure K. Raceway Cabinets 



Sign Standards 10-50.100.050 

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-21 

concealed. Electrical service to building mounted signs, including 
conduit, housings, and wire, shall be concealed or, when necessary, 
painted to match the surface of the structure upon which they are 
mounted. A Building Permit (electrical) shall be issued prior to 
installation of any new signs requiring electrical service. 

4. Limitation on Attachments and Secondary Uses  
All permitted sign structures and their associated landscape areas shall be 
kept free of supplemental attachments or secondary uses including, but 
not limited to, supplemental advertising signs not part of a permitted 
sign, light fixture, newspaper distribution rack, or trash container. The 
use of sign structures and associated landscape areas as bicycle racks or 
support structures for outdoor product display is prohibited. 

5. Durable Materials 
All permanent signs permitted by this Division shall be constructed of 
durable materials capable of withstanding continuous exposure to the 
elements and the conditions of an urban environment.   

E. Sign Maintenance  
It shall be unlawful for any owner of record, lessor, lessee, manager, agent, or 
other person having lawful possession or control over a building, structure, 
or parcel of land to fail to maintain the property and all signs in compliance 
with the Zoning Code. Failure to maintain a sign constitutes a violation of 
this Division, and shall be subject to enforcement action in compliance with 
the provisions of Division 10-20.110 (Enforcement). 

1. Maintenance  
All signs, whether or not in existence prior to adoption of this Division, 
shall be maintained. Maintenance of a sign shall include periodic 
cleaning, replacement of flickering, burned out or broken light bulbs or 
fixtures, repair or replacement of any faded, peeled, cracked, or otherwise 
damaged or broken parts of a sign, and any other activity necessary to 
restore the sign so that it continues to comply with the requirements and 
contents of the sign permit issued for its installation and provisions of 
this Division.   

2. Landscape Maintenance  
Required landscaped areas contained by a fixed border, curbed area, or 
other perimeter structure shall receive regular repair and maintenance.  
Plant materials that do not survive after installation in required landscape 
areas are required to be replaced within six months of the plant's demise 
or within the next planting season, whichever event comes first.     

3. Removal of Unused Sign Support Structures   
Any vacant and/or unused sign support structures, angle irons, sign 
poles, or other remnants of old signs which are not currently in use or 
proposed for immediate reuse evidenced by a Sign Permit application for 
a permitted sign, shall be removed. When a building mounted sign is 
removed, the wall shall be repaired and restored to its original condition. 



10-50.100.060 Sign Standards 

50.100-22  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

4. Obsolete Signs 
Sign structures permitted as on-premises business signs may remain in 
place after the business vacates the premises, provided the sign is left 
non-illuminated and sign copy is removed within 30 days after the 
business vacates the premises. If an on-site use for the sign is not 
commenced within six months of the termination of the previous on-site 
use, the sign shall be deemed abandoned and subject to the provisions of  
Section 10-50.100.110 (Nonconforming Signs). 

5. Removal of Unsafe Sign Structures  
In addition to the remedies provided in Division 10-20.110 (Enforcement), 
the Director shall have the authority to order the repair, maintenance, or 
removal of any sign or sign structure that has become dilapidated or 
represents a hazard to safety, health, or public welfare. If such a condition 
is determined by the Director to exist, the Director shall give notice by 
certified mail to the sign owner at the address shown on the Sign Permit, 
unless more recent information is available. If compliance has not been 
achieved within 30 days from service of notice, the Director may cause 
the sign to be removed or repaired, and the cost of such removal or repair 
will be charged to the sign owner and/or the property owner. 

F. Sign Placement at Intersection  
Applicable requirements for the placement of signs at intersections are 
provided in the Engineering Standards, Section 13-10-006-0002 (Intersection 
Sight Triangles, Clear View Zones). 

10-50.100.060 Permanent Signs  

A. Permanent signs shall comply with the sign area, height, number, type, and 
other requirements of this Section and Table A (Standards for Permanent 
Signs by Use), except as otherwise provided in Subsections B. and C. Unless 
specifically indicated, Sign Permits are required for all permanent signs in 
accordance with Section 10-20.40.120 (Sign Permit - Permanent Signs). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Sign Standards 10-50.100.060 

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-23 

Table 10-50.100.060.A: Standards for Permanent Signs by Use 

Land Use Allowed Sign 
Types 

Number of 
Signs1 

Max. Ht.  
(in ft.) 

Max. Area  
(sq. ft.) 

Single-family Residential or Duplex (includes Home Occupations and Bed and Breakfasts) 

 Building Mounted 

Freestanding 

12 

12 

6 

3 

6 

6 

Single-family Subdivision, Multi-family Developments, Manufactured Home Parks 

 Building Mounted 

Freestanding 

Landscape Wall 

1 

13  

13 

4 

6 

4 

2 

24 

24 

Master Planned Communities 

 Building Mounted4 

Freestanding 

 

Landscape Wall 

N/A 

13 per major 
vehicular entrance 

13 per major 
vehicular entrance 

N/A 

8 

 

8 

N/A 

36 

 

36 

Institutional Use in all Zones 

 Building Mounted4 

Freestanding 

Landscape Wall 

 

1 

13 

13 

6 

4 

4 

24 

32 

32 

Non-Residential Use in Commercial or Industrial Zone – Live/Work, Single Tenant Building, 
and Detached Buildings within a Multi-Tenant Development or Shopping Center5 

 Building Mounted – 
Single Frontage4 

 

 

Building Mounted –
Multiple Frontages46  

Limited by max. 
sign area 

 

Limited by max. 
sign area 

25 

 

 

25 

 

1 sq. ft. to 1 linear ft. of 
primary building frontage - 

100 sq. ft. max. 

1 sq. ft. to l linear foot of 
primary building frontage – 

100 sq. ft. max. 

1 sq. ft. to 0.5 linear foot of 
auxiliary building frontage 

– 80 sq. ft. max. 

 Freestanding Type A 

 

Freestanding Type B 

Limited by frontage 
line length 

Limited by frontage 
line length 

8 

 

6 

32 

 

24 

Non-Residential Use in Commercial or Industrial Zone – Multi-Tenant Buildings, 
Development Sites, and Shopping Centers5 

 Building Mounted – 
Single Frontage4 

Limited by max. 
sign area 

25 

 

1 sq. ft. to 1 linear ft. of 
primary building frontage - 

100 sq. ft. max. 

     



10-50.100.060 Sign Standards 

50.100-24  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

Table 10-50.100.060.A: Standards for Permanent Signs by Use 

Land Use Allowed Sign 
Types 

Number of 
Signs1 

Max. Ht.  
(in ft.) 

Max. Area  
(sq. ft.) 

Non-Residential Use in Commercial or Industrial Zone – Multi-Tenant Buildings, 
Development Sites, and Shopping Centers5 

 Building Mounted –
Multiple Frontages46 

Limited by max. 
sign area 

25 1 sq. ft. to l linear foot of 
primary building frontage – 

100 sq. ft. max. 

1 sq. ft. to 0.5 linear foot of 
auxiliary building frontage 

– 80 sq. ft. max. 

 Freestanding Type A 

 

Freestanding Type B 

Limited by frontage 
line length 

Limited by frontage 
line length 

10 

 

8 

40 

 

32 

End Notes 
1  Number of signs per development site or parcel. 
2  Either 1 building mounted or 1 freestanding sign permitted. 
3  Either 1 freestanding or 1 landscape wall sign permitted. 
4 The area of signs painted onto the wall of a building may be increased by 10% (See Table                       
10-50.100.060.C). 

5  Signs for single- and multi-tenant buildings or developments that contain elements exceeding the 
otherwise applicable area or height standards may only be approved in accordance with Sections             
10-50.100.070 (Comprehensive Sign Programs) and 10-50.100.080 (Sign Design Performance Standards). 

6  Multiple frontages include corner buildings or buildings with two or more frontages. 

 

B. Signs for Residential Uses in All Zones 

1. Building mounted and freestanding signs for detached single-family 
residences and duplexes are allowed without a Sign Permit. The 
standards in Table 10-50.100.060.A (Standards for Permanent Signs by 
Use) shall apply. 

2. Building mounted, freestanding, and landscape wall signs for single-
family subdivisions, multi-family developments and Manufactured 
Home Parks are allowed with a Sign Permit subject to the standards 
established in Table 10-50.100.060.A (Standards for Permanent Signs by 
Use). 

C. Signs for All Non-residential Uses in All Zones 

1. Building mounted, freestanding, and landscape wall signs for 
institutional uses in all Zones are allowed with a Sign Permit subject to 
the standards established in Table 10-50.100.060.A (Standards for 
Permanent Signs by Use). 



Sign Standards 10-50.100.060 

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-25 

2. Building mounted and freestanding signs for all other non-residential 
uses in all Zones, including single tenant buildings, live/work units, 
detached buildings within a multi-tenant development or shopping 
center, and multi-tenant buildings, development sites, or shopping 
centers are allowed with a Sign Permit subject to the standards 
established in Table 10-50.100.060.A (Standards for Permanent Signs by 
Use). 

3. Hotel and Motel Room Rate Signs  
Signs for hotels and motels that post room rates on an outdoor 
advertising sign shall comply with the requirements of City Code 
Chapter 3-04 (Motels and Hotels). 

4. Standards for Specific Sign Types    

a. All signs shall comply with the following standards. Each sign type 
listed in this Section shall be included in the calculation of the total 
sign area allowed on a parcel or development site by this Section, 
except as explicitly provided otherwise in this Subsection. Each sign 
shall also comply with the sign area, height, and other requirements 
of Section 10-50.100.050 (General Requirements for All Signs), and all 
other applicable provisions of this Division. Any non-commercial 
message may be substituted for the sign copy on any commercial sign 
allowed by this Division. 

b. The following sign types are permitted, subject to the criteria listed 
under each sign type. 

(1) Awning Sign  

(a) Awning Signs are not permitted in residential zones. 

(b) The standards provided in Table B (Standards for Awning 
Signs) shall apply. 

Table 10-50.100.060.B: Standards for Awning Signs 

 Standard Other Requirements 

Sign Area – 

(Copy, including logo) 

1 sq. ft. of sign area per lineal foot of awning width. 

Included in the total allowable sign area for building mounted signs. 

Mounting Height  Max. 25 feet for ground floor awnings.  

Min. of 8 feet from the bottom of the awning to the nearest grade 
or sidewalk. 

Sign Placement Only above the doors and windows of the ground floor of a 
building. 

An awning shall not project above, below or beyond the edges of 
the face of the building wall or architectural element on which it is 
located. 



10-50.100.060 Sign Standards 

50.100-26  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

Displayed only on the vertical surface of an awning. 

Sign width shall not be greater than 60% of the width of the awning 
face or valance on which it is displayed1. 

Valance Height Max. 6 inches 

Setback from Back of 
Curb 

Min. 18 inches 

Illumination Not permitted. 

Permitting Sign Permit is required.  

End Notes 
1If an awning is placed on multiple store fronts, each business is permitted signage no greater 
than 60 percent of the store width or tenant space. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(2) Building Mounted Sign 

(a) The standards provided in Table C. (Standards for Building 
Mounted Signs) shall apply to building mounted signs in all 
zones where allowed by Table 10-50.100.060.A. (Standards for 
Permanent Signs by Use). 

 Table 10-50.100.060.C: Standards for Building Mounted Signs 

 Standard 

Sign Area See this Section and Table A (Standards for Permanent Signs 
by Use). 

Mounting Height  See Table A (Standards for Permanent Signs by Use). 

 

Sign Placement The total sign area for signs on single-tenant or multi-tenant 
buildings may be placed on any building elevation, except: 

Figure A. Awning Sign 



Sign Standards 10-50.100.060 

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-27 

 Table 10-50.100.060.C: Standards for Building Mounted Signs 

 Standard 
(1) At least 1 sign shall be associated with the building 

entry zone1 (may be wall mounted, projecting, 
awning, etc.). 

(2) No sign shall face an adjoining residential zone. 

(3) Signs shall be placed the lesser of 12 inches or 20% 
of the width and height of the building element on 
which they are mounted. 

The width of the sign shall not be greater than 60% of the 
width of the building element on which it is displayed. 

Individual tenants in multi-tenant buildings are permitted 
building mounted signs only on the primary entrance 
elevation of the space occupied by the business.  

If vertically placed on a mansard roof, structural supports 
shall be minimized, and secondary supports (angle irons, guy 
wires, braces) shall be enclosed/ hidden from view. 

Total Allowable Sign Area Max. sign area for businesses with multiple frontages, and all 
building elevations on a single stand-alone business is 200 sq. 
ft., subject to the provisions of this Section, including 
Sections 10-50.100.070 and 10-50.100.080. 

2 or more Businesses Served by a Single 
Common Building Entrance 

Considered 1 business for sign computation purposes; max. 
of 1.5 sq. ft. for each linear foot of building frontage of the 
entrance.  

Sign for Non-Customer Service Entry Max. 1 non-illuminated building mounted sign; max. 6 sq. ft. in 
area; must be located adjacent to the entry. 

Illumination Permitted - See Section 10-50.100.050.C; except for single-
family residences and duplexes. 

Permitting Sign Permit is required, except for single-family residences 
and duplexes.  

Special Provisions 

Single Business with 1 Frontage – Increased 
Sign Area 

Additional sign area is permitted if the owner forgoes display 
of a freestanding sign permitted for the site, to a max. of 1.5 
sq. ft. per linear foot of building frontage, to a max. sign area 
of 100 sq. ft.2,3  

Corner Sign Area Incentive Additional sign area is permitted for a sign mounted on the 
corner of a building and associated with a primary corner 
entrance; determined by adding 50% of the allowed sign 
area for the primary building frontage and 50% of the 
allowed sign area for the auxiliary building frontage 
(included in the total allowable sign area for building 
mounted signs). 

Single Business with 2 or more Frontages - 
Increased Sign Area 

Additional sign area is permitted for one or both building 
mounted signs if the owner forgoes display of one or both 
freestanding signs permitted for the site, to a max. of 1.5 sq. 
ft. per linear foot of building frontage along each street  



10-50.100.060 Sign Standards 

50.100-28  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

 Table 10-50.100.060.C: Standards for Building Mounted Signs 

 Standard 
 

  where no freestanding sign will be displayed, up to a max. 
sign area of 100 sq. ft. per building frontage.2,3 

Additional Increases in Sign Area (Section 10-
50.100.080 (Sign Design Performance 
Standards)) 

Additional sign area may be sought under Section 10-
50.100.080 (Sign Design Performance Standards), but is 
limited to a max. sign area of 100 sq. ft. 

Painted Wall Signs Painted wall signs are permitted on any exterior building wall 
of an individual tenant space or building. 

Painted wall signs shall be included in the total allowable area 
for building mounted signs.  

The allowable area for a painted wall sign shall be increased 
by 10%. Shall be professionally painted. 

Non-illuminated or externally illuminated with down 
directed, fully shielded fixtures only.  

End Notes 
1 Building entries in this context do not include service entries or separate doors for lodging rooms. 
2 Requests to use this provision are reviewed under the normal Sign Permit application procedure, in 
accordance with Section 10-20.40.120 (Sign Permit - Permanent Signs). 

3 A release of rights to a freestanding sign for the duration of use of a larger building mounted sign is required 
with a Sign Permit, evidenced by a recordable form of acceptance signed by the property owner. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure B. Standards for Building Mounted Signs 

 



Sign Standards 10-50.100.060 

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-29 

(3) Canopy Sign  

(a) Canopy Signs are not permitted in residential zones. 

(b) The standards provided in Table D (Standards for Canopy 
Signs) shall apply. 

Table 10-50.100.060.D: Standards for Canopy Signs 

 Standard Other Requirements 

Sign Area – 

(Copy, including 
logo) 

1 sq. ft. of sign area per lineal foot 
of canopy width. 

Included in the total allowable sign 
area for building mounted signs. 

Mounting Height  Max. 25 feet on ground floor canopies.  

Min. of 8 feet from the bottom of the canopy to the nearest grade or 
sidewalk. 

Sign Placement Only above the doors and windows of the ground floor of a building. 

A canopy shall not project beyond the edges of the face of the building 
wall or architectural element on which it is located. 

Shall not extend horizontally a distance greater than 60% of the width of 
the canopy on which it is displayed1. 

Setback from Back 
of Curb 

Min. 18 inches 

Illumination Internal illumination only for the letters or logos mounted on a 
canopy. May also be non-illuminated. 

Permitting Sign Permit is required.  

End Notes 
1If a canopy is placed on multiple store fronts, each business is permitted signage no greater 
than 60 percent of the store width or tenant space. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Figure C. Canopy Sign 

 



10-50.100.060 Sign Standards 

50.100-30  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

(4) Changeable Copy Sign  
The standards provided in Table E (Standards for Changeable 
Copy Signs) shall apply. 

Table 10-50.100.060.E: Standards for Changeable Copy Signs 

 Standard  

Sign Area  

 

Max. of 20% of the total building mounted sign area (does 
not apply to signs required by law). 

Changeable copy sign area is included in the total allowable 
sign area. 

Sign Placement Permitted only as an integral part of a building mounted sign 
or a freestanding sign. 

Background Color and Illumination Illumination permitted - See Section 10-50.100.050.C (Sign 
Illumination), except that a white, off-white, or cream 
background is permitted. 

Permitting Sign Permit is required.  

  

                                     Figure D. Changeable Copy Sign 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Sign Standards 10-50.100.060 

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-31 

(5) Directional Sign 

(a) Directional signs are only permitted as part of a 
Comprehensive Sign Program, and are exempted from 
the total allowable sign area permitted for each use. 

(b) The standards provided in Table F (Standards for 
Directional Signs) shall apply. 

Table 10-50.100.060F: Standards for Directional Signs 

 Standard Other Requirements 

Sign Area 3 sq. ft. per face. May be double-sided. 

Included in the total allowable 
sign area for building mounted 
signs. 

Mounting Height – 
Building Mounted Sign  

Max. 8 feet.  Flat against a wall of the building. 

Mounting Height – 
Freestanding Sign 

Max. 3 feet from grade.  

Number of Signs Max. 1 at each driveway or drive through. 

Illumination Internal illumination only.  May also be non-illuminated. 

Permitting Sign Permit is required.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure E. Directional Sign 



10-50.100.060 Sign Standards 

50.100-32  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

(6) Directory Sign  
The standards provided in Table G (Standards for Directory 
Signs) shall apply.  

Table 10-50.100.060.G: Standards for Directory Signs 

 Standard Other Requirements 

Sign Area  

 

Signs ≤ 16 sq. ft. and not 
visible from the public right-
of-way are not included in 
the total allowable sign area. 

Signs > 16 sq. ft. in area or 
visible from the public right-
of-way are counted in the 
total allowable sign area. 

Mounting Height Max. 12 feet.   

Freestanding Sign Height  Max. 6 feet.   

Sign Placement Building mounted preferred; 
may be mounted on a low 
profile freestanding sign 
structure. 

Shall be associated with the 
building entry zone of the 
businesses within a multi-
tenant development, and/or 
within pedestrian-oriented 
open spaces. 

Illumination Non-illuminated, internally illuminated, or indirectly illuminated. 
See Section 10-50.100.050.C. 

Permitting Sign Permit is required.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(7) Freestanding Sign 

(a) The number and type of freestanding signs allowed for single 
and multiple tenant uses are derived from the use, zone, 
location, and length of development site frontage as outlined 
in this Section and Table A (Standards for Permanent Signs by 
Use). 

Figure F. Directory Sign 



Sign Standards 10-50.100.060 

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-33 

(b) Sign types are classified as "Type A" and "Type B" based on 
street designations established and mapped in the General 
Plan (See Appendix 8 (List of Major Arterial Streets)). These 
classifications are used to determine the number of signs 
allowed on a development site and their permitted size and 
height. Type A signs are allowed on street frontages longer 
than 100 feet on major arterials, while Type B signs are 
allowed on street frontages less than 100 feet on minor 
arterials or smaller street types.  

(c) A freestanding sign may consist of more than one sign panel 
provided all such sign panels are consolidated into one 
common integrated sign structure. In the event a sign is 
installed that does not utilize the maximum sign area 
permitted, any supplemental additions shall comply with, and 
be compatible with, the existing sign structure. 

(d) The standards provided in Table H (Standards for 
Freestanding Signs) shall apply. 

Table 10-50.100.060.H: Standards for Freestanding Signs 

Non-Residential Use in Commercial or Industrial Zone – Live/Work, Single Tenant Building, 
Multi-Tenant Buildings, Development Sites, Shopping Centers, and Detached Buildings within 
a Multi-Tenant Development or Shopping Center  

Standard   

Sign Area See this Section and Table A (Standards for Permanent Signs by Use). 

Sign Height See this Section and Table A (Standards for Permanent Signs by Use). 

Elements to enhance the design of a sign structure may extend above 
the sign to a max. of 20% of the sign’s allowed height. 

Number and Type of Signs Determined by the length of the development site frontage line.1 3   

Street Type2 Major arterials. Minor arterials or other 
streets. 

Frontage line of ≤100 ft.  Max. 1 Type B Sign.   Max. 1 Type B Sign. 

Frontage line >100 ft. but <500 ft.2 Max. 1 Type A Sign.  Max 1 Type B Sign. 

Frontage line ≥500 ft.2 Max. 1 Type A Sign and Max. 1 Type B Sign, but the combined area 
of the Type A and Type B signs shall not exceed the maximum area 
permitted in Table 10-50.100.060.A.3 

Must be separated by min. 150 ft. measured on the street frontage 
line. 

Special Provisions Standard  

Sign Width The sign base shall have a min. aggregate width of 60% of the width 
of the sign cabinet or face. 

Sign Placement Freestanding signs may only be placed on the street frontage line on 
which the sign is authorized in accordance with this Section and  



10-50.100.060 Sign Standards 

50.100-34  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

Table 10-50.100.060.H: Standards for Freestanding Signs 
 

Table A (Standards for Permanent Signs by Use), and not interstate 
highways. 

On a development site where more than 1 freestanding sign is 
permitted, signs are not transferable in whole or in part, from 1 
street frontage to another. 

Flag lot sites with frontage on a public street are permitted 1 sign on 
the frontage providing primary access to the site. 

Name of Shopping Center or 
Development Site 

The name of a shopping center or development site is exempt from 
the area and height limits for freestanding signs; it may have a max. 
height of 2 feet and be no wider than the width of the sign. 

Setbacks Min. of 5 feet from the street side property line.  

Min. of 15 feet from any interior side lot line. 

Min. of 30 feet from any residential zone. 

Single or Multi Tenant Development 
Site with Corner Location – 
Increased Sign Area12 

When only 1 freestanding sign is proposed where 2 are permitted, 
the allowable sign face area may be increased to a max. of 35% over 
the largest freestanding sign permitted in Table A (Standards for 
Permanent Signs by Use). 

A sign located at a corner is permitted in compliance with Engineering 
Standards, Section 13-10-006-0002 (Intersection Sight Triangles, 
Clear View Zones). 

Additional Increases in Sign area Increases in allowable  sign area granted under Section 10-
50.100.080 (Sign Design Performance Standards) shall not be 
greater than 50% of the largest area permitted for freestanding signs 
in Table A (Standards for Permanent Signs by Use). 

Landscaping A landscaped area consisting of shrubs, and/or perennial ground 
cover plants with a max. spacing of 3 feet on center is required 
around the base of all freestanding signs. The landscape area must 
be a min. of 2 ½ sq. ft. for each 1 sq. ft. of sign area.  

Where appropriate, trees required under Division 10-50.60 
(Landscaping Standards) shall be planted in a manner to frame or 
accent the sign. 

Illumination Permitted - See Section 10-50.100.050.C.; except for single-family 
residences and duplexes. 

Permitting Sign Permit is required, except for single-family residences and 
duplexes.  

End Notes 

1 For development sites with frontage on more than 1 street, the signage for each street shall be determined 
by the length of each individual frontage line of the site. 

2 For multi-tenant buildings, developments sites, or shopping centers only, the frontage line length standard is 
reduced from 500 feet to 400 feet. 

3 Refer to Section 10-20.60.110 (Nonconforming Signs) if an existing nonconforming sign is present. 
4 A Sign Permit issued under this provision requires a release of rights to additional freestanding signs for the 
duration of use of the single larger sign, evidenced by a recordable form of acceptance signed by the 
property owner. 



Sign Standards 10-50.100.060 

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-35 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

               Figure G. Freestanding Sign 
 

(8) Interpretative Sign 
The standards provided in Table I (Standards for Interpretative 
Signs) shall apply. 

Table 10-50.100.060.I: Standards for Interpretive Signs 

 Standard Other Requirements 

Sign Area 

Low-profile sign 

 

High-profile sign 

 

Max. 6 sq. ft.  

 

Max. 12 sq. ft. 

 

Not included in the total 
allowable sign area for 
freestanding signs. 

Max. of 3 high-profile signs may 
be combined as 1 sign panel. 

Height 

Low-profile sign 

High-profile sign 

 

Max. 3 feet from grade.  

Max. 7 feet from grade. 

 

Sign characteristics Pedestrian scaled and oriented. 

Context sensitive design. 

Shall not include advertising for any facility of organization. 

Shall not direct a reader to another site, event, or subject. 

Number of Signs No limit. 

Illumination Not permitted. 

Permitting Sign Permit is required.1  

End Notes 
1 Interpretive signs for environmental purposes shall be submitted for content review by the 
Open Spaces Commission and interpretive signs for heritage, cultural, or historic purposes 
shall be submitted for content review by the Heritage Preservation Commission prior to staff 
review. 

 



10-50.100.060 Sign Standards 

50.100-36  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

(9) Landscape Wall Sign 
The standards provided in Table J (Standards for Landscape Wall 
Signs) shall apply. 

Table 10-50.100.060.J: Standards for Landscape Wall Signs 

 Standard 

Sign Area 

 

 

Non-Residential Use in Commercial or Industrial Zone  

Single-family Subdivision, Multi-family Developments, or 
Manufactured Home Parks 

Master Planned Communities 

Institutional Uses in All Zones 

Landscape Wall Signs are included in the total allowable sign area for 
building mounted signs. May also be considered a freestanding sign, 
e.g. when used as a subdivision entry sign. 

Max. 24 sq. ft.  

Max. 24 sq. ft. 

 

Max. 36 sq. ft. 

Max. 32 sq. ft. 

Height of Landscape 
Wall  

Max. 5 feet. from grade.  

Mounting Height The sign copy shall be a min. of 6 inches below the top of the wall and 12 inches above 
ground level. Signs shall not project above or beyond the top or sides of the landscape 
wall.  

Number of Signs Multiple signs are permitted to a maximum of 24 sq. ft., and sign(s) shall not cover more 
than 40% of the landscape wall’s background area.  

Sign Placement Perimeter/screen walls and all signs located at a corner shall comply with Engineering 
Standards, Section 10-06-020 (Intersection Sight Triangles, Clear View Zones), unless 
the wall on which the sign is located is less than 30 inches in height. 

Illumination Permitted - See Section 10-50.100.050.C. 

Permitting Sign Permit is required.  

 

 

Figure H. High-profile and Low-profile Interpretative Sign 



Sign Standards 10-50.100.060 

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-37 

 

   

 

(10) Projecting Sign 
The standards provided in Table K (Standards for Projecting 
Signs) shall apply. 

Table 10-50.100.060.K: Standards for Projecting Signs 

 Standard  

Sign Area  Max. 16 sq. ft. (included in the total allowable sign area for 
building mounted sign area). 

Mounting Height Min. of 8 feet from the bottom of the sign to the nearest grade or 
sidewalk. 

Number of Signs Max. 1 per business. 

Maximum Projection Shall extend a max. of 4 feet from the building. 

Illumination Non-illuminated or externally illuminated with down directed, 
fully shielded fixtures only. 

Permitting Sign Permit is required.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Figure J. Projecting Sign 

Figure I. Landscape Wall Sign 



10-50.100.060 Sign Standards 

50.100-38  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

(11) Roof Mounted Sign 
The standards provided in Table L (Standards for Roof Mounted 
Signs) shall apply. 

Table 10-50.100.060.L: Standards for Roof Mounted Signs 

 Standard Other Requirements  

Sign Area  See Table A (Standards for 
Permanent Signs by Use). 

Such signs are included in the 
total allowable sign area for 
building mounted signs. 

Mounting Height Max. 25 feet from grade. 

Number of Signs See Table A (Standards for Permanent Signs by Use). 

Sign Placement Permitted on sloped roof buildings only where no walls exist to 
accommodate a building mounted sign. 

Only on the lowest 1/3 of the slope of the roof, such that the sign 
does not project above the roof peak or break the silhouette of 
the building as viewed from the front of the sign face. 

Installation Roof mounted signs shall be installed so that the structural 
supports of the sign are minimized. Angle irons, guy wires, 
braces or other secondary supports shall appear to be an 
integral part of the roof or roof sign. 

Illumination Permitted – See Section 10-50.100.050.C. 

Permitting Sign Permit is required.  

   

  

 

(12) Service Island Canopy Sign  
The standards provided in Table M (Standards for Service Island 
Signs) shall apply.  

Figure K. Roof Mounted Sign 



Sign Standards 10-50.100.060 

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-39 

Table 10-50.100.060.M: Standards for Service Island Canopy Signs 

 Standard  

Sign Area  Included in the total allowable building 
mounted sign area – See Table 10-
50.100.060.C.  

Illumination Permitted - See Section 10-50.100.050.C. 

Permitting Sign Permit is required. 
 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

(13) Suspended Sign 
The standards provided in Table N (Standards for Suspended 
Signs) shall apply. 

Table 10-50.100.060.N: Standards for Suspended Signs 

 Standard Other Requirements 

Sign Area  Signs ≤ 4 sq. ft. are not 
included in the total 
allowable sign area for 
building mounted sign area. 

Signs > 4 sq. ft. in area are 
included in the total allowable 
building mounted sign area. 

Sign Placement On or immediately adjacent 
to the business the sign 
identifies.  

Min. of 8 feet from the bottom 
of the sign to nearest 
grade/sidewalk.  

Sign shall not extend beyond the 
edge of the building façade or 
overhang on which it is placed. 

Number of Signs Max. 1.  

Illumination Permitted - See Section 10-50.100.050.C. 

Permitting Sign Permit is required.  

 
 

Figure L. Service Island Canopy Sign 



10-50.100.060 Sign Standards 

50.100-40  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

 

(14) Window Sign  
The standards provided in Table O (Standards for Permanent 
Window Signs) shall apply. 

Table 10-50.100.060.O: Standards for Permanent Window Signs 

 Standard Other Requirements 

Sign Area  Area of temporary and 
permanent window signs 
combined shall not exceed 25% 
of the area of the window on 
or within which they are 
displayed. 

Combined window coverage shall not 
exceed 25% of the area of any 1 
window. Signs constructed of 
perforated vinyl or painted on the 
window shall be included as part of 
the 25% area calculation. 

Permanent window signs are included 
in the total allowable sign area for 
building mounted signs. 

Sign Placement No higher than 1st story 
windows.  

Inside mounting preferred. 

Illumination Neon illumination only. 

Permitting Sign Permit is required.  

   

  

Figure M. Suspended Sign 



Sign Standards 10-50.100.060 

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-41 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(14) Other Sign Types 
The standards provided in Table P (Standards for Other Sign 
Types) shall apply. 

 
        Figure N. Window Sign 

Table 10-50.100.060.P: Standards for Other Sign Types 

 Standard Other Requirements 

Drive Through Menu Board and Confirmation Signs 

Sign Area  Menu Board = Max. 40 sq. ft.  

Order Confirmation Board = 
Max. 2 sq. ft.  

If the sign area for both signs 
combined is greater than 42 sq. ft., the 
sign area is included in the total 
allowable building mounted sign area. 

Sign Placement One each per drive though lane  

Illumination Internally illuminated only. 

Permitting No Sign Permit required.  

Fuel Pump Signs 

Sign Dimensions Max. 1.5 ft. high and ≤ the width of 
the fuel pump. 

Sign area is excluded from the total 
allowable building sign area. 

Sign Placement Max one fuel pump sign per fuel 
pump. 

1 fuel pump topper sign, max. 2 sq. 
ft., per fuel pump also permitted. 

Illumination Internally illuminated only.  

Permitting 

 

No Sign Permit required.  



10-50.100.070 Sign Standards 

50.100-42  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

10-50.100.070 Comprehensive Sign Programs  

A. Purpose  

1. The purpose of this Section is to provide a process to respond to special 
signage needs for proposed or existing multi-family residential and non-
residential uses, as well as to provide sign design incentives that promote 
superior sign design, materials, and methods of installation. 

2. A Comprehensive Sign Program provides non-residential and multi-
family residential uses with flexibility to develop innovative, creative and 
effective signage and to improve the aesthetics of the City. This program 
also provides an alternative to minimum standard signage subject to sign 
design performance standards. 

B. Applicability   
Comprehensive Sign Programs apply to proposed or existing non-residential 
and multi-family residential uses as follows: 

Table 10-50.100.060.P: Standards for Other Sign Types 

 Standard Other Requirements 

Menu Display Box 

Sign Area  4 sq. ft.  If > 4 sq. ft., area is included in the 
total allowable building mounted 
sign area.  

Sign Placement On a wall or within a window of 
the bar or restaurant it serves. 

Designed to be architecturally 
compatible with the building. 

Illumination Non-illuminated or externally illuminated with down directed, fully 
shielded fixtures only. 

Permitting No Sign Permit required for menu 
display box ≤ 4 sq. ft.  

Sign Permit required for menu 
display box > 4 sq. ft.  

Open Sign 

Sign Area  Max. 2 sq. ft.  Not included in the total allowable 
building mounted sign area. 

Sign Placement Max. 1 sign per business.  

Illumination and 
Display 

Fixed copy or display only – no flashing, scrolling, blinking, or moving text 
or images. 

Permitting No Sign Permit required.   

Vending Machine and Similar Facilities 

Sign Area When placed outside of a business, signs that are an integral part of such 
machines shall be included in total allowable building mounted sign area.  

Permitting No Sign Permit required.  



Sign Standards 10-50.100.070 

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-43 

1. A Comprehensive Sign Program is required for:  

a. All proposed non-residential single-tenant, multi-tenant, or multi-
story developments, and residential master planned communities; 
and  

b. Existing non-residential multi-tenant uses, when: 

(1) A building addition and/or an increase of use is proposed in 
terms of gross floor area, seating capacity, or other units of 
measurement indicating an intensification of use of 25 percent or 
more; or  

(2) An exterior structural remodeling of the building facade is 
proposed which affects signage. 

2. A Comprehensive Sign Program may voluntarily be developed and 
maintained by the owner, applicant, or representative of any new or 
existing non-residential and multi-family residential use, when the 
owner, applicant or representative seeks allowed adjustments under 
Section 10-50.100.080 (Sign Design Performance Standards). Any 
adjustments authorized under a Comprehensive Sign Program using the 
Sign Design Performance Standards apply to all building mounted signs 
and freestanding signs within the boundaries of the subject site. 

C. Review 

1. Applications for a Comprehensive Sign Program, including a 
Comprehensive Sign Program that utilizes the sign design performance 
standards provided in Section 10-50.100.080 (Sign Design Performance 
Standards), shall be reviewed by the Director.    

2. All Comprehensive Sign Program submittals shall be reviewed for 
compliance with the requirements of this Division, and the Director shall 
either approve, conditionally approve, or deny the proposed 
Comprehensive Sign Program. Following approval by the Director, a 
copy of the approved Comprehensive Sign Program will be made 
available to the applicant. Individual signs for multi-tenant developments 
included within the approved Comprehensive Sign Program are subject 
to the issuance of separate Sign Permits in compliance with this Division. 
A Comprehensive Sign Program for a single-tenant development requires 
only one sign permit. 

3. The Planning Commission shall review all Comprehensive Sign Programs 
that request an increase in allowable sign height and area beyond the 
limits established in Section 10-50.100.080 (Sign Design Performance 
Standards) for freestanding signs for multi-tenant buildings or shopping 
centers. 
 
 



10-50.100.070 Sign Standards 

50.100-44  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

D. Supplemental Provisions   

1. Modifications to an approved Comprehensive Sign Program may be 
requested in compliance with the procedures set forth in this Section.   

2. No sign identified in this Section may be placed upon real property 
without the consent of the real property owner(s), who shall either sign 
and submit the application for a Comprehensive Sign Program or 
designate in writing an authorized representative. 

3. A Comprehensive Sign Program may be implemented in phases. 

E. Submittal Requirements    
A complete application for Comprehensive Sign Program review and 
approval is required following, or in conjunction with, the approval of the 
required site plan for the development, and prior to issuance of a building 
permit. The application shall be signed by the property owner(s), and/or 
their authorized agent(s), if appropriate, of the property covered by the 
Comprehensive Sign Program, and shall include the following: 

1. An accurate site plan of the overall development, including all parcels 
included within the multi-tenant development or master planned 
community, at a scale determined by the Director; 

2. The location and sizes of existing and proposed buildings, parking lots, 
driveways, streets and landscaped areas of the development; 

3. The size, location, height, color, lighting source, and orientation of all 
proposed signs for the development, with a computation of sign area for 
each sign type;   

4. A complete set of sign standards, including but not limited to, style, 
colors, type(s), placement, letter size, and number of signs and sign 
material(s);   

5. A narrative description of the development to demonstrate that the sign 
program meets the required findings and/or sign design standards; 

6. A non-refundable sign permit fee as provided in Appendix 2 (Planning 
Fee Schedule); and 

7. Any other information deemed necessary to meet the findings noted 
above. 

F. Individual Signs Authorized by an Approved Comprehensive Sign 
Program  
Sign Permits, which must be obtained in compliance with Section 10-
20.40.120 (Sign Permit - Permanent Signs), are required for individual signs 
authorized by an approved Comprehensive Sign Program, provided: 



Sign Standards 10-50.100.080 

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-45 

1. The signs comply with all applicable conditions of the approved 
Comprehensive Sign Program;  

2. Sign Permit applications are submitted within a time period specified as 
part of the conditions of the content or review of the Comprehensive Sign 
Program, where applicable; and 

3. Sign Permit applications are submitted prior to any subsequent 
amendment to this Division which is more restrictive than provisions 
existing when the Comprehensive Sign Program was approved. 

10-50.100.080 Sign Design Performance Standards  

A. Sign Design Elements  
Increases in the allowable area and/or height of certain types of signs may be 
approved to encourage permanent signs with design features that are 
preferred by the City and the community at large. 

The preferred design features detailed below shall apply to both freestanding 
and building mounted signs subject to the limitations in Subsection B. These 
preferred design features are in addition to the base maximum area and 
height limitations described in Table 10-50.100.060.A (Standards for 
Permanent Signs by Use). In addition, all signs located in multi-tenant centers 
are required to comply with the center’s comprehensive sign program, if such 
a plan has been approved by the City.  

1. Raised Letter Signs  
This standard encourages the use of individual lettered business and logo 
design, or where appropriate, signs containing copy, logo and/or 
decorative embellishments in relief on the face of the sign. Such improved 
sign design enhances the readability of sign copy and projects a positive 
image of the business or use. A sign area and/or height increase as 
established in Table A (Percentage Increases for Design Features Used) 
may be approved for sign designs that display either: 

a. Pan channel letters without raceways, or internal/indirect halo 
illuminated channel letters on an unlit or otherwise indistinguishable 
background on a freestanding sign or building wall; or 

b. Where appropriate, carved signs with a three-dimensional textured 
surface that is integral to its design, such as extensively carved, routed 
and/or sandblasted signs containing the business name and/or logo. 

 

 

 



10-50.100.080 Sign Standards 

50.100-46  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2. Simplified Letter and/or Logo Copy  
The purpose of this standard is to encourage easily recognizable business 
identification while simplifying the appearance of the city streetscape. A 
sign area and/or height increase, as established in Table A (Percentage 
Increases for Design Features Used), may be approved for the signs 
utilizing this design standard.  

3. Sign Structure Materials  
This standard encourages the use of native or natural materials in the 
construction of sign structures, resulting in improved and innovative sign 
design and an improved image of the business or development to which 
it refers. A sign area and/or height increase as established in Table A 
(Percentage Increases for Design Features Used) may be approved for the 
sign designs in which a minimum of 75 percent of the sign structure and 
face are constructed of native or natural materials, including malpais 

Figure A: Raised Letter Sign 

Figure B. Carved Sign 



Sign Standards 10-50.100.080 

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-47 

rock, flagstone, river rock, redwood, cedar, treated pine, used brick, 
and/or unpainted or unfinished non-reflective metals. 

 

4. Sign Structure which Blends with the Development Site  
This standard encourages the incorporation of a sign and sign structure 
into a major element of a building façade or significant landscape feature, 
resulting in the creation of a unique image for the development or 
premises on which it is located. A sign area and/or height increase as 
established in Table A (Percentage Increases for Design Features Used) 
may be approved for the sign designs that integrate major architectural 
elements or details of the development site into the building façade for a 
building mounted sign, or the support structure for a freestanding sign. 

 

5. Freestanding Signs of Reduced Height  
This standard encourages the reduction of the overall height of 
freestanding signs the limitations of which are established in Table 10-
50.100.060.H (Standards for Freestanding Signs), while maintaining sign 
and site compatibility and improving the image of the business or 
development. See Table A (Percentage Increases for Design Features 
Used) for percentage increases allowed. 

Figure C. Sign Structure Materials 

Figure D. Sign Structure which Blends with Development Site 



10-50.100.080 Sign Standards 

50.100-48  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

Table 10-50.100.080.A: Percentage Increases for Design Features Used 

Single Tenant Use 
Freestanding Sign Building Mounted Sign 

Area 
Increase 

Height 
Increase 

Area Increase Height Increase 

1.  Raised Letter  15% 10% 10% 5% 

2.  Simplified Letter and/or Logo Copy 15% 10% 10%1 5% 

3.  Sign Structure Materials 15% 15% 10% 5% 

4.  Sign Structure which blends with 
Development Site 

15% 15% 10% 5% 

5.  Freestanding Signs of Reduced Height 15% area increase for each 
1-foot in height reduction  

N/A 

Multi-Tenant Use 

1.  Raised Letter  15% 10% 10% 5% 

2.  Simplified Letter and/or Logo Copy2 15% 20% N/A 

3.  Sign Structure Materials 15% 15% 10% 5% 

4.  Sign Structure which blends with 
Development Site 

15% 15% 10% 5% 

5.  Freestanding Signs of Reduced Height 15% area increase for each 
1-foot in height reduction 

N/A 

End Notes 
1Also applies to an individual occupancy within a multi-tenant building, development, or shopping center. 
2Applies to multi-tenant building, development, or shopping center. 

 

B. Cumulative Adjustments  
Where more than one feature listed in Subsection A is proposed, the 
adjustment allowed for each individual feature is cumulative. Such sign area 
and/or height adjustment is measured and based upon the permitted sign 
area and height for the applicable site as determined in Section 10-50.100.060 
(Permanent Signs) of this Division. Cumulative adjustments for sign area and 
sign height for freestanding and building mounted signs are provided in 
Table B (Cumulative Adjustments). 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Sign Standards 10-50.100.090 

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-49 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Table 10-50.100.080.B: Cumulative Adjustments 

# of Features Used 
Freestanding Signs  Building 

Mounted Sign  

Area Height Area Height 

2 30% 20-30%1 20% 10% 

3 45% 35-40%1 30% 15% 

4 60% 50% 40% 20% 

Standard #5 w/ Standards 1-4 
Not to exceed 75% of 

original max. 
permitted sign area 

N/A N/A N/A 

Cumulative Maximum Sign Area 
Increase Allowed 

75% 50% 50% 20% 

End Notes     
1 This percentage varies depending on which design features listed in Table A are utilized. 



10-50.100.090 Sign Standards 

50.100-50  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

10-50.100.090 Temporary Signs 

A. Purpose  
The Council finds that the proliferation of temporary signs is a distraction to 
the traveling public and creates aesthetic blight and litter that threatens the 
public’s health, safety, and welfare. The purpose of these regulations is to 
ensure that temporary signs are not used to continuously advertise goods, 
services, or other events, and to limit the distractions to the traveling public 
by eliminating the aesthetic blight and litter caused by temporary signs by 
allowing them only in the time, place, and manner specified in this Section. 

B. General to All 

1. Temporary signs are allowed only in compliance with the provisions of 
this Section; 

2. Unless specifically indicated, a Temporary Sign Permit is required for all 
temporary signs in accordance with Section 10-20.40.130 (Temporary Sign 
Permits). The applicable fee for a Temporary Sign Permit is established in 
Appendix 2 (Planning Fee Schedule). 

3. Temporary signs shall not be illuminated; 

4. Temporary signs associated with events restricted to a City park or other 
City-owned or operated public property, including streets, vacant land, 
and parking lots, shall be reviewed and approved by the Recreation 
Services Section in compliance with the Special Event Permit Policy; 

5. The following elements shall be prohibited on temporary signs:  

a. Any form of illumination, including flashing, blinking, or rotating 
lights; 

b. Animation; 

c. Reflective materials; and 

d. Attachments, including, but not limited to, balloons, ribbons, loud 
speakers, etc. 

6. Temporary signs are not allowed on any City property except as 
specifically authorized and permitted by the City. This prohibition does 
not apply to temporary signs held by individuals and not affixed to or 
placed on City property, so long as the individual holding the sign is on 
property determined to be a traditional public forum and the individual 
is not blocking ingress or egress from buildings or creating a safety 
hazard by impeding travel on sidewalks, bicycle and vehicle lanes, or 
trails;  



Sign Standards 10-50.100.090 

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-51 

7. Temporary signs shall not be placed in clear view zones at street 
intersections or driveways (Refer to Section 10-50.100.050.F (Sign 
Placement at Intersection)) and are not allowed within the public right-of-
way, including, but not limited to, travel lanes, bicycle lanes, street 
shoulders, parkway strips, medians, curbs, sidewalks, and trails; and 

8. The Director may remove or cause to be removed any temporary or 
portable sign erected or displayed upon, or projecting into public 
property. 

C. Specific to Commercial and Industrial Zones, Transect Zones T5 and T6, 
and Multi-family Residential Zones 
A summary of permitted temporary sign types permitted in this Section are 
listed in Table A (Summary of Permitted Temporary Sign Types) below. 
Table A also identifies whether temporary directional off-premise signs, 
temporary off-premise signs, or temporary on-premise signs are permitted.  
 

Table 10-50.100.090.A: Summary of Permitted Temporary Sign Types 

Temporary Sign Type Off-premise 
Directional Sign 

Off-premise 
Sign 

On-site 
Sign 

Section        
10-50.100.090 

Approved Temporary 
Uses 

P P1 P C.1 

Civic or Non-Profit 
Events 

P P1 P C.2 

City Special Event or 
Recreation Event 

P P1 P2 C.3 

On-Premises Business 
Signs 

-- -- P C.4 

Temporary Development/ 
Construction Signs 

-- -- P C.5 

Sign Walkers -- P3 P C.6 

End Notes 
1 Permitted only on the City’s approved sign support structures. 
2 Such signs are permitted subject to the standards applicable to City Special Events. 
3 Only allowed on private property or on a public sidewalk immediately adjacent to the business or 
use being advertised. 

Key 

P          Permitted Sign  

--         Sign Not Allowed 

 
Temporary signs on the exterior of a structure or on private property are 
allowed on property zoned commercial, industrial, or transect zones T5 and 
T6 in compliance with the following standards:  



10-50.100.090 Sign Standards 

50.100-52  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

1. Signs for Approved Temporary Uses 
Signs displayed in connection with an approved temporary use as 
established in Section 10-20.40.150 (Temporary Use Permits) shall comply 
with the standards provided in Table B (Standards for Approved 
Temporary Uses at the Location of the Event). 

Table 10-50.100.090.B: Standards for Approved Temporary Uses at the Location of the 
Event 

 Standard Other Requirements 

Sign Area Max. 24 sq. ft.   

Placement  Only on the site for which the 
temporary use is authorized. 

Securely attached to a stationary 
structure, canopy, fence or vehicle 
associated with the temporary use. 

Not in public right-of-way or 
on public property. Shall 
not create a hazard for 
pedestrian or vehicular 
traffic. See Section 10-
50.100.090.B. 

Period of Use Max. 7 days before an event. 

Removal Within 1 day after event.  

Number of Signs Max. 1 per street frontage for the approved temporary use.  

If the temporary use has multiple vendors, each vendor may have 1 
sign, max. I2 sq. ft., and it must be located at the vendor’s booth. 

Directional Signs See Table 10-50.100.090.E  

Material Rigid materials only. Banners, balloons and 
pennants prohibited. 

Illumination Not permitted.  

Permitting No Sign Permit required - reviewed as a part of the Temporary Use 
Permit for the use. 

 

2. Civic and Non-Profit Event Signs 

a. All signs advertising events organized and implemented by civic and 
non-profit organizations, or events for which a Special Event Permit 
has been approved by the Recreation Services Section, shall comply 
with the standards provided in Table C (Standards for Temporary 
Civic or Non-Profit Event Signs at the Location of the Event) and 
Table D (Standards for Temporary Off-Premise Signs on City 
Approved Sign Support Structures for City Special and Recreation 
Events, and Civic or Non-Profit Events). 
 
 
 
 



Sign Standards 10-50.100.090 

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-53 

 

 

 b. An application may be submitted to the Director for the placement of 
up to three banners on City-approved sign support structures 
(illustrated in Figure A) for the purpose of promoting a forthcoming 

Table 10-50.100.090.C: Standards for Temporary Civic or Non-Profit Event Signs at 
the Location of the Event 

 Standard  

Period of Use Max. 7 days before an event. 

Removal  Shall be removed within 1 day after an event. 

Sign Placement  

Only on the property where the event will be held. 

Not in public right-of-way, street medians, or FUTS trails. 

Shall not create a hazard for pedestrian or vehicular traffic. See 
Section 10-50.100.090.B. 

Mounting Height Max. 6 feet.  

Sign Area Max. 24 sq. ft.  

Number of Signs Max. 1 per frontage.  

Illumination Not permitted.  

Permitting No Sign Permit required. 

Table 10-50.100.090.D: Standards for Temporary Off-Premise Signs  on City-
Approved Sign Support Structures for City Special or Recreation Events, and 
Civic and Non-Profit Events 

Number of Events 
No more than 3 events per organization per year may be advertised 
on City-approved sign support structures. 

Period of Use Max.  7 days before an event. 

Sign Placement  Only at approved locations (See b. below).  

Mounting Height Max. 6 ft.  

Sign Size and Area Max. 3’ by 8’; Max. 24 sq. ft.  

Banner Details 

Grommets shall be placed at each of the corners of the banner for 
secure attachment to the support structure. 

Banners shall not have brand identification, such as “Sponsored by 
XYZ Corporation”, or a product brand across the face of the 
banner as a background. 

Logos for sponsors of the event or the banner shall be limited to 
max. 20% of the area of the banner. 

Number of Signs 
1 sign for each event per support structure, to a max. of 3 sign 
support structures.  

Removal  Within 1 day after an event.  

Illumination Not permitted.  

Permitting 
No Sign Permit required – a reservation is needed for placement of 
a banner on a support structure. See Section 10-50.100.090.C.2.b. 



10-50.100.090 Sign Standards 

50.100-54  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

civic or non-profit event, a City Recreation Services event, or an event 
for which a Special Event Permit has been approved by the Recreation 
Services Section. Placement on these structures is reserved on a first 
come, first serve basis up to three-months in advance of the event. 
The locations of the City’s approved sign support structures are 
available on a map on file with the Planning Section. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3. Temporary Directional Signs for City Special Events, Parks and 
Recreation Events, and Approved Temporary Uses  
The standards provided in Table E (Standards for Temporary Directional 
Signs for City Special Events, Recreation Events, Civic and Non-Profit 
Events, and Approved Temporary Uses) shall apply. 

Table 10-50.100.090.E: Standards for Temporary Directional Signs for City 
Special Events, Recreation Events, Civic and Non-Profit Events, and Approved 
Temporary Uses 

 Standard Other Requirements 

Area  Max. 6 sq. ft.   

Height Max. 4 feet.  

Placement Private property only. 

Only allowed 1 day prior to an 
event. 

Not in public right-of-way or 
on public property. Shall not 
create a hazard for 
pedestrian or vehicular 
traffic. See Section 10-
50.100.090.B. 

Removal Within 1 day after an event.  

Number of Signs No limit.  

Illumination Not permitted.  

Permitting No Sign Permit required - reviewed as part of Special Event Permit. 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure A. Civic or Non-Profit Event Sign Structure  



Sign Standards 10-50.100.090 

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-55 

4. Temporary On-Premises Business Signs  
Temporary signs related to an on-premises business use shall be allowed, 
subject to the following requirements and limitations: 

a. Applicability 
Temporary business signs shall not be used to continually advertise 
goods, services, or events on a site. Temporary signs shall only be 
used for short term advertising of promotional or seasonal sales 
events, and for a new occupancy or use, grand opening, going-out-of-
business, or a temporary event such as a farmers market or flea 
market. 

b. Standards for Specific Temporary Business Signs  
Standards for specific types of temporary business signs are 
established in Table F (Standards for Specific Temporary Business 
Signs). Only one of the following temporary business signs may be 
displayed per 150 linear feet of property frontage or part thereof at 
any one time, and for no longer than the maximum time allowed for 
temporary business signs. 
 

Table 10-50.100.090.F: Standards for Specific Temporary Business Signs (Includes 
Temporary A-Frame, Wall Banner, Vertical Banner, and Temporary Window Signs) 

 Maximum Duration Other Requirements 

New Occupancy or 
Use Sign 

45 consecutive days within the 
first 6 months of establishment 
of a new occupancy or use. 

Max. 1 sign per business. 

May not be combined with a grand opening 
sign. 

Sign to be removed when permanent sign is 
installed. 

Grand Opening Sign 30 consecutive days. Max. 1 sign per business. 

May not be displayed at the same time as a 
new occupancy or use sign. 

Promotional or 
Seasonal Sales Sign1 

 Max. of 1 sign for no more 
than 10 consecutive days, max. 
6 times per calendar year. 

Only 1 permit is required per calendar year. 

Going-Out-of-
Business Sign 

30 consecutive days.  Max. 1 sign per business. 

Sign to be removed when business finally 
closes. 

A-Frame Sign used as 
Secondary Signage 
in a Multi-Tenant 
Shopping Center 

No limitation on the number of 
days they may be used 

Only on the walkway directly in front of the 
store.  

Shall not interfere with pedestrian travel or 
encroach upon a required accessible path. 

Not in public right-of-way, sidewalks, 
parking areas, driveways, or landscape 
areas. 

No Temporary Sign Permit required. 



10-50.100.090 Sign Standards 

50.100-56  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

c. Types of Temporary Signs 
Wall banners are preferred as the best option for business owners 
desiring to place temporary business signs. Where the placement of a 
wall banner is not practical due to limited visibility from a public 
right-of-way or other constraints a vertical banner may be permitted 
as an alternative to the wall banner. 

(1) Temporary A-Frame or Upright Signs 
Temporary A-frame signs including upright signs shall comply 
with the standards provided in Table G (Standards for Temporary 
A-Frame or Upright Signs).  
 

 

 
 
 

 

 
 

 

Table 10-50.100.090.G: Standards for Temporary A-Frame or Upright Signs 

 Standard Other Requirements 

Placement  Private property only at the 
business location. 

 

Not in public right-of-way or 
on public property. Shall not 
create a hazard for pedestrian 
or vehicular traffic. See 
Section 10-50.100.090.B. 

Duration of use See Table 10-50.100.090.F.   

Hours of use Business hours only. 

 

Removal at the close of 
business required. 

Height Max. 4 feet.   

Width Max. 3 feet.   

Number of Signs Max. 1 per business. May either advertise a 
promotional/seasonal sale or 
be used for secondary signage. 

Illumination Not permitted.  

Permitting Temporary Sign Permit 
required. 

 

   

Figure C. A-Frame Sign 

Figure B. Upright Sign 



Sign Standards 10-50.100.090 

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-57 

 

 

(2) Temporary Vertical Banners  
Temporary vertical banners shall comply with the standards 
provided in Table H (Standards for Temporary Vertical Banners). 
 

Table 10-50.100.090.H: Standards for Temporary Vertical Banners 

 Standard Other Requirements 

Placement  Private property only at the 
business location. 

Securely fastened to the ground. 

 

Not in public right-of-way or 
on public property. Shall not 
create a hazard for 
pedestrian or vehicular 
traffic. See Section 10-
50.100.090.B. 

Mounting Secure attachment to mounting pole required. 

Hours of use Business hours only. Removal at the close of 
business required. 

Duration of use See Table 10-50.100.090.F.   

Height Max. 10 feet.  Measured from grade to the 
top of the vertical banner. 

Width Max. 2 feet.   

Number of Signs Max. 1 per business.  

Illumination Not permitted.  

Permitting Temporary Sign Permit required.  

Design and construction Professionally crafted.  

 

Table 10-50.100.090.G: Standards for Temporary A-Frame or Upright Signs 

 Standard Other Requirements 

Design and construction Shall be: 
(1) Constructed of min.  ¾-inch, high density exterior grade 
compressed wood or molded plastic; 

(2) Constructed with a protective, water resistant coating that is 
impervious to weather conditions; 

(3) Constructed with cut vinyl graphics and may contain zip 
tracks for changing of cut vinyl graphics; 

(4) Of sufficient weight and durability to withstand wind gusts, 
storms, etc.; and 

(5) Maintained in a professional manner free of chipping paint, 
cracks, gouges, and loss of letters, etc. 

 



10-50.100.090 Sign Standards 

50.100-58  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(3) Temporary Wall Banners  
Temporary wall banners are permitted in all commercial and 
industrial zones in compliance with the standards provided in 
Table I (Standards for Temporary Wall Banners). 

Table 10-50.100.090.I: Standards for Temporary Wall Banners 

 Standard Other Requirements 

Placement  Private property only. Not in public right-of-way. 

Not attached to a vehicle. 

Mounting  Attached to a primary structure only, 
and not to any part of a roof or the 
supports for the roof. 

Secure attachment to 
building required. 

Mounting Height Max. 25 feet to top of sign.  

Area Max. 24 sq. ft.  

Number of Signs Max. 1 per business.  

Illumination Not permitted.  

Duration of use See Table 10-50.100.090.F.   

Permitting Temporary Sign Permit required. Wall banners shall not be 
used as permanent signs. 

Design and construction Professionally crafted.  
 

Figure D. Temporary Vertical Banner 



Sign Standards 10-50.100.090 

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-59 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(4) Window Signs 
Temporary window signs shall comply with the standards 
provided in Table J (Standards for Temporary Window Signs). 

Table 10-50.100.090.J: Standards for Temporary Window Signs 

 Standard Other Requirements 

Sign Area  Area of temporary and 
permanent window signs 
combined (including signs 
constructed of perforated vinyl 
or painted on the window) shall 
not exceed 25% of the area of 
the window on or within which 
they are displayed. 

Not included in the total allowable 
sign area. 

 

Sign Placement No higher than 1st story 
windows.  

Inside mounting preferred. 

Illumination Not permitted. 

Permitting No Sign Permit required.  

 

5. Temporary New Development/Construction Signs 
Temporary signs announcing new development or construction shall 
comply with the standards provided in Table K (Standards for 
Temporary New Development/Construction Signs). 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Figure E. Temporary Wall Banner 



10-50.100.090 Sign Standards 

50.100-60  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

6. Sign Walkers  
Sign walkers are allowed, subject to the following standards: 

a. Sign walkers shall only be allowed in commercial and industrial 
zones, and Transect Zones T5 and T6; 

b. Sign walkers shall only be located on private property with the 
property owner’s or property manager’s written approval, or on a 
public sidewalk or walkway immediately adjacent to the property for 
which the use, activity, business, sale, or advertising is being 
conducted; 

c. Sign walkers shall be located a minimum of 30 feet from a street or 
driveway intersection measured from the back of the curb or edge of 
pavement if no curb exists, and shall not be located in any of the 
following locations: 

(1) On any public property or within any public right-of-way except 
as specified in paragraph b.; 

(2) In parking aisles or stalls; 

(3) In driving lanes; 

(4) On fences, walls, boulders, planters, other signs, vehicles, utility 
facilities or any other structure; 

(5) Within 30 feet from any other sign walker; or, 

(6) In a manner that results in sign walkers physically interacting 
with motorists, pedestrians, or bicyclists; 

d. Sign walkers shall be limited to the hours of operation of the business 
they are advertising; 

Table 10-50.100.090.K: Standards for Temporary  New Development/Construction 
Signs 

Sign Area  Max. 32 sq. ft.   

Sign Placement Max. 1 sign per street frontage. 

Only on the site where the new 
development is proposed. 

Only after Site Plan Approval has 
been granted. 

Sign Removal Prior to issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy. 

Illumination Not permitted. 

Permitting No Sign Permit required.   



Sign Standards 10-50.100.100 

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-61 

e. Sign walker signs shall not exceed eight square feet in area, shall not 
exceed eight feet in height when held or in place, and shall be 
professionally crafted; 

f. Sign walker signs that include any of the following are prohibited:  

(1) Any form of illumination, including flashing, blinking or rotating 
lights; 

(2) Animation on the sign itself; or 

(3) Spinning, waving, throwing the sign in the air or any other such 
erratic movement intended to attract attention. 

g. No Sign Permit is required for sign walkers.  

10-50.100.100 Sign Districts of Special Designation 

A. Flagstaff Central District  

1. Purpose   
The additional sign regulations provided in this Section for the Flagstaff 
Central District Area of Special Designation are intended to recognize, 
preserve and promote the inherent and unique qualities of Flagstaff’s 
historic downtown area of the City which is an integral part of the City's 
economic stability and growth. The area designated as the Flagstaff 
Central District encompasses those areas of the City characterized by 
narrow streets, smaller lots, and lot frontages, and buildings 
representative of the early development of Flagstaff. 

2. Applicability   

a. The Flagstaff Central District is bounded by Columbus 
Avenue/Switzer Canyon Drive to the north, Butler Avenue to the 
south, Park Street to the west, and Elden Street to the east. The 
Flagstaff Central District is mapped on Map 10-90.40.040 (Flagstaff 
Central District) in Division 10-90.40 (Overlay Maps).  

b. The standards provided in this Section shall be applied in addition to 
the standards and requirements otherwise established in this 
Division.  

3. Permits  
All applications for Sign Permits for signs to be located in the Flagstaff 
Central District shall follow the sign permitting requirements and 
procedures established in Section 10-20.40.120 (Sign Permit - Permanent 
Signs), except that signs to be located in the Flagstaff Central District shall 
also be reviewed for approval by the Historic Preservation Officer.  



10-50.100.100 Sign Standards 

50.100-62  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

4. Findings for Signs Proposed in the Central District  
Signs proposed in the Flagstaff Central District shall be reviewed and 
approved based on application of the following findings to ensure that 
signs are: 

a. Representative of the character of the surrounding district and 
adjacent architecture, as well as of the building on which they appear, 
when considered in terms of scale, color, materials, lighting levels, 
and adjoining uses; 

b. In proper scale to and expressive of the business or activity for which 
they are displayed; 

c. Innovative in the use of three dimensional form (i.e. letters, logos, or 
other sign elements shall have  a minimum relief of  the lesser of 1 
percent of the longest sign dimension or 1.5 inches), profile, and 
iconographic representation;  

d. Employed with exceptional lighting design; 

e. Employed with exceptional graphic design, including the outstanding 
use of color, pattern, typography, and materials; and 

f. Made of high quality and durable materials appropriate for an urban 
setting.  
 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

 

 
 

Figure A. Local Examples of Signs Appropriately Designed for the Flagstaff 
Central District  



Sign Standards 10-50.100.100 

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-63 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5. Standards  
Signs within the Flagstaff Central District shall comply with the 
standards and requirements otherwise established in this Division as well 
as the following standards:  

a. Building Mounted Signs 
Building mounted signs provide simple business identification. The 
standards provided in Table A (Standards for Building Mounted 
Signs in Flagstaff Central District) shall apply. 

Table 10-50.100.100.A: Standards for Building Mounted Signs in Flagstaff Central District 

 Standard 

Total Sign Area for the 
Building 

The greater of: 

(1) The number of building entries1 + 1 sign X 30 sq. ft. (e.g. if a 
building has 6 entries the Total Sign Area = 6 + 1 X 30 = 210 sq. ft.); 
or 

(2) 100 sq. ft. max. 

Individual Sign Area for Each 
Business 

The lesser of: 

(1)1 sq. ft. to 1 linear ft. of the width of the business space served by an 
entrance2; or 

(2) 100 sq. ft. max.; or 

(3) The total sign area for the building. 

Number of Signs Number of building entries1 + 1. 

Sign Placement No higher than the lesser of either: 

(1) The 2nd story sill level; or 

Figure A Continued. Local Examples of 
Signs Appropriately Designed for the 
Flagstaff Central District  



10-50.100.100 Sign Standards 

50.100-64  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

Table 10-50.100.100.A: Standards for Building Mounted Signs in Flagstaff Central District 

 Standard 
(2) On or above the expression line of any building; or 

(3) Not above any visible roofing material on the building element; or 

(4) Max. 25 feet. 

At least 1 sign shall be associated with the building entry zone1 (may be 
wall mounted, projecting, awning, etc.). 

Sign copy on awnings is only permitted on 1st story windows. 

Where multiple businesses use a common entrance, a common sign 
shall be placed adjacent to the sidewalk level building entry3. 

Painted Building Mounted 
Signs 

Shall comply with Table 10-50.100.060.C. 

The requirement for three dimensional form required in the Findings 
for Signs Proposed in the Central District shall not apply. 

Illumination See Section 10-50.100.050.C.  

Permitting Sign Permit is required.  

End Notes 
1 Building entries in this context do not include service entries or separate doors for lodging rooms. 
2 Where a building has multiple frontages (i.e. a corner building), the shortest frontage shall apply. 
3 Two or more businesses served by a common entrance are considered 1 business for sign 
computation purposes. 

 

 
Business A: 
Max. Total Bldg. Sign Area is (3+1)x30 = 120 sf  
  
Max. Area for Sign 1 is 100x1 = 100 sf  
Max. Area for Sign 2 is 75x1 = 75 sf  
Max. Area for Sign 3 is 125x1 = 125 sf (100 sf max.) 
Since the sum of these exceeds 120 sf, one or more 
sign sizes must be reduced. 
Max. No. of signs is 3+1 = 4 

Business B: 
Max. Total Bldg. Sign Area is (1+1)x30 = 60 sf  
Allowed = 100 sf  
Max. Ind. Sign Area is 25x1 = 25 sf  
Max. No. of signs is 1+1 = 2  
 
Business C: 
Max. Total Bldg. Sign Area is (1+1)x30 = 60 sf  
Allowed = 100 sf  
Max. Ind. Sign Area is 150x1 = 150 sf  
Max. No. of signs is 1+1 = 2  

 

 
Figure B. Total Sign Area for the Building and Individual Sign Area for Each Business 



Sign Standards 10-50.100.100 

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-65 

(1) Signs painted directly on the building when the wall surface 
already has been painted in a uniform manner are permitted.  
Signs proposed for previously unpainted rock or brick are not 
permitted. Heritage signs shall not be defaced or obscured. 

(2) Awning  and Canopy Signs 
Awning signs used to enhance a storefront or canopy signs used 
to accent building entries may be used in lieu of projecting signs, 
and may be used in coordination with flush building mounted 
signs.  Such signs are subject to the provisions in Section 10-
50.100.060.C.4.b.(1) and (3). 

 

 

(3) Building Identification Sign 
The standards provided in Table B (Standards for Building 
Identification Signs) shall apply. 

Table 10-50.100.100.B: Standards for Building Identification Signs in the Flagstaff 
Central District 

 Standard Other Requirements 

Sign Area Signs ≤ 12 sq. ft. are not 
included in the total 
allowable sign area.  

Signs > 12 sq. ft. are included 
in the total allowable area for 
building mounted signs. 

Mounting Height  No limitation - shall not project above the roof peak or break 
the silhouette of the building. 

Sign Placement Shall be placed above, or in relation to, the primary entrance to 
the building. 

Illumination Not permitted. 

Permitting Sign Permit is required.  

Figure C. Awning and Canopy Signs 



10-50.100.100 Sign Standards 

50.100-66  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(4) Projecting Signs 
The standards provided in Table C (Standards for Projecting Signs 
in the Flagstaff Central District) shall apply. 

Table 10-50.100.100.C: Standards for Projecting Signs in the Flagstaff Central 
District 

 Standard  

Sign Area Max. 16 sq. ft. (included in the total allowable sign area for 
building mounted signs) 

Mounting Height  Min. of 8 feet from the bottom of the sign to the sidewalk, and 
mounted perpendicular to the building face or corner of the 
building. 

Number of Signs Max. 1 per business. 

Sign Placement Shall extend a max. of 4 feet from the building. 

 

Illumination Non-illuminated or externally illuminated. Down directed, fully 
shielded fixtures only.  

Permitting Sign Permit is required  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Figure E. Projecting Sign 

Figure D. Building Identification Sign 



Sign Standards 10-50.100.100 

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-67 

b. Freestanding Signs 
Two styles of freestanding signs are permitted within the Flagstaff 
Central District: either a low profile freestanding sign, or a 
freestanding suspended sign. The standards provided in Table D 
(Standards for Freestanding Signs in Flagstaff Central District) shall 
apply. 

Table 10-50.100.100.D: Standards for Freestanding Signs in Flagstaff Central District 

 Standard Other Requirements 

Area Height 

Low Profile Freestanding Sign 
– Single Tenant Use 

24 sq. ft. 6 feet Shall be mounted on 2 poles placed at the 
outermost sides of the sign face, or on a 
low profile sign base. 

Low Profile Freestanding Sign 
– Multiple Tenant Use 

32 sq. ft. 8 feet Shall be mounted on 2 poles placed at the 
outermost sides of the sign face, or on a 
low profile sign base. 

Freestanding Suspended Sign  18 sq. ft. 10 feet to 
top of 
sign pole 

Sign structure shall consist of a vertical pole 
and horizontal decorative sign support, 
and shall be constructed of wood or 
metal. 

Number of Signs 1 sign permitted per business. 

Illumination See Section                
10-50.100.050.C. 

Externally illuminated with down-directed 
and shielded fixtures only.  

Permitting Sign Permit is required.  

    Figure F. Freestanding Sign 

 

c. Temporary Signs 
Temporary signs proposed within the Flagstaff Central District shall 
comply with the standards established in Section 10-50.100.090 
(Temporary Signs). 



10-50.100.100 Sign Standards 

50.100-68  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

B. Downtown Historic District  

1. Purpose  
This Section establishes additional sign regulations for the Downtown 
Historic District. Refer to Division 10-30.30 (Heritage Preservation). 

2. Applicability  

a. The Downtown Historic District applies to all properties located 
within the T6 Transect Zone (Refer to Section 10-10.40.100, T6 
Downtown (T6) Standards) and the area bounded by the east side of 
Humphreys Street to the west side of Verde Street, and by the north 
side of Route 66 to the south side of Cherry Avenue, including 
portions of Flagstaff Townsite and Railroad Addition Subdivisions. 
The Downtown Historic District is mapped on Map 10-90.40.030 
(Downtown Historic Design Review), in Division 10-90.40 (Overlay 
Maps).  

b. The standards provided in this Section for the Downtown Historic 
District shall be applied in addition to the standards and 
requirements otherwise established in this Division. 

3. Permits 
All applications for Sign Permits for signs to be located in the Downtown 
Historic District shall follow the sign permitting requirements and 
procedures established in Section 10-20.40.120 (Sign Permit - Permanent 
Signs), except that the Heritage Preservation Commission or Heritage 
Preservation Officer shall also review the Sign Permit application 
following the procedures established in Division 10-30.30 (Heritage 
Preservation). 

4. Design Standards  
Signs within the Downtown Historic District shall comply with the 
standards and requirements otherwise established in this Division as well 
as with the findings and standards established in Subsection A.4 and A.5 
applicable to the Flagstaff Central District and the Development Design 
Standards and Guidelines for this district established in the Design 
Handbook for Downtown Flagstaff (1997). 

5. Temporary Signs 
Temporary signs proposed within the Downtown Historic District shall 
comply with the standards established in Section 10-50.100.090 
(Temporary Signs), except as provided below: 

a. No A-frame, upright signs, or vertical banners shall be permitted in 
the Downtown Historic District. 

b. Temporary stanchion signs shall comply with the standards provided 
in Table 10.50.100.100.E (Standards for Temporary Stanchion Signs).  
 



Sign Standards 10-50.100.100 

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-69 

Table 10-50.100.100.E: Standards for Temporary Stanchion Signs 

 Standard Other Requirements 

Placement  Only within the Downtown 
Historic District. 

Only within the amenity zone 
on the sidewalk directly in 
front of the store.  

Hours of use Business hours only. 

 

Removal at the close of 
business required. 

Height Max. 4 feet.   

Width Max. 12 inches.   

Number of Signs Max. 1 per business.  

Illumination Not permitted.  

Permitting No Sign Permit required.  

Design and construction Professionally crafted. 

Shall be compatible with the architectural character of the 
Downtown District. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

C. Reserved for Future Use 
 

 
 
 

Figure G. Stanchion Sign 



10-50.100.100 Sign Standards 

50.100-70  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

D. Flagstaff Auto Park District 

1. Purpose 
The purpose of the Flagstaff Auto Park District Area of Special 
Designation is to recognize that the interior parcels of a large commercial 
center should be entitled to install the same kind of business signage as 
the perimeter parcels, and to promote the economic vitality and 
commercial viability of those businesses that do not have highway 
frontage.     

2. Applicability 

a. The Flagstaff Auto Park District includes lots 1 through 13, a portion 
of Historic Route 66 between North Test Drive and US Highway 89, 
and City owned property on the southeast corner of the intersection 
of Historic Route 66 and US Highway 89 as illustrated in Figure H. 
The Flagstaff Auto Park District Area of Special Designation is not to 
be confused with any other district which may be designated for 
special consideration within the City of Flagstaff.   

b. The special regulations for the Flagstaff Auto Park District apply only 
to an off-premise Auto Park identification sign located on the 
southeast corner of the intersection of Historic Route 66 and North 
Highway 89 and an Auto Park entrance sign to be located on Lot 8 at 
the northeast corner of the intersection of Test Drive and Historic 
Route 66. All other signs proposed on all lots and parcels within the 
Flagstaff Auto Park District shall comply with the applicable 
provisions of this Division. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Figure H. Flagstaff Auto Park District 



Sign Standards 10-50.100.100 

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-71 

3. Permits 

a. Permits for signs in the Flagstaff Auto Park District Area of Special 
Designation may only be issued after a completed sign permit 
application (Refer to Section 10-20.40.120 (Sign Permit - Permanent 
Signs) and Section 10-20.40.130 (Sign Permit - Temporary Signs)) has 
been reviewed by the Planning Director.    

b. The Planning Director may approve, conditionally approve or deny a 
sign proposal for the off-premise Auto Park identification sign or an 
Auto Park entrance sign in the Flagstaff Auto Park District, and shall 
only approve an application that complies with the Design Standards 
established in Subsection 4.  

4. Design Standards 

a. Primary Flagstaff Auto Park District Identification Sign 
The primary Flagstaff Auto Park District identification sign shall 
comply with the following standards. Refer also to Figure I. 

(1) Overall Sign Dimensions 

(a) Height  
The maximum overall height of the sign shall be 22 feet and 
three inches measured from the highest finish grade at the 
base of the sign to the top of the sign. The maximum height of 
the sign body and base measured from the highest finish 
grade to the top of the sign body shall be nine feet. 

(b) Diameter 
The maximum diameter of the sign body (i.e. where the auto 
dealer logos will be placed) shall be 15 feet. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Figure I. Primary Flagstaff Auto Park District Identification Sign 



10-50.100.100 Sign Standards 

50.100-72  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

(2) Sign Materials and Standards 

(a) The sign base below where the auto dealer logos will be 
placed shall be constructed with natural stone or an authentic 
simulation of natural stone. 

(b) The sign copy identifying this sign for the Flagstaff Auto Park 
District shall be mounted without raceways. 

(c) Signs for individual auto dealers shall only be mounted on the 
sign body, and shall only include logos for those businesses, 
and not text. 

(d) The Flagstaff Auto Park District sign shall include a 
landscaped area located around the base of the sign equal to 
two and one-half square feet for each square foot of sign area 
and containing trees, shrubs and ground cover plants. Shrubs 
and ground covers shall have a spacing of not greater than 
three feet on center. 

b. Secondary Flagstaff Auto Park District Identification Sign 
The secondary Flagstaff Auto Park District identification sign shall 
comply with the following standards. Refer also to Figure J. 
 

(1) Overall Sign Dimensions 

(a) Height 
The maximum overall height of the sign (i.e. the sign body and 
base only) shall be nine feet measured from the highest finish 
grade at the base of the sign to the top of the sign.  

(b) Diameter 
The maximum diameter of the sign body (i.e. where the auto 
dealer logos will be placed) shall be 15 feet. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Figure J. Secondary Flagstaff Auto Park District Identification Sign 



Sign Standards 10-50.100.100 

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-73 

(2) Sign Materials and Standards 

(a) The sign base below where the auto dealer logos will be 
placed shall be constructed with natural stone or an authentic 
simulation of natural stone. 

(b) The sign copy identifying this sign for the Flagstaff Auto Park 
District shall be mounted without raceways. 

(c) Signs for individual auto dealers shall only be mounted on the 
sign body, and shall only include logos for those businesses, 
and not text. 

(d) The sign shall include a landscaped area located around the 
base of the sign equal to two and one-half square feet for each 
square foot of sign area and containing trees, shrubs and 
ground cover plants placed throughout the required 
landscape area. Shrubs and ground covers shall have a 
spacing of not greater than three feet on center. 

5. Sign Maintenance 
Signs shall be maintained in accordance with the provisions of Section 10-
50.100.050.E. 

E. Flagstaff Mall and Marketplace District 

1. Purpose 
This Section establishes additional sign regulations for the Flagstaff Mall 
and Marketplace District. 

2. Applicability 

a. The Flagstaff Mall and Marketplace District includes those lots 
developed as the Flagstaff Mall and Marketplace, a portion of Historic 
Route 66 between North Test Drive and North Country Club Drive, a 
portion of North Country Club Drive from Historic Route 66 to East 
Nestle Purina Avenue, and City owned property on the northeast 
corner of the intersection of North Country Club Drive and East 
Nestle Purina Avenue as illustrated in Figure K. The Flagstaff Mall 
and Marketplace District is not to be confused with any other district 
which may be designated for special consideration within the City of 
Flagstaff.   

b. The special regulations for the Flagstaff Mall and Marketplace District 
apply only to an off-premise Flagstaff Mall and Marketplace 
identification sign located within an easement area defined in 
Easement Agreement (Monument Sign) between the City of Flagstaff 
and Flagstaff Mall SPE LLC on City owned property on the northeast 
corner of the intersection of North Country Club Drive and East 
Nestle Purina Avenue. All other signs proposed on all lots and parcels 



10-50.100.100 Sign Standards 

50.100-74  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

within the Flagstaff Mall and Marketplace District shall comply with 
the applicable provisions of this Division. Any real property located 
within both the Flagstaff Marketplace District and Flagstaff Auto Park 
District shall be considered as belonging to one or the other of these 
districts. No combination of districts is intended by the overlapping of 
the Flagstaff Mall and Marketplace District and the Flagstaff Auto 
Park District. The Flagstaff Mall and Marketplace identification sign 
referenced above may also include the name “Auto Park” within the 
sign name portion of the sign above the future tenant panels. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3. Permits 

a. Permits for signs in the Flagstaff Mall and Marketplace District may 
only be issued after a completed sign permit application (Refer to 
Section 10-20.40.120 (Sign Permit - Permanent Signs) and Section 10-
20.40.130 (Sign Permit - Temporary Signs)) has been reviewed by the 
Planning Director.    

b. The Planning Director may approve, conditionally approve or deny a 
sign proposal for the off-premise Flagstaff Mall and Marketplace 
identification sign, and shall only approve an application that 
complies with the Design Standards established in Subsection 4.  

4. Design Standards 
The Flagstaff Auto Park and Marketplace District identification sign shall 
be designed and constructed in accordance with the approved 

Figure K. Flagstaff Mall and Marketplace District 



Sign Standards 10-50.100.100 

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-75 

Comprehensive Sign Plan dated January 10, 2006 for the Flagstaff Mall 
and Marketplace, and shall comply with the following standards. Refer 
also to Figure L. 

a. Overall Sign Dimensions 

(1) Height  
The maximum overall height of the sign shall be 22 feet and six 
inches measured from the highest finish grade at the base of the 
sign to the top of the sign. The maximum height of the sign body 
(i.e. future tenant panels signage area) and sign base measured 
from the highest finish grade to the base of the sign shall be 20 
feet. 

(2) Length 
The maximum length of the sign base shall be 17 feet. 

(3) Width 
The maximum width of the sign base shall be four feet. 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

 
Figure L. Flagstaff Mall and Marketplace District Identification Sign 



10-50.100.100 Sign Standards 

50.100-76  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

(4) Sign Name 
The maximum height of the portion of the sign where the letters 
“Flagstaff Mall & Marketplace Auto Park” will be located shall be 
six feet, and its maximum width shall be 14 feet and six inches. 

b. Sign Materials and Standards 

(1) The sign base shall be constructed with natural stone or an 
authentic simulation of natural stone and capped with a concrete 
cap no more than six inches thick. 

(2) The sign cabinet exterior shall be aluminum painted with no more 
than two complimentary colors with a satin finish. 

(3) Eight removable aluminum routed faces mounted in two columns 
of four sign faces each shall be provided for future tenants of the 
Flagstaff Mall and Marketplace District. 

(4) A white acrylic internally illuminated accent feature may be 
incorporated into the top of the sign cabinet. 

(5) The name used to identify this sign shall be “Flagstaff Mall & 
Marketplace Auto Park” may be incorporated into the top of the 
sign cabinet. 

(6) Sign Area 

(a) The overall sign area shall not exceed 216 sq. ft. on each side of 
the sign. 

(b) The area for each of the future tenant panels shall not exceed 
two feet in height and a total width for both columns of panels 
of 14 feet and 6 inches. 

(c) Each future tenant panel shall be separated from the sign face 
above or below it by no more than three inches. 

(d) The total height of the signage area shall not exceed 14 feet 
and 8 inches. 

c. Sign Illumination: 

(1) The sign shall be internally illuminated only, and no external 
indirect illumination of the sign structure by any means is 
permitted. 

 (2) Internally illuminated sign panels shall be constructed with an 
opaque background and translucent letters and symbols, or with a 
colored background and lighter letters and symbols.  Where white 
or other night bright colors are part of a logo, such colors are 



Sign Standards 10-50.100.140 

Flagstaff Zoning Code  50.100-77 

permitted in the logo only, provided that the logo represents not 
more than 50 percent of the total sign area permitted. 

5. Sign Maintenance 
Signs shall be maintained in accordance with the provisions of Section 10-
50.100.050.E. 

10-50.100.110 Nonconforming Signs  

 Section 10-20.60.110 (Nonconforming Signs) provides the standards and 
regulations for Nonconforming Signs.  

10-50.100.120 Enforcement  

 It shall be unlawful for any person, firm or corporation to erect, construct, 
enlarge, alter, repair, display, maintain or use a sign within the City contrary to, 
or in violation of, any provision of this Division. The requirements of this 
Division shall be enforced in compliance with the enforcement provisions of 
Division 10-20.110 (Enforcement). 

10-50.100.130 Appeals 

 Any person, firm or corporation aggrieved by a decision of the Director in 
interpreting, applying, or enforcing this Section may file an appeal in compliance 
with the appeal provisions established in Section 10-20.80.020 (Appeals of 
Interpretations by Zoning Code Administrator or Director).  

10-50.100.140   Severability 

A. If any Section, sentence, clause, phrase, word, portion, or provision of the 
Division is held invalid or unconstitutional by any court of competent 
jurisdiction, such decision shall not affect, impair, or invalidate any other 
Section, sentence, clause, phrase, word, portion, or provision of this Division 
which can be given effect without the invalid provision.  

B. The invalidation of the application of any Section, sentence, clause, phrase, 
word, portion, or provision of this Division to a particular property or 
structure, or any particular properties or structures, by any court of 
competent jurisdiction shall not affect the application of such Section, 
sentence, clause, phrase, word, portion or provision to any other property or 
structure not specifically included in said invalidation. 

 



10-50.100.140 Sign Standards 

50.100-78  Flagstaff Zoning Code 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This page intentionally left blank 
 

 

 



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-22 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF, 
AMENDING THE FLAGSTAFF CITY CODE, TITLE 10, THE CITY OF 
FLAGSTAFF ZONING CODE, CHAPTER 10-50, SUPPLEMENTAL TO 
ZONES, DIVISION 10-50.100 SIGN STANDARDS, CHAPTER 10-20, 
ADMINISTRATION, PROCEDURES, AND ENFORCEMENT, DIVISION 10-
20.40, PERMITS AND APPROVALS, AND CHAPTER 10-80, DEFINITIONS, 
DIVISION 10-80.20, DEFINITIONS OF SPECIALIZED TERMS, PHRASES, 
AND BUILDING FUNCTIONS, BY ADOPTING BY REFERENCE THAT 
CERTAIN DOCUMENT ENTITLED “2016 AMENDMENTS TO CITY CODE 
TITLE 10, ZONING CODE, DIVISION 10-50.100 SIGN STANDARDS, AND 
OTHER RELATED DIVISIONS”; PROVIDING FOR PENALTIES, REPEAL OF 
CONFLICTING ORDINANCES, SEVERABILITY, AND ESTABLISHING AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE  

 

 
 
RECITALS: 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council has determined that amendments to the Zoning Code, Title 10 
of the Flagstaff City Code, Chapter 10-50, Supplemental to Zones, Division 10-50.100, 
Sign Standards, Chapter 10-20, Administration, Procedures, and Enforcement, Division 10-
20.40, Permits and Approvals, and Chapter 10-80, Definitions, Division 10-80.20, Definitions of 
Specialized Terms, Phrases, and Building Functions, are necessary in order to ensure, among 
other things, that the City’s sign standards have been clarified to ensure they are consistent 
with the US Supreme Court’s decision in Reed v. Town of Gilbert, 135 S. Ct. 2218 (2015); 
and 
 
WHEREAS, the Mayor and Council have, by resolution, previously declared the “2016 
Amendments to City Code Title 10, Zoning Code, Division 10-50.100, Sign Standards, and 
Other Related Divisions,” (referred to hereinafter as the “Proposed Amendments”) to be a public 
record; and 
 
WHEREAS,  in a work session held on December 8, 2015, the City Council considered public 
comment, discussed various options and alternatives, and, after deliberation, directed staff to 
return with those changes that now comprise the Proposed Amendments; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission at their public meeting on February 24, 2016, 
recommended that the City Council adopt the Proposed Amendments; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council finds that the City has complied with the statutory notice and 
meeting requirements. 
 
 
ENACTMENTS: 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF 
AS FOLLOWS: 
 
SECTION 1. The proposed amendment is consistent with and conforms to the objectives and 
policies of the General Plan (Regional Plan). 



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-22  PAGE 2 

SECTION 2. The proposed amendment will not be detrimental to the public interest, health, 
safety, convenience or welfare of the City. 
  
SECTION 3. The proposed amendment is internally consistent with other applicable provisions 
of the Flagstaff Zoning Code. 
 
SECTION 4.  In General.  
 
That the document entitled “2016 Amendments to City Code Title 10, Zoning Code, Division 
10-50.100 (Sign Standards) and Other Related Divisions,” three copies of which are on file in 
the office of the City Clerk of the City of Flagstaff, Arizona and previously declared by 
Resolution No. 2016-13 to be a public record, is hereby adopted and made a part hereof as if 
fully set out in this ordinance and its provisions declared to be inserted into the Zoning Code 
and to replace and supersede the existing relevant provisions of the Zoning Code. 
 
SECTION 5. Penalties. 
 
Whenever the Flagstaff Zoning Code prohibits an act or makes or declares an act to be unlawful 
or an offense, or whenever in the Code the doing of any act is required, or the failure to do any act 
is declared to be unlawful, the violation of any such provision shall be punished as follows: 
 
Civil Penalty: Any person found responsible for violating the Flagstaff Zoning Code shall be 
sentenced to a fine of not less than $100. Any person found responsible of a second violation 
committed within 36 months of a prior violation shall be subject to a fine of not less than $250. Any 
person found responsible of a third or subsequent violation within 36 months of a prior violation 
shall be subject to a fine of not less than $500. 
 
Criminal Penalty: Any person found responsible by the Flagstaff Municipal Court for three or 
more civil violations of the Flagstaff Zoning Code within a 24-month period shall be deemed a 
habitual offender. A habitual offender who subsequently violates the Flagstaff Zoning Code shall 
be guilty of a class 1 misdemeanor.  
 
SECTION 6. Repeal of Conflicting Ordinances.    
 
All ordinances and parts of ordinances in conflict with the provisions of this ordinance or any 
part of the code adopted herein by reference are hereby repealed. 
 
SECTION 7. Severability. 
 
That, if any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase or portion of this ordinance or any of 
the amendments adopted in this ordinance is for any reason held to be invalid, unconstitutional, 
or unenforceable by a decision of any court of competent jurisdiction, such decision shall not 
affect any of the remaining portions thereof. 
 
SECTION 8. Effective Date. 
 
This ordinance shall be effective (30) thirty days after adoption. 
 
 
 
 



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-22  PAGE 3 

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Flagstaff this 5th day of April, 
2016. 
 
 
 
 
 
      _______________________________________  
      MAYOR 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
__________________________________  
CITY CLERK 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
 
__________________________________  
CITY ATTORNEY 
 
 



  14. B. 1.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT
To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Brian Kulina, Planning Development
Manager

Date: 03/16/2016

Meeting
Date:

03/22/2016

TITLE: 
Public Hearing, Consideration, and Adoption of Ordinance No. 2016-08:   An ordinance of the
Flagstaff City Council amending the Flagstaff Zoning Map Downtown Regulating Plan designation of
approximately 0.29 acres of land generally located west of the southwest corner of Mikes Pike and
Phoenix Avenue from the T4 Neighborhood 1 - Open (T4N.1-O) and T5 Main Street (T5) transect zones
to the T4 Neighborhood 2 (T4N.2) transect zone and of approximately 1.35 acres located at 17 S Mikes
Pike from the T4 Neighborhood 1 - Open (T4N.1-O) transect zone to the T5 Main Street (T5) transect
zone, conditional. (The Hub Zoning Map Amendment) *ORDER CHANGED TO DISCUSS SECOND
READ OF ORDINANCE PRIOR TO DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
1)  Read Ordinance No. 2016-08 by title only for the final time
2) City Clerk reads Ordinance No. 2016-08 by title only (if approved above)
3)  Adopt Ordinance No. 2016-08

Executive Summary:
A direct ordinance Zoning Map Amendment request from Core Campus LLC amending the Downtown Regulating
Plan from the existing T4 Neighborhood 1 (T4N.1) transect to the proposed T5 Main Street (T5) transect located
along Mikes Pike and containing approximately 1.35 acres, and from the existing T4 Neighborhood 1 (T4N.1) and
the T5 Main Street (T5) transects to the proposed T4 Neighborhood 2 (T4N.2) transect located along Phoenix
Avenue and containing approximately 0.29 acres.

Financial Impact:

The proposed Development Agreement deal points (attached) address anticipated contributions for
traffic, water and sewer to assure proportionality and requested upgrades to existing infrastructure. A
draft Development Agreement will be provided to Council for its review prior to the meeting on March 22,
2016. 

Connection to Council Goal and/or Regional Plan:
COUNCIL GOALS:
1) Provide sustainable and equitable public facilities, services, and infrastructure systems in an efficient
and effective manner to serve all population areas and demographics
2) Provide a well-managed transportation system
3) Continue to implement the Flagstaff Regional Plan and focus efforts on specific plans



REGIONAL PLAN:
Staff has identified 66 Regional Plan Goals and Policies that could be applied to support or not support
the proposed Zoning Map Amendment.  For reference, a list of those policies is attached to this report. 

Has There Been Previous Council Decision on This:
The Flagstaff City Council opened the Public Hearing on February 19, 2016, and continued it to February
23, 2016, and March 1, 2016, at which time first reading of the ordinance occurred.

Options and Alternatives:
1)  Approve the ordinance with the proposed conditions.
2)  Approve the ordinance with no conditions, additional conditions, or modified conditions.
3)  Deny the ordinance based on the required findings in Section 10-20.50.040(F)(1)(a) of the Zoning
Code.

Background/History:
Core Campus LLC (the “Developer”) is requesting a direct ordinance Zoning Map Amendment amending
the Downtown Regulating Plan as follows: (1) from the existing T4 Neighborhood 1 (T4N.1) transect to
the proposed T5 Main Street (T5) transect to allow for ground floor commercial uses and establish a
5-floor maximum building height, located along Mikes Pike and containing approximately 1.35 acres; and,
(2) from the existing T4 Neighborhood 1 (T4N.1) and the T5 Main Street (T5) transects to the proposed
T4 Neighborhood 2 (T4N.2) transect to allow for ground floor residential uses and establish a 4-floor
maximum building height, located along Phoenix Avenue and containing approximately 0.29 acres.  This
proposed conditional amendment, combined with two (2) proposed Conditional Use Permit requests and
other entitled parcels, will allow for the development of a 99 dwelling unit per acre mixed-use multi-family
style student housing building consisting of 236 dwelling units (664 beds) located above and behind
approximately 14,096 square feet of commercial uses on approximately 2.39 acres generally located at
17 S Mikes Pike (the “Subject Property”).  The Subject Property is currently developed with a mixture of
uses including commercial, contractor office and storage yard, automotive lube shop, and single-family
residential.  There are no natural resources (rural floodplain, slope, or forest) on-site.  For additional
information regarding the characteristics of the site and reason for the request, please reference the
attached Rezone Narrative.
 
Land use north of the Subject Property is light industrial including the City of Flagstaff Phoenix Storage
building and the Northern Arizona Intergovernmental Public Transportation Authority (“NAIPTA”) transfer
stations.  Land uses to the east of the Subject Property are a mixture of commercial and service including
restaurant, retail, and office.  Land uses to the south of the Subject Property are primarily retail/service
and a residential duplex.  Land uses to the west of the Subject Property is commercial/service including
restaurant, retail, office, and automotive repair.
 
If the proposed Zoning Map Amendment request is approved, including the two (2) proposed Conditional
Use Permit requests, the next steps in the development process will be Civil Improvement Plan submittal
and Building Plan submittal. A Development Agreement between the City and the Developer, a draft of
which will be provided to Council for its review prior to the March 1 meeting, is being drafted to address
parking, affordable housing, required off-site infrastructure improvements (i.e. stormwater, traffic, and
pedestrian crossing of Butler Avenue), project management, transect zone election, and Prop207
waiver.  The Development Agreement must be approved by the City Council via a resolution prior to the
second reading of the Zoning Map Amendment ordinance.  The proposed development encompasses
seven (7) separately identified parcels (APN’s 100-39-001C, 00-39-010, 100-39-009, 100-39-008,
100-39-001G, 100-39-002A, and 100-39-011C).  All of parcels 100-39-010, 100-39-003, 100-09-008, and
portions of parcel 100-39-001C, 100-39-001G, and 100-39-002A are subject to the proposed Zoning Map
Amendment; however, all parcels within the proposed development were analyzed for conformance to
existing and proposed development standards.  As a condition of approval, all parcels must be combined
into one parcel prior to building permit submittal.



Due to the size of the file, this project's plans may be accessed at Plans. Please allow time for this
document to download.

Key Considerations:
Proposed amendments shall be evaluated based on the following findings: 1) the proposed amendment
is consistent with and conforms to the goals of the General Plan and any applicable specific plans; 2) the
proposed amendment will not be detrimental to the public interest, health, safety, convenience, or welfare
of the City of Flagstaff (the “City”) and will add to the public good as described in the General Plan; and,
3) the affected site is physically suitable in terms of design, location, shape, size, operating
characteristics and the provision of public and emergency vehicle access, public services, and utilities, to
ensure that the requested zone designation and the proposed or anticipated uses and/or development
will not endanger, jeopardize, or otherwise constitute a hazard to the property or improvements in the
vicinity in which the property is located.  If the application is not consistent with the General Plan and any
other applicable specific plan, the applicable plan must be amended in compliance with the procedures
established in Chapter 11-10 of the City Code (Title 11: General Plans and Subdivisions) prior to
considering the proposed amendment.

An amendment to the Planning Commission staff report was made during the Planning Commission
meeting.  The Zoning Code interpretation mentioned in the report regarding maximum parking
allowances was reviewed by the City Attorney's office, at the request of the Developer, and it was
determined that the 5% cap of parking currently found within the Zoning Code applies to both surface and
structured parking.  The applicant objected to staff's interpretation that they could provide more parking
than 5% above the minimum requirement as long as it was within a structure.

On February 3, 2016, the Planning Commission concluded their review of the proposed Zoning Map
Amendment with a recommendation for Approval, by a vote of 6-1, subject to the following conditions,
which have been incorporated into Ordinance No. 2016-08: 

Unless modified to comply with these conditions, the site shall be developed in substantial
conformance to the Site Plan as approved by the Inter-Division Staff (IDS) on December 11, 2015,
and as presented to the Planning and Zoning Commission with this Zoning Map Amendment
request.

1.

The proposed structure located along Mikes Pike shall be limited to 4-stories/52-feet in height
adjacent to the street frontage.  A fifth story, if desired, shall have all residential units setback at
least 40-feet from the property line.  Elevators, stairwells, and other utilities may encroach into the
40-foot setback as necessary.

2.

Development shall be limited to two hundred thirty-six (236) units and six hundred sixty-four (664)
beds.  Any increase to either the number of units or beds must be approved by the City Council
through the review of a Zoning Map Amendment application.

3.

At the time of building permit submittal, the easternmost and westernmost residential entrances
along Phoenix Avenue shall be modified to incorporate a covered porch element, or other similar
feature, at the first floor entry to emphasize the pedestrian scale and residential character.

4.

Prior to building permit submittal, the Developer shall combine Coconino County Assessor parcel
numbers 100-39-001C, 00-39-010, 100-39-009, 100-39-008, 100-39-001G, 100-39-002A, and
100-39-011C.

5.

The Developer shall provide one hundred (100) additional parking spaces either on-site, off-site in
a private structure, or off-site in a joint public/private structure with the City.  Off-site parking shall
be located within 600-feet of the Property.  In-lieu of providing the parking spaces, the Development
may elect to pay a fee of twenty thousand dollars ($20,000.00) per space to the City for use in
construction of an off-site public parking structure.

6.

Community Benefits and Considerations:
Community benefits and considerations related to this Zoning Map Amendment request are addressed in

http://www.flagstaff.az.gov/DocumentCenter/View/48510


Community benefits and considerations related to this Zoning Map Amendment request are addressed in
the attached Planning and Zoning Commission staff report dated January 6, 2016

Community Involvement:
Inform, Consult, Involve, Collaborate, Empower

Public hearings before the Planning and Zoning Commission and the City Council are conducted in
conjunction with any Zoning Map amendment request.  In accordance with Arizona Revised Statute and
City Code, notice of the public hearing must be provided by placing an ad in a newspaper of general
circulation within the City, posting a notice on the property subject to the proposed amendment, and
mailing a notice to all property owners within 300-feet of the property subject to the proposed
amendment.  All notifications must be completed at least 15-days prior to the first schedule public
hearing.  In order to notice as many people as possible, staff ensured that a notice was: published in the
Sunday edition of the Arizona Daily Sun; 3 public hearing notice signs were posted on the site (1 on
Mikes Pike, 1 on Milton Road, and 1 on Phoenix Avenue); and, a notice was mailed to all property owners
within 1000-feet of the site, all tenants within 1,000 feet of the site, all parties on the Registry of Persons
or Groups, and anyone who signed-in at any of the Developer’s previously held neighborhood meetings. 
A copy of the publication notice, pictures of the postings, a mailing list, and a copy of the mailing notice
are attached to this report.
 
As of this writing, staff received 16 letters and 45 e-mails from interested parties, which can be divided
into three (3) categories: opposed, neutral, and support.  Those comments in opposition (56 total)
expressed concerns over compatibility, sociological impacts, infrastructure, student behavior,
neighborhood character, traffic, unsupportable retail, parking, aesthetics, location, views, shadow cast,
building massing, design, impact on tourism, Northern Arizona University’s problem to address,
neighborhood history, student housing, undesirable part of town for students, density, availability of other
housing types, human congestion, density, zone change only benefits developer, security, demise of the
neighborhood, complexity of transect zoning, bicycle ridership, not designed for families, student
conduct, fire safety, ruin of Downtown, student housing belongs on campus, aesthetic value, visual
pollutant, architecture, use and type of retail, impacts on rent, scale, property values, size, increased
crime, and becoming a "for profit college town."  The neutral comments (2 total) requested additional
information and the count of comments in support and nonsupport of the project.  Those comments in
support (3 total)  expressed the need for student housing, location, pedestrian environment, land use,
relief for students, and support for NAU.  A summary of all comments received is attached to this report
for review.  Any additional comments received after the date of this report will be compiled, summarized,
and transmitted to the Council at the meeting.

Section 10-20.30.060 of the Zoning Code (Page 20.30-5) requires the Developer to conduct a
neighborhood meeting prior to the Planning and Zoning Commission public hearing in accordance with
an approved neighborhood meeting plan.  After completion of the neighborhood meeting, the Developer
must prepare a Record of Proceedings in accordance with Section 10-20.30.060.F of the Zoning Code
(Page 20.30-7).  That record is then presented as part of the report to the Planning and Zoning
Commission and City Council.  The Neighborhood Meeting Plan, a copy of which is attached to this
report, was approved by staff on December 3, 2015 and revised on December 29, 2015.
 
The required neighborhood meeting was conducted on December 21, 2015 at the Pine Forest Charter
School located at 1120 W Kaibab Lane.  The meeting was noticed in accordance with established City
standards.  The meeting was conducted in a more traditional speaker/audience format with a
presentation given by the applicant followed by a question and answer (Q&A) session.  The results of the
meeting were submitted on December 30, 2015 in a Neighborhood Meeting Report, a copy of which is
attached to this report.  The meeting was attended by 47 people who signed-in.  Additional people may
have attended but were not accounted for in the report.  Based on the submitted meeting minutes
(Neighborhood Meeting Summary Tab F), comments during the Q&A session generally revolved around
gaining a better understanding of the specifics of proposed development (i.e. number of beds, units, and



parking spaces), impacts on the existing infrastructure (including traffic and transit), benefits of the project
to the neighborhood and city, and plans for the property if the Zoning Map Amendment is denied.

Attachments:  Ord. 2016-08
DA Deal Points
P&Z Staff Report
Supplement
P&Z Commission Packet Supplement
Public Comments



 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2016-08 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF, 
AMENDING THE FLAGSTAFF ZONING MAP DOWNTOWN REGULATING 
PLAN DESIGNATION OF APPROXIMATELY 0.29 ACRES OF LAND 
GENERALLY LOCATED WEST OF THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF MIKES 
PIKE AND PHOENIX AVENUE FROM THE T4 NEIGHBORHOOD 1 – OPEN 
(T4N.1-O) AND T5 MAIN STREET (T5) TRANSECT ZONES TO THE T4 
NEIGHBORHOOD 2 (T4N.2) TRANSECT ZONE AND APPROXIMATELY 1.35 
ACRES LOCATED AT 17 S MIKES PIKE FROM THE T4 NEIGHBORHOOD 1 – 
OPEN (T4N.1-O) TRANSECT ZONE TO THE T5 MAIN STREET (T5) 
TRANSECT ZONE WITH CONDITIONS; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY, 
AND ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE DATE 

 
 
RECITALS: 
 
WHEREAS, Core Campus Flagstaff LLC (the “Applicant”), applied for a Zoning Map 
Amendment of approximately 1.64 acres of land generally located south and west of the 
southwest corner of Mikes Pike and Phoenix Avenue in the City of Flagstaff, Coconino County, 
Arizona, a legal description of which is provided in Exhibit “A” attached hereto (“the Property”), 
in order to, when combined with other parcels and entitlements, construct a mixed-use multi-
family style student-housing development.  The proposed development consists of 236 dwelling 
units, containing 664 beds, located above and behind 14,096 square feet of commercial uses; 
and 
 
WHEREAS, the Applicant proposes to develop the Property pursuant to the terms and 
conditions of this Ordinance and a Development Agreement between Applicant and the City 
(“Agreement”), which will be presented to the City Council through a proposed resolution at the 
second reading of this Ordinance; and  
 
WHEREAS, in furtherance of the Applicant’s development plans, the Applicant has applied to 
the City of Flagstaff to amend the transect zoning of the Property from the T4 Neighborhood 1 – 
Open (T4N.1-O) and T5 Main Street (T5) zones to the T4 Neighborhood 2 (T4N.2) zone for 
approximately 0.29 acres and from the T4 Neighborhood 1 – Open (T4N.1-O) zone to the T5 
Main Street (T5) zone for approximately 1.35 acres; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission has formally considered the present Zoning 
Map Amendment application following proper notice and hearings on January 13, 2015 and 
February 3, 2015, and has recommended Approval of the requested zoning application, subject 
to the Applicant’s compliance with certain conditions set forth below; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Council finds that the Applicant has complied with all application requirements 
set forth in Chapter 10-20 of the Flagstaff Zoning Code; and 
 
WHEREAS, the staff has recommended approval of the Zoning Map Amendment application, 
subject to the conditions proposed by the Planning and Zoning Commission, as augmented by 
staff, as set forth below, and the Council has considered each of the conditions and has found 
each condition to be appropriate for the Property and necessary for the proposed development; 
and 
 



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-08  PAGE 2 
 
 
WHEREAS, the Council has read and considered the staff reports prepared by the Planning 
Division and all attachments to those reports, the Applicant’s application, the narrative provided 
by the Applicant, and all statements made by the Applicant during the presentation to Council, 
and the Council finds that the proposed Zoning Map Amendment, subject to the conditions set 
forth below, meets the findings required by Section 10-20.50.040(F)(1)(a) of the Flagstaff 
Zoning Code 
 
 
ENACTMENTS: 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF 
AS FOLLOWS: 
 
 
SECTION 1. The foregoing recitals are incorporated as if fully set forth herein. 
 
SECTION 2. The amendment requested in the application is consistent with and conforms to 
the goals of the General Plan. 
 
SECTION 3. The amendment requested in the application will not be detrimental to the public 
interest, health, safety, convenience or welfare of the City and will add to the public good as 
described in the General Plan. 
 
SECTION 4. The affected site is physically suitable in terms of design, location, shape, size, 
operating characteristics, and the provision of public and emergency vehicle access and public 
services and utilities to ensure that the amendment requested in the application will not 
endanger, jeopardize or otherwise constitute a hazard to the property or improvements in the 
vicinity in which the property is located. 
 
SECTION 5.  The Zoning Map Downtown Regulating Plan designation for the Property is 
hereby amended from the T4 Neighborhood 1 – Open (T4N.1-O) and T5 Main Street (T5) 
transect zones to the T4 Neighborhood 2 (T4N.2) transect zone for approximately 0.29 acres, 
as depicted in Exhibit “B”, and from the T4 Neighborhood 1 – Open (T4N.1-O) transect zone to 
the T5 Main Street (T5) transect zone for approximately 1.35 acres, as depicted in Exhibit “C”, 
through the approval of the application and all other documents attached to the staff summary 
submitted in support of this ordinance. 
 
SECTION 6. The City is specifically relying on all assertions made by the Applicant, or the 
applicant’s representatives, whether authorized or not, made at the public hearing on the zone 
change application unless the assertions were withdrawn on the record.  Those assertions are 
hereby incorporated into this ordinance. 
 
SECTION 7. That the Zoning Map Amendment be conditioned on compliance with that 
Agreement between the City of Flagstaff and the Applicant, approved by the City Council in 
Resolution No. _______________ on _______________. 
 
SECTION 8. That the Zoning Map Amendment be further conditioned upon the Applicant’s 
satisfaction of the following conditions proposed by the Planning and Zoning Commission, as 
augmented by staff: 
 
 



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-08  PAGE 3 
 
 
 
CONDITIONS: 
 

1. Unless modified to comply with these conditions, the site shall be developed in substantial 
conformance to the Site Plan as approved by the Inter-Division Staff (IDS) on December 
11, 2015, and as presented to the Planning and Zoning Commission with this Zoning Map 
Amendment request. 
 

2. The proposed structure located along Mikes Pike shall be limited to 4-stories/52-feet in 
height adjacent to the street frontage.  A fifth story, if desired, shall have all residential units 
setback at least 40-feet from the property line.  Elevators and stairwells may encroach into 
the 40-foot setback as necessary.  
 

3. Development shall be limited to two hundred thirty-six (236) units and six hundred sixty-four 
(664) beds.  Any increase to either the number of units or beds must be approved by the 
City Council through the review of a Zoning Map Amendment application. 
 

4. At the time of building permit submittal, the easternmost and westernmost residential 
entrances along Phoenix Avenue shall be modified to incorporate a covered porch element, 
or other similar feature, at the first floor entry to emphasize the pedestrian scale and 
residential character. 
 

5. Prior to building permit submittal, the Developer shall combine Coconino County Assessor 
parcel numbers 100-39-001C, 00-39-010, 100-39-009, 100-39-008, 100-39-001G, 100-39-
002A, and 100-39-011C. 

 
6. The Developer shall provide one hundred (100) additional parking spaces either on-site, 

off-site in a structure, or off-site in a joint public/private structure with the City.  Off-site 
parking shall be located within 600-feet of the Property.  In-lieu of providing the parking 
spaces, the Developer may elect to pay a fee to the City for use in construction of an off-
site public parking structure. 

 
7. Unless a new Conditional Use Permit (CUP) is granted by the Planning & Zoning  

Commission for the establishment of a Rooming & Boarding Facility on the Property, the 
Site Plan shall be amended, prior to building permit issuance, to classify the development 
as Mixed-Use Multi-Family Residential, including all design changes as may be necessary 
to comply with said use. 

 
8. Unless a new Conditional Use Permit (CUP) is granted by the Planning & Zoning 

Commission to exceed the maximum lot coverage within the T5 Main Street (T5) transect 
zone, the Site Plan shall be amended, prior to building permit issuance, to establish and 
maintain a maximum of eighty-percent (80%) lot coverage. 

 
SECTION 9. That City staff is hereby authorized to take such other and further measures and 
actions as are necessary and appropriate to carry out the terms, provisions and intents of this 
Ordinance. 
 
SECTION 10. If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase or portion of this ordinance 
or any part of the code adopted herein by reference is for any reason held to be invalid or 
unconstitutional by the decision of any court of competent jurisdiction, such decision shall not 
affect the validity of the remaining portions thereof. 



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-08  PAGE 4 
 
 
 
SECTION 11. This ordinance shall become effective thirty (30) days following adoption by the 
City Council. 
 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Flagstaff this 22nd day of March, 
2016. 
 
 
 
 
 
     
 MAYOR 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
  
CITY CLERK 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
 
  
CITY ATTORNEY 



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-08  PAGE 5 
 
 

Exhibit “A” 
 

Legal Description of Property 



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-08  PAGE 6 
 
 

Exhibit “B” 
 

Legal Description of New T4N.2 Zoning 



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-08  PAGE 7 
 
 

Exhibit “C” 
 

Legal Description of New T5 Zoning 



PZ‐15‐00164 The Hub Development Agreement Proposed Deal Points 
 

The  following deal points are taken directly out of  the approved  impact analyses.   Specifics related  to 
timing and cost have yet to be determined and/or negotiated. 
 
City Agrees: 

1. To participate  in the cost to upgrade water, approximately 340‐feet, and sewer, approximately 
340‐feet, infrastructure not immediately adjacent to the Subject Property. 

 
Developer Agrees: 

1. Providing for management of the project as a Rooming and Boarding Facility. 
2. Participate in the City of Flagstaff Police Department’s Crime Free Multi‐Housing Program. 
3. Traffic mitigation measures including; paying a proportionate share (50%) of the estimated cost 

of constructing a new 4‐leg traffic signal at the  intersection of Franklin and San Francisco; and, 
paying a proportionate share (50%) of the estimated cost of  improving the pedestrian crossing 
at Butler and Humphreys. 

4. Address the Planning Commissions recommended condition regarding parking. 
5. Construct, at their sole cost and expense, the necessary stormwater infrastructure to serve the 

proposed development. 
6. Elects to utilize and abide by all transect development standards. 
7. Waives Prop207 claim for diminution in value. 
8. Agrees  to use  their best efforts  in  the  relocation of  the existing historic  structure  to another 

location within the City for use as a bed and breakfast. 



 

 
 

PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

ZONING MAP AMENDMENT 

 

 

PUBLIC HEARING DATE: January 6, 2016 

PZ-15-00164 MEETING DATE: January 13, 2016 

 REPORT BY: Brian J Kulina, AICP 

 

 

REQUEST: 

 

A direct ordinance Zoning Map Amendment request from Core Campus LLC amending the Downtown Regulating Plan 

from the existing T4 Neighborhood 1 (T4N.1) transect to the proposed T5 Main Street (T5) transect located along Mikes 

Pike and containing approximately 1.35 acres, and from the existing T4 Neighborhood 1 (T4N.1) and the T5 Main Street 

(T5) transects to the proposed T4 Neighborhood 2 (T4N.2) transect located along Phoenix Avenue and containing 

approximately 0.29 acres. 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  

 

Staff recommends the Planning and Zoning Commission forward this Zoning Map Amendment request to the City Council 

with a recommendation for approval subject to the conditions as noted in the Recommendation section of this report. 

 

PRESENT LAND USE: 

 

Commercial, contractor office and storage yard, automotive lube shop, and single-family residential. 

 

PROPOSED LAND USE: 

 

The proposed conditional amendments, combined with two (2) proposed Conditional Use Permit requests and other parcels, 

will allow for the development of a 99 dwelling unit/acre mixed-use multi-family style student housing building consisting of 

236 dwelling units (664 beds) located above and behind approximately 14,096 square feet of commercial uses on 

approximately 2.39 acres. 

 

NEIGHBORHOOD DEVELOPMENT: 

 

 Current Use Transect Zoning Traditional Zoning 

North City of Flagstaff Phoenix Storage 

Building, NAIPTA Transfer Station, 

Flagstaff Bicycle Revolution, 

Pizzicletta 

T5 Main Street (T5) Commercial Service (CS) 

East Flag Tee Factory, Flag Lock, The 

Toasted Owl Café, Enchanted Spas, 

Interactive Humanics, Inc., Agassiz 

Landscape Group 

T4 Neighborhood 1 Open (T4N.1-O) Commercial Service (CS) 

South Residential duplex, Granny’s Closet 

parking lot, Peoples Mortgage 

T5 Main Street (T5) 

T4 Neighborhood 1 Open (T4N.1-O) 

Commercial Service (CS 

Highway Commercial (HC) 

West Granny’s Closet parking lot, Mike & 

Ronda’s The Place, Brake Masters, 

Ruff’s Sporting Goods 

T5 Main Street (T5) Highway Commercial (HC) 

 



PZ-15-00164 Staff Report 

January 6, 2016 Page 2 of 15 

 
REQUIRED FINDINGS: 

 

Staff Review 

 

An application for a Zoning Map amendment shall be submitted to the Planning Director and shall be reviewed and a 

recommendation prepared.  The Planning Director’s recommendation shall be transmitted to the Planning Commission in the 

form of a staff report prior to a scheduled public hearing.  The recommendation shall include: an evaluation of the 

consistency and conformance of the proposed amendment with the goals of the General Plan and any applicable specific 

plans; the grounds for the recommendation based on the standards and purposes of the zones set forth in Section 10-40.20 

(Establishment of Zones) of the Zoning Code (Page 40.20-1); and, whether the amendment should be granted, granted with 

conditions to mitigate anticipated impacts caused by the proposed development, or denied. 

 

Finding for Reviewing Proposed Amendments 

 

Proposed amendments shall be evaluated based on the following findings: the proposed amendment is consistent with and 

conforms to the goals of the General Plan and any applicable specific plans; the proposed amendment will not be detrimental 

to the public interest, health, safety, convenience, or welfare of the City of Flagstaff (the “City”) and will add to the public 

good as described in the General Plan; and, the affected site is physically suitable in terms of design, location, shape, size, 

operating characteristics and the provision of public and emergency vehicle access, public services, and utilities, to ensure 

that the requested zone designation and the proposed or anticipated uses and/or development will not endanger, jeopardize, 

or otherwise constitute a hazard to the property or improvements in the vicinity in which the property is located.  If the 

application is not consistent with the General Plan and any other applicable specific plan, the applicable plan must be 

amended in compliance with the procedures established in Chapter 11-10 of the City Code (Title 11: General Plans and 

Subdivisions) prior to considering the proposed amendment. 

 

STAFF REVIEW: 

 

Introduction/Background 

 

Core Campus LLC (the “Developer”) is requesting a direct ordinance Zoning Map Amendment amending the Downtown 

Regulating Plan as follows: (1) from the existing T4 Neighborhood 1 (T4N.1) transect to the proposed T5 Main Street (T5) 

transect to allow for ground floor commercial uses and establish a 5-floor maximum building height, located along Mikes 

Pike and containing approximately 1.35 acres; and, (2) from the existing T4 Neighborhood 1 (T4N.1) and the T5 Main Street 

(T5) transects to the proposed T4 Neighborhood 2 (T4N.2) transect to allow for ground floor residential uses and establish a 

4-floor maximum building height, located along Phoenix Avenue and containing approximately 0.29 acres.  This proposed 

conditional amendment, combined with two (2) proposed Conditional Use Permit requests and other entitled parcels, will 

allow for the development of a 99 dwelling unit/acre mixed-use multi-family style student housing building consisting of 236 

dwelling units (664 beds) located above and behind approximately 14,096 square feet of commercial uses on approximately 

2.39 acres generally located at 17 S Mikes Pike (the “Subject Property”).  The Subject Property is currently developed with a 

mixture of uses including commercial, contractor office and storage yard, automotive lube shop, and single-family 

residential.  There are no natural resources (rural floodplain, slope, or forest) on-site.  For additional information regarding 

the characteristics of the site and reason for the request, please reference the attached Rezone Narrative. 

 

Land use north of the Subject Property is light industrial including the City of Flagstaff Phoenix Storage building and the 

Northern Arizona Intergovernmental Public Transportation Authority (“NAIPTA”) transfer stations.  Land uses to the east of 

the Subject Property are a mixture of commercial and service including restaurant, retail, and office.  Land uses to the south 

of the Subject Property are primarily retail/service and a residential duplex.  Land uses to the west of the Subject Property is 

commercial/service including restaurant, retail, office, and automotive repair. 

 

If the proposed Zoning Map Amendment request is approved, including the two (2) proposed Conditional Use Permit 



PZ-15-00164 Staff Report 

January 6, 2016 Page 3 of 15 

 
requests, the next steps in the development process will be Civil Improvement Plan submittal and Building Plan submittal.  

Development Agreement deal points between the City and the Development, a copy of which is attached to this report, have 

been drafted to address required off-site infrastructure improvements (i.e. stormwater, traffic, and pedestrian crossing of 

Butler Avenue), project management, good neighbor responsibilities, transect zone election, and Prop207 waiver.  The 

Development Agreement must be approved by the City Council via a resolution prior to the second reading of the Zoning 

Map Amendment ordinance.  The proposed development encompasses seven (7) separately identified parcels (APN’s 100-

39-001C, 00-39-010, 100-39-009, 100-39-008, 100-39-001G, 100-39-002A, and 100-39-011C).  All of parcels 100-39-010, 

100-39-003, 100-09-008, and portions of parcel 100-39-001C, 100-39-001G, and 100-39-002A are subject to the proposed 

Zoning Map Amendment; however, all parcels within the proposed development were analyzed for conformance to existing 

and proposed development standards.  As a condition of approval, all parcels must be combined into one parcel prior to 

building permit submittal. 

 

Proposed Development Concept Plans 

 

The Developer is requesting this Zoning Map Amendment, along with two (2) proposed Conditional Use Permits parcels, 

for the development of a 99 dwelling unit/acre mixed-use multi-family style student housing building consisting of 236 

dwelling units (664 beds) located above and behind approximately 14,096 square feet of commercial uses known as The 

Hub Flagstaff.  This is a direct ordinance Zoning Map Amendment wherein the associated site plan has been reviewed 

and approved by the Inter-Division Staff (“IDS”) team prior to Zoning Map Amendment application submittal.  The site 

plan for The Hub was approved by IDS on December 11, 2015 subject to successfully obtaining approval of the Zoning 

Map Amendment and Conditional Use Permit requests. 

 

General Plan – Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 

 

The Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 (the “Regional Plan”) identifies the Subject Property as having a land use designation of 

Urban and as being located within two (2) Urban Activity Centers and within a Transform – Urban transition area.  A 

Regional Plan Amendment to change the either land use designation, activity center, or transition area in order to 

accommodate the proposed development is not required.  This development, and the corresponding Zoning Map 

Amendment, utilizes the transect zones identified on the Downtown Regulating Plan, which is a part of the City of Flagstaff 

Zoning Map.  The transect zoning contemplated by this Zoning Map Amendment request is in conformance with the existing 

land use designation; however, all Zoning Map Amendment requests must be evaluated for consistency and conformance 

with the goals and policies of the Regional Plan. 

 

The two transect zones contemplated in this Zoning Map Amendment request is the T4 Neighborhood 2 (T4N.2) zone and 

the T5 Main Street (T5) zone.  In accordance with Section 10-40.40.080.A of the Zoning Code (Page 40.40-31), the intent of 

the T4 Neighborhood 2 (T4N.2) transect zone is to create new walkable urban neighborhoods that are in character with 

Flagstaff’s older neighborhoods in combination with other transect zones.  In accordance with Section 10-40.40.090.A of the 

Zoning Code (Page 40.40-37), the intent of the T5 Main Street (T5) transect zone is to reinforce the vitality of the downtown 

area adjacent to the core, to allow it to expand and evolve, and to provide an appropriate transition into existing 

neighborhoods. 

 

Applicable General Plan Goals and Policies 

Staff has identified 66 Regional Plan Goals and Policies that could be applied to support or not support the proposed Zoning 

Map Amendment.  For reference, a list of those policies is attached to this report.  The following Goals and Policies have 

been selected for further analysis based on feedback received from the community during the review of the associated site 

plan: 

 

Land Use 

Policy CC.3.1. Encourage neighborhood design to be respectful of traditional development patterns and enhance the 

overall community image.  (Regional Plan, Page VIII-23) 



PZ-15-00164 Staff Report 

January 6, 2016 Page 4 of 15 

 
Policy LU.5.3. Promote compact development appropriate to and within the context of each type: urban, suburban, and 

rural.  (Regional Plan, Page IX-31) 

Policy LU.5.5. Plan for and promote compact commercial development at activity centers with mixed uses, allowing for 

efficient multi-modal transit options and infrastructure.  (Regional Plan, Page IX-32) 

Policy LU.7.1. Concentrate urban development in locations that use land efficiently, and are served by roads, water, 

sewer, and other public facilities and services, and that support transit, reduced vehicle trips, and conservation of 

energy and water.  (Regional Plan, Page IX-32) 

Policy LU.18.6. Support increased densities within activity centers and corridors.  (Regional Plan, Page IX-68) 

Policy NH.1.2. Respect traditions, identifiable styles, proportions, streetscapes, relationships between buildings, yards, 

and roadways; and, use historically appropriate and compatible building and structural materials when making 

changes to existing neighborhoods, especially in historic neighborhoods.   (Regional Plan, Page XIII-9) 

Policy NH.2.3. Continue the tradition of multi-story, multi-use buildings to maintain and increase a stable, mixed-

income residential population when planning new structures in the downtown and Southside neighborhoods.  (Regional 

Plan, Page XIII-9) 

 

Infill and Redevelopment 

Policy LU.1.3. Promote reinvestment at the neighborhood scale to include infill of vacant parcels, redevelopment of 

underutilized properties, aesthetic improvements to public spaces, remodeling of existing buildings and steetscapes, 

maintaining selected appropriate public spaces, and programs for the benefit and improvement of the local residents.  

(Regional Plan, Page IX-25) 

Policy LU.5.2. Promote infill development over peripheral expansion to conserve environmental resources, spur 

economic investments, and reduce the cost of providing infrastructure and services.  (Regional Plan, Page IX-31) 

Policy NH.6.1. Promote quality redevelopment and infill projects that are contextual with surrounding neighborhoods. 

When planning for redevelopment, the needs of existing residents should be addressed as early as possible in the 

development process.  (Regional Plan, Page XIII-10) 

 

Transportation and Parking 

Policy T.1.8. Plan for development to provide on-site, publicly-owned transportation improvements and provide 

adequate parking.  (Regional Plan, Page X-6) 

Policy T.3.4. Actively manage parking, including cost and supply, to support land use, transportation, and economic 

development goals.  (Regional Plan, Page X-9) 

 

Goal/Policy Analysis 

 

Land Use 

Land use policies encourage compact development, focused at activity centers with increased densities, that is respectful of 

traditional development patterns, uses land efficiently, supports transit and reduced vehicle trips, within multi-story multi-use 

buildings.  The proposed Zoning Map Amendment, along with other entitlements, will enable the Subject Property to be 

developed as a mixed-use multi-family style student housing building consisting of 236 dwelling units (664 beds) located 

above and behind approximately 14,096 square feet of commercial uses on approximately 2.39 acres.  The Subject Property 

is located within two urban activity  centers (U1 – Downtown and U8 – Milton/Butler), which calls for densities of 8 

dwelling units/acre or more with Floor Area Ratio (FAR) of 1.0 or more.  At 99 dwelling units/acres with a Floor Area Ratio 

(FAR) of 3.54, this would become the most dense/intense buildings in the city.  However, the density and intensity of the 

development is achieved through the utilization of a compact land use pattern.  The Subject Property is located adjacent to 

the Northern Arizona Intergovernmental Transportation Authority (NAIPTA) transfer station, which will provide immediate 

access to the city-wide transit network.  In addition to the services  provided on-site, the Subject Property is located within 

walking distance to a range of businesses that service the everyday needs of the proposed population.  Compact development 

and land efficiency is further supported through the site design, which enhances the public realm by practicing “building 

forward” and locating the buildings adjacent to the public right-of-way.  While the architectural style of the buildings follows 

a theme found locally and within the region, it has become apparent that the proposed bulk and mass of the building adjacent 



PZ-15-00164 Staff Report 

January 6, 2016 Page 5 of 15 

 
to Mikes Pike is not fully compatible with the exiting neighborhood.  As such, staff supports the addition of a condition of 

approval that would limit building height adjacent to Mikes Pike to 4-stores/52-feet, which partially addresses the 

relationship of the building to the neighborhood while acknowledging existing development rights that allow redevelopment 

of adjacent parcels at 3 ½-stories using transect zoning and 5-stories using traditional commercial zoning.  While this 

condition would result in the removal of 7-dwelling units and 21 beds from the development, it would establish a potential 

development pattern from Milton Road to Beaver Street in that building height, utilizing the transect development standards, 

would transition from 4-stories, to 5-stories, to 4-stories, to 3 ½-stories, and back to 5-stories, respectively. 

 

Infill and Redevelopment 

In conjunction with land use policies, infill and redevelopment policies promote development that is contextual with 

surrounding neighborhoods, addresses the needs of existing residents, reduces the cost of providing infrastructure and 

services, and promotes reinvestment at the neighborhood scale.  Map 20 of the Regional Plan (Page IX-23) identifies the 

Subject Property as being located within a Transform – Urban reinvestment area.  In accordance with the Regional Plan 

(Page IX-19), redevelopment is when new development replaces outdated and underutilized development.  The proposed 

Zoning Map Amendment, combined with other entitlements, will enable to Subject Property to be redeveloped with 

commercial uses along the ground floor adjacent to Mikes Pike, in order to enhance the commercial character of the street, 

and residential uses on the ground floor adjacent to Phoenix Avenue, in order to establish a desired pattern of development 

(i.e. residential internal to the block with commercial on either end).  Improvements to the streetscape include the addition of 

curb, gutter, larger sidewalks, and parkway along all three street frontages.  Existing infrastructure, while adequate to serve 

the proposed development, is aging and will be upgraded in size and material, which will attract other potential 

redevelopment opportunities in the area.  To address the needs of existing residents, the Developer conducted a total of 5 

neighborhood meetings, 4 before the filing of the Zoning Map Amendment, to present the proposal to the community and 

gain feedback.  As a result of those meetings, staff has crafted conditions of approval that will shape the project to be more 

contextual with the surrounding neighborhood as it exists today and as it could redevelop in the future. 

 

Transportation and Parking 

Applicable transportation policies address the need for development to plan for adequate parking and manage that parking to 

support the associated land uses.  Transect parking standards are based on an established nationwide standard that is then 

calibrated to the local condition.  The local condition takes into account the availability of on-street parking, publicly owned 

parking, and the potential for shared parking between on-site uses.  Unlike traditional parking standards, which establishes 

specific standards for specific uses (i.e. market rate housing, affordable housing, institutional residential, rooming and 

boarding, etc.), transect parking standards are more broad in nature (i.e. residential, commercial).  Using the transect 

standards, the development is required to provide a minimum of 198 parking spaces.  The Developer is proposing 231 on-site 

parking spaces with 204 provided within an enclosed parking garage and 27 provided on-street.  This translates to 

approximately 31% of proposed beds having a dedicated on-site parking space within the garage.  Under the traditional 

parking standards, 100% of the beds would have a dedicated parking space.  While it has been contended that providing 

additional parking on-site is prohibited by the Zoning Code, an interpretation by the Zoning Code Administrator clarifies that 

limitation on the maximum number of parking spaces identified in Section 10-50.80.040.C.1 of the Zoning Code (Page 

50.80-5) applies only to surface parking lots.  Parking within a structure is exempt from this standard.  The proposed 

development complies with the parking standards of the Zoning Code and, based on the managing of the parking by the 

Developer, complies with the Regional Plan.  A Traffic Impact Analysis (TIA) was prepared by the Developer to 

demonstrate the anticipated traffic volumes generated from the proposed development.  The City Traffic Engineer reviewed 

the site plan and TIA and subsequently accepted the results subject to 2 condition outlined in the Traffic and Access section 

of this report. 

 

Many of the Goals and Policies identified above, and those identified on the attached Applicable Goals and Policies list, 

could be argued in support and nonsupport of the proposed Zoning Map Amendment depending upon the individual 

perspective taken.  In order to provide a thorough analysis, a holistic approach to the Goals and Policies must be taken.  

When that happens, it is found that the Regional Plan supports targeted infill and redevelopment in compact urban form.  

Urban Activity Center, especially existing ones like the two encompassing the Subject Property, have the highest 



PZ-15-00164 Staff Report 

January 6, 2016 Page 6 of 15 

 
concentration of density/intensity and greatest potential for redevelopment.  They offer ideal locations of optimal transit 

connectivity, increased pedestrian and bicycle use, and infrastructure improvements.  The Regional Plan (Page IX-63) states 

“activity centers around Northern Arizona University could also meet the demand for more multi-family housing units, and 

student-oriented services and goods.” 

 

Specific Plan – The Southside 2005 Plan 

 

The Southside 2005 Plan (the “Plan”) was accepted by the City Council on May 3, 2005.  The purpose of the Plan is as a 

guide to make policy and future planning decisions for the neighborhood and to recommend a variety of strategies that 

respond to the issues and changes the area is facing.  The Plan identifies underutilized sites that may be empty, deserted, 

have little building area, or be a critical site that can act as a catalyst to development and investment.  Those portions of 

the Subject Property fronting Mikes Pike and Phoenix Avenue are identified in the Plan as underutilized sites with the 

Mikes Pike area specifically identified as being used for semi-industrial uses currently with many empty building.  The 

proposed Zoning Map Amendment furthers the redevelopment of the underutilized land by permitting commercial uses 

along Mikes Pike, the original alignment of Route 66 and a historically commercial street.  The Plan established 

aspirational development standards for the Subject Property, including, a maximum building height of 60-feet, building 

facades along streets limited to 2-stories or 30-feet, whichever is less, and additional stories stepped back a minimum of 

10-feet from the façade below.  These standards were a tool in the creation of the transect standards.  While the proposed 

development does not abide by the 2-stories/30-feet building height adjacent to the street, the building is, with the 

approval of this Zoning Map Amendment and the conditions of approval, terraced from 4- to 5-stories along all frontages. 

 With the redevelopment of the surrounding properties, this terracing will provide the transition in building form that was 

anticipated in the Plan. 

 

Zoning – City of Flagstaff Zoning Code 

 

The City of Flagstaff Zoning Code (the “Zoning Code”), which was adopted in November 2011, identifies the Subject 

Property as being within the Highway Commercial (HC) and the Commercial Services (CS) zone.  In addition, the 

Downtown Regulating Plan, which is a part of the Zoning Map, identifies the Subject Property as being within the T5 Main 

Street and T4 Neighborhood 1 – Open (T4N.1-O) transect zones.  The Developer must elect to utilize transect development 

standards through the execution of a Transect Zone Form, which will be attached to the Development Agreement as an 

exhibit and recorded against the Subject Property.  The proposed use of the Subject Property is as a mixed-use multi-family 

style student housing development.  Section 10-80.20.180 of the Zoning Code (Page 80.20-66) defines Rooming and 

Boarding Facility as “a residence or dwelling, other than a hotel, wherein three or more rooms are rented to individuals 

under separate rental agreements or leases, either written or oral, including dormitories, single room occupancy, fraternities 

and sororities.”  Traditional student housing developments are leased on a per-bed basis and, therefore, meet the Rooming 

and Boarding Facility definition and are classified as such.  In accordance with Sections 10-40.40.090.I and 10-40.40.070.I 

of the Zoning Code (Pages 40.40-41 and 40-40.29, respectively), development of a Rooming and Boarding Facility is a 

permitted use within the existing T5 Main Street (T5) and T4 Neighborhood 1 – Open (T4N.1-O) transect zones subject to 

the issuance of a Conditional Use Permit by the Planning and Zoning Commission and conformance to the transect zone 

development standards (i.e. building placement, building form, encroachments and frontage types, parking, etc.) and specific 

building type standards.  The proposed Zoning Map Amendment would amend the Downtown Regulating Plan by rezoning 

portions of the Subject Property from the existing T4 Neighborhood 1 – Open (T4N.1-O) transect to the proposed T5 Main 

Street (T5) transect located along Mikes Pike and containing approximately 1.35 acres, and from the existing T4 

Neighborhood 1 – Open (T4N.1-O) and the T5 Main Street (T5) transects to the proposed T4 Neighborhood 2 (T4N.2) 

transect located along Phoenix Avenue and containing approximately 0.29 acres.  The primary reasons for the requested 

Zoning Map Amendment is to allow for ground floor commercial uses and establish a 5-floor maximum building height 

along Mikes Pike, and to allow for ground floor residential uses and establish a 4-floor maximum building height along 

Phoenix Avenue.  A comparison of the development standards for the current and proposed zoning can be found under the 

“Building Form and Density Standards” subsection of this report. 

 



PZ-15-00164 Staff Report 

January 6, 2016 Page 7 of 15 

 
As previously mentioned, the proposed development encompasses seven (7) individual parcels.  The following subsections 

will discuss how the overall development meets, or exceeds, the minimum development standards associated with the T5 

Main Street (T5) and T4 Neighborhood 2 (T4N.2) transect zones. 

 

Open Space and Civic Space 

In accordance with Section 10-30.60.060.C of the Zoning Code (Page 30.60-11), open spaces, civic spaces, and outdoor 

public spaces within transect zones shall be located and sized according to the standards established in Sections 10-

30.80.050 and 10-30.80.060 of the Zoning Code (Page 30.80-8).  In accordance with Section 10-30.80.060.B.1.a of the 

Zoning Code (Page 30.80-9), civic space within infill transect developments should be assigned based on community need.  

The Subject Property, according to the Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030, is located within the periphery of 2 activity center 

pedestrian sheds.  As such, it is not conducive to the activation of the activity center by placing large amounts of civic space 

at the periphery; however, this does not completely eliminate the requirement for the development to provide some level of 

civic space.  Based on the urban form achieved, civic space is provided adjacent to the commercial storefronts in areas that 

can be utilized for outdoor cafes and along Phoenix Avenue in pockets of landscaped area between the building façade.  

Open space for the residents is provided in a large internal courtyard, which is more fully discussed in the Parks and 

Recreation section. 

 

Building Form and Density Standards 

As previously mentioned, the primary reasons for the requested Zoning Map Amendment is to allow for ground floor 

commercial uses and establish a 5-floor maximum building height along Mikes Pike, and to allow for ground floor 

residential uses and establish a 4-floor maximum building height along Phoenix Avenue.  Building height within transect 

zones is governed by both the total number of stories and the overall height.  Table 1 below outlines and compares 

development standards for the existing and proposed transect zones.  For comparison, Table 2 summarizes the development 

standards of the underlying traditional zoning. 

 

Table 1 – Comparison of Development Standards (Transect) 

Standards 

Phoenix Avenue Mikes Pike 

Existing 

T4N1-O 

Existing 

T5 

Proposed 

T4N.2 

Existing 

T4N.1 – O 

Proposed 

T5 

Maximum 

Building Height 

(feet) 

45 64 52 45 64 

Maximum 

Building Height 

(stories) 

3-1/2 max 
2 min 

5max 
4 max 3-1/2 max 

2 min 

5max 

Maximum 

Coverage 
60% 80%* 80% 60% 80%* 

Building 

Placement 
     

Setbacks (feet, 

min/max) 

Front – 15/30 

Street Side – 

10/15 

Side – 5/15 

Rear – 15 

Front – 2/2 

Street Side – 2/2 

Side – 0/24 

Rear – 3 

Front – 5/12 

Street Side – 

10/15 

Side – 3 

Rear – 3 

Front – 15/30 

Street Side – 

10/15 

Side – 5/15 

Rear – 15 

Front – 2/2 

Street Side – 2/2 

Side – 0/24 

Rear – 3 

Min Front 

Façade w/n 

Façade Zone 

50% 
Front – 80% 

Street Side – 60% 
50% 50% 

Front – 80% 

Street Side – 60% 

*100% lot coverage permitted with approval of Conditional Use Permit. 

 



PZ-15-00164 Staff Report 

January 6, 2016 Page 8 of 15 

 

Table 2 – Development Standards (Traditional) 

Standards Commercial Service (CS) Zone Highway Commercial (HC) Zone 

Maximum Building Height (feet) 
65 (with a pitched roof of 6:12 or 

greater) 

65 (with a pitched roof of 6:12 or 

greater) 

Maximum Coverage 2.0 Floor Area Ratio (FAR) 3.0 Floor Area Ratio (FAR) 

Minimum Setbacks (feet)*   

Front (feet) 0 0 

Side (feet) 

15 (adjacent to residential) 

0 (all other uses) 

10 (exterior) 

15 (adjacent to residential) 

0 (all other uses) 

10 (exterior) 

Rear (feet) 
15 (adjacent to residential) 

0 (all other uses) 

15 (adjacent to residential) 

0 (all other uses) 

Minimum Open Space 

15 (when part of mixed-use 

development or planned residential 

development) 

15 (when part of mixed-use 

development or planned residential 

development) 

 

The maximum permitted building height within the T4 Neighborhood 2 (T4N.2) transect zone is 4-stories/52-feet.  The 

maximum permitted building height within the T5 Main Street (T5) transect zone is 5-stories/64-feet.  The 5-foot building 

height bonus for providing structures with a roof pitch greater than 6:12 is not applicable to development with transect zones. 

The maximum building height proposed is 4-stories/49-feet stepping back to 5-stories/54-feet along Milton Road, 4-

stories/49-feet  stepping back to 5-stories/64-feet along Phoenix Avenue, and 5-stories/64-feet along Mikes Pike.  The 

proposed building height are in conformance with the standards of the on-site transect zones; however, the relationship of the 

development to the Southside neighborhood, and, specifically, the properties to the east of Mikes Pike, which have a transect 

designation of T4 Neighborhood 1 – Open (T4N.1-O) with a maximum building height of 3 ½-stories/45-feet, could be 

improved.  Staff would, therefore, recommend that a condition be placed on the Zoning Map Amendment request limiting 

building height immediately adjacent to Mikes Pike to 4-stores/52-feet.  While this would result in the removal of 7 dwelling 

units and 21 beds from the development, it would establish a potential development pattern from Milton Road to Beaver 

Street in that building height, utilizing the transect development standards, would transition from 4-stories, to 5-stories, to 4-

stories, to 3 ½-stories, and back to 5-stories, respectively. 

 

An incentive for development within transect zones is no established density or Floor Area Ratio (FAR) maximums.  For 

comparison purposes, the maximum established density of the High Density Residential (HR) zone is 29 dwelling units/acre 

and the maximum established Floor Area Ratio (FAR) for the Highway Commercial (HC) zone is 3.0.  With a total building 

square footage of 368,233 (including commercial, residential, and parking), a dwelling unit count of 236, and a site area of 

2.39 acres, the proposed development has an Floor Area Ratio (FAR) of 3.54, and a density of 99 dwelling units/acres.   

 

The Subject Property has three street frontages; Mikes Pike, Phoenix Avenue, and Milton Road.  Regardless of any 

additional setback that may required to comply with established landscape buffers and floodplain requirements, the setbacks 

established by the Zoning Code and applied to the development of this site are as follows: 2-foot along Mikes Pike and 

Milton Road; 5-foot along Phoenix Avenue ; 4-foot adjacent to Mother Road Brewing Company/Flagstaff Bicycle 

Revolution/Pizzicletta; 10-foot adjacent to Ruff’s Sporting Goods/Brake Masters; and, 1-foot adjacent to the Granny’s 

Closet parking lot. 

 

Parking 

Development under transect zone is more focused on building placement and form than development under traditional 

zoning.  The primary incentive given to encourage development within transect zones is a reduction in the required minimum 

parking.  Each transect zone has parking standards uniquely calibrated to that zone and the anticipated building types.  

Unlike the parking standards found in Table 10-50.40.080.A of the Zoning Code (Pages 50.80-6 through 50.80-11), which 

identify parking standards for specific and individual uses, transect parking standards are more broad and assume a certain 



PZ-15-00164 Staff Report 

January 6, 2016 Page 9 of 15 

 
level of maturity in the urban infrastructure with the availability of public parking and on-street parking regulations, which is 

currently lacking in the neighborhood.  Whereas the proposed Rooming and Boarding Facility use would require 1 parking 

space per bed under traditional parking standards, all residential uses, regardless of density, require 1 parking space per 

studio/1bedroom unit and 2 parking spaces per 2+ bedroom unit within the T4 Neighborhood 2 (T4N.2) transect zone and 1 

parking space per 1,500 square feet of residential development within the T5 Main Street (T5) transect zone.  Parking for 

commercial uses within a transect zone is calculated based on square footage with no parking required for the first 2,000 

square feet of ground floor commercial..  Using this standard, the proposed 14,096 square feet of commercial is required to 

provide 37 off-street parking spaces.  In accordance with Section 10-50.80.050.B.1 of the Zoning Code (Page 50.80-11), 

bicycle parking shall be provided at a minimum of 5% of the required off-street parking spaces.  Table 3 below summarizes 

the off-street parking and bicycle parking requirements under the transect zones.  For comparison, Table 4 summarizes the 

off-street parking and bicycle requirements under traditional zones. 

 

Table 3 – Required Off-Street Parking Calculations (Transect) 

Use Parking Standard Square Feet/No. of Units Parking Required 

Retail Trade/Service 
1/1,000 gsf above first 2,000 

gsf 
14,096 gsf 37 

Residential    

T4N.2 2/2+ bedroom unit 8 units 16 

T5 1/1,500 gsf 218,138 gsf 145 

  Total 198 

Bicycle 5% of required off-street Total 10 

 

Table 4 – Required Off-Street Parking Calculations (Traditional) 

Use Parking Standard Square Feet/No. of Units Parking Required 

General Services 1/300 gsf 14,096 gsf 47 

Rooming & Boarding 1/bed + 1/manager 664 + 1 665 

  Total 712 

Bicycle 5% of required off-street Total 36 

 

Section 10-50.80.040.C.1 of the Zoning Code (Page 50.80-5) limits the number of off-street parking spaces provided to 5% 

above the required minimum for developments over 10,000 square feet in floor area or containing 25 or more residential 

units.  In accordance with an interpretation made by the Zoning Code Administrator, a copy of which is attached to this 

report, this standard only applies to surface parking lots.  Parking provided within a structure can exceed the minimum 

requirement without limitation.  In accordance with Section 10-50.80.040.B.4 of the Zoning Code (Page 50.80-5), on-street 

parking located along the frontage of a parcel may count towards the required residential guest parking and commercial use 

parking requirements within transect zones.  Table 5 below summarizes the provided parking. 

 

Table 5 – Provided Parking 

Use Parking Required Parking Provided 

Retail/Service 37 27 (On-Street) 

Residential 162 204 (Garage) 

 Total 231 

 

The provided level of parking complies with the parking requirements of the Zoning Code; however, staff has come concern 

over the viability of the commercial space along Milton Road without dedicated parking adjacent to the building.  Staff 

recommends that the Developer negotiate a shared parking agreement with the adjacent land uses (Peoples Mortgage, 

Granny’s Closet, Brake Masters, and Ruff’s Sporting Goods) to ensure the success of any future commercial use. 

 



PZ-15-00164 Staff Report 

January 6, 2016 Page 10 of 15 

 
Design Review 

 

Site Planning Standards 

The site analysis standards found in Section 10-30.60.030 of the Zoning Code (Page 30.60-2) are generally not applied to the 

redevelopment of existing sites.  However, the principles, including  consideration for the topography of the site, solar 

orientation, existing/native vegetation types and relative quality, view corridors, climate, subsurface conditions, drainage 

swales and stream corridor, and the built environment and land use context are applied during site plan review. 

 

Pedestrian and Bicycle Circulation Systems 

Pedestrian access to the site is provided from Mikes Pike, Milton Road, and Phoenix Avenue.  Pedestrian circulation is 

provided around the site through a network of sidewalks providing connections between several key elements, including 

residential and commercial building entrances, and the parking garage.  In addition, they provide off-site connections to the 

adjacent public services, which can be used to access nearby transit stops and other non-residential uses.  Internal circulation 

is provided through a series of internal hallways and corridors. 

 

While there is no dedicated on-site bicycle circulation system, bicycles can utilize the adjacent pedestrian system to gain 

access to residential and commercial building entrances, bicycle parking areas, and the adjoining public sidewalks and bike 

lanes.  In accordance with Section 10-30.60.040.A.3.c of the Zoning Code (Page 30.60-7) and Section 10-50.80.050 of the 

Zoning Code (Page 50.80-11), 140 bicycle parking spaces are being provided on-site. 

 

Parking Lots, Driveways, and Service Areas 

In accordance with Section 10-50.80.020.A.1 of the Zoning Code (Page 50.90-1), all new development shall be required to 

provide off-street parking.  As previously discussed, the calculation for the required number of off-street parking spaces to be 

provided is based on the use of the site.  As such, 231 parking spaces are being provided on-site, the majority of which, 204, 

are located within an internal parking garage with access from Mikes Pike.  The remaining 27 parking spaces are provided as 

on-street parking, which is permitted to count towards the required residential guest parking and commercial use parking 

requirements in accordance with Section 10-50.80.040.B.4 of the Zoning Code (Page 50.80-5). 

 

Design standards require new development to minimize the number of curb cuts (i.e. driveways) onto a public street.  

Currently, access to the Subject Property is provided by 3 existing curb cuts on Mikes Pike, 3 existing curb cuts on Phoenix 

Avenue, and 2 existing curb cuts on Milton Road.  The Developer proposes to reduce the curb cuts to 1, on Mikes Pike, 

which will be used to access the internal parking garage. 

 

The site plan identifies 2 trash rooms with the parking garage.  Public Woks staff as worked with the Developer to ensure 

that the resulting trash enclosures meet the City standards for operation. 

 

Compatibility and Architectural Design Standards 

“Scale” refers to similar or harmonious proportions, overall height and width, the visual intensity of the development, and 

the building massing.  The proposed development, at four and five stories, would be the tallest structures in the immediate 

area but it would not be as tall as the Drury Inn (6-stories/71-feet) located at the intersection of Milton Road and Butler 

Avenue/Clay Avenue.  While the T5 Main Street (T5) transect zone allows for a maximum building height of 5-stories/64-

feet and the T4 Neighborhood 2 (T4N.2) transect zone allows for a maximum building height of 4-stories/52-feet, taken in 

context to other existing structures in the area and the existing character of the neighborhood, this development has the 

potential to be out of character based on today’s standards, but in character, given the proposed condition to reduce building 

height along Mikes Pike, with the potential redevelopment of the area to the north, which is currently zoned Commercial 

Service (CS) and T5 Main Street (T5), to east, which is currently zoned Commercial Service (CS) and T4 Neighborhood 1 – 

Open (T4N.1-O), and to the west, which is currently zoned Highway Commercial (HC).  Based on this, it is staff’s 

recommendation that a condition of approval be placed on the proposed Zoning Map Amendment to limit building height to 

4-stories/52-feet along Mikes Pike adjacent to the street frontage.  Additional stories may be achieved provided they are 

setback at least 40-feet from the property line. 



PZ-15-00164 Staff Report 

January 6, 2016 Page 11 of 15 

 
 

In accordance with Section 10-40-40.080.A of the Zoning Code (Page 40.40-31), residential is the primary use type within 

the T4 Neighborhood 2 (T4N.2) zone.  To reinforce this use, buildings should be designed to a residential character with a 

stoop, porch, or forecourt presenting to the street at the pedestrian level.  The primary entrances in the middle of the building 

along Phoenix Avenue are highlighted by stoops, porches, and landscaping.  Conversely, the easternmost and westernmost 

entrances lack a distinguishing entry feature.  To that, staff is proposing a conditional of approval to incorporate a covered 

porch, or other similar feature, into the design at the time of building permit submittal. 

 

During the review of the site plan, architectural design standards such as building materials, massing, roof form, and scale 

were applied and approved by staff.  Additional information regarding the architectural design of the building can be found 

on the elevations attached to this report.  Staff will confirm that any secondary materials and accent colors comprise less than 

25 percent of the exterior walls of each elevation during the review of a more detailed site plan submittal. 

 

Signage 

 

Signage is not included in the review of either the site plan or this Zoning Map Amendment.  All signage will be reviewed 

and approved under a separate sign permit prior to installation on-site.  Signage must comply with the standards established 

in Section 10-50.100 of the Zoning Code (Page 50.100-1), including commercial building mounted signage limited in 

mounting height to 25-feet and multi-family residential building mounted signage limited in mounting height to 4-feet. 

 

Landscaping 

 

A preliminary landscape plan, a copy of which is attached to this report, was approved by IDS with the site plan application 

and meets the general intent of the public right-of-way landscaping, open space landscaping, and landscape screening 

standards found within Section 10-50.60 of the Zoning Code (Page 50.60-1).  Staff will ensure that landscaping meets City 

standards during the review of more a more detailed improvement plan submittal. 

 

Affordable Housing 

 

The proposed Zoning Map Amendment provides certain entitlements to the Subject Property including an increase in 

possible density as a result of the increase in permitted building height.  When an application requests an increase in density, 

it has been a standing policy of the City Council to request that 10% of the proposed dwelling units be developed as 

affordable housing units.  Understanding this policy and the impacts in the affordable housing stock created by the proposed 

development, the City approached the Developer about either providing for or contributing to affordable housing.  To date, 

the Developer has not agreed to an affordable housing contribution 

 

Crime Fee Multi-Housing Program 

 

It is the understanding of staff that the Developer has met with the City of Flagstaff Police Department and has agreed to 

participate in the department’s Crime Free Multi-Housing Program (CFMHP).  Review of the plans will be necessary at 

building permit review to ensure that specific building features comply with the program.  Memorialization of participation 

will be ensured as part of the Development Agreement. 

 

PUBLIC SYSTEMS IMPACT ANALYSIS: 

 

Traffic and Access 

 

The Subject Property is bound on the north by Phoenix Avenue, on the east by Mikes Pike, and on the west by Milton Road. 

 Vehicular access to the site is provided by all 3 roadways with access to the parking garage provided by Mikes Pike.  

Proposed improvements within the right-of-way include: new curb, gutter, sidewalk, and parkway along all frontages; and, 



PZ-15-00164 Staff Report 

January 6, 2016 Page 12 of 15 

 
the dedication of right-of-way for a future deceleration and right-turn land on northbound Milton Road to eastbound Phoenix 

Avenue.  It is important to note that Milton Road is under the jurisdiction of the Arizona Department of Transportation 

(ADOT).  As such, ADOT must issue permits for any work performed within their right-of-way in addition to approving any 

plans/studies related to those improvements. 

 

A Traffic Impact Analysis (TIA) was prepared by the Developer to demonstrate the anticipated traffic volumes generated 

from the proposed development.  The City Traffic Engineer reviewed the site plan and TIA and subsequently accepted the 

results subject to the following condition: 

 

1. The Traffic Impact Analysis demonstrates that a traffic signal is not warranted at the intersection of San Francisco and 

Franklin in 2017 background, but is warranted with the site traffic.  In lieu of constructing the signal, the City of 

Flagstaff is requiring the Hub to pay one half of the estimated cost of constructing a new 4-leg signal at this intersection. 

 The total cost of the improvements will be calculated and provided by the City of Flagstaff and used to determine the 

Hub’s proportional share cost, which will be documented in a Development Agreement. 

2. The Traffic Impact Analysis estimates the volume of pedestrians crossing Butler Avenue at Humphreys, during peak 

hour, will increase approximately 100% in 2017, as a result of this development.  Consequently, the pedestrian crossing 

may need to be upgraded in the near future.  In lieu of constructing improvements at this time, the City of Flagstaff is 

requesting that the Hub pay for one half of the estimated cost of these improvements.  The total cost of the 

improvements will be calculated and provided by the City of Flagstaff as used to determine the Hub’s proportional share 

cost, which will be documented in a Development Agreement. 

 

Two methodologies were used to determine the impacts to transportation network: 

 

1. Using trip generation rates from a study performed by the City in 2015 of existing housing developments similar to the 

proposed development estimated traffic impacts were calculated based on the number of parking spaces that are 

proposed (231). 

2. A more conservative approach was also calculated based on the total number of bedrooms that are proposed (665). 

 

When the analysis was complete, there was no noticeable difference in impacts between the high and low scenarios. 

 

Water and Wastewater 

 

Existing waterlines in the area include an 8-inch case iron line located in Phoenix Avenue, a 6-inch cast iron line in 

Mikes Pike, and an 8-inch cast iron line in Milton Road.  Existing public sewer mains in the area include an 8-inch clay 

line located in Mikes Pike, an 8-inch clay line in Phoenix Avenue, and an 8-inch cast iron line in Butler Avenue.  A 

Water and Sewer Impact Analysis (“WSIA”) was prepared by Civil Design & Engineering, Inc. at the request of the City 

Utilities Department.  The analysis concluded that the existing water and sewer system infrastructure in Mikes Pike needs 

to be replaced due to ages, size, and material.  Specifically, the existing waterline will be replaced and upgraded to a 10-

inch PVC pipe and the existing sewer line will be replaced with an 8-inch PCV pipe.  The WSIA indicates that the City 

will participate in the costs associated with the water line improvements not located along the project frontage. The 

upsizing of the waterline is not needed to service the proposed development.  As such, the City of Flagstaff has agreed to 

participate in the additional costs associated with the upsizing, which will be finalized as part of the proposed 

Development Agreement. 

 

Stormwater 

 

Stormwater runoff will be detained in an at-grade detention vault located within the parking garage.  The vault is designed to 

properly reduce the peak on-site discharges with adequate storage for Low Impact Development (LID) volumes and 

rainwater harvesting volumes.  The building is currently located within the FEMA delineated floodplain for the Rio de Flag. 

The Developer has designed the Subject Property to elevate the buildings above the floodplain.  The Stormwater Manager 



PZ-15-00164 Staff Report 

January 6, 2016 Page 13 of 15 

 
reviewed the site plan, Drainage Impact Analysis, and  Preliminary Drainage Report and it was determined that there are no 

downstream impacts associated with the proposed development; however, the development will require the construction of a 

new 28”x20” arch stormdrain pipe from the Subject Property to an existing concrete culvert in Butler Avenue.  The 

requirement for these improvements will be ensured through the Development Agreement. 

 

Parks and Recreation 

 

The closest City-owned park to the site is Guadalupe Park located approximately 0.4 miles away.  In order to offset the 

impact of the additional residents on the current park system the Developer has proposed a large courtyard/outdoor amenities 

areas within the development.  These amenities will include a pool, 2 hot tubs, outdoor seating area, barbeques, lawn, and 

bocce ball court.  In addition, other amenities will be provided internal to the building.  Staff is confident that the park and 

recreational needs of the residents of the proposed development will be met through these amenities provided on-site and 

offset the impacts generated by the proposed development. 

 

OTHER REQUIREMENTS: 

 

Resources 

 

A Phase 1 Cultural Resource Study was prepared for the Subject Property and it was determined that two significant cultural 

resources were identified in the Direct Area of Potential Effects (APE)—the buildings at 17 and 17 ½ S Mikes Pike.  Twelve 

significant cultural resources were identified in the 1/8-mile Indirect APE—two historic districts and ten individual 

resources.  The project would result in major impacts to the two buildings at 17 and 17 ½ S Mikes Pike located within the 

Direct APE.  The  project would result to significant cultural resources in the Indirect APE would be that of no adverse 

effect.  It was determined, with approval by the Heritage Preservation Commission, that the relocation of the building, in lieu 

of demolition, would be the recommended option.  In either case, a Phase 2 Cultural Resource Study for the two buildings 

was prepared and accepted by the city.  The project has no additional impacts on other sites or buildings of historical or 

cultural significance. 

 

The Subject Property is not located within the Resource Protection Overlay (RPO) zone as defined by Section 10-

50.90.020.A of the Zoning Code (Page 50.90-2).  As such, the standards found within that section are not applicable to the 

proposed development. 

 

Citizen Participation 

 

Public hearings before the Planning and Zoning Commission and the City Council are conducted in conjunction with any 

Zoning Map amendment request.  In accordance with Arizona Revised Statute and City Code, notice of the public hearing 

must be provided by placing an ad in a newspaper of general circulation within the City, posting a notice on the property 

subject to the proposed amendment, and mailing a notice to all property owners within 300-feet of the property subject to the 

proposed amendment.  All notifications must be completed at least 15-days prior to the first schedule public hearing.  In 

order to notice as many people as possible, staff ensured that a notice was: published in the Sunday edition of the Arizona 

Daily Sun; 3 public hearing notice signs were posted on the site (1 on Mikes Pike, 1 on Milton Road, and 1 on Phoenix 

Avenue); and, a notice was mailed to all property owners within 1000-feet of the site, all tenants within 1,000 feet of the site, 

all parties on the Registry of Persons or Groups, and anyone who signed-in at any of the Developer’s previously held 

neighborhood meetings.  A copy of the publication notice, pictures of the postings, a mailing list, and a copy of the mailing 

notice are attached to this report. 

 

As of this writing, staff has received 13 letters and 13 e-mails from interested parties, which can be divided into 2 categories: 

opposed, and support.  Those comments in opposition (25 total) expressed concerns over compatibility, sociological impacts, 

infrastructure, student behavior, neighborhood character, traffic, unsupportable retail, parking, aesthetics, location, views, 

shadow cast, building massing, design, impact on tourism, Northern Arizona University’s problem to address, neighborhood 



PZ-15-00164 Staff Report 

January 6, 2016 Page 14 of 15 

 
history, student housing, undesirable part of town for students, density, availability of other housing types, and human 

congestion.  The comment in support (1 total) expressed the need for student housing, location, and need.  A table 

summarizing all public comments received to the date of this writing as well as copies of each comment is attached to this 

report. 

 

Section 10-20.30.060 of the Zoning Code (Page 20.30-5) requires the Developer to conduct a neighborhood meeting prior to 

the Planning and Zoning Commission public hearing in accordance with an approved neighborhood meeting plan.  After 

completion of the neighborhood meeting, the Developer must prepare a Record of Proceedings in accordance with Section 

10-20.30.060.F of the Zoning Code (Page 20.30-7).  That record is then presented as part of the report to the Planning and 

Zoning Commission and City Council.  The Neighborhood Meeting Plan, a copy of which is attached to this report, was 

approved by staff on December 3, 2015 and revised on December 29, 2015. 

 

The required neighborhood meeting was conducted on December 21, 2015 at the Pine Forest Charter School located at 1120 

W Kaibab Lane.  The meeting was noticed in accordance with established City standards.  The meeting was conducted in a 

more traditional speaker/audience format with a presentation given by the applicant followed by a question and answer 

(Q&A) session.  The results of the meeting were submitted on December 30, 2015 in a Neighborhood Meeting Report, a 

copy of which is attached to this report.  The meeting was attended by 47 people who signed-in.  Additional people may have 

attended but were not accounted for in the report.  Based on the submitted meeting minutes (Neighborhood Meeting 

Summary Tab F), comments during the Q&A session generally revolved around gaining a better understanding of the 

specifics of proposed development (i.e. number of beds, units, and parking spaces), impacts on the existing infrastructure 

(including traffic and transit), benefits of the project to the neighborhood and city, and plans for the property if the Zoning 

Map Amendment is denied. 

 

DISCUSSION: 

 

In accordance with Section 10-40.40.080.A of the Zoning Code (Page 40.40-31), the intent of the T4 Neighborhood 2 

(T4N.2) transect zone is to create new walkable urban neighborhoods that are in character with Flagstaff’s older 

neighborhoods in combination with other transect zones.  In accordance with Section 10-40.40.090.A of the Zoning Code 

(Page 40.40-37), the intent of the T5 Main Street (T5) transect zone is to reinforce the vitality of the downtown area adjacent 

to the core, to allow it to expand and evolve, and to provide an appropriate transition into existing neighborhoods.  The 

Subject Property is a part of a larger urban area with a highly connected network of walking, biking, and transit with easy 

and convenient connections to Downtown, Northern Arizona University, and daily shopping, services, and employment, 

which supports the proposed increase in density and intensity.  Due to the existing multi-modal transportation network and 

the nature of a student housing development, anticipated increases in vehicular traffic volumes generated from the proposed 

development are minor.  Increases in pedestrian and vehicular traffic will be mitigated prior to building occupancy through 

proportional share contributions to future infrastructure improvements.  Based on the recommended conditions of approval 

altering the relationship between the proposed buildings and the existing neighborhood, the compatibility of a mixed-use 

development with the surrounding existing residential and commercial uses, and the City’s ability to provide public services 

to the proposed development as demonstrated in the Public Systems Impact Analysis section of this report, the rezoning of 

the Subject Property from the existing T4 Neighborhood 1 (T4N.1) transect to the proposed T5 Main Street (T5) transect 

located along Mikes Pike and containing approximately 1.35 acres, and from the existing T4 Neighborhood 1 (T4N.1) and 

the T5 Main Street (T5) transects to the proposed T4 Neighborhood 2 (T4N.2) transect located along Phoenix Avenue and 

containing approximately 0.29 acres is the most logical step to fulfill the redevelopment goals of the Regional Plan and the 

Southside 2005 Plan. 

 

RECOMMENDATION: 

 

Staff believes that the proposed Zoning Map Amendment has been justified and would recommend in favor of amending the 

Downtown Regulating Plan from the existing T4 Neighborhood 1 (T4N.1) transect to the proposed T5 Main Street (T5) 

transect located along Mikes Pike and containing approximately 1.35 acres and, from the existing T4 Neighborhood 1 



PZ-15-00164 Staff Report 

January 6, 2016 Page 15 of 15 

 
(T4N.1) and the T5 Main Street (T5) transects to the proposed T4 Neighborhood 2 (T4N.2) transect located along Phoenix 

Avenue and containing approximately 0.29 acres, subject to the following conditions: 

 

1. Unless modified to comply with these conditions, the site shall be developed in substantial conformance to the Site 

Plan as approved by the Inter-Division Staff (IDS) on December 11, 2015 and as presented to the Planning and 

Zoning Commission with this Zoning Map Amendment request. 

 

2. The proposed structure located along Mikes Pike shall be limited to 4-stories/52-feet in height adjacent to the street 

frontage.  A fifth story, if desired, shall be setback at least 40-feet from the property line. 

 

3. Development shall be limited to two hundred twenty-nine (229) units and six hundred forty-three (643) beds.  Any 

increase to either the number of units or beds must be approved by the City Council through the review of a Zoning 

Map Amendment application. 

 

4. At the time of building permit submittal, the easternmost and westernmost residential entrances along Phoenix 

Avenue shall be modified to incorporate a covered porch element, or other similar feature, at the first floor entry to 

emphasize the pedestrian scale and residential character. 

 

5. Prior to building permit submittal, the Developer shall combine Coconino County Assessor parcel numbers 100-39-

001C, 00-39-010, 100-39-009, 100-39-008, 100-39-001G, 100-39-002A, and 100-39-011C. 

 

ATTACHMENTS 

 

o Zoning Map Amendment Application with Letter of Authorization 

o Vicinity Map 

o Public Hearing Legal Advertisements 

� Coconino County Assessor’s Parcel map 

� Posting, Publication, and Mailing 

o Public Comment Packet (Summary Table and Letters/E-mails Received) 

o Draft Development Agreement Deal Points 

o Applicable Regional Plan Goals and Policies 

o Zoning Code Interpretation—Parking 

o Rezone Narrative 

o Neighborhood Meeting Plan (Approved December 29, 2015) 

o Neighborhood Meeting Report (Submitted December 30, 2015) 

o Site Plan, Building Material Spec Sheet and Color Renderings, Elevations, Floor Plans, Landscape Plan, Lighting 

Plan, and Civil Grading, Drainage, and Utility Plan 



To: 

From

CC: 

 

Date

Re: 

At the
delibe
meeti
be pr
 

1

2
3
4

 
The v
Deve
and m
 
Regio
land 
identi
not s
the st
imple
A CR

 

Planning

m: Brian Ku

Dan Folk

Mark Saw

e: January 

PZ-15-0

e January 13
eration and a
ing.  As a pa
esented: 

. A view s
intersectio
a. Milton 
b. Beave
c. Beave

. A shadow 

. A bulk and

. An analys

view shed s
eloper and ar
mass studies

onal Plan Po
uses that c
fied on the l
upport the re
taff report.  T

emented thro
RS was pre

Me
g & Zoning C

ulina, Plannin

ke, Planning 

wyers, Curren

28, 2016 

0164, The H

3, 2016 mee
action on the

art of that con

hed study o
ons: 

Road/Butler 
er Street/Phoe
er Street/Cott

study of the 
d mass study
is of Regiona

study, shado
re attached t
 reflect deve

olicy CC.2.7 s
compromise 
arger list of g
equested app
The reasonin
ugh the Cult

epared by t

CU

mora
Commission 

ng Developm

Director 

nt Planning M

ub Zoning M

eting of the P
e requested 
ntinuation, the

of the prop

r Avenue look
enix Avenue
tage Avenue 
proposed de

y of the existi
al Plan Policy

ow study, an
to this memo
lopment und

states “Prote
the historic 
goals and po
plication but 
ng was goals
tural Resourc
he Develope

CITY OF
URRENT PL

211 West 
Flagstaff,
PHONE: 

andu

ment Manager

Manager 

Map Amendm

Planning Co
Zoning Map

e following a

osed develo

king north; 
 looking wes
look west. 

evelopment.
ng zoning. 
y CC.2.7. 

nd bulk and
orandum for 
er existing zo

ect existing h
characterist

olicies that c
was not incl

s and policie
ce Study (CR
er and app

F FLAGST
LANNING D
t Aspen Ave
, Arizona 86
(928) 213-2

m 

r 

ment 

mmission, th
p Amendme

additional info

opment as 

st; and, 

d mass stud
reference.  

oning and de

historic distric
tics of the d
could potentia
luded in the 

es related to 
RS) requirem
proved by th

1 | P a

TAFF 
DIVISION 
enue 
6001 
2613 

he Commiss
ent to a Febr
ormation was

seen from 

dy were pre
The view sh

evelopment a

cts from encr
district.”  Thi
ally be used 
more detaile
heritage pre

ments of the Z
he Heritage 

a g e  

ion continue
ruary 3, 201
s requested t

the followin

pared by th
hed, and bul
as proposed.

roachment b
is policy wa
to support o

ed analysis o
eservation ar
Zoning Code
Preservatio

ed 
6 
to 

ng 

he 
lk 

by 
as 
or 
of 
re 
e.  

on 



2 | P a g e  
 

Commission.  Any impacts associated with the proposed development on heritage resources 
would be mitigated through the CRS review process. 
 
In addition, an e-mail was received from a Commissioner that requested the following 
information: 
 

1. The total number of beds provided on Northern Arizona University (NAU). 
2. The total number of parking spaces reserved for residential parking on NAU. 
3. Parking standards, if any, for residential development on NAU, Arizona State 

University (ASU), and University of Arizona (UA). 
 
On campus, there are 7,694 beds controlled by NAU and approximately 1,500 additional 
beds controlled by American Campus Communities, a private company.  The total number of 
spaces reserved specifically for on campus residential use is unknown.  However, there are 
approximately 9,200 total parking spaces on campus with approximately 4,800 residential 
parking permits issued.  Neither university (NAU, ASU, or UA) appears to have an 
established parking standard that is applied to the construction of new residential 
rooms/beds.  This becomes evident when considering that many surface parking lots, 
statewide, are being converted to new classroom and/or residential developments without 
associated parking being provided. 
 
As of this writing, staff has received a total of 17 comments from the public regarding the 
proposed Zoning Map Amendment.  A table summarizing those comments, as well as copies 
of the comments themselves, is attached to this memorandum for review. 
 
Should the Commission have any additional questions in advance of the next meeting, 
please do not hesitate to contact me at (928) 213-2613 or via e-mail at 
bkulina@flagstaffaz.gov. 
 
Attachments 

 View Shed Study and Bulk/Mass Study of Existing Zoning and Proposed 
Development 

 Shadow Study 
 Public Comments Summary 









HUB ON CAMPUS FLAGSTAFF 01.22.2016
BUILDING MASSING

meason
Text Box
EXHIBIT 1 - MIKES PIKE ORIGINAL BUILDING ELEVATION



HUB ON CAMPUS FLAGSTAFF 01.22.2016
BUILDING MASSING

meason
Text Box
EXHIBIT 2 - MIKES PIKE BUILDING ELEVATION AS MODIFIED BY STIPULATION

meason
Text Box



HUB ON CAMPUS FLAGSTAFF 01.22.2016

PROPOSED BUILDING 
MASSING

LINE REPRESENTS ROOFLINE 
OF BUILDING BEHIND TREES

meason
Text Box
EXHIBIT 3 - VIEW FROM PHOENIX AVENUE & BEAVER STREET - PROPOSED ZONING



HUB ON CAMPUS FLAGSTAFF 01.22.2016

BY-RIGHT BUILDING 
MASSING

LINE REPRESENTS ROOFLINE 
OF BUILDING BEHIND TREES

meason
Text Box
EXHIBIT 4 - VIEW FROM PHOENIX AVENUE & BEAVER STREET - CURRENT ZONING



HUB ON CAMPUS FLAGSTAFF 01.22.2016

PROPOSED BUILDING MASSING

LINE REPRESENTS ROOFLINE 
OF BUILDING BEHIND TREES

meason
Text Box
EXHIBIT 5 - VIEW FROM BUTLER AVENUE & MILTON ROAD - PROPOSED ZONING



HUB ON CAMPUS FLAGSTAFF 01.22.2016

BY-RIGHT BUILDING MASSING

LINE REPRESENTS ROOFLINE 
OF BUILDING BEHIND TREES

meason
Text Box
EXHIBIT 6 - VIEW FROM BUTLER AVENUE & MILTON ROAD - CURRENT ZONING



HUB ON CAMPUS FLAGSTAFF 01.22.2016

PROPOSED BUILDING MASSING

LINE REPRESENTS ROOFLINE OF 
BUILDING BEHIND TREES
LINE REPRESENTS ROOFLINE OF 
BUILDING BEHIND TREES

meason
Text Box
EXHIBIT 7 - VIEW FROM COTTAGE AVENUE & BEAVER STREET - PROPOSED ZONING



HUB ON CAMPUS FLAGSTAFF 01.22.2016

BY-RIGHT BUILDING MASSING

LINE REPRESENTS ROOFLINE OF 
BUILDING BEHIND TREES

meason
Text Box
EXHIBIT 8 - VIEW FROM COTTAGE AVENUE & BEAVER STREET - CURRENT ZONING



HUB ON CAMPUS FLAGSTAFF
01.22.2016

SHADOW STUDIES

SEPT/MAR 21 - 9AM

JUNE 21 - 9AM

DEC 21 - 9AM

SEPT/MAR - 12 PM

JUNE 21 - 12 PM

DEC 21 - 12 PM

SEPT/MAR - 3PM

JUNE 21 - 3PM

DEC 21 - 3PM

MIKE’S PIKE

MIKE’S PIKE

MIKE’S PIKE

MIKE’S PIKE

MIKE’S PIKE

MIKE’S PIKE

MIKE’S PIKE

MIKE’S PIKE

MIKE’S PIKE

meason
Text Box
EXHIBIT 9 - SHADOW STUDY



The Hub on Campus Flagstaff – Public Comment Summary 
Updated:  01/28/2016 at 12:00pm 

Total:  17  Opposed:  16  Support:  0  Neutral:  1 

No.  Date  Name  Type  Comment(s) 

1  01/13/2016  Nat White  E‐Mail  Opposition – Business deal between City and Developer, traffic, parking, demise of the 
neighborhood, complexity of transect zones, views, snow/ice 

2  01/13/2016  Joseph Walka  E‐Mail  Opposition – Parking, traffic 

3  01/13/2016  Duffie Westheimer  E‐Mail  Opposition – Bicycle ridership in the future, America’s love of cars, parking, traffic, 
bicycle safety 

4  01/14/2016  Diana Thorson  E‐Mail  Opposition – Impact to neighborhood, parking, impact on tourism, not for families, 
student conduct 

5  01/15/2016  Charlie Silver  E‐Mail  Neutral – Requesting counts for comments in support and nonsupport 

6  01/15/2016  Mimi Murov  E‐Mail  Opposition – Fire safety 

7  01/17/2016  Jerry Johnson  E‐Mail  Opposition – Inappropriate, ruin of Downtown, parking, student housing belongs on 
campus 

8  01/18/2016  Victoria VanPuyvelde  E‐Mail  Opposition – Decrease aesthetic value, neighborhood character 

9  01/18/2016  Rob Trathnigg  E‐Mail  Opposition – Visual pollutant, parking, transect zoning not appropriate, does not 
comply with transect purpose 

10  01/20/2016  Leyah Huff  Letter  Opposition – Traffic, parking, neighborhood character 

11  01/26/2016  Walter Salas‐Humara  E‐Mail  Opposition – Architecture, use, type of retail, neighborhood character, traffic, parking, 
impact on rents 

12  01/26/2016  Gisela Kluwin  E‐Mail  Opposition – Scale, neighborhood compatibility, parking, traffic 

13  01/26/2016  Emily Ross  E‐Mail  Opposition – Property values, size, location, traffic, parking 

14  01/26/2016  Janelle Gaun  E‐Mail  Opposition – Property values, parking, aesthetics, density 



The Hub on Campus Flagstaff – Public Comment Summary 
Updated:  01/28/2016 at 12:00pm 

Total:  17  Opposed:  16  Support:  0  Neutral:  1 

No.  Date  Name  Type  Comment(s) 

15  01/26/2016  Patrick Taylor  E‐Mail  Opposition – Increased crime, student behavior, “for profit college town” 

16  01/27/2016  Kari Maurer  E‐Mail  Opposition – Community compatibility, parking, density, aesthetics, property values 

17  01/28/2016  Richard Fernandez  E‐Mail  Opposition – Location, density, parking, traffic, policing issues, size 

18         

19         

20         

21         

22         

23         

24         

25         

26         

27         

28         

29         

30         

31         



1

Brian Kulina

From: Nat White <white@lowell.edu>
Sent: Wednesday, January 13, 2016 3:34 PM
To: Brian Kulina
Subject: HUB
Attachments: Hub Core Campus.docx

Follow Up Flag: Follow up
Flag Status: Completed

Hi, 
 
Here are some rough thoughts I am sending to staff. 
 
Nat 

P&Z and Staff,          Wednesday, January 13, 2016 

After attending one of the public ‘HUB’ meetings, these are the notes I took from the point of view if I had to make the 
recommendation followed by comments. 

This is a business deal between Core campus and the people of Flagstaff. Staff, P&Z, and Council represent the 
people with the purpose of supporting what the regional plan and various other documents spell out including 
Vision 2020 and various surveys. 

Core, appropriately, sees this as a way to make money by filling a need. 

This particular business decision between Core and the people of Flagstaff should reflect lessons from similar 
projects. It may set the standard for future projects, that is, high, low or medium standard. This not a single 
focused decision but part of the evolution of Flagstaff. 

Therefore, we need to be cautious in the approach and set conditions conservatively with the public, long term 
impacts and costs to the neighborhood and tax payers in mind. We have this one chance because Core’s optimal 
business plan requires some use changes or variations from the city plan. 

Concerns brought up in the public outreach with some of my own thoughts. 

Traffic and particularly parking was one of the biggest concerns. Core said they are meeting the requirements which is 
less parking than units and will set rules and monitor the potential problem. Folks felt those were words with no 
external enforcement and Core admitted if the property sold the rules could be different. 

Encroachment and lack of enforcement of NAU workday parking in the neighborhood is currently a problem and this 
would make it worse. 

Hub would be the beginning of the demise of the neighborhood and there was no south side plan. They see this as a 
piecemeal approach with no long term planning other than high level transect type planning, a concept hard for the 
average person to understand in terms of impact. 

If Core’s hope is to encourage pedestrian traffic over car, why aren’t they partnering in implementing rights of way and 
other encouraging pedestrian facilities? 

Looks are in the eye of the beholder, but building heights permanently affect view sheds and the town image especially 
in this location. 



2

Here are some of my thoughts/comments: 

Traffic‐ no left turns on to Milton from Phoenix or off of Milton to Phoenix except for City busses. Traffic designs should 
be such that Phoenix, Beaver, and Humphreys are the main auto route to and from Campus rather than weaving 
through residential areas. That may have traffic control costs. Who pays and how does that affect the current traffic 
circulation and businesses? 

The only sure way to mitigate parking problems is to have enough parking for all units. Parking requirements maybe 
based on a set of city rules, but a set of rules may not meet the needs of special circumstances and locations. Core’s 
good faith approach is to make their own ‘house’ rules which new owners can change and is a step away from city 
control. 

Transect zoning is too course when it effects old neighborhoods. That requires more detailed planning. Therefore, a 
request to change the zoning in itself begins a piecemeal planning process of the south side. 

Pedestrian/bike encouragement requires forethought and facilities. For example, there is no pedestrian access under 
the east side of the underpass and no way to cross if the destination is the library, Wheeler or Thorpe Park. The railroad 
bridge is being used illegally for that access even now and will probably be used more. 

Phoenix between Milton and Mikes Pike will be shaded most of the winter because of building heights causing a danger 
and a maintenance problem for pedestrians, bikes, and motorized vehicles not much different than downtown Aspen 
St.. 

Building height and minimal set back will change the Milton view shed and city image and will also delay sun exposure of 
the sidewalk and road till well after noon in the winter. 

I submitted these comments with the idea of being useful in considering opportunities and impacts. 

Nat White 

 



1

Brian Kulina

From: Mark Sawyers
Sent: Thursday, January 14, 2016 8:58 AM
To: Brian Kulina
Subject: FW: The hub

Follow Up Flag: Follow up
Flag Status: Completed

fyf 
 
‐‐‐‐‐Original Message‐‐‐‐‐ 
From: Joseph Walka [mailto:joseph.walka@nau.edu]  
Sent: Wednesday, January 13, 2016 6:07 PM 
To: Mark Sawyers 
Subject: The hub 
 
As a former P and Z member, I would vote against the Hub as currently proposed. The parking for the project is 
insufficient in an area of high density population. Inadequate attention is being paid to traffic issues as we consider 
various proposed projects. 
Joseph J. Walka 
613 W. Cherry Ave. 
 
Sent from my iPad 
 



1

Brian Kulina

From: Duffie Westheimer <dwestheimer@gmail.com>
Sent: Friday, January 15, 2016 9:59 AM
To: Daniel Folke; Brian Kulina
Subject: important forgotten info

Follow Up Flag: Follow up
Flag Status: Completed

Greetings Dan and Brian, 
In my Commission meeting comments the other evening I forgot to make this very important point that I'd like 
included in the record as another reason the Hub or any similar development is bad for Flagstaff. 

As a cyclist for more than 40 years --touring, commuting as well as recreational riding in many parts of the 
world-- I have seen bicycling in the US wax and wain in popularity a few times.  
 
The point is that although some students may like to ride a bicycle these days it would be irresponsible to 
believe that in ten years, if not in five years, they will still want to ride. Americans love cars more than 
bikes and probably always will. To base development on the idea that students won't have cars (especially 
if they can afford luxury dorms) is naive at best. That assumption is only a profit windfall for the 
developer that makes problems for Flagstaff residents and sucks up COF resources dealing with the 
resulting problems.  
 
Making it difficult to have a car will not eliminate Americans having and using cars.  

I think I said this the other evening but it is worth repeating, more traffic on the roads does not make bicycle use 
increase. Most people do not have the skills and or confidence to ride with traffic, even with a bike lane--bike 
lanes are a problem at every turn--literally.  
 
Also people need to get across town and Butler, as an example, is really not safe to ride on when we have 
snow/ice/cinders, etc. piled up on the right side of the road--pushing bikes in and out of traffic. (We have only 
one car so I ride it anyway but when I have to take the dogs to the vet which I do with a trailer this is a serious 
problem. Even if riding on the sidewalk is illegal it is not even an option because they are covered in uneven 
snow.  
 
In short, as Flag has grown over the past 35 years I've lived and ridden here, riding has not gotten better 
because the amount of traffic has outpaced the available space, moves faster and bikes are always 
considered second-class users on the road.  

I hope these comments are taken into consideration. 
Thanks for your time. 
--Duffie Westheimer 
 
 
On Thu, Jan 14, 2016 at 4:02 PM, Daniel Folke <DFolke@flagstaffaz.gov> wrote: 

Duffie, 

I know Brian replied to you on Monday morning. Please let me know if you are unable to get his reply and 
attachments.  



2

Regards. 

Dan Folke 

Planning Director  

City of Flagstaff 

928-213-2630 

From: Brian Kulina  
Sent: Thursday, January 14, 2016 2:00 PM 
To: 'duffie@westheimers.net' <duffie@westheimers.net>; 'dwestheimer@gmail.com' 
<dwestheimer@gmail.com> 
Cc: Mark Landsiedel <MLandsiedel@flagstaffaz.gov>; Daniel Folke <DFolke@flagstaffaz.gov>; Mark 
Sawyers <msawyers@flagstaffaz.gov>; Brian Kulina <BKulina@flagstaffaz.gov> 
Subject: RE: well? 

Ms. Westheimer - 

I received your e-mail and I provided a response. A copy of the responding e-mail is attached for reference. 
Perhaps the size of some of the attachments caused it to be automatically sent to you bulk mail folder. If that 
was not the case, I apologize for you not receiving the response in a timely manner. 

Brian J Kulina, AICP 

Planning Development Manager 

P: (928) 213-2613 | F: (928) 213-2089 

From: Duffie Westheimer [mailto:dwestheimer@gmail.com]  
Sent: Thursday, January 14, 2016 1:39 PM 
To: Brian Kulina 
Subject: well? 

Mr. Kulina, 

I sent an email that would have been in your "box" Monday morning with ten questions relating to zoning in 
general and the Hub in particular. Those were not rhetorical questions. Will you be sending answers, as 
requested? 

Please let me know. 

Thank you, 

Duffie Westheimer 

 
 



3

 
--  
Lots of new Lanamals! Look here: http://www.lanamals.com  



1

Brian Kulina

From: Diana Thorson <thorsond@commspeed.net>
Sent: Thursday, January 14, 2016 5:35 PM
To: Brian Kulina
Subject: My unspoken words (and more)
Attachments: Di on The Hub.docx

Ms. Diana Thorson 
4521 E. Flintwood Ln. 
Flagstaff, AZ 86004 
January 13, 2016 
Mr. Brian Kulina, AICP 
Planning Development Manager 
Planning & Development Services 
211 West Aspen Ave. 
Flagstaff, AZ 86001 

RE: 17 S. Mike’s Pike (The Hub) 
Dear Mr. Kulina, 
Thank you to you and your committee for your efforts to listen to the concerns of the citizens of Flagstaff. I stayed the full 3
hours at the hearing as Richard, whose letter you referred to in your opening remarks, is quite ill. I wanted to listen to others 
so I wouldn’t be redundant if I got the chance to speak, thus time ran out before my name was called. I actually came away
with issues to which no one referred. A great deal can be learned by looking at HISTORY. We moved here from Chicago to get
away from the urban sprawl. It takes control of your life, more than technology. (Could the developers have a different idea of
what a small historic town should look like?) 
We have  lived here 32 years and owned a business  in  the MacMillan Bldg. until  the downtown parking  issue  in 1984 was
“solved” by building the Flagstaff Mall, pulling business away from downtown and forced us to close in 1986. The new City Hall 
had not even been built yet.  I worked  for the Sheriff’s Office  in the  jail  in the 1990’s.  I often had to park up the hill  in the 
neighborhoods,  including  in front of Babbitt’s home. (County Building doesn’t even have enough parking for the employees,
never mind for those who need to do business there). When I taught at S. Beaver School, I often found myself unable to leave 
as a student parked behind my car.1 THE ISSUE HAS BEEN HERE FOR A VERY LONG TIME. Your predecessors as far back as that
and longer did not take care of business then; it is now a major crisis and up to you to make better unbiased decisions based 
on what the public  is saying  (Out‐of‐state dollars vs. preserving our heritage.) The city and  library  lots are barely adequate
putting the burden on that historic neighborhood. There  is  just no question that the proposed Core Campus Development
will be the breaking point of the Downtown tourist area, to which tourists have come to experience. If you approve this, it
will never go away. Tourists will  cease  to  find Flagstaff  charming.  Look at Riordan Mansion, our hidden  treasure barely
surviving. We must be better stewards of our past. The only “winner” here is Core. Whatever dollars the city would collect
in  taxes would be  eaten up by  ancillary  services—maintenance of  the  area, policing,  traffic  control,  trash,  recycle,  etc.
House students on campus and NAU would be providing those services (student jobs?) but retail would still benefit. 
I  learned much  tonight:  there are  issues  that conflict with  reality  trickling out of  the  larger  issues. Many were mentioned,
some were not. 

How is it legal to allow this private enterprise to have dedicated on‐street parking overnight when, by Ordinance, October 
to April there is no on‐street parking? 

We have always lived on the East side. How is it equitable for those living in the historic neighborhoods to have required 
paid permit parking and we do not? The South side residents didn’t cause the problem. 

Core Campus Development is in the business of building housing for STUDENTS. Don’t be fooled by their false “intention”
to recruit families (limiting cars). If they followed through with that emphasis, we’d have to reclaim S. Beaver School,
another casualty of NAU sprawl. 

Regarding Core’s commitment  to “policing and  informed student expectations”  is a  false  reality. There was an Eviction
Clinic this very day at the Courthouse. Eviction  is a nearly  impossible resolution for bad behavior as the AZ Revised
Statutes favor the renter, not the landlord. At best it can take 2 years or more, depending on the behavior. We know
this from personal experience. Providing Logical Consequences (1968, Dr. Rudolf Dreikurs2) for bad student behavior is 
the college’s job. Strong action can only improve the quality of the character of the college student population.  



2

Someone needs  to  take a stand  regarding  the extent  to which we are going  to  let students define what Flagstaff  is.  It 
might as well be you and better now than later. You can see by the proportion of opponents to advocates you will be
very popular  if you choose  to be defined by our history and natural beauty rather than a college campus. The two 
venues should be distinct where both students and  residents can enjoy  the cosmopolitan atmosphere a university
provides without destroying the uniqueness of our historical roots and natural environment. The Land Grant College
System (Morrill Act) did that for us in the 1860’s. 

Take the lead and encourage the formation of a committee to lobby the Board of Regents to take responsibility. There is
enough bad publicity about college students to go around. 

Has  their mandate  to  increase  student population by 10,000 been examined closely enough  to know  that  this
community’s infrastructure can support that density?  

Nearly all college students are not mature adults. Take a trip to University Surplus and see the damage they do to
government property. They need to live on the state land as wards of the college.  

By  taking  on  The  Hub,  we  are  enabling  the  Board  of  Regents  to  shirk  their  duty:  to  teach  good  behavior,
responsible  tenant practices and  the  respect as guests of our or any  city. Academia must  include  life and 
social skills.  

Why can’t Core Campus  run  their business as a concession ON STATE PROPERTY? Let  them use  the  state’s 80
acres. Tourists definitely are not coming to Flagstaff to mingle with college students. 

Per  the President of  the Chamber of Commerce,  it would be  interesting  to hear  from a  realtor as  to whether The Hub
might  inflate or decrease property values  in  the downtown  corridor. Certainly, when  Internet education  takes  the
lead, Flagstaff will be left with a mighty big, vacant eyesore. 

Milton Road is a U.S. Highway, all the way to Rt. 64. They have no obligation to assist the city with the gridlock of traffic
from I‐40 to the Nordic Center. We are in this alone to control the traffic. The voters missed their chance when they
voted against the Ponderosa Parkway over MacMillan Mesa through a corner of Buffalo Park. Add The Hub to the mix
and we will send skiers to the White Mountains. 

I hope there are people on the committee who have visited other college towns and examined how the student populations
are housed. Places like Ogden, UT; Williamsburg, VA; College Park, MD; Savannah, GA; Boston, MA; Denver, CO; Boulder, CO;
Charlottesville, VA, etc.  should be evaluated  to determine  the best and worst ways  to expand. As a  Land Grant College  it
should be a no‐brainer. Use the  land set aside for the college.  I don’t know what  it  is  like now, but my husband and  I both
went to Southern Illinois University, joined a sorority and fraternity, living in a small group housing area, each with their own
house,  several  miles  from  downtown  Carbondale.  We  were  taught  how  to  respect  our  housing  and  the  city,  and
underclassmen  were  not  allowed  to  have  cars  unless  they  were  commuters  or  handicapped.  Somehow  high  behavior
standards have been  lost. We need  to direct  the  responsibility  to  the appropriate entity. That  is your daunting  task, which
starts with not only denying this code change, but by tightening code and building restrictions, especially adjacent to historic 
areas. The city buildings need to follow the same design conformity history has  left us. Over and over I hear that the  library 
should be the model for new structures. Is anyone listening? Sedona has sure shown the power of design control. We need a 
MUCH STRONGER Architectural Control Board as I, with design and architectural undergraduate training, see from proposals
with other pending projects. 
Sincerely, 
Diana Thorson 
Diana Thorson 
(928) 526‐4671 
1 Our son owns his home at the intersection of S. Verde and Ellory. The struggle to park on the street or in his driveway is a constant 
problem. This is “creative student parking” across Verde St. from his home, IN the Rio de Flag. 

 
2 Child & Family counselor, founder of the Adler Institute of Professional Psychology, Chicago, 1952‐1972 



1

Brian Kulina

From: Charlie Silver <cws720@gmail.com>
Sent: Friday, January 15, 2016 9:20 AM
To: Brian Kulina
Cc: Daniel Folke
Subject: Wednesday's P&Z meeting

Hello Brian and Dan, 
 
Would you have a total tally to date of the "not in favor" and "in favor" comments received about the proposed Hub 
project.  I am thinking this would include all the email comments to date as well as the public testimony from 
Wednesday's P&Z meeting too.  
 
Thanks very much, 
Charlie Silver 
720 W. Aspen Ave. 
 
Sent from my iPad 
 



1

Brian Kulina

From: mimimurov <mmurov@qwestoffice.net>
Sent: Friday, January 15, 2016 3:36 PM
To: Brian Kulina
Subject: Core Campus

Follow Up Flag: Follow up
Flag Status: Completed

Dear P&Z, 
 
I recently sent an email concerning The Hub by Core Campus. I attended the P&Z meeting on Jan 14. I appreciated that 
you mentioned the received emails in this meeting and I appreciate the extra amount of time you allotted to public 
input. During the presentation by Core Campus I understood them to say that there would be only one entry/exit to the 
upper apartments. Did I hear this correctly? If so don’t you find that to be a safety hazard in case of fire or other 
emergency? 
 
Again thank you for your thoughtful consideration in hearing the public input. I hope you will deny the CUP and change 
in zoning for reasons mentioned in my previous email as well as those mentioned at the Jan 14 meeting. 
 
Sincerely, 
Mimi Murov 



1

Brian Kulina

From: Jerry Johnson <jljohnson820@juno.com>
Sent: Sunday, January 17, 2016 7:51 PM
To: Brian Kulina
Cc: Daniel Folke
Subject: The Hub

Follow Up Flag: Follow up
Flag Status: Completed

Hello, 
 
I attended the last P&Z meeting about the Hub.  I did not speak or give a written comment at the meeting, but would 
like to do so now.  I am totally opposed to the Hub.  It is inappropriate for Flagstaff and would be the beginning of the 
ruin of downtown Flagstaff.  The lack of available parking can not be overlooked.  Student housing belongs on campus 
where NAU can control the associated problems.  NAU has a hundred acres of undeveloped land.  Build the student 
housing there, not in the heart of the city. 
 
Jerry Johnson 
 
Sent from my iPad 



1

Brian Kulina

From: Victoria Vanpuyvelde <vcv5@nau.edu>
Sent: Monday, January 18, 2016 10:54 AM
To: Brian Kulina
Subject: The hub

Follow Up Flag: Follow up
Flag Status: Completed

Hi Brian, 
 
My name is Victoria and I am aware that you are keeping a tally of those in or not in support of the Hub on 
Mike's Pike. If possible, I would like you to add me to the "not in support" list. I do not support the building of 
this project.  
 
I have lived in Flagstaff for 6 years now and I cherish this community. I have grown into myself here, and I feel 
that the community and the overall vibe of Flagstaff has helped contribute to my growth as a young adult. I live 
at 205 South Beaver Street and I believe that if this building goes up, it will significantly decrease the value, 
astethic value, and overall feel of my neighborhood. I do not support this and want you (or someone) to hear my 
voice.  
 
Thank you for your time.  
 
Best,  
Victoria VanPuyvelde 
 
 



1

Brian Kulina

From: Becky Cardiff
Sent: Tuesday, January 19, 2016 7:53 AM
To: Brian Kulina
Subject: FW: The HUB
Attachments: HUB CUP deny letter final.pdf

Follow Up Flag: Follow up
Flag Status: Flagged

Can you include this in your next packet to P&Z? 
 

Uxv~ç VtÜw|yy 
Development Services Supervisor 
City of Flagstaff 
211 W Aspen 
Flagstaff, AZ 86001 
Phone-928-213-2618 
Fax-928-213-2609 
 

From: Rob T. Construction, Inc/ Robert Trathnigg [mailto:RobTConstruction@commspeed.net]  
Sent: Monday, January 18, 2016 9:46 AM 
To: Becky Cardiff ; Mark Sawyers  
Subject: The HUB 
 
Hi Becky, 
Please forward the attached letter to the Planning and Zoning commission members and enter it into public record. 
Thanks 
Rob 
 

 
 

 

This email has been sent from a virus-free computer protected by Avast.  
www.avast.com  

 



 

 

To: Flagstaff Planning and Zoning Commission,     January 17, 2016 

RE:PZ-15-00164 HUB CUP Request 

I ask that the Planning and Zoning Commission deny core Campus’s request to amend the Downtown 

Regulating Plan, and for a Conditional Use Permit (CUP) for the HUB. 

I feel this project would be a Visual Pollutant and change the look and feel of the downtown area. It will 

also have a negative effect on parking availability in the downtown area. The Hub will be a major impact 

to the skyline from the surrounding area and very visible from the intersection at Route 66 and Milton 

ave. The developer has not provided elevations looking at The HUB, from the south. This one structure 

will change the look and feel of our walkable neighborhood from individual, separated buildings with 

varying setbacks from the sidewalk, to a 4/5 story monolithic structure, built to the sidewalk. It deletes 

the neighborhood feel and replaces it with a sprawling, high density, high rise structure. 

It is important to note that the 7 parcels that make up the HUB Property were identified in the original 

Zoning Maps (Zoning map and Transect Zone Overlay Maps) for their value and best use with 

consideration of the existing structures and approved use(s) of the adjacent parcels. I do not think re-

drawing the Zoning maps, based on the combined parcels, is appropriate. 

The current CS zone states, “the development of residential uses in addition to commercial uses is 

encouraged in this Zone, provided that residential uses are located above or behind the primary 

commercial service use”. (Flagstaff Zoning Code 10-40.30.040 Commercial Zones)  

The current HC zone states, “the development of commercial uses in addition to residential uses is 

encouraged in the HC Zone to provide diversity in housing choices, provided that residential uses are 

located above or behind commercial buildings so that they are buffered from adjoining highway 

corridors. The provisions of this Zone are also intended to provide for convenient, controlled access 

and parking, without increasing traffic burdens on the adjacent streets and highway.” (Flagstaff Zoning 

Code 10-40.30.040 Commercial Zones) 

I feel it is also important to note that, under the current Zoning (CS and HC) the front, side, and rear 

setbacks, as well as, increased parking requirements and landscaping requirements would be major 

factors in regulating building size and overall lot coverage. 

In addition, I do not think the HUB project should be considered for transect zoning, or any “form based” 

code applied to the property. The Flagstaff Zoning Code, Preamble, P .090, “Using the Flagstaff Transect” 

states in paragraph A, “The City- Guiding Principles, 1. Preserve and enhance community character; 2. 

Encourage appropriately scaled infill and development”. The Hub does not meet this description. 

The HUB does not meet the description of the transect zones standards as outlined in 10-40.40.10.010 

“Purpose”. This section describes transect zones as “optional” but does not describe them as zones 

applied to the properties they cover “By Right”. The property/ project must meet the specific 

requirements of the transect zone to adopt the transect zone overlay. 



 

 

The T4 Neighborhood 1 (T4N.1) standards describes the intent of this overlay zone as, “The primary 

intent is to reinforce established neighborhoods and to maintain neighborhood stability in walkable 

urban areas, while allowing such areas to evolve with the integration of small building footprints and 

medium density building types. Appropriate building types might include bungalow courts, duplexes, 

and apartment complexes, which are typically smaller than those found in other zones”. (Flagstaff 

Zoning Code 10-40.40.070 T4 Neighborhood 1). It goes on to describe uses as, “homeowner offices and 

small neighborhood supporting uses, such as music classes and artist studios”. 

The HUB does not meet the requirements or description provided in the Flagstaff Zoning Code 10-

40.40.070 T4 Neighborhood 1 Transect Zoning Standards. Please deny the CUP and rezoning request. 

The T5 Main Street Standards states, “the primary intent of this zone is to reinforce the vitality of the 

downtown area adjacent to the core, to allow it to expand and evolve, and to provide an appropriate 

transition into existing neighborhoods.” (Flagstaff Zoning Code 10-40.40.090 T5 Main Street Standards). 

I then goes on to state, “the Zone and sub-zone are intended to preserve and build upon the existing 

pattern of development. New development, renovations, and additions should be in character and 

scale with existing valued patterns.”  (Flagstaff Zoning Code 10-40.40.090 T5 Main Street Standards).   

The HUB does not meet the requirements or description provided in the Flagstaff Zoning Code 10-

40.40.090 T5 Main Street Transect Zoning Standards. Please deny the CUP and rezoning request. 

The Hub is within a high density area as outlined in the Regional Plan. There is a great example of a 

property that meets this recommendation, falls within the neighborhood standards and character, and 

meets the existing Zoning Code requirements at the corner of W Santa Fe and Sitgreves ave, across the 

street from the city hall parking lot (to the west). 

Again, I request that the Planning and Zoning Commission deny Core Campus’s request to amend the 

Downtown Regulating Plan, and for a Conditional Use Permit (CUP) for the HUB.  

This property can be developed according to the standards outlined in the Zoning Code and Regional 

Plan, without applying the Transect Overlay Zones. Again, please deny the request to amend the 

Downtown Regulating Plan, and for a Conditional Use Permit (CUP) for the HUB. 

I own the property at 12 South Mikes Pike - corner of Mikes Pike and West Phoenix. If the HUB is built, I 

will benefit financially with increased rents and increased property value. However, the Downtown area 

I have worked to revitalize will not, the City I am raising my family in will not, and I feel that outweighs 

any personal gains I may realize.   

Thank you, 

Sincerely, 

Robert W Trathnigg 

2030 S Ash Ln 

Flagstaff, AZ 86004  





1

Brian Kulina

From: Walter Salas-Humara <walter@waltersdogs.com>
Sent: Tuesday, January 26, 2016 9:54 AM
To: Brian Kulina; Mark Sawyers
Subject: The HUB

Follow Up Flag: Follow up
Flag Status: Completed

Hello Council Members, 
 
I have my art studio across the street from the proposed HUB site and have followed the progress and gone to many 
meetings including the recent zoning hearing. 
 
I’m not against a denser urban core for Flagstaff. It makes perfect sense on may levels ‐ a walkable, livable, lively, and 
more European style community. 
This will be very attractive for visitors and residents alike. To achieve this, you, the city planners, will have to be very 
careful about the architecture and the use of the new buildings that will eventually dominate the downtown area.  
 
I have been very disappointed in the HUB project. Given it’s location, it will become the symbol of the new city of 
Flagstaff. It will be a very large signal of what Flagstaff will become. Let’s have a forward looking project with amazing 
architecture that will incorporate all walks of life and all types of retail. 
Let’s not signal to future developers that we are OK with Flagstaff becoming a party town for students full of nothing but 
restaurants and bars with the inevitable parking problems, DUI’s, drunks, fights, etc, etc. 
 
Firstly, it’s simply too large for the character of the neighborhood. Yes, I know it’s within the city guidelines, but it’s too 
large for the infrastructure of the area, especially the roads and parking. 
Secondly, in order to comply with what they think the neighbors will accept, they have dumbed down their design to 
make it look just like every other faceless building project that signals mediocrity. 
Thirdly, it’s just gross that they plan to take advantage of the students, our neighborhood, and ultimately drive up rents, 
and drive normal folks out. 
 
You are elected to protect the future of this awesome city and community.. Please do your job by denying the HUB this 
location and offering them an alternative location that is more appropriate for their development. A location where they 
don’t have to dumb down their architecture and where the residents can have just as easy access to the University. 
 
Thank you, 
Walter Salas‐Humara 
100 Mikes Pike 



1

Brian Kulina

From: Gisela Kluwin <gkluwin2@gmail.com>
Sent: Tuesday, January 26, 2016 6:08 PM
To: Mark Sawyers
Cc: Brian Kulina
Subject: The Hub

Dear Mr. Sawyer, 
 
I attended the P&Z meeting concerning the Hub project on Jan 13, but neglected to turn in my blue comment card. I 
think it is very important to make my voice heard in regards to that controversial project, hence my email. 
After listening to the developer’s proposal and then trying to visualize that mega project in the space between Phoenix 
Avenue and Mike’s Pike, my mind just shut down in horror, overwhelmed by the proposed size and occupancy numbers. 
I am also very disturbed by the low number of parking spaces built into the project. The proposed parking structure for 
30% of the residents may fulfill the letter of the zoning requirements, but does not fit at all the actual neighborhood 
situation. There is NO PARKING available in the South side neighborhood aside from a very few unregulated spaces and 
a few 2hr spots. And when these are taken up by students, residents and visitors alike will be further frustrated and 
businesses will lose customers. Furthermore, the traffic flow in that tight neighborhood will become a nightmare, 
especially during the snow months, when Phoenix Ave becomes effectively a one lane street, and cars have to dodge 
buses which frequently enter and exit from the transfer center.  
In summary, I think that the current Hub project is too big for the neighborhood, that there is insufficient allowance for 
in‐house parking, and that traffic flow will be negatively impacted. I urge the P&Z commission to deny the rezoning 
request from T4 to T5 and to deny the request for a CUP.  
 
Thank you for allowing me to comment on this project and to add my concerns to the many eloquent voices heard 
during the meeting. 
 
Sincerely, 
Gisela Kluwin 
2333 N Fremont Blvd 
Flagstaff, AZ 86001 



1

Brian Kulina

From: Emily Ross <emross05@hotmail.com>
Sent: Tuesday, January 26, 2016 9:17 PM
To: Brian Kulina; Mark Sawyers
Subject: Can you please forward this to the Planning and Zoning Committee?

Dear Sir or Madam,  

I am writing in regards to the proposed Hub that the planning and zoning commission has been considering on 
the corner of Mike’s Pike and Phoenix, and am strongly urging you to reconsider! 

I moved to Flagstaff ten years ago now, and I have lived in several homes in this specific area during that time. 
My memories are deeply rooted in this eclectic community which I feel is the heart and soul of the town’s entire 
appeal. I understand the basic economics of growth, and have had exposure to the processes you go through 
regularly in attempt to grow Flagstaff in the correct manner, as I worked for the City of Flagstaff for several 
years. 

However, I want you to consider how this may impact the renters, home and business owners, and even traffic! 
I recently purchased my first home in Sunnyside and am so proud to call Flagstaff my home. As a first time 
home buyer, the market was incredibly difficult for me to afford my own home. I was actually only able to put 
down roots because I won my home on a deal through the ‘Good Neighbor Next Door Program.’ I think I 
understand the need to cater to the growing community of NAU, but I wonder if the decision of location is the 
best. This area has a lot of potential for expansion in ways that enhance the cozy, quaint, yet still progressive 
and adventurous vibe that everyone loves. This is how the city has been marketed (with its ‘passport stamp’ 
feel), and I worry that all the new additions of high-rise buildings will detract from the image you are trying to 
project. 

The proposed photo I see in the newspaper looks like Phoenix! This is fine, and I think several parts of Flagstaff 
in the NAU vicinity have a more modernized uptown, classy energy, which I truly appreciate, although it is a bit 
sterile. People like it! I think this location, however, needs to be protected from negative gentrification with 
generic high-rise buildings, and instead, should incorporate the space to foster more small businesses- stores 
and restaurants. This will easily bring in the same appeal as the New Frontiers lot has, and it will encourage 
incoming student groups to populate the already existing homes within the community. What’s more, it will 
keep some of the home values in the neighborhood affordable so younger generations can afford to integrate 
after becoming educated here. I think the homes south of the tracks can really be revitalized, much like 
Sunnyside, to be affordable to a younger home-buying generation like myself. 

As a young woman who has worked in numerous jobs within the community, I think the idea is good, but 
should just be relocated. I propose taking a look at some of the homes in the Lone Tree area. The size and 
location are wrong for this area, and moving the businesses onto Milton would project a weird image, and most 
likely destroy them in the long term. This road has high-traffic flow and lack of parking. As you are 
approaching the heart of Flagstaff’s downtown, I do not feel a high rise building is the best introduction! Should 
a tall building need to go in there, it would be best used as a mixed use building, like a mall’s appeal would 
present, with markets, businesses and eateries stacked on top of each other. Parking and student housing is more 
appropriate within campus or between the 2 colleges. 

I always felt Flagstaff was holding on to an image that separated them from a ‘big town feel’ such as this 
initiative would project. Please hold true to this! It is why we make the nation’s top 10 lists all the time! 



2

Thank you for your consideration, 

Emily Ross 

440-241-9251 

Emross05@hotmail.com 

2521 North 3rd Street 

Flagstaff, AZ 86004 

 



1

Brian Kulina

From: Janelle A Gaun <jgaun@email.arizona.edu>
Sent: Tuesday, January 26, 2016 10:13 PM
To: Brian Kulina; Mark Sawyers
Subject: Opposition to The Hub zoning project

To Planning and Zoning Comissioners, 
 
I am writing in adamant opposition to The Hub student housing development on mikes pike. I request that you 
share my email with all the Comissioners prior to the zoning hearing. 
 
As a college student no one understands more than I do the desire for up to date rental properties close to retail 
and resturaunts. There is very little that students want more than easy access to everything in their immediate 
needs. But I also know that I am willing to ride my bike or drive just a few short miles to get the "feeling" that 
makes downtown Flagstaff such a desirable place to live. For the last several years I have been living in Tucson 
and that city too has been undergoing a revival of their downtown spaces. And like Flagstaff plans for a student 
development were well underway when I arrived. I quickly saw, against the better wishes of the neighborhoods 
around the retail streets, a huge development rise towering above the neighborhood. The area now suffers 
chronic parking shortages and the additional burden of an eyesore. Students choose not to live in the new 
development because modest, affordable housing is available a few miles away and within an easy comments to 
the area. Today the complex is decreasing the asthetic of the area as well as the value of the surrounding 
property because of its close proximity to such a large body of students and the noise and congestion they 
create.  
 
As a resident, born and raised in Flagstaff I know the inherent value of the small, safe downtown. Those were 
the streets the ones that my parents brought me to to ride my bike on during the summers because they were 
free from excessive congestion and cars trying to park. As a preteen and teenager the downtown area was one 
place where I was swallowed to explore my freedom because of it had the perfect mix of family friendly 
(important to mom)? but modern and engaging (important to me). As a young adult Our Virgin of Guadalupe 
historic church provided solace and was a place of refuge for a grieving teen even though I am not a practicing 
Catholic. I stumbled into it because it was a calm neighborhood to walk into and the church was welcoming. I 
know, as a Flagstaff resident, that living away from downtown is not a barrier to spending time there. In fact, 
it's lure was the coupling of beautiful residential and historical areas with the upbeat retail sections.  
 
You can be assured that even as a young adult I will not be visiting the region around Mukes Pike including 
Macy, fratellis, the breweries, the church, or many of our iconic restaurants if the Hub is built. Downtown 
flagstaff cannot handle the sheer density of people living in such close quarters while maintaining the integrity 
of the area. I am of course referencing recent student housing projects in Sawmill plaza and their extensive 
problems with crime, noise and crowding and that can otherwise be considered relatively benign in that they did 
not disturb established neighborhoods. 
 
The Hub does not keep with the goals and culture of Flagstaffs downtown. It will only alientate one group of 
people in an attempt to access another that already enjoys the area anyways.  
 
I fully support student housing. I fully support Flagstaffs growth. But I know that students will not stop 
spending time there just because they do not live there. This development will only destroy what already makes 
the area so great. Community, safety, history and accessibility.  
 
I urge you to reject The Hub's proposal including their Conditinal Use Proposal. 



2

 
I hope you consider my voice and my plea,  
 
Janelle Gaun 



1

Brian Kulina

From: Patrick T <patricktaylor333@gmail.com>
Sent: Tuesday, January 26, 2016 10:23 PM
To: Brian Kulina; Mark Sawyers
Subject: Opposition to the Hub Development

I oppose the development of the Hub on mikes pike. Flagstaff has grown immensely in the past 20 years but has 
still held on to its small town feel because its residents care about the community. With the introduction of other 
student housing developments in sawmill near the police dept. and other areas there was increased crime and 
general behavior that is not akin to what Flagstaff stands for. By introducing these student housing projects you 
are taking away from Flagstaffs community and turning it into another dime a dozen for profit college towns. 
Please do not allow these plans to move forward. 
 
-Patrick Taylor, a citizen of Flagstaff for over 22 years  



1

Brian Kulina

From: Kari Maurer <runkam@gmail.com>
Sent: Wednesday, January 27, 2016 12:54 PM
To: Brian Kulina
Cc: Mark Sawyers
Subject: The Hub

Follow Up Flag: Follow up
Flag Status: Completed

To:  City of Flagstaff Planning and Zoning 
 
Please forward to entire committee 
 
 
 
After attending the planning and zoning meeting regarding The Hub, I find myself extremely disappointed in the fact that 
the project has been allowed to  
 
progress this far.  It is apparent that the project does not fit into the community, lacks parking and is too dense.  By 
allowing The Hub to take advantage of  
 
the City of Flagstaff, a snowball is rolling.  Mikes Pike stands to become the most unattractive street in Flagstaff. 
 
The Hub has requested parking permits as an answer to one of the problems. Parking permits are not an answer.  
Currently there are 2 Hour Parking  
 
signs on the west  side of Mikes Pike.  I have been informed by a person “in the know” that this parking restriction is not 
enforced.  How can residents 
 
expect violations to be ticketed when a few spots can not even be patrolled.  I feel the development of a smaller project 
with more  
 
diversity could benefit the neighborhood.  Property values do not seem to be an issue with many of the surrounding 
land owners.  Flagstaff should  
 
embrace and be proud of those who stand for the integrity of the neighborhood rather than the prospect of increased 
property values. 
 
 
 
 Citizens deserve the respect of those that are elected by them.  Please listen to the voice of the community and deny 
The Hub their CUP. 
 
 
 
 
 
Kari Maurer 



1

Brian Kulina

From: Richard Fernandez <rnfernandez1968@gmail.com>
Sent: Thursday, January 28, 2016 9:59 AM
To: Brian Kulina; Mark Sawyers
Subject: The HUB

Good Morning, 
 
I am writing in reference to the "HUB" development. 
 
My name is Richard Fernandez. I have been a resident of Flagstaff for over 15 years. In the time I have owned 
several businesses and watched Flagstaff grow from a quaint mountain town to what seems to be a burgeoning 
mini-metropolis.  
 
I have lived in Manhattan, NYC, Houston, TX and Miami, FL. I am familiar with high density living. 
 
The HUB is beyond the scope of any major metropolitan area, to say nothing of Flagstaff and it's proposed 
location. 
 
At over 600 potential residents, most of which will be students, it seems the HUB would need more parking 
than all of the allotted spaces in the entire Southside neighborhood. What about the residents who have lived 
there for decades? Consider the businesses and their need for access. 
 
Regarding Milton Rd. and Phoenix intersection which is congested most of the year the over ambitious HUB 
signals a potential traffic disaster. 
 
In the past few years since the student housing development reached maximum capacity the Sawmill area has 
experienced undue police resources. Why will the HUB be different? 
 
The HUB is not the development for this specific area in it's current proposed size. 
 
Please do not grant them permission to build. 
 
Thank you for your time, 
 
Richard Fernandez 
2914 N. Rose St. 
Flagstaff, AZ 
86004 
 
 



The Hub on Campus Flagstaff – Public Comment Summary 
Updated:  02/04/2016 at 12:00pm 

Total:  61  Opposed:  56  Support:  3  Neutral:  2 

No.  Date  Name  Type  Comment(s) 

1  06/17/2015  Eric Meeks  E‐Mail  Support – Location, need, pedestrian environment 

2  06/17/2015  Jim Roberts  E‐Mail  Opposition – Compatibility, sociological impacts 

3  06/17/2015  Chris Dennis  E‐Mail  Opposition – Infrastructure, student behavior, neighborhood character 

4  06/18/2015  Jennifer Duis  E‐Mail  Opposition – Compatibility, traffic, unsupportable retail, parking 

5  06/19/2015  Patrick Fleming  E‐Mail  Opposition – Neighborhood character, traffic, infrastructure 

6  06/19/2015  Mike Hudnall  E‐Mail  Opposition – Neighborhood character, traffic, infrastructure 

7  06/20/2015  Robyn Martin  Letter  Opposition – Parking, compatibility, aesthetics, location 

8  06/22/2015  Leslie Connell  E‐Mail  Opposition – Compatibility, traffic, parking, neighborhood character 

9  06/22/2015  James Hasapis  E‐Mail  Opposition – Compatibility, traffic, parking, neighborhood character 

10  06/22/2015  Kari Tuomisto  Letter  Opposition – Location, compatibility, views, shadow cast, traffic, neighborhood 
character 

11  06/22/2015  Sueanne Kubicek  Letter  Opposition – Compatibility, traffic, views 

12  06/30/2015  Carrie Cowger  Letter  Opposition – Building mass, compatibility, traffic, design 

13  07/02/2015  Albert and Rose Lopez  E‐Mail  Opposition – Neighborhood character, parking, NAU’s problem, impact on tourism 

14  07/02/2015  Kathryn Peterson  Letter  Opposition – Compatibility, neighborhood character, NAU’s problem, student behavior 

15  07/08/2015  Laura and Art Enciso  Letter  Opposition – Compatibility, traffic, parking, student behavior, neighborhood history 

16  07/09/2015  James Cole  Letter  Opposition – Traffic, parking, compatibility 



The Hub on Campus Flagstaff – Public Comment Summary 
Updated:  02/04/2016 at 12:00pm 

Total:  61  Opposed:  56  Support:  3  Neutral:  2 

No.  Date  Name  Type  Comment(s) 

17  07/10/2015  Karen Applequist  E‐Mail  Opposition – Neighborhood character, compatibility, traffic 

18  07/17/2015  Claudine Taillac  Letter  Opposition – Compatibility, traffic, neighborhood character, undesirable part of town 
for students 

19  07/17/2015  Marie Jones and Marvin 
Glotfelty 

E‐Mail  Opposition – Student housing, neighborhood character, compatibility, traffic, parking 

20  08/07/2015  Soraya Padilla  Letter  Opposition – Compatibility, traffic, other housing available to students, more 
appropriate in another location 

21  08/27/2015  Larry Czarnecki  Letter  Opposition – Density, traffic, scale 

22  12/21/2015  Andrew Gould  E‐Mail  Opposition – Scale, neighborhood compatibility, moratorium on student housing 
development until plan is developed 

23  01/04/2016  Mimi Murov and Tom 
Brownold 

Letter/E‐Mail  Opposition – Neighborhood compatibility, traffic, parking, access, ice on Phoenix 
Avenue, catering to the needs of NAU, students, noise, conduct 

24  01/05/2016  Forest May  Letter  Opposition – Not in keeping with the area 

25  01/05/2016  Roberta Motter  E‐Mail  Opposition – human congestion, traffic, parking, noise, design, viewscape 

26  01/05/2016  Karen Carswell  Letter  Opposition – Compatibility, scale, views, traffic, parking, pedestrians and bicycles 
crossing Butler, neighborhood character 

27  01/08/2016  Betsy and Tyler Hager  E‐Mail  Support – Land use, relief for students 

28  01/08/2016  Ken Berkhoff  E‐Mail  Support – Support for NAU 

29  01/10/2016  Duffie Westheimer  E‐Mail  Neutral – Requesting additional information 



The Hub on Campus Flagstaff – Public Comment Summary 
Updated:  02/04/2016 at 12:00pm 

Total:  61  Opposed:  56  Support:  3  Neutral:  2 

No.  Date  Name  Type  Comment(s) 

30  01/11/2016  Ellen Ryan  E‐Mail  Opposition – Location, density, traffic, parking, neighborhood character and 
compatibility 

31  01/11/2016  Richard Thorson  Letter  Opposition – Zoning change only benefits developer, neighborhood character, traffic, 
compatibility, don’t “Phoenix” or “Tempe” Flagstaff, security, parking 

32  01/13/2016  Nat White  E‐Mail  Opposition – Business deal between City and Developer, traffic, parking, demise of the 
neighborhood, complexity of transect zones, views, snow/ice 

33  01/13/2016  Joseph Walka  E‐Mail  Opposition – Parking, traffic 

34  01/13/2016  Duffie Westheimer  E‐Mail  Opposition – Bicycle ridership in the future, America’s love of cars, parking, traffic, 
bicycle safety 

35  01/14/2016  Diana Thorson  E‐Mail  Opposition – Impact to neighborhood, parking, impact on tourism, not for families, 
student conduct 

36  01/15/2016  Charlie Silver  E‐Mail  Neutral – Requesting counts for comments in support and nonsupport 

37  01/15/2016  Mimi Murov  E‐Mail  Opposition – Fire safety 

38  01/17/2016  Jerry Johnson  E‐Mail  Opposition – Inappropriate, ruin of Downtown, parking, student housing belongs on 
campus 

39  01/18/2016  Victoria VanPuyvelde  E‐Mail  Opposition – Decrease aesthetic value, neighborhood character 

40  01/18/2016  Rob Trathnigg  E‐Mail  Opposition – Visual pollutant, parking, transect zoning not appropriate, does not 
comply with transect purpose 

41  01/20/2016  Leyah Huff  Letter  Opposition – Traffic, parking, neighborhood character 

42  01/26/2016  Walter Salas‐Humara  E‐Mail  Opposition – Architecture, use, type of retail, neighborhood character, traffic, parking, 
impact on rents 



The Hub on Campus Flagstaff – Public Comment Summary 
Updated:  02/04/2016 at 12:00pm 

Total:  61  Opposed:  56  Support:  3  Neutral:  2 

No.  Date  Name  Type  Comment(s) 

43  01/26/2016  Gisela Kluwin  E‐Mail  Opposition – Scale, neighborhood compatibility, parking, traffic 

44  01/26/2016  Emily Ross  E‐Mail  Opposition – Property values, size, location, traffic, parking 

45  01/26/2016  Janelle Gaun  E‐Mail  Opposition – Property values, parking, aesthetics, density 

46  01/26/2016  Patrick Taylor  E‐Mail  Opposition – Increased crime, student behavior, “for profit college town” 

47  01/27/2016  Kari Maurer  E‐Mail  Opposition – Community compatibility, parking, density, aesthetics, property values 

48  01/28/2016  Richard Fernandez  E‐Mail  Opposition – Location, density, parking, traffic, policing issues, size 

49  01/29/2016  Mary McKell  E‐Mail  Opposition – Location, impact on neighborhood and Downtown 

50  01/29/2016  Marie Jones  E‐Mail  Opposition – Does not meet intent of transect zoning, precedent setting, does not fit 
transect building types, use not appropriate in neighborhood, student behavior, 
project management, better for families not students, density 

51  01/29/2016  Nancy Branham  E‐Mail  Opposition – Does not meet intent of transect zoning, unruly and illegal behavior of 
students, parking, traffic, open space does not benefit community, lease agreement 
only favorable to developer, neighborhood compatibility. 

52  01/29/2016  Duffie Westheimer  E‐Mail  Opposition – Agreement with Marie Jones letter 

53  01/29/2016  Charlie Silver  E‐Mail  Opposition – Agreement with Marie Jones letter 

54  01/30/2016  Patrice Giordano  E‐Mail  Opposition – Agreement with Marie Jones letter 

55  01/31/2016  Rose Houk  E‐Mail  Opposition – Agreement with Marie Jones letter 

56  02/01/2016  Juliana Bartlett  E‐Mail  Opposition – Project jeopardizes history and sense of place, location, width of 
adjacent streets, no common sense 



The Hub on Campus Flagstaff – Public Comment Summary 
Updated:  02/04/2016 at 12:00pm 

Total:  61  Opposed:  56  Support:  3  Neutral:  2 

No.  Date  Name  Type  Comment(s) 

57  02/02/2016  Jen Blue  E‐Mail  Opposition – Agreement with Marie Jones letter 

58  02/02/2016  Diana Thorson  E‐Mail  Opposition – Impact on tourism, tourist don’t want to interact with students, destroys 
Downtown ambiance, no design appeal, congestion, parking, traffic, financially 
beneficial to developer, little or no benefit to tourists or residents, Downtown not part 
of college campus 

59  02/03/2016  Carol Hagen  E‐Mail  Opposition – Agreement with Marie Jones letter 

60  02/03/2016  Rick Moore  E‐Mail  Opposition – Agreement with Marie Jones letter 

61  02/03/2016  William Ring  Letter  Opposition – Classification of land use, parking, traffic, double occupancy, bulk and 
mass, intent of Zoning Code 

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

 

























































































































1

Brian Kulina

From: marymckell <marymckell@q.com>
Sent: Friday, January 29, 2016 10:56 AM
To: Brian Kulina
Subject: Fwd: the Hub

 

From: "marymckell"  
To: bkulina@flagstaff.gov 
Sent: Friday, January 29, 2016 8:34:08 AM 
Subject: the Hub 

Dear Brian, 
I am writing against any rezoning for the Hub development. 
I feel that this development is inappropriate for the proposed location. Possibly the developers 
could locate this proposed development in an area that will not have such a negative impact on the 
South side neighborhood or the downtown.  
There were so many excellent arguments against the Hub stated at the Planning and Zoning 
meeting held on January 13, 2016. 
It was obvious that the citizens of Flagstaff do not support this development and hopefully even the 
developers hear this message. 
 
Thank you for your time, 
 
Mary McKell 
111 East Oak Ave #4 
Flagstaff, Arizona 86001 



1-29-15

To Staff and Commissioners

This letter contains information that has come to light to members of the community recently 
and is respectfully submitted. It is submitted by one person here but has been researched and 
co-written by many community members. Because of time, the signatures of those members are 
not included here, but will be sent in the next few days.

1. The Hub should not be considered for transect zoning.

A project may opt into transect zoning not simply by right, but only if it meets all transect 
zoning standards. The Hub does not meet all the standards for transect zoning or therefore 
qualify for any of the unique advantages associated with it, such as reduced parking 
requirements, as noted from Flagstaffʼs Zoning Code below:

Preamble P.090, Using the Flagstaff Transect: 

A.1: Preserve and enhance community character;
A.2: Encourage appropriately scaled infill and development;
C.1: Build upon the reinforce the unique character of Flagstaff;
C.4: Ensure that architecture and landscape grow from local climate, history and building 
practice.

10-40.40.070 T4 Neighborhood 1 Standards, page 40.40-25

The primary intent of this zone is to reinforce established neighborhoods and to maintain 
neighborhood stability in walkable urban areas, while allowing such areas to evolve with 
the integration of small building footprints and medium density building types. 
Appropriate dwelling units might include bungalow courts, duplexes, and apartment 
houses, which are typically smaller than those found in other zones.

10-40.40.090 T5 Main Street Standards, page 40.40-37

The primary intent of this Zone is to reinforce the vitality of the downtown area adjacent 
to the core, to allow it to expand and evolve, and to revived an appropriate transition into 
existing neighborhoods. 

The intent of the T5 Sub-Zone is to provide the appropriate form and scale for areas that 
are transitional between commercial and residential uses, and to allow the neighborhood 
commercial areas to expand as the market demand grows.

The Zone and Sub-Zone are intended to preserve and build upon the existing pattern of 
development. New development, renovations, and additions should be in character and 
scale with existing valued patterns.

Because of failure to meet the intent of transect zoning standards, the Zoning Map Amendment 
should legally be denied. 

2. The zoning map amendment request should be denied.



If the project is not eligible for transect zoning, then the T4/T5 swap would of course not be an 
issue. Beyond that:

T4 zoning allows a maximum 3-1/5 story height and 60% lot coverage. This is needed along 
Mikes Pike as a buffer between the viable, existing, mixed use residential neighborhood and the 
property along the busy Milton Road. T5 zoning allows a maximum of 5 story and 80% lot 
coverage, too intense a use within the existing neighborhood, and belongs along Milton where it 
is currently designated.

The 3-1/2 story height limit in the zoning code is more in line with recommendations in the 
Southside 2005 specific plan, which is in turn referred to in the Regional Plan. This maximum 
building height is more appropriate to the historic, mixed use, pedestrian, residential 
neighborhood. Allowing 5 stories along Mikes Pike be a precedent that would dwarf existing 
structures and further encourage future development of this height on other lots along Mikes 
Pike and possibly eventually east into the neighborhood. This would create a false value based 
on height and density that would replace the existing value of the neighborhood as an up and 
coming arts district which is even now developing within current zoning rules and plan 
guidelines. Approving this zoning map amendment would in effect be a top-down decision to 
change the land use of the neighborhood which should be not permitted without significant 
public input and dialog and a change to official documents such as the Regional Plan. Staff in 
itʼs recommendations and the Commission in itʼs decision should consider the long term effect 
of this request, not just for the project itself and the ends it seeks to achieve, but to the 
neighborhood which is is committed to preserve and reinforce as per the Regional Plan.

Sections of the code referred to above in 1. can also be restated here as legal reasons why the 
zoning request amendment should be denied.

2a. Because the discussion of “form-based code” has been opened, the proposed form of the 
Hub should be discussed in particular. Although the Hub is called an apartment house by the 
developer—and a property owner can certainly call their building any whimsical name they like
—the actual form it takes is much more similar to large hotels in Flagstaff such as the Drury and 
the Raddison than apartment houses in the downtown area. The definitions section of the 
zoning code, 10-80.20.010 defines an apartment house as:

Apartment house: A building type that is a medium-to-large sized structure that consists 
four to 12 side-by-side and/or stacked dwelling units, typically with one shared entry. 

While the T5 section of the code allows a “courtyard apartment”, the code does not define this 
building type. 

But a review of the other “allowed building types” listed in T4—carriage house, single-family 
house, duplex, townhouse, bungalow court, live/work, and variations—imply smaller building 
types and variety in form. T4 uses the same list but adds in in commercial block, with of course 
a higher building type permitted. This building type is commonly seen in historic downtown 
Flagstaff and is presumed to constitute the “community character” that the Regional Plan, 
Southside Plan and Transect Zoning code section are referring when they encourage 
preservation of it. This is also the reason the majority of people who look at renderings of the 
Hub have the immediate reaction that it is “wrong” for the area.



3. The Room and Board Conditional Use Permit should be denied.

It is understood that the room and board permit provides functional ability for Core and the 
future owner of the property to follow their profit model better than renting by the unit, as well as 
to more easily evict the problem tenants their experience has shown them will certainly occur. 
However, since this project is proposed within an existing neighborhood rather than a more 
autonomous zone, it is inappropriate and should not be all granted. 

The evidence both here in Flagstaff (see police reports about The Grove and other student 
housing projects) that rent by the bed, as well as those in other communities, including other 
Hub projects (see newspaper article about the Hub in Tucson that was submitted previously), is 
that there are unique problems associated with student housing projects that are not inherent in 
typical apartment houses. Add to that the much larger population of this particular project, and 
such problems are likely to be exacerbated. When dropped into an existing neighborhood, those 
problems become the neighborhoodʼs problems, ones that can be solved only by police and 
security and canʼt be solved neighbor-to-neighbor any longer.

There is also an important question to be asked about the reputation of Hub projects in other 
communities (see the sampling of student reviews also submitted), whether their ability rent by 
the bed will create similar problems here in Flagstaff, and whether the room and board permit 
applied at this scale will create an undesirable project that will have to be accommodated by the 
neighborhood for the long term. 

The property owner has stated that anyone who wants to can rent in the Hub, young 
professionals, graduate students—even families, as they said in the last public meeting to the 
community gathered there. This is again disingenuous, as young professionals, families and 
even graduate students are unlikely to rent by the bed. Core may want to use the term “multi-
family” housing for the the benefits it provides to them. There is no law against their calling it 
“multi-family”, an “apartment house” or even the Taj Mahal if they so desire, but that doesnʼt 
make it true.

In whatever form this building takes, it has better longevity and therefore value to the 
neighborhood if it is not limited in itʼs use to students, as the room and board permit would do. 

4. Increased density for this project should be denied.

The density that would be achieved by this project depends upon the transect zoning conditions 
having been fully met, which they havenʼt, followed by the two uses being switched. If a project 
that didnʼt use transect zoning were submitted for conditional use permit to increase the density 
to “the most dense/intense building in the city” in this existing historic neighborhood, it would be 
inappropriate to grant permission for it. 

Transect zoning and the advantages it offers is based on the idea of an exchange between the 
community and the project—the project can benefit from existing, mature infrastructure and in 
return offers something. This project takes advantage of a theoretical parking infrastructure 
which doesnʼt really exist, turns within to a large internal courtyard area for renters only, and 
claims that by offering some commercial property to Mikes Pike (which will most likely be leased 
by business that cater to the students within), there is an equal exchange. We dispute this.



Conclusion:

Given staffʼs concerns about the appropriateness of this project for the proposed location (as 
opposed to similar projects in other non-neighborhood locations), we are very puzzled about 
why they are recommending it to the Commission, even with the minor height changes they 
include in the recommendation. It is clear that Flagstaff Regional Plan: Place Matters, is a 
decision guiding document as stated in Section III-4, How This Plan Works that is:

“used in the regulatory decision-making process by the City Planning and Zoning Commission, 
City Council, and City staff. The Commission and the Council are responsible for making 
development decisions such as zoning map amendments or annexations approval of which 
depends on whether the proposed changes or projects are consistent with the Planʼs goals and 
policies.”

As citizens who are reacting to this project, we have been encouraged to involve ourselves in 
changing the rules and and writing a new Southside specific plan and thereby strengthen our 
ability to prevent projects like this one that will forever change our existing historic 
neighborhoods and halt the progress they have made in the last few years. We will certainly do 
this, but how can we be sure such action will in fact provide any more protection if staff, 
Commission and Council do not make recommendations based on plans and rules we already 
have in place? In the T4 section of the Zoning Code for example, which consists of 5 pages, 
how are the last 4 pages more “legal” than the first page, which describes itʼs very intent? This, 
and certainly the Regional Plan which was painstakingly written with substantial citizen input, 
are what we rely upon to make our case to staff, Commission and Council, since in most cases 
we do not have the resource of a zoning attorney at our disposal. So while we will certainly 
participate in creating more official documents that will express our vision for Flagstaff, and in 
greater detail, yet there is no assurance they will make a difference if they are not followed by 
the staff and officials we depend on to follow them.

A property owner has “rights” which we do not dispute. This property ownerʼs attorney has 
explained to the community in public meetings that working with us was an optional offering to 
the community, but that legally they have the “right” to build whatever they want under basic 
zoning code. This is disingenuous as they are indeed asking for substantial exceptions from the 
community—a zoning map amendment, significantly higher density, and a room and board 
permit. In return, they are stretching the limits of what they are permitted to build in many 
directions. The “rights” they have as property owners come with responsibilities to the 
community they want to build in. Staff and Commission might feel that they are more 
responsible to the property owner, especially with the threat of Proposition 207 lawsuits lingering 
in the air, than to the community. But the official documents, current and in the future, that define 
and detail the communityʼs shared vision for Flagstaff, represent the “rights” of the community, 
which they should feel as strongly.

This is a critical case that you are asked to decide on. The implications of your decision will 
resonate not only in the future of our neighborhoods, but the future of Flagstaff as community 
people from all over the world visit because of itʼs very special and unique qualities.

Respectfully,
Marie Jones
116 W. Benton
Flagstaff, AZ 86001
602 576-9262



These are a sampling of reviews of Hub projects gathered from the web. 

Student and Parent Comments 
About The HUB 

• 7/1/2015  
• I have had two daughters live here on separate occasions.  One daughter moved 

in when it first opened as the Hub and other a year later when it became 
University House. (Note: Core sold to University House after one year but they still show 
this property on their website).  
 
Both management teams were terribly inefficient and unorganized.   My one daughter was 
living there when a pipe busted and flooded three floors causing tenants to move out for 
six weeks.  It was chaotic with tenants being forced to leave apartment doors unlocked 
with easy access for numerous repair people to personal belongings during this time. 
 When tenants were able to move back in, the trash chutes could not be accessed due to 
electrical wires they had to temporarily run through the chute space as the repair/remold 
was not completed. Trash, visualize piles and piles of stinky trash, lined the hallways 
during the summer months. 
 
Not the only time my family has encountered disgusting living conditions when visiting our 
kids. We have seen lots of urine, vomit and more trash in the elevators and hallways over 
the past couple years.  Not to mention the times I have been woken up to someone 
screaming in the early morning hours.  The last time, some guy was throwing a girl 
against a wall at 2AM.  We had Tempe police knocking on our door a half an hour later to 
ask what we saw and heard. 
 
My second daughter moved out halfway through the school year.  She paid an extra 85% 
of her rent to be given priority on the wait list for apartments with rooms that were 
available.  Leasing staff often did not show her apartment even though we paid for the 
priority status.  We later found out that there were only 5 female only rooms on that list. 
There was really no need to pay the extra fees.  I called the leasing office one day to find 
out that the leasing staff did not have an update list on what apartments with rooms were 
available.  Our daughter's room was not on the list. At one point, the leasing office's 
phones and email were down for two weeks making it difficult for potential lessors to 
inquire about rooms to relet. 
 
Also, the turnover rate with the leasing staff is constant for both managers and agents. 
 
When the room was finally relet, it took 60 days for Inland America AKA University House 
to refund us rent that was paid. 
 
It is truly surprising that the state housing department has not fined or sued this 
company. 

Comments about Madison HUB 

Jake L 
in the last week- 
The worst living experience I've had in Madison to date. DO NOT LIVE HERE. 
 

https://www.google.com/maps/contrib/117809569130358501405/reviews


As you can see in the google reviews below, every single good review was placed at the exact 
same time. I know a few of the individuals and they are either living with a staff member or are 
friends with them. I'm assuming the staff is trying to get the ratings up on Google Reviews. 
 
Do not be fooled by the amenities here, as soon as you sign your lease forget about any respect 
from the staff whatsoever. The place is run by some of the most unintelligent individuals I have 
talked to. The sauna has been closed down for weeks at a time with no warning whatsoever, the 
printer is always broken, and multiple fees have been enlisted without prior consent. (Such as a 
fee for the water and electricity of the common areas?) 
 
I guess they are building a Hub 2 across the street, and there are giant cranes blocking any sort 
of view we used to have, let alone any peace and quiet. My sink has broken twice and the water 
pressure is nonexistent.  
 
A quote from the repair man after all of the cushions on our outdoor patio were ripped "Every 
single piece of furniture here has came right off the boat from china." Thanks dude, I'm guessing 
they will scheme us out of our deposit as well.  
 
I wish I could give these apartments a 0 out of 5 as I would leave immediately if I could. IT IS 
NOT WORTH LIVING HERE. DO NOT BE FOOLED. There is plenty more to complain about but I do 
not have time to continue with this post, the only good thing about this place is the pool on the 
roof that's open 5 months a year.  

Will S 
3 weeks ago- 
This place is run by fools. Management is atrocious.  
 
They've scheduled fire drills at 9am every week for the first two months of living here. They've 
hired security guards that have left an unconscious drunk female incapacitated face down on the 
lobby couch and when prompted if they thought it was something that needed to be dealt with 
the male guard shrugged it off as a nonissue. Management split the water bill between the entire 
complex instead of just our own usage, since I am considerably more conservation minded than 
most I end up paying for others egregious habits. Management has also refused to refund us for 
a two week period where we were incapable of living in our units due to delayed construction in 
effect taking a half month of rent from all of us. Several times our mail has not been processed 
in a timely fashion leading to packages and letters being given to us days after tracking shows 
delivered. Last week management started bringing in cranes for their new building across 
Gilman Street called The James Madison formerly known as Hub 2. The arrival of this equipment 
has blocked our parking lot exit and has bisected Gilman. 
 
The level of sheer ineptitude needed to accomplish these feats bewilders me. 
 
I have no drawers in my bathroom. The water pressure in my sink is terrible. The walls are 
paper thin. I have a pathetically weak night light in my ceiling fan, I needed to buy lamps to get 
any sort of lighting in my room. I can hear the TV blaring at 10% through my bedroom door. Hot 
water is rarity. The door on the washer and drying unit has slots and lets all the noise through. 
The sauna and hot tubs are always closed for maintenance. The gym and 2nd floor courtyard 
areas are usually in dire need of a good cleaning. If you live facing into the courtyard there are 
cameras positioned that can see everything that happens inside your room. The garbage chute is 
pathetically small and is good for walgreens sized plastic bags only. 

David 
a month ago- 

https://www.google.com/maps/contrib/116037142017056651246/reviews
https://www.google.com/maps/contrib/117780257962768328415/reviews


I don't know about other units, but I recommand you not to live in either studio or 1 bedroom 
unit. 
I currently live in 1 bedroom, and IT IS REALLY REALLY SMALL. 
I wish I could've known that the room was going to be this small. People at the leasing office last 
year told me that 1bedrrom would be about the same size as their model unit, which they had at 
the office. Well... guess what. It is not even close to that size. 
You can probably fit like 4-5 people in the living room, and it will be so full that you won't even 
be moving around. 
Also, you can smell all kinds of things (you know what) from other units on downstairs and 
upstairs. 
When I moved in, there were several spots in the unit where it had stains, and also there were 
garbages everywhere. I had to spend some time to clean it up. 
As many people mentioned, water pressure at the bathroom is so bad. It takes me double or 
triple time to wash. I feel like this would lead to much worse waste on water. Seriously, what 
were they thinking when installing this crap on. 
I was going to move to Lucky apartment next year, because they provide free parkings for those 
who live in 1 bedroom unit for over 1 or 2 years, but every 1 bedroom was gone for next year so 
that kind of sucks. 
It is not worth $1425 living here. I'm paying 250 more over that for parking. I'm pretty much 
stuck here until I graduate lol. Thanks for providing so much information before I moved in. That 
really worked! 

Rachel Peterson 
2 months ago- 
If I could give this place 0 stars, I would. It is genuinely one of the worst apartment buildings in 
Madison. Do not let the 4 ho tubs, saunas, and rooftop pool fool you. This place is actually a 
joke!! Everything is a lot smaller and the noise is CRAZY! they said the walls are insulated and 
thats a lie! You can hear every party going on from the rooftop to the entrance. All the 
appliances are very CHEAP quality! Forget the bluetooth speaker because that doesn't make up 
for the horrible water pressure and cold water every morning! the rooms are extremely SMALL 
compared to what their blueprints said! And the STAFF might be the WORST thing about this 
building. They are extremely RUDE, they never have an answer for your questions and always 
refer you to their 30 page lease which is also no help! The are honestly a bunch of idiots sitting 
in an office pretending to do work! The old manager told me to email her and never replied to 
my email. When I came into the office, I saw her sprint into her office and the person at the 
front desk told me she was busy. Talk about "professional"! "Security" is a joke because if you 
hand them some cash, they will do anything you need them to do! I urge you not to bring your 
money here. Do not give these people a penny! if it wasn't for the lease they have me locked 
into... I would be out of here in a heartbeat! The day my lease ends is my day of freedom! And 
they weren't able to lease out the building this year! they are barely at 70% occupancy. I truly 
hope someone does something about them to remove them from Madison  

Comments and Recent Article about HUB in South Carolina 

Vincent Esposito 
4 months ago 
The hub seems great at the beginning, however, it is all just a sham. The office staff is horrible 
and never helps with anything. Nothing ever works in the building. The elevators are constantly 
out of order and everything started falling apart from day 1. Upon moving out of my apartment I 
noted there was one paint chip on my bedroom wall that would need repairing, but I figured that 
would be normal wear and tear. Apparently, that warranted a $343 painting bill. Don't live here, 

https://www.google.com/maps/contrib/100370298742685631577/reviews
https://www.google.com/maps/contrib/107041883104987114893/reviews


the rent is way too high for the quality of the product and they will nickle and dime you until you 
are broke.  

Madeleine Bell 
3 months ago 
Horrible management. Very unprofessional and disorganized. If you go into the leasing office 
with a problem expect them to roll their eyes at you and not take anything seriously unless you 
bug them constantly. Things are alway broken and very overpriced for what you get. Would not 
recommend as a place to live. Period. 

Alex Funke 
4 months ago 
The hub is a scam. They will be nice and friendly and put on an amazing act when you are 
looking at renting... However once you sign a lease that is when everything will change. The 
management is awful. Nothing seems to ever be working (especially the elevators). The 
furniture is worse than ikea furniture... and the list can go on and on. Also DO NOT EXPECT to 
get a security deposit back... They will nickel and dime you. When we left the room was in 
amazing condition. However according to the HUB it need 294.69 cents worth of paint, along 
with a 50.31 cleaning fee. This is completely ridiculous because the walls were in great condition 
and the room was fully cleaned. Also that is just my charges. Now there were an additional 3 
roommates living there so just imagine what they were charged....  
 
Also basement parking is very sketch.... I would recommend walking with a buddy back from the 
basement to the complex due to a high frequency of drug users making the surrounds their 
homes... Also the basement elevator always breaks down... So at night if you are coming back 
late from a class, you have to walk down an alley way in order to get to the complex...  
 
Also upon moving in there was no WIFI for over a month. The office staff said in person they will 
compensate residents down the road for this... That never happened...  
 
It just makes me sick that these people at the hub at able to sleep at night.... 
 
THESE PEOPLE HAVE NO MORALS OR SOULS...  
 
Also you will notice they have 60 5 star reviews... a majority of these reviews were written when 
the complex was being built by local businesses trying to suck up to the hub 
 
Breaking: Controversy Surrounding The Hub At Columbia 
Former residents are infuriated with what they say is unfair treatment. 

Victoria Daczkowski in Lifestyle on Sep 13, 2015  

Where you live has a large impact on your year. Are you close to the Greek Village? Are you 
close to downtown? How big is the apartment? How is the parking situation? These are all 
questions you should ask yourself before signing a lease for the coming school year. 

For students already thinking about where to live next year, consider checking the reviews for 
apartment complexes in the area. There are plenty of places for University of South Carolina 
students to live, and most are very affordable and vary in types of amenities. There also always 
seem to be new apartment complexes catering to students moving off campus after their 
freshman year. 

https://www.google.com/maps/contrib/118382719365097874104/reviews
https://www.google.com/maps/contrib/105335395393858400707/reviews


In fall of 2014, a brand new apartment complex opened on Main Street in downtown Columbia -- 
The Hub. The slots available filled up before that fall semester was over, and it was expected to 
be the coolest place to live. But, now, a year later, its reputation is starting to deteriorate. 

When tenants first moved in, they instantly began to find problems. Issues ranged from the Wi-
Fi not working, to not even having a refrigerator in the apartment. The apartment complex was 
poorly made and they issued "worse than Ikea furniture" (2014-2015 resident). 

"I was supposed to have a walk in closet, but didn't upon moving in and it took them weeks to 
compensate me for it. We put in at least five work orders and they fixed it the month we moved 
out," said that anonymous resident. 

Many of those first tenants have now moved out, but are now faced with another problem: move 
out reports and bills. Former residents have reportedly been charged hundreds of dollars for 
repainting and repairs, with no evidence of it being necessary. 

"Move out charges between three roommates was over $1000 for painting and cleaning," said a 
2014-2015 resident. Those residents say that their apartments were spotless and were in no 
way damaged, or in need of repainting. 

The Hub at Columbia Facebook page has recently even been flooded with posts by angry 
residents and their parents.  

In the past few weeks, The Hub at Columbia's rating had dropped from a 4.8 (out of five) to a 
2.8, and the comments and reviews keep coming. Students, residents and parents are furious 
with the complex and the management. 

"Dealing with the leasing office was a constant struggle. They take advantage of our age and 
inexperience and try to get as much money as possible out of our bank accounts. The property 
manager has no sense of customer service or respect," said a 2014-2015 resident. 

Facebook reviews from oxford miss 

Had problems all year with the Management of this facility. At the completion of the lease they 
charged my daughters for services that were not rendered and for damages in the common 
areas of the apartment that were there when we moved in (even after we notified them of the 
damages). The kids that work at The Hub were always very nice and accommodating, but to 
expect them to run this facility was a bit of an oversight on management's part. Would not keep 
my kid there every again. 

It looks great from the beginning, until you have a maintenance issue! And, don't expect to get 
your security deposit back. They go through great strides to find anything possible to eat it up! 
Don't believe the line about 'normal wear and tear'! Also, BEFORE you sign the lease, ask them 
to provide you with move-out requirements! Ridiculous! For the amount of rent you pay, 
professional carpet cleaning after you move out, should be covered! 

Do not recommend! I agree with many of the comments- should have paid more attention when 
signing the lease. Families- considering this place for your child- as stated don't expect to get 
your deposit back no matter what you do. I drove 14 hours each way to make sure my daughter 
left things clean. We washed walls and scrubbed the kitchen, cleaned blinds and the ceiling fan! 
Silly me thought that the security deposit was for damage. But no... they charged for HVAC 
filters, 2 l... 



I've been here for couple of months. All the stuff they have to offer is nice. But maintenance is 
crappy. You can never get them to fix anything you ask them to. And when you ask them about 
something.. They just say I have no idea when it will be fixed are there working on it. When they 
been saying that for 3 months. 

If you think is will be a good place to stay, it's all smoke and mirrors. THIS PLACE IS A RIP 
OFF!!! THE RENT IS EXPENSIVE AS HELL AND WILL MAKE UP CHARGES AND TAKE AWAY YOUR 
SECURITY DEPOSIT AT THE END OF THE YEAR!!!! The student workers are not helpful and the 
manager always refer you to them. RUN AND NEVER LEASE; You'll regret it.



To Staff and Commissioners,

The following articles from the Corvallis Gazette-Times is an example of how parties can opt to 
slow down a process that is not fully ready for action:

The Hub' project at Timberhill in limbo
March 31, 2015 4:42 pm
JAMES DAY Corvallis Gazette-Times

Plans for an 835-resident student housing complex on Timberhill, known as "The Hub," have 
been put on hold.

Core Campus, a Chicago-based student housing development firm and GPA1, a local group 
which owns the land, told city staffers Tuesday that they wish to postpone the application while 
they address concerns raised in the 93-page staff report (see text in the online version of this 
story).

The city, however, has not canceled tonightʼs scheduled 7 p.m. Planning Commission hearing at 
the Corvallis Senior Center.

At issue is the 120-day rule, which requires that public agencies pass judgment on completed 
land-use applications within 120 days. The Timberhill developers are asking to stop the 120-day 
clock. The city says that the applicant needs to waive the 120-day requirement before its 
request to postpone the hearing will be considered.

Thus, at presstime, the hearing remained on the schedule, although that could change today.

Lyle Hutchens of Devco Engineering, the project manager of the development, said in a letter to 
the city that the applicants “request that each application be taken off the Planning Commission 
agenda, put on hold and remain on hold until further written notice is received by the city.” (See 
the full text online.)

In addition, Hutchens wrote that the applicants “hereby extend the statutory deadlines for a final 
local decision from (Tuesday) until written notice is provided.”

City staff recommended in its March 25 report that the Planning Commission deny the 
application, which covers the 30 acres of The Hub student housing project as well as subdivides 
the remaining 190 acres of land. The report cited concerns with variances that the developers 
have asked for regarding grading the project, as well as street construction and stormwater 
detention.

In addition, staff have requested that the developers provide detailed development plans for the 
entire 200-plus acres of land. The developers have refused to do so, saying that because no 
final plans exist for the remaining acreage that such studies would be meaningless.

“The applicants are in this for the long run,” Hutchens wrote. “They want to get it right and are 
open to working with the cityʼs suggestions about how to arrange the uses on the site (and) look 



forward to working with staff to prepare supplemental information that will support positive 
recommendations from staff.”

The developers, however, are opposed to waiving the 120-day rule, which is in place to ensure 
that projects are acted on in a timely manner.

“Most cities stop the clock,” said Chuck Kingsley, a broker with Commercial Associates, who is 
working with the developer on the project. “Itʼs not unusual for a staff report to come out and for 
the applicant to ask for a postponement so they can sort things out. Most applications are not as 
complex as this. Itʼs an extremely charged case.”

Neighbors in the Timberhill area opposed to the project have formed a group called the 
Northwest Alliance Corvallis and have hired land-use attorney Daniel Stotter.

“The applicants saw their proposal was a sinking ship that was not going to be well received 
(by) the Planning Commission,” Stotter said, “and that their proposal was likely to denied, so the 
day before their public hearing, they have sought an indefinite ʻholdʼ on their land-use 
applications, in order to make a last-ditch attempt to patch the holes.”

Rob Wood, the managing member of GPA1, agreed that the staff recommendations 
influenced the development group.

“This was a decision just made based upon the recently received staff report,” Wood said. “We 
want to fully read and understand the positions and comments so we may appropriately address 
and respond to them. We felt the short amount of time would not allow a thoughtful answer.”

Neighbors remain hopeful.

“It would be great if they return with something that is respectful of the unique environment of 
that site,” said Curtis Wright, who lives on Northwest Poppy Drive. Wright said that revised plans 
should be “sensitive to the concerns of the neighboring residents and (show) they really do care 
about the future well-being of Corvallis.”



1

Brian Kulina

From: nancy@flaghomes.com
Sent: Friday, January 29, 2016 3:17 PM
To: Brian Kulina
Cc: nancy@flaghomes.com
Subject: info on Hub for meeting
Attachments: Hub letter and attachments.pdf; sample lease.pdf

Attached please find a cover letter and documents for consideration at next Wednesday's P and Z. 
Nancy Branham 
I will stop by and make sure you received this. 
928-856-0036 





























































































1

Brian Kulina

From: Duffie Westheimer <dwestheimer@gmail.com>
Sent: Friday, January 29, 2016 10:40 PM
To: Brian Kulina
Subject: pls add my name to the letter

Follow Up Flag: Follow up
Flag Status: Completed

Greetings Mr. Kulina, 
 
Please add my name to Marie Jones' 29 January 2016 letter about the Core Campus project proposed for the 
Phoenix Ave./Mike's Pike location.  
 
Thank you, 
Duffie Westheimer 
720 W. Aspen Ave. 
Flagstaff, AZ 86001 
 
 



1

Brian Kulina

From: Charlie Silver <cws720@gmail.com>
Sent: Friday, January 29, 2016 11:31 PM
To: Brian Kulina
Cc: Mark Sawyers
Subject: signatory to M. Jones letter re: Hub

Follow Up Flag: Follow up
Flag Status: Completed

Dear Brian, 
 
Please add my name to the letter dated 29 Jan 16 (incorrectly noted as 1-29-15) from Marie Jones to P&Z 
Commission re: Hub proposed development.  
 
Thanks very much, 
 
Charlie Silver 
720 Aspen Ave. 
Flagstaff, AZ 86001 
928-779-2782 



1

Brian Kulina

From: Patrice Giordano <pgiordano9@gmail.com>
Sent: Saturday, January 30, 2016 1:26 PM
To: Brian Kulina

Follow Up Flag: Follow up
Flag Status: Completed

Please add my name to the important letter you composed regarding the hub development.  
Thank you. Patrice Giordano.  
 
 
--  
Patrice� 



1

Brian Kulina

From: mpcreh@aol.com
Sent: Sunday, January 31, 2016 10:29 AM
To: Brian Kulina
Subject: Marie Jones letter--signature

Follow Up Flag: Follow up
Flag Status: Completed

Dear Mr. Kulina,  
I have read and fully agree with Marie Jones eloquent letter of 1/29/16 regarding sound objections to The Hub 
development. 
Please add my signature to her submission. 
When your own colleague, Mr. Sawyers, made the statement that staff was "surprised" by the "intensity and density" of 
this proposal, that speaks volumes.  
I still strongly urge staff, P&Z, and Council to curtail this "audacious" inappropriate development.  
Thank you, 
Rose Houk 
824 W. Cherry Ave. 
Flagstaff, AZ 86001  



1

Brian Kulina

From: Juliana Bartlett <bartlettjuliana@gmail.com>
Sent: Monday, February 01, 2016 1:42 PM
To: Brian Kulina
Subject: The Hub

Follow Up Flag: Follow up
Flag Status: Completed

   A sense of place? " The intrinsic character of a place,or the meaning people give it,but more often,a mixture of both.... 
"A strong identity and character that is deeply felt by local inhabitants and by many visitors ...."  A sense of place 
involves the human experience in a landscape...the local knowledge and folklore.....Our  historic neighborhoods 
currently have this...As a community,We have worked very hard to  
nourish   this... The hub project jeopardizes our history and our sense of place,what makes flagstaff unique and what's 
important to us as a community... 
   As was outlined to you at the last meeting...this project is not appropriate for this location ... I drove  down Phoenix st. 
the other day on my way to Macy's ...snow was on both sides of the street, a bus was coming the other way...a bike rider 
was on my side,  and there simply was no room for all of us to move forward without waiting for one another...I thought 
to myself... Where is the common sense with this project???? I observed the surroundings of this historic neighborhood 
and tried to visualize the impact of this building ....I felt heartbroken at the thought... 
  I urge you to review all the reasons that this project should not go forward in this location .I ask that the Planning and 
Zoning Commission deny Core Campus 's request To amend the Downtown Regulating Plan,and for a conditional Use 
Permit for the Hub. 
   Please listen to your community.. 
         Best, Juliana Bartlett 
 
                   
 
 
 
 
 
                
 
                           BE KIND 
FOR EVERYONE YOU MEET IS FIGHTING A 
BATTLE YOU KNOW NOTHING ABOUT. 
 
 
 
     
 
 



1

Brian Kulina

From: Jen Blue <oldcaves@yahoo.com>
Sent: Tuesday, February 02, 2016 6:07 AM
To: Brian Kulina
Cc: Mark Sawyers
Attachments: p&z ltr.pdf

Follow Up Flag: Follow up
Flag Status: Completed

Dear Brian, 
 
I would like to add my name to those who have signed on to the attached letter.  
 
Thank you and best regards, 
Jen Blue 



1

Brian Kulina

From: Diana Thorson <thorsond@commspeed.net>
Sent: Tuesday, February 02, 2016 6:35 PM
To: Brian Kulina
Subject: The Hub Meeting Feb 4
Attachments: Flagstaff Business News on THE HUB.pdf

Follow Up Flag: Follow up
Flag Status: Completed

Mr. Richard Thorson 
4521 E. Flintwood Ln. 
Flagstaff, AZ 86004 
February 4, 2016 
Mr. Brian Kulina, AICP 
Planning Development Manager 
Planning & Development Services 
211 West Aspen Ave. 
Flagstaff, AZ 86001 

RE: Attached Article: “Tourism Officials Mark Record Year” 
Dear Mr. Kulina, 
Tourism is one of our largest businesses in Flagstaff and tourists most certainly do not want to interact with 
college students. In my business, I deal with tourists from all over the world. They come for the Grand Canyon 
and Flagstaff as a destination, not student interaction. 
The Hub will interfere with our tourist’s ability to enjoy downtown as it is now by destroying its current 
ambience with a building at its center that has no design appeal let alone a connection to our historic 
heritage. Additionally, the tremendous congestion will not only take away tourist access to downtown, but 
prevent our own residents from all over the city to access the venues and businesses in the downtown area. 
Perhaps this is the reason, you have had little or no input from others living on the east side of town; since the 
late 80’s it has been a challenge to navigate the area in a car and find parking. Little has been done by the city 
to alleviate the problem, and is doing the opposite by adding to the congestion by the approval of hotels. The 
situation has literally driven a large part of the city’s population away, feeling lucky to have made it through 
the congestion challenges just to get to the desired businesses on “the other side” of town, avoiding 
downtown. 
It is time to take a stand, preventing projects such as this to be built at this, or any downtown location. It is not 
good for Flagstaff as a tourist destination and will destroy our small town feeling. The rezoning will allow great 
financial benefit to the developer, reaping no rewards (financial or otherwise) for tourists and the residents. 
As per the article, The Convention & Visitor’s Bureau is doing a great job of marketing our once quaint town. 
Let’s make sure it is as they say it is—not a part of the college campus, as is Mill St. in Tempe. 
Sincerely, 
Richard Thorson 
928.853‐9168 



1

Brian Kulina

From: Carol Hagen <cbhagen777@gmail.com>
Sent: Wednesday, February 03, 2016 12:11 PM
To: Brian Kulina
Subject: The Hub

Follow Up Flag: Follow up
Flag Status: Completed

Dear Mr. Kulina 
I am a business owner located at 209 Benton Ave. I wholeheartedly agree with Marie Jones and all comments 
made in her most recent letter. I look forward to our city planners making the right decisions concerning the 
Hub. I commend you all on your ability to revisit prior assumptions as all successful business owners, 
entrepreneurs, parents, administrators and even city officials must regularly do as new information indicates the 
need. 
Sincerely  
Carol Hagen  
928 699-2459 



1

Brian Kulina

From: Rick Moore <moore.rick@yahoo.com>
Sent: Wednesday, February 03, 2016 12:37 PM
To: Brian Kulina
Subject: Re: Allowed Building Types Question
Attachments: Marie Jones Letter.pdf

Follow Up Flag: Follow up
Flag Status: Completed

Hi Brian- 
I see the inconsistency. I hope it's cleared up by removing commercial block from T4 zones. Thanks 
for the clarification. By the way, while I know it's late to do this, could you please sign me on to the 
attached letter? I'd appreciate it. 
Rick 
 
 

From: Brian Kulina  
To: 'Rick Moore'  
Cc: Mark Sawyers  
Sent: Wednesday, February 3, 2016 10:19 AM 
Subject: RE: Allowed Building Types Question 
 
Hi Rick, 
There are some inconsistencies in the Code with respect to Table 10-50.110.030.A and the 
Subsections C of the specific transect zones. This is going to be remedied in the proposed Zoning 
Code amendments. In the meantime, staff’s positions has been to promote flexibility with the transect 
zones thus leading to the utilization of the table when determining appropriate building types. 
Correct. If the building type identified in Section 10-50.110.030 places additional limitations on the 
use or form of the building, a courtyard apartment must have 4-24 units or the width of a stacked 
duplex cannot exceed 36’, respectively, they would be applied in the review and application of 
proposed transect development. 

Brian J Kulina, AICP 
Planning Development Manager 
P: (928) 213-2613 | F: (928) 213-2089 
From: Rick Moore [mailto:moore.rick@yahoo.com]  
Sent: Wednesday, February 03, 2016 10:09 AM 
To: Brian Kulina 
Cc: Mark Sawyers 
Subject: Re: Allowed Building Types Question 
Hi Brian- 
Thanks for the prompt response. 
I don't see where commercial block is an allowed building type in table C under T4N.1 or 2. Could you 
please send me where that is shown? 
Just for future clarity, I understand that the transect zones are form based, but there are also 
limitations listed for building types. For instance, an apartment courtyard building type must have no 
fewer than 4 units or more than 24 (Table C, 50.110-25), correct? 
Rick 



2

From: Brian Kulina <BKulina@flagstaffaz.gov> 
To: "'moore.rick@yahoo.com'" <moore.rick@yahoo.com>  
Cc: Mark Sawyers <msawyers@flagstaffaz.gov> 
Sent: Wednesday, February 3, 2016 8:39 AM 
Subject: RE: Allowed Building Types Question 
Rick- 
Specific building types are addressed in Section 10-50.110 of the Zoning Code. Table 10-50.110.030.A of the 
Zoning Code, a copy of which is attached, identifies that appropriate building types for specific transect zones. 
The proposed development is utilizing the Commercial Block building type, which, in accordance with the table, 
is appropriate in the T4, T5, and T6 transect zones. Further, they building type descriptions or names do not 
limit the uses that can be found/established within that building type (i.e. commercial uses could occupy a 
Single-Family Cottage and residential uses could occupy a Commercial Block). The building types are used to 
ensure that the proper form is achieved in each transect zone. 

Brian J Kulina, AICP 
Planning Development Manager 
P: (928) 213-2613 | F: (928) 213-2089 
From: Mark Sawyers  
Sent: Wednesday, February 03, 2016 8:27 AM 
To: Brian Kulina 
Subject: FW: Allowed Building Types Question 
Brian could you please provide a response for Rick. 
Thanks 
Mark 
From: Rick Moore [mailto:moore.rick@yahoo.com]  
Sent: Tuesday, February 02, 2016 8:01 PM 
To: Mark Sawyers 
Subject: Allowed Building Types Question 
Hi Mark- 
Page six of the staff report on the Hub refers to “specific building type standards, but there is no 
reference to the “Specific to Building Type” section of the code that has the descriptions and 
regulations for allowed buildings.  
However, looking at the 10-40.40.070 & .080 C. (T4N1 and T4N.2 Standards) I see that allowed 
building types are listed and a footnote says to look at 10-50.110 (Specific to Building Types) for 
“building type descriptions and regulations.”  
Among the choices for allowed building types for T4N1 and T4N.2 it seems to me that “Apartment 
House” is most similar the Hub, but when I look at 10-50.110 it appears to me that the Hub does not 
come close to the description of an “Apartment House” or the meet the number of units allowed. 
I did the same thing for T5 Main Street, except that the allowed building type that seemed most 
similar to the Hub is the “Courtyard Apartment,” but again it doesn’t match the proposed Hub. 
I’ve attached the relevant pages and highlighted the applicable text. 
Could you send me a brief explanation of which “allowed building type” planning staff believes that 
the Hub fits or why the allowed building type criteria are not applicable? 
One side note: I was somewhat involved in the process when Transect Zoning was developed. I 
supported it based on the allowed building types and photos provided as examples, all of which would 
be acceptable at the Hub location. I’m puzzled how the descriptions, photos and regulations I 
supported are allowing the Hub to move forward. 
Thanks, 
Rick 
 

















  14. B. 2.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT
To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Brian Kulina, Planning Development
Manager

Date: 03/16/2016

Meeting
Date:

03/22/2016

TITLE: 
Consideration and Possible Adoption of Resolution No. 2016-18:  A resolution authorizing the
execution of a Development Agreement between Core Campus Flagstaff LLC and the City of Flagstaff
related to the development of approximately 2.39 acres of real property generally located at 17 S Mikes
Pike. (HUB Development Agreement) *ORDER CHANGED TO CONSIDER SECOND READ OF
ORDINANCE PRIOR TO DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
1) Read Resolution No. 2016-18 by title only
2) City Clerk reads Resolution No. 2016-18 by title only (if approved above)
3) Adopt Resolution No. 2016-18

Executive Summary:
A Development Agreement establishing the City obligations and Developer obligations related to a direct
ordinance Zoning Map Amendment request from Core Campus Flagstaff LLC amending the Downtown
Regulating Plan from the existing T4 Neighborhood 1 Open (T4N.1-O) transect to the proposed T5 Main
Street (T5) transect located along Mikes Pike and containing approximately 1.35 acres, and from the
existing T4 Neighborhood 1 Open (T4N.1-O) and the T5 Main Street (T5) transects to the proposed T4
Neighborhood 2 (T4N.2) transect located along Phoenix Avenue and containing approximately 0.29
acres.

City obligations will include reimbursement for upsizing and extending water and sewer infrastructure
adjacent to and extending beyond the boundaries of the Subject Property.  Developer obligations will
include management of the project, participation in the Crime Free Multi-Housing Program, traffic
(vehicular and pedestrian) mitigation, parking, construction of public improvements, relocation of a known
cultural resource, and election into the transect zoning.
  



Financial Impact:
Reimbursement for the upsizing and extending of the water and sewer infrastructure is budgeted as part
of the Utilities Capital Improvement Program.

Connection to Council Goal and/or Regional Plan:
COUNCIL GOALS:
1) Provide sustainable and equitable public facilities, services, and infrastructure systems in an efficient
and effective manner to serve all population areas and demographics
2) Provide a well-managed transportation system

REGIONAL PLAN:
Staff has identified 66 Regional Plan Goals and Policies that could be applied to support or not support
the proposed Zoning Map Amendment, including the subsequent Development Agreement.  A list of
those Goals and Policies, as well as a discussion and analysis, was provided in the Zoning Map
Amendment staff report. 

Has There Been Previous Council Decision on This:
The City Council has previously held three (3) public hearings related to the Zoning Map Amendment.  A
first reading of Ordinance No. 2016-08 occurred on March 1, 2016.  Discussion and approval of this
Development Agreement must occur prior to the second reading and adoption of the ordinance.

Options and Alternatives:
Approve the Development Agreement as presented.1.
Approve the Development Agreement with added, modified, or deleted terms.2.
Remand the Development Agreement back to staff for additional negotiations with the developer.3.
Deny the Development Agreement.4.

Key Considerations:
City Obligations: 

To reimburse the Developer for upsizing and extending the existing water and sewer infrastructure
due to the age and diameter of the existing lines.

Developer Obligations: 

Project Management: 
Implement and maintain a management plan for the project establishing, at a minimum,
provisions for: 1) a manager who will be available twenty-four hours, seven-days a week
(24/7); 2) at least one on-site staff member who will be available twenty-four hours,
seven-days a week (24/7), for as long as the Project is marketed and operated as a
student-housing development; 3) repair and maintenance of adjacent sidewalks, civic spaces,
and open spaces; 4) regular sweeping and removing of trash and debris from access ways
and common areas in and around the Project; 5) regular maintenance of any drainage and
landscaped areas; and 6) maintaining and repairing all lighting fixtures located within and
around the Project.
Provide contact information for the Developer and the local manager whom the City and third
parties may contact regarding matters concerning the operation and maintenance of the
project.
Limiting rental agreements to one (1) agreement per dwelling unit.
Implement and maintain rules and regulations that will govern the project, be included in each
lease, and address, at a minimum: the prohibition of illegal use of alcohol, drugs, and
controlled substances; prohibition of criminal and illegal activity; prohibition of firearms,



weapons, and other dangerous materials; fire safety and alarm equipment; guest policies; pet
and animal policies; personal safety; parking; building security and access; and, standards for
the maintenance of leased units and keeping the project in good, clean, and sanitary
condition.
Agreeing that all project management provisions shall be applicable to the Developer and its
successors and assigns.

Crime Free Multi-Housing Program 
Participation in the Flagstaff Police Department's Crime Free Multi-Housing Program.

Traffic Mitigation 
Payment of $200,000, which represents fifty percent (50%) of the City's estimated cost of
constructing a new traffic signal at the intersect on San Francisco Street and Franklin Avenue.
Payment of $100,000, which represents fifty percent (50%) of the City estimated cost of
upgrading the existing signalized pedestrian crossing generally located at the intersection of
Butler Avenue and Humphreys Street.
Improve site visibility triangles and reduce pedestrian crossing distances by designing and
constructing curb extensions at the site driveway and the northwest corner of Mikes Pike
Street and Phoenix Avenue.
Design and implement a new striping plan for San Francisco Street south of Butler Avenue to
accommodate a 193-foot queue length.
Dedication of 10.9-feet of Right-of-Way along Milton Road for the construction of a future
northbound right turn lane.

Parking 
Payment of $500,000 as a contribution toward the City's parking solutions in the Southside
Neighborhood.

Public Improvements 
Construct the public improvements necessary to support the proposed development.

Cultural Resources 
Permit the relocation of the existing structure located at 17 South Mikes Pike to an alternate
location within the Southside Neighborhood for use as a bed and breakfast 



Community Involvement:
Inform
Consult
Involve

Attachments:  Res. 2016-18
Development Agreement



RESOLUTION NO. 2016-18 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF, 
ARIZONA, AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF A DEVELOPMENT 
AGREEMENT BETWEEN CORE CAMPUS FLAGSTAFF LLC AND THE CITY 
OF FLAGSTAFF RELATED TO THE DEVELOPMENT OF APPROXIMATELY 
2.39 ACRES OF REAL PROPERTY GENERALLY LOCATED AT 17 SOUTH 
MIKES PIKE AND ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE DATE 

 
 
RECITALS: 
 
WHEREAS, Core Campus Flagstaff LLC (“Developer”) is the owner of approximately 2.39 acres 
of real property generally located at 17 South Mikes Pike (the “Property”); and 
 
WHEREAS, Developer plans to construct on the Property, among other things, 236 student-
oriented multi-family housing rental units and 14,096 square feet of commercial space; and 
 
WHEREAS, Developer and the City wish to enter into a development agreement, in the form 
attached to the staff summary submitted in support of this Resolution (the “Development 
Agreement”), to provide for the terms and conditions under which the Property will be developed 
and to set forth in detail certain obligations of Developer and the City; and 
 
WHEREAS, developing the Property under the terms and conditions of the proposed 
Development Agreement would be consistent with the Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030, and 
Developer and the City acknowledge that the Development Agreement would operate to the 
benefit of both parties; and 
 
WHEREAS, Arizona Revised Statutes § 9-500.05 authorizes the City to enter into development 
agreements in order to facilitate the orderly and effective development of properties.  
 
 
ENACTMENTS: 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF 
AS FOLLOWS: 
 
SECTION1. The Development Agreement provides benefit to the City of Flagstaff. 
 
SECTION 2. The Development Agreement is consistent with the purpose, intent, goals, 
policies, programs and land use designations of the General Plan, any applicable specific plans, 
and the Zoning Code. 
 
SECTION 3. The Development Agreement complies with the requirements of Arizona Revised 
Statutes § 9-500.05. 
 
SECTION 4. That the City of Flagstaff be hereby authorized to enter into the Development 
Agreement in the form attached to the staff summary submitted in support of this Resolution. 
 
SECTION 5. That the Mayor of the City of Flagstaff be hereby directed to execute the 
Development Agreement on behalf of the City.  



RESOLUTION NO. 2016-18   PAGE 2 
 
 
 
SECTION 6. PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Flagstaff this 22nd day 
of March, 2016. 
 
SECTION 7. This Resolution shall become effective thirty (30) days following adoption by the 
City Council. 
 
 
   
 
               
        MAYOR 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
  
CITY CLERK 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
 
  
CITY ATTORNEY 



When recorded, return to:

City Clerk
City of Flagstaff
211 West Aspen Avenue
Flagstaff, Arizona  86001

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT AND WAIVER
between

City of Flagstaff
and

Core Campus Flagstaff LLC

THIS DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is entered into this ______ day of 
________________, 2016, by and between the City of Flagstaff, an Arizona municipal 
corporation (“City”) and Core Campus Flagstaff LLC, a Delaware limited liability company 
(“Developer”). The City and Developer are sometimes referred to herein collectively as the 
Parties.

RECITALS

A. A.R.S. § 9-500.05 authorizes the City to enter into development agreements with 
landowners and persons having an interest in real property located in the City.

B. Developer is the owner of approximately 2.39 acres of real property generally 
located west and south of the intersection of Mikes Pike and Phoenix Avenue at 17 South Mikes 
Pike, Coconino County Assessor’s parcel numbers 100-39-001C, 100-39-010, 100-39-009, 100-39-008, 
100-39-001G, 100-39-002A, and 100-39-011C, within the corporate limits of Flagstaff, Arizona, more 
specifically described and depicted in Exhibit A (the “Property”).

C. Parcels 100-39-011C, 100-39-002A, and 100-39-001G of the Property currently
have a transect zoning of T5 Main Street (“T5”).  Parcels 100-39-008, 100-39-009, 100-39-010, 
and 100-39-001C of the Property currently have a transect zoning of T4 Neighborhood 1 – Open 
(“T4N.1-O”).  The Developer is requesting a zoning map amendment for a portion of Parcels
100-39-010, 100-39-002A, 100-39-001G, and 100-39-001C to T4 Neighborhood 2 (“T4N.2”), 
with the remaining portion of Parcels 100-39-001C and 100-39-010 to T5, and Parcels 100-39-008
and 100-39-009 to T5.

D. Under the applicable comprehensive plan, the Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 ratified 
May 2014, the Property has an existing land use designation of Urban, is located within two (2) 
Urban Activity Centers, and is identified by the “Transitions Map” as being located within a 
Transform Urban area.  The Developer intends to redevelop the Property as a mixed-use 
multi-family style student housing development consisting of 236 dwelling units (664 beds) 
located above and behind approximately 14,096 square feet of commercial uses.



2

E. The City has an interest in ensuring that the development of the Property complies 
with City standards for development and engineering improvements and all other City standards, 
and the City believes that development of the Property pursuant to this Agreement will result in 
planning, safety, economic, and other benefits to the City and its residents, and will not be 
detrimental to the public health, safety or welfare, or materially injurious to the properties in the 
vicinity.

F. The Developer acknowledges that development of the Property pursuant to this 
Agreement will be beneficial and advantageous to the Developer by providing assurances to the 
Developer that it will have the ability to develop the Property within the City pursuant to this 
Agreement under the zoning described in Recital C above and in substantial accordance with the 
Site Plan.

G. As part of the development of the Property, Developer will provide certain Public 
Improvements, which are limited to those described in this Agreement, both inside and outside of 
the Property boundaries and at capacities that will support the Project and also benefit other 
surrounding properties.

H. The Parties acknowledge that the contributions for Public Improvements by the 
Developer are related to the Project and proportional under all the options in this Development 
Agreement.

I. The City and Developer are entering into this Agreement pursuant to Arizona 
Revised Statutes § 9-500.05.

AGREEMENT

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing recitals and the mutual promises 
and agreements set forth herein, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and 
adequacy of which are hereby acknowledged, and in order to fulfill the foregoing objectives, the 
parties agree as follows:

1. INCORPORATION OF RECITALS

Each of the recitals set forth above is incorporated into this Agreement as though fully set 
forth herein.

2. DEFINITIONS

The following terms shall have the meanings set forth below whenever used in this 
Agreement, except where the context clearly indicates otherwise:

2.1 “Agreement” shall mean this Development Agreement between the City and 
Developer.

2.2. “A.R.S.” shall mean Arizona Revised Statutes.



3

2.3 “Assurances Agreement” shall mean the Assurance of Performance Agreement, 
using the City’s standard form between Developer and City, or any other form of 
assurance agreement negotiated between the City and Developer, but in any event 
the Assurances Agreement shall be consistent with applicable City Codes.

2.3 “City” shall mean and refer to the City of Flagstaff, an Arizona municipal 
corporation, and any successor public body or entity.

2.4 “Construction Permits” shall mean any permit issued by the City or other 
jurisdiction that is required in order to begin construction on any on-site or off-site
phase or stage of the Project, including but not limited to Public Improvements, 
grading, electrical, gas, plumbing, or mechanical.

2.5 “Developer” shall mean and refer to Core Campus Flagstaff LLC, a Delaware
limited liability company, and any permitted successor-in-interest or assignee of 
Core Campus Flagstaff LLC acquiring the Project.

2.6 “Development Fees” shall mean any impact fee, instituted by the City pursuant to 
A.R.S. § 9-463.05.

2.7 “Improvements” shall mean and refer to all the improvements, on-site and 
off-site, which may be constructed from time to time as part of the Project, 
including, without limitation, public roads, utilities, driveways, landscaping and
other improvements of any type or kind to be built by Developer.

2.8 “Project” shall mean and refer to the development of the Property for the uses, 
intensities and densities currently shown in the approved Site Plan.

2.9 “Property” shall mean and refer to all of the real property that is legally described 
in Exhibit A.

2.10 “Zoning Code” shall mean the City’s Zoning Code (Title 10 of the Flagstaff City 
Code).

3. SITE PLAN

3.1 Development in Substantial Accordance with Site Plan. The City and the 
Developer hereby acknowledge that the City approved the Site Plan for the Project 
on December 11, 2015, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit B and 
incorporated herein (the “Site Plan”). The Site Plan sets forth the basic land uses, 
intensity and density of such uses, relative height, bulk and size of buildings and 
structures proposed by the Developer and approved by the City for development 
within the Property. Notwithstanding anything contained in the foregoing, 



4

however, the City acknowledges that, while the Developer intends to develop the 
Project in general conformance with the Site Plan, in order to make the Project 
economically viable and otherwise feasible, as the Project progresses through civil 
plan and building permit review, the Developer may request modifications to the 
Site Plan. The City shall process all submittals made by Developer in conformance 
with Section 8.1, below, and nothing contained herein shall preclude the City from 
the exercise of its normal review process and requirements in connection with its 
approval of such submittals. Unless otherwise limited by the conditions of City 
Ordinance No. 2016-08, modifications to the Site Plan that exceed the thresholds 
set forth in Flagstaff Zoning Code Section 10-20.40.090.B.2 shall require a Zoning 
Map Amendment to process the requested modifications to the approved Site Plan.

4. DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS

4.1 Governing Regulations. Development of the Property, including off-site and 
on-site public Improvements, shall be governed by the City’s codes, ordinances, 
regulations, rules, guidelines and policies controlling permitted uses of the 
Property, design review standards, the density and intensity of uses, the maximum 
height and size of the buildings within the Property in existence as of the Effective 
Date of this Agreement; provided, however, that if the Developer fails to obtain any 
Construction Permits with respect to the Project within two (2) years following the 
Effective Date of this Agreement, then development of the Project shall be subject 
to the City’s codes, ordinances, regulations, rules, guidelines and policies in effect 
at the time Developer applies for such Construction Permits.

4.2 Permits & Building Fees.  Developer agrees and understands that all building 
permits, Development Fees, and other fees normally applicable to construction 
within the City at the time of application shall apply to the Project.  Denial of a 
Developer’s permit application for failure to meet the City’s building code 
requirements for such permit shall not be deemed a breach by the City of this 
Agreement.

5. DEVELOPER AND CITY OBLIGATIONS

5.1 Water and Sewer Infrastructure.  Due to the age and diameter of the existing 
potable water lines and sanitary sewer lines adjacent to the Property, the City is 
requiring the Developer to replace approximately 840 feet of waterline and sewer
line in Mikes Pike from Phoenix Avenue to Benton Avenue and upgrade the 
existing eight-inch (8”) diameter waterline to a ten-inch (10”) waterline and the
existing eight-inch (8”) diameter sewer line to a new PVC eight-inch (8”) diameter 
sewer line.  All work will be performed by the Developer or its designee.  
Developer shall procure all design and construction of the off-site potable water
line and sanitary sewer line improvements according to City of Flagstaff policies.  
City shall review all design and construction plans and approve of such plans 
before construction commences.  All bids for design, construction, or any other 
work covered by this Section shall be approved by the City Engineer.  The City 



5

agrees to pay for the cost of replacement of approximately 340 feet of potable water 
line for those portions of the line not directly adjacent to the Property and for the 
difference in material costs between an eight inch (8”) potable water line and a ten 
inch (10”) potable water line.  Upon completion and acceptance of the off-site 
potable water line and sanitary sewer line improvements, the City shall reimburse 
the Developer within 60 days of the Developer billing the City for the total costs 
incurred by the Developer for constructing the 340 foot portion of the potable water 
line and the upsizing of the waterline. The total cost of the City’s participation will 
be determined during Civil Improvement Plan review.  Prior to reimbursement, the 
Developer shall provide to the City legible copies of all receipts documenting the 
cost the potable water line design and construction. The Developer’s participation 
in the cost for the new water and sewer lines, as described in more detail above, is 
in addition to the Developer’s obligation to pay all fees and costs due to the City 
under the City Code and other laws and regulations.

6. DEVELOPER OBLIGATIONS

6.1 Management of the Project.

6.1.1 The Developer agrees to implement and maintain a management plan
establishing management practices at the Project that are designed to 
facilitate the operation and maintenance of the Project as an apartment 
project. The management plan shall be prepared in accordance with 
industry standards and shall include, without limitation, the following 
provisions: 1) a manager who will be available twenty-four hours, 
seven-days a week (24/7); 2) at least one on-site staff member who will be 
available twenty-four hours, seven-days a week (24/7), for as long as the 
Project is marketed and operated as a student-housing development; 3) 
repair and maintenance of adjacent sidewalks, civic spaces, and open 
spaces; 4) regular sweeping and removing of trash and debris from access 
ways and common areas in and around the Project; 5) regular maintenance 
of any drainage and landscaped areas; and 6) maintaining and repairing all 
lighting fixtures located within and around the Project.

6.1.2 The Developer agrees to provide contact information for the Developer and 
the local manager on its Project web site, including a local Flagstaff 
telephone number or toll-free telephone number, so the City and third 
parties may contact the Developer and such manager regarding matters 
concerning the operation and maintenance of the Project.

6.1.3 The Developer agrees to structure its rental agreements for the Project on a 
per unit basis (i.e., one (1) agreement per dwelling unit), unless and until a 
conditional use permit for rooming and boarding is obtained or the 
requirement is removed from the Zoning Code.



6

6.1.4 The Developer agrees to implement and maintain rules and regulations 
(“Rules and Regulations”) that will govern the Project and be included in 
each lease agreement in order to regulate resident conduct, safety and 
security, and help maintain an optimal living environment for all residents 
of the Project. The Rules and Regulations shall address, without limitation, 
the following areas: prohibition of illegal use of alcohol, drugs, and 
controlled substances; prohibition of criminal and illegal activity; 
prohibition of firearms, weapons, and other dangerous materials; fire safety 
and alarm equipment; guest policies; pet and animal policies; personal 
safety; parking; building security and access; and standards for 
maintenance of leased units and keeping the Project in good, clean, and 
sanitary condition. The Developer further agrees to use commercially 
reasonable efforts to enforce the Rules and Regulations, which may include
assessing fines against tenants of the Project for any violation of the Rules 
and Regulations, requiring payments by tenants for costs incurred to cure 
violations, and pursuing eviction and early lease termination remedies 
where appropriate.

6.1.5 If requested by the City, the Developer will provide a copy of  the Rules and 
Regulations to the City’s Community Development Director to demonstrate 
compliance with Section 6.1.4 above. 

6.1.6 The foregoing requirements outlined in this Section shall be applicable to 
the Developer and its successors and assigns, as applicable, during their 
ownership of the Project.

6.2 Crime Free Multi-Housing Program. The Developer agrees to participate in the 
City of Flagstaff Police Department’s Crime Free Multi-Housing Program
(CFMHP).  Prior to submitting an application for any Construction Permit, 
excluding demolition permits, grading permits on-site utility permits and 
foundation permits, the Developer shall schedule a meeting with the City of 
Flagstaff Police Department’s CFMHP representative to review the proposed 
building plans as they relate to compliance with CFMHP.

6.3 Traffic Mitigation. Prior to the issuance of any Construction Permits for the 
Project, the Developer shall, in accordance with the City Traffic Impact Analysis 
Review Memorandum dated December 11, 2015 (Exhibit C), perform the 
following:

6.3.1 Make a payment to the City in the amount of $200,000, which represents 
fifty percent (50%) of the City’s estimated cost of constructing a new 
four-leg traffic signal at the intersection of San Francisco Street and 
Franklin Avenue.  Any monies paid by the Developer shall be placed by the 
City in a designated account to be used solely for the design and 
construction of the future signal.



7

6.3.2 Make a payment to the City in the amount of $100,000, which represents 
fifty percent (50%) of the City’s estimated cost of upgrading the existing 
signalized pedestrian crossing generally located at the intersection of Butler 
Avenue and Humphreys Street.  Any monies paid by the Developer shall be 
placed by the City in a designated account to be used solely for the design 
and construction of upgrading the existing pedestrian signal.

6.3.3 Demonstrate improved site visibility triangles and reduce pedestrian 
crossing distances, by designing curb extensions at the site driveway of the 
Mikes Pike Street and Cottage Avenue intersection and the northwest 
corner of the intersection of Mikes Pike Street and Phoenix Avenue.
Construction of such improvements shall be completed in sequential order 
of normal construction sequences and, in any case, prior to the issuance of a 
final Certificate of Occupancy for the Project.

6.3.4 Design a striping plan for San Francisco Street south of Butler Avenue to 
accommodate a 193 foot queue length, which will provide additional 
stacking in the northbound left and through lanes. Construction of such 
improvements shall be completed by Developer in sequential order of 
normal construction sequences and, in any case, prior to the issuance of a 
final Certificate of Occupancy for the Project.

6.3.5 Dedicate a 10.9-feet portion of the Property for Right-of-Way along Milton 
Road to accommodate the future construction of a northbound right turn 
lane off of Milton Road onto eastbound Phoenix Avenue.

6.4 Parking.  The Developer acknowledges and agrees that it shall provide not fewer 
than 231 onsite parking spaces (27 street parking spaces and 204 garage parking 
spaces) in order to satisfy the City's parking requirements with respect to the 
Project.  In addition, within ninety (90) days of the City issuing a grading permit for 
the project, Developer shall remit to the City an amount equal to $500,000.00 as a 
contribution toward the City's parking solutions for the Southside. [Developer is 
proposing this payment as an alternative to condition number six (6) in 
Ordinance 2016-08.]

6.5 Construction of Public and Other Related Improvements.  Prior to the issuance of a 
Construction Permit for improvements in relation to the Project in any City 
right-of-way, the Developer shall deliver to Escrow Agent an irrevocable standby 
letter of credit ("Letter of Credit"), in an amount to be determined by the City based 
on the civil improvement plans for the improvements and in accordance with 
section 10-20.100.040(B) of the Zoning Code, to provide security for the 
construction and completion of the public and other related improvements 
contemplated by this Agreement and in accordance with approved plans.
Developer shall, at its sole cost and expense, construct or cause to be constructed 
the public and other related improvements contemplated by this Agreement in 
material compliance with the City’s codes, ordinances and this Agreement.  



8

Following construction of the described public improvements and acceptance of 
the improvements by the City Engineer, the City shall assume, at its sole expense, 
the maintenance and repairs of all public improvements in accordance with City 
policies.  The Developer, to the extent required by City regulation, warrants 
construction of such public improvements for one-year following acceptance by the 
City.

6.6 Water and Sewer. Water and sewer infrastructure shall be designed, extended, and 
upgraded by the Developer at the Developer’s sole cost and expense, unless 
otherwise stated in this Agreement, in accordance with the approved HUB on 
CAMPUS Water & Sewer Impact Analysis, sealed May 5, 2015, and the 2012 City 
of Flagstaff Engineering and Design Standards. Construction of the water and 
sewer infrastructure improvements shall be completed by Developer in sequential 
order of normal construction sequences.

6.7 Stormwater.  Stormwater infrastructure must be designed and extended by the 
Developer at the Developer’s cost, in accordance with the approved Drainage 
Impact Analysis for The Hub on Campus Flagstaff, dated June 1, 2015, and the 
approved Preliminary Drainage Report for The Hub on Campus Flagstaff, dated 
June 1, 2015. Construction of the stormwater improvements shall be completed by 
Developer in sequential order of normal construction sequences. The on-site 
stormwater improvements will remain private and not be accepted or maintained by 
the City.

6.8 Cultural Resources.  In accordance with the Cultural Resource Study prepared by 
the Developer and approved by the City Heritage Preservation Commission, prior 
to commencement of construction of the Project, the Developer will permit the 
relocation of the structure currently located at 17 South Mikes Pike, Coconino 
County Assessor Parcel Number 100-39-009, to 23 South Agassiz Street, Coconino 
County Assessor Parcel Number 104-01-080D. Understanding the complexities 
involved in relocating structures, however, the City acknowledges and agrees that 
in the event such structure is not relocated for any reason, Developer shall not be 
deemed to be in default under this Agreement.

6.9 Zoning. The Developer hereby agrees to be subject to all of the terms, conditions, 
and stipulations of City Ordinance No. 2016-08, attached hereto as Exhibit D and 
incorporated herein by this reference.

6.10 Transect Zoning Election. The Developer hereby agrees to opt into and comply 
with the applicable Transect Zone standards assigned to the Property through the 
City of Flagstaff Official Downtown Regulating Plan, as amended by City 
Ordinance No. 2016-08, through the execution and recordation of the Transect 
Form, attached hereto as Exhibit E.

7. DEFAULT; REMEDIES



9

7.1 Events Constituting Default. A party hereunder shall be deemed to be in default 
under this Agreement if such party breaches any obligation required to be 
performed by the respective party hereunder within any time period required for 
such performance and such breach or default continues for a period of thirty (30)
days after written notice thereof from the party not in default hereunder; provided, 
however, that in the event that any such breach or default cannot be cured within 
said thirty (30) day period, then the breaching party shall not be deemed to be in 
default hereunder so long as the breaching party commences to cure such breach or 
default within said thirty (30) day period and thereafter diligently and continuously 
pursues such cure to completion. Party in breach is responsible for providing 
evidence of diligence and continuous pursuit of the cure. Failure to provide such 
evidence shall result in a rebuttable presumption of failure to pursure the cure. For 
purposes of determining default and termination, those Developer obligations set 
forth in the Agreement are severable, and each individual obligation shall terminate 
upon its completion. 

7.2 Developer’s Remedies. In the event that the City is in default under this Agreement 
and fails to cure any such default within the cure period described in Section 7.1
above, then, in that event, in addition to all other legal and equitable remedies that 
the Developer may have, the Developer may terminate this Agreement by written 
notice delivered to the City.

7.3 City’s Remedies. In the event that the Developer is in default under this Agreement, 
and the Developer thereafter fails to cure any such default within the cure period 
described in Section 7.1 above, then, in that event, in addition to all other legal and 
equitable remedies that the City may have, the City may do any of the following: 1) 
terminate this Agreement by written notice delivered to the Developer; 2) withhold 
all permits or other approvals that would otherwise be required to be issued under 
this Agreement or by law.

7.4 Development Rights in the Event of Termination.  With the exception of a 
termination that occurs under Section 7.2 above, upon the termination of this 
Agreement as provided herein, the Developer shall have no further rights to 
develop the Project pursuant to the terms of this Agreement.

7.5 No Personal Liability. No current or former member, official or employee of the 
City or Developer when acting within the scope of their official capacity shall be 
personally liable (a) in the event of any default or breach by the City or Developer, 
as applicable; (b) for any amount which may become due to the nonbreaching party 
or its successor or assign; or (c) pursuant to any obligation of the City or Developer, 
as applicable, under the terms of this Agreement.

7.6 Liability and Indemnification. Developer agrees to indemnify, defend, save, and 
hold harmless the City, its officers, officials, agents, and employees from and 
against any and all claims, demands, actions, liabilities, damages, losses, or 
expenses, including court costs, attorney’s fees, and costs of claim processing, 



10

investigation and litigation (hereinafter collectively referred to as “Claims”) that 
arise out of any actual or alleged injury caused or alleged to have been caused, in 
whole or in part, by the acts, errors, omissions, or negligence of the Developer or 
any of Developer’s directors, officers, agents, employees, or volunteers in 
connection with or incident to the performance of this Agreement by the Developer 
or nonperformance of this Agreement by the Developer. This indemnity provision 
shall survive the termination, cancellation, or revocation, whether in whole or in 
part, of this Agreement.

8. GENERAL PROVISIONS

8.1 Effective Date. This Agreement shall be effective upon execution by the Parties 
hereto, recordation in accordance with A.R.S. § 9-500.05 (as amended), and upon 
expiration of thirty (30) days following the approval hereof by the City (the 
“Effective Date”). However, in the event that the approval is delayed in its effect 
by judicial challenge, or by referendum or injunction, the effective date of this 
Agreement shall be delayed until resolution or termination of such judicial 
challenge, referendum or injunction.  In the event of judicial challenge, referendum 
or injunction by any person or entity resulting in a delay in the effect of this 
Agreement that extends for a period of more than ninety (90) days following its 
approval by the City Council, this Agreement shall be terminable by Developer 
upon written notice to the City in accordance with this Agreement at any time 
within an additional sixty (60) days.  Upon termination, this Agreement shall be of 
no further force or effect, and neither party shall have any further obligation 
hereunder.  Any delay relative to the effective date of this Agreement by judicial 
challenge, referendum or injunction filed by parties acting independently of and not 
under the control of the City shall not be deemed a default hereunder by the City. 

8.2 Term. The term of this Agreement shall extend from the Effective Date of this 
Agreement and shall automatically terminate upon the complete build out of the 
Project unless previously terminated pursuant to the terms of this Agreement.
However, the provisions set forth in Section 6.1 above and associated subsections 
shall continue in full force and effect.

8.3 Notices.  Unless otherwise specifically provided herein, all notices, demands, or 
other communications given hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed to 
have been duly delivered upon personal delivery or as of the third business day 
after mailing by the United States mail, postage prepaid, by registered or certified 
mail, return receipt requested, addressed as follows:

To City: City of Flagstaff
Attn: City Manager
211 West Aspen Avenue
Flagstaff, AZ 86001

Copy To: City of Flagstaff



11

Attn: City Attorney
211 West Aspen Avenue
Flagstaff, AZ  86001

To Developer: Core Campus Flagstaff LLC
Attn: Marc Lifshin
2234 West North Avenue
Chicago, IL 60647

Copy To: Gammage and Burnham
Attn: Lindsay C. Schube
2 N. Central Ave., 15th Floor 
Phoenix, AZ  85004

Notice of address may be changed by either party by giving notice to the other 
party in writing of change of address. Any such change of address notice shall be 
given at least ten (10) days before the date on which the change is to become 
effective.  Notices given by mail shall be deemed delivered 72 hours following 
deposit in the United States Postal Service in the manner set forth above.

8.4 Waiver.  No delay in exercising any right or remedy shall constitute a waiver 
thereof, and no waiver by the parties of the breach of any provision of this 
Agreement shall be construed as a waiver of any preceding or succeeding breach of 
the same or of any other provision of this Agreement.

8.5 Headings.  The descriptive headings of the paragraphs of this Agreement are 
inserted for convenience only, and shall not control or affect the meaning or 
construction of any of the provisions of the Agreement.

8.6 Authority.  The undersigned represent to each other that they have full power and 
authority to enter into this Agreement, and that all necessary actions have been 
taken to give full force and effect to this Agreement.  The Developer represents and 
warrants that it is duly formed and validly existing under the laws of the State of 
Delaware and that it is duly qualified to do business in the State of Arizona and is in 
good standing under applicable state laws.  The Developer and the City warrant to 
each other that the individuals executing this Agreement on behalf of their 
respective parties are authorized and empowered to bind the party on whose behalf 
each individual is signing.  The Developer warrants and represents to the City that 
by entering into this Agreement, the Developer has bound the Property and all 
persons and entities having any legal or equitable interest therein to the terms of the 
Agreement.

8.7 Entire Agreement.  This Agreement, including the following exhibits which are 
incorporated in this Agreement by reference, constitutes the entire agreement 
between the Parties and supersedes any prior written or oral understandings or 
agreements between the parties.  This provision applies only to the entirety of this 



12

Agreement; additional and separate zoning stipulations and agreements with the 
City may apply to the Property, and this provision has no effect on them.

Exhibit A Legal Description of Property
Exhibit B Site Plans
Exhibit C Traffic Impact Analysis Review Memorandum dated 

December 11, 2015
Exhibit D Ordinance No. 2016-08
Exhibit E Transect Zone Form

8.8 Amendment of the Agreement.  This Agreement may be amended at any time by 
written amendment executed by both Parties; all amendments shall be recorded in 
the official records of Coconino County, Arizona within ten (10) days following the 
execution thereof.

8.9 Severability.  In the event that any phrase, clause, sentence, paragraph, section, 
article, or other portion of this Agreement shall become illegal, null or void or 
against public policy, for any reason, or shall be held by any court of competent 
jurisdiction to be illegal, null or void or against public policy, the remaining 
portions of this Agreement shall not be affected thereby and shall remain in force 
and effect, to the extent that the intent of the Parties to develop the Project is still 
viable.

8.10 Governing Law.  The laws of the State of Arizona shall govern the interpretation 
and enforcement of this Agreement.  This Agreement has been made and entered 
into in Coconino County, Arizona. 

8.11 Recordation of Agreement and Subsequent Amendment; Cancellation.  The City 
will record this Agreement, and any amendment or cancellation of it, in the official 
records of the Coconino County Recorder no later than ten (10) days after the City 
and the Developer execute the Agreement, amendment, or cancellation, as required 
by A.R.S. § 9-500.05.

8.12 No Partnership.  The Parties specifically acknowledge that the Project will be 
developed as private property, that neither party is acting as the agent of the other in 
any respect hereunder, and that each party is an independent contracting entity with 
respect to the terms, covenants, and conditions contained in this Agreement.  None 
of the terms or provisions of this Agreement shall be deemed to create a partnership 
between or among the Parties, nor shall it cause them to be considered a joint 
venture or members of any joint enterprise.

8.13 Conflict of Interest.    This Agreement is subject to the cancellation provisions of 
A.R.S. § 38-511.

8.14 Compliance with All Laws.  Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, 
the Developer will comply with all applicable Federal, State, and County laws, as 



13

well as with all applicable City ordinances, regulations and policies, in connection 
with its performance of this Agreement.

8.15 Successors and Assigns. This Agreement shall run with the land and all of the 
covenants and conditions set forth herein shall inure to the benefit of and shall be 
binding upon the successors in interest of each of the Parties hereto.  Specifically, 
each successor owner of any portion of the Property is responsible for fulfilling all 
Developer responsibilities with respect to that portion.  Obligations accruing after a 
transfer of ownership will not be deemed to be an obligation of the transferor, 
though no transfer will relieve a transferor of any obligation that accrued prior to 
the transfer.

8.15.1 Assignment. Developer’s rights and obligations hereunder may be assigned 
to a person or entity that has acquired all of the Property or any portion 
thereof pursuant to a written instrument, recorded in the Official Records of 
Coconino County, Arizona, expressly assigning such rights and obligations.  
Developer agrees to provide the City notice of any proposed assignment at 
least thirty (30) days prior to the assignment being finalized. The notice 
must identify the assignee, the assignee’s contact information, and the 
effective date of the assignment. City will require each successor to post 
adequate assurances and/or enter into the appropriate assurances 
agreements to ensure construction of Improvements before consenting to 
the assignment.  Nothing in this Agreement shall operate to restrict 
Developer’s ability to assign less than all of its right and obligations under 
this Agreement to those entities that acquire any portion of the Property.

8.16 Consistent with General Plan and Specific Plan.  All development on the Property 
shall be consistent with the Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030, ratified May 2014, as 
required by A.R.S. § 9-500.05(B).

8.17 Construction of Agreement. This Agreement has been arrived at by negotiation 
and shall not be construed against either Party.

8.18 Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts, each of 
which shall constitute an original, but all of which together shall constitute but one 
and the same instrument.  The signature pages from one or more counterparts may 
be removed from such counterparts and such signature pages all attached to a single 
instrument so that the signatures of all Parties may be physically attached to a 
single document.

8.19 No Third Party Beneficiaries. The City and Developer acknowledge and agree that 
the terms, provisions, and conditions hereof are for the sole benefit of, and may be 
enforceable solely by, the City and Developer; and none of these terms, provisions, 
conditions, and obligations are for the benefit of or may be enforced by any third 
party.



14

9. WAIVER OF CLAIMS FOR DIMINUTION IN VALUE.

9.1 Waiver. Upon the City's approval and recordation of the zoning applicable to the 
Property described in Section 6.8 above, the Developer hereby waives and fully releases 
the City from any and all financial or other loss, injury, claims, and causes of action that the 
Developer may have, now or in the future, for any compensation, “diminution in value”,
“just compensation”, or any other amount or remedy under the Private Property Rights 
Protection Act, codified in A.R.S §§ 12-1131 through 12-1138, the takings clauses in 
Article 2 Section 17 the Arizona Constitution and the Fifth Amendment to the United 
States Constitution, or any other statutes, regulations, laws, or legal doctrines (referred to 
collectively as the “Property Value Laws”) because of this Agreement or the zoning 
amendments requested by Developer and approved by Ordinance Number 2016-08.  This 
waiver constitutes a complete release of any and all claims and causes of action that may 
arise or could have been asserted under the Property Value Laws with regard to the 
Property. The Developer agrees to indemnify, hold harmless, and defend the City, its 
officers, employees, and agents, from any and all claims, causes of actions, demands, 
losses, and expenses, including attorney’s fees and litigation costs, that may be asserted by 
or may result from any of the present or future owners of any interest in the Property 
seeking potential compensation, damages, attorney’s fees, or costs under the Property 
Value Laws because of this Agreement or the zoning amendments requested by Developer 
and approved by Ordinance Number 2016-08.



15

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City has caused this Agreement to be duly executed in its 
name and on its behalf by its Mayor and its seal to be hereunder duly affixed and attested by its 
City Clerk, and Developer has signed the same on or as of the day and year first above written.

City of Flagstaff Core Campus Flagstaff LLC,
a Delaware limited liability company

Gerald W. Nabours, Mayor

Attest:

By: ______________________________

Name:____________________________

Title:_____________________________

City Clerk

Approved as to form and authority:

City Attorney

STATE OF DELAWARE )
COUNTY OF ___________ )

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

On this __________ day of ____________________, 2016, before me, a Notary Public, 
personally appeared ________________________, known to be or satisfactorily proven to be the 
person whose name is subscribed to the foregoing instrument and acknowledged that _he executed 
the same on behalf of The Standard at Flagstaff, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, for
the purposes therein contained.

Notary Public
My Commission Expires:



Exhibit “A”

Legal Description of the Property



Exhibit “B”

Site Plan



Exhibit “C”

Traffic Impact Analysis Review Memorandum dated December 11, 2015



Exhibit “D”

Ordinance No. 2016-08



Exhibit “E”

Transect Zone Form



When recorded, return to:

City Clerk
City of Flagstaff
211 West Aspen Avenue
Flagstaff, Arizona  86001

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT AND WAIVER
between

City of Flagstaff
and

Core Campus Flagstaff LLC

THIS DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is entered into this ______ day of 
________________, 2016, by and between the City of Flagstaff, an Arizona municipal 
corporation (“City”) and Core Campus Flagstaff LLC, a Delaware limited liability company 
(“Developer”). The City and Developer are sometimes referred to herein collectively as the 
Parties.

RECITALS

A. A.R.S. § 9-500.05 authorizes the City to enter into development agreements with 
landowners and persons having an interest in real property located in the City.

B. Developer is the owner of approximately 2.39 acres of real property generally 
located west and south of the intersection of Mikes Pike and Phoenix Avenue at 17 South Mikes 
Pike, Coconino County Assessor’s parcel numbers 100-39-001C, 100-39-010, 100-39-009, 100-39-008, 
100-39-001G, 100-39-002A, and 100-39-011C, within the corporate limits of Flagstaff, Arizona, more 
specifically described and depicted in Exhibit A (the “Property”).

C. Parcels 100-39-011C, 100-39-002A, and 100-39-001G of the Property currently
have a transect zoning of T5 Main Street (“T5”).  Parcels 100-39-008, 100-39-009, 100-39-010, 
and 100-39-001C of the Property currently have a transect zoning of T4 Neighborhood 1 – Open 
(“T4N.1-O”).  The Developer is requesting a zoning map amendment for a portion of Parcels
100-39-010, 100-39-002A, 100-39-001G, and 100-39-001C to T4 Neighborhood 2 (“T4N.2”), 
with the remaining portion of Parcels 100-39-001C and 100-39-010 to T5, and Parcels 100-39-008
and 100-39-009 to T5.

D. Under the applicable comprehensive plan, the Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 ratified 
May 2014, the Property has an existing land use designation of Urban, is located within two (2) 
Urban Activity Centers, and is identified by the “Transitions Map” as being located within a 
Transform Urban area.  The Developer intends to redevelop the Property as a mixed-use 
multi-family style student housing development consisting of 236 dwelling units (664 beds) 
located above and behind approximately 14,096 square feet of commercial uses.



2

E. The City has an interest in ensuring that the development of the Property complies 
with City standards for development and engineering improvements and all other City standards, 
and the City believes that development of the Property pursuant to this Agreement will result in 
planning, safety, economic, and other benefits to the City and its residents, and will not be 
detrimental to the public health, safety or welfare, or materially injurious to the properties in the 
vicinity.

F. The Developer acknowledges that development of the Property pursuant to this 
Agreement will be beneficial and advantageous to the Developer by providing assurances to the 
Developer that it will have the ability to develop the Property within the City pursuant to this 
Agreement under the zoning described in Recital C above and in substantial accordance with the 
Site Plan.

G. As part of the development of the Property, Developer will provide certain Public 
Improvements, which are limited to those described in this Agreement, both inside and outside of 
the Property boundaries and at capacities that will support the Project and also benefit other 
surrounding properties.

H. The Parties acknowledge that the contributions for Public Improvements by the 
Developer are related to the Project and proportional under all the options in this Development 
Agreement.

I. The City and Developer are entering into this Agreement pursuant to Arizona 
Revised Statutes § 9-500.05.

AGREEMENT

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing recitals and the mutual promises 
and agreements set forth herein, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and 
adequacy of which are hereby acknowledged, and in order to fulfill the foregoing objectives, the 
parties agree as follows:

1. INCORPORATION OF RECITALS

Each of the recitals set forth above is incorporated into this Agreement as though fully set 
forth herein.

2. DEFINITIONS

The following terms shall have the meanings set forth below whenever used in this 
Agreement, except where the context clearly indicates otherwise:

2.1 “Agreement” shall mean this Development Agreement between the City and 
Developer.

2.2. “A.R.S.” shall mean Arizona Revised Statutes.



3

2.3 “Assurances Agreement” shall mean the Assurance of Performance Agreement, 
using the City’s standard form between Developer and City, or any other form of 
assurance agreement negotiated between the City and Developer, but in any event 
the Assurances Agreement shall be consistent with applicable City Codes.

2.3 “City” shall mean and refer to the City of Flagstaff, an Arizona municipal 
corporation, and any successor public body or entity.

2.4 “Construction Permits” shall mean any permit issued by the City or other 
jurisdiction that is required in order to begin construction on any on-site or off-site
phase or stage of the Project, including but not limited to Public Improvements, 
grading, electrical, gas, plumbing, or mechanical.

2.5 “Developer” shall mean and refer to Core Campus Flagstaff LLC, a Delaware
limited liability company, and any permitted successor-in-interest or assignee of 
Core Campus Flagstaff LLC acquiring the Project.

2.6 “Development Fees” shall mean any impact fee, instituted by the City pursuant to 
A.R.S. § 9-463.05.

2.7 “Improvements” shall mean and refer to all the improvements, on-site and 
off-site, which may be constructed from time to time as part of the Project, 
including, without limitation, public roads, utilities, driveways, landscaping and
other improvements of any type or kind to be built by Developer.

2.8 “Project” shall mean and refer to the development of the Property for the uses, 
intensities and densities currently shown in the approved Site Plan.

2.9 “Property” shall mean and refer to all of the real property that is legally described 
in Exhibit A.

2.10 “Zoning Code” shall mean the City’s Zoning Code (Title 10 of the Flagstaff City 
Code).

3. SITE PLAN

3.1 Development in Substantial Accordance with Site Plan. The City and the 
Developer hereby acknowledge that the City approved the Site Plan for the Project 
on December 11, 2015, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit B and 
incorporated herein (the “Site Plan”). The Site Plan sets forth the basic land uses, 
intensity and density of such uses, relative height, bulk and size of buildings and 
structures proposed by the Developer and approved by the City for development 
within the Property. Notwithstanding anything contained in the foregoing, 



4

however, the City acknowledges that, while the Developer intends to develop the 
Project in general conformance with the Site Plan, in order to make the Project 
economically viable and otherwise feasible, as the Project progresses through civil 
plan and building permit review, the Developer may request modifications to the 
Site Plan. The City shall process all submittals made by Developer in conformance 
with Section 8.1, below, and nothing contained herein shall preclude the City from 
the exercise of its normal review process and requirements in connection with its 
approval of such submittals. Unless otherwise limited by the conditions of City 
Ordinance No. 2016-08, modifications to the Site Plan that exceed the thresholds 
set forth in Flagstaff Zoning Code Section 10-20.40.090.B.2 shall require a Zoning 
Map Amendment to process the requested modifications to the approved Site Plan.

4. DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS

4.1 Governing Regulations. Development of the Property, including off-site and 
on-site public Improvements, shall be governed by the City’s codes, ordinances, 
regulations, rules, guidelines and policies controlling permitted uses of the 
Property, design review standards, the density and intensity of uses, the maximum 
height and size of the buildings within the Property in existence as of the Effective 
Date of this Agreement; provided, however, that if the Developer fails to obtain any 
Construction Permits with respect to the Project within two (2) years following the 
Effective Date of this Agreement, then development of the Project shall be subject 
to the City’s codes, ordinances, regulations, rules, guidelines and policies in effect 
at the time Developer applies for such Construction Permits.

4.2 Permits & Building Fees.  Developer agrees and understands that all building 
permits, Development Fees, and other fees normally applicable to construction 
within the City at the time of application shall apply to the Project.  Denial of a 
Developer’s permit application for failure to meet the City’s building code 
requirements for such permit shall not be deemed a breach by the City of this 
Agreement.

5. DEVELOPER AND CITY OBLIGATIONS

5.1 Water and Sewer Infrastructure.  Due to the age and diameter of the existing 
potable water lines and sanitary sewer lines adjacent to the Property, the City is 
requiring the Developer to replace approximately 840 feet of waterline and sewer
line in Mikes Pike from Phoenix Avenue to Benton Avenue and upgrade the 
existing eight-inch (8”) diameter waterline to a ten-inch (10”) waterline and the
existing eight-inch (8”) diameter sewer line to a new PVC eight-inch (8”) diameter 
sewer line.  All work will be performed by the Developer or its designee.  
Developer shall procure all design and construction of the off-site potable water
line and sanitary sewer line improvements according to City of Flagstaff policies.  
City shall review all design and construction plans and approve of such plans 
before construction commences.  All bids for design, construction, or any other 
work covered by this Section shall be approved by the City Engineer.  The City 



5

agrees to pay for the cost of replacement of approximately 340 feet of potable water 
line for those portions of the line not directly adjacent to the Property and for the 
difference in material costs between an eight inch (8”) potable water line and a ten 
inch (10”) potable water line.  Upon completion and acceptance of the off-site 
potable water line and sanitary sewer line improvements, the City shall reimburse 
the Developer within 60 days of the Developer billing the City for the total costs 
incurred by the Developer for constructing the 340 foot portion of the potable water 
line and the upsizing of the waterline. The total cost of the City’s participation will 
be determined during Civil Improvement Plan review.  Prior to reimbursement, the 
Developer shall provide to the City legible copies of all receipts documenting the 
cost the potable water line design and construction. The Developer’s participation 
in the cost for the new water and sewer lines, as described in more detail above, is 
in addition to the Developer’s obligation to pay all fees and costs due to the City 
under the City Code and other laws and regulations.

6. DEVELOPER OBLIGATIONS

6.1 Management of the Project.

6.1.1 The Developer agrees to implement and maintain a management plan
establishing management practices at the Project that are designed to 
facilitate the operation and maintenance of the Project as an apartment 
project. The management plan shall be prepared in accordance with 
industry standards and shall include, without limitation, the following 
provisions: 1) a manager who will be available twenty-four hours, 
seven-days a week (24/7); 2) at least one on-site staff member who will be 
available twenty-four hours, seven-days a week (24/7), for as long as the 
Project is marketed and operated as a student-housing development; 3) 
repair and maintenance of adjacent sidewalks, civic spaces, and open 
spaces; 4) regular sweeping and removing of trash and debris from access 
ways and common areas in and around the Project; 5) regular maintenance 
of any drainage and landscaped areas; and 6) maintaining and repairing all 
lighting fixtures located within and around the Project.

6.1.2 The Developer agrees to provide contact information for the Developer and 
the local manager on its Project web site, including a local Flagstaff 
telephone number or toll-free telephone number, so the City and third 
parties may contact the Developer and such manager regarding matters 
concerning the operation and maintenance of the Project.

6.1.3 The Developer agrees to structure its rental agreements for the Project on a 
per unit basis (i.e., one (1) agreement per dwelling unit), unless and until a 
conditional use permit for rooming and boarding is obtained or the 
requirement is removed from the Zoning Code.



6

6.1.4 The Developer agrees to implement and maintain rules and regulations 
(“Rules and Regulations”) that will govern the Project and be included in 
each lease agreement in order to regulate resident conduct, safety and 
security, and help maintain an optimal living environment for all residents 
of the Project. The Rules and Regulations shall address, without limitation, 
the following areas: prohibition of illegal use of alcohol, drugs, and 
controlled substances; prohibition of criminal and illegal activity; 
prohibition of firearms, weapons, and other dangerous materials; fire safety 
and alarm equipment; guest policies; pet and animal policies; personal 
safety; parking; building security and access; and standards for 
maintenance of leased units and keeping the Project in good, clean, and 
sanitary condition. The Developer further agrees to use commercially 
reasonable efforts to enforce the Rules and Regulations, which may include
assessing fines against tenants of the Project for any violation of the Rules 
and Regulations, requiring payments by tenants for costs incurred to cure 
violations, and pursuing eviction and early lease termination remedies 
where appropriate.

6.1.5 If requested by the City, the Developer will provide a copy of  the Rules and 
Regulations to the City’s Community Development Director to demonstrate 
compliance with Section 6.1.4 above. 

6.1.6 The foregoing requirements outlined in this Section shall be applicable to 
the Developer and its successors and assigns, as applicable, during their 
ownership of the Project.

6.2 Crime Free Multi-Housing Program. The Developer agrees to participate in the 
City of Flagstaff Police Department’s Crime Free Multi-Housing Program
(CFMHP).  Prior to submitting an application for any Construction Permit, 
excluding demolition permits, grading permits on-site utility permits and 
foundation permits, the Developer shall schedule a meeting with the City of 
Flagstaff Police Department’s CFMHP representative to review the proposed 
building plans as they relate to compliance with CFMHP.

6.3 Traffic Mitigation. Prior to the issuance of any Construction Permits for the 
Project, the Developer shall, in accordance with the City Traffic Impact Analysis 
Review Memorandum dated December 11, 2015 (Exhibit C), perform the 
following:

6.3.1 Make a payment to the City in the amount of $200,000, which represents 
fifty percent (50%) of the City’s estimated cost of constructing a new 
four-leg traffic signal at the intersection of San Francisco Street and 
Franklin Avenue.  Any monies paid by the Developer shall be placed by the 
City in a designated account to be used solely for the design and 
construction of the future signal.



7

6.3.2 Make a payment to the City in the amount of $100,000, which represents 
fifty percent (50%) of the City’s estimated cost of upgrading the existing 
signalized pedestrian crossing generally located at the intersection of Butler 
Avenue and Humphreys Street.  Any monies paid by the Developer shall be 
placed by the City in a designated account to be used solely for the design 
and construction of upgrading the existing pedestrian signal.

6.3.3 Demonstrate improved site visibility triangles and reduce pedestrian 
crossing distances, by designing curb extensions at the site driveway of the 
Mikes Pike Street and Cottage Avenue intersection and the northwest 
corner of the intersection of Mikes Pike Street and Phoenix Avenue.
Construction of such improvements shall be completed in sequential order 
of normal construction sequences and, in any case, prior to the issuance of a 
final Certificate of Occupancy for the Project.

6.3.4 Design a striping plan for San Francisco Street south of Butler Avenue to 
accommodate a 193 foot queue length, which will provide additional 
stacking in the northbound left and through lanes. Construction of such 
improvements shall be completed by Developer in sequential order of 
normal construction sequences and, in any case, prior to the issuance of a 
final Certificate of Occupancy for the Project.

6.3.5 Dedicate a 10.9-feet portion of the Property for Right-of-Way along Milton 
Road to accommodate the future construction of a northbound right turn 
lane off of Milton Road onto eastbound Phoenix Avenue.

6.4 Parking.  The Developer acknowledges and agrees that it shall provide not fewer 
than 231 onsite parking spaces (27 street parking spaces and 204 garage parking 
spaces) in order to satisfy the City's parking requirements with respect to the 
Project.  In addition, within ninety (90) days of the City issuing a grading permit for 
the project, Developer shall remit to the City an amount equal to $500,000.00 as a 
contribution toward the City's parking solutions for the Southside. [Developer is 
proposing this payment as an alternative to condition number six (6) in 
Ordinance 2016-08.]

6.5 Construction of Public and Other Related Improvements.  Prior to the issuance of a 
Construction Permit for improvements in relation to the Project in any City 
right-of-way, the Developer shall deliver to Escrow Agent an irrevocable standby 
letter of credit ("Letter of Credit"), in an amount to be determined by the City based 
on the civil improvement plans for the improvements and in accordance with 
section 10-20.100.040(B) of the Zoning Code, to provide security for the 
construction and completion of the public and other related improvements 
contemplated by this Agreement and in accordance with approved plans.
Developer shall, at its sole cost and expense, construct or cause to be constructed 
the public and other related improvements contemplated by this Agreement in 
material compliance with the City’s codes, ordinances and this Agreement.  



8

Following construction of the described public improvements and acceptance of 
the improvements by the City Engineer, the City shall assume, at its sole expense, 
the maintenance and repairs of all public improvements in accordance with City 
policies.  The Developer, to the extent required by City regulation, warrants 
construction of such public improvements for one-year following acceptance by the 
City.

6.6 Water and Sewer. Water and sewer infrastructure shall be designed, extended, and 
upgraded by the Developer at the Developer’s sole cost and expense, unless 
otherwise stated in this Agreement, in accordance with the approved HUB on 
CAMPUS Water & Sewer Impact Analysis, sealed May 5, 2015, and the 2012 City 
of Flagstaff Engineering and Design Standards. Construction of the water and 
sewer infrastructure improvements shall be completed by Developer in sequential 
order of normal construction sequences.

6.7 Stormwater.  Stormwater infrastructure must be designed and extended by the 
Developer at the Developer’s cost, in accordance with the approved Drainage 
Impact Analysis for The Hub on Campus Flagstaff, dated June 1, 2015, and the 
approved Preliminary Drainage Report for The Hub on Campus Flagstaff, dated 
June 1, 2015. Construction of the stormwater improvements shall be completed by 
Developer in sequential order of normal construction sequences. The on-site 
stormwater improvements will remain private and not be accepted or maintained by 
the City.

6.8 Cultural Resources.  In accordance with the Cultural Resource Study prepared by 
the Developer and approved by the City Heritage Preservation Commission, prior 
to commencement of construction of the Project, the Developer will permit the 
relocation of the structure currently located at 17 South Mikes Pike, Coconino 
County Assessor Parcel Number 100-39-009, to 23 South Agassiz Street, Coconino 
County Assessor Parcel Number 104-01-080D. Understanding the complexities 
involved in relocating structures, however, the City acknowledges and agrees that 
in the event such structure is not relocated for any reason, Developer shall not be 
deemed to be in default under this Agreement.

6.9 Zoning. The Developer hereby agrees to be subject to all of the terms, conditions, 
and stipulations of City Ordinance No. 2016-08, attached hereto as Exhibit D and 
incorporated herein by this reference.

6.10 Transect Zoning Election. The Developer hereby agrees to opt into and comply 
with the applicable Transect Zone standards assigned to the Property through the 
City of Flagstaff Official Downtown Regulating Plan, as amended by City 
Ordinance No. 2016-08, through the execution and recordation of the Transect 
Form, attached hereto as Exhibit E.

7. DEFAULT; REMEDIES



9

7.1 Events Constituting Default. A party hereunder shall be deemed to be in default 
under this Agreement if such party breaches any obligation required to be 
performed by the respective party hereunder within any time period required for 
such performance and such breach or default continues for a period of thirty (30)
days after written notice thereof from the party not in default hereunder; provided, 
however, that in the event that any such breach or default cannot be cured within 
said thirty (30) day period, then the breaching party shall not be deemed to be in 
default hereunder so long as the breaching party commences to cure such breach or 
default within said thirty (30) day period and thereafter diligently and continuously 
pursues such cure to completion. Party in breach is responsible for providing 
evidence of diligence and continuous pursuit of the cure. Failure to provide such 
evidence shall result in a rebuttable presumption of failure to pursure the cure. For 
purposes of determining default and termination, those Developer obligations set 
forth in the Agreement are severable, and each individual obligation shall terminate 
upon its completion. 

7.2 Developer’s Remedies. In the event that the City is in default under this Agreement 
and fails to cure any such default within the cure period described in Section 7.1
above, then, in that event, in addition to all other legal and equitable remedies that 
the Developer may have, the Developer may terminate this Agreement by written 
notice delivered to the City.

7.3 City’s Remedies. In the event that the Developer is in default under this Agreement, 
and the Developer thereafter fails to cure any such default within the cure period 
described in Section 7.1 above, then, in that event, in addition to all other legal and 
equitable remedies that the City may have, the City may do any of the following: 1) 
terminate this Agreement by written notice delivered to the Developer; 2) withhold 
all permits or other approvals that would otherwise be required to be issued under 
this Agreement or by law.

7.4 Development Rights in the Event of Termination.  With the exception of a 
termination that occurs under Section 7.2 above, upon the termination of this 
Agreement as provided herein, the Developer shall have no further rights to 
develop the Project pursuant to the terms of this Agreement.

7.5 No Personal Liability. No current or former member, official or employee of the 
City or Developer when acting within the scope of their official capacity shall be 
personally liable (a) in the event of any default or breach by the City or Developer, 
as applicable; (b) for any amount which may become due to the nonbreaching party 
or its successor or assign; or (c) pursuant to any obligation of the City or Developer, 
as applicable, under the terms of this Agreement.

7.6 Liability and Indemnification. Developer agrees to indemnify, defend, save, and 
hold harmless the City, its officers, officials, agents, and employees from and 
against any and all claims, demands, actions, liabilities, damages, losses, or 
expenses, including court costs, attorney’s fees, and costs of claim processing, 



10

investigation and litigation (hereinafter collectively referred to as “Claims”) that 
arise out of any actual or alleged injury caused or alleged to have been caused, in 
whole or in part, by the acts, errors, omissions, or negligence of the Developer or 
any of Developer’s directors, officers, agents, employees, or volunteers in 
connection with or incident to the performance of this Agreement by the Developer 
or nonperformance of this Agreement by the Developer. This indemnity provision 
shall survive the termination, cancellation, or revocation, whether in whole or in 
part, of this Agreement.

8. GENERAL PROVISIONS

8.1 Effective Date. This Agreement shall be effective upon execution by the Parties 
hereto, recordation in accordance with A.R.S. § 9-500.05 (as amended), and upon 
expiration of thirty (30) days following the approval hereof by the City (the 
“Effective Date”). However, in the event that the approval is delayed in its effect 
by judicial challenge, or by referendum or injunction, the effective date of this 
Agreement shall be delayed until resolution or termination of such judicial 
challenge, referendum or injunction.  In the event of judicial challenge, referendum 
or injunction by any person or entity resulting in a delay in the effect of this 
Agreement that extends for a period of more than ninety (90) days following its 
approval by the City Council, this Agreement shall be terminable by Developer 
upon written notice to the City in accordance with this Agreement at any time 
within an additional sixty (60) days.  Upon termination, this Agreement shall be of 
no further force or effect, and neither party shall have any further obligation 
hereunder.  Any delay relative to the effective date of this Agreement by judicial 
challenge, referendum or injunction filed by parties acting independently of and not 
under the control of the City shall not be deemed a default hereunder by the City. 

8.2 Term. The term of this Agreement shall extend from the Effective Date of this 
Agreement and shall automatically terminate upon the complete build out of the 
Project unless previously terminated pursuant to the terms of this Agreement.
However, the provisions set forth in Section 6.1 above and associated subsections 
shall continue in full force and effect.

8.3 Notices.  Unless otherwise specifically provided herein, all notices, demands, or 
other communications given hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed to 
have been duly delivered upon personal delivery or as of the third business day 
after mailing by the United States mail, postage prepaid, by registered or certified 
mail, return receipt requested, addressed as follows:

To City: City of Flagstaff
Attn: City Manager
211 West Aspen Avenue
Flagstaff, AZ 86001

Copy To: City of Flagstaff



11

Attn: City Attorney
211 West Aspen Avenue
Flagstaff, AZ  86001

To Developer: Core Campus Flagstaff LLC
Attn: Marc Lifshin
2234 West North Avenue
Chicago, IL 60647

Copy To: Gammage and Burnham
Attn: Lindsay C. Schube
2 N. Central Ave., 15th Floor 
Phoenix, AZ  85004

Notice of address may be changed by either party by giving notice to the other 
party in writing of change of address. Any such change of address notice shall be 
given at least ten (10) days before the date on which the change is to become 
effective.  Notices given by mail shall be deemed delivered 72 hours following 
deposit in the United States Postal Service in the manner set forth above.

8.4 Waiver.  No delay in exercising any right or remedy shall constitute a waiver 
thereof, and no waiver by the parties of the breach of any provision of this 
Agreement shall be construed as a waiver of any preceding or succeeding breach of 
the same or of any other provision of this Agreement.

8.5 Headings.  The descriptive headings of the paragraphs of this Agreement are 
inserted for convenience only, and shall not control or affect the meaning or 
construction of any of the provisions of the Agreement.

8.6 Authority.  The undersigned represent to each other that they have full power and 
authority to enter into this Agreement, and that all necessary actions have been 
taken to give full force and effect to this Agreement.  The Developer represents and 
warrants that it is duly formed and validly existing under the laws of the State of 
Delaware and that it is duly qualified to do business in the State of Arizona and is in 
good standing under applicable state laws.  The Developer and the City warrant to 
each other that the individuals executing this Agreement on behalf of their 
respective parties are authorized and empowered to bind the party on whose behalf 
each individual is signing.  The Developer warrants and represents to the City that 
by entering into this Agreement, the Developer has bound the Property and all 
persons and entities having any legal or equitable interest therein to the terms of the 
Agreement.

8.7 Entire Agreement.  This Agreement, including the following exhibits which are 
incorporated in this Agreement by reference, constitutes the entire agreement 
between the Parties and supersedes any prior written or oral understandings or 
agreements between the parties.  This provision applies only to the entirety of this 



12

Agreement; additional and separate zoning stipulations and agreements with the 
City may apply to the Property, and this provision has no effect on them.

Exhibit A Legal Description of Property
Exhibit B Site Plans
Exhibit C Traffic Impact Analysis Review Memorandum dated 

December 11, 2015
Exhibit D Ordinance No. 2016-08
Exhibit E Transect Zone Form

8.8 Amendment of the Agreement.  This Agreement may be amended at any time by 
written amendment executed by both Parties; all amendments shall be recorded in 
the official records of Coconino County, Arizona within ten (10) days following the 
execution thereof.

8.9 Severability.  In the event that any phrase, clause, sentence, paragraph, section, 
article, or other portion of this Agreement shall become illegal, null or void or 
against public policy, for any reason, or shall be held by any court of competent 
jurisdiction to be illegal, null or void or against public policy, the remaining 
portions of this Agreement shall not be affected thereby and shall remain in force 
and effect, to the extent that the intent of the Parties to develop the Project is still 
viable.

8.10 Governing Law.  The laws of the State of Arizona shall govern the interpretation 
and enforcement of this Agreement.  This Agreement has been made and entered 
into in Coconino County, Arizona. 

8.11 Recordation of Agreement and Subsequent Amendment; Cancellation.  The City 
will record this Agreement, and any amendment or cancellation of it, in the official 
records of the Coconino County Recorder no later than ten (10) days after the City 
and the Developer execute the Agreement, amendment, or cancellation, as required 
by A.R.S. § 9-500.05.

8.12 No Partnership.  The Parties specifically acknowledge that the Project will be 
developed as private property, that neither party is acting as the agent of the other in 
any respect hereunder, and that each party is an independent contracting entity with 
respect to the terms, covenants, and conditions contained in this Agreement.  None 
of the terms or provisions of this Agreement shall be deemed to create a partnership 
between or among the Parties, nor shall it cause them to be considered a joint 
venture or members of any joint enterprise.

8.13 Conflict of Interest.    This Agreement is subject to the cancellation provisions of 
A.R.S. § 38-511.

8.14 Compliance with All Laws.  Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, 
the Developer will comply with all applicable Federal, State, and County laws, as 



13

well as with all applicable City ordinances, regulations and policies, in connection 
with its performance of this Agreement.

8.15 Successors and Assigns. This Agreement shall run with the land and all of the 
covenants and conditions set forth herein shall inure to the benefit of and shall be 
binding upon the successors in interest of each of the Parties hereto.  Specifically, 
each successor owner of any portion of the Property is responsible for fulfilling all 
Developer responsibilities with respect to that portion.  Obligations accruing after a 
transfer of ownership will not be deemed to be an obligation of the transferor, 
though no transfer will relieve a transferor of any obligation that accrued prior to 
the transfer.

8.15.1 Assignment. Developer’s rights and obligations hereunder may be assigned 
to a person or entity that has acquired all of the Property or any portion 
thereof pursuant to a written instrument, recorded in the Official Records of 
Coconino County, Arizona, expressly assigning such rights and obligations.  
Developer agrees to provide the City notice of any proposed assignment at 
least thirty (30) days prior to the assignment being finalized. The notice 
must identify the assignee, the assignee’s contact information, and the 
effective date of the assignment. City will require each successor to post 
adequate assurances and/or enter into the appropriate assurances 
agreements to ensure construction of Improvements before consenting to 
the assignment.  Nothing in this Agreement shall operate to restrict 
Developer’s ability to assign less than all of its right and obligations under 
this Agreement to those entities that acquire any portion of the Property.

8.16 Consistent with General Plan and Specific Plan.  All development on the Property 
shall be consistent with the Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030, ratified May 2014, as 
required by A.R.S. § 9-500.05(B).

8.17 Construction of Agreement. This Agreement has been arrived at by negotiation 
and shall not be construed against either Party.

8.18 Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts, each of 
which shall constitute an original, but all of which together shall constitute but one 
and the same instrument.  The signature pages from one or more counterparts may 
be removed from such counterparts and such signature pages all attached to a single 
instrument so that the signatures of all Parties may be physically attached to a 
single document.

8.19 No Third Party Beneficiaries. The City and Developer acknowledge and agree that 
the terms, provisions, and conditions hereof are for the sole benefit of, and may be 
enforceable solely by, the City and Developer; and none of these terms, provisions, 
conditions, and obligations are for the benefit of or may be enforced by any third 
party.



14

9. WAIVER OF CLAIMS FOR DIMINUTION IN VALUE.

9.1 Waiver. Upon the City's approval and recordation of the zoning applicable to the 
Property described in Section 6.8 above, the Developer hereby waives and fully releases 
the City from any and all financial or other loss, injury, claims, and causes of action that the 
Developer may have, now or in the future, for any compensation, “diminution in value”,
“just compensation”, or any other amount or remedy under the Private Property Rights 
Protection Act, codified in A.R.S §§ 12-1131 through 12-1138, the takings clauses in 
Article 2 Section 17 the Arizona Constitution and the Fifth Amendment to the United 
States Constitution, or any other statutes, regulations, laws, or legal doctrines (referred to 
collectively as the “Property Value Laws”) because of this Agreement or the zoning 
amendments requested by Developer and approved by Ordinance Number 2016-08.  This 
waiver constitutes a complete release of any and all claims and causes of action that may 
arise or could have been asserted under the Property Value Laws with regard to the 
Property. The Developer agrees to indemnify, hold harmless, and defend the City, its 
officers, employees, and agents, from any and all claims, causes of actions, demands, 
losses, and expenses, including attorney’s fees and litigation costs, that may be asserted by 
or may result from any of the present or future owners of any interest in the Property 
seeking potential compensation, damages, attorney’s fees, or costs under the Property 
Value Laws because of this Agreement or the zoning amendments requested by Developer 
and approved by Ordinance Number 2016-08.



15

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City has caused this Agreement to be duly executed in its 
name and on its behalf by its Mayor and its seal to be hereunder duly affixed and attested by its 
City Clerk, and Developer has signed the same on or as of the day and year first above written.

City of Flagstaff Core Campus Flagstaff LLC,
a Delaware limited liability company

Gerald W. Nabours, Mayor

Attest:

By: ______________________________

Name:____________________________

Title:_____________________________

City Clerk

Approved as to form and authority:

City Attorney

STATE OF DELAWARE )
COUNTY OF ___________ )

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

On this __________ day of ____________________, 2016, before me, a Notary Public, 
personally appeared ________________________, known to be or satisfactorily proven to be the 
person whose name is subscribed to the foregoing instrument and acknowledged that _he executed 
the same on behalf of The Standard at Flagstaff, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, for
the purposes therein contained.

Notary Public
My Commission Expires:



Exhibit “A”

Legal Description of the Property



Exhibit “B”

Site Plan



Exhibit “C”

Traffic Impact Analysis Review Memorandum dated December 11, 2015



Exhibit “D”

Ordinance No. 2016-08



Exhibit “E”

Transect Zone Form



  14. C. 1.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT
To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Tiffany Antol, Planning Development
Manager

Date: 03/16/2016

Meeting
Date:

03/22/2016

TITLE: 
Public Hearing, Consideration and Possible Adoption of Resolution No. 2016-08:  A
resolution amending the Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 to change the area type designation on Maps 21
and 22 from Area in White area type to Existing Suburban area type for approximately 6.31 acres located
at 1800 N. Gemini Drive. (McMillan Mesa minor Regional Plan Amendment)

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
1) Hold Public Hearing
2) Read Resolution No.2016-08 by title only
3) City Clerk reads Resolution No. 2016-08 by title only (if approved above)
4) Adopt Resolution No. 2016-08 

Executive Summary:
A minor Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 Amendment request by MMV Devco, LLC to change the area type
designation on Map 21 and 22 from Area in White area type to Existing Suburban area type for
approximately 6.31 acres located at 1800 N. Gemini Drive.

Financial Impact:
None

Connection to Council Goal and/or Regional Plan:
COUNCIL GOALS:
1. Provide sustainable and equitable public facilities, services, and infrastructure systems in an efficient
and effective manner to serve all population areas and demographics 
2.  Provide a well-managed transportation system
3. Continue to implement the Flagstaff Regional Plan and focus efforts on specific plans

REGIONAL PLAN:
Goal E.1. Increase energy efficiency.
Goal E&C.2. Reduce greenhouse gas emissions.
Goal E&C.6. Protect, restore, and improve ecosystem health and maintain native plant
and animal community diversity across all land ownerships in the Flagstaff region.
Goal E&C.10. Protect indigenous wildlife populations, localized and larger-scale wildlife
habitats, ecosystem processes, and wildlife movement areas throughout the planning area.
Goal WR.4. Logically enhance and extend the City’s public water, wastewater, and reclaimed
water services including their treatment, distribution, and collection systems in both urbanized



water services including their treatment, distribution, and collection systems in both urbanized
and newly developed areas of the City to provide an efficient delivery of services.

Goal WR.5. Manage watersheds and stormwater to address flooding concerns, water
quality, environmental protections, and rainwater harvesting.
Goal WR.6. Protect, preserve, and improve the quality of surface water, groundwater,
and reclaimed water in the region.
Goal CC.1. Reflect and respect the region’s natural setting and dramatic views in the built environment.

Goal CC.4. Design and develop all projects to be contextually sensitive, to enhance a positive image and
identity
for the region.
Goal LU.1. Invest in existing neighborhoods and activity centers for the purpose of developing complete,
and connected places.
Goal ED.9. Promote redevelopment and infill.
Goal LU.4. Balance housing and employment land uses with the preservation and protection of our
unique natural and cultural setting.

Goal LU.5. Encourage compact development principles to achieve efficiencies and open space
preservation.
Goal LU.6. Provide for a mix of land uses.
Goal LU.13. Increase the variety of housing options and expand opportunities for employment and
neighborhood shopping within all suburban neighborhoods.

Goal T.1. Improve mobility and access throughout the region. 

Has There Been Previous Council Decision on This:
The McMillan Mesa Village Specific Plan and subsequent zoning was adopted by Ordinance on
December 15, 1992.  The McMillan Mesa Village Subdivision developed in compliance with the McMillan
mesa Village Specific Plan was recorded on May 30, 2008.
  



Options and Alternatives:
Options and Alternatives:
1.  Approve the resolution
2.  Approve the resolution with conditions
3.  Deny the resolution 

Background/History:
This request is the first of three related items on the Council's agenda; the second item is identified as a
Specific Plan amendment request and the third item is a Concept Zoning Map Amendment request.

MMV Devco, LLC, (the “Applicant”) is requesting a minor Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 (FRP 2030)
amendment to ensure conformance with a proposed Concept Zoning Map Amendment to allow for future
residential development. The Concept Zoning Map Amendment includes a total of 26.17 acres. The
proposed amendment to the FRP 2030 will affect approximately 6.31 acres of land depicted on the
Future Growth Illustration (Maps 21 and 22). The remaining 19.86 acres included in the Concept Zoning
Map Amendment are designated Existing Suburban and Future Employment, thus that area is not part of
this amendment. Properties with both existing and future area types may use either area type to analyze
plan consistency. The subject site is Lot D3 of the McMillan Mesa Village Subdivision (the “Property”) and
is located on the south side of N Gemini Drive between N Pinecliff Drive and E Forest Avenue.

A Regional Plan Amendment is required for expanding or changing the boundaries of one area type to
another area type. The table describing the “Proposed Regional Plan Amendment Processes” is silent on
how to process a plan amendment for some area types including Area in White. The Comprehensive
Planning Manager has made an interpretation that if the change being requested for an area type is not
shown on the table on page III-9, then the amendment will be considered a minor amendment unless it
falls into the defined major amendment category.

The Property is lot D3 of the McMillan Mesa Village Subdivision recorded May 30, 2008. The subdivision
was approved in compliance with the McMillan Mesa Village Specific Plan, adopted by Ordinance on
December 15, 1992. The McMillan Mesa Village Specific Plan establishes the type, location, intensity,
and character of development and the required infrastructure. The plan also shapes development to
respond to the physical constraints of the site, coordinates the mix of land use densities/intensities, and
provides adequate circulation, open space, recreation and other public uses and facilities. The
subdivision included the following infrastructure development: the construction of Gemini Drive, Pine Cliff
Drive, improvements to Turquoise Drive, on-site as well as off-site public water and sewer lines, future
water storage requirements, drainage improvements, and Flagstaff Urban Trail System (FUTS) trails. The
Property is currently designated for business park uses within the specific plan and is included in the
Concept Zoning Map and Specific Plan Amendment requests being heard concurrent with this request.

Key Considerations:
As discussed in the “How This Plan Works” chapter (page III-4), the Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 is used
in the regulatory decision-making process by the Planning & Zoning Commission, City Council and City
staff. The Commission and the Council are responsible for making development decisions such as
zoning map amendments or specific plan amendments, which depends on whether the proposed
changes or projects are consistent with the Plan’s goals and policies. The Future Growth Illustration on
Maps 21 and 22 (same map; one is regional scale and one city scale) and the text of the Plan will provide
supplemental information for the interpretation of goals and policies. In case of any conflict between the
Future Growth Illustration and the Plan’s goals and policies, the goals and policies will prevail.

The Future Growth Illustration has two types of land use designations: “Area Types” describe the
placemaking context of Urban, Suburban, Rural, or Employment and “Place Types” such as activity
centers, corridors and neighborhoods provide the framework for the density, intensities, and mix of uses



within the area types. This application proposes to change the area type of “Areas in white retain their
existing entitlements” but not the place type for this project. “Areas in white retain their existing
entitlements” is used to describe areas that have not been assigned an area type. In most cases, these
parcels are public lands held by the Forest Service or City. The Comprehensive Planning Manager has
made the interpretation that the surrounding area types on Maps 21 and 22 should be taken into account
for consistency. In cases where a parcel is adjacent to more than one area type, either could be
extended to the property. With this request the existing “Area in White” will, if approved, be assigned the
Existing Suburban area type.

Attached are exhibits comparing the existing Future Growth Illustration map to the proposed Future
Growth Illustration map. These maps and any applicable text of the FRP 2030 should be considered in
the context of the Plan’s goals and policies. A discussion of the FRP 2030 goals and policies including
Environmental Planning & Conservation, Water Resources, Community Character, Growth Areas and
Land Use, Transportation, is provided below. A complete analysis of applicable goals and policies is
included in the attached narrative prepared by the Applicant.

The Applicant’s stated reason for the request is that the subject parcel is better suited for a residential
type of land use enabling quality development that does not cannibalize on nearby similar sites, such as
the Business Incubator site located directly to the north. This site has been determined to be one of the
least likely to develop under the existing business park land use designation. The Applicant proposes a
variety of residential opportunities and a larger consumer base for existing commercial and business use
areas.

On February 10, 2016 the Planning & Zoning Commission concluded their review of the proposed minor
Regional Plan Amendment with a recommendation for Approval, by a unanimous vote.
  



Community Benefits and Considerations:
Community benefits and considerations related to this minor Regional Plan Amendment request are
addressed in the attached Planning and Zoning Commission staff report dated January 27, 2016.

Community Involvement:
Inform, Consult, Involve, Collaborate, Empower

Public hearings before the Planning and Zoning Commission and the City Council are conducted in
conjunction with any Regional Plan amendment request.  In accordance with Arizona Revised Statue
and City Code, notice of the public hearing must be provided by placing an ad in a newspaper of general
circulation within the City, posting a notice on the property subject to the proposed amendment, and
mailing a notice to all property owners within 300-feet of the property subject to the proposed
amendment.  All notification must be completed at least 15-days prior to the first scheduled public
hearing.  In order to notice as many people as possible, staff ensured that a notice was mailed to all
property owners within 600-feet of the McMillan Mesa Specific Plan boundaries and all parties on the
Registry of Person or Groups.

The applicant held two neighborhood meetings in regards to this request. The first meeting was held
March 24, 2015 prior to the official submittal of these applications. The meeting was held at Basis School
and was attended by 32 interested citizens. Concerns were presented in regards to increased traffic,
project design, stormwater management, public transportation, dark skies, and overall project design. A
second meeting was held January 13, 2016 at the Aquaplex with 55 citizens in attendance. A
presentation on the project was given along with a handout that described the request. The overall
concern presented for any further development on McMillan Mesa is the state of the traffic as it exists
today. Input was received from some that commercial development is the preferred use in order to bring
more high paying jobs to Flagstaff, concerns about invasive weeds, and concerns about the designs of
the structures. Four comment cards were received which focused on open space, traffic, viewsheds,
fewer impacts with commercial development, and whether or not there is a need for more development.
As of the writing of the this report staff has received six emails in regards to this case, which are attached
to the specific plan and concept zoning map amendment staff report.

Attachments:  P&Z Staff Report
Regional Plan Amendment Application
McMillan Mesa Village Narrative
Future Growth Illustration-Existing
Future Growth Illustration - Proposed
Res. 2016-08



PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT
FLAGSTAFF REGIONAL PLAN 2030 AMENDMENT

PUBLIC HEARING DATE: January 15, 2016
PZ-15-00022-02 MEETING DATE: January 27, 2016

REPORT BY: Tiffany Antol, AICP

REQUEST:

A minor Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 amendment request by MMV Devco, LLC to change the area type designation
on Map 21 and 22 from Area in White to Existing Suburban for approximately 6.31 acres located at 1800 N. Gemini 
Drive.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:

Staff recommends the Planning and Zoning Commission forward the minor Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 amendment
to the City Council with a recommendation for approval.

PRESENT LAND USE:

Undeveloped land in the Area in White “area type” category.

PROPOSED LAND USE:

Existing Suburban area type, which would accommodate the development of a proposed residential project.

NEIGHBORHOOD DEVELOPMENT:

North: Vacant land, Existing Suburban and Future Employment regional plan area types;
East: Vacant land, Area in White area type;
South: Vacant land, Existing Suburban area type; 
West: Flagstaff Basis Charter School, Existing Suburban area type.

REQUIRED FINDINGS:

The Planning and Zoning Commission shall find that the proposed Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 (the “Plan”) 
amendment meets the requirements of the General Plan and Subdivision Code (City Code Title 11).

In considering the request for an amendment to the Plan, the goals and policies should be considered to ensure that the 
requested change to the Future Growth Illustration is in conformance with the overall vision.  “The Flagstaff Regional 
Plan establishes the vision for the future growth and development of Flagstaff and its surrounding area through goals 
and policies” (p. III-4).  “General plans are not static documents; they recognize growth as a dynamic process, which 
may require revisions to the plan as circumstances or changes warrant” (p. III-1).

STAFF REVIEW:

Introduction/Background Discussion

This request is the first of three related items on the Commission’s agenda; the second item is identified as a Specific 
Plan amendment request and the third item is a Concept Zoning Map Amendment request.

MMV Devco, LLC, (the “Applicant”) is requesting a minor Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 (FRP 2030) amendment to 
ensure conformance with a proposed Concept Zoning Map Amendment to allow for future residential development.  
The Concept Zoning Map Amendment includes a total of 26.17 acres.  The proposed amendment to the FRP 2030 will 



PZ-15-00022-02
January 27, 2016

2

affect approximately 6.31 acres of land depicted on the Future Growth Illustration (Maps 21 and 22).  The remaining 
19.86 acres included in the Concept Zoning Map Amendment are designated Existing Suburban and Future 
Employment, thus that area is not part of this amendment. Properties with both existing and future area types may use 
either area type to analyze plan consistency.  The subject site is Lot D3 of the McMillan Mesa Village Subdivision (the 
“Property”) and is located on the south side of N Gemini Drive between N Pinecliff Drive and E Forest Avenue. 

A Regional Plan Amendment is required for expanding or changing the boundaries of one area type to another area 
type.  The table describing the “Proposed Regional Plan Amendment Processes” is silent on how to process a plan 
amendment for some area types including Area in White.  The Comprehensive Planning Manager has made an 
interpretation that if the change being requested for an area type is not shown on the table on page III-9, then the 
amendment will be considered a minor amendment unless it falls into the defined major amendment category.   

As stated previously the Property is lot D3 of the McMillan Mesa Village Subdivision recorded May 30, 2008.  The 
subdivision was approved in compliance with the McMillan Mesa Village Specific Plan, adopted by Ordinance on 
December 15, 1992.  The McMillan Mesa Village Specific Plan establishes the type, location, intensity, and character 
of development and the required infrastructure.  The plan also shapes development to respond to the physical 
constraints of the site, coordinates the mix of land use densities/intensities, and provides adequate circulation, open 
space, recreation and other public uses and facilities.  The subdivision included the following infrastructure 
development: the construction of Gemini Drive, Pine Cliff Drive, improvements to Turquoise Drive, on-site as well as 
off-site public water and sewer lines, future water storage requirements, drainage improvements, and Flagstaff Urban 
Trail System (FUTS) trails. The Property is currently designated for business park uses within the specific plan and is 
included in the Concept Zoning Map and Specific Plan Amendment requests being heard concurrent with this request.

Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 Amendment Request

As discussed in the “How This Plan Works” chapter (page III-4), the Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 is used in the 
regulatory decision-making process by the Planning & Zoning Commission, City Council and City staff.  The 
Commission and the Council are responsible for making development decisions such as zoning map amendments or 
specific plan amendments, which depends on whether the proposed changes or projects are consistent with the Plan’s 
goals and policies.  The Future Growth Illustration on Maps 21 and 22 (same map; one is regional scale and one city
scale) and the text of the Plan will provide supplemental information for the interpretation of goals and policies.  In 
case of any conflict between the Future Growth Illustration and the Plan’s goals and policies, the goals and policies 
will prevail.  

The Future Growth Illustration has two types of land use designations: “Area Types” describe the placemaking context 
of Urban, Suburban, Rural, or Employment and “Place Types” such as activity centers, corridors and neighborhoods
provide the framework for the density, intensities, and mix of uses within the area types.  This application proposes to 
change the area type of “Areas in white retain their existing entitlements” but not the place type for this project.  
“Areas in white retain their existing entitlements” is used to describe areas that have not been assigned an area type.  In 
most cases, these parcels are public lands held by the Forest Service or City.  The Comprehensive Planning Manager 
has made the interpretation that the surrounding area types on Maps 21 and 22 should be taken into account for 
consistency.  In cases where a parcel is adjacent to more than one area type, either could be extended to the property.  
With this request the existing “Area in White” will, if approved, be assigned the Existing Suburban area type.

Attached are exhibits comparing the existing Future Growth Illustration map to the proposed Future Growth
Illustration map.  These maps and any applicable text of the FRP 2030 should be considered in the context of the 
Plan’s goals and policies.  A discussion of the FRP 2030 goals and policies including Environmental Planning & 
Conservation, Water Resources, Community Character, Growth Areas and Land Use, Transportation, is provided 
below.  A complete analysis of applicable goals and policies is included in the attached narrative prepared by the 
Applicant.

The Applicant’s stated reason for the request is that the subject parcel is better suited for a residential type of land use 
enabling quality development that does not cannibalize on nearby similar sites, such as the Business Incubator site 



PZ-15-00022-02
January 27, 2016

3

located directly to the north.  This site has been determined to be one of the least likely to develop under the existing 
business park land use designation.  The Applicant proposes a variety of residential opportunities and a larger 
consumer base for existing commercial and business use areas.

APPLICABLE GENERAL PLAN GOALS AND POLICIES 
Staff has identified the following Regional Plan Goals and Policies that could be applied to support or not 
support the proposed Specific Plan Amendment, Concept Zoning Map Amendment and Minor Region Plan 
Amendment.  The following Goals and Policies have been selected for further analysis based on feedback 
received from the community during the review of the associated site plan:

Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Energy Consumption
Goal E.1. Increase energy efficiency.

Policy E.1.5. Promote and encourage the expansion and use of energy-efficient
modes of transportation:

a. Public Transportation
b. Bicycles
c. Pedestrians

Goal E&C.2. Reduce greenhouse gas emissions.
Policy E&C.2.1. Encourage the reduction of all energy consumption, especially
fossil-fuel generated energy, in public, commercial, industrial, and residential sectors.

The McMillan Mesa subdivision and the Property are accessible to energy-efficient modes of transportation.  A regular 
transit route runs along E Forest Avenue and a diversion route during the school year runs along N Gemini Drive for 
drop off and pick up from Basis Charter School.  N Gemini Drive and N Pine Cliff were constructed with bike lanes 
and sidewalks.  Additionally, a network of FUTS trails that provide access to the many surrounding neighborhoods, 
schools, shopping centers, and open spaces that serve the area.  The centralized location of the Property and the variety 
of available transportation modes to and from the Property could reduce overall energy consumption for either 
residential or commercial uses.

Habitat Protection
Goal E&C.6. Protect, restore, and improve ecosystem health and maintain native plant
and animal community diversity across all land ownerships in the Flagstaff region.

Policy E&C.9.2. Construction projects employ strategies to minimize disturbed
area, soil compaction, soil erosion, and destruction of vegetation.

Goal E&C.10. Protect indigenous wildlife populations, localized and larger-scale wildlife
habitats, ecosystem processes, and wildlife movement areas throughout the planning area.

The McMillan Mesa subdivision was approved in conjunction with a Resource Protection Plan that preserves the steep 
slopes and forest resources within the area.  No resources were identified for protection on the Property as part of that 
plan.  The completion of the subdivision infrastructure and subsequent vacancy has established invasive weeds on the 
Property and the surrounding areas.  Staff will be recommending conditions of approval with the Concept Zoning Map 
Amendment to address the ongoing issues with invasive weeds. The site is not located within any identified wildlife 
corridors and the subject site is outside the grasslands and big tree designated areas as illustrated in Map 7: Significant 
Natural Resources. The Property is frequented by abundant wildlife; however, this property has become fragmented 
from the larger wildlife habitat and no longer provides a safe refuge.  It is anticipated that large mammals will 
discontinue the use of this area as development occurs. 

Water
Goal WR.4. Logically enhance and extend the City’s public water, wastewater, and reclaimed 
water services including their treatment, distribution, and collection systems in both urbanized
and newly developed areas of the City to provide an efficient delivery of services.

Policy WR.4.3. Development requiring public utility services will be located within



PZ-15-00022-02
January 27, 2016

4

the Urban Growth Boundary.

Per Map 21, the Property is located within the Urban Growth Boundary. The subdivision and the Property lie within 
two water pressure zones served by the City of Flagstaff.  The City required the subdivision to provide a looped 
connection to both pressure zones.  Pursuant to the current development agreement, the City is requiring the developer 
to construct a new water storage tank sized to meet the development’s average daily usage plus two-hour flow.  The 
developer is required to acquire the necessary land and construct and adequately sized storage tank at a high enough 
elevation to provide adequate pressure for the associated water lines.  The developer does have the option to use one of 
the City’s existing tank sites depending on available space.  The City may share in the cost of any excess storage tank 
capacity if this excess capacity is determined to be in City’s best interest. Because the subdivision did not exceed a 
demand of 800 single-family home usage threshold, there were no water production requirements.  The subdivision is 
not served by reclaimed water.

Water Quality
Goal WR.5. Manage watersheds and stormwater to address flooding concerns, water
quality, environmental protections, and rainwater harvesting.
Goal WR.6. Protect, preserve, and improve the quality of surface water, groundwater,
and reclaimed water in the region.

Policy WR.6.4. Encourage low-impact development practices.

The current proposal would take approximately 21.32 new acres out of commercial development design 
standards and replace it with medium density residential that allows for a maximum building coverage of 40% 
and a height restriction of 35 feet in addition to the reduction of density from an adjacent parcel.  The applicant 
has shown that these reductions in concert with low-impact development design required for each parcel, that 
the sub-regional basins will function more efficiently by reducing the impervious cover and decreasing the 
density of development.  The regional detention ponds have been built and it is anticipated that the ponds will be 
modified as needed for the actual development that occurs on each development area.  

Scenic Resources and Natural Setting
Goal CC.1. Reflect and respect the region’s natural setting and dramatic views in the built environment.

Policy CC.1.1.Preserve the natural character of the region through planning and design to maintain view of 
significant landmarks, sloping landforms, rock outcroppings, watercourses, floodplains, and meadows, and 
conserve stands of ponderosa pine.

Goal CC.4. Design and develop all projects to be contextually sensitive, to enhance a positive image and identity for 
the region.

While the Regional Plan does not identify specific viewshed corridors for protection, it is clear that this development 
could impact views to Mount Eldon and the San Francisco Peaks from existing residential neighborhoods.  The 
proposal to rezone this location from Research and Development to Medium Density Residential will reduce the 
allowed building height maximum from 60 feet to 35 feet. The applicant intends to develop the areas with structures 
that will be required to meet all of the City’s design standards including architecture that respects the traditions of the 
neighborhood and the natural environment.

Reinvestment
Goal LU.1. Invest in existing neighborhoods and activity centers for the purpose of developing complete, and 
connected places

Policy LU.1.1.Plan for and support reinvestment within the existing city centers and neighborhoods for 
increased employment and quality of life.
Policy LU.1.6. Establish greater flexibility in development standards and processes to assist developer in 
overcoming challenges posed by redevelopment and infill sites.
Policy LU.1.7. Consider creative policy and planning tools (such as transfer of develop rights or transfer of 
development obligations) as a means to incentive redevelopment and infill.



PZ-15-00022-02
January 27, 2016

5

Goal ED.9. Promote redevelopment and infill.
Goal LU.4. Balance housing and employment land uses with the preservation and protection of our unique natural and 
cultural setting.

Policy LU.4.1 Develop neighborhood plans, specific plans, area plans, and master plans for all neighborhood 
activity centers, corridors, and gateways as necessary.

The subject site is located within a subdivision developed with road and utility infrastructure and, for this reason, the 
proposed project is defined as infill development.  McMillian Mesa is a central neighborhood within the City of 
Flagstaff with convenient access to churches, schools, shopping and general commercial areas.  The Applicant believes 
that the existing zoning entitlements do not allow for development that is fully compatible with the surrounding 
neighborhood as the current proposal.  The applicant would like to emulate the characteristics of the neighborhood by 
reallocating existing development rights into this area. This neighborhood is part of an adopted specific plan that sets 
out development standards for providing a mix of housing and employment land uses.  A total of 42.94 acres of land 
will remain in the Research and Development zone, which is intended to be occupied by employment land uses.

Compact Development
Goal LU.5. Encourage compact development principles to achieve efficiencies and open space preservation.

Policy LU.5.2. Promote infill development over peripheral expansion to conserve
environmental resources, spur economic investments, and reduce the cost of
providing infrastructure and services.
Policy LU.5.3. Promote compact development appropriate to and within the context of each area type: urban, 
suburban, and rural.
Policy LU.5.4. Encourage development to be clustered in appropriate locations as a means of preserving 
natural resources and open space, and to minimize service and utility costs, with such tools as Transfer of 
Development Rights (TDR).
Policy LU..5. Encourage the distribution of density within neighborhoods in relationship to associated activity 
centers and corridors, infrastructure, transportation, and natural constraints such as slopes and drainages.

Goal LU.6. Provide for a mix of land uses.
Policy LU.6.1. Consider a variety of housing types and employment options when planning new development 
and redevelopment projects.
Policy LU.6.3. Encourage new mixed-use neighborhoods in appropriate locations within the growth boundary.

As previously stated, the development of the Property qualifies as infill rather than greenfield development.  The site 
has been disturbed, has been reviewed for the preservation of resources, and has the existing infrastructure necessary 
for development.  McMillan Mesa is centrally located and is not considered a peripheral expansion.  Open Space 
preservation was provided as part of the McMillan Mesa Specific Plan and the proposed development rights transfer 
maintains those open spaces. Additionally, if the site is developed residentially, 15% of the gross site will be required 
to be set aside as open space. The reallocation of residential zoning entitlements will allow for development that is 
more compatible with the surrounding neighborhood.  While this proposal does not fully support the goal to provide 
for a mix of land uses, the Applicant is proposing to provide a mix of housing types, both rental and ownership, but to 
do that commercial and business park uses must be removed from the neighborhood.  The Specific Plan identifies this 
area as being a mixed-use activity center; however, the FRP 2030 did not identify this location as an Activity Center.

Suburban Area Type
Goal LU.13. Increase the variety of housing options and expand opportunities for employment and neighborhood 
shopping within all suburban neighborhoods.

Policy LU.13.1. Prioritize connectivity for walking, biking, and driving within and between surrounding 
neighborhoods.
Policy LU.13.2. Consider public transit connections in suburban development.
Policy LU.13.4. Plan suburban development to include a variety of housing options.
Policy LU.13.9. Use open space and FUTS trail to provide walking and biking
links from residential uses to employment, shopping, schools, parks, and neighborhoods.



PZ-15-00022-02
January 27, 2016

6

The request to change the area type designation from “Area in White” to Existing Suburban is further supported by 
these Suburban Area Type goals and policies.  While the request does further the Applicant’s goal of rezoning the 
Property from Research and Development to Medium Density Residential, the characteristics of the area clearly meet 
the intent and qualities preferred in suburban development.  

Transit, Bicycle And Pedestrian
Goal T.1. Improve mobility and access throughout the region.

Policy T.1.2. Apply Complete Street Guidelines to accommodate all appropriate
modes of travel in transportation improvement projects.
Policy T.1.6. Provide and promote strategies that increase alternative modes of
travel and demand for vehicular travel to reduce peak period traffic.
Policy T.6.2. Establish and maintain a comprehensive, consistent, and highly
connected system of bikeways and FUTS trails.

These policies also support the request of changing the area type designation to Existing Suburban due to the level of 
existing infrastructure improvements that support both vehicular and alternative modes of transportation.

Policy Analysis

This list below identifies several key points and community benefits supporting (+) or not supporting (-) the proposed 
amendment:

+ The Property is considered infill development, is within the Urban Growth Boundary and is efficiently and 
effectively provided with facilities and services by the City

+ McMillan Mesa is a centrally located neighborhood with convenient access to many required resources;
+ Existing transportation infrastructure and existing water infrastructure is available at this site;
+ The project will reduce traffic due to a reduction in development densities and intensities;
+ The existing subdivision has already addressed on-site and off-site utility infrastructure improvements for 

larger anticipated development densities and intensities;
+ The project is proposed to provide 50 single-family residences and 138 multi-family residences within an 

existing neighborhood;
- The project does remove business park and commercial uses from the neighborhood, thereby reducing new 

employment opportunities;

PUBLIC FACILITIES AND SERVICE IMPACT ANALYSIS: See the Specific Plan Amendment and Concept 
Zoning Map Amendment staff report for complete Public Impact Analysis discussion.

Public Input

Public hearings before the Planning and Zoning Commission and City Council are conducted in conjunction with the 
Specific Plan Amendment and Concept Zoning Map Amendment requests.  In accordance with Arizona Revised 
Statute and Section 10-20.30.080 (p. 20.30-9) of the Zoning Code, notice of the public hearings were provided by 
placing an ad in the Daily Sun, posting notices on the property, and mailing a notice to all property owners within 600
feet of the Specific Plan boundary (exceeding the 300-foot requirement).

In accordance with Section 10-20.30.060 of the Zoning Code (p. 20.30-5), a Citizen Participation Plan was prepared 
and implemented prior to the scheduling of the public hearings and a copy of the Citizen Participation Report is 
attached to the rezoning report for review by the Planning and Zoning Commission and City Council.  As of this 
writing, Planning staff has received five emails in response to this request which are attached to the accompanying 
Specific Plan and Zoning Map Amendments staff report.



PZ-15-00022-02
January 27, 2016

7

RECOMMENDATION:

Staff believes that the proposed amendment to the Regional Plan is supportable under the guidelines of the Flagstaff 
Regional Plan 2030, and would recommend approval of the proposed amendment.

Attachments:

Minor Regional Plan Amendment Application and applicant’s General Plan Analysis
Future Growth Illustration – Existing
Future Growth Illustration – Proposed







1 
 

Minor Specific Plan Amendment and Minor Regional Plan Amendment 

NARRATIVE for 

Parcels B, C, D1, D3, and Ic  

 
Located within the Final Plat for the McMillan Mesa Village 

Generally located at the Northeast Corner of Turquoise Drive and Forest Avenue 

Within the SE Quarter of Section 10 Township 21 North Range 7 East; the Southwest Quarter of Section 15 

Township 21 North Range 7 East; the Northwest Quarter of Section 14 Township 21 North Range 7 East; and the 

Northeast Quarter of Section 15 Township 21 North Range 7 East, Gila and Salt River Base and Meridian, Coconino 

County, Flagstaff, Arizona 

 

Submitted by: 

 
OWNER/DEVELOPER (“Owner”): 

MMV Devco, LLC, an Arizona limited liability company 

15300 N 90th Street Ste 200 

Scottsdale, AZ 85260 

480-627-7000 

Contact: Vickey Morris 

480-747-9408 

vmorris@cavanrealestate.net 

 

ENGINEERING & SURVEYING 

Mogollon, Inc. 

411 W Santa Fe Ave 

Flagstaff, AZ 86001 

928-214-0214 

Mogollon99@aol.com 

 

ARCHITECT 

Jeffrey DeMure & Associates 

Architects – Planners 

Rudi Macias, Project Manager 

5905 Granite Lake Drive Ste 140 
Granite Bay, CA 95746 

916-783-3700 

rmacias@jdaarch.com 

 

Submitted to: 

 

CITY OF FLAGSTAFF, (“CITY”) 

211 West Aspen Avenue 

Flagstaff, Arizona 86001 

 

July 2015 

  

mailto:vmorris@cavanrealestate.net
mailto:Mogollon99@aol.com
mailto:rmacias@jdaarch.com


2 
 

PROPERTY DATA: 

 

5 Parcels located within the McMillan Mesa Village subdivision, described as follows: 

 

Parcel B: 

Coconino County Assessor Parcel Number:  101-46-002 
Address: 1600 N Gemini Drive 

22.98 acres 

Current Zoning Classification: McMillan Mesa Village Specific Plan: High Density Residential 

Proposed Zoning Classification: No Change in zoning; however requesting transfer of development units to Parcels 

C, D1 and D3 

ACTION REQUESTED:  Amendment to McMillan Mesa Village Specific Plan to change number of dwelling units 

and transfer dwelling units to Parcels C, D1, and D3 

 

Parcel C: 

Coconino County Assessor Parcel Number: 101-46-003 

Address:  1551 N Gemini Dr, Flagstaff, AZ 86001 

8.41 acres 
Current Zoning Classification: McMillan Mesa Village Specific Plan: SC – Suburban Commercial 

Proposed Zoning Classification: MR – Medium Density Residential (Specific Plan Amendment) 

ACTION REQUESTED: Amendment to McMillan Mesa Village Specific Plan to change land use from Suburban 

Commercial to Medium Density Residential and obtain dwelling units transferred from Parcel B 

 

Parcel D1: 

Coconino County Assessor Parcel Number: 101-46-004 

Address:  1651 N Gemini Dr, Flagstaff, AZ 86001 

7.35 acres 

Current Zoning Classification: McMillan Mesa Village Specific Plan: BP – Business Park 

Proposed Zoning Classification: MR – Medium Density Residential (Specific Plan Amendment) 
ACTION REQUESTED: Amendment to McMillan Mesa Village Specific Plan to change land use from Suburban 

Commercial to Medium Density Residential and obtain dwelling units transferred from Parcel B 

 

Parcel D3: 

Coconino County Assessor Parcel Number: 101-46-006 

Address:  1800 N Gemini Dr, Flagstaff, AZ 86001 

6.31 acres 

Current Zoning Classification: BP – Business Park 

Proposed Zoning Classification: MR – Medium Density Residential (Specific Plan and Regional Plan Amendment) 

ACTION REQUESTED: Amendment to McMillan Mesa Village Specific Plan and the Regional Plan to change land 

use from Business Park to Medium Density Residential and obtain dwelling units transferred from Parcel B 

 

Parcel Ic: 

Coconino County Assessor Parcel Numbers:  101-28-007F and 101-31-110 

Address: Currently there is no address associated with this property 

4.90 acres (combined) 

Current Zoning Classification McMillan Mesa Village Specific Plan: R-1 

Proposed Zoning Classification:  Open Space 

ACTION REQUESTED: Amendment to McMillan Mesa Village Specific Plan to transfer dwelling units assigned 

to parcel Ia and change the land use designation to Open Space.  



3 
 

The McMillan Mesa Village 

 

Minor Specific and Regional Plan Amendment Narrative 

 

 

Table of Contents 

 

1.  Background Information regarding the McMillan Mesa Village   4 

 

2.  Request for Amendment to Specific Plan and Regional Plan   5 

 

3.  Description of Proposal        5 

 

4.  Analysis of how the proposed Amendment supports the goals of the 

 Regional Plan         7 

 

5.  An Analysis of how the Amendment will not be detrimental to the public  

 good          9 

 

6.  Suitability of Site for proposed land use      10 

 

7.  Public Utilities and Services       11  

     

8.  Public Participation        11 

 

9.  Benefit to the Community and Conclusion     12 

 

 

Tables and Exhibits: 

 

Table 1:  Current Land Use Designations according to the Specific Plan 

Table 2:  Proposed changes to Land Use designations and density by the Amendment 

Table 3:  Adjacent Property Uses 

 

Exhibit A:  Vicinity Map/Context Analysis Map/Site Analysis Map 

Exhibit B:   McMillan Mesa Specific Plan 

Exhibit C:   Development Agreement, dated 3/20/2007, CCRO#3432671 

Exhibit D:   Water and Sewer Impact Analysis, completed July 2006 

Exhibit E:   CCR’s McMillan Mesa Village and Amendments 

Exhibit F:   Proposed Public Involvement Plan 

Exhibit G:  Proposed amended Exhibits to the McMillan Mesa Specific Plan 

Exhibit H:  McMillan Mesa Drainage Report  

Exhibit I:   McMillan Mesa Village Traffic Impact Analysis 

Exhibit J:   McMillan Mesa Natural Resource Protection Plan 

 

  



4 
 

1.  Background Information for McMillan Mesa Village: 

 

The McMillan Mesa Village Specific Plan was adopted and approved by Ordinance No. 1779 on 

December 15, 1992 and recorded on January 14, 2003 (the “Specific Plan”).  No development or 

construction was undertaken until MMV Devco, LLC, (the “Owner”) recorded the Final Plat for 

the McMillan Mesa Village (the “McMillan Mesa”) and constructed the infrastructure in 2008.  

The roads, sewer and water constructed as a part of the final plat also included the off-site sewer 

enhancement as required by the Specific Plan. 

 

 In July 2007, the Owner and the City of Flagstaff (the “City”) entered into a land exchange 

whereby the City was able to acquire pieces of land in order to preserve the continuity of the 

Flagstaff Urban Trail System (FUTS) and supplement the Buffalo Park open space.  This land 

exchange closed and was made final on 12/21/2007. 

 

 In the time since the infrastructure was completed in 2008, the Owner has sold several 

parcels.  These sales include the following: 

 

 a. Flagstaff Senior Living is an affordable housing project for senior citizens.  This 

development is comprised of 60 residential dwellings. Parcel H was developed in accordance with 

the Specific Plan.  Development of this parcel provided necessary infrastructure for the storm water 

drainage system as required by the Specific Plan and the City of Flagstaff.  Flagstaff Senior Living 

has adopted several “green energy” methods on the property to include solar arrays for energy 

capture.  The maximum number of dwelling units assigned to Parcel H by the Specific Plan is 72. 

 

 b.  Basis School of Flagstaff purchased a portion of Parcel D for a charter school comprised 

of students in grades 5-12.  Parcel D was subdivided into several parcels when the infrastructure 

was built.   The Basis School developed this property in accordance with the Specific Plan. 

 

 c.  Guardian Ambulance and Flagstaff Medical Center purchased a portion of Parcel F for 

an ambulance and administration center.  The City of Flagstaff provided Guardian Ambulance a 

conditional use permit for the development of this property.  The remainder of Parcel F is currently 

undeveloped.  Parcel F lies within the employment corridor overlay; therefore the site development 

is consistent with the Specific Plan and Regional Plan.  Development of this project also provided 

necessary improvements to the existing storm water drainage system as required by the City of 

Flagstaff. 

 

 d.  All residential lots south of Pinion Court have been sold to home builders or individuals 

that have built single family homes.  This is consistent with the Specific Plan.   

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 



5 
 

2.  Request for Amendment to Specific Plan and Regional Plan (Parcel D3 only) 

 

The Owner, together with Mogollon Engineering and JDA, Inc., are pleased to submit for your 

consideration an application for a Minor Amendment to the McMillan Mesa Village Specific Plan 

(Parcels B, C, D1, and Ic) and a Minor Amendment to the Regional Plan (Parcel D3) for 

approximately 49 acres of what is commonly referred to as the McMillan Mesa Village (the 

“Amendment”), and as more particularly described in this narrative.   

 

3.  Description of Proposal 

 

The Owner proposes to change the current land use for approximately 26.3 acres located within 

the McMillan Mesa subdivision that will result in a decrease in land intensity from the current 

Specific Plan by changing the land use designation from Business Park and Suburban Commercial 

to Medium Density Residential. 

 

The development units being used to facilitate the zoning change on Parcels C, D1 and D3, will 

be taken from Parcel B, which according to the Specific Plan has a total of 491 development units.  

Parcel B is a 22.98 acre piece of property located at the northwest corner of the McMillan Mesa.  

Approximately 198 development units will be transferred from Parcel B and disbursed between 

Parcels C, D1 and D3.  The overall residential dwelling units entitled to the McMillan Mesa by 

the Specific Plan will not change.  The land use for Parcel B will not change, only a transfer of 

development units will take place as a result of the zoning changes.  The remaining number of 

development units on Parcel B will be approximately 292. 

 

Parcel Ic is a 4.97 acre piece of property in the southeasterly portion of the McMillan Mesa.  The 

Owner has recently annexed this parcel into the McMillan Mesa Village subdivision and placed 

restrictive covenants upon the parcel that precludes any building or development on the parcel.  As 

a part of this rezoning application, the Owner requests that this parcel be rezoned to Open Space.  

Any development units attributed to Parcel Ic by the Specific Plan will be transferred to Parcel Ia 

as contemplated by the Specific Plan.  See Exhibit E attached hereto for the Annexation 

Declaration to Declaration of Covenants, Conditions, and Restrictions for McMillan Mesa Village 

(the “Declaration”). 

 

(the rest of page intentionally left blank) 

  



6 
 

Table 1:  Current Land Use designations according to the Specific Plan 

Parcel       Size                    Current Designation       Current Density 

Parcel B 22.89 acres High Density 

Residential 

491 residential 

development units 

Parcel C 7.67 acres Suburban 

Commercial 

0 residential 

development units 

Parcel D1 7.35 acres Business Park 0 residential 

development units 

Parcel D3 6.31 acres Business Park 

(Regional Plan) 

0 residential 

development units 

Parcel Ic† 4.97 acres R-1 22.65 residential 

development units 

Totals: 49.19 acres  513.65 residential 

development units 

 

† Dwelling Units assigned to Parcel Ic pursuant to the Specific Plan will be transferred to McMillan 

Mesa Village Parcel Ia as was contemplated by the Specific Plan.      

 

Table 2:  Proposed changes to Land Use designations and density by the Amendment 

Parcel       Size          Proposed Designation    Proposed Density 

Parcel B 22.89 acres High Density 

Residential 

292 residential 

development units 

Parcel C 7.67 acres Medium Density 

Residential 

75.69 residential 

development units 

Parcel D1 7.35 acres Medium Density 

Residential 

66.15 residential 

development units 

Parcel D3 6.31 acres Medium Density 

Residential 

56.7 residential 

development units 

Parcel Ic 4.97 acres Open Space 0 residential 

development units 

(Du’s transferred see 

Table 1 above.) 

Totals: 49.19 acres  490.54 residental 

development units 

 

4.  The Purpose for the Proposal 

 

The Owner believes the parcels identified in Table 1 are better suited for a residential type of land 

use enabling quality development that does not cannibalize on nearby similar sites, such as the 

Business Incubator site located directly to the north.  These parcels have been determined to be 

the least likely to develop under the existing commercial and business land use designations, and 

now proposes this Amendment to allow the site to be used for residential development as shown 

in Table 2.  The proposed request would change the zoning for three parcels from RD to MR, one 

parcel from R1 to OS, and decrease the allowable residential dwellings on one parcel by almost 

one third.  This Amendment will provide a variety of residential opportunities and a larger 

consumer base for existing commercial and business use areas. 



7 
 

 

Therefore, the purpose of the Amendment will be to provide a land use designation that is fully 

compatible with and complementary to the adjacent developed properties and allow the McMillan 

Mesa to develop as the mixed use suburban center as was contemplated by the Regional Plan.  The 

Owner has left the balance of the McMillan Mesa east of Parcels C and D1 and north of Parcel D3 

with its current designation of Business Park.  The owner believes a smooth transition between 

existing and new development can be obtained on the existing road infrastructure.   

 

5.  The Need to Amend 

 

The City adopted the Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 Place Matters (the “Regional Plan”) on 

January 14, 2014 and it was ratified on May 20, 2014.  The Regional Plan adopted 8 guiding 

principles to help promote future development.  One such principle is that “a smart and connected 

community matters”.  Given this ideal as part of the vision the citizenry of Flagstaff has adopted, 

the Owner looked at the development guidelines that were set forth in the Specific Plan.  The 

Specific Plan allowed for a heavy concentration of commercial between Gemini Drive and Forest 

Ave.  While that may have been a vision for the City in 1992, this is not consistent with the vision 

adopted by the citizenry in the Regional Plan.  The Owner believes in order to participate in the 

vision exemplified by the Regional Plan, a change in the land use and area type for the McMillan 

Mesa needs to occur. 

 

According to the Regional Plan the future Employment Area was expanded to include property 

across Forest Ave and the activity center designated by the Specific Plan was no longer 

contemplated.  It is therefore believed that Parcels C, D1 and D3 would fall into the neighborhood 

place type instead of the activity center designated by the Specific Plan, and this amendment would 

support that. By approving this Amendment, the McMillan Mesa will exemplify the Suburban 

Neighborhood characteristics identified in the Regional Plan.  The neighborhoods will be well 

connected to existing Activity Centers and Future Employment Centers.  The Owner believes a 

mix of residential uses, together with the existing uses, will be more compatible with the vision of 

the Regional Plan.   

 

In The Regional Plan, Forest Avenue is identified as a “Great Street” and its proximity to the 

McMillan Mesa was a factor considered by the Owner as this Amendment was prepared.  The 

McMillan Mesa is located between two Activity Centers that are connected by Forest Avenue, one 

being the Plaza Shopping Center – Humphrey’s Street & Beaver Street to the west and on the east 

side the Cedar Shopping center.  Approval of this Amendment is in keeping with the City’s goal 

identified in the Regional Plan as Goal LU.13, and said goal is more specifically addressed further 

in this narrative. 

 

6.  How the Amendment will conform to the Goals of the Regional Plan 

 

As contemplated by the Regional Plan, a suburban area type is an area typically located at the 

intersection of two collector or neighborhood streets, with a mix of uses such as business, medical 

services, educational, offices, etc.  The Owner believes the characteristics of the suburban area 

type will be achieved by this Amendment.  There is currently a school located within the McMillan 

Mesa, an Ambulance Center was recently constructed with office spaces, and a rehabilitation 



8 
 

hospital will be constructed in 2016 on the McMillan Mesa.  It is anticipated that the mixed-use 

land development will further support the Future Employment and Suburban Neighborhood with 

a subtle blend of live-work units and businesses.  The existing infrastructure and the FUTS Trail 

incorporate the connectivity for walking or biking, as well as the connectivity to the open 

space/park areas adjacent to the properties that is highly desired in a suburban community.  

 

This Amendment responds to the Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 and specifically addresses a 

number of its Goals and Policies, as described below.  The goals identified below are by no means 

the only City goals established by the City of Flagstaff and its citizens; however we feel these are 

some of the most important goals this Amendment will achieve. 

 

Owner Goal 1 as it relates to The Growth Areas and Land Use component of the Regional Plan:  

Goal LU.5 Encourage compact development principles to achieve efficiencies and open space 

preservation.  The owner supports and conforms to this goal as more specifically addressed in 

Policy LU..5-Encourage the distribution of density within neighborhoods in relationship to 

associated activity centers and corridors, infrastructure, transportation, and natural constraints 

such as slopes and drainages.  The Owner believes that by distributing the density currently 

allocated to one existing parcel to an additional 3 parcels compact development principles are still 

achieved, creating a balance of density and natural resources, together with open space 

preservation, resulting in a more cohesive, accessible neighborhood.   

 

Owner Goal 2 as it relates to The Growth Areas and Land Use component of the Regional Plan: 

Policy LU.1.-Invest in existing neighborhoods and activity centers for the purpose of developing 

complete and connected places.  It is not the Owner’s intention to re-create a new downtown by 

building mostly office buildings and services on the McMillan Mesa.  The Owner does not believe 

that is in keeping with the future plans implemented by the City of Flagstaff and its citizenry.  

Through thoughtful study and analysis, the Owner believes the best use of certain portions of the 

land would be to create neighborhoods that emulate the characteristics of the existing places.  

Neighborhoods that will utilize the FUTS trail as a conveyance to and from other destinations.  

Neighborhoods that will invite and allow for more use of public transportation, thereby avoiding 

the disconnection between the downtown and the subdivision.  Connectivity and association are 

the keys to a harmonious blend of traditional (historical) and modern (current). This analysis 

included the City of Flagstaff Business incubator located north of the McMillan Mesa. 

 

Owner Goal 3 as it relates to The Growth Areas and Land Use component of the Regional Plan: 

Policy LU.1.7. Consider creative policy and planning tools (such as transfer of development rights 

or transfer of development obligations) as a means to incentivize redevelopment and infill. The 

Owner will be requesting that the City transfer the development units from Parcel Ic to Parcel Ia; 

thereby removing any potential for this property to be developed.  The Owner, as a part of this 

amendment, will designate Parcel Ic as Open Space.  Also, the disbursement and transfer of 

development units from Parcel B to Parcels C, D1 and D3 provides for a more balanced 

development. 

 

Owner Goal 4 as it relates to The Growth Areas and Land Use component of the Regional Plan: 

Policy LU.13. Increase the variety of housing options and expand opportunities for employment 

and neighborhood shopping within all suburban neighborhoods.  The potential that the Owner 



9 
 

will be providing housing for nearby employment and local schools is further enhanced by current 

commercial development projects under consideration by the City. The Owner believes 

downzoning portions of the McMillan Mesa to Medium Density Residential (MR) is in keeping 

with the City’s Regional Plan by integrating the existing trail and open space into the design of the 

community, both residential and commercial.  Parcels C, D1, and D3 will be “connected” to this 

community and the nearby Basis School and commercial development by the FUTS trail corridor.   

 

Owner Goal 5 as it relates to The Growth Areas and Land Use component of the Regional Plan:  

Goal LU.7 Provide for public services and infrastructure and specifically Policy LU.7.3 Require 

development proposals to address availability of public services.  In 2007 the Owner built the 

infrastructure for the McMillan Mesa according to the Specific Plan, which included an 

enhancement to the existing City sewer system.  The Owner believes this downzoning will not 

detrimentally impact or over-tax the existing City services.  All public services are provided. 

 

Owner Goal 6 as it relates to The Growth Areas and Land Use component of the Regional Plan: 

Goal LU.15 Plan for and encourage employee-intensive uses throughout the area as activity 

centers, corridors, research and development offices, business parks, and light industrial areas to 

encourage efficient infrastructure and multimodal commuting.  There will still be commercial 

development on the McMillan Mesa along with the residential developments.  The proximity to 

the Flagstaff Medical Center has generated interest from ancillary services that would like to 

operate in Flagstaff.  Likewise those interested in having their children attend the Basis School 

have likewise expressed an interest in the residential development.  The Owner anticipates that 

some of the employees in the nearby commercial and residential services enterprises will be 

residents in the newly built neighborhoods. 

   

Owner Goal 7 as it relates to The Open Space Goals and Policies component of the Regional Plan: 

Policy OS.1.3 Use open spaces as natural environment buffer zones to protect scenic views and 

cultural resources, separate disparate uses, and separate private development from public lands, 

scenic byways, and wildlife habitats.  Policy OS1.4 Use Open Space as opportunities for non-

motorized connectivity, to interact with nature, and to enjoy the views and quiet.  The Owner 

believes that moving the commercial use to the eastern portion of the subdivision and using the 

FUTS trail/City property between Parcels C/D1 and Parcels E and F as a natural delineation of 

residential and commercial is in keeping with the use of natural environment buffer zones.  

 

7.  An analysis of how the Amendment will not be detrimental to the public good. 

 

As outlined above, the Owner meets the goals and policies of the Regional Plan on multiple levels 

and exceeds standards for several of the City’s Goals.  In fact, Goal CC.1 Reflect and respect the 

region’s natural setting and dramatic views in the built environment would be supported by 

allowing for the Zoning change and Plan Amendments.  The views from The McMillan Mesa 

would be preserved for all of the neighborhoods in the area.  The Park views would likewise be 

preserved by down-zoning the western portion of the McMillan Mesa.  Goal E&C.5 Preserve dark 

skies as an unspoiled natural resource, basis for an important economic sector, and core element 

of community character.  The Owner will continue to preserve and protect the night time 

environment through thoughtful and careful placement of quality lighting.  The Owner believes 

that by downzoning the property to MR, the night skies will be shielded from light pollution 



10 
 

through the adoption of a lighting plan consistent with the International Dark Sky Association for 

residential uses and that adding native landscaping to the currently barren property will further 

shield the night skies from lighting pollution.   

 

The Owner is not increasing the residential development units provided for in the Specific Plan.  

These development units are being redistributed within the McMillan Mesa.  The development 

will not create a burden on the existing infrastructure.  Despite a modest increase in the City’s total 

acreage available for residential development, the Amendment will actually result in a decrease in 

the land intensity and the reduction of commercial land uses in the area will provide for a more 

sustainable neighborhood. 

 

8.  Suitability of Site for proposed land use. 

 

Table 3: Land uses in adjacent properties 

East of the McMillan Mesa Primary Use of this property is City Park or 

City Facilities 

North of the McMillan Mesa Primary Use of this property is for commercial, 

business development, and research. 

West of the McMillan Mesa Primary Use of this property is Residential or 

Residential Related Businesses. 

South of the McMillan Mesa Primary Use of this property is Residential or 

Residential Related Commercial. 

 

The Owner has considered the use of natural terrain as a less intrusive transition from residential 

to commercial; and therefore this zoning application will place the commercial uses northeasterly 

and across a ravine.  The property located directly east of Parcels C and D1 is a City of Flagstaff 

owned open space parcel upon which the FUTS trail meanders through to the north and south.  The 

easterly, westerly and southerly boundaries for Parcel D3 are open space also.  The FUTS trail 

connects Parcel D3 with Parcels C and D1.   

 

The concentration of commercial development on the McMillan Mesa has been moved to the 

northeasterly parcels and separated by natural terrain.  The density transfer and re-distribution 

provides assurance to the neighbors living in Switzer Mesa No. 3 that long range views to the San 

Francisco Peaks will be respected and preserved.   

 

  



11 
 

 

9.  Public Utilities and Services 

 

As discussed above, the Owner built the infrastructure in 2007.  Utilities and services will be 

provided as follows: 

 

Water:   City of Flagstaff 

Sewer:   City of Flagstaff 

Electric:  APS 

Gas:   Unisource Energy  

Cable/Telephone: CenturyLink 

Police:   City of Flagstaff 

Fire:   City of Flagstaff 

School:  Flagstaff Public School District 

 

The Owner built the connections to the City of Flagstaff’s water and sewer services in 2008 during 

the first phase of development.  The water and sewer service connections were built and sized 

according to the Water and Sewer Impact Analysis (WISA) completed by the City of Flagstaff in 

July of 2006 (Exhibit D attached hereto).  In 2008, the Owner completed the off-site sewer 

enhancement as was required by the WISA.  The off-site water pressure enhancement to Zone A 

has not been built.  The threshold that would require the additional water storage is 300 residential 

units and 26 commercial acres of development.  (Exhibit C: Development Agreement, attached 

hereto) 

 

SEWER:  The Owner believes the downzoning of the McMillan Mesa will not have a detrimental 

effect on the City of Flagstaff sewer system.  Sewer discharge from Parcels B, C and D1 will be 

to the sewer main located in Forest Avenue to the north.  Sewer discharge from Parcel D3 will be 

in the sewer line located in Pine Cliff Drive.   According to the WISA, there is adequate sewage 

treatment plant capacity in the Wildcat Hill Wastewater Treatment Plant.   

 

WATER: According to the WISA, downzoning and re-distribution of development units will not 

have a negative impact upon the City’s water resources.   

 

10.  Public Participation 

 

While this proposed Amendment has already been discussed in an open forum with surrounding 

property owners and interested parties (collectively, the “Neighbors”), the Owner and the 

development team will be implementing additional neighborhood meetings as appropriate.   (See 

Exhibit F: Proposed Public Involvement Plan, attached hereto) 

 

The Owner held an informal neighborhood meeting on March 24, 2015 that was well attended by 

Neighbors.  In order to draw in more interested parties and more input, the Owner increased the 

parameters for public involvement at the request of the City from 300 feet to 600 feet.  Owner is 

providing the required public involvement list and related materials with this Amendment 

application. 

 



12 
 

 

11.  Benefit to the Community 

 

During the forum held with the neighbors the Owner learned that the Neighbors would prefer to 

see homes built on the McMillan Mesa, rather than office buildings.  Downzoning the parcels from 

commercial to residential will lessen the traffic issues that currently exist on Pine Cliff Drive.  The 

adjacent FUTS trail and the McMillan Mesa’s proximity to employment centers will provide an 

opportunity for residents to walk or ride their bikes to and from work and school, thus greater 

connectivity is achieved.  The current land use designations established by the Specific Plan need 

to be changed to support the new goals and vision agreed to by the City and its citizenry.  A change 

to the area types and the proposed rezoning will be more supportive of the defined area types as 

was agreed to by the ratification of the Regional Plan.  The Owner is also contributing additional 

open space to the City park system thereby connecting the parks with the neighbors and users.   

 

In conclusion, the Owner believes the proposed Amendment is an enhancement to the McMillan 

Mesa and the surrounding residents and residential service providers and asks that this Amendment 

be approved and recommended to City Council. 

  



13 
 

Zoning Map Amendment Development Application Checklist: I.4 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT A: 

 

LEGAL DESCRIPTIONS: 

Final Plat for McMillan Mesa Village 

 

 
Zoning Map Amendment Development Application Checklist: Part II 

 

1) Vicinity Map (II.2) 

2) Context Analysis Map (II.3) 

3) Site Analysis (II.4) 

 

 

 

 

  



14 
 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT B: 

 

The McMillan Mesa Specific Plan 

 

 

 

 

  



15 
 

Zoning Map Amendment Development Application Checklist: I.9 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT C: 

 

Development Agreement, dated 3/20/2007 

Coconino County Recorder’s Office #3432671 

 

 

 

  



16 
 

 
Zoning Map Amendment Development Application Checklist: III.4 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT D 

 

WATER AND SEWER IMPACT ANALYSIS 

Completed by the City of Flagstaff July 2006 

 

 

 

  



17 
 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT E: 

Codes, Covenants and Restrictions for the  

McMillan Mesa Village Subdivision 

 

 

  



18 
 

Zoning Map Amendment Development Application Checklist: I.6, I.7, and I.8 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT F: 

 

PROPOSED PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT PLAN (I.6) 

 

And 

 

NEIGHBORHOOD NOTIFICATION (I.7) 

 

And 

 

COCONINO COUNTY ASSESSOR’S MAP (I.8) 

 

 

 

  



19 
 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT G: 

Proposed Amendments to Exhibits contained within 

The McMillan Mesa Specific Plan 

 

 

  



20 
 

Zoning Map Amendment Development Application Checklist: III.2 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT H: 

 

Drainage Report prepared by  

Shepard Wesnitzer for  

The McMillan Mesa Village 

Prepared on 8/23/2007 

Revised 2/7/2008 

Revised 3/12/2014 

 

  



21 
 

Zoning Map Amendment Development Application Checklist: III.6 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT I: 

 

McMillan Mesa Village  

Traffic Impact Analysis 

  



22 
 

EXHIBIT J: 

 

McMillan Mesa Village  

Natural Resource Protection Plan 

 



Urban Growth Bound ary
City  of Flagstaff

Future Activity  Ce nte r
Suburban Activity  Ce nte r (S1)
 'x' sy m bol id e ntifie s e x isting ce nte r 
Urban Activity  Ce nte r (U1)
 'x' sy m bol id e ntifie s e x isting ce nte r 
Rural Activity  Ce nte r
Rural - Ex isting
Rural - Future
Suburban - Ex isting
Suburban - Future
Urban - Ex isting
Urban - Future
Special Planning Area
Ex isting Em ploy m e nt/Ind ustrial
Future Em ploy m e nt
Park /Ope n Space
Conce ntration of Natural Re source s
 (se e  Figure 8)

RT P Future Road  Ne twork
Areas in white  re tain the ir
e x isting e ntitle m e nts
Fly  Zone

FLAGSTAFF REGIONAL PLAN
VISION 2030:  PLACE MATTERS

NORTH
0 0.03 0.06 0.09 0.12

Miles

Map 22:
FUT URE GROWT H ILLUST RAT ION

Future growth illustrations and  plans d o not
preclud e  private  d e ve lopm e nt e ntitle m e nts.
Ple ase  se e  www.flagstaffm atte rs.com

 for an inte ractive  GIS m ap.

T he Future Growth Illustration d e fine s the ge ographic locations of
area type s and  place ty pe s. It shows the spatial re lationship of
e x isting and  future d e ve lopm e nt and  is inte nd e d  to be use d  in 

conjunction with the Natural Environm e nt Maps (Maps 6-8) and  the
Road  Ne twork  Map (Map 25). T his Illustration should  not be re lie d
upon to d e te rm ine  where specific land  use s are allowe d ; that 
inform ation is found  in City  Cod e  T itle  10 (Zoning Cod e ) and  the
Zoning Map. In case of any  conflict be twe e n the Future Growth
Illustration and  the  Re gional Plan’s goals and  policie s, the goals 

and  policie s will pre vail.

McMillan Me sa Curre nt Regional Plan Area T y pe s



Urban Growth Bound ary
City  of Flagstaff

Future Activity  Ce nte r
Suburban Activity  Ce nte r (S1)
 'x' sy m bol id e ntifie s e x isting ce nte r 
Urban Activity  Ce nte r (U1)
 'x' sy m bol id e ntifie s e x isting ce nte r 
Rural Activity  Ce nte r
Rural - Ex isting
Rural - Future
Suburban - Ex isting
Suburban - Future
Urban - Ex isting
Urban - Future
Special Planning Area
Ex isting Em ploy m e nt/Ind ustrial
Future Em ploy m e nt
Park /Ope n Space
Conce ntration of Natural Re source s
 (se e  Figure 8)

RT P Future Road  Ne twork
Areas in white  re tain the ir
e x isting e ntitle m e nts
Fly  Zone

FLAGSTAFF REGIONAL PLAN
VISION 2030:  PLACE MATTERS

NORTH
0 0.03 0.06 0.09 0.12

Miles

Map 22:
FUT URE GROWT H ILLUST RAT ION

Future growth illustrations and  plans d o not
preclud e  private  d e ve lopm e nt e ntitle m e nts.
Ple ase  se e  www.flagstaffm atte rs.com

 for an inte ractive  GIS m ap.

T he Future Growth Illustration d e fine s the ge ographic locations of
area type s and  place ty pe s. It shows the spatial re lationship of
e x isting and  future d e ve lopm e nt and  is inte nd e d  to be use d  in 

conjunction with the Natural Environm e nt Maps (Maps 6-8) and  the
Road  Ne twork  Map (Map 25). T his Illustration should  not be re lie d
upon to d e te rm ine  where specific land  use s are allowe d ; that 
inform ation is found  in City  Cod e  T itle  10 (Zoning Cod e ) and  the
Zoning Map. In case of any  conflict be twe e n the Future Growth
Illustration and  the  Re gional Plan’s goals and  policie s, the goals 

and  policie s will pre vail.

McMillan Me sa Propose d  Regional Plan Area T y pe s



     
RESOLUTION NO. 2016-08 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE FLAGSTAFF CITY COUNCIL AMENDING THE 
FLAGSTAFF REGIONAL PLAN 2030 TO CHANGE THE AREA TYPE 
DESIGNATION OF APPROXIMATELY 6.31 ACRES OF REAL PROPERTY ON 
MAPS 21 AND 22 LOCATED AT 1800 N. GEMINI DRIVE FROM AREA IN 
WHITE AREA TYPE TO EXISTING SUBURBAN AREA TYPE; PROVIDING 
FOR SEVERABILITY, AND ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE DATE 

 
 
RECITALS: 
 
WHEREAS, the Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 (the “Regional Plan”) was adopted by the Mayor 
and Council of the City of Flagstaff (the “City Council”) on January 14, 2014 and ratified by the 
qualified electors of the City of Flagstaff (the “City”) on May 20, 2014; and 
 
WHEREAS, among other things, the Regional Plan establishes the authority and procedure for 
minor amendments; and  
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to section § 9-461.06, Arizona Revised Statutes, and the Regional Plan, 
the City has consulted with, advised, and provided the opportunity for public comment on the 
proposed amendment to the Regional Plan; and  
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to A.R.S. § 9-461.06 and the Regional Plan, the City Planning and Zoning 
Commission held a public hearing on the proposed Regional Plan amendment on January 27, 
2016, and February 10, 2016, and provided notice of such hearing in the manner required by 
A.R.S. § 9-461.06(E). 
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to A.R.S. § 9-461.06 and the Regional Plan, the City Council held a public 
hearing in the City Council Chambers on the proposed Regional Plan amendment on March 22, 
2016, and provided notice of such hearing by publication of said notice in the manner required 
by A.R.S. § 9-461.06(E); and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council finds and determines that (i) proper notice of the proposed 
Regional Plan amendment has been given in a manner required by A.R.S. § 9-461.06, and (ii) 
that each of the required publications have been made in the Arizona Daily Sun, a newspaper of 
general circulation within the City; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council desires to amend the Regional Plan to change the area type 
designation of approximately 6.31 acres of real property on Maps 21 and 22 located at 1800 N. 
Gemini Drive from Area in White area type to Existing Suburban area type.  
 
 
ENACTMENTS: 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF 
AS FOLLOWS: 
 
SECTION 1.   That the Flagstaff Regional Plan is hereby amended to change the area type 
designation of approximately 6.31 acres of real property on Maps 21 and 22 located at 1800 N. 



RESOLUTION NO. 2016-08   PAGE 2 
   
  
Gemini Drive, as more particularly depicted in Exhibit “A” (Future Growth Illustration – 
Proposed), from Area in White area type to Existing Suburban area type.  
 
SECTION 2.  That the Mayor, the City Manager, the City Clerk and the City Attorney are 
hereby authorized to take all steps necessary to carry out the purpose and intent of this 
Resolution.  
 
SECTION 3. This resolution shall become effective thirty (30) days following adoption by the 
City Council. 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Flagstaff this 22nd day of March, 
2016. 
 
 
 
               
        MAYOR 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
  
CITY CLERK 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
 
  
CITY ATTORNEY 
 



Urban Growth Bound ary
City  of Flagstaff

Future Activity  Ce nte r
Suburban Activity  Ce nte r (S1)
 'x' sy m bol id e ntifie s e x isting ce nte r 
Urban Activity  Ce nte r (U1)
 'x' sy m bol id e ntifie s e x isting ce nte r 
Rural Activity  Ce nte r
Rural - Ex isting
Rural - Future
Suburban - Ex isting
Suburban - Future
Urban - Ex isting
Urban - Future
Special Planning Area
Ex isting Em ploy m e nt/Ind ustrial
Future Em ploy m e nt
Park /Ope n Space
Conce ntration of Natural Re source s
 (se e  Figure 8)

RT P Future Road  Ne twork
Areas in white  re tain the ir
e x isting e ntitle m e nts
Fly  Zone

FLAGSTAFF REGIONAL PLAN
VISION 2030:  PLACE MATTERS

NORTH
0 0.03 0.06 0.09 0.12

Miles

Map 22:
FUT URE GROWT H ILLUST RAT ION

Future growth illustrations and  plans d o not
preclud e  private  d e ve lopm e nt e ntitle m e nts.
Ple ase  se e  www.flagstaffm atte rs.com

 for an inte ractive  GIS m ap.

T he Future Growth Illustration d e fine s the ge ographic locations of
area type s and  place ty pe s. It shows the spatial re lationship of
e x isting and  future d e ve lopm e nt and  is inte nd e d  to be use d  in 

conjunction with the Natural Environm e nt Maps (Maps 6-8) and  the
Road  Ne twork  Map (Map 25). T his Illustration should  not be re lie d
upon to d e te rm ine  where specific land  use s are allowe d ; that 
inform ation is found  in City  Cod e  T itle  10 (Zoning Cod e ) and  the
Zoning Map. In case of any  conflict be twe e n the Future Growth
Illustration and  the  Re gional Plan’s goals and  policie s, the goals 

and  policie s will pre vail.

McMillan Me sa Propose d  Regional Plan Area T y pe s



  14. C. 2.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT
To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Tiffany Antol, Planning Development
Manager

Date: 03/16/2016

Meeting
Date:

03/22/2016

TITLE: 
Public Hearing, Consideration and Possible Adoption of Ordinance No. 2016-04:  An Ordinance of
the City Council of the City of Flagstaff, Amending the Flagstaff Zoning Map to rezone approximately
26.17 acres of real property located on McMillan Mesa, from Suburban Commercial (SC) to Medium
Density Residential (MR) for 7.67 acres, from Research and Development (RD) to Medium Density
Residential (MR) for 13.66 acres, and from Residential Single-Family (R1) to Public Open Space (POS)
for 4.84 acres, and  amending to the McMillan Mesa Village Specific Plan to reallocate 192 units from
Development Area B to Development Areas C, D1 and D3. (McMillan Mesa Village Zoning Map and
Specific Plan Amendments)

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
At the March 22, 2016 Council Meeting:
1) Hold the Public Hearing
2) Read Ordinance No. 2016-14 by title only for the first time
3) City Clerk reads Ordinance No. 2016-14 by title only (if approved above)
At April 5, 2016 Council Meeting:
4) Read Ordinance No. 2016-14 by title only for the final time
5) City Clerk read Ordinance No. 2016-14 by title only (if approved above)
6) Adopt Ordinance No. 2016-14

Executive Summary:
An amendment of the McMillan Mesa Village Specific Plan to transfer approximately 192 dwelling units
from Development Area B to Development Areas C, D1 and D3, to amend the development options for
Development Area B and to amend the development options for Areas C from Suburban Commercial to
Medium Density Residential, and D1 and D3 from Research and Development to Medium Density
Residential. 

A Concept Zoning Map Amendment request to rezone approximately 7.67 acres from Suburban
Commercial (SC) to medium Density Residential (MR), 13.66 acres from Research and Development
(RD) to Medium Density Residential and 4.84 acres from Single-family Residential to Public Open Space
(POS) located on McMillan Mesa.

Financial Impact:
None

Connection to Council Goal and/or Regional Plan:



COUNCIL GOALS:
1) Provide sustainable and equitable public facilities, services, and infrastructure systems in an efficient
and effective manner to serve all population areas and demographics
2) Provide a well-managed transportation system
3) Continue to implement the Flagstaff Regional Plan and focus efforts on specific plans

REGIONAL PLAN:

Goal E.1. Increase energy efficiency.
Goal E&C.2. Reduce greenhouse gas emissions.
Goal E&C.6. Protect, restore, and improve ecosystem health and maintain native plant
and animal community diversity across all land ownerships in the Flagstaff region.
Goal E&C.10. Protect indigenous wildlife populations, localized and larger-scale wildlife
habitats, ecosystem processes, and wildlife movement areas throughout the planning area.
Goal WR.4. Logically enhance and extend the City’s public water, wastewater, and reclaimed
water services including their treatment, distribution, and collection systems in both urbanized
and newly developed areas of the City to provide an efficient delivery of services.

Goal WR.5. Manage watersheds and stormwater to address flooding concerns, water
quality, environmental protections, and rainwater harvesting.
Goal WR.6. Protect, preserve, and improve the quality of surface water, groundwater,
and reclaimed water in the region.
Goal CC.1. Reflect and respect the region’s natural setting and dramatic views in the built environment.

Goal CC.4. Design and develop all projects to be contextually sensitive, to enhance a positive image and
identity
for the region.
Goal LU.1. Invest in existing neighborhoods and activity centers for the purpose of developing complete,
and connected places.
Goal ED.9. Promote redevelopment and infill.
Goal LU.4. Balance housing and employment land uses with the preservation and protection of our
unique natural and cultural setting.

Goal LU.5. Encourage compact development principles to achieve efficiencies and open space
preservation.
Goal LU.6. Provide for a mix of land uses.
Goal LU.13. Increase the variety of housing options and expand opportunities for employment and
neighborhood shopping within all suburban neighborhoods.

Goal T.1. Improve mobility and access throughout the region. 

Has There Been Previous Council Decision on This:
The McMillan Mesa Village Specific Plan and subsequent zoning was adopted by Ordinance on
December 15, 1992. The McMillan Mesa Village Subdivision developed in compliance with the McMillan
mesa Village Specific Plan was recorded on May 30, 2008.

Options and Alternatives:
1. Approve the ordinance with the proposed conditions.
2. Approve the ordinance with no conditions, additional conditions, or modified conditions
3. Deny the ordinance based on the required findings in Section 10-20.50.040(F)(1)(a) of the Zoning
Code

Background/History:



The McMillan Mesa Village Specific Plan was adopted by Ordinance Number 1779 on December 15,
1992. The McMillan Mesa Village Specific Plan establishes the type, location, intensity, and character of
development, and the required infrastructure for the area. The plan also shapes development to respond
to the physical constraints of the site, coordinates the mix of land use intensities, and provides adequate
circulation, open space, recreation and other public uses and facilities. The plan is organized into
development areas A through J, which generally corresponds to zoning districts and land use categories.
Section V of the plan, which covers development performance standards, establishes the intensity and
character of the project development by prescribing development performance standards that are tailored
to the unique qualities of the site. All development within McMillan Mesa Village must comply with the
Development Performance Standards and Design Guidelines of the private CC&Rs, as well as the
applicable provisions of the Zoning Code with the more restrictive code governing.

Key Considerations:
The applicant, MMV Devco LLC, is requesting a Specific Plan Amendment for approximately 46.09 acres
to reallocate 192 dwelling units from Development Area B to Development Areas C, D1, and D3, which
consists of three separate parcels. The applicant has provided replacement pages for the development
areas intended to be amended as part of this request, which are attached to this report. A Concept
Zoning Map Amendment is also requested to rezone approximately 13.66 acres from the Research and
Development (RD) zone to the Medium Density Residential (MR) zone, 7.67 acres from the Suburban
Commercial to the Medium Density Residential (MR) zone, and 4.84 acres from the Single-family
Residential (R1) zone to the Public Open Space (POS) zone located on McMillan Mesa. 

An applicant requesting an amendment to the Zoning Map may elect to pursue either a “Direct Ordinance
with a Site Plan” or “Authorization to Rezone with a Concept Zoning Plan” per Section 10-20.50.040.D
(pg. 20.50-5). The Direct Ordinance with a Site Plan process provides an applicant with a shorter Zoning
Map Amendment process with fewer steps. In this approach, the applicant submits fully developed site
plans with all supporting information required for Site Plan Review concurrently with the Zoning Map
Amendment application. Once the Zoning Map Amendment is approved by Council, the applicant can
proceed directly to construction plans and building permit review. The Authorization to Rezone with a
Concept Zoning Plan process allows the applicant to prepare a concept zoning plan and pursue site plan
application after Council approves the Zoning Map Amendment. A Concept Zoning Plan should consist of
a plan with proposed use(s), vicinity maps, context map, concept phasing, housing types, if applicable,
and a proposed circulation map. This application is a Concept Zoning Map Amendment, and the
applicant has chosen not to submit for Direct to Ordinance in conjunction with this application. 

If the Concept Zoning Map Amendment request is approved, the next steps in the process will be the
filing of an application for Site Plan followed by Civil Improvement Plans and Building permit submittals.
A Development Agreement between the City and the applicant was approved during the review of the
subdivision for McMillan Mesa Village and remains in full force and effect. 

On February 10, 2016, the Planning & Zoning Commission concluded their review of the proposed
Concept Zoning Map Amendment with a recommendation for Approval, by a unanimous vote, subject to
the following conditions, which have been incorporated into Ordinance No. 2016-14:

1. The subject property shall be developed in substantial conformance to the conceptual plans as
submitted to the maximum extent feasible. Development Areas C and D1 shall consist of single-story
cottage units and Development Area D3 shall consist of single-family homes.

2. Development Area B of the McMillan Mesa Village Specific Plan shall conform to the density
allowances of the High Density Residential (HR) Zone and Development Areas C, D1 and D3 of the
McMillan Mesa Village Specific Plan shall conform to the density allowances of the Medium Density
Residential (MR) zone as listed below and included within the amended specific plan:
• Development Area B -246 dwelling units
• Development Area C – 69.03 dwelling units



• Development Area D1 – 66.15 dwelling units
• Development Area D3 – 56.7 dwelling units

3. The applicant shall provide twenty-five (25) copies of the revised McMillan Mesa Specific Plan with
staff’s attached amendment pages upon recordation of the Ordinance amending this plan. 

4. Architectural design standards shall be applied to all elevations that front/face public rights-of-ways,
designated open space areas, and Flagstaff Urban Trail System (FUTS) trails.
5. A weed abatement plan shall be developed and implemented for the maintenance of open areas within
the development areas subject to this request including the detention basins.

6. A landscape plan shall be prepared and implemented for the medians on N. Pine Cliff Drive and N
Gemini Drive in conjunction with the site plan applications for Development Areas C, D1 or D3. 

7. All fencing abutting rights-of-ways, designated open space areas, and Flagstaff Urban Trail System
(FUTS) trails shall be developed in concert with one overall design.

8. Development Area D3 shall maintain a direct access with the adjacent FUTS trail as shown on the
concept plan.

Community Involvement:
Inform, Consult, Involve, Collaborate, Empower

Public hearings before the Planning and Zoning Commission and the City Council are conducted in
conjunction with any Regional Plan amendment request. In accordance with Arizona Revised Statue and
City Code, notice of the public hearing must be provided by placing an ad in a newspaper of general
circulation within the City, posting a notice on the property subject to the proposed amendment, and
mailing a notice to all property owners within 300-feet of the property subject to the proposed
amendment. All notification must be completed at least 15-days prior to the first scheduled public
hearing. In order to notice as many people as possible, staff ensured that a notice was mailed to all
property owners within 600-feet of the McMillan Mesa Specific Plan boundaries and all parties on the
Registry of Person or Groups.

The applicant held two neighborhood meetings in regards to this request. The first meeting was held
March 24, 2015 prior to the official submittal of these applications. The meeting was held at Basis School
and was attended by 32 interested citizens. Concerns were presented in regards to increased traffic,
project design, stormwater management, public transportation, dark skies, and overall project design. A
second meeting was held January 13, 2016 at the Aquaplex with 55 citizens in attendance. A
presentation on the project was given along with a handout that described the request. The overall
concern presented for any further development on McMillan Mesa is the state of the traffic as it exists
today. Input was received from some that commercial development is the preferred use in order to bring
more high paying jobs to Flagstaff, concerns about invasive weeds, and concerns about the designs of
the structures. Four comment cards were received which focused on open space, traffic, viewsheds,
fewer impacts with commercial development, and whether or not there is a need for more development.
As of the writing of the this report staff has received two emails in regards to this case, which are
attached to this report.

Attachments:  P&Z Staff Report
Zoning Map & Specific Plan Amendment Applications
Existing Zoning Map
Public Hearing Notice
Impact Analysis Information
Staff Revised McMillan Mesa Specific Plan replacement pages



Staff Revised McMillan Mesa Specific Plan replacement pages
Public Comments
Concept Plan D3
Concept Plan D3 Elevations
Concept Plan C, D1
Concept Plan Elevations C, D1
Site Analysis map
Vicinity Map
Context Analysis Map
McMillan Mesa Village Subdivision Plat
McMillan Mesa Specific Plan
Ordinance No. 1779
Public Participation Plan
Existing Development Agreement
Approved Natural Resource Protection Plan
Ord. 2016-14
Exhibit A -Parcel C legal description
Exhibit B-Parcel D1 legal description
Exhibit C-Parcel D3
Exhibit I-C - Development Area IC legal description



PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT
ZONING MAP & SPECIFIC PLAN AMENDMENT

PUBLIC HEARING DATE: January 15, 2016
PZ-15-00022 & PZ-15-00022-03 MEETING DATE: January 27, 2016

REPORT BY: Tiffany Antol, AICP

REQUEST:

An amendment of the McMillan Mesa Village Specific Plan to reallocate approximately 192 dwelling units from 
Development Area B (APN 101-46-002B) to Development Areas C (APN 101-46-003), D1 (APN 101-46-004), and D3 
(APN 101-46-006) and to amend the development options for Development Area B and to amend the zoning district and 
development options for Development Areas C from Suburban Commercial to Medium Density Residential, and D1 and D3
from Research and Development to Medium Density Residential.

A Concept Zoning Map Amendment request to rezone approximately 7.67 acres (APN 101-46-003) from Suburban 
Commercial (SC) to Medium Density Residential (MR), 13.66 acres (APNs 101-46-004 and 101-46-006) from Research 
and Development (RD) to Medium Density Residential (MR), and 4.84 acres (APNs 101-31-110 and 101-28-007F) from 
Single-family Residential (R1) to Public Open Space (POS) located on McMillan Mesa.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:

Staff recommends that the Planning and Zoning Commission forward the Specific Plan and Concept Zoning Map
Amendments to the City Council with a recommendation for approval subject to the conditions as noted in the 
Recommendation section of this report.

PRESENT LAND USE:

The subject properties are vacant parcels in the High Density Residential, Suburban Commercial, Research and 
Development and Single-family Residential zoning districts.

PROPOSED LAND USE:

Proposed development consists of both rental and owner occupied dwelling units under the Medium Density Residential 
(MR) development standards.

NEIGHBORHOOD DEVELOPMENT:

North: Vacant land owned by the City of Flagstaff in the Public Facilities (PF) and Rural Residential (RR) Zones, and the 
Northern Arizona Center for Entrepreneurship and Technology and the Flagstaff Business Accelerator in the 
Research and Development (RD) Zone;

East: Vacant Land owned by the City of Flagstaff in the Rural Residential (RR) and Public Facilities 
(PF) Zones;

South: Vacant land owned by the City of Flagstaff in the Public Facilities (PF) Zone, Flagstaff Senior Meadows in the 
Medium Density Residential (MR) Zone and the Cliffside Estates subdivision in the Single-family Residential (R1) 
Zone;

West: The Summit Center and vacant land in the Highway Commercial (HC) Zone.



PZ-15-00022 & PZ-15-00022-03
January 27, 2016
Page 2

REQUIRED FINDINGS:

Staff Review

An application for a Specific Plan Amendment or Zoning Map Amendment shall be submitted to the Planning Director and 
shall be reviewed and a recommendation prepared.  The Planning Director’s recommendation shall be transmitted to the 
Planning Commission in the form of a staff report prior to a scheduled public hearing.  The recommendation shall include: 
an evaluation of the consistency and conformance of the proposed amendment with the goals and policies of the General 
Plan, and any applicable specific plans; the ground for the recommendation based on the standards and purposes of the zones 
set forth in Section 10-40.20 (Establishment of Zones) of the Zoning Code (page 40.20-1); and, whether the amendment 
should be granted, granted with conditions to mitigate anticipated impacts caused by the proposed development, or denied. 

Findings for Reviewing Proposed Zoning Map Amendments

Proposed Zoning Map Amendments shall be evaluated based on the following findings: the proposed amendment is 
consistent with and conforms to the goals and policies of the General Plan, and any applicable specific plans; the proposed 
amendment will not be detrimental to the public interest, health, safety, convenience, or welfare of the City of Flagstaff (the 
“City”), and will add to the public good as described in the General Plan; and, the affected site is physically suitable in terms 
of design, location, shape, size, operating characteristics, and the provision of public and emergency vehicle access, public 
services, and utilities to ensure that the requested zone designation and the proposed or anticipated uses and/or development 
will not endanger, jeopardize, or otherwise constitute a hazard to the property or improvements in the vicinity in which the 
property is located. If the application is not consistent with the General Plan, and any other applicable specific plan, the 
applicable plan must be amended in compliance with the procedures established in Chapter 11-10 of the City Code (Title 11: 
General Plans and Subdivisions) prior to considering the proposed amendment.

Findings for Reviewing Proposed Specific Plan Amendments

No Specific Plan may be adopted or amended unless the proposed plan or amendment is in substantial conformance with the 
Regional Plan.

STAFF REVIEW:

Introduction/Background

As indicated in the accompanying Regional Plan Amendment report, this Specific Plan Amendment and Zoning Map 
Amendment (rezoning) requests are the second of the related items on the Commission’s agenda; the first being a Regional 
Plan Amendment request.  

The McMillan Mesa Village Specific Plan was adopted by Ordinance Number 1779 on December 15, 1992.  The McMillan 
Mesa Village Specific Plan establishes the type, location, intensity, and character of development, and the required 
infrastructure for the area.  The plan also shapes development to respond to the physical constraints of the site, coordinates 
the mix of land use intensities, and provides adequate circulation, open space, recreation and other public uses and facilities. 
The plan is organized into development areas A through J, which generally corresponds to zoning districts and land use 
categories.  Section V of the plan, which covers development performance standards, establishes the intensity and character 
of the project development by prescribing development performance standards that are tailored to the unique qualities of the 
site.  All development within McMillan Mesa Village must comply with the Development Performance Standards and 
Design Guidelines of the private CC&Rs, as well as the applicable provisions of the Zoning Code with the more restrictive 



PZ-15-00022 & PZ-15-00022-03
January 27, 2016
Page 3

code governing.

The applicant, MMV Devco LLC, is requesting a Specific Plan Amendment for approximately 46.09 acres to reallocate 192
dwelling units from Development Area B to Development Areas C, D1, and D3, which consists of three separate parcels.
The applicant has provided replacement pages for the development areas intended to be amended as part of this request,
which are attached to this report.  A Concept Zoning Map Amendment is also requested to rezone approximately 13.66 acres
from the Research and Development (RD) zone to the Medium Density Residential (MR) zone, 7.67 acres from the 
Suburban Commercial to the Medium Density Residential (MR) zone, and 4.84 acres from the Single-family Residential 
(R1) zone to the Public Open Space (POS) zone located on McMillan Mesa. The tables below detail the specifics of this 
request:

McMillan Mesa Village Specific Plan Current Land Use Designations
Development Area Size Current Designation Current Density Dwelling Units/acre

B 22.92 
(19.92)* acres

High Density Residential 491 dwelling units
438 dwelling units*

21.42/acre
21.98/acre

C 7.67 acres Suburban Commercial No dwelling units
D1 7.35acres Business Park No dwelling units
D3 6.31acres Business Park No dwelling units
Ic 4.84 acres Single-family 22.65 dwelling units** 4.67/acre

Totals 46.09 acres 513.65 dwelling units 11.14/acre

*At the time this application was submitted Development Area B was a 22.92-acre parcel, it has since been split and is now a 
19.92-acre parcel. Under the HR Zoning District today, Development Area B would have been entitled to 504 dwelling units
– the more restrictive document however is applied. The remaining 3 acres have been approved for a skilled nursing facility, 
which is classified as a commercial development and is not regulated in terms of dwelling units.  The applicant’s narrative 
does not reflect this change so staff has reduced the density accordingly based on the changes to the parcels.

**The McMillan Mesa Village Specific Plan allows for the reallocation of these dwelling units to Development Area Ia with 
the provision that Development Area Ic be preserved as open space.  Staff has reviewed and approved a site plan for the 
development of Area Ia with 5 dwelling units transferred from Area Ic.

McMillan Mesa Village Specific Plan Proposed Land Use Designations
Development Area Size Proposed Designation Proposed Density Dwelling Units/acre

B 19.92 acres High Density Residential 246 dwelling units 12.34/acre
C 7.67 acres Medium Density Residential 69.03 dwelling units* 9/acre

D1 7.35acres Medium Density Residential 66.15 dwelling units 9/acre
D3 6.31acres Medium Density Residential 56.7 dwelling units 8.98/acre
Ic 4.84 acres Open Space No dwelling units

Totals 46.09 acres 437.88 dwelling units 9.5/acre

**The applicant exceeded the maximum allowed density of the Medium Density Residential zone on Development Area C 
by 6.66 units in their narrative and exhibits.  Staff will be recommending that the allowed density be consistent with the 
density requirements of the proposed zoning district and has provided new exhibits to reflect all of the changes identified 
above.  

Land uses north of the subject property include vacant city-owned land as well as the Northern Arizona Center for 



PZ-15-00022 & PZ-15-00022-03
January 27, 2016
Page 4

Entrepreneurship and Technology, and the Flagstaff Business Accelerator.  Land uses west of the subject properties include
the Northern Arizona Dermatology Center, which is within the boundaries of the McMillan Mesa Village Specific Plan. 
Further west is the Summit Center and adjacent vacant land. South of the subject properties is the remainder of the 
development on McMillan Mesa, which includes City owned land, single-family residential subdivisions, apartments, 
townhomes, and condominiums.  East of the subject property is vacant land owned by the City.  Further east off the Mesa is 
Coconino High School.

An applicant requesting an amendment to the Zoning Map may elect to pursue either a “Direct Ordinance with a Site Plan” 
or “Authorization to Rezone with a Concept Zoning Plan” per Section 10-20.50.040.D (pg. 20.50-5).  The Direct Ordinance 
with a Site Plan process provides an applicant with a shorter Zoning Map Amendment process with fewer steps.  In this 
approach, the applicant submits fully developed site plans with all supporting information required for Site Plan Review 
concurrently with the Zoning Map Amendment application.  Once the Zoning Map Amendment is approved by Council, the 
applicant can proceed directly to construction plans and building permit review.  The Authorization to Rezone with a 
Concept Zoning Plan process allows the applicant to prepare a concept zoning plan and pursue site plan application after 
Council approves the Zoning Map Amendment.  A Concept Zoning Plan should consist of a plan with proposed use(s), 
vicinity maps, context map, concept phasing, housing types, if applicable, and a proposed circulation map.  This application 
is a Concept Zoning Map Amendment, and the applicant has chosen not to submit for Direct to Ordinance in conjunction 
with this application. 

If the Concept Zoning Map Amendment request is approved, the next steps in the process will be the filing of an application 
for Site Plan followed by Civil Improvement Plans and Building permit submittals.  A Development Agreement between the 
City and the applicant was approved during the review of the subdivision for McMillan Mesa Village and remains in full 
force and effect.

The current application is being reviewed against the policies of the Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 (FRP 2030). A full 
discussion of the applicable policies is included in the Regional Plan staff report and the narrative provided by the applicant.

Proposed Development Concept Plans

The applicant is requesting a Specific Plan Amendment and Zoning Map Amendment to allow for residential 
development in lieu of commercial and research and development uses.  The residential units would be transferred from a 
parcel in the High Density Residential zone, which would lessen the intensity of development on Area B on the west side 
of the Mesa.  The applicant has prepared concept plans for each development area showing how the proposed dwelling 
units could be laid out on each site.  While not required to provide a concept plan for Area B, one was included to show 
how the remaining units could be laid out on site.  The concept plan for Area B shows twelve four-story apartment 
buildings with 288 units.  The buildings are utilized to screen parking areas from the adjacent rights-of-ways, Flagstaff 
Urban Trail System (FUTS) trails, and adjacent properties.  Elevations were not provided for these units, as they are not 
subject to the Concept Zoning Map Amendment request.

The concept plan for Areas C and D1 integrates these areas as one development site.  The plan shows 138 single-story 
bungalow units that consist of single and duplex structures.  These units would be developed as part of a multi-family 
rental project.  The units are laid out to front the adjacent rights-of-ways with parking areas located within the interior of 
the project.  The elevations provided for this development area show a variety of bungalow style structures that are 
compliant with the Architectural Design Standards within the Zoning Code.

The concept plan for Area D3 shows 50 single-family residential lots that front on an interior street that would be created 
through the subdivision process.  The elevations show standard two story homes similar to other houses located on 



PZ-15-00022 & PZ-15-00022-03
January 27, 2016
Page 5

McMillan Mesa.

General Plan - Flagstaff Regional Plan (FRP 2030)

The Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 (FRP 2030), Future Growth Illustration (Maps 21 and 22) designates the subject site as 
Existing Suburban, Future Employment, and Area in White.  All substantive Regional Plan issues were addressed in the 
accompanying Regional Plan Amendment report.  The proposed minor Regional Plan Amendment would change the 
designation on one of the five parcels subject to the Concept Zoning Map Amendment from Area in White to Existing 
Suburban; thus, if the Regional Plan amendment is approved, the rezoning request would comply with the Regional Plan.  

Zoning – City of Flagstaff Zoning Code

If the Specific Plan and Zoning Map Amendment requests are approved, a total of 21.33-acres will be rezoned to the 
Medium Density Residential zone and 4.84-acres will be rezoned to the Public Open Space zone.  The proposed residential 
developments, as shown on the concept plan, are considered a permitted use in the MR zone.  Per the Flagstaff Zoning Code
(Section 10-40.30.030, pg. 40.30-5 and 6), “Dwelling: Multiple-family, Dwelling: Single-family, Dwelling: Two-family, and 
Planned Residential Development” are allowed uses under the sub-heading of Residential in the Medium Density Residential
(MR) zone.

Building Form and Resource Protection
Table 1 below compares development standards and resource protection requirements for the Suburban Commercial (SC) 
and Research and Development (RD) zones and the proposed Medium Density Residential (MR) zone. The proposed 
development will be required to meet the development standards of the MR zone.  The Planned Residential Development 
option would be utilized in order to achieve the developments as shown on the concept plans.

All of the parcels subject to this request are already within the Resource Protection Overlay (RPO) zone. A Resource 
Protection Plan was approved in conjunction with the McMillan Mesa Village Subdivision.  Most of the resources for this 
development are preserved on parcels that will remain as open space as well as the steep slopes on Development Area B
The Flagstaff Zoning Code requires all commercial uses within the RPO zone to protect a minimum of 30% of the tree 
resources and all industrial uses (Research and Development is considered an industrial zoning category) to protect a 
minimum of 20% of the tree resources. The approved Resource Protection Plan utilized a 50% preservation rate for all 
development areas within the subdivision because that was the standard required under the Land Development Code so no 
revisions to the existing approved plan are required.

Table 1 – Comparison of Development Standards and Resource Protection
Standard Existing SC Existing RD Proposed Zone (MR)

Acres 7.67 13.33 21.33
Maximum Building 
Height (feet)

25 60 35

Maximum Coverage 0.80 FAR 25%/0.50 FAR 40%
Minimum Open Space 0% 0% 15%

Density Requirements:

Minimum (du/ac) 0 0 6
Maximum (du/ac) 13 0.50 FAR 9



PZ-15-00022 & PZ-15-00022-03
January 27, 2016
Page 6

Building Placement Requirements (Min Setbacks):

Front 15’ 25’ 10’

Side 
0’ (interior)

10’ (exterior)
0’ (interior)

15’ (exterior)
5’ (interior)
5’ (exterior)

Rear 0’ 10’ 15’

Resource Protection Requirements

Forest Resources 30% 20% 50%
Slope Protection

0-16.99%
17-24.99%
25-34.99%

No protection
60% of slope area
80% of slope area

No protection
60% of slope area
80 % of slope area

No protection
70% of slope area
80% of slope area

Residential units are allowed in the existing Suburban Commercial (SC) zone only as part of a mixed-use project. Mixed-
use projects are not held to the density standards represented above, however, the height limit of 25’ in the SC zone would 
prohibit a large-scale mixed-use project as seen in other locations.  Residential units are allowed only on the second floor
and above in the existing Research and Development (RD) zone with the issuance of a Conditional Use Permit. As shown 
above there are no density standards within the RD zone and only the FAR would apply.

Civic Space
The Zoning Code requires residential developments with 50 or more dwelling units to provide a minimum of five percent 
of the site as an outdoor pedestrian amenity space that serves as a transition space between a parking area and the 
entrance(s) to a building.  The concept plans do not currently call out civic space areas but any development proposal
meeting this threshold will be required to comply with the standard at the time of site plan review.

Parking
Table 10-50.80.040.A of the Zoning Code (Page 50.80-6) establishes the minimum number of parking spaces required for 
development.  Parking for residential units is based on the number of bedrooms within each unit.  The conceptual plans have 
not yet been reviewed for parking compliance.  A final parking analysis will be completed with the review of a more detailed 
site plan submittal that will ensure that all parking spaces and drive aisles meet the minimum dimension standards as 
required in the Zoning Code. 

Design Review

Site Planning Standards
In accordance with Section 10-30.60.030 of the Zoning Code (Page 30.60-2), the applicant conducted a site analysis, a copy 
of which is attached to this report, that considers the topography of the site, solar orientation, existing/native vegetation 
types, view corridors, climate, subsurface conditions, drainage swales and stream corridor, and the built environment and 
land use context. The findings of the site analysis will be used in the more detailed future site plan submittal. 

Pedestrian and Bicycle Circulation Systems
On-site pedestrian circulation is shown through an extensive network of walkways on the conceptual plans. These walkways 
are designed as on-site connections between several internal functions, including building entrances and parking areas. In 
addition, they provide off-site connections to public sidewalks and Flagstaff Urban Trail System (FUTS) trails. While there 
are no dedicated on-site bicycle circulation systems, bicycles are accommodated on the adjacent rights-of-ways with existing 



PZ-15-00022 & PZ-15-00022-03
January 27, 2016
Page 7

bike lanes and on the existing FUTS trails.  Staff will work with the applicant during the site plan review to ensure that 
adequate facilities for pedestrians and bicycles are accommodated.

Parking Lots, Driveways, and Service Areas
The conceptual plans provided with this application show parking areas conforming to the site planning standards within the 
Zoning Code.  The parking areas are screened internal to the project and are not located adjacent to rights-of-ways.  The 
plans do not provide the breakdown of the required number of parking spaces or dimensions of maneuvering areas and 
spaces.  Staff will ensure that adequate parking spaces and maneuvering areas are provided and that trash enclosures and 
loading areas meet City standards for screening, operation, and location during the review of a more detailed site plan 
submittal.

Compatibility and Architectural Design Standards
“Scale” refers to similar or harmonious proportions, overall height, and width, the visual intensity of the development, and 
the building massing.  The proposed development consists of structures similar in scale to single-family residential housing, 
which is consistent with much of the surrounding development.  Preliminary elevations, copies of which are attached to this 
report, were provided for the residential units as part of this application.  Architectural design standards will be reviewed at 
the time of site plan approval and staff will confirm that all elevations are consistent with current requirements.   

Landscaping

Landscaping plans are not required in conjunction with a Concept Zoning Map Amendment.  The applicant will be required 
to provide plans that meet the requirements of parking lot landscaping, public right-of-way landscaping, open space 
landscaping, and landscape screening standards found within Section 10-50.60 of the Zoning Code (Page 50.60-1).  A final 
landscape plan will be reviewed at the time of site plan submittal. One of the concerns staff has received in relation to this 
project is the spread of invasive weeds.  Staff has added a condition to address weed abatement and to require landscaping of
the medians within Gemini Drive.  The medians were added to the subdivision at a time when the engineering development 
standards were being revised and there was no existing requirement for median landscaping.  

Outdoor Lighting

All of the subject properties are located within Lighting Zone 2 due to the distance from astronomical observatories in the 
area.  Proposed exterior lighting information is not required in conjunction with a Concept Zoning Map Amendment.  The 
applicant will be required to provide plans that meet the requirements of the Outdoor Lighting Standards of the Zoning Code. 
Lighting plans will be reviewed at the time of site plan submittal. 

PUBLIC SYSTEMS IMPACT ANALYSIS:

Traffic and Access

McMillan Mesa Village is bounded on the north by Forest Avenue.  Vehicular access is provided along N Gemini 
Drive, a looped roadway through the subdivision connecting with Forest Avenue via a controlled right-in/right-out 
entrance on the western edge of the subdivision and a four-way signalized intersection on the eastern edge of the 
subdivision. N Gemini Drive connects with N Pine Cliff Drive, which provides a southerly access to Ponderosa 
Parkway. N Gemini Drive and N Pine Cliff Drive as well as the signalized intersection on N Forest Ave were 
constructed in conjunction with the development of the McMillan Mesa Village subdivision.



PZ-15-00022 & PZ-15-00022-03
January 27, 2016
Page 8

A Traffic Impact Analysis for the McMillan Mesa Village Specific Plan was completed by Pike Engineering on 
May 20, 1992.  At the time this analysis was prepared, the infrastructure for the subdivision was contemplated;
however, it was not completed.  In 2008, the applicant completed the infrastructure according to the Specific Plan 
as part of the McMillan Mesa Village subdivision.  The road sections constructed within the subdivision changed 
from those identified in the specific plan to current public roadway standards.  The lane widths were reduced 
resulting in less pavement, five-foot parkways, 4 ½ or five-foot wide bike lanes, and a fifteen-foot wide median on 
N Gemini Drive.  N Pine Cliff drive south of the roundabout does not include medians but does include parking 
along the portion south of Pinion Court to accommodate for the residentially platted lots.  The developer of the 
subdivision was allowed to relocate the final location of the FUTS from the original specific plan in order to avoid 
steep slope conditions.

According to the ordinance that adopted the McMillan Mesa Village Specific Plan and granted the existing zoning 
entitlements, the developer was required to construct a traffic signal at the intersection of Gemini and Forest 
Avenue.  A Traffic Impact Analysis is required as part of a Concept Zoning Map Amendment application.  The 
applicant submitted a Traffic Statement letter, attached to this report that indicates the original Average Daily Trips 
per day are reduced from 21,334 to 7,769.  For this reason, a new Traffic Impact Analysis was not required.

Water 

A previous Water and Sewer Impact Study was completed for the McMillan Mesa Village subdivision in July 
2006.  After a review of the City water and sewer master model and previous impact study, the City of Flagstaff 
Utilities Department is of the opinion that the proposed Specific Plan and Concept Zoning Map Amendments 
will have no significant impact to existing off-site water and sewer infrastructure because of these amendments. 
The land use and intensity proposed can be served by existing infrastructure.  There is adequate existing 
capacity as long as water and sewer demands do not increase from the Specific Plan Amendment.  The original 
analysis used a housing density of 606 dwelling units and 74.6 acres of commercial development.  The McMillan 
Mesa Village subdivision lies within two water pressure zoned served by the City of Flagstaff.  Most of the project 
is served by the Zone A system and only a small part is served by the Zone B system.  The City required the 
developer to install a looped connection to both pressure zones.

Existing Zone A water infrastructure includes a twelve-inch (12”) diameter waterline tying into the 12” main 
located at the United States Geological Survey (USGS) facility.  The waterline then loops through the internal 
project, following the N Gemini Drive alignment, and ultimately connecting back to the Zone A system at the 
intersection of N Turquoise Drive and E Cedar Avenue.  The Zone B water infrastructure includes a connection to 
the internal Zone B water lines in N Pine Cliff Drive and N Manzanita Way.

The City is requiring that the applicant to construct a water storage tank sized to meet the development’s average 
daily usage plus two-hour fire flow.  The subdivisions anticipated average daily demand is 361,400 gallons, and the 
fire requirement of 1500 gpm for 2 hours is 180,000 gallons, so this subdivision will need to construct at 541,l400 
gallons of tankage.  The tank must be placed at an elevation that will provide adequate pressure for the Zone A 
system (approximately 7260’) and for the associated water lines.  The applicant has the option to use one of the 
City’s existing tank sites depending available space.  The City has indicated it may share the in the cost of any 
excess storage tank capacity if this excess capacity is determined to be in the City’s best interest.
Because the original development fell under the 800 single-family home usage threshold, there were no water 



PZ-15-00022 & PZ-15-00022-03
January 27, 2016
Page 9

production requirements for this subdivision.  Reclaimed water was not required or provided to the subdivision due 
to the significant level of infrastructure to provide such.

Wastewater

The existing 15” diameter Switzer Canyon trunk line is the connection point for all sewage flows generated by the 
McMillan Mesa Village subdivision.  The Switzer Canyon sewer collector system gravity flows to the south until it 
ultimately connected to a 33” RCP interceptor line in Foxglenn Park.  The applicant was required to make off-site 
modification to the existing sewer system for the subdivision including the replacement of the 33” sewer line, 
which connects manholes 23-063 and 23-058, with a 42” pipe.  This reach was approximately 2237’ feet in length 
and runs from Foxglenn Park to the intersection of E Butler Avenue.

Stormwater

Prior to the adoption of the McMillan Mesa Village Specific Plan, a Drainage Analysis for McMillan Mesa Village 
was prepared by Pike Engineering on May 21, 1991, with multiple revisions up to October 9, 1992.  In 2006, the 
applicant began the design and City submittals for construction of the subdivision infrastructure.  As a component 
of the design and construction of the infrastructure, the applicant hired Shephared Westnitzer, Inc. to provide a 
detailed hydrology study, also referred to as the Final Drainage report for McMillan Mesa Village.  The initial 
study, provided to the City on August 23, 2007, was revised on February 7, 2008 with the last revision published 
on March 12, 2014.

The current proposal would take approximately 21.32 new acres out of commercial development design standards 
and replace it with medium density residential that allows for a maximum building coverage of 40% and a height 
restriction of 35 feet in addition to the reduction of density from an adjacent parcel.  The applicant has shown that 
these reductions in concert with low-impact development design required for each parcel, allow the sub-regional 
basin to function more efficiently by reducing the impervious cover and decreasing the density of development.  
The regional detention ponds have been built and it is anticipated that the ponds will be modified as needed for the 
actual development that occurs on each development area.  

Parks and Recreation

The closest City-owned parks to the site are Buffalo Park, a regional recreational facility, and Ponderosa Park a 
neighborhood facility.  The subject properties are adequately serviced by recreational facilities, however, each 
residentially developed site will need to provide 5% civic space in addition to 15% open space. Staff is confident 
that the park and recreational needs of the residents of the proposed development will be met through these 
amenities provided on and off-site.

OTHER REQUIREMENTS:

Natural and Cultural Resources

The subject property is located within the Resource Protection Overlay (RPO) zone as defined by Section 10-50.90.020.A of 
the Zoning Code (Page 50.90-2).  There are no defined floodplains on any of the subject properties.  The Natural Resource 



PZ-15-00022 & PZ-15-00022-03
January 27, 2016
Page 10

Protection Plan (NRPP) approved with the McMillan Mesa Village subdivision, a copy of which is attached to this report, 
identifies the required preservation rates for the proposed zoning category.  In accordance with Table 10-50.90.060.A of the 
Zoning Code (Page 50.90-7), forest resources within a residential development must be protected at a 50 percent threshold. 

Regarding cultural resources, the Historic Preservation Officer reviewed this application and did not require a cultural 
resource study as the site has already been disturbed through the construction of the subdivision infrastructure.

Citizen Participation

The applicant held two neighborhood meetings in regards to this request. The first meeting was held March 24, 2015 prior 
to the official submittal of these applications.  The meeting was held at Basis School and was attended by 32 interested 
citizens.  Concerns were presented in regards to increased traffic, project design, stormwater management, public 
transportation, dark skies, and overall project design.  A second meeting was held January 13, 2016 at the Aquaplex with 55 
citizens in attendance.  A presentation on the project was given along with a handout that described the request.  The overall 
concern presented for any further development on McMillan Mesa is the state of the traffic as it exists today.  Input was 
received from some that commercial development is the preferred use in order to bring more high paying jobs to Flagstaff,  
concerns about invasive weeds, and concerns about the designs of the structures.  Four comment cards were received which 
focused on open space, traffic, viewsheds, fewer impacts with commercial development, and whether or not there is a need 
for more development.  As of the writing of the this report staff has received two emails in regards to this case, which are 
attached to this report.

DISCUSSION:

The proposed Specific Plan Amendment and Concept Zoning Map Amendment in conjunction with the minor Regional Plan 
Amendment, are consistent with the goals and policies of the Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 and the intent of the Zoning 
Code. The applicant has chosen to pursue an alternative development path for the McMillan Mesa Village subdivision that 
is more compatible with the surrounding development on McMillan Mesa.  These requests reduce the overall density and 
intensity of development that was originally planned for McMillan Mesa and are more consistent with the Regional Plan 
designation of Suburban.

Research and Development uses are considered very significant due to their potential to generate high wage employment 
opportunities, an important concern for Flagstaff.   Staff has reviewed the supply of Research and Development (RD) Zoning 
within the City and has determined that there are approximately 486 acres of land under this designation.  The amount of 
land proposed to be rezoned from RD constitutes about 3% of the total lands within the RD zone and 7% of the total vacant 
land within the RD zone. Staff does not believe this request to rezone 13.66 acres from RD to MR will substantially affect 
the supply of lands currently zoned for employment type uses.  The applicants are also requesting the removal of 7.67 acres 
of land from the Suburban Commercial (SC) zone.  This particular parcel has access constraints that significantly decrease 
the value of this parcel for commercial development.  Staff has discussed the potential of relocating this suburban 
commercially zoned parcel with the applicant near the four-way intersection of N Gemini Drive and E Forest Avenue, which 
could provide some of the daily needs to the neighborhood.

RECOMMENDATION:

If the minor Regional Plan and Specific Plan Amendments are approved, the rezoning request will comply with the Regional 
Plan and the McMillan Mesa Specific Plan.  Pending approval of the Regional Plan Amendment, staff believes that the 
proposed Specific Plan Amendment and Concept Zoning Map Amendment are in substantial conformance with the Flagstaff
Regional Plan 2030 and recommends the Planning & Zoning Commission forward the request to the City Council with a 



PZ-15-00022 & PZ-15-00022-03
January 27, 2016
Page 11

recommendation approving an amendment to the Specific Plan and Zoning Map for 7.67 acres in the Suburban Commercial 
(SC) zone to the Medium Density Residential (MR) zone, 13.66 acres from the Research and Development (RD) zone to the 
Medium Density Residential (MR) zone, and 4.84 acres in the Single-Family Residential (R1) zone to Public Opens Space 
(POS) zone subject to the following conditions, which will be included into the Specific Plan and Zoning Map Amendment 
ordinance:

1. The subject property shall be developed in substantial conformance to the conceptual plans as submitted to the 
maximum extent feasible.  Development Areas C and D1 shall consist of single-story cottage units and Development 
Area D3 shall consist of single-family homes.

2. Development Area B of the McMillan Mesa Village Specific Plan shall conform to the density allowances of the 
High Density Residential (HR) Zone and Development Areas C, D1 and D3 of the McMillan Mesa Village Specific 
Plan shall conform to the density allowances of the Medium Density Residential (MR) zone as listed below and 
included within the amended specific plan:

Development Area B -246 dwelling units
Development Area C – 69.03 dwelling units
Development Area D1 – 66.15 dwelling units
Development Area D3 – 56.7 dwelling units

3. The applicant shall provide twenty-five (25) copies of the revised McMillan Mesa Specific Plan with staff’s attached 
amendment pages upon recordation of the Ordinance amending this plan. 

4. Architectural design standards shall be applied to all elevations that front/face public rights-of-ways, designated 
open space areas, and Flagstaff Urban Trail System (FUTS) trails.

5. A weed abatement plan shall be developed and implemented for the maintenance of open areas within the 
development areas subject to this request including the detention basins.

6. A landscape plan shall be prepared and implemented for the medians on N. Pine Cliff Drive and N Gemini Drive 
in conjunction with the site plan applications for Development Areas C, D1 or D3. 

7. All fencing abutting rights-of-ways, designated open space areas, and Flagstaff Urban Trail System (FUTS) trails 
shall be developed in concert with one overall design.

ATTACHMENTS

o Zoning Map Amendment Application
o Current City of Flagstaff Zoning Map
o Public Hearing Legal Advertisements
o Water & Sewer Impact Analysis compliance letter 10-27-15
o Traffic Impact Statement 9-22-15
o Drainage Impact Statement 9-30-15
o Staff Revised McMillan Mesa Village Specific Plan replacement pages
o Citizen Comment Emails 
o Applicant’s Submittal Package

Project Narrative
Concept Plans & Elevations
Site Analysis Map
Vicinity Map
Context Analysis Map
Final Plat for McMillan Mesa Village
McMillan Mesa Village Specific Plan
Ordinance No. 1779



PZ-15-00022 & PZ-15-00022-03
January 27, 2016
Page 12

McMillan Mesa Village Specific Plan replacement pages
Citizen Participation Report
Development Agreement
Natural Resource Protection Plan











31 64 52

7 98 11

2321

17 20

13

1514

24

28

2522

12

18

29

1916

27

10

26

This map is known as the "City of Flagstaff Official Zoning Map" or the
"City of Flagstaff Official Regulating Plan," and is intended to implement
the City of Flagstaff Zoning Code per Ordinance 2011-20 adopted on
11/01/2011 and all subsequent amendments. These maps are based on
the most accurate graphic information available at the time they were
produced. The City of Flagstaff furnishes these maps "as is" and assumes
no responsibility for their accuracy. All zoning information should be
verified by legal description whenever possible.

SULLIVAN

E ARROYO
SECO DR

EOLIV

INE

WAY

N DIABASEWAY

E COLUMBIA
SHORE

N MAGMA

WAY

E DISCOVERY LN

N ATLANTIS

WAY

N
OT

TO
DR

N
MORIAH

DR

FELICE
AVE

CEDARAVE

ASHURST
AVE

WHITING
RD

WHIPPLE
RD

HI
LL

TO
PD

R

SE
VI

LL
E LN

PINON CT

FULLER
WAY

FRANKLINAVE

CA
MB

RI
DG

E LN

CAN
YON

VI
EW

DR

ER
NE

ST
ST

DEANNA
DR

BENTONAVE

COLANTHE
AVE

DUPONTAVE

ELLERYAVE

FINEAVE

ELMAVE

ASPEN AVE

SULLIVANAVE

CHERRYAVE

DESILVAAVE

HUNTAVE

BIRCHAVE

FIRST
AVE

SIXTH
AVE

THIRD AVE

FIFTH
AVE

HU
MP

HR
EY

S S
T

HIL
LS

ID
E S

T

FOURTH
AVE

SECOND
AVE

ASTRO
LN

WI
NDS O

R
LN

AG
AS

SIZ
 ST

VE
RD

E
ST

LE
RO

UX
 ST

ELD
EN

ST

RE
GE

NT
 S

T

FOR E ST

VIEW
DR

ELMAVE

BA
BB

ITT
DR

LINDA
VISTA DR

W
EST ST

KA
TC

HI
NA

DR

FELICE
AVE

PONDER
OS

A

PKWY

DORTHA
AVE

VE
RD

E
ST

BEAVER
ST

GABEL ST LU
MB

ER ST

BEAL RD

TH
IR

D 
ST

FOURTH
AVE

JAY ST

THIRD AVE

MAPLE
AVE

JOHNSON
AVE

PONDEROSAPKWY

DALEAVE

SIXTH
AVE

LE
RO

UX
 ST

PHOENIXAVE

COTTAGEAVE

COLORADOST

SA
N F

RA
NC

ISC
O 

ST

MONTE

VISTA DR

AG
AS

SIZ
 ST

CHU RCHILLDR

APPLEWAY

CIRCLE
VIEW

DR

CIRCLE DR

SWITZER DR

CL
EA

R
VIE

W
 D

R

CENTER ST

B RANNEN
AVE

SU
NS

ET
 D

R

WILLIAM RD

KE
ND

RI
CK ST

PICCADILLY DR

CRESTVIEW DR

DORTHA
AVE

EA
ST

 S
T

IZA
BE

L S
T

SE
CO

ND
 S

T

WE
ST

 S
T

FIR
ST

 S
T

MA
IN

 S
T

RI
M 

DR

BRONCO

WAY

APOLLO

WAY

PI
NE

CL
IFF

DR

IZA
BE

L S
T

FO
UN

TA
IN

E S
T

LO
MA

LA
I L

N

BE
AV

ER
 ST SA

N
FR

AN
CI

SC
O

ST

P INECLIFF DR

EL DEN
ST

CE
NT

ER
 S

T

HAVASUPAI RD

O'
LE

AR
Y S

T

ME
AD

OW
LA

RK
 D

R

HU

TCHESON

DR

MA
RI

ON
 D

R

GR
AN

T S
T

ARROWHEADAVECANYON

TERRACE DR

SA
N

FR
AN

CI
SC

O 
ST

KENSINGTON DR

PIUTE RD

MA
NZ

AN
ITA

 W
AY SPRUCE

AVE

EV
ER

GR
EE

N 
DR

MA
IN

 S
T

RIV ER
RUN RD

JUNIPER
AVE

CHERRY

AVE

EA
ST

ST

AR
IS 

ST

EL
LE

N 
ST

APACHE RD

HEM L OC K
W AY

OAK
AVE

IZA
BE

L S
T

JAMES ST

JUNIPER
AVE

TERRACE AVE

NAVAJO RD

SA
W

MI
LL

 R
D

WE
ST

 S
T

CE
NT

ER
 S

T

MA
IN

 S
T

FIR
ST

 S
T

EA
ST

 S
T

OAK
AVE

CEDAR
AVE

PINE
AVE

EAST ST MAIN ST

ROSE ST

TH
IR

D 
ST

TU
RQ

UO
IS

E D
R

HILLTOP
AVE

DAVID DR

FR
ON

TA
GE

RD ME
SA

 D
R

CHARLESRD

BERTRAND
ST

SILVER
SPRUCE AVE

PHILOMENA DR

LUCKY LN

LOCUST ST

FIR
AVE

HEROLD

RANCH RD

GE
MI

N I
DR

LUCKY LN

TURQUOISE DR

MOUNTAIN
VIEW AVE

GEMINI DR

OLD CANYON CT

ANDERSON
RD

BUCKINGHAM LN

SHERWOOD LN GEORGE ST

GRANDVIEW DR

WORTHINGTON PL
COLUMBUSAVE

HU
MP

HR
EY

S S
T

SA
N

FR
AN

CI
SC

O
S T

SA
N

FR
AN

CI
SC

O 
ST

CEDAR
AVE

LO
NE

TR
EE

R D

BUTLER
AVE

PONDEROSA
PKWY

BUTLER
AVE

SWITZER

CANYON DR

BE
AV

ER
 ST

HUNTINGTON DR

BUTLER
AVE

FOREST
AVE

CE
DA

R
AV

E

£¤66

£¤180

£¤66

£¤66

RD

CB

CB

CC

CC

CC

CC

CC

CC

CC

CC

CC CC

CS

ER

ER

ER

HC HC
HC HC

HC
HC

HC

HC

HC

HC

HC

HI

HR

HR

HR

HR

HR

HRHR

HR
HR

HR
HR

LILI

LI

LI-O

MH

MR

MR
MR

MR

MR

MR

MR

OS

PF
PF

PF
PF

PF

PF

PF

PF

R1

R1

R1

R1

R1

R1

R1

R1 R1
R1

R1N

RR

RR

RR

RR

SC

RR

LI

City of Flagstaff Zoning Map 9
Residential Zones:

Rural Residential (RR)
Estate Residential (ER)
Single-family Residential (R1)

! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! Single-family Residential Neighborhood (R1N)
Medium Density Residential (MR)
High Density Residential (HR)
Manufactured Housing (MH)

Commercial Zones:
Central Business (CB)
Highway Commercial (HC)
Commercial Service (CS)
Community Commercial (CC)
Suburban Commercial (SC)

Industrial Zones:
Research and Development (RD)
Light Industrial (LI)

! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! Light Industrial Open (LI-O)
Heavy Industrial (HI)

! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! Heavy Industrial Open (HI-O)
Resource and Open Space:

Public Facility (PF)
Public Lands Forest (PLF)
Open Space (OS)

Airport Overlay Zone

Downtown Overlay Zone

Townsite Overlay Zone

Landmark Overlay Zone

Regulating Plan Boundary

City Limits

Parcels

3

6/26/2015

0 500 1,000 1,500 2,000 Feet



NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Flagstaff Planning 
and Zoning Commission will hold a public hearing on 
Wednesday, January 27, 2016 at 4:00 pm at the City of 
Flagstaff Aquaplex Community Meeting Room and
Wednesday, February 10, 2016 at 4:00 pm at City Hall 
Council Chambers to consider the following:

A. Explanation of Matters to be Considered:

1. A proposed amendment to the Flagstaff Regional 
Plan Map 21 and 22 to change the area type of 6.31
acres from Area in White to Existing Suburban on the
site described in Part B below.

2. A proposed amendment to the McMillan Mesa Village 
Specific Plan to change the zoning districts and 
development options for 46.09 acres on the site 
described in Part B below.

3. A proposed amendment to the official City of Flagstaff 
zoning map to rezone property from RD, Research, 
and Development to MR, Medium Density Residential
(13.66 acres), from SC, Suburban Commercial to MR, 
Medium Density Residential (7.67 acres) and from 
R1, Single-family Residential to POS, Public Open 
Space (4.84 acres) for the area described in Part B 
below.  

The proposed Regional Plan Amendment, Specific Plan 
Amendment, and Zoning Map Amendment will allow for 
the transfer of approximately 199 dwelling units to three 
separate tracts, preserve an existing residentially zoned 
tract as open space and remove Research and 
Development and Commercial uses.

B. General Description of the Affected Area:

Approximately 46.09 acres located on McMillan Mesa, 
Coconino County Assessor’s Parcel Numbers 101-46-
002B, 101-46-003, 101-46-004, 101-46-006, 101-31-110
and 101-28-007F, located in the NE 1/4 Section 15 T21N, 
R7E, of the G&SRM, City of Flagstaff, Coconino County, 
Arizona, as shown on the adjacent map. 

Interested parties may file comments in writing regarding 
the proposed Zoning Map Amendment, Specific Plan 
Amendment and/or Regional Plan Amendment or may 
appear and be heard at the hearing date set forth above.  
Maps and information regarding the proposed Zoning Map 
Amendment, Specific Plan Amendment, and/or Regional 
Plan Amendment are available at the City of Flagstaff, 
Planning and Development Services Division, 211 West 
Aspen Avenue.

The first Planning and Zoning Commission meeting will be 
held in the Community Meeting Room at the City of 
Flagstaff Aquaplex, 1702 N 4th Street, Flagstaff, AZ. The 
second meeting will be held in Council Chambers at City 
Hall, 211 West Aspen Avenue, Flagstaff, AZ.

For further information, please contact:

Tiffany Antol
Planning Development Manager 
Planning & Development Services Div. 
211 West Aspen Avenue
Flagstaff, Arizona 86001  
928-213-2608
Email: tantol@flagstaffaz.gov
Mail:  January 12, 2016

PROPOSED REGIONAL PLAN AMENDMENT
Map 21 and Map 22 area type changes within the subject 

site from Area in White to Existing Suburban

PROPOSED SPECIFIC PLAN AMENDMENT
Amend the zoning district and development options for 
49.95 acres in the McMillan Mesa Village Specific Plan

PROPOSED ZONING MAP AMENDMENT
From Research and Development (RD) Zone and 
Suburban Commercial (SC) to Medium Density 

Residential (MR) Zone and from Single-family Residential 
(R1) to Public Open Space (POS)























DEVELOPMENT AREA B 22.92 acres* 

Zoning District     High Density Residential 

Development Option    Planned 

Specific Performance Standards 

Planned Development 
Maximum Gross DUA   22 
Minimum OSR          .20 
Maximum Net DUA   28 
Maximum Building Height  45 feet 
Parking – See Flagstaff Zoning Code Table 10-50.80.040.A 
Maximum Dwelling Units   246

Restrictions 

1)  No buildings will be constructed westerly of the cliff line between mesa top and Turquoise Drive.  This is 
approximately the dashed line on the plan and described below.  Utility easements and trails will be permitted in the 
sloe area.  See Appendix A for line definition. 

2) Building height shall be limited to one story within 100 feet of Forest Avenue right-of-way as illustrated on 
Exhibit “H” of the Specific Plan. 

3)  Setbacks from Forest Avenue right-of-way will be 50 feet for buildings and parking as illustrated on Exhibit “H” 
of the specific plan. 

NOTE:  See also the first page of this section for description of other development criteria and controls.  The above 
areas and standards are for planning purposes only.  The Flagstaff Zoning Code should be consulted for current 
specific standards. 

*Base Site Area 



DEVELOPMENT AREA C 7.67 acres* 

Zoning District     Medium Density Residential 

Development Option    Planned 

Specific Performance Standards 

Planned Development 
Maximum Gross DUA   9
Maximum OSR           .15 
Maximum Net DUA       9 
Maximum Building Height  35 feet 
Parking – See Flagstaff Zoning Code Table 10-50.80.040.A 
Maximum Dwelling Units  69.03

Restrictions 

1) Rear minimum setback may be reduced for zones not subject to the Resource Protection Overlay when a minimum 
of 350 sf of open yard are per unit is provided. 

2) If a Planned Residential Development is applied to parcel, the minimum width and depth of a lot may vary based 
on the minimum lot standards applicable to the building types selected for application within a Planned Residential 
Development (See Flagstaff Zoning Code Section 10-40.60.270.)

3) “Open Space” includes active and passive recreation uses, landscape areas, community gardens and any credit for 
open space deed restriction provided for in conveyance of Parcel Ic to Owner’s Association. 

4) Parcel C may be combined with Parcel D1 for development of one parcel. 

The Flagstaff Zoning Code and any subsequent amendments thereto, should be consulted for current specific 
standards. 

*Base Site Area 



DEVELOPMENT AREA D1 7.35 acres* 

Zoning District     Medium Density Residential 

Development Option    Planned 

Specific Performance Standards 

Planned Development 
Maximum Gross DUA   9
Maximum OSR          .15 
Maximum Net DUA      9 
Maximum Building Height  35 feet 
Parking – See Flagstaff Zoning Code Table 10-50.80.040.A 
Maximum Dwelling Units  66.15 

Restrictions 

1) Rear minimum setback may be reduced for zones not subject to the Resource Protection Overlay when a minimum 
of 350 sf of open yard are per unit is provided. 

2) If a Planned Residential Development is applied to parcel, the minimum width and depth of a lot may vary based 
on the minimum lot standards applicable to the building types selected for application within a Planned Residential 
Development (See Flagstaff Zoning Code Section 10-40.60.270.) 

3) “Open Space” includes active and passive recreation uses, landscape areas, community gardens and any credit for 
open space deed restriction provided for in conveyance of Parcel Ic to Owner’s Association. 

4) Parcel D1 may be combined with Parcel C for development of one parcel. 

The Flagstaff Zoning Code and any subsequent amendments thereto, should be consulted for current specific 
standards. 

*Base Site Area 



DEVELOPMENT AREA D2 1.95 acres* 

Zoning District     Business Park 

Development Option    Business Park Uses 

Specific Performance Standards 

a) Business Park Use 
Maximum Gross FAR  .33 
Minimum LSR    .35 
Maximum Net FAR   .50 
Maximum Building Height  35 feet 
Parking – See Flagstaff Zoning Code Table 10-50.80.040.A
Maximum Scale   Community 
Maximum Floor Area   385,211 SF 

b) All Other Uses 
Maximum Gross FAR   .30 
Minimum LSR    .40 
Maximum Net FAR   .55 
Maximum Building Height  40 feet 
Parking – See Flagstaff Zoning Code Table 10-50.80.040.A
Maximum Scale   Community 
Maximum Floor Area   355,580 SF 

Restrictions 

The Flagstaff Zoning Code and any subsequent amendments thereto, should be consulted for current specific 
standards. 

*Base Site Area 



DEVELOPMENT AREA D3 6.3 acres* 

Zoning District     Medium Density Residential 

Development Option    Planned 

Specific Performance Standards 

Planned Development 
Maximum Gross DUA   9
Maximum OSR           .15 
Maximum Net DUA      9 
Maximum Building Height  35 feet 
Parking – See Flagstaff Zoning Code Table 10-50.80.040.A 
Maximum Dwelling Units  56.7  

Restrictions 

1) Rear minimum setback may be reduced for zones not subject to the Resource Protection Overlay when a minimum 
of 350 sf of open yard are per unit is provided. 

2) If a Planned Residential Development is applied to parcel, the minimum width and depth of a lot may vary based 
on the minimum lot standards applicable to the building types selected for application within a Planned Residential 
Development (See Flagstaff Zoning Code Section 10-40.60.270.) 

3) “Open Space” includes active and passive recreation uses, landscape areas, community gardens and any credit for 
open space deed restriction provided for in conveyance of Parcel Ic to Owner’s Association. 

The Flagstaff Zoning Code and any subsequent amendments thereto, should be consulted for current specific 
standards.  See also Chapter 11-20 Subdivision and Split Regulations for subdivision design standards and 
requirements. 

*Base Site Area 



DEVELOPMENT AREA E 7.8 acres* 

Zoning District     Business Park 

Development Option   Transportation Corridor 
Business Park Uses 

Specific Performance Standards 

a) Business Park Use 
Maximum Gross FAR  .33 
Minimum LSR   .35 
Maximum Net FAR   .50 
Maximum Building Height 35 feet 
Parking – See Flagstaff Zoning Code Table 10-50.80.040.A
Maximum Scale   Community 
Maximum Floor Area   110,424 SF 

b) All Other Uses 
Maximum Gross FAR   .30 
Minimum LSR    .40 
Maximum Net FAR   .55 
Maximum Building Height  40 feet 
Parking – See Flagstaff Zoning Code Table 10-50.80.040.A
Maximum Scale   Community 
Maximum Floor Area   101,930 SF 

Restrictions 

1) Setback from the Forest Ave right-of-way shall be a minimum of 75 feet for buildings and parking. 

2) Building height shall be limited to one story within 100 feet of Forest Ave. 

3) No commercial lodging will be allowed. 

4) No restaurant development option will be allowed. 

NOTE:  See also the first page of this section for description of other development criteria and controls.  The above 
areas and standards are for planning purposes only.  The Flagstaff Zoning Code should be consulted for current 
specific standards. 

*Base Site Area 



DEVELOPMENT AREA F 27.50 acres* 

Zoning District    Business Park 

Development Option    Business Park Uses 

Specific Performance Standards 

a) Business Park Use 
Maximum Gross FAR  .33 
Minimum LSR    .35 
Maximum Net FAR   .50 
Maximum Building Height  35 feet 
Parking – See Flagstaff Zoning Code Table 10-50.80.040.A
Maximum Scale   Community 
Maximum Floor Area   389,317 SF 

b) All Other Uses 
Maximum Gross FAR   .30 
Minimum LSR    .40 
Maximum Net FAR   .55 
Maximum Building Height  40 feet 
Parking – See Flagstaff Zoning Code Table 10-50.80.040.A
Maximum Scale   Community 
Maximum Floor Area   359, 370 SF 

Restrictions 

1) Setback from the Forest Ave right-of-way shall be a minimum of 75 feet for buildings and parking. 

2) Building height shall be limited to one story within 100 feet of Forest Ave. 

3) No commercial lodging will be allowed. 

4) Restaurant development option shall be limited to one restaurant of the full service, sit down type, with no drive 
through or fast food characteristics. It shall be limited to a size of 7,500 square feet and be located at least 250 feet 
from the northwest corner of the development area. 

5) Fifty percent (50%) of the trees located in the tree protection area, as shown on Exhibit I of the Specific Plan, and 
having a DBH of six (6) inches or more shall be retained and protected.  Prior to development approval of area “D”, 
the protection are, as illustrated on Exhibit I shall be legally described. 

NOTE:  See also the first page of this section for description of other development criteria and controls.  The above 
areas and standards are for planning purposes only.  The Flagstaff Zoning Code should be consulted for current 
specific standards. 

*Base Site Area 



DEVELOPMENT AREA G 2.48 acres* 

Parcel formerly referred to as Parcel G in the McMillan Mesa Specific Plan is now referred to as Parcel D3.  (see 
COFlagstaff Land Swap with MMV Devco, LLC dated 12/21/2007) 



DEVELOPMENT AREA H 8.07* acres 

Parcel not subject of Specific Plan Amendment: currently developed as affordable housing by Flagstaff Senior 
Living. 



DEVELOPMENT AREA I 10.84 acres* and 11 platted lots (1.82 ac) 

Zoning District     
R-1 10.62 ac 
HR      .22 ac 
Lots   1.82 ac 

Development Option    Planned 
Single Family 

Specific Performance Standards 

Planned Development 
Maximum Gross DUA     4.55 
Minimum OSR        .30 
Maximum Net DUA   10.00 
Maximum Building Height  35 feet 
Minimum Site Area   10 ac 
Parking – See Flagstaff Zoning Code Table 10-50.80.040.A 

Site Capacities Calculated 
Dwelling Units – Sub-Area I(a)  48.31 
Dwelling Units – Sub-Area I(b)    3.92 
Dwelling Units – Sub-Area I(c)   0.00 
Total for Sub-Areas I(a-c)  52.23 
Platted Lots – Sub-area I(d)  11      
Maximum Dwelling Units 63  

Density Transfer 
The maximum yield site capacity for residential units from Development Sub-Area I(c) (4.982 ac) shall be 
transferred to Development Sub-Area Ia or Development Area H on the condition and with the restriction that 
Development Sub-Area Ic shall remain undeveloped Open Space, with no future right to any residential use.  The 
development site capacity for residential use of Development Sub-Areas Ia and Ib shall be the sum of the calculated 
site capacity of Development Sub-Areas Ia, Ib, and Ic under their current zoning.  See Appendix A. 

Restrictions 

1) No buildings will be constructed in the steep slow protection area.  See Appendix A for line definition. 

2) Building shall be limited to two stories. 

3) Only single family detached housing types will be permitted in that portion of Area I located south of Pinon Court.  

4) Parcel Ic is designated as Open Space. 

NOTE:  See also the first page of this section for description of other development criteria and controls.  The above 
areas and standards are for planning purposes only.  The Flagstaff Zoning Code should be consulted for current 
specific standards. 

*Base Site Area 











































































































































































































 
 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2016-14 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF, 
AMENDING THE FLAGSTAFF ZONING MAP TO REZONE APPROXIMATELY 
26.17 ACRES OF REAL PROPERTY LOCATED ON MCMILLAN MESA, FROM 
SUBURBAN COMMERCIAL (“SC”) TO MEDIUM DENSITY RESIDENTIAL 
(“MR”) FOR 7.67 ACRES, FROM RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT (“RD”) 
TO MEDIUM DENSITY RESIDENTIAL (“MR”) FOR 13.66 ACRES, AND FROM 
RESIDENTIAL SINGLE-FAMILY (“R1”) TO PUBLIC OPEN SPACE (“POS”) 
FOR 4.84 ACRES, AND AMENDING THE MCMILLAN MESA VILLAGE 
SPECIFIC PLAN TO REALLOCATE 192 DWELLING UNITS FROM 
DEVELOPMENT AREA B TO DEVELOPMENT AREAS C, D1 AND D3; 
PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY, AND ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE 

 
 
RECITALS: 
 
WHEREAS, MMV Devco LLC (the “Applicant”), applied for a Concept Zoning Map Amendment 
and McMillan Mesa Village Specific Plan Amendment for approximately 26.17 acres of land 
located on McMillan Mesa, Coconino County, Arizona, a legal description of which is provided in 
Exhibits “A, B, C and I-C” attached hereto (“the Property”), in order to construct residential 
development in lieu of commercial and research and development uses; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Applicant proposes to develop the Property pursuant to the terms and 
conditions of this Ordinance and the existing Development Agreement between Applicant and 
the City (“Agreement”); and  
 
WHEREAS, in furtherance of the Applicant’s development plans, the Applicant has applied to 
the City of Flagstaff to amend the zoning of the Property from the Suburban Commercial (SC) 
zone to the Medium Density Residential (MR) zone for approximately 7.67 acres, from 
Research and Development (RD) zone to Medium Density Residential (MR) zone for 
approximately 13.66 acres, and from Residential Single-family (R1) zone to Public Open Space 
for approximately 4.84 acres, and to amend the McMillan Mesa Village Specific Plan to 
reallocate 192 dwelling units from Development Area B to Development Areas C, D1, and D3; 
and  
 
WHEREAS, the Applicant conducted neighborhood meetings on March 24, 2015, and January 
13, 2016, to discuss the proposed Zoning Map Amendment with the surrounding community, as 
required by Section 10-20.50.040 of the Flagstaff Zoning Code; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission has formally considered the present  
Concept Zoning Map Amendment and McMillan Mesa Village Specific Plan Amendment 
applications following proper notice and public hearings on January 27, 2016, and February 10, 
2016, and has recommended approval of the requested zoning and specific plan amendment 
applications, subject to the Applicant’s compliance with certain conditions set forth below; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Council finds that the Applicant has complied with all application requirements 
set forth in Chapter 10-20 of the Flagstaff Zoning Code; and 
 



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-14  PAGE 2 
 
 
WHEREAS, the staff has recommended approval of the Concept Zoning Map Amendment and 
McMillan Mesa Village Specific Plan Amendment applications, subject to the conditions 
proposed by the Planning and Zoning Commission, as augmented by staff, as set forth below, 
and the Council has considered each of the conditions and has found each condition to be 
appropriate for the Property and necessary for the proposed development; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Council has read and considered the staff reports prepared by the Planning 
Division and all attachments to those reports, the Applicant’s application, the narrative provided 
by the Applicant, and all statements made by the Applicant during the presentation to Council, 
and the Council finds that the proposed Concept Zoning Map Amendment and McMillan Mesa 
Specific Plan Amendment, subject to the conditions set forth below, meets the findings required 
by Section 10-20.50.040(F)(1)(a) of the Flagstaff Zoning Code. 
 
 
ENACTMENTS: 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF 
AS FOLLOWS: 
 
SECTION 1.  The foregoing recitals are incorporated as if fully set forth herein. 
 
SECTION 2.  The amendment requested in the application is consistent with and conforms to 
the goals of the General Plan. 
 
SECTION 3.  The amendment requested in the application will not be detrimental to the public 
interest, health, safety, convenience or welfare of the City and will add to the public good as 
described in the General Plan. 
 
SECTION 4.  The affected site is physically suitable in terms of design, location, shape, size, 
operating characteristics, and the provision of public and emergency vehicle access and public 
services and utilities to ensure that the amendment requested in the application will not 
endanger, jeopardize or otherwise constitute a hazard to the property or improvements in the 
vicinity in which the property is located. 
 
SECTION 5.  The Zoning Map designation for the Property is hereby amended from the 
Suburban Commercial (SC) zone to the Medium Density Residential (MR) zone for 
approximately 7.67 acres as depicted in Exhibit “A”, from the Research and Development (RD) 
zone to the Medium Density Residential (MR) zone for approximately 13.66 acres as depicted in 
Exhibits “B” and “C”, and from Residential Single-family (R1) zone to Public Open Space (POS) 
zone as depicted in Exhibit “I-C”, through the approval of the application and all other 
documents attached to the staff summary submitted in support of this ordinance. 
 
SECTION 6.  The McMillan Mesa Village Specific plan shall be amended to reallocate 
approximately 192 dwelling units from Development Area B to Development Areas C, D1, and 
D3, and to amend the development options for Development Areas B, C, D1 and D3, as 
depicted in Exhibit “D” (revised pages of McMillan Mesa Village Specific Plan).  The remainder 
of the McMillan Mesa Village Specific Plan, as approved by Ordinance No. 1779, shall remain in 
full force and effect. 
  
SECTION 7.  The City is specifically relying on all assertions made by the Applicant, or the 
applicant’s representatives, whether authorized or not, made at the public hearing on the zone 



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-14  PAGE 3 
 
 
change application unless the assertions were withdrawn on the record.  Those assertions are 
hereby incorporated into this ordinance. 
 
SECTION 8.  That the Concept Zoning Map Amendment and McMillan Mesa Village Specific 
Plan Amendment be conditioned on compliance with that Agreement between the City of 
Flagstaff and the Applicant, approved by the City Council and recorded under instrument 
number 3432671 on April 4, 2007. 
 
SECTION 9.  That the Zoning Map Amendment and McMillan Mesa Village Specific Plan 
Amendment be further conditioned upon the Applicant’s satisfaction of the following conditions 
proposed by the Planning and Zoning Commission, as augmented by staff: 
 
CONDITIONS: 
 

1. The subject property shall be developed in substantial conformance to the conceptual plans 
as submitted to the maximum extent feasible.  Development Areas C and D1 shall consist 
of single-story cottage units and Development Area D3 shall consist of single-family homes. 
 

2. Development Area B of the McMillan Mesa Village Specific Plan shall conform to the 
density allowances of the High Density Residential (HR) Zone and Development Areas C, 
D1, and D3 of the McMillan Mesa Village Specific Plan shall conform to the density 
allowances of the Medium Density Residential (MR) zone as listed below and included 
within the amended specific plan: 

• Development Area B – 246 dwelling units 
• Development Area C – 69.03 dwelling units 
• Development Area D1 – 66.15 dwelling units 
• Development Area D3 – 56.7 dwelling units 

 
3. The Applicant shall provide twenty-five (25) copies of the revised McMillan Mesa Specific 

Plan with staff’s attached amended pages upon recordation of the Ordinance amending this 
plan.  
 

4. Architectural design standards shall be applied to all elevations that front/face public right-
of-ways, designated open space areas, and Flagstaff Urban Trail System (FUTS) trails. 

 
5. A weed abatement plan shall be developed and implemented for the maintenance of 

open areas within the development areas subject to this request including the detention 
basins. 
 

6. A landscape plan shall be prepared and implemented for the medians on N. Pine Cliff 
Drive and N. Gemini Drive in conjunction with the site plan applications for Development 
Areas C, D1 or D3.  

 
7. All fencing abutting right-of-ways, designated open space areas, and Flagstaff Urban 

Trail System (FUTS) trails shall be developed in concert with one overall consistent 
design. 
 

8. Development Area D3 shall maintain a direct access with the adjacent FUTS trail as 
shown on the concept plan. 
 



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-14  PAGE 4 
 
 
SECTION 10.  That City staff is hereby authorized to take such other and further measures and 
actions as are necessary and appropriate to carry out the terms, provisions and intents of this 
Ordinance. 
 
SECTION 11.  If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase or portion of this ordinance 
or any part of the code adopted herein by reference is for any reason held to be invalid or 
unconstitutional by the decision of any court of competent jurisdiction, such decision shall not 
affect the validity of the remaining portions thereof. 
 
SECTION 12.  This ordinance shall become effective thirty (30) days following adoption by the 
City Council. 
 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Flagstaff this 5th day of April, 2016. 
 
 
 
 
 
   
 MAYOR 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
  
CITY CLERK 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
 
  
CITY ATTORNEY 



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-14  PAGE 5 
 
 

Exhibit “A” 
 

Legal Description of Property 



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-14  PAGE 6 
 
 

Exhibit “B” 
 

Legal Description of New Zoning 



Exhibit A

Parcel C, McMillan Mesa Village Subdivision, as recorded may 9, 2008, in Instrument No. 3488287, 
records of Coconino county, Arizona and thereafter Affidavit of Correction recorded February 23, 2009 
in Instrument No. 3514405.



Exhibit B

Parcel D1, McMillan Mesa Village Subdivision, as recorded may 9, 2008, in Instrument No. 3488287, 
records of Coconino county, Arizona and thereafter Affidavit of Correction recorded February 23, 2009 
in Instrument No. 3514405.



Exhibit C

Parcel D1, McMillan Mesa Village Subdivision, as recorded may 9, 2008, in Instrument No. 3488287, 
records of Coconino county, Arizona and thereafter Affidavit of Correction recorded February 23, 2009 
in Instrument No. 3514405.









  14. D. 1. a.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT
To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Tiffany Antol, Planning Development
Manager

Date: 03/16/2016

Meeting
Date:

03/22/2016

TITLE: 
Public Hearing, Consideration and Possible Adoption of Ordinance No. 2016-20: An ordinance of
the City Council of the City of Flagstaff, Arizona, extending and increasing the corporate limits of the City
of Flagstaff, Coconino County, State of Arizona, pursuant to the provisions of Title 9, Chapter 4, Arizona
Revised Statutes, by annexing certain land totaling approximately 640.51 acres located in Section 12,
Township 21 North, Range 6 East, which land is contiguous to the existing corporate limits of the City of
Flagstaff, and establishing city zoning for said land as Public Open Space (POS) for 640.51 acres.
(Observatory Mesa Annexation)

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
At the March 22, 2016 Council Meeting:
1) Hold Public Hearing
2) Read Ordinance No. 2016-20 by title for the first time
3) City Clerk reads Ordinance No. 2016-20 by title only for the first time (if approved above)
At the April 5, 2016 Council Meeting:
4) Read Ordinance No. 2016-20 by title only for the final time
5) City Clerk reads Ordinance no. 2016-20 by title for the final time (if approved above)
6) Adopt Ordinance No. 2016-20 

Executive Summary:
An annexation request of approximately 640.51 acres, which is part of the Observatory Mesa open
space owned by the City of Flagstaff.

Financial Impact:
None

Connection to Council Goal and/or Regional Plan:
COUNCIL GOALS:
1) Continue to implement the Flagstaff Regional Plan and focus efforts on specific plans

REGIONAL PLAN:
LU.7.2 Require unincorporated properties to be annexed prior to the provision of City services, or that a
pre-annexation agreement is executed when deemed appropriate.

Has There Been Previous Council Decision on This:



None

Options and Alternatives:
1. Approve the ordinance as proposed.
2. Approve the ordinance with conditions.
3. Deny the ordinance.

Background/History:
The Applicant, the City of Flagstaff Sustainability Program, on behalf of the property owner, the City of
Flagstaff, is requesting an annexation of 640.51 acres, which is a part of Observatory Mesa. With funding
from the 2004 voter approved Open Space bond, the City of Flagstaff acquired Observatory Mesa in
November 2013 for the express purpose of preserving its unique recreational, educational and natural
resources. 

This annexation is the first of a three-step process. The second being a Regional Plan Amendment to
change the Future Growth Illustration (Maps 21 and 22) from Area in White/State Land to Parks/Open
Space. The third is a Zoning Map Amendment to add the Resource Protection Overlay (RPO) zone. Both
amendment applications are being processed concurrently with this application but will not become
effective until after the annexation has been completed.

Key Considerations:
State statutes only allow the City to adopt a zoning classification that permits densities and intensities no
greater than those permitted by the County immediately before the annexation. Currently the property is
zoned Open Space and Conservation (OS) in the County so the property will come into the City in the
Public Open Space (POS) zone. A Regional Plan Amendment application to change the current
designation on Maps 21 and 22 from Area in White/State Land to Parks/Open Space is proposed to
support the existing zoning on the property as well as update ownership and city limits. A Zoning Map
Amendment application to add the Resource Protection Overlay (RPO) zone is proposed to further the
preservation of the property and its resources. The Regional Plan Amendment and Zoning Map
Amendment applications will be considered subsequent to review of the annexation application.

Community Benefits and Considerations:
Community benefits and considerations related to this Annexation request are addressed in the attached
Planning & Zoning Commission staff report date February 12, 2016.

Community Involvement:
Inform, Consult, Involve, Collaborate, Empower

Public hearings before the Planning and Zoning Commission and City Council are conducted in
conjunction with requests for annexation. In accordance with State statute, notice of the public hearing
was provided by placing an ad in the Daily Sun, posting notices on the property, and mailing a notice to
all property owners within 600 feet of the site. The notices were also provided to the County Recorder,
County Assessor, County Community Development Department, and the Chair of the Board of
Supervisors.

All property owners within 600-feet of this site were notified via mail of the Annexation, Regional Plan,
and Zoning Map Amendments and asked to attend the Open Space Commission meeting on October 22,
2015. Four individuals spoke at this meeting but none referenced any concerns with Observatory Mesa.

Attachments:  Application & Narrative
Planning & Zoning Commission Staff Report



Planning & Zoning Commission Staff Report
Annexation Legal Description
Ord. 2016-20







PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT SERVICES DIVISION
ANNEXATION REPORT

PUBLIC HEARING DATE: February 12, 2016
PZ-15-00134-01 MEETING DATE: February 24, 2016

REPORT BY: Tiffany Antol, AICP

REQUEST:

An annexation request of approximately 77.8 acres located in Section 4, Township 21 North, Range 8 East.  The 
property is identified as Coconino County Assessor’s Parcel Number 113-06-004. This annexation request is the first 
part of a two-part request.  The second part of the request is a Zoning Map Amendment.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:

Staff recommends the Planning and Zoning Commission forward the annexation request to the City Council with a 
recommendation for approval.  

PRESENT LAND USE:

The subject site consists of undeveloped land with no zoning designation under Coconino County jurisdiction.

PROPOSED LAND USE:

If this annexation is approved, the property will come into the City boundaries with no zoning designation because it 
currently has no zoning in Coconino County.  The accompanying Zoning Map Amendment will place the subject 
property into the Public Opens Space (POS) zone with the Landmarks Overlay (LO) zone, Resource Protection 
Overlay (RPO) zone and add the Rural Floodplain designation.

NEIGHBORHOOD DEVELOPMENT:

North: Single-family residences; Agricultural Residential, 5 acre minimum (AR-5) zone (County)
East: Single-family residences; Rural Residential (RR) zone (City)
South: El Paso Gas Pump Station; General (G) zone (County)
West: Coconino County Public Works Yard and Cinder Mine; Public Facility (PF) and Heavy 

Industrial (HI) zones (City)

REQUIRED FINDINGS:

The Commission shall find that the requested annexation complies with Section 9-471 of the Arizona Revised Statutes; 
the applicable goals and policies set forth in the City’s General Plan, “Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030”; and Division 10-
20.90 of the Flagstaff Zoning Code.

STAFF REVIEW:

INTRODUCTION/BACKGROUND:

The Applicant, the City of Flagstaff Sustainability Program, on behalf of the property owner, the City of Flagstaff, is 
requesting an annexation of 77.8 acres, which is a part of the Picture Canyon Preserve and Archeological Park.  With 
funding from the 2004 voter approved Open Space bond and a 2012 Growing Smarter Grant, the City of Flagstaff acquired 
Picture Canyon in October 2012 for the express purpose of preserving its unique historical, cultural, archeological, 
recreational, and educational resources.  The canyon is an ecologically diverse riparian corridor and has a variety of native 
trees and plants.  The area has many archeological resources with existing logging railroad features on the property eligible 



PZ 15-00134-01
February 24, 2016
Page 2

for listing on the National Register of Historic Places

This annexation is the first of a two-step process.  The second being a Zoning Map Amendment request to establish 
zoning on the parcel, Public Open Space (POS) zone, Landmarks Overlay (LO) zone, and the Resource Protection 
Overlay (RPO) zone, and designate the parcel as Rural Floodplain.  The Zoning Map Amendment application is being 
processed concurrently with this application but will not become effective until after the annexation has been 
completed.

ARIZONA STATE STATUTE COMPLIANCE:

State statutes only allow the City to adopt a zoning classification that permits densities and intensities no greater than 
those permitted by the County immediately before the annexation. Currently the property is not zoned in the County
so the property will come into the City with no zoning designation..  A Zoning Map Amendment application to zone 
the parcel to Public Open Space (POS) zone with the Landmarks Overlay (LO) zone, Resource Protection Overlay 
(RPO) zone and Rural Floodplain designation is proposed to further the preservation of the property and its resources.  
The Zoning Map Amendment application will be considered subsequent to review of the annexation application. 

FLAGSTAFF REGIONAL PLAN CONFORMANCE:

Policy/Analysis

All proposed annexations shall be evaluated as to whether the application is consistent with the policies of the General 
Plan.  The proposed annexation should not be detrimental to the majority of the persons or property in the surrounding 
area or the community in general.  The City’s basic position regarding annexation is that the annexation must 
demonstrate a favorable benefit to the taxpayers of the City.

The Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 (FRP 2030), Future Growth Illustration (Maps 21 and 22) designates the subject site as 
Park/Open Space.  The proposal to rezone the subject properties to the Public Open Space (POS) zone is in conformance 
with the Regional Plan designation.  Staff has identified the following Regional Plan Goals and Policies that could be 
applied to support the proposed annexation:

LU.7.2 - Require unincorporated properties to be annexed prior to the provision of City services, or that a pre-
annexation agreement is executed when deemed appropriate.

Summary of Regional Plan & Annexation Compliance

This parcel is located within the Urban Growth Boundary. The proposed annexation is consistent with the goals and 
policies of the Regional Land Use and Transportation Plan and furthermore the application complies with all the 
requirements set forth in the Arizona Revised Statutes related to annexations.

PUBLIC FACILITIES AND SERVICE IMPACT ANALYSIS:

Traffic and Access

No analysis was required.

Water and Wastewater

No analysis was required.

Stormwater



PZ 15-00134-01
February 24, 2016
Page 3

No stormwater improvements have been required.

Parks and Recreation

This zoning map amendment is not anticipated to have any impact to the City’s parks or recreation systems.

ZONING REQUIREMENTS FOR PROPOSED ZONING:

As was noted above, the property, if annexed will need to be brought into the City with a zoning similar to the existing 
County zoning.  In this case, the County has not applied zoning to this parcel, see attached letter from Coconino 
County in regards to the current zoning.  The parcel will come into the City with no zoning.  Arizona statues require
that once annexed, the zoning is to remain in place for a period of 30 days.  As a result, an ordinance modifying the 
zoning code must include an effective date 30 plus days after the annexation ordinance becomes effective. The Zoning 
Map Amendment application and the staff report have been provided in conjunction with this application.

OTHER REQUIREMENTS:

Citizen Participation

Public hearings before the Planning and Zoning Commission and City Council are conducted in conjunction with 
requests for annexation.  In accordance with State statute, notice of the public hearing was provided by placing an ad in 
the Daily Sun, posting notices on the property, and mailing a notice to all property owners within 600 feet of the site.
The notices were also provided to the County Recorder, County Assessor, County Community Development 
Department and the Chair of the Board of Supervisors.

All property owners within 600-feet of this site were notified via mail of the zoning map amendment and annexation and 
asked to attend the Open Space Commission meeting on October 22, 2015.  One individual inquired about these 
applications affecting the management plans for Picture Canyon.  Minutes for this meeting are attached.

RECOMMENDATION:

Staff recommends that the Commission forward the annexation request to the City Council with a recommendation of 
approval. 

ATTACHMENTS:

Application and narrative from applicant
Annexation Legal Description and Map
Zoning letter from Coconino County 
Public Hearing Legal Advertisements







ORDINANCE NO. 2016-20 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF, 
ARIZONA, EXTENDING AND INCREASING THE CORPORATE LIMITS OF 
THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF, COCONINO COUNTY, STATE OF ARIZONA, 
PURSUANT TO THE PROVISIONS OF TITLE 9, CHAPTER 4, ARIZONA 
REVISED STATUTES, BY ANNEXING CERTAIN LAND TOTALING 
APPROXIMATELY 640.51 ACRES LOCATED IN SECTION 12, TOWNSHIP 21 
NORTH, RANGE 6 EAST, WHICH LAND IS CONTIGUOUS TO THE EXISTING 
CORPORATE LIMITS OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF, AND ESTABLISHING 
CITY ZONING FOR SAID LAND AS PUBLIC OPEN SPACE (POS) FOR 640.51 
ACRES; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY, AUTHORITY FOR CLERICAL 
CORRECTIONS, AND ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE DATE 

 
 
RECITALS: 
 
WHEREAS, petitioner owns parcel APN 112-05-002 located in Section 12, Township 21 North, 
Range 6 East, consisting of a total of 640.51 acres of land located within Coconino County, 
Arizona, as property adjacent to the boundaries of the City of Flagstaff, and described in Exhibit 
A, attached to and made a part hereof; and 
 
WHEREAS, a petition in writing (“Petition”) accompanied by a map or plot of said Property, 
having been filed and presented to the Mayor and Council of the City of Flagstaff, Arizona, 
signed by the owners of one-half or more in value of the real property and more than one-half of 
the persons owning real and personal property as would be subject to taxation by the City of 
Flagstaff in the event of annexation of the territory and land hereinafter described as shown by 
the last assessment of said Property, which said territory is contiguous to the City of Flagstaff 
and not now embraced within its corporate limits, asking that the Property be annexed to the 
City of Flagstaff, and that the corporate limits of the City of Flagstaff be extended and increased 
so as to embrace the same; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Mayor and Council of the City of Flagstaff, Arizona, are desirous of complying 
with said Petition and extending and increasing the corporate limits of the City of Flagstaff to 
include said territory as described in Exhibit A; and  
 
WHEREAS, Petition sets forth a true and correct description of all the exterior boundaries of the 
entire area proposed to be annexed to the City of Flagstaff, and had attached thereto at all 
times an accurate map of the territory desired to be annexed; and 
 
WHEREAS, no alterations increasing or reducing the territory sought to be annexed have been 
made after the Petition had been signed by an owner of real and personal property in such 
territory; and 
 
WHEREAS, the provisions of Section 9-471, Arizona Revised Statutes, and amendments 
thereto, have been fully observed; and 
 
WHEREAS, proper and sufficient certification and proof of the foregoing facts are now on file in 
the office of the City Clerk of the City of Flagstaff, Arizona, together with a true and correct copy 
of the original Petition referred to herein, which is on file in the office of the Coconino County 
Recorder; and 



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-20  PAGE 2 

 
WHEREAS, the development of the Property will be controlled by the relevant provisions of the 
Zoning Code and various other City codes regulating the development of the Property; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Council finds that the proposed annexation for the Property has been 
considered by the Planning and Zoning Commission and that the City staff and the Commission 
have each recommended that the Council proceed with the annexation at this time; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Council has reviewed the Staff Summary Report, which discusses the proposed 
annexation, and now finds that the annexation of the Property would be consistent with the 
objectives and policies of the Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 ratified May 20, 2014 (“Regional 
Plan”); that the annexation of the Property would not be detrimental to the majority of the 
persons or property in the surrounding area or to the community in general; and the Council 
specifically further finds that:  The annexation of the Property and the existing and proposed 
uses thereon will further the objectives of the Regional Plan. 
 
 
ENACTMENTS: 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF 
AS FOLLOWS: 
 
SECTION 1.  That the following described territory be, and the same hereby is, annexed to the 
City of Flagstaff, and that the present corporate limits be, and the same hereby are, extended 
and increased to include the following described territory contiguous to the present City of 
Flagstaff corporate limits: 
 
 See attached Exhibit A, which are incorporated herein by this reference. 
 
SECTION 2.  That the territory described in Exhibit A is annexed to the City of Flagstaff subject 
to the following condition: 
 

That a copy of this Ordinance, together with an accurate map of the territory hereby 
annexed to the City of Flagstaff, certified by the Mayor of said City of Flagstaff, be 
forthwith filed and recorded in the office of the County Recorder of Coconino County, 
Arizona. 

 
SECTION 3. That, pursuant to the provisions of Section 9-471(L), Arizona Revised Statutes, 
upon this Ordinance becoming final under the provisions of Section 9-471(D), Arizona Revised 
Statutes, the municipal zoning designation for the Property under the Zoning Code shall be: 
 

1. The entirety of APN 102-15-002 will be located within the Public Open Space 
(POS) Zone.  

2. All annexed parcels shall be placed in the City of Flagstaff Lighting Zone 2 and 
shall comply with City of Flagstaff Zoning Code Lighting Standards. 

 
SECTION 4. The Community Development Department of the City of Flagstaff is hereby 
directed to enter such changes and amendments as may be necessary upon the Zoning Map of 
said Zoning Code in compliance with this ordinance. 
 



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-20  PAGE 3 

SECTION 5.  That the Flagstaff City Clerk shall provide a copy of the adopted annexation 
ordinance to the Clerk of the Coconino County Board of Supervisors within sixty days of the 
annexation becoming final. 
 
SECTION 6.  If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase or portion of this ordinance 
or any part of the code adopted herein by reference is for any reason held to be invalid or 
unconstitutional by the decision of any court of competent jurisdiction, such decision shall not 
affect the validity of the remaining portions thereof. 
 
SECTION 7.  The City Clerk is hereby authorized to correct typographical and grammatical 
errors, as well as errors of wording and punctuation, as necessary related to this ordinance as 
amended herein, and to make formatting changes needed for purposes of clarity and form, or 
consistency, within thirty (30) days following adoption by the City Council. 
 
SECTION 8.  This Ordinance shall become effective thirty (30) days after adoption by the 
Flagstaff City Council. 
 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Flagstaff, Arizona, this 5th day of 
April, 2016. 
 

 
 

        
        MAYOR 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
  
CITY CLERK 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
 
  
CITY ATTORNEY 
 
 
 
 
 
 







  14. D. 1. b.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT
To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Tiffany Antol, Planning Development
Manager

Date: 03/16/2016

Meeting
Date:

03/22/2016

TITLE: 
Public Hearing, Consideration and Possible Adoption of Resolution No. 2016-12:  A resolution
amending the Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 to change the area type designation on Maps 21 and 22 from
Area in White area type and State Land to Parks/Open Space area type for approximately 2253.20 acres
located on Observatory Mesa. (Observatory Mesa Minor Regional Plan Amendment)

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
1) Hold the Public Hearing
2) Read resolution No. 2016-12 by title only
3) City Clerk reads Resolution No. 2016-12 by title only (if approved above)
4) Adopt Resolution No. 2016-12 

Executive Summary:
A minor Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 amendment request to change the area type designation on Map
21 and 22 from Area in White and State Land to Parks/Open Space for approximately 2253.20 acres.

Financial Impact:
None

Connection to Council Goal and/or Regional Plan:
COUNCIL GOALS:
1) Provide sustainable and equitable public facilities, services, and infrastructure systems in an efficient
and effective manner to serve all population areas and demographics
2) Continue to implement the Flagstaff Regional Plan and focus efforts on specific plans
  



REGIONAL PLAN:
Goal E&C.6. Protect, restore and improve ecosystem health and maintain native plant and animal
community Goal E&C.7. Give special consideration to environmentally sensitive lands in the development
design and review process.diversity across all land ownerships in the Flagstaff region.
Goal OS.1. The region has a system of open lands, such as undeveloped natural areas, wildlife corridors
and habitat areas, trails, access to public lands, and greenways to support the natural environment that
sustains our quality of life, cultural heritage, and ecosystem health.
Goal CC.1. Reflect and respect the region’s natural setting and dramatic views in the built environment.
Goal REC.1. Maintain and grow the region’s healthy system of convenient and accessible parks,
recreation facilities, and trails. 

Has There Been Previous Council Decision on This:
None

Options and Alternatives:
1) Approve the resolution as proposed
2) Approve the resolution with conditions
3) Deny the resolution

Background/History:
The City of Flagstaff Sustainability Program, (the “Applicant”) on behalf of the property owner, The City of
Flagstaff, is requesting a minor Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 (FRP 2030) amendment to ensure
conformance with a proposed Zoning Map Amendment to Public Open Space (POS) zoning. The Zoning
Map Amendment includes a total of 2253.20 acres. The proposed amendment to the FRP 2030 will affect
approximately 2253.20 acres of land depicted on the Future Growth Illustration (Maps 21 and 22).

A Regional Plan Amendment is required for expanding or changing the boundaries of one area type to
another area type. The table describing the “Proposed Regional Plan Amendment Processes” is silent on
how to process a plan amendment for some area types including Area in White. The Comprehensive
Planning Manager has made an interpretation that if the change being requested for an area type is not
shown on the table on page III-9, then the amendment will be considered a minor amendment unless it
falls into the defined major amendment category.

The subject property is known as Observatory Mesa and was purchased by the City of Flagstaff from the
Arizona State Land Department in November 2013 with funding from the 2004 voter approved Open
Space bond. The property was purchased for the express purpose of preserving its unique recreational,
educational, and natural resources.
  



Key Considerations:
As discussed in the “How This Plan Works” chapter (page III-4), the Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 is used
in the regulatory decision-making process by the Planning & Zoning Commission, City Council and City
staff. The Commission and the Council are responsible for making development decisions such as
zoning map amendments or specific plan amendments, which depends on whether the proposed
changes or projects are consistent with the Plan’s goals and policies. The Future Growth Illustration on
Maps 21 and 22 (same map; one is regional scale and one city scale) and the text of the Plan will provide
supplemental information for the interpretation of goals and policies. In case of any conflict between the
Future Growth Illustration and the Plan’s goals and policies, the goals and policies will prevail.

The Future Growth Illustration has two types of land use designations: “Area Types” describe the
placemaking context of Urban, Suburban, Rural, or Employment and “Place Types” such as activity
centers, corridors and neighborhoods provide the framework for the density, intensities, and mix of uses
within the area types. This application proposes to change the area type of “Areas in white retain their
existing entitlements” but not the place type for this project. “Areas in white retain their existing
entitlements” is used to describe areas that have not been assigned an area type. In most cases, these
parcels are public lands held by the Forest Service or City. The Comprehensive Planning Manager has
made the interpretation that the surrounding area types on Maps 21 and 22 should be taken into account
for consistency. In cases where a parcel is adjacent to more than one area type, either could be
extended to the property. With this request the existing “Area in White” will, if approved, be assigned the
Parks/Open Space area type.

Community Benefits and Considerations:
Community benefits and considerations related to this minor Regional Plan amendment request are
addressed in the attached Planning & Zoning Commission staff report dated February 12, 2016.

Community Involvement:
Inform, Consult, Involve, Collaborate, Empower
 
Public hearings before the Planning and Zoning Commission and City Council are conducted in
conjunction with the Annexation, Regional Plan, and Zoning Map Amendment requests. In accordance
with Arizona Revised Statute and Section 10-20.30.080 (p. 20.30-9) of the Zoning Code, notice of the
public hearings were provided by placing an ad in the Daily Sun, posting notices on the property, and
mailing a notice to all property owners within 600 feet of the property (exceeding the 300-foot
requirement).

All property owners within 600-feet of this site were notified via mail of the zoning map amendment,
annexation, and regional plan amendment and asked to attend the Open Space Commission meeting on
October 22, 2015.
 

Attachments:  Planning & Zoning Commission Staff Report
Future Growth Illustration Proposed
Res. 2016-12



PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT
FLAGSTAFF REGIONAL PLAN 2030 AMENDMENT

PUBLIC HEARING DATE: February 12, 2016
PZ-15-00136-01 MEETING DATE: February 24, 2016

REPORT BY: Tiffany Antol, AICP

REQUEST:

A minor Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 amendment request from the City of Flagstaff Sustainability Program, on behalf 
of the property owner, City of Flagstaff, to change the area type designation on Map 21 and 22 from Area in White and 
State Land to Existing Parks/Open Space for approximately 2253.20 acres located on Observatory Mesa. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:

Staff recommends the Planning and Zoning Commission forward the minor Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 amendment
to the City Council with a recommendation for approval.

PRESENT LAND USE:

Undeveloped land in the Area in White area type category.

PROPOSED LAND USE:

Park/Open Space area type, which would support the use of the property as open space with passive recreation.

NEIGHBORHOOD DEVELOPMENT:

North: Single-family residences; Agricultural Residential, 2.5 acre minimum (AR-2.5) zone and Residential Single 
Family, 5 acre minimum (RS-5) zone (County)

East: Single-family residences; Rural Residential (RR) zone and Estate Residential (ER) zone (City)
South: Railroad Springs Subdivision; Manufactured Home (MH) zone (City)

Single-family residences; General, 10-acre minimum (G) zone (County)
West: Coconino County National Forest lands; Open Space and Conservation (OS) zone (County) 

The subject property is checker boarded with Coconino National Forest lands.

REQUIRED FINDINGS:

The Planning and Zoning Commission shall find that the proposed Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 (the “Plan”) 
amendment meets the requirements of the General Plan and Subdivision Code (City Code Title 11).

In considering the request for an amendment to the Plan, the goals and policies should be considered to ensure that the 
requested change to the Future Growth Illustration is in conformance with the overall vision.  “The Flagstaff Regional 
Plan establishes the vision for the future growth and development of Flagstaff and its surrounding area through goals 
and policies” (p. III-4).  “General plans are not static documents; they recognize growth as a dynamic process, which 
may require revisions to the plan as circumstances or changes warrant” (p. III-1).

STAFF REVIEW:

Introduction/Background Discussion

This request is the second of three related items on the Commission’s agenda; the first item is an annexation request 
for 640.51 acres, the third request is a Zoning Map Amendment request for 2253.20 acres.



PZ-15-00136-01
February 24, 2016

2

The City of Flagstaff Sustainability Program, (the “Applicant”) on behalf of the property owner, The City of Flagstaff, 
is requesting a minor Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 (FRP 2030) amendment to ensure conformance with a proposed 
Zoning Map Amendment to Public Open Space (POS) zoning.  The Zoning Map Amendment includes a total of 
2253.20 acres.  The proposed amendment to the FRP 2030 will affect approximately 2253.20 acres of land depicted on 
the Future Growth Illustration (Maps 21 and 22).  

A Regional Plan Amendment is required for expanding or changing the boundaries of one area type to another area 
type.  The table describing the “Proposed Regional Plan Amendment Processes” is silent on how to process a plan 
amendment for some area types including Area in White.  The Comprehensive Planning Manager has made an 
interpretation that if the change being requested for an area type is not shown on the table on page III-9, then the 
amendment will be considered a minor amendment unless it falls into the defined major amendment category.   

The subject property is known as Observatory Mesa and was purchased by the City of Flagstaff from the Arizona State 
Land Department in November 2013 with funding from the 2004 voter approved Open Space bond.  The property was 
purchased for the express purpose of preserving its unique recreational, educational, and natural resources.

Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 Amendment Request

As discussed in the “How This Plan Works” chapter (page III-4), the Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 is used in the 
regulatory decision-making process by the Planning & Zoning Commission, City Council and City staff.  The 
Commission and the Council are responsible for making development decisions such as zoning map amendments or 
specific plan amendments, which depends on whether the proposed changes or projects are consistent with the Plan’s 
goals and policies.  The Future Growth Illustration on Maps 21 and 22 (same map; one is regional scale and one city
scale) and the text of the Plan will provide supplemental information for the interpretation of goals and policies.  In 
case of any conflict between the Future Growth Illustration and the Plan’s goals and policies, the goals and policies 
will prevail.  

The Future Growth Illustration has two types of land use designations: “Area Types” describe the placemaking context 
of Urban, Suburban, Rural, or Employment and “Place Types” such as activity centers, corridors and neighborhoods
provide the framework for the density, intensities, and mix of uses within the area types.  This application proposes to 
change the area type of “Areas in white retain their existing entitlements” but not the place type for this project.  
“Areas in white retain their existing entitlements” is used to describe areas that have not been assigned an area type.  In 
most cases, these parcels are public lands held by the Forest Service or City.  The Comprehensive Planning Manager 
has made the interpretation that the surrounding area types on Maps 21 and 22 should be taken into account for 
consistency.  In cases where a parcel is adjacent to more than one area type, either could be extended to the property.  
With this request the existing “Area in White” will, if approved, be assigned the Parks/Open Space area type.

Attached are exhibits comparing the existing Future Growth Illustration map to the proposed Future Growth
Illustration map.  These maps and any applicable text of the FRP 2030 should be considered in the context of the 
Plan’s goals and policies.  A discussion of the FRP 2030 goals and policies including Environmental Planning & 
Conservation, Open Space, and Recreation, is provided below.  

APPLICABLE GENERAL PLAN GOALS AND POLICIES 
Staff has identified the following Regional Plan Goals and Policies that could be applied to support the proposed minor 
Regional Plan Amendment.  The list of goals and policies are followed by an analysis.

Environmental Planning & Conservation
Goal E&C.6. Protect, restore and improve ecosystem health and maintain native plant and animal community 
diversity across all land ownerships in the Flagstaff region.

Policy E&C.6.3. Promote protection, conservation, an ecological restoration of the region’s diverse 
ecosystem types and associated animals.



PZ-15-00136-01
February 24, 2016

3

Goal E&C.7. Give special consideration to environmentally sensitive lands in the development design and review 
process.

Policy E&C.7.1. Design development proposals and other land management activities to minimize the 
alteration of natural landforms and maximize conservation of distinctive natural features.
Policy E&C.7.2. Favor the use of available mechanisms at the City and County level for the preservation of 
environmentally sensitive lands, including but not limited to public acquisition, conservation easements, 
transfer of development rights, or clustered development with open space designations.

Goal E&C.10. Protect indigenous wildlife populations, localized and larger scale wildlife habitats, ecosystem 
processes, and wildlife movement areas throughout the planning area.

The purchase of Observatory Mesa for open space and passive recreational uses not only conforms with the goals and 
policies of this section but helps to attain the goals set out by the community to protect natural areas for the benefit of 
native plant and animals as well as provide for active land management strategies that ensures on-going maintenance.

Open Space
Goal OS.1. The region has a system of open lands, such as undeveloped natural areas, wildlife corridors and 
habitat areas, trails, access to public lands, and greenways to support the natural environment that sustains our 
quality of life, cultural heritage, and ecosystem health.

Policy OS.1.2. While observing private property rights, preserve natural resources and priority open lands, 
under the general guidance of the Flagstaff Area Open Space and Greenways Plan and the Natural 
Environment maps.
Policy OS.1.3. Use open spaces as natural environment buffer zones to protect scenic views and cultural 
resources, separate disparate uses, and separate private development from public lands, scenic byways, and 
wildlife habitats.
Policy OS.1.4. Use open space as opportunities for non-motorized connectivity, to interact with nature, and 
to enjoy the view s and quiet.

The preservation of Observatory Mesa adds to the overall parks and recreation system within the City of Flagstaff 
through the provision of passive recreational opportunities.  Observatory Mesa is easily accessible to many within the 
City of Flagstaff and provides a buffer between developed areas and larger natural areas.  

Community Character
Goal CC.1. Reflect and respect the region’s natural setting and dramatic views in the built environment.

Policy CC.1.1. Preserve the natural character of the region through planning and design to  maintain views 
of significant landmarks, sloping landforms, rock outcroppings, water courses, floodplains, and meadows, 
and conserve stand of ponderosa pine.

Observatory Mesa is a significant landform that frames the northwestern edge of the city and the preservation of this 
resource will help to maintain the natural characteristics that define Flagstaff.

Recreation
Goal REC.1. Maintain and grow the region’s healthy system of convenient and accessible parks, recreation 
facilities, and trails.

Policy Rec.1.1. Integrate active and passive recreational site within walking distance throughout the region 
to promote a healthy community for all City and County residents and visitors.

Policy Analysis

This list below identifies several key points and community benefits supporting (+) the proposed amendment:

+ The Preservation of Observatory Mesa adds to the city’s recreation system by providing ample passive 
recreational opportunities.



PZ-15-00136-01
February 24, 2016

4

+ Observatory Mesa is a significant landform that will help to preserve the natural characteristics that define 
Flagstaff;

+ The protection of Observatory Mesa benefits the native plant and animal community with active on-going 
management

PUBLIC FACILITIES AND SERVICE IMPACT ANALYSIS: No system impact analysis is required with this 
application.  However, the Annexation, Regional Plan, and Zoning Map Amendments will increase recreational 
opportunities within the city.

Public Input

Public hearings before the Planning and Zoning Commission and City Council are conducted in conjunction with the 
Annexation, Regional Plan, and Zoning Map Amendment requests.  In accordance with Arizona Revised Statute and 
Section 10-20.30.080 (p. 20.30-9) of the Zoning Code, notice of the public hearings were provided by placing an ad in 
the Daily Sun, posting notices on the property, and mailing a notice to all property owners within 600 feet of the 
property (exceeding the 300-foot requirement).

All property owners within 600-feet of this site were notified via mail of the zoning map amendment, annexation, and 
regional plan amendment and asked to attend the Open Space Commission meeting on October 22, 2015.  Four individuals 
spoke in regards to the open spaces case but none directly in relation to Observatory Mesa.  Minutes for this meeting are 
attached.

RECOMMENDATION:

Staff believes that the proposed amendment to the Regional Plan is supportable under the guidelines of the Flagstaff 
Regional Plan 2030, and would recommend approval of the proposed amendment.

Attachments:

Future Growth Illustration – Proposed



£¤66

£¤180

£¤180

£¤66

0 0.3 0.6 0.9 1.20.15
Miles

Le ge n d
Parks/Open Space
Proposed Parks/Open Space
Proposed City Limit

Grow th Illus tration  Are a Type s - Future
Vision  Are a Type s

Rural - Future
Suburban - Future
Urban - Future
Industrial / Business Park - Special District

Grow th Illus tration  Are a Type s - Exis tin g
Vision  Are a Type s

Existing Entitlements Retained
Industrial / Business Park - Existing
Rural - Existing
Special District
Suburban - Existing
Urban - Existing 
City Limits Cartegraphic
FMPO Boundary

Parce ls
Parcels

¯

Observatory Mesa Minor Plan Amendment and Annexation

Date Saved: 12/21/2015 2:15:04 PM Author: Sara Dechter

The  Future  Grow th Illus tration  de fin e s  the  ge ographic location s  of are a type s
an d place  type s . It s how s  the  spatial re lation s hip of e xis tin g an d future  
de ve lopm e n t an d is in te n de d to be  us e d in   con jun ction  with the  Natural 
En viron m e n t Maps (Maps 6-8) an d the  Road Ne tw ork Map (Map 25). This 
Illus tration  should n ot be  r e lie d upon  to de te r m in e  whe r e  s pe cific lan d us e s  
are  allow e d; that in form ation  is foun d in  City Code  Title  10 (Zon in g Code ) 
an d the  Zon in g Map. In  cas e  of an y con flict be tw e e n  the  Future  Grow th
Illus tration  an d the  Re gion al Plan ’s  goals an d policie s , the  goals  an d 

policie s  will pre vail.



     
RESOLUTION NO. 2016-12 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE FLAGSTAFF CITY COUNCIL AMENDING THE 
FLAGSTAFF REGIONAL PLAN 2030 TO CHANGE THE AREA TYPE 
DESIGNATION OF APPROXIMATELY 2253.20 ACRES OF REAL PROPERTY 
ON MAPS 21 AND 22 LOCATED ON OBSERVATORY MESA FROM AREA IN 
WHITE AREA TYPE AND STATE LAND TO PARKS/OPEN SPACE AREA 
TYPE; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY, AND ESTABLISHING AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE   

 
 
RECITALS: 
 
WHEREAS, the Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 (the “Regional Plan”) was adopted by the Mayor 
and Council of the City of Flagstaff (the “City Council”) on January 14, 2014 and ratified by the 
qualified electors of the City of Flagstaff (the “City”) on May 20, 2014; and 
 
WHEREAS, among other things, the Regional Plan establishes the authority and procedure for 
minor amendments; and  
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to section § 9-461.06, Arizona Revised Statutes, and the Regional Plan, 
the City has consulted with, advised, and provided the opportunity for public comment on the 
proposed amendment to the Regional Plan; and  
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to A.R.S. § 9-461.06 and the Regional Plan, the City Planning and Zoning 
Commission held a public hearing on the proposed Regional Plan amendment on February 24, 
2016, and provided notice of such hearing in the manner required by A.R.S. § 9-461.06(E). 
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to A.R.S. § 9-461.06 and the Regional Plan, the City Council held a public 
hearing in the City Council Chambers on the proposed Regional Plan amendment on March 22, 
2016, and provided notice of such hearing by publication of said notice in the manner required 
by A.R.S. § 9-461.06(E); and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council finds and determines that (i) proper notice of the proposed 
Regional Plan amendment has been given in a manner required by A.R.S. § 9-461.06, and (ii) 
that each of the required publications have been made in the Arizona Daily Sun, a newspaper of 
general circulation within the City; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council desires to amend the Regional Plan to change the area type 
designation of approximately 2253.20 acres of real property on Maps 21 and 22 located on 
Observatory Mesa from Area in White and State Land area type to Parks/Open Space area 
type.  
 
ENACTMENTS: 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF 
AS FOLLOWS: 
 
SECTION 1. That the Flagstaff Regional Plan is hereby amended to change the area type 
designation of approximately 2253.20 acres of real property on Maps 21 and 22 located on 



RESOLUTION NO. 2016-12   PAGE 2 
   
  
Observatory Mesa, as more particularly depicted in Exhibit “A” (Future Growth Illustration – 
Proposed), from Area in White and State Land area type to Parks/Open Space area type.  
 
SECTION 2. That the Mayor, the City Manager, the City Clerk and the City Attorney are 
hereby authorized to take all steps necessary to carry out the purpose and intent of this 
Resolution.  
 
SECTION 3. This resolution shall become effective thirty (30) days following the effective date 
of Ordinance No. 2016-20. 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Flagstaff this 22nd day of March, 
2016. 
 
 
 
               
        MAYOR 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
  
CITY CLERK 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
 
  
CITY ATTORNEY 
 



  14. D. 1. c.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT
To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Tiffany Antol, Planning Development
Manager

Date: 03/16/2016

Meeting
Date:

03/22/2016

TITLE: 
Public Hearing, Consideration and Possible Adoption of Ordinance No. 2016-21:  An ordinance of
the City Council of the City of Flagstaff, amending the Flagstaff Zoning Map to rezone approximately
1610.69 acres of real property located on Observatory Mesa, from Rural Residential ("RR") to Public
Open Space ("POS"), and approximately 2.0 acres from Rural Residential ("RR") to Public Facility ("PF")
and to apply the Resource Protection Overlay ("RPO") to approximately 640.51 acres. (Observatory
Mesa Zoning Map Amendment)

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
At the March 22, 2016 Council Meeting:
1) Hold Public Hearing
2)  Read Ordinance No. 2016-21 by title for the first time
3)  City Clerk reads Ordinance No. 2016-21 by title only for the first time (if approved above)
At the April 5, 2016 Council Meeting:
4)  Read Ordinance No. 2016-21 by title only for the final time
5)  City Clerk reads Ordinance no. 2016-21 by title for the final time (if approved above)
6)  Adopt Ordinance No. 2016-21 

Executive Summary:
A Zoning Map Amendment request to rezone approximately 1610.69 acres located on Observatory Mesa
from Rural Residential (RR) to Public Open Space (POS), approximately 2.00 acres from Rural
Residential (RR) to Public Facility (PF) and to apply the Resource Protection Overlay (RPO) to
approximately 640.51 acres.
  



Financial Impact:
None

Connection to Council Goal and/or Regional Plan:
COUNCIL GOALS:
1) Provide sustainable and equitable public facilities, services, and infrastructure systems in an efficient
and effective manner to serve all population areas and demographics
2) Continue to implement the Flagstaff Regional Plan and focus efforts on specific plans

REGIONAL PLAN:
Goal E&C.6. Protect, restore and improve ecosystem health and maintain native plant and animal
community diversity across all land ownerships in the Flagstaff region.
Goal E&C.7. Give special consideration to environmentally sensitive lands in the development design and
review process.
Goal OS.1. The region has a system of open lands, such as undeveloped natural areas, wildlife corridors
and habitat areas, trails, access to public lands, and greenways to support the natural environment that
sustains our quality of life, cultural heritage, and ecosystem health.
Goal CC.1. Reflect and respect the region’s natural setting and dramatic views in the built environment.
Goal REC.1. Maintain and grow the region’s healthy system of convenient and accessible parks,
recreation facilities, and trails.

Has There Been Previous Council Decision on This:
None

Options and Alternatives:
1.  Approve the ordinance with the proposed condition.
2.  Approve the ordinance with no conditions, additional conditions or modified conditions.
3.  Deny the ordinance.

Background/History:
The Applicant, the City of Flagstaff Sustainability Program, on behalf of the property owner, the City of
Flagstaff, is requesting a Zoning Map amendment to rezone approximately 1610.69 acres known as
Observatory Mesa to the Public Open Space (POS), approximately 2.00 acres to Public Facility (PF) and
add the Resource Protection Overlay (RPO) zone to approximately 640.51. An overlay zone is a special
zoning district placed over an existing zoning district, part of a district, or a combination of districts.
Overlay zones build on the underlying zoning, by establishing additional requirements. In this case, the
overlay zone would be in addition to the Public Open Space (POS) zone. Approximately 1612.69 acres
of Observatory Mesa already have the Resource Protection Overlay (RPO) zone applied.

With funding from the 2004 voter approved Open Space bond, the City of Flagstaff acquired Observatory
mesa in November 2013 for the express purpose of preserving its unique recreational, educational, and
natural resources.

Key Considerations:
The primary purpose of this Zoning Map Amendment is to add layers of protection to Observatory Mesa.
The majority of the properties will be zoned and regulated under the Public Open Space (POS) zoning,
which is intended to be applied to areas of the City that are appropriate for designation as public open
space to allow for resource protection and passive recreation uses. The two acres that will be rezoned to
Public Facility (PF) currently consists of a tank farm maintained by the Utilities Division, which would not
be a permitted use in the Public Open Space (POS) zone.



Community Benefits and Considerations:
Community benefits and considerations related to this Annexation request are addressed in the attached
Planning & Zoning Commission staff report date February 12, 2016.

Community Involvement:
Inform, Consult, Involve, Collaborate, Empower

Public hearings before the Planning and Zoning Commission and City Council are conducted in
conjunction with requests for Zoning Map Amendment. In accordance with State statute, notice of the
public hearing was provided by placing an ad in the Daily Sun, posting notices on the property, and
mailing a notice to all property owners within 600 feet of the site.

All property owners within 600-feet of this site were notified via mail of the zoning map amendment and
annexation and asked to attend the Open Space Commission meeting on October 22, 2015. 

Attachments:  Planning & Zoning Commission Report
Observatory Mesa ZMA Application
FRP 2030 Goals & Policies
Open Space Commission Minutes
Ord. 2016-21
Exhibit A



PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT
ZONING MAP AMENDMENT

PUBLIC HEARING DATE: February 12, 2016
PZ-15-00136 MEETING DATE: February 24, 2016

REPORT BY: Tiffany Antol, AICP

REQUEST:

A Zoning Map Amendment request from the City of Flagstaff Sustainability Program, on behalf of the property owner, City 
of Flagstaff, to rezone approximately 1610.69 acres located on Observatory Mesa from Rural Residential (RR) to Public 
Open Space (POS), rezone approximately 2.00 acres from Rural Residential (RR) to Public Facility (PF) and to apply the 
Resource Protection Overlay (RPO) Zone to approximately 640.51 acres.  This Zoning Map Amendment request is the third 
part of a three-part request; the first is an annexation of 640.51 acres and the second is a Regional Plan Amendment of 
approximately 2253.20 acres.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:

Staff recommends the Planning and Zoning Commission forward the Zoning Map Amendment to the City Council with a 
recommendation for approval.

PRESENT LAND USE:

The site consists of vacant lands on Observatory Mesa consisting of 2253.20 acres.

PROPOSED LAND USE:

Future development is expected to consist of low-impact trails, interpretive facilities, and the most basic visitor amenities.

NEIGHBORHOOD DEVELOPMENT:

North: Single-family residences; Agricultural Residential, 2.5 acre minimum (AR-2.5) zone and Residential Single Family, 
5 acre minimum (RS-5) zone (County)

East: Single-family residences; Rural Residential (RR) zone and Estate Residential (ER) zone (City)
South: Railroad Springs Subdivision; Manufactured Home (MH) zone (City)

Single-family residences; General, 10-acre minimum (G) zone (County)
West: Coconino County National Forest lands; Open Space and Conservation (OS) zone (County) 

The subject property is checker boarded with Coconino National Forest lands.

REQUIRED FINDINGS:

STAFF REVIEW. An application for a Zoning Map Amendment shall be submitted to the Planning Director and shall be 
reviewed and a recommendation prepared.  The Planning Director’s recommendation shall be transmitted to the Planning 
Commission in the form of a staff report prior to a scheduled public hearing.  The recommendation shall set forth whether 
the Zoning Map Amendment should be granted, granted with conditions to mitigate anticipated impacts caused by the 
proposed development, or denied; shall include an evaluation of the consistency and conformance of the proposed 
amendment with the goals of the General Plan and any applicable specific plans; and, a recommendation on the amendment 



PZ-15-00136
February 24, 2016
Page 2

based on the standards of the zones set forth in Section 10-40.20 “Establishment of Zones” of the Zoning Code (Page 40.20-
1).

FINDINGS FOR REVIEWING PROPOSED AMENDMENTS. All proposed amendments shall be evaluated as to 
whether the application is consistent with and conforms to the goals of the General Plan and any applicable specific plans; 
and the proposed amendment will not be detrimental to the public interest, health, safety, convenience, or welfare of the City 
of Flagstaff (the “City”) and will add to the public good as described in the General Plan; and the affected site is physically 
suitable in terms of design, location, shape, size, operating characteristics, and the provision of public and emergency vehicle 
access, public services, and utilities to ensure that the requested zone designation and the proposed or anticipated uses and/or 
development will not endanger, jeopardize, or otherwise constitute a hazard to the property or improvements in the vicinity 
in which the property is located. If the application is not consistent with the General Plan and any other applicable specific 
plan, the applicable plan must be amended in compliance with the procedures established in Chapter 11-10 of the City Code 
(Title 11: General Plans and Subdivisions) prior to considering the proposed amendment.

STAFF REVIEW:

Introduction/Background

The Applicant, the City of Flagstaff Sustainability Program, on behalf of the property owner, the City of Flagstaff, is 
requesting a Zoning Map amendment to rezone approximately 1610.69 acres known as Observatory Mesa to the Public Open 
Space (POS), approximately 2.00 acres to Public Facility (PF) and add the Resource Protection Overlay (RPO) zone to 
approximately 640.51. An overlay zone is a special zoning district placed over an existing zoning district, part of a district, 
or a combination of districts.  Overlay zones build on the underlying zoning, by establishing additional requirements. In this 
case, the overlay zone would be in addition to the Public Open Space (POS) zone. Approximately 1612.69 acres of 
Observatory Mesa already have the Resource Protection Overlay (RPO) zone applied.  

With funding from the 2004 voter approved Open Space bond, the City of Flagstaff acquired Observatory mesa in November 
2013 for the express purpose of preserving its unique recreational, educational, and natural resources.  

Proposed Development Concept Plans

Future development is expected to consist of low-impact trails, interpretive facilities, and the most basic visitor amenities.

General Plan – Flagstaff Regional Plan (FRP 2030)

The Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 (FRP 2030) Future Growth Illustration (Maps 21 and 22) designates the subject site as 
Area in White/State Land.  A minor Regional Plan Amendment will be heard prior to this application to amend the current 
designation to Parks/Open Space.  If the Regional Plan Amendment is approved, the proposal to rezone the subject property
to the Public Open Space (POS) and Public Facility (PF) zones with the Resource Protection Overlay (RPO) zone will be in 
conformance with the Regional Plan.  Staff has identified a total of 12 Regional Plan Goals and Policies that could be 
applied to support the proposed Zoning Map Amendment.  A list of these policies is attached to this report.  The most 
relevant policies were analyzed below:

Goal OS.1.The region has a system of open lands, such as undeveloped natural areas, wildlife corridors and habitat 
areas, trails, access to public lands, and greenways to support the natural environment that sustains our quality of life, 
cultural heritage, and ecosystem health.

Policy OS.1.2.While observing private property rights, preserve natural resources and priority open lands, under 



PZ-15-00136
February 24, 2016
Page 3

the general guidance of the Flagstaff Area Open Space and Greenways Plan and the Natural Environment 
Maps.
Policy OS.1.3.Use open spaces as natural environment buffer zones to protect scenic views and cultural 
resources, separate disparate uses, and separate private development from public lands, scenic byways, and 
wildlife habitats.

The primary purpose of this Zoning Map Amendment is to add layers of protection to Observatory Mesa.  The majority of 
the properties will be zoned and regulated under the Public Open Space (POS) zoning, which is intended to be applied to 
areas of the City that are appropriate for designation as public open space to allow for resource protection and passive 
recreation uses.  The two acres that will be rezoned to Public Facility (PF) currently consists of a tank farm maintained by 
the Utilities Division, which would not be a permitted use in the Public Open Space (POS) zone.  

Zoning – City of Flagstaff Zoning Code

The requirements of the Public Open Space (POS) zone and the Resource Protection Overlay (RPO) zone are intended to 
promote the preservation and unique character of properties within the zone. Additionally, the Resource Protection Overlay 
(RPO) provides standards for the protection of natural resources, including floodplains, steep slopes, and forest. The Public 
Facility (PF) zone is intended to provide areas within the City for active and passive recreation uses, parks, public open 
space, governmental buildings and facilities, schools and school grounds, quasi-public buildings and facilities and related 
uses.  

PUBLIC SYSTEMS IMPACT ANALYSIS:

Traffic and Access

No analysis was required.

Water and Wastewater

A water and sewer analysis was not required as part of this request; however, the Utilities Division did request a condition of 
approval allowing for the maintenance of existing and expansion of future utility infrastructure.

Stormwater

No stormwater improvements have been required.

Parks and Recreation

This Zoning Map Amendment expands recreational opportunities within the City’s parks and recreation system.

OTHER REQUIREMENTS:

Resources

The subject property will be entirely located within the Resource Protection Overlay (RPO) zone as defined by Section 10-
50.90.020.A of the Zoning Code (Page 50.90-2).  Further, this application does not anticipate any physical modifications to 
the existing site.  No impact to resources is anticipated.



PZ-15-00136
February 24, 2016
Page 4

Citizen Participation

All property owners within 600-feet of this site were notified via mail of the zoning map amendment, annexation, and 
regional plan amendment and asked to attend the Open Space Commission meeting on October 22, 2015.  Four individuals 
spoke in regards to the open spaces case but none directly in relation to Observatory Mesa.  Minutes for this meeting are 
attached.

DISCUSSION:

The application of the Public Open Space (POS) zone, the Public Facility (PF) zone, and the Resource Protection Overlay 
(RPO) zone meets the intent of the Regional Plan goals and policies and will comply with the designation of Parks/Open 
Space if the accompanying minor Regional Plan Amendment is approved.  These zones and designations work in concert to 
protect the natural resources on the property as well as support the City’s Open Space program.

RECOMMENDATION:

Staff believes that the proposed Zoning Map Amendment has been justified and would recommend in favor of amending the 
Zoning Map for approximately 1610.69 acres to the Public Open Space (POS) zone, approximately 2.00 acres to the Public 
Facility (PF) zone and to apply the Resource Protection Overlay (RPO) zone to 640.51 with the following condition:

1. The City of Flagstaff shall recognize existing easements and rights-of-ways granted by the Arizona State Land 
Department.  All easements and rights-of-ways shall remain in full force and effect.

ATTACHMENTS

o Zoning Map Amendment Application and narrative
o FRP 2030 Goals and Policies – Full list
o Open Space Commission Meeting Minutes 
o Public Hearing Legal Advertisements





Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 Goals and Policies for Observatory Mesa

Goal E&C.6. Protect, restore and improve ecosystem health and maintain native plant and animal 
community diversity across all land ownerships in the Flagstaff region.

Policy E&C.6.3. Promote protection, conservation, an ecological restoration of the region’s 
diverse ecosystem types and associated animals.

Goal E&C.7. Give special consideration to environmentally sensitive lands in the development design 
and review process.

Policy E&C.7.1. Design development proposals and other land management activities to 
minimize the alteration of natural landforms and maximize conservation of distinctive natural 
features.

Policy E&C.7.2. Favor the use of available mechanisms at the City and County level for the 
preservation of environmentally sensitive lands, including but not limited to public acquisition, 
conservation easements, transfer of development rights, or clustered development with open 
space designations.

Goal OS.1. The region has a system of open lands, such as undeveloped natural areas, wildlife corridors 
and habitat areas, trails, access to public lands, and greenways to support the natural environment that 
sustains our quality of life, cultural heritage, and ecosystem health.

Policy OS.1.2. While observing private property rights, preserve natural resources and priority
open lands, under the general guidance of the Flagstaff Area Open Space and Greenways Plan 
and the Natural Environment maps.

Policy OS.1.3. Use open spaces as natural environment buffer zones to protect scenic views and 
cultural resources, separate disparate uses, and separate private development from public 
lands, scenic byways, and wildlife habitats.

Goal CC.1. Reflect and respect the region’s natural setting and dramatic views in the built environment.

Policy CC.1.1. Preserve the natural character of the region through planning and design to  
maintain views of significant landmarks, sloping landforms, rock outcroppings, water courses, 
floodplains, and meadows, and conserve stand of ponderosa pine.

Goal REC.1. Maintain and grow the region’s healthy system of convenient and accessible parks, 
recreation facilities, and trails.

Policy Rec.1.1. Integrate active and passive recreational site within walking distance throughout 
the region to promote a healthy community for all City and County residents and visitors.



M I N U T E S 

City of Flagstaff 

Open Spaces Commission 

Thursday, October 22, 2015 

4:00 – 6:00 pm 

 

City Hall, Council Chambers 

211 West Aspen Avenue, Flagstaff, Arizona 

 
A quorum of the Flagstaff City Council may be in attendance of the Sustainability 

Commission meeting.  

 
In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, if you need 

assistance to participate in this meeting, please contact 928-213-2100.  

Notification at least 48 hours in advance will enable the City to make 

reasonable arrangements.   

 

CALL TO ORDER 

   
COMMISSION MEMBERS: CITY STAFF: COMMUNITY MEMBERS: 

Bryan Burton Nicole Woodman, Sustainability Manager Jack Welch 

Jim Burton Elizabeth Emery, Open Space Specialist Tadd Madeksza 

Jessica Gist McKenzie Jones, Sustainability Specialist Allen Haden 

Tina Pfeiffer John Begay, Sustainability Aide Hannah Griscom 

 Martin Ince, Multi-Modal Planner Elizabeth Stegall 

 Tiffany Antol, Planning Development 

Manager 

Mandy Metzger 

  Tracy Plecas 

 

1. Call to order 

Commissioner Gist called the meeting to order at 4:03pm.  

Public Participation 
At this time, any member of the public may address the Commission on any subject 
that is not scheduled before the Commission on that day. The Arizona Open 
Meeting Law prohibits the Commission from discussing or taking action on an item 
which is not listed on the prepared agenda. Commission members may, however, 
respond to criticism made by those addressing the Commission, ask staff to review a 
matter, or ask that a matter be placed on a future agenda. To address the 
Commission on an item that is on the agenda, please wait for the Chair to call for 
Public Comment at the time the item is heard. 

2. Approval of Minutes 

Commissioner Bryan Burton noted that the minutes do not reflect that the 

northwest portion of parcel 111-02-006B could be developed for residential 

housing. The parcel may be split to accommodate that need. Commissioner 

Pfeiffer motioned to approve the October 15, 2015 minutes with Commissioner 



Bryan Burton’s amendment. Commissioner Jim Burton seconded the motion. All 

commissioners voted in favor to approve minutes.  

3. Discussion Items 

A. Friends of the Rio Watershed Planning Effort 

Hannah Griscom, Friends of the Rio de Flag Board member, gave an overview of 

the Rio de Flag watershed planning effort at the request of the Commission. The 

plan will define the community vision for the Rio de Flag and outline steps to 

restore the Rio de Flag. Ultimately, the group visions to move the Rio de Flag into 

consciousness for the community, be a community rallying point, and a space for 

the community to enjoy by creating a greenbelt that connects neighborhoods and 

public spaces with trails. The Friends of the Rio de Flag plan to start seek funding 

to support writing the document in 2016. Mrs. Griscom mentioned that there is a 

lot of overlap between the Rio de Flag watershed planning effort and the goals of 

the Open Spaces Commission as identified in their Strategic Plan.  

B. Rezoning of Open Space Parcels (Public Hearing) 

Betsy Emery, Open Space Specialist, presented to the Commission regarding the 

annexation and rezone process for open space parcels. This also served as the first 

public hearing for the process for Staff to accept feedback from the community. 

The City acquired Picture Canyon and Observatory Mesa in 2012 and 2013 and 

both properties were designated as open space by City Council. These parcels 

were not zoned as Public Open Space through the acquisition process and remain 

zoned as rural residential, which allows for development. City Staff is currently 

working to rezone these parcels as Public Open Space to provide an additional 

layer of protection to the property because Public Open Space zoning limits the 

type of development that can be done on the parcels.  

Additionally, there are parcels comprising Picture Canyon (113-06-004) and 

Observatory Mesa (102-15-002) which are outside of Flagstaff City limits. City 

Staff proposes annexing these parcels into City limits to streamline management 

requirements for the entire property.  

Lastly, Staff is also proposing to rezone and annex the City-owned Schultz Y 

parcel (300-47-004) as a direct outcome of City Council’s discussion of City-

owned properties on October 29, 2013. 

Community members provided feedback: 

 Tracy Plecas, 6525 North Rain Valley Road, asked if the rezoning process 

would affect planned actions and improvements at the Preserve. Betsy 

Emery answered that the management plan for Picture Canyon was 

recently adopted by City Council and that document outlines all projects 

planned at the Preserve. This process does not affect planned management 

activities. Mrs. Plecas inquired about how many steps are involved in the 

annex and rezone process. Tiffany Antol, Planning Development 

Manager, answered that there will be additional public hearings and that 

the application will be vetted through the Planning and Zoning 

Commission before being brought to City Council for approval.  



 Mandy Metzger, Coconino County District 4 Supervisor, expressed 

appreciation for the many hours and dedication the Open Spaces 

Commission has given to Picture Canyon. She did not have a 

recommendation or comment at the moment because the County had not 

yet discussed the proposal. 

 Sat Best, 3935 North Paradise Road, expressed appreciation for the work 

done on these parcels. He inquired about management plans for the 

Schultz Y property. Commissioner Gist answered the Commission has 

discussed the parcel's open space value - primarily the parcel’s location 

and adjacency to other trails and amenities makes it important for open 

space. Mr. Best inquired if the actual “Y” is located on this parcel. Betsy 

Emery answered that the actual “Y” is located west of the parcel in 

question. Mr. Best inquired about the actual “Y” and if there are any plans 

to include it in the process. Betsy Emery answered that the actual “Y” is 

on private property but the landowner recently contacted the City to 

propose swapping the actual “Y” for a portion of the City-owned parcel. 

This trade would be equitable in terms of value and land area. Mr. Best 

then mentioned the valuable wildlife corridor in the area. Commissioner 

Gist clarified that the Schultz Y parcel is one of 17 city-owned parcels the 

Commission reviewed against a set of criteria that were valuable for open 

space. Ultimately, the Commission determined that the Schultz Y parcel is 

important as open space and recommended that the City designate it as 

open space.  

 Nat White, 1120 N. Rockridge, mentioned that the actual “Y” area is not 

necessary for the trail head, and instead those improvements could be 

located anywhere below the historic reservoir on the City-owned parcel. 

He also mentioned the opportunity for collaboration between the U.S. 

Forest Service, Coconino County, and the City to provide these amenities 

and that this parcel has potential to be another showcase open space area 

for the Flagstaff community.  

 Commissioner Gist inquired about the process involving the County for 

annexing some of these properties. Tiffany Antol, Planning Development 

Manager, answered the annexation process is set out in state statute. As 

soon as the Planning Department receives the application, they will notify 

the Board of Supervisors. The County will be notified at each stage of the 

process, just like the surrounding property owners.  

 

Commissioner Gist clarified that City Staff is looking for the Commission to 

recommend that the City proceed with the process to rezone and annex the three 

properties. Commissioner Bryan Burton motioned to support rezoning and 

annexing these three properties. Commissioner Pfeiffer seconded the motion. The 

motion was approved by all.  

C. Picture Canyon Interpretive Signs 

Betsy Emery, Open Space Specialist, provided a follow up presentation with the 

latest draft of interpretive signs for the Picture Canyon Preserve. The draft is in 



black and white because the graphic designer is waiting for art approval from the 

Open Spaces Commission to finalize the artwork. There are five panels being 

placed at the Outdoor Classroom addressing archaeology, botany, wildlife, 

watershed, and geology. Two signs are being designed for the watchable wildlife 

site near the deep-water pond. Those signs will be related to wetlands and 

wildlife. The Commission provided feedback and minor suggestions for the signs, 

including correcting misspellings, providing descriptions for the QR codes, and 

indicating differences between Kaibab Limestone and Coconino Sandstone. 

Commissioner Jim Burton motioned to approve the signs. Commissioner Bryan 

Burton seconded the motion. All voted in favor. 

D. Review of City Owned Parcels 

The Commission discussed the recent fieldtrip to review the City-owned parcels 

along the Karen Cooper Trail near the Museum of Northern Arizona using the 

matrix used for the 17 city-owned parcels last year. Some of the parcels are 

appropriate for open space because they are too steep to develop or are within the 

Rio de Flag floodplain. Preserving these parcels as open space would provide a 

buffer to the Rio de Flag. The only parcel that doesn’t meet all of the criteria and 

may not be appropriate to designate as open space is parcel 111-02-006B because 

there is a large area that could be developed. Commissioner Gist inquired what 

areas should be visited on additional field trips and the Commission discussed 

visiting the parcels along the Rio de Flag in the Southside Community during the 

spring. The Commission agreed to stand by their previous discussion of the open 

space value associated with City-owned parcels on McMillan Mesa. Additionally, 

the Commission agreed to individually visit a small number of City-owned 

parcels before the next meeting to provide information to the Commission 

regarding their open space potential. 

E. Open Space Management Update 

Betsy Emery, Open Space Specialist, has been working on designing trail signs 

for Picture Canyon for all the major trail intersections. Signs will be 3-3 ½ feet 

tall and posted on 4” steel tubing. Additionally, Staff is still working to edit the 

interpretive signs. There is an easemented water pipeline at Picture Canyon that 

provides water to a few families in the area along the eastern side of the Preserve. 

Staff is working on surveying the pipeline and is working through the required 

cultural compliance regulation process associated with the ground disturbance. 

Additionally, Staff is in the process of launching the Sites Stewards Program, a 

volunteer program out of Arizona State Parks. Program training will be on 

November 4, 2015. Staff is working to address access issues at Matson Tank on 

Observatory Mesa by installing gates to limit illegal motorized access.  

 

4. Information Items To and From Commissioners and Staff 

A. Soliere Property Update 

Per John Grahame’s request at previous Commission meetings, Staff looked 

into the proposal to grant open space land in exchange for the City covering 

the substantial cost to realign Soliere Road. The developer planned to use the 

portion as an active park for ball fields. Ultimately, the Parks and Recreation 



Commission decided to not accept the trade because of floodplain 

requirements associated with the property.  

B. Other Updates 

 Staff provided an update regarding the City Council’s discussion of 

specialty seats on City commissions. The City Council recently decided to 

remove specialty seats from commissions. The Open Spaces Commission 

has multiple specialty seats, including Natural and Cultural Sciences and 

Real Estate. Current commissioners wishing to renew their term will apply 

for an At-Large position and will compete against applicants without 

specialty experience.  

 McKenzie Jones, Sustainability Specialist, informs the Commission of the 

recycling application the City is launching – MyWaste. The app provides 

information on recycling schedules in Flagstaff.  

 Nicole Woodman, Sustainability Manager, informs the Commission that 

the Sustainability Program is hosting their first DIY Workshop of the 

season, which will take place on October 29, 2015 at east public 

community library.  

 

5. Agenda items for Next Meeting 

A. Flagstaff Urban Trail System Acquisitions and Easements 

B. Review of City-owned Parcels 

C. Open Space Management Update 

 

6. Adjournment 

Commissioner Jim Burton motioned to adjourn the meeting at 5:06pm. 

Commissioner Bryan Burton seconded the motion. All voted in favor of 

adjourning the meeting.  

 



 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2016-21 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF, 
AMENDING THE FLAGSTAFF ZONING MAP TO REZONE APPROXIMATELY 
1610.69 ACRES OF REAL PROPERTY LOCATED ON OBSERVATORY 
MESA, FROM RURAL RESIDENTIAL (“RR”) TO PUBLIC OPEN SPACE 
(“POS”), AND APPROXIMATELY 2.0 ACRES FROM RURAL RESIDENTIAL 
(“RR”) TO PUBLIC FACILITY (“PF”), AND TO APPLY THE RESOURCE 
PROTECTION OVERLAY (“RPO”) TO APPROXIMATELY 640.51 ACRES; 
PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY, AND ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE 

 
 
RECITALS: 
 
WHEREAS, The City of Flagstaff (the “Applicant”), applied for a Zoning Map Amendment for 
approximately 2253.20 acres of land located on Observatory Mesa, Coconino County, Arizona, 
a legal description of which is provided in Exhibit “A” attached hereto (“the Property”), in order to 
preserve an open space area.  
 
WHEREAS, in furtherance of the Applicant’s reasons for the rezone, the Applicant has applied 
to the City of Flagstaff to amend the zoning of the Property from Rural Residential (RR) zone to 
Public Open Space (POS) zone for 1610.69 acres, Rural Residential (RR) zone to Public 
Facility (PF) zone for 2.0 acres, and to apply the Resource Protection Overlay (RPO) zone to 
640.51 acres; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Applicant conducted a neighborhood meeting on October 22, 2015, to discuss 
the proposed Zoning Map Amendment with the surrounding community, as required by Section 
10-20.50.040 of the Flagstaff Zoning Code; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission has formally considered the present Zoning 
Map Amendment application following proper notice and a public hearing on February 24, 2016, 
and has recommended approval of the requested zoning application, subject to the Applicant’s 
compliance with certain conditions set forth below; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Council finds that the Applicant has complied with all application requirements 
set forth in Chapter 10-20 of the Flagstaff Zoning Code; and 
 
WHEREAS, the staff has recommended approval of the Zoning Map Amendment application, 
subject to the condition proposed by the Planning and Zoning Commission, as augmented by 
staff, as set forth below, and the Council has considered the condition and has found the 
condition to be appropriate for the Property and necessary for the proposed development; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Council has read and considered the staff reports prepared by the Planning 
Division and all attachments to those reports, the Applicant’s application, the narrative provided 
by the Applicant, and all statements made by the Applicant during the presentation to Council, 
and the Council finds that the proposed Zoning Map Amendment, subject to the condition set 
forth below, meets the findings required by Section 10-20.50.040(F)(1)(a) of the Flagstaff 
Zoning Code. 
 



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-21  PAGE 2 
 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF 
AS FOLLOWS: 
 
SECTION 1. The foregoing recitals are incorporated as if fully set forth herein. 
 
SECTION 2. The amendment requested in the application is consistent with and conforms to 
the goals of the General Plan. 
 
SECTION 3.  The amendment requested in the application will not be detrimental to the public 
interest, health, safety, convenience or welfare of the City and will add to the public good as 
described in the General Plan. 
 
SECTION 4.  The affected site is physically suitable in terms of design, location, shape, size, 
operating characteristics, and the provision of public and emergency vehicle access and public 
services and utilities to ensure that the amendment requested in the application will not 
endanger, jeopardize or otherwise constitute a hazard to the property or improvements in the 
vicinity in which the property is located. 
 
SECTION 5. The Zoning Map designation for the Property is hereby amended from Rural 
Residential (RR) zone to the Public Open Space (POS) zone for approximately 1610.69 acres, 
from Rural Residential (RR) zone to the Public Facility (PF) zone for approximately 2.0 acres 
and the Resource Protection Overlay (RPO) zone is applied to approximately 640.51 acres, as 
depicted in Exhibit “A”, through the approval of the application and all other documents attached 
to the staff summary submitted in support of this ordinance. 
 
SECTION 6. The City is specifically relying on all assertions made by the Applicant, or the 
applicant’s representatives, whether authorized or not, made at the public hearing on the zone 
change application unless the assertions were withdrawn on the record.  Those assertions are 
hereby incorporated into this ordinance. 
 
SECTION 7. That the Zoning Map Amendment be further conditioned upon the Applicant’s 
satisfaction of the following conditions proposed by the Planning and Zoning Commission, as 
augmented by staff: 
 
CONDITIONS: 
 

1. The City of Flagstaff shall recognize existing easements and rights-of-ways granted by the 
Arizona State Land Department.  All easements and rights-of-ways shall remain in full force 
and effect.  
 

SECTION 8. That City staff is hereby authorized to take such other and further measures and 
actions as are necessary and appropriate to carry out the terms, provisions and intents of this 
Ordinance. 
 
SECTION 9.  If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase or portion of this ordinance 
or any part of the code adopted herein by reference is for any reason held to be invalid or 
unconstitutional by the decision of any court of competent jurisdiction, such decision shall not 
affect the validity of the remaining portions thereof. 
 
SECTION 10.  This ordinance shall become effective thirty (30) days following adoption by the 
City Council. 



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-21  PAGE 3 
 
 
 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Flagstaff this 5th day of April, 2016. 
 
 
 
 
 
   
 MAYOR 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
  
CITY CLERK 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
 
  
CITY ATTORNEY 



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-21  PAGE 4 
 
 

Exhibit “A” 
 

Legal Description of Property 





ORDINANCE NO. 2016-21  PAGE 5 
 
 

Exhibit “B” 
 

Legal Description of New Zoning 







  14. D. 2. b.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT
To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Tiffany Antol, Planning Development
Manager

Date: 03/16/2016

Meeting
Date:

03/22/2016

TITLE: 
Public Hearing, Consideration and Possible Adoption of Ordinance No. 2016-19:  An ordinance of
the City Council of the City of Flagstaff, amending the Flagstaff Zoning Map to rezone approximately
477.8 acres of real property known as Picture Canyon, from No Zoning (County) and Rural Residential
(RR) to Public Open Space (POS), and to apply the Landmarks Overlay (LO), the Resource Protection
Overlay (RPO) and the Rural Floodplain Designation to approximately 77.8 acres. (Picture Canyon
Zoning Map Amendment)

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
At the March 22, 2016 Council Meeting:
1)  Hold Public Hearing
2)  Read Ordinance No. 2016-19 by title only for the first time
3)  City Clerk reads Ordinance No. 2016-19 by title only for the first time (if approved above)
At the April 5, 2016 Council Meeting:
4)  Read Ordinance No. 2016-19 by title only for the final time
5)  City Clerk reads Ordinance No. 2016-19 by title for the final time (if approved above)
6)  Adopt Ordinance No. 2016-19

Executive Summary:
A Zoning Map Amendment request to rezone approximately 477.8 acres located in Section 4, Township
21 North, Range 8 East from No Zoning (County) and Rural Residential (RR) to Public Open Space
(POS) and to apply the Landmarks Overlay (LO) Zone, the Resource Protection Overlay (RPO) Zone,
and the Rural Floodplain designation to 77.8. 

Financial Impact:
None

Connection to Council Goal and/or Regional Plan:
COUNCIL GOALS:
1) Continue to implement the Flagstaff Regional Plan and focus efforts on specific plans

REGIONAL PLAN:
Goal OS.1.The region has a system of open lands, such as undeveloped natural areas, wildlife corridors
and habitat areas, trails, access to public lands, and greenways to support the natural environment that
sustains our quality of life, cultural heritage, and ecosystem health.
Goal CC.2. Preserve, restore, and rehabilitate heritage resources to better appreciate our culture. 



Goal CC.2. Preserve, restore, and rehabilitate heritage resources to better appreciate our culture. 

Has There Been Previous Council Decision on This:
None

Options and Alternatives:
1.  Approve the ordinance as proposed
2.  Approve the ordinance with conditions
3.  Deny the ordinance

Background/History:
The Applicant, the City of Flagstaff Sustainability Program, on behalf of the property owner, the City of
Flagstaff, is requesting a Zoning Map amendment to rezone approximately 477.8 acres known as the
Picture Canyon Preserve and Archeological Park to the Public Open Space (POS) zone and apply the
Landmarks Overlay (LO) zone, Resource Protection Overlay (RPO) zone and the Rural Floodplain
designation to 77.8 acres currently located in Coconino County. An overlay zone is a special zoning
district placed over an existing zoning district, part of a district, or a combination of districts. Overlay
zones build on the underlying zoning, by establishing additional requirements. In this case, the overlay
zones would be in addition to the proposed Public Open Space (POS) zone. The 400 acres currently
located within the city limits already has the Landmark Overlay (LO) zone, Resource Protection Overlay
(RPO) zones and Rural Floodplain designation applied. 

With funding from the 2004 voter approved Open Space bond and a 2012 Growing Smarter Grant, the
City of Flagstaff acquired Picture Canyon in October 2012 for the express purpose of preserving its
unique historical, cultural, archeological, recreational, and educational resources. The canyon is an
ecologically diverse riparian corridor and has a variety of native trees and plants. The area has many
archeological resources which have been documented in a 2012 Archeological Survey by Northland
Research, Inc. Existing logging railroad features on the property appear to be eligible for listing on the
National Register of Historic Places which is sufficient for designation to the Landmarks Overlay (LO)
zone. At its meeting of February 17, 2016 the City’s Heritage Preservation Commission reviewed this
proposal and unanimously recommended that the City Council approve this rezoning request. 

Key Considerations:
The primary purpose of this Zoning Map Amendment is to add layers of protection to the Picture Canyon
Preserve and Archeological Park. Both properties will be zoned and regulated under the Public Open
Space zoning which is intended to be applied to areas of the City that are appropriate for designation as
public open space to allow for resource protection and passive recreation uses. The Landmark Overlay
zone will make the property subject to the Landmark Design Review Overlay District Design Standards
and Guidelines and design review by the Heritage Preservation Commission. The Resource Protection
Overlay provides additional standards for the protection of natural resources, including floodplains, steep
slopes, and forest. The Rural Floodplain designation on the Rio de Flag floodplain boundaries further
adds a level of protection to this property and supports the City of Flagstaff’s Community Rating System
(CRS) ranking, which helps to lower flood insurance rates for everyone in the city.

On February 24, 2016, the Planning & Zoning Commission concluded their review of the proposed
zoning map amendment with a recommendation for approval, by a unanimous vote.

Community Benefits and Considerations:
Community benefits and considerations related to this Annexation request are addressed in the attached
Planning & Zoning Commission staff report dated February 12, 2016.



Community Involvement:
Inform, Consult, Involve, Collaborate, Empower

Public hearings before the Planning and Zoning Commission and City Council are conducted in
conjunction with requests for Zoning Map Amendment. In accordance with State statute, notice of the
public hearing was provided by placing an ad in the Daily Sun, posting notices on the property, and
mailing a notice to all property owners within 600 feet of the site. 

All property owners within 600-feet of this site were notified via mail of the zoning map amendment and
annexation and asked to attend the Open Space Commission meeting on October 22, 2015. One
individual inquired about these applications affecting the management plans for Picture Canyon. 

Attachments:  Planning & Zoning Commission Staff Report
Application
Picture Canyon Zoning Map 5
Picture Canyon Zoning Map 6
County Zoning Letter
Picture Canyon HPC Report
Open Space Commission Minutes
FRP 2030 Goals & Policies
Zoning Notice
Ordinance No. 2016-19 Exhibit A
Ord. 2016-19



PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT
ZONING MAP AMENDMENT

PUBLIC HEARING DATE: February 12, 2016
PZ-15-00134 MEETING DATE: February 24, 2016

REPORT BY: Tiffany Antol, AICP

REQUEST:

A Zoning Map Amendment request from the City of Flagstaff Sustainability Program, on behalf of the property owner, City 
of Flagstaff, to rezone approximately 477.8 acres located in Section 4, Township 21 North, Range 8 East from No Zoning 
and Rural Residential (RR) Zone to Public Open Space (POS) and to apply the Landmarks Overlay (LO) Zone, the Resource 
Protection Overlay (RPO) Zone, and the Rural Floodplain designation to 77.8 acres.  This Zoning Map Amendment request 
is the second part of a two-part request; the first is an annexation of the 77.8 acres.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:

Staff recommends the Planning and Zoning Commission forward the Zoning Map amendment to the City Council with a 
recommendation for approval.

PRESENT LAND USE:

The site consists of the Picture Canyon Preserve and Archeological Park on 477.8 acres.

PROPOSED LAND USE:

Future development is expected to consist of low-impact trails, interpretive facilities, and the most basic visitor amenities
such as a parking area and restrooms.

NEIGHBORHOOD DEVELOPMENT:

North: Single-family residences; Agricultural Residential, 5 acre minimum (AR-5) zone (County)
East: Single-family residences; Rural Residential (RR) zone (City)
South: El Paso Gas Pump Station; General (G) zone (County)
West: Coconino County Public Works Yard and Cinder Mine; Public Facility (PF) and Heavy Industrial 

(HI) zones (City)

REQUIRED FINDINGS:

STAFF REVIEW. An application for a Zoning Map amendment shall be submitted to the Planning Director and shall be 
reviewed and a recommendation prepared. The Planning Director’s recommendation shall be transmitted to the Planning 
Commission in the form of a staff report prior to a scheduled public hearing. The recommendation shall set forth whether the 
Zoning Map amendment should be granted, granted with conditions to mitigate anticipated impacts caused by the proposed 
development, or denied; and shall include an evaluation of the consistency and conformance of the proposed amendment 
with the goals of the General Plan and any applicable specific plans; and a recommendation on the amendment based on the 
standards of the zones set forth in Section 10-40.20 “Establishment of Zones” of the Zoning Code (Page 40.20-1).

FINDINGS FOR REVIEWING PROPOSED AMENDMENTS. All proposed amendments shall be evaluated as to 
whether the application is consistent with and conforms to the goals of the General Plan and any applicable specific plans; 



PZ-15-00134
February 24, 2016
Page 2

and the proposed amendment will not be detrimental to the public interest, health, safety, convenience, or welfare of the City 
of Flagstaff (the “City”) and will add to the public good as described in the General Plan; and the affected site is physically 
suitable in terms of design, location, shape, size, operating characteristics, and the provision of public and emergency vehicle 
access, public services, and utilities to ensure that the requested zone designation and the proposed or anticipated uses and/or 
development will not endanger, jeopardize, or otherwise constitute a hazard to the property or improvements in the vicinity 
in which the property is located. If the application is not consistent with the General Plan and any other applicable specific 
plan, the applicable plan must be amended in compliance with the procedures established in Chapter 11-10 of the City Code 
(Title 11: General Plans and Subdivisions) prior to considering the proposed amendment.

STAFF REVIEW:

Introduction/Background

The Applicant, the City of Flagstaff Sustainability Program, on behalf of the property owner, the City of Flagstaff, is 
requesting a Zoning Map amendment to rezone approximately 477.8 acres known as the Picture Canyon Preserve and 
Archeological Park to the Public Open Space (POS) zone and apply the Landmarks Overlay (LO) zone, Resource Protection
Overlay (RPO) zone and the Rural Floodplain designation to 77.8 acres currently located in Coconino County. An overlay 
zone is a special zoning district placed over an existing zoning district, part of a district, or a combination of districts.
Overlay zones build on the underlying zoning, by establishing additional requirements. In this case, the overlay zones would 
be in addition to the proposed Public Open Space (POS) zone. The 400 acres currently located within the city limits already 
has the Landmark Overlay (LO) zone, Resource Protection Overlay (RPO) zones and Rural Floodplain designation applied.  

With funding from the 2004 voter approved Open Space bond and a 2012 Growing Smarter Grant, the City of Flagstaff 
acquired Picture Canyon in October 2012 for the express purpose of preserving its unique historical, cultural, archeological, 
recreational, and educational resources.  The canyon is an ecologically diverse riparian corridor and has a variety of native 
trees and plants.  The area has many archeological resources which have been documented in a 2012 Archeological Survey 
by Northland Research, Inc. Existing logging railroad features on the property appear to be eligible for listing on the 
National Register of Historic Places which is sufficient for designation to the Landmarks Overlay (LO) zone. At its meeting 
of February 17, 2016 the City’s Heritage Preservation Commission reviewed this proposal and unanimously recommended 
that the City Council approve this rezoning request.  Attached to this report are copies of the HPC report.

Proposed Development Concept Plans

Future development is expected to consist of low-impact trails, interpretive facilities, and the most basic visitor amenities 
such as a parking area and restrooms.

General Plan – Flagstaff Regional Plan (FRP 2030)

The Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 (FRP 2030), Future Growth Illustration (Maps 21 and 22) designates the subject site as 
Park/Open Space.  The proposal to rezone the subject property to the Public Open Space (POS) zone is in conformance with 
the Regional Plan designation.  Staff has identified a total of 19 Regional Plan Goals and Policies that could be applied to 
support the proposed Zoning Map Amendment.  A list of these policies is attached to this report.  The most relevant policies 
were analyzed below:

Goal OS.1.The region has a system of open lands, such as undeveloped natural areas, wildlife corridors and habitat 
areas, trails, access to public lands, and greenways to support the natural environment that sustains our quality of life, 
cultural heritage, and ecosystem health.



PZ-15-00134
February 24, 2016
Page 3

Policy OS.1.2.While observing private property rights, preserve natural resources and priority open lands, under 
the general guidance of the Flagstaff Area Open Space and Greenways Plan and the Natural Environment 
Maps.
Policy OS.1.3.Use open spaces as natural environment buffer zones to protect scenic views and cultural 
resources, separate disparate uses, and separate private development from public lands, scenic byways, and 
wildlife habitats.

Goal CC.2. Preserve, restore, and rehabilitate heritage resources to better appreciate our culture.
Policy CC.2.1. Actively locate, identify, interpret, and preserve historical, archaeological, and cultural 
resources, in cooperation with other agencies and non-governmental organizations, as aspects of our society 
for future generations to retain, understand, and enjoy their cultural identity.
Policy CC.2.2.Formally recognize heritage resources through designation as local landmarks and historic 
districts.

The primary purpose of this Zoning Map Amendment is to add layers of protection to the Picture Canyon Preserve and 
Archeological Park.  Both properties will be zoned and regulated under the Public Open Space zoning which is intended to 
be applied to areas of the City that are appropriate for designation as public open space to allow for resource protection and 
passive recreation uses.  The Landmark Overlay zone will make the property subject to the Landmark Design Review 
Overlay District Design Standards and Guidelines and design review by the Heritage Preservation Commission.  The 
Resource Protection Overlay provides additional standards for the protection of natural resources, including floodplains, 
steep slopes, and forest.  The Rural Floodplain designation on the Rio de Flag floodplain boundaries further adds a level of 
protection to this property and supports the City of Flagstaff’s Community Rating System (CRS) ranking, which helps to 
lower flood insurance rates for everyone in the city.

Zoning – City of Flagstaff Zoning Code

The requirements of the Public Open Space (POS) zone, Landmarks Overlay (LO) zone, Resource Protection Overlay (RPO) 
zone and the Rural Floodplain designation are intended to promote the preservation and unique character of properties within
the zone. Properties within the Landmarks Overlay zone are subject to the Landmark Design Review Overlay District 
Design Standards and Guidelines and design review by the Heritage Preservation Commission.  The Resource Protection 
Overlay provides standards for the protection of natural resources, including floodplains, steep slopes, and forest.  The Rural 
Floodplain designation is applied to natural undisturbed open spaces defined as areas of delineated 100-year floodplain that 
cannot be disturbed or developed except for roadway and utility crossings.

PUBLIC SYSTEMS IMPACT ANALYSIS:

Traffic and Access

No analysis was required.

Water and Wastewater

A water and sewer analysis was not required as part of this request; however, the Utilities Division did request a condition of 
approval allowing for existing and future utility infrastructure.



PZ-15-00134
February 24, 2016
Page 4

Stormwater

No stormwater improvements have been required.

Parks and Recreation

This zoning map amendment is not anticipated to have any impact to the City’s parks or recreation systems.

OTHER REQUIREMENTS:

Resources

The subject property will be entirely located within the Resource Protection Overlay (RPO) zone as defined by Section 10-
50.90.020.A of the Zoning Code (Page 50.90-2).  Further, this application does not anticipate any physical modifications to 
the existing site. No impact to resources is anticipated.

Citizen Participation

All property owners within 600-feet of this site were notified via mail of the zoning map amendment and annexation and 
asked to attend the Open Space Commission meeting on October 22, 2015.  One individual inquired about these applications 
affecting the management plans for Picture Canyon.  Four individuals total spoke in regards to the open space zoning map 
amendments.  Minutes for this meeting are attached.

DISCUSSION:

The application of the Public Open Space (POS) zone with the Landmarks Overlay (LO) zone, Resource Protection Overlay 
(RPO) zone and Rural Floodplain designation meet the intent of the Regional Plan designation of Open Space Parks.  These 
zones and designations work in concert to protect the natural, cultural, and historic resources on the property as well as 
support the City’s Open Space and Stormwater programs.

RECOMMENDATION:

Staff believes that the proposed Zoning Map amendment has been justified and would recommend in favor of amending the 
Zoning Map for 477.8 acres to the Public Open Space (POS) zone with the Landmarks Overlay (LO) zone, Resource 
Protection Overlay (RPO) zone and the Rural Floodplain designation to 77.8 acres with the following condition:

1. The City of Flagstaff maintains the right to access the subject property to install, locate, operate, repair, 
replace, alter, and maintain any and all existing and future underground pipelines and utility services 
infrastructure of all types within the subject property. This shall include but not be limited to water 
transmission and distribution lines. The City of Flagstaff also maintains the right to remove, alter, or 
maintain any vegetation, improvements, or obstructions during the installation of these pipelines or 
utility services infrastructure on the subject property”.

ATTACHMENTS

o Zoning Map Amendment Application



PZ-15-00134
February 24, 2016
Page 5

o Current City of Flagstaff Zoning Map
o Zoning letter from Coconino County
o HPC Staff Report
o FRP 2030 Goals and Policies – Full list
o Open Space Commission Meeting Minutes 
o Public Hearing Legal Advertisements





31 64 52

7 98 11

2321

17 20

13

1514

24

28

2522

12

18

29

1916

27

10

26

This map is known as the "City of Flagstaff Official Zoning Map" or the
"City of Flagstaff Official Regulating Plan," and is intended to implement
the City of Flagstaff Zoning Code per Ordinance 2011-20 adopted on
11/01/2011 and all subsequent amendments. These maps are based on
the most accurate graphic information available at the time they were
produced. The City of Flagstaff furnishes these maps "as is" and assumes
no responsibility for their accuracy. All zoning information should be
verified by legal description whenever possible.

917 1W

E LOWELL
DRN 

DA
KO

TA
ST

N EL PASO
FLAGSTAFF RD

N 
TH

OR
NT

ON
PL

E MARKETPLACE
DR

E KINSEY
DR

E MERRIAM
DR

E GIBSON AVE

E VERKAMP DR

E BULLWINKLE
DR

N CONRAD LN

CU
MMINGS

ST

CORTLAND
BLVD

MOCCASIN

WAY

BROKEN
BOW DR

HALFMOON
DR

DA
KO

TA
 ST

SA
INT

NIC
HO

LA
S CIR

JO
 D

ON
RD

HA
RV

ES
T RD

RI
LL

A RD

TRAILSEND DR

WARRIOR DR

GLACIER
DR

PHILIP
AVE

INDIANDR

CH
RIS

TM
AS

TR
EE

 LN

EL PASO DR

INDUSTRIAL DR

MARIE
AVE

BRO
KE

N
AR

ROW
RD

TO MAHAWKDR

RAN
DA

LL
ST

NA
TIV

E
WA

Y

N YLA DR

HURLEY
WAY

MALL
WAY

BLIZZARD WAY

ELK
RIDGE

BOBCAT LN

JOEY
AVE

MO
U N

TA
IN

EE
R

RD

OA
KW

OO
D

PIN
ES

 D
R

P ENS
TO

CK

AV
E

LYNCH

AVE

PR
ES

TO
N 

RD

WINTER DR

SM
OKE

RISE DR

DODGE
AVE

HOLLY

GREEN RD

EMPIRE
AVE

CRYSTAL DR

SNOWFLAKE DR

LIN
DS

EY
 R

D

COMMERCE
AVE

BO
NN

ER
 S

T

NES TLE

PURINAAVE

W
INT

ERGREEN RD

DEAN
AV E

ALLEN
AVE

DO
DG

E
AV

E

SNOW
SHOE WAY

TE
ST

 D
R

RAILHEAD
AVE

HUNTINGTON DR

EL
PA

SO

FL
AG

ST
AF

F RD

MARKETPLACE DR

ELDEN
PUEBLO ACCESS RD

COUNTRY

CLUB DR

EMPIRE
AVE

£¤89

£¤66

£¤89

£¤89

£¤66

£¤66§̈¦40

RD

CS

CS

HC

HC
HC

HC

HC

HC

HC

HI

HI-O

HR

HR

LI

LI

LI

LI

LI-O

LI-O

MH

MH

MH

MH

MH MR

PF

PF

PLF

PLF

PLF

R1

R1

RR

RR

RR

City of Flagstaff Zoning Map 5
Residential Zones:

Rural Residential (RR)
Estate Residential (ER)
Single-family Residential (R1)

! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! Single-family Residential Neighborhood (R1N)
Medium Density Residential (MR)
High Density Residential (HR)
Manufactured Housing (MH)

Commercial Zones:
Central Business (CB)
Highway Commercial (HC)
Commercial Service (CS)
Community Commercial (CC)
Suburban Commercial (SC)

Industrial Zones:
Research and Development (RD)
Light Industrial (LI)

! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! Light Industrial Open (LI-O)
Heavy Industrial (HI)

! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! Heavy Industrial Open (HI-O)
Resource and Open Space:

Public Facility (PF)
Public Lands Forest (PLF)
Open Space (OS)

Airport Overlay Zone

Downtown Overlay Zone

Townsite Overlay Zone

Landmark Overlay Zone

Regulating Plan Boundary

City Limits

Parcels

3

6/26/2015

0 500 1,000 1,500 2,000 Feet



31 64 52

7 98 11

2321

17 20

13

1514

24

28

2522

12

18

29

1916

27

10

26

This map is known as the "City of Flagstaff Official Zoning Map" or the
"City of Flagstaff Official Regulating Plan," and is intended to implement
the City of Flagstaff Zoning Code per Ordinance 2011-20 adopted on
11/01/2011 and all subsequent amendments. These maps are based on
the most accurate graphic information available at the time they were
produced. The City of Flagstaff furnishes these maps "as is" and assumes
no responsibility for their accuracy. All zoning information should be
verified by legal description whenever possible.

RA
IN

VA
LL

EY

N EL PASO
FLAGSTAFF RD

ELK
RIDGE

PINTAIL
DR

BOBCAT
LN

MICKELSONS RD

RAIN VALLEY RD

WH
IS

PE
RI

NG
PIN

ES
 R

D

RANMAR WAY

PIC
TU

RE
CA

NY
ON

TR
L

HI
DD

EN
 H

ILL
S 

RD

RA
IN

 VA
LL

EY
 R

D

EL
PA

SO
FL

AG
ST

AF
F RD

RIVER DR

KOCH
FIELD

RD

TURKEY HILLS DR

RAIN VALLEY RD

ROLLING
HILLS LN

LINDSEY RD

£¤66

£¤66 £¤66

PF

PLF

PLF

PLF

RR

RR

City of Flagstaff Zoning Map 6
Residential Zones:

Rural Residential (RR)
Estate Residential (ER)
Single-family Residential (R1)

! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! Single-family Residential Neighborhood (R1N)
Medium Density Residential (MR)
High Density Residential (HR)
Manufactured Housing (MH)

Commercial Zones:
Central Business (CB)
Highway Commercial (HC)
Commercial Service (CS)
Community Commercial (CC)
Suburban Commercial (SC)

Industrial Zones:
Research and Development (RD)
Light Industrial (LI)

! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! Light Industrial Open (LI-O)
Heavy Industrial (HI)

! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! Heavy Industrial Open (HI-O)
Resource and Open Space:

Public Facility (PF)
Public Lands Forest (PLF)
Open Space (OS)

Airport Overlay Zone

Downtown Overlay Zone

Townsite Overlay Zone

Landmark Overlay Zone

Regulating Plan Boundary

City Limits

Parcels

3

6/26/2015

0 500 1,000 1,500 2,000 Feet





- 1 - 

CITY OF FLAGSTAFF 
HERITAGE PRESERVATION COMMISSION 
STAFF REPORT 
 
 
To:  Heritage Preservation Commission 

From:  Karl Eberhard, Historic Preservation Officer 

Date:  January 28, 2016 

Meeting Date:  February 17, 2016 
  
 
TITLE:  Consideration of Landmarks Designation for: 

Picture Canyon Area 
A portion of Section 4, Township 21 North, Range 8 East  
Parcel 113-06-004 

 

REQUEST:   

This is a request to rezone a 77.8 acre undeveloped parcel, Assessor’s Parcel 
Number 113-06-004, located in Section 4, Township 21 North, Range 8 East, to the 
Landmarks Overlay (LO) Zone (Map Attached).  In July of 2013 the Heritage Preservation 
Commission recommended the LO designation for the adjacent 400 acre parcel.  The LO 
zone is an overlay, meaning that the current RR (Rural Residential) zoning applicable to 
the site will remain in place and requirements of the LO zone are added to the underlying 
requirements. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:   

Staff recommends that the Heritage Preservation Commission review the 
application, conduct and receive testimony at a Public Hearing, and forward to the City 
Council a recommendation to approve rezoning the parcel following annexation of the 
parcel into the City of Flagstaff. 

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION: 

Please see the attached Staff Report, dated July 22, 2013. 

 

 



Attachment – District Map 

 

 

(E) Landmarks Overlay District 

- 400 acre Parcel with  

Proposed Landmarks Overlay  

District - 77 acre Parcel 



- 1 - 

CITY OF FLAGSTAFF 
HERITAGE PRESERVATION COMMISSION 
STAFF REPORT 
 
 
To:  Heritage Preservation Commission 

From:  Karl Eberhard, Historic Preservation Officer 

Date:  July 22, 2013 

Meeting Date:  October 16, 2013 
  
 
TITLE:  Consideration of Landmarks Designation for: 

Picture Canyon Area 
A portion of Section 4, Township 21 North, Range 8 East  
Parcel 113-06-003 

 

REQUEST:   

This is a request to rezone a 400.16 acre undeveloped parcel, Assessor’s Parcel 
Number 113-06-003, located in Section 4, Township 21 North, Range 8 East, to the 
Landmarks Overlay (LO) Zone.  The LO zone is an overlay, meaning that the current RR 
(Rural Residential) zoning applicable to the site will remain in place and requirements of the 
LO zone are added to the underlying requirements. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:   

Staff recommends that the Heritage Preservation Commission review the 
application, conduct and receive testimony at a Public Hearing, and forward to the City 
Council a recommendation to approve rezoning the parcel. 

INTENT: 

The application of the Landmarks Overlay (LO) Zone is intended to promote the 
preservation of individual properties of cultural significance.  The LO Zone district 
designation applies the Landmark Design Review Overlay District Design Standards and 
Guidelines, and design review by the Heritage Preservation Commission, to development 
on properties located within the boundaries of the Zone. 

 

 



 

 

Heritage Preservation Commission 
Consideration of Landmarks Designation 
Picture Canyon 
July 22, 2013 
 
 

 

- 2 - 

REQUIRED FINDINGS: 

DESIGNATION (Zoning Code 10-30.30.040.B.2.a):  An individual property, object, 
structure, site, sign or landscape feature may be designated as a Landmark if it is 
significant in accordance with the provisions of this Division and the Development 
Standards and Guidelines of the Landmarks Zone are applicable.   

SIGNIFICANCE (Zoning Code 10-30.30.050.B.1):  A cultural resource is significant if: 

a. It is eligible as a National Historic Landmark, or for the National Register of 
Historic Places, or the Arizona Register of Historic Places; or, 

b. It is associated with events or persons in the architectural, engineering, 
archeological, scientific, technological, economic, agricultural, educational, 
social, political, military, or cultural annals of the City, the State of Arizona, or the 
United States of America;  or, 

c. It represents the work of, or for, an important individual; or, 

d. It embodies distinctive characteristics of type, period, region, artistic values or 
methods of construction, including being the oldest of its type or the best 
example of its type; or,  

e. It has yielded, or may be likely to yield, information needed for scientific research, 
such as important archaeological resources. 

INTEGRITY (Zoning Code 10-30.30.050.B.2.b):  A resource is generally not significant if 
the features, materials, patterns and relationships that contributed to its significance are no 
longer present or no longer have integrity. 

To be significant, the resource must also have integrity, meaning that the general 
character of the significant period must be evident, the characteristics that define its 
significance are present, and any incompatible alterations are reversible.  In addition, the 
integrity of the setting is a contributing factor in assessing integrity of a resource. 

APPLICABILITY OF THE LANDMARKS ZONE DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS AND 
GUIDELINES:  The applicable Development Standards and Guidelines of the Landmarks 
Zone are “Archeology and Historic Preservation: The Secretary of the Interior's Standards 
and Guidelines” as currently amended and annotated by the National Park Service. 



 

 

Heritage Preservation Commission 
Consideration of Landmarks Designation 
Picture Canyon 
July 22, 2013 
 
 

 

- 3 - 

STAFF REVIEW: 

Background: 

With funding from the 2004 voter approved Open Space bond and a 2012 Growing 
Smarter Grant, the City of Flagstaff acquired Picture Canyon in October of 2012 for the 
express purpose of preserving its unique historical, cultural, archeological, recreational and 
educational resources. 

Picture Canyon is a cleft formed by the boundary of two lava flows that erupted from 
nearby Sheep Hill and the Wildcat Hill cinder cones.  The canyon itself is an ecologically 
diverse riparian corridor and the area has a variety of native trees and plants, and hosts a 
variety of fauna.  Dedicated citizens have worked for many years to remove old cars, 
chunks of concrete, used tires, and other trash and debris dumped in the canyon over the 
years.  While a meander restoration was completed in October, 2010, extensive weed 
removal, revegetation, and cleaning of the Rio de Flag (an ephemeral wetland and rare 
habitat in northern Arizona) remain to be accomplished.  Picture Canyon hosts a section of 
the Arizona Trail and provides future Flagstaff Urban Trail segments to promote 
connectivity.  In addition it contains important view sheds (Interstate 40 and Historic Route 
66), serves as an outdoor classroom, and contributes to Flagstaff tourism.   

The area is also abound with archeological resources including pit houses, a pit 
house village, field houses, cave dwellings, artifact scatters, and over 125 petroglyph 
panels.  Most archeological resources are associated with the Northern Sinaqua culture 
and range from 750 to a thousand years old.  In addition to prehistoric resources, logging 
railroad features and historic trash (cans, ceramics, and glass) are found on the site.  The 
remains of a train trestle made from huge virgin timbers can be found slumped on the rock 
above the Picture Canyon falls.  The site was initially studied by Harold S. Colton (founder 
of the Museum of Northern Arizona) in 1919. A thorough Class III Archeological Survey1 
was prepared in April of 2012 by Eric S. Cox and John T Marshall of Northland Research, 
Inc., with contributions by Gina S. Gage. 

The 2012 Archeological Survey by Northland Research, Inc. provides substantially 
greater detail on the resources, and their significance and integrity, and is on file with the 
City of Flagstaff Historic Preservation Officer.  As an archeological report (including specific 
locations of sites), it is not a public document.  For brevity, only brief summaries are 
included herein and additional summary information, if desired, can be obtained from the 
City of Flagstaff Historic Preservation Officer. 

Future development is expected to consist of low-impact trails, interpretive facilities, 
and the most basic visitor amenities such as a parking area and restrooms. 

                                                 
1  Note that the survey area of this report includes an additional 79 acres (roughly) that are under Coconino 
County jurisdiction and not included in this proposed designation.  As a result, the number of archeological 
sites on the subject property varies from what is stated in this report. 



 

 

Heritage Preservation Commission 
Consideration of Landmarks Designation 
Picture Canyon 
July 22, 2013 
 
 

 

- 4 - 

Significance: 

Eighty-four archeological sites have been recorded within a half-mile radius of the 
subject property, including multi-room pueblos, pit house villages, field houses, single room 
structures, artifact scatters, and petroglyph panels.  For the 2012 Archeological Survey of 
the subject property, nineteen previously recorded archeological sites were found, 
researched, and consolidated to eleven.  These are all larger habitation sites with multiple 
features and large diverse artifact scatters.  One site (Picture Canyon) was listed on the 
National Register of Historic Places in 2008 and another was previously determined to be 
eligible to be listed.  The nine remaining sites have previously been recommended as 
eligible, with Northland Research, Inc. concurring on seven and recommending eligibility 
testing on the remaining two.  Ten new sites, generally smaller artifact scatters, were 
identified and recorded.  Northland Research, Inc. recommends one of these as being 
eligible for listing and recommends eligibility testing on the remaining nine new sites.  
However, the report states that “artifacts were nearly continuous throughout the project 
area.”  Because of the contemporaneousness and interconnectedness of the sites, and the 
proximity to both Elden Pueblo and Turkey Hill Pueblo, Northland Research, Inc. further 
recommends that the entire area be consolidated into the Picture Canyon Archeological 
District. 

The logging railroad features within the Kaibab and the Coconino National Forests 
were listed on the National Register of Historic Places in 1995.  On this basis, the logging 
railroad features on the subject property appear to be eligible for listing.  The collapsed 
trestle is probably not eligible except as a part of the overall system.   

While several other significance criteria are clearly met, the actual National Register 
of Historic Places listings and the eligibility of additional sites are sufficient for designation 
to the Landmarks Overlay (LO) Zone. 

Integrity:   

Although some of the sites have been impacted by looting, logging, and vehicle 
traffic, and in spite of the recent survey work, Northland Research, Inc. concludes that the 
sites are still intact and that the information potential has not been exhausted. 

Applicability of the Landmarks Zone Development Standards and Guidelines:   

The Secretary of the Interior's Standards that are the basis of the district standards 
and guidelines were developed specifically to address the preservation needs of unique 
resources such as this.  The standards establish a comprehensive approach to the 
identification, evaluation, registration and treatment of historic properties.  Note that the 
Standards do not require that every feature of a historic property be preserved, but do seek 
to preserve the most significant, character-defining features of a historic site.  However, a 
conservation easement held by Arizona State Parks, specifies that no more than 10% of 
the acquired land, up to a limit of 20 acres total, may be eligible for alteration or 



 

 

Heritage Preservation Commission 
Consideration of Landmarks Designation 
Picture Canyon 
July 22, 2013 
 
 

 

- 5 - 

development and no changes may be made to the parcel that would seriously or negatively 
affect its conservation and open space values. 

Basis of Report: 

The information in this summary report was derived primarily from the 2012 
Archeological Survey by Northland Research, Inc. with some additional information derived 
from various City of Flagstaff documents associated with the property acquisition and 
prepared by City staff, citizens, and consultants. 

STAFF CONCLUSION: 

Staff believes that criteria for Landmarks designation have been met. 

CITIZEN PARTICIPATION:   

The Heritage Preservation Commission (HPC) meeting serves as the Citizen 
Participation event associated with the pending Re-zone Application.  The meeting was 
advertised in the Daily Sun and notices were mailed to all properties within 300 feet of the 
property. 

ATTACHMENTS: 

1. Site Layout 
2. Trails Map 
3. Various Pictures 



 

 

Heritage Preservation Commission 
Consideration of Landmarks Designation 
Picture Canyon 
July 22, 2013 
 
 

 

- 6 - 

Attachment 1 

Site Layout 

 

 



 

 

Heritage Preservation Commission 
Consideration of Landmarks Designation 
Picture Canyon 
July 22, 2013 
 
 

 

- 7 - 

Attachment 2 
Trails Map 

 



 

 

Heritage Preservation Commission 
Consideration of Landmarks Designation 
Picture Canyon 
July 22, 2013 
 
 

 

- 8 - 

Attachment 3 

Various Pictures 

 

 

Examples – Not from Picture Canyon 



M I N U T E S 

City of Flagstaff 

Open Spaces Commission 

Thursday, October 22, 2015 

4:00 – 6:00 pm 

 

City Hall, Council Chambers 

211 West Aspen Avenue, Flagstaff, Arizona 

 
A quorum of the Flagstaff City Council may be in attendance of the Sustainability 

Commission meeting.  

 
In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, if you need 

assistance to participate in this meeting, please contact 928-213-2100.  

Notification at least 48 hours in advance will enable the City to make 

reasonable arrangements.   

 

CALL TO ORDER 

   
COMMISSION MEMBERS: CITY STAFF: COMMUNITY MEMBERS: 

Bryan Burton Nicole Woodman, Sustainability Manager Jack Welch 

Jim Burton Elizabeth Emery, Open Space Specialist Tadd Madeksza 

Jessica Gist McKenzie Jones, Sustainability Specialist Allen Haden 

Tina Pfeiffer John Begay, Sustainability Aide Hannah Griscom 

 Martin Ince, Multi-Modal Planner Elizabeth Stegall 

 Tiffany Antol, Planning Development 

Manager 

Mandy Metzger 

  Tracy Plecas 

 

1. Call to order 

Commissioner Gist called the meeting to order at 4:03pm.  

Public Participation 
At this time, any member of the public may address the Commission on any subject 
that is not scheduled before the Commission on that day. The Arizona Open 
Meeting Law prohibits the Commission from discussing or taking action on an item 
which is not listed on the prepared agenda. Commission members may, however, 
respond to criticism made by those addressing the Commission, ask staff to review a 
matter, or ask that a matter be placed on a future agenda. To address the 
Commission on an item that is on the agenda, please wait for the Chair to call for 
Public Comment at the time the item is heard. 

2. Approval of Minutes 

Commissioner Bryan Burton noted that the minutes do not reflect that the 

northwest portion of parcel 111-02-006B could be developed for residential 

housing. The parcel may be split to accommodate that need. Commissioner 

Pfeiffer motioned to approve the October 15, 2015 minutes with Commissioner 



Bryan Burton’s amendment. Commissioner Jim Burton seconded the motion. All 

commissioners voted in favor to approve minutes.  

3. Discussion Items 

A. Friends of the Rio Watershed Planning Effort 

Hannah Griscom, Friends of the Rio de Flag Board member, gave an overview of 

the Rio de Flag watershed planning effort at the request of the Commission. The 

plan will define the community vision for the Rio de Flag and outline steps to 

restore the Rio de Flag. Ultimately, the group visions to move the Rio de Flag into 

consciousness for the community, be a community rallying point, and a space for 

the community to enjoy by creating a greenbelt that connects neighborhoods and 

public spaces with trails. The Friends of the Rio de Flag plan to start seek funding 

to support writing the document in 2016. Mrs. Griscom mentioned that there is a 

lot of overlap between the Rio de Flag watershed planning effort and the goals of 

the Open Spaces Commission as identified in their Strategic Plan.  

B. Rezoning of Open Space Parcels (Public Hearing) 

Betsy Emery, Open Space Specialist, presented to the Commission regarding the 

annexation and rezone process for open space parcels. This also served as the first 

public hearing for the process for Staff to accept feedback from the community. 

The City acquired Picture Canyon and Observatory Mesa in 2012 and 2013 and 

both properties were designated as open space by City Council. These parcels 

were not zoned as Public Open Space through the acquisition process and remain 

zoned as rural residential, which allows for development. City Staff is currently 

working to rezone these parcels as Public Open Space to provide an additional 

layer of protection to the property because Public Open Space zoning limits the 

type of development that can be done on the parcels.  

Additionally, there are parcels comprising Picture Canyon (113-06-004) and 

Observatory Mesa (102-15-002) which are outside of Flagstaff City limits. City 

Staff proposes annexing these parcels into City limits to streamline management 

requirements for the entire property.  

Lastly, Staff is also proposing to rezone and annex the City-owned Schultz Y 

parcel (300-47-004) as a direct outcome of City Council’s discussion of City-

owned properties on October 29, 2013. 

Community members provided feedback: 

 Tracy Plecas, 6525 North Rain Valley Road, asked if the rezoning process 

would affect planned actions and improvements at the Preserve. Betsy 

Emery answered that the management plan for Picture Canyon was 

recently adopted by City Council and that document outlines all projects 

planned at the Preserve. This process does not affect planned management 

activities. Mrs. Plecas inquired about how many steps are involved in the 

annex and rezone process. Tiffany Antol, Planning Development 

Manager, answered that there will be additional public hearings and that 

the application will be vetted through the Planning and Zoning 

Commission before being brought to City Council for approval.  



 Mandy Metzger, Coconino County District 4 Supervisor, expressed 

appreciation for the many hours and dedication the Open Spaces 

Commission has given to Picture Canyon. She did not have a 

recommendation or comment at the moment because the County had not 

yet discussed the proposal. 

 Sat Best, 3935 North Paradise Road, expressed appreciation for the work 

done on these parcels. He inquired about management plans for the 

Schultz Y property. Commissioner Gist answered the Commission has 

discussed the parcel's open space value - primarily the parcel’s location 

and adjacency to other trails and amenities makes it important for open 

space. Mr. Best inquired if the actual “Y” is located on this parcel. Betsy 

Emery answered that the actual “Y” is located west of the parcel in 

question. Mr. Best inquired about the actual “Y” and if there are any plans 

to include it in the process. Betsy Emery answered that the actual “Y” is 

on private property but the landowner recently contacted the City to 

propose swapping the actual “Y” for a portion of the City-owned parcel. 

This trade would be equitable in terms of value and land area. Mr. Best 

then mentioned the valuable wildlife corridor in the area. Commissioner 

Gist clarified that the Schultz Y parcel is one of 17 city-owned parcels the 

Commission reviewed against a set of criteria that were valuable for open 

space. Ultimately, the Commission determined that the Schultz Y parcel is 

important as open space and recommended that the City designate it as 

open space.  

 Nat White, 1120 N. Rockridge, mentioned that the actual “Y” area is not 

necessary for the trail head, and instead those improvements could be 

located anywhere below the historic reservoir on the City-owned parcel. 

He also mentioned the opportunity for collaboration between the U.S. 

Forest Service, Coconino County, and the City to provide these amenities 

and that this parcel has potential to be another showcase open space area 

for the Flagstaff community.  

 Commissioner Gist inquired about the process involving the County for 

annexing some of these properties. Tiffany Antol, Planning Development 

Manager, answered the annexation process is set out in state statute. As 

soon as the Planning Department receives the application, they will notify 

the Board of Supervisors. The County will be notified at each stage of the 

process, just like the surrounding property owners.  

 

Commissioner Gist clarified that City Staff is looking for the Commission to 

recommend that the City proceed with the process to rezone and annex the three 

properties. Commissioner Bryan Burton motioned to support rezoning and 

annexing these three properties. Commissioner Pfeiffer seconded the motion. The 

motion was approved by all.  

C. Picture Canyon Interpretive Signs 

Betsy Emery, Open Space Specialist, provided a follow up presentation with the 

latest draft of interpretive signs for the Picture Canyon Preserve. The draft is in 



black and white because the graphic designer is waiting for art approval from the 

Open Spaces Commission to finalize the artwork. There are five panels being 

placed at the Outdoor Classroom addressing archaeology, botany, wildlife, 

watershed, and geology. Two signs are being designed for the watchable wildlife 

site near the deep-water pond. Those signs will be related to wetlands and 

wildlife. The Commission provided feedback and minor suggestions for the signs, 

including correcting misspellings, providing descriptions for the QR codes, and 

indicating differences between Kaibab Limestone and Coconino Sandstone. 

Commissioner Jim Burton motioned to approve the signs. Commissioner Bryan 

Burton seconded the motion. All voted in favor. 

D. Review of City Owned Parcels 

The Commission discussed the recent fieldtrip to review the City-owned parcels 

along the Karen Cooper Trail near the Museum of Northern Arizona using the 

matrix used for the 17 city-owned parcels last year. Some of the parcels are 

appropriate for open space because they are too steep to develop or are within the 

Rio de Flag floodplain. Preserving these parcels as open space would provide a 

buffer to the Rio de Flag. The only parcel that doesn’t meet all of the criteria and 

may not be appropriate to designate as open space is parcel 111-02-006B because 

there is a large area that could be developed. Commissioner Gist inquired what 

areas should be visited on additional field trips and the Commission discussed 

visiting the parcels along the Rio de Flag in the Southside Community during the 

spring. The Commission agreed to stand by their previous discussion of the open 

space value associated with City-owned parcels on McMillan Mesa. Additionally, 

the Commission agreed to individually visit a small number of City-owned 

parcels before the next meeting to provide information to the Commission 

regarding their open space potential. 

E. Open Space Management Update 

Betsy Emery, Open Space Specialist, has been working on designing trail signs 

for Picture Canyon for all the major trail intersections. Signs will be 3-3 ½ feet 

tall and posted on 4” steel tubing. Additionally, Staff is still working to edit the 

interpretive signs. There is an easemented water pipeline at Picture Canyon that 

provides water to a few families in the area along the eastern side of the Preserve. 

Staff is working on surveying the pipeline and is working through the required 

cultural compliance regulation process associated with the ground disturbance. 

Additionally, Staff is in the process of launching the Sites Stewards Program, a 

volunteer program out of Arizona State Parks. Program training will be on 

November 4, 2015. Staff is working to address access issues at Matson Tank on 

Observatory Mesa by installing gates to limit illegal motorized access.  

 

4. Information Items To and From Commissioners and Staff 

A. Soliere Property Update 

Per John Grahame’s request at previous Commission meetings, Staff looked 

into the proposal to grant open space land in exchange for the City covering 

the substantial cost to realign Soliere Road. The developer planned to use the 

portion as an active park for ball fields. Ultimately, the Parks and Recreation 



Commission decided to not accept the trade because of floodplain 

requirements associated with the property.  

B. Other Updates 

 Staff provided an update regarding the City Council’s discussion of 

specialty seats on City commissions. The City Council recently decided to 

remove specialty seats from commissions. The Open Spaces Commission 

has multiple specialty seats, including Natural and Cultural Sciences and 

Real Estate. Current commissioners wishing to renew their term will apply 

for an At-Large position and will compete against applicants without 

specialty experience.  

 McKenzie Jones, Sustainability Specialist, informs the Commission of the 

recycling application the City is launching – MyWaste. The app provides 

information on recycling schedules in Flagstaff.  

 Nicole Woodman, Sustainability Manager, informs the Commission that 

the Sustainability Program is hosting their first DIY Workshop of the 

season, which will take place on October 29, 2015 at east public 

community library.  

 

5. Agenda items for Next Meeting 

A. Flagstaff Urban Trail System Acquisitions and Easements 

B. Review of City-owned Parcels 

C. Open Space Management Update 

 

6. Adjournment 

Commissioner Jim Burton motioned to adjourn the meeting at 5:06pm. 

Commissioner Bryan Burton seconded the motion. All voted in favor of 

adjourning the meeting.  

 



Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 Goals and Policies for Picture Canyon

Goal E&C.6. Protect, restore and improve ecosystem health and maintain native plant and animal 
community diversity across all land ownerships in the Flagstaff region.

Policy E&C.6.3. Promote protection, conservation, an ecological restoration of the region’s 
diverse ecosystem types and associated animals.

Policy E&C.6.5. Preserve Flagstaff’s wetland areas and discourage inappropriate development 
that may adversely affect them and the ecosystem services they provide.

Goal E&C.7. Give special consideration to environmentally sensitive lands in the development design 
and review process.

Policy E&C.7.1. Design development proposals and other land management activities to 
minimize the alteration of natural landforms and maximize conservation of distinctive natural 
features.

Policy E&C.7.2. Favor the use of available mechanisms at the City and County level for the 
preservation of environmentally sensitive lands, including but not limited to public acquisition, 
conservation easements, transfer of development rights, or clustered development with open 
space designations.

Goal OS.1. The region has a system of open lands, such as undeveloped natural areas, wildlife corridors 
and habitat areas, trails, access to public lands, and greenways to support the natural environment that 
sustains our quality of life, cultural heritage, and ecosystem health.

Policy OS.1.2. While observing private property rights, preserve natural resources and priorty 
open lands, under the general guidance of the Flagstaff Area Open Space and Greenways Plan 
and the Natural Environment maps.

Policy OS.1.3. Use open spaces as natural environment buffer zones to protect scenic views and 
cultural resources, separate disparate uses, and separate private development from public 
lands, scenic byways, and wildlife habitats.

Goal WR.5. Manage watersheds and stormwater to address flooding concerns, water quality, 
environmental protections, and rainwater harvesting.

Policy WR.5.1. Preserve and restore existing natural watercourse corridors, including the 100-
year floodplain, escarpments, wildlife corridors, natural vegetation and other natural features 
using methods that result in a clear legal obligation to preserve corridors in perpetuity, where 
feasible.

Policy WR.5.2. Incorporate pedestrian access, trails, and watchable wildlife opportunities into 
natural watercourse when practical.



Goal CC.1. Reflect and respect the region’s natural setting and dramatic views in the built environment.

Policy CC.1.1. Preserve the natural character of the region through planning and design to  
maintain views of significant landmarks, sloping landforms, rock outcroppings, water courses, 
floodplains, and meadows, and conserve stand of ponderosa pine.

Goal CC.2. Preserve, restore, and rehabilitate heritage resources to better appreciate our culture.

Policy CC.2.1. Actively locate, identify, interpret, and preserve historical, archaeological, and 
cultural resources, in cooperation with other agencies and non-governmental organizations, as 
aspects of our society for future generations to retain, understand, and enjoy their cultural 
identity.

Policy CC.2.2.Formally recognize heritage resources through designation as local landmarks and 
historic districts.

Goal REC.1. Maintain and grow the region’s healthy system of convenient and accessible parks, 
recreation facilities, and trails.

Policy Rec.1.1. Integrate active and passive recreational site within walking distance throughout 
the region to promote a healthy community for all City and County residents and visitors.



NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARINGS

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN the Flagstaff Planning and 
Zoning Commission will hold a Public Hearing on February  
24, 2016, at 4:00 p.m. and the Flagstaff City Council will 
hold a Public Hearing on March 22, 2016, at 6:00 p.m. to 
consider a Zoning Map Amendment request.

A. Explanation of Matters to be considered:

A proposed amendment to the official City of Flagstaff 
zoning map to rezone 477.8 acres from No Zoning and
Rural Residential (RR) to Public Open Space (POS) and 
to apply the Landmarks Overlay (LO) zone, the Resource 
Protection Overlay (RPO) zone, and the Rural Floodplain 
designation to 77.8 acres.  

The site currently consists of the Picture Canyon Preserve 
and Archeological Park on 477.8 acres.

B. General Description of the Affected Area:
Approximately 477.8 acres, Coconino County Assessor’s 
Parcel Numbers 113-06-003 and 113-06-004 within
Section 4, Township 21 North, Range 8 East, of the Gila 
and Salt River Base and Meridian, City of Flagstaff, 
Coconino County, Arizona.

The Council hearing for these items may be continued if 
the Planning and Zoning Commission has not given a 
recommendation.

Interested parties may file comments in writing regarding 
the proposed amendments or may appear and be heard at 
the hearing dates set forth above. Maps and information 
regarding the proposed amendments are available at the 
City of Flagstaff, Planning and Development Services 
Section, 211 West Aspen Avenue.

Unless otherwise posted, all Planning and Zoning 
Commission and City Council meetings are held in the 
Council Chambers of City Hall, 211 West Aspen Avenue, 
Flagstaff, Arizona.

FOR FURTHER INFORMATION CONTACT 

Tiffany Antol, AICP
Planning Development Manager 
Planning & Development Services  
211 West Aspen Avenue
Flagstaff, Arizona 86001

(928) 213-2608
tantol@flagstaffaz.gov

Publish:  February 5, 2016

PROPOSED ZONING MAP AMENDMENT
From No Zoning and Rural Residential (RR) Zone to 

Public Open Space (POS) Zone for 477.8 acres and to 
apply the Landmarks Overlay (LO) Zone, the Resource 

Protection Overlay (RPO) Zone and the Rural Floodplain 
designation to 77.8 acres.

Rio de Flag

E. Route 66

Townsend Winona Rd









 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2016-19 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF, 
AMENDING THE FLAGSTAFF ZONING MAP TO REZONE APPROXIMATELY 
477.8 ACRES OF REAL PROPERTY KNOWN AS PICTURE CANYON FROM 
NO ZONING AND RURAL RESIDENTIAL (“RR”) TO PUBLIC OPEN SPACE 
(“POS”), AND TO APPLY THE LANDMARKS OVERLAY (LO), THE 
RESOURCE PROTECTION OVERLAY (RPO) AND THE RURAL 
FLOODPLAIN DESIGNATION TO APPROXIMATELY 77.8 ACRES; 
PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY, AND ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE 

 
 
RECITALS: 
 
WHEREAS, The City of Flagstaff (the “Applicant”), applied for a Zoning Map Amendment for 
approximately 477.8 acres of land located at Picture Canyon, Coconino County, Arizona, a legal 
description of which is provided in Exhibit “A” attached hereto (“the Property”), in order to 
preserve an open space area.  
 
WHEREAS, in furtherance of the Applicant’s reasons for the rezone, the Applicant has applied 
to the City of Flagstaff to amend the zoning of the Property from No Zoning and Rural 
Residential (RR) zone to Public Open Space (POS), and to apply the Landmarks Overlay (LO) 
zone, the Resource Protection Overlay (RPO) zone and the Rural Floodplain Designation to 
approximately 77.8 acres of the Property; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Applicant conducted a neighborhood meeting on October 22, 2015, to discuss 
the proposed Zoning Map Amendment with the surrounding community, as required by Section 
10-20.50.040 of the Flagstaff Zoning Code; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission has formally considered the present Zoning 
Map Amendment application following proper notice and a public hearing on February 24, 2016, 
and has recommended approval of the requested zoning application, subject to the Applicant’s 
compliance with certain conditions set forth below; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Council finds that the Applicant has complied with all application requirements 
set forth in Chapter 10-20 of the Flagstaff Zoning Code; and 
 
WHEREAS, the staff has recommended approval of the Zoning Map Amendment application, 
subject to the condition proposed by the Planning and Zoning Commission, as augmented by 
staff, as set forth below, and the Council has considered the condition and has found the 
condition to be appropriate for the Property and necessary for the proposed development; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Council has read and considered the staff reports prepared by the Planning 
Division and all attachments to those reports, the Applicant’s application, the narrative provided 
by the Applicant, and all statements made by the Applicant during the presentation to Council, 
and the Council finds that the proposed Zoning Map Amendment, subject to the condition set 
forth below, meets the findings required by Section 10-20.50.040(F)(1)(a) of the Flagstaff 
Zoning Code. 
 



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-19  PAGE 2 
 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF 
AS FOLLOWS: 
 
SECTION 1.  The foregoing recitals are incorporated as if fully set forth herein. 
 
SECTION 2.  The amendment requested in the application is consistent with and conforms to 
the goals of the General Plan. 
 
SECTION 3.  The amendment requested in the application will not be detrimental to the public 
interest, health, safety, convenience or welfare of the City and will add to the public good as 
described in the General Plan. 
 
SECTION 4.  The affected site is physically suitable in terms of design, location, shape, size, 
operating characteristics, and the provision of public and emergency vehicle access and public 
services and utilities to ensure that the amendment requested in the application will not 
endanger, jeopardize or otherwise constitute a hazard to the property or improvements in the 
vicinity in which the property is located. 
 
SECTION 5.  The Zoning Map designation for the Property is hereby amended from No Zoning 
and Rural Residential (RR) zones to the Public Open Space (POS) zone for approximately 
477.8 acres, and to apply the Landmarks Overlay (LO) zone, the Resource Protection Overlay 
(RPO) zone and the Rural Floodplain Designation to approximately 77.8 acres of the Property, 
as depicted in Exhibit “A”, through the approval of the application and all other documents 
attached to the staff summary submitted in support of this ordinance. 
 
SECTION 6.  The City is specifically relying on all assertions made by the Applicant, or the 
applicant’s representatives, whether authorized or not, made at the public hearing on the zone 
change application unless the assertions were withdrawn on the record.  Those assertions are 
hereby incorporated into this ordinance. 
 
SECTION 7.  That the Zoning Map Amendment be further conditioned upon the Applicant’s 
satisfaction of the following condition proposed by the Planning and Zoning Commission, as 
augmented by staff: 
 
CONDITIONS: 
 

1. The City of Flagstaff maintains the right to access the subject property to install, locate, 
operate, repair, replace, alter, and maintain any and all existing and future underground 
pipelines and utility services infrastructure of all types within the subject property.  This shall 
include but not be limited to water transmission and distribution lines.  The City of Flagstaff 
also maintains the right to remove, alter, or maintain any vegetation, improvements, or 
obstructions during the installation of these pipelines or utility services infrastructure on the 
subject property. 
 
 

SECTION 8.  That City staff is hereby authorized to take such other and further measures and 
actions as are necessary and appropriate to carry out the terms, provisions and intents of this 
Ordinance. 
 
SECTION 9.  If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase or portion of this ordinance 
or any part of the code adopted herein by reference is for any reason held to be invalid or 



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-19  PAGE 3 
 
 
unconstitutional by the decision of any court of competent jurisdiction, such decision shall not 
affect the validity of the remaining portions thereof. 
 
SECTION 10.  This ordinance shall become effective thirty (30) days following adoption by the 
City Council. 
 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Flagstaff this 5th day of April, 2016. 
 
 
 
 
 
   
 MAYOR 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
  
CITY CLERK 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
 
  
CITY ATTORNEY 



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-19  PAGE 4 
 
 

Exhibit “A” 
 

Legal Description of Property 









ORDINANCE NO. 2016-19  PAGE 5 
 
 

Exhibit “B” 
 

Legal Description of New Zoning 









  14. D. 3. a.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT

To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Jennifer Mikelson, Associate Planner

Date: 03/16/2016

Meeting Date: 03/22/2016

TITLE: 
Public Hearing, Consideration and Possible Adoption of Resolution No. 2016-10:  A resolution
amending the Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 to change the area type designation on Maps 21 and 22
from Area in White area type to Park/Open Space area type for approximately 26.03 acres located at the
northeast corner of Fir Avenue and North San Francisco Street. (Buffalo Park West Minor Regional
Plan Amendment)

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
1) Hold the Public Hearing
2) Read Resolution No. 2016-10 by title only
3) City Clerk reads Resolution No. 2016-10 by title only (if approved above)
4) Adopt Resolution No. 2016-10

Executive Summary:
A minor Regional Plan amendment request to change the area type designation on Maps 21 and 22 from
Area in White to Park/Open Space for approximately 26.03 acres located at the northeast corner of
Fir Avenue and North San Francisco Street.

Financial Impact:
None

Connection to Council Goal and/or Regional Plan:
COUNCIL GOALS:

1) Provide sustainable and equitable public facilities, services, and infrastructure systems in an efficient
and effective manner to serve all population areas and demographics
2) Continue to implement the Flagstaff Regional Plan and focus efforts on specific plans

REGIONAL PLAN:
Goal E&C.6. Protect, restore, and improve ecosystem health and maintain native plant and animal
community diversity across all land ownership in the Flagstaff region.
Goal E&C.10. Protect indigenous wildlife populations, localized and larger scale wildlife habitats,
ecosystem processes, and wildlife movement areas throughout the planning area.
Goal OS.1. The region has a system of open lands, such as undeveloped natural areas, wildlife corridors
and habitat areas, trails, access to public lands, and greenways to support the natural environment that
sustains our quality of life, cultural heritage, and ecosystem health.
Goal WR.6. Protect, preserve, and improve the quality of surface water, groundwater, and reclaimed



water in the region.
Goal REC.1. Maintain and grow the region’s healthy system of convenient and accessible parks,
recreation facilities, and trails. 

Has There Been Previous Council Decision on This:
This proposed amendment would enact a prior dedication set forth in City of Flagstaff Ordinance No.
2014-23. The dedication states: “The portion of real property owned by the City of Flagstaff…is hereby
set aside, preserved, and dedicated to the public for passive park purposes to be included in the
immediately adjacent Buffalo Park.” The rezoning of the property “to the zoning best reflective of the
dedication of the property as a public park” was identified as a secondary enactment of the Ordinance.

Options and Alternatives:
Options and Alternatives:
1) Approve the resolution as proposed
2) Approve the resolution with conditions
3) Deny the resolution

Background/History:
The applicant, City of Flagstaff Parks and Recreation Department, is requesting a minor Regional Plan
Amendment to ensure conformance with a proposed Zoning Map Amendment to formally designate city
owned property with the Public Open Space (POS) zone. Changing the subject property from Area in
White to Park/Open Space will affect approximately 26.03 acres of land depicted on the Future Growth
Illustration (Maps 21 and 22). The amendment table on page III-9 of the Plan states that a minor Plan
amendment is appropriate for the designation of any land for conservation. As mentioned previously in
this report, the primary purpose of this rezoning is to enact a prior dedication as stated in City of Flagstaff
Ordinance No. 2014-23. 
 
The subject property is located at the northeast corner of the intersection of Fir Avenue and San
Francisco Street. San Francisco Street is privately held in this area, and splits the subject property in two.
Two privately held parcels are located in between both parts of the subject property. Neither the private
street nor the private parcels are part of this minor Plan amendment.
 
Access to the property and the adjoining Buffalo Park from San Francisco Street will be determined by
the Parks Department at a later date. There are existing unofficial trails across the parcel connecting to
Buffalo Park. A future Flagstaff Urban Trail System (FUTS) trail is proposed on Map 26: Flagstaff Urban
Trail System, and will make connections to the existing Switzer Canyon and Cedar Trails. The site has
abundant slope, forest, and floodplain resources. There is a prominent slope up to the northeast corner of
the site. Portions of the site are located in the Switzer Canyon Wash. The Park/Open Space area type
category is most appropriate given the numerous resources onsite This amendment to the Future Growth
Illustration will clearly reflect this expansion of designated open space.

Key Considerations:
The Planning and Zoning Commission and Council shall find that the proposed Flagstaff Regional Plan
2030 (FRP30 or the Plan) amendment meets the requirements of the General Plan and Subdivision Code
(City Code Title 11). In considering the request for an amendment to the Plan, the goals and policies in
the Plan should be considered to ensure that the requested change to the Future Growth Illustration is in
conformance to the overall vision of the Plan. “The Flagstaff Regional Plan establishes the vision for the
future growth and development of Flagstaff and its surrounding area through goals and policies” (p. III-4).
“General plans are not static documents; they recognize growth as a dynamic process, which may
require revisions to the plan as circumstances or changes warrant” (p. III-1).

As discussed in the “How This Plan Works” chapter (page III-4), the Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 is used



in the regulatory decision-making process by the Planning & Zoning Commission, City Council and city
staff.  The Commission and the Council are responsible for making development decisions such as
zoning map amendments or annexations, approval which depends on whether the proposed changes or
projects are consistent with the Plan’s goals and policies.  The Future Growth Illustration on Maps 21
(regional scale) and 22 (city scale) and the text of the Plan will provide supplemental information for the
interpretation of goals and policies. In case of any conflict between the Future Growth Illustration and the
Plan’s goals and policies, the goals and policies will prevail. The Future Growth Illustration displays broad
land use categories, called “area types,” which describe the placemaking context of Urban, Suburban,
Rural, Special Planning Area, Park/Open Space, or in some cases, Area in White. Within these Areas in
White existing entitlements are retained and have no other assigned area type. In most cases, these
parcels are public lands held by the Forest Service or City. With this request the “Area in White” will, if
approved, be assigned the Park/Open Space area type.

Expanded Financial Considerations:
None
  



Community Benefits and Considerations:
Community benefits and considerations related to this minor Regional Plan amendment request are
addressed in the attached Planning and Zoning Commission staff report dated February 19, 2016.

Community Involvement:
Public hearings before the Planning and Zoning Commission and City Council are conducted in
conjunction with the Zoning Map amendment request. In accordance with Arizona Revised Statute and
Section 10-20.30.080 (p. 20.30-9) of the Zoning Code, notice of the public hearings was provided by
placing an ad in the Daily Sun, posting notices on the property, and mailing a notice to all property
owners within 600 feet of the subject property. The mailing asked residents and property owners to
attend the October 19, 2015 Parks and Recreation Commission meeting as a venue for discussion. The
Commission did not meet quorum for their advertised meeting, but a public meeting for the rezoning was
still held with the applicant and other city staff present. One member of the public attended the meeting to
receive clarification on the Zoning Map Amendment for this property. There were no email inquiries about
this Plan amendment.

Expanded Options and Alternatives:
None

Attachments:  PZ Staff Report
Application
Proposed Future Growth Illustration
Public Notice
Res. 2016-10



PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT
FLAGSTAFF REGIONAL PLAN 2030 AMENDMENT

PUBLIC HEARING DATE: February 19, 2016
PZ-15-00139-01 MEETING DATE: February 24, 2016

REPORT BY: Jennifer Mikelson

REQUEST

A minor Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 amendment request by the City of Flagstaff to change the area type designation
on Maps 21 and 22 from Area in White to Park/Open Space for approximately 26.03 acres located at the north end of 
San Francisco Street. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION

Staff recommends the Planning and Zoning Commission forward the minor Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 amendment
to the City Council with a recommendation for approval.

PRESENT LAND USE

Undeveloped land in the Area in White area type category.

PROPOSED LAND USE

Park/Open Space area type, which would designate the area as a passive recreation park.

NEIGHBORHOOD DEVELOPMENT

North: Vacant parcels and single family residences; Agricultural Residential (AR) zone, 1 acre minimum (County)
East: City-operated Buffalo Park; Public Open Space (POS) zone
South: Single family residences; Single Family Residential (R1) zone
West: Vacant parcels and single-family residence; Agricultural Residential (AR) zone, 1 acre minimum (County)

REQUIRED FINDINGS

The Planning and Zoning Commission shall find that the proposed Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 (FRP30 or the Plan) 
amendment meets the requirements of the General Plan and Subdivision Code (City Code Title 11).

In considering the request for an amendment to the Plan, the goals and policies in the Plan should be considered to 
ensure that the requested change to the Future Growth Illustration is in conformance to the overall vision of the Plan.
“The Flagstaff Regional Plan establishes the vision for the future growth and development of Flagstaff and its 
surrounding area through goals and policies” (p. III-4). “General plans are not static documents; they recognize growth 
as a dynamic process, which may require revisions to the plan as circumstances or changes warrant” (p. III-1).

STAFF REVIEW

Introduction/Background Discussion
This request is the first of two related items on the Commission’s agenda; the second item is identified as a Zoning 
Map amendment request.

The applicant, City of Flagstaff Recreation Department, is requesting a minor Regional Plan Amendment to ensure 
conformance with a proposed Zoning Map Amendment to formally designate city owned property with the Public 
Open Space (POS) zone. Changing the subject property from Area in White to Park/Open Space will affect 
approximately 26.03 acres of land depicted on the Future Growth Illustration (Maps 21 and 22). The amendment table 



PZ-15-00139-01
February 19, 2016

2

on page III-9 of the Plan states that a minor Plan amendment is appropriate for the designation of any land for 
conservation. The primary purpose of this rezoning is to enact a prior dedication as stated in City of Flagstaff Ordinance 
No. 2014-23. The dedication states, “The portion of real property owned by the City of Flagstaff…is hereby set aside, 
preserved, and dedicated to the public for passive park purposes to be included in the immediately adjacent Buffalo Park.” 
The rezoning of the property “to the zoning best reflective of the dedication of the property as a public park” was identified 
as a secondary enactment of the Ordinance. 

The subject property is located at the northeast corner of the intersection of Fir Avenue and San Francisco Street. San 
Francisco Street is privately held in this area, and splits the subject property in two. Two privately held parcels are 
located in between both parts of the subject property. Neither the private street nor the private parcels are part of this
minor Plan amendment.

Access to the property and the adjoining Buffalo Park from San Francisco Street will be determined by the Parks 
Department at a later date. There are existing unofficial trails across the parcel connecting to Buffalo Park. A future 
Flagstaff Urban Trail System (FUTS) trail is proposed on Map 26: Flagstaff Urban Trail System, and will make 
connections to the existing Switzer Canyon and Cedar Trails. The site has abundant slope, forest, and floodplain
resources. There is a prominent slope up to the northeast corner of the site. Portions of the site are located in the 
Switzer Canyon Wash. The Park/Open Space area type category is most appropriate given the numerous resources 
onsite This amendment to the Future Growth Illustration will clearly reflect this expansion of designated open space. 

Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 Amendment Request

As discussed in the “How This Plan Works” chapter (page III-4), the Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 is used in the 
regulatory decision-making process by the Planning & Zoning Commission, City Council and city staff.  The 
Commission and the Council are responsible for making development decisions such as zoning map amendments or 
annexations, approval which depends on whether the proposed changes or projects are consistent with the Plan’s goals 
and policies.  The Future Growth Illustration on Maps 21 (regional scale) and 22 (city scale) and the text of the Plan 
will provide supplemental information for the interpretation of goals and policies. In case of any conflict between the 
Future Growth Illustration and the Plan’s goals and policies, the goals and policies will prevail. The Future Growth 
Illustration displays broad land use categories, called “area types,” which describe the placemaking context of Urban, 
Suburban, Rural, Special Planning Area, Park/Open Space, or in some cases, Area in White. Within these Areas in 
White existing entitlements are retained and have no other assigned area type. In most cases, these parcels are public 
lands held by the Forest Service or City. With this request the “Area in White” will, if approved, be assigned the 
Park/Open Space area type.

Attached are exhibits comparing the existing and proposed Future Growth Illustrations. The Plan’s maps and any 
applicable text should be considered in the context of the Plan’s goals and policies. A discussion of the FRP30 goals
and policies is provided below. 

APPLICABLE GENERAL PLAN GOALS AND POLICIES 

Ecosystem Health
Goal E&C.6. Protect, restore, and improve ecosystem health and maintain native plant and animal community 
diversity across all land ownership in the Flagstaff region.

The Switzer Canyon Wash is identified as a natural watercourse on Maps 6 and 7 in the FRP30. Map 6: Existing Land 
Management Areas and Boundaries identifies a “hydrologic flood management feature,” and the property is shown as 
having “potential riparian vegetation” on Map 7: Significant Natural Resources Map. This site is already subject to the 
Resource Protection Overlay (RPO), which ensures any future facility development, such as parking/restrooms, will 
comply with those preservation requirements. 



PZ-15-00139-01
February 19, 2016

3

Wildlife
Goal E&C.10. Protect indigenous wildlife populations, localized and larger scale wildlife habitats, ecosystem 
processes, and wildlife movement areas throughout the planning area.

The subject parcel is not located within a known wildlife corridor, however, Maps 7 and 8 illustrate the wildlife 
features of the adjoining Buffalo Park property. Map 8: Concentration of Natural Resources identifies the park as a 
watchable wildlife area, with natural grasslands and openings shown on Map 7: Significant Natural Resources. The 
subject property will connect directly with this wildlife site.

Open Space
Goal OS.1. The region has a system of open lands, such as undeveloped natural areas, wildlife corridors and habitat 
areas, trails, access to public lands, and greenways to support the natural environment that sustains our quality of life, 
cultural heritage, and ecosystem health. 
Policy OS.1.3. Use open space as natural environment buffer zones to protect scenic views and cultural resources, 
separate disparate uses, and separate private development from public lands, scenic byways, and wildlife habitats. 
Policy OS.1.4. Use open space as opportunities for non-motorized connectivity, to interact with nature, and to enjoy 
the views and quiet. 

Water Quality
Goal WR.6. Protect, preserve, and improve the quality of surface water, groundwater, and reclaimed water in the 
region.

The Switzer Canyon Wash drains towards the southeast corner where it eventually joins the East Fork of Switzer 
Canyon Wash. A Rural Floodplain designation is proposed with the rezoning of this property, which ensures additional 
protections of this environmentally sensitive area.

Recreation
Goal REC.1. Maintain and grow the region’s healthy system of convenient and accessible parks, recreation facilities, and 
trails.
Policy Rec.1.1. Integrate active and passive recreational sites within walking distance throughout the region to 
promote a healthy community for all City and County residents and visitors.

Policy Analysis: In summary, the subject property has been designated by the 2014 ordinance for use a public park. 
This list below identifies several key points and community benefits supporting (+) or not supporting (-) the proposed 
amendment:

+ It meets several open space and water resources goals;
+ The property will enhance and grow the City’s existing parks system;
+ Three layers of resource protection zones (Public Open Space, Resource Protection Overlay, Rural Floodplain 

designation) will ensure the maximum preservation and integrity of the site;
+ The site will provide passive recreation opportunities for all city residents; and
- The ability to provide affordable housing on this site has been lost with the removal of Single Family 

Residential (R1) zoning.

PUBLIC SYSTEMS IMPACT ANALYSIS

No public service impact analysis was required.

Citizen Participation: Public hearings before the Planning and Zoning Commission and City Council are conducted 
in conjunction with the Zoning Map amendment request. In accordance with Arizona Revised Statute and Section 10-
20.30.080 (p. 20.30-9) of the Zoning Code, notice of the public hearings was provided by placing an ad in the Daily 



PZ-15-00139-01
February 19, 2016

4

Sun, posting notices on the property, and mailing a notice to all property owners within 600 feet of the subject 
property. The mailing asked residents and property owners to attend the October 19, 2015 Parks and Recreation 
Commission meeting as a venue for discussion. The Commission did not meet quorum for their advertised meeting, but a 
public meeting for the rezoning was still held with the applicant and other city staff present. One member of the public 
attended the meeting to receive clarification on the Zoning Map Amendment for this property. There were no email 
inquiries about this Plan amendment.

RECOMMENDATION

Staff believes that the proposed amendment to the Plan is supportable under the guidelines of the Flagstaff Regional
Plan 2030, and would recommend approval of the proposed amendment.

ATTACHMENTS

Minor Regional Plan amendment application 
Future Growth Illustration – existing/proposed
Public hearing legal advertisement





N H
UM

PH
RE

YS
ST

W FOREST
AVE

N SWITZERCANYONDR

N SAN
FR

ANCISC
O

STN B
EA

VE
R S

T

E FOREST
AVE

E CEDAR AVE

£¤180

£¤180

0 0.1 0.2 0.3 0.40.05
Miles

Le ge n d
Parks/Open Space
Proposed Parks/Open Space
Proposed City Limit

Grow th Illus tration  Are a Type s - Future
Vision  Are a Type s

Rural - Future
Suburban - Future
Urban - Future
Industrial / Business Park - Special District

Grow th Illus tration  Are a Type s - Exis tin g
Vision  Are a Type s

Existing Entitlements Retained
Industrial / Business Park - Existing
Rural - Existing
Special District
Suburban - Existing
Urban - Existing 
City Limits Cartegraphic
FMPO Boundary

Parce ls
Parcels

¯

Buffalo Park West Minor Plan Amendment

Date Saved: 2/11/2016 10:11:53 AM Author: Sara Dechter

The  Future  Grow th Illus tration  de fin e s  the  ge ographic location s  of are a type s
an d place  type s . It s how s  the  spatial re lation s hip of e xis tin g an d future  
de ve lopm e n t an d is in te n de d to be  us e d in   con jun ction  with the  Natural 
En viron m e n t Maps (Maps 6-8) an d the  Road Ne tw ork Map (Map 25). This 
Illus tration  should n ot be  r e lie d upon  to de te r m in e  whe r e  s pe cific lan d us e s  
are  allow e d; that in form ation  is foun d in  City Code  Title  10 (Zon in g Code ) 
an d the  Zon in g Map. In  cas e  of an y con flict be tw e e n  the  Future  Grow th
Illus tration  an d the  Re gion al Plan ’s goals an d policie s , the  goals  an d 

policie s  will pre vail.





RESOLUTION NO. 2016-10 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE FLAGSTAFF CITY COUNCIL AMENDING THE 
FLAGSTAFF REGIONAL PLAN 2030 TO CHANGE THE AREA TYPE 
DESIGNATION OF APPROXIMATELY 26.03 ACRES OF REAL PROPERTY 
ON MAPS 21 AND 22 GENERALLY LOCATED AT THE NORTHEAST 
CORNER OF FIR AVENUE AND NORTH SAN FRANCISCO STREET FROM 
AREA IN WHITE AREA TYPE TO PARK/OPEN SPACE AREA TYPE; 
PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY, AND ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE  

 
 
RECITALS: 
 
WHEREAS, the Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 (the “Regional Plan”) was adopted by the Mayor 
and Council of the City of Flagstaff (the “City Council”) on January 14, 2014 and ratified by the 
qualified electors of the City of Flagstaff (the “City”) on May 20, 2014; and 
 
WHEREAS, among other things, the Regional Plan establishes the authority and procedure for 
minor amendments; and  
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to section § 9-461.06, Arizona Revised Statutes, and the Regional Plan, 
the City has consulted with, advised, and provided the opportunity for public comment on the 
proposed amendment to the Regional Plan; and  
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to A.R.S. § 9-461.06 and the Regional Plan, the City Planning and Zoning 
Commission held a public hearing on the proposed Regional Plan amendment on February 24, 
2016, and provided notice of such hearing in the manner required by A.R.S. § 9-461.06(E). 
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to A.R.S. § 9-461.06 and the Regional Plan, the City Council held a public 
hearing in the City Council Chambers on the proposed Regional Plan amendment on March 22, 
2016, and provided notice of such hearing by publication of said notice in the manner required 
by A.R.S. § 9-461.06(E); and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council finds and determines that (i) proper notice of the proposed 
Regional Plan amendment has been given in a manner required by A.R.S. § 9-461.06, and (ii) 
that each of the required publications have been made in the Arizona Daily Sun, a newspaper of 
general circulation within the City; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council desires to amend the Regional Plan to change the area type 
designation of approximately 26.03 acres of real property on Maps 21 and 22 generally located 
on the northeast corner of Fir Avenue and North San Francisco Street from Area in White area 
type to Park/Open Space area type.  
 
ENACTMENTS: 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF 
AS FOLLOWS: 
 
SECTION 1. That the Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 is hereby amended to change the area 
type designation of approximately 26.03 acres of real property on Maps 21 and 22 generally 



RESOLUTION NO. 2016-10   PAGE 2 
   
  
located at the northeast corner of Fir Avenue and North San Francisco Street, as more 
particularly depicted in Exhibit “A” (Future Growth Illustration – Proposed), from Area in 
White area type to Park/Open Space area type.  
 
SECTION 2. That the Mayor, the City Manager, the City Clerk and the City Attorney are 
hereby authorized to take all steps necessary to carry out the purpose and intent of this 
Resolution.  
 
SECTION 3. This resolution shall become effective thirty (30) days following adoption by the 
City Council. 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Flagstaff this 22nd day of March, 
2016. 
 
 
 
               
        MAYOR 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
  
CITY CLERK 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
 
  
CITY ATTORNEY 
 



N H
UM

PH
RE

YS
ST

W FOREST
AVE

N SWITZERCANYONDR

N SAN
FR

ANCISC
O

STN B
EA

VE
R S

T

E FOREST
AVE

E CEDAR AVE

£¤180

£¤180

0 0.1 0.2 0.3 0.40.05
Miles

Le ge n d
Parks/Open Space
Proposed Parks/Open Space
Proposed City Limit

Grow th Illus tration  Are a Type s - Future
Vision  Are a Type s

Rural - Future
Suburban - Future
Urban - Future
Industrial / Business Park - Special District

Grow th Illus tration  Are a Type s - Exis tin g
Vision  Are a Type s

Existing Entitlements Retained
Industrial / Business Park - Existing
Rural - Existing
Special District
Suburban - Existing
Urban - Existing 
City Limits Cartegraphic
FMPO Boundary

Parce ls
Parcels

¯

Buffalo Park West Minor Plan Amendment

Date Saved: 2/11/2016 10:11:53 AM Author: Sara Dechter

The  Future  Grow th Illus tration  de fin e s  the  ge ographic location s  of are a type s
an d place  type s . It s how s  the  spatial re lation s hip of e xis tin g an d future  
de ve lopm e n t an d is in te n de d to be  us e d in   con jun ction  with the  Natural 
En viron m e n t Maps (Maps 6-8) an d the  Road Ne tw ork Map (Map 25). This 
Illus tration  should n ot be  r e lie d upon  to de te r m in e  whe r e  s pe cific lan d us e s  
are  allow e d; that in form ation  is foun d in  City Code  Title  10 (Zon in g Code ) 
an d the  Zon in g Map. In  cas e  of an y con flict be tw e e n  the  Future  Grow th
Illus tration  an d the  Re gion al Plan ’s goals an d policie s , the  goals  an d 

policie s  will pre vail.



  14. D. 3. b.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT

To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Jennifer Mikelson, Associate Planner

Date: 03/16/2016

Meeting Date: 03/22/2016

TITLE: 
Public Hearing, Consideration and Possible Adoption of Ordinance No. 2016-16:  An ordinance of
the City Council of the City of Flagstaff, amending the Flagstaff Zoning Map to rezone approximately
26.03 acres of real property located at the northeast corner of Fir Avenue and North San Francisco
Street, from Single Family Residential (R1) and Public Facility (PF) to Public Open Space (POS), and to
apply the Rural Floodplain Designation.  (Buffalo Park West Zoning Map Amendment) 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
At the March 22, 2016 Council Meeting:
1) Hold the Public Hearing
2) Read Ordinance No. 2016-16 by title only for the first time
3) City Clerk reads Ordinance No. 2016-16 by title only (if approved above)
At the April 5, 2016 Council Meeting:
4) Read Ordinance No. 2016-16 by title only for the final time
5) City Clerk reads Ordinance No. 2016-16 by title only (if approved above)
6)  Adopt Ordinance No. 2016-16

Executive Summary:
A zoning Map amendment request to rezone approximately 26.03 acres located north of Fir Avenue
along San Francisco Street from the Single Family Residential (R1) and Public Facility (PF) zones to
Public Open Space (POS).

Financial Impact:
None
  



Connection to Council Goal and/or Regional Plan:
COUNCIL GOALS:
1) Provide sustainable and equitable public facilities, services, and infrastructure systems in an efficient
and effective manner to serve all population areas and demographics
2) Continue to implement the Flagstaff Regional Plan and focus efforts on specific plans

REGIONAL PLAN:
Goal E&C.6. Protect, restore, and improve ecosystem health and maintain native plant and animal
community diversity across all land ownership in the Flagstaff region.
Goal E&C.10. Protect indigenous wildlife populations, localized and larger scale wildlife habitats,
ecosystem processes, and wildlife movement areas throughout the planning area.
Goal OS.1. The region has a system of open lands, such as undeveloped natural areas, wildlife corridors
and habitat areas, trails, access to public lands, and greenways to support the natural environment that
sustains our quality of life, cultural heritage, and ecosystem health.
Goal WR.6. Protect, preserve, and improve the quality of surface water, groundwater, and reclaimed
water in the region.
Goal REC.1. Maintain and grow the region’s healthy system of convenient and accessible parks,
recreation facilities, and trails. 

Has There Been Previous Council Decision on This:
This proposed rezoning would enact a prior dedication set forth in City of Flagstaff Ordinance No.
2014-23. The dedication states: “The portion of real property owned by the City of Flagstaff…is hereby
set aside, preserved, and dedicated to the public for passive park purposes to be included in the
immediately adjacent Buffalo Park.” Rezoning the property “to the zoning best reflective of the dedication
of the property as a public park” was identified as a secondary enactment of the Ordinance.
 

Options and Alternatives:
Options and Alternatives:
1) Approve the ordinance with the proposed conditions
2) Approve the ordinance with the proposed conditions, additional conditions, or modified conditions.
3) Deny the ordinance based on the required findings in Section 10-20.50.040(F)(1)(a) of the Flagstaff
Zoning Code

Background/History:
The Applicant, the City of Flagstaff Recreation Department, on behalf of the property owner, the City of
Flagstaff, is requesting a Zoning Map amendment to rezone approximately 26.03 acres to the Public
Open Space (POS) zone with the Rural Floodplain designation. A Public Open Space (POS) designation
would allow the expansion of an existing city park with passive recreational uses. The Rural Floodplain
designation would exist along with the proposed Public Open Space (POS) zone, and prohibits certain
development within the identified floodway and floodplain. Attached to this report is a map of the
FEMA-recognized floodway and floodplain across the parcel, with the existing water transmission lines
shown in the floodway. In addition, the Resource Protection Overlay (RPO) zone currently applies to this
parcel, and will be carried over with this rezoning application.
 
As previously stated, the primary purpose of this rezoning is to enact a prior dedication as stated in City
of Flagstaff Ordinance No. 2014-23.

Key Considerations:
All proposed amendments shall be evaluated as to whether the application is consistent with and



All proposed amendments shall be evaluated as to whether the application is consistent with and
conforms to the goals of the General Plan and any applicable specific plans; and the proposed
amendment will not be detrimental to the public interest, health, safety, convenience, or welfare of the
City of Flagstaff (the “City”) and will add to the public good as described in the General Plan; and the
affected site is physically suitable in terms of design, location, shape, size, operating characteristics, and
the provision of public and emergency vehicle access, public services, and utilities to ensure that the
requested zone designation and the proposed or anticipated uses and/or development will not endanger,
jeopardize, or otherwise constitute a hazard to the property or improvements in the vicinity in which the
property is located. If the application is not consistent with the General Plan and any other applicable
specific plan, the applicable plan must be amended in compliance with the procedures established in
Chapter 11-10 of the City Code (Title 11: General Plans and Subdivisions) prior to considering the
proposed amendment.

Expanded Financial Considerations:
None

Community Benefits and Considerations:
Community benefits and considerations related to this Zoning Map amendment are addressed in the
attached Planning and Zoning Commission staff report dated February 19, 2016.

Community Involvement:
All property owners within 600-feet of this site were notified via mail of the zoning map amendment and
asked to attend the October 19, 2015 Parks and Recreation Commission meeting. Additionally, a notice
was run in the Daily Sun, which discussed the zoning map amendment and identified the Parks and
Recreation Commission meeting as a venue for discussion. The Commission did not meet quorum for
their advertised meeting, but a public meeting for the rezoning was still held with the applicant and other
city staff present. One member of the public attended the meeting to receive clarification on the Zoning
Map amendment for this property.
  



Expanded Options and Alternatives:
None

Attachments:  PZ Staff Report
Application
Zoning Map
Floodway Utilities Map
Public Notice
Exhibit A
Ord. 2016-16



PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT
ZONING MAP AMENDMENT

PUBLIC HEARING DATE: February 19, 2016
PZ-15-00139 MEETING DATE: February 24, 2016

REPORT BY: Jennifer Mikelson

REQUEST:

A Zoning Map amendment request from the City of Flagstaff Parks and Recreation Department, on behalf of the property
owner, City of Flagstaff, to rezone approximately 26.03 acres within Section 10, Township 21 North, Range 7 East from the 
Single Family Residential (R1) and Public Facility (PF) zones to the Public Open Space (POS) zone with the Rural 
Floodplain designation.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:

Staff recommends the Planning and Zoning Commission forward the Zoning Map amendment to the City Council with a 
recommendation for approval with a condition.

PRESENT LAND USE:

The site is currently undeveloped and is adjacent to the existing City-operated Buffalo Park. A private drive divides the 
parcel in two. A water transmission line exists on the property, under the floodway.

PROPOSED LAND USE:

Future development may consist of low-impact trails, interpretive facilities, and the most basic visitor amenities like parking 
and restrooms. The ability to maintain and expand future utility infrastructure across the parcel will be continued.

NEIGHBORHOOD DEVELOPMENT:

North: Vacant parcels and single family residences; Agricultural Residential (AR) zone, 1 acre minimum (County)
East: City-operated Buffalo Park; Public Open Space (POS) zone
South: Single family residences; Single Family Residential (R1) zone
West: Vacant parcels and single-family residence; Agricultural Residential (AR) zone, 1 acre minimum 

(County)

REQUIRED FINDINGS:

STAFF REVIEW. An application for a Zoning Map amendment shall be submitted to the Planning Director, shall be 
reviewed and a recommendation prepared. The Planning Director’s recommendation shall be transmitted to the Planning 
Commission in the form of a staff report prior to a scheduled public hearing. The recommendation shall set forth whether the 
Zoning Map amendment should be granted, granted with conditions to mitigate anticipated impacts caused by the proposed 
development, or denied; and shall include an evaluation of the consistency and conformance of the proposed amendment 
with the goals of the General Plan and any applicable specific plans; and a recommendation on the amendment based on the 
standards of the zones set forth in Section 10-40.20 “Establishment of Zones” of the Zoning Code (Page 40.20-1).

FINDINGS FOR REVIEWING PROPOSED AMENDMENTS. All proposed amendments shall be evaluated as to 
whether the application is consistent with and conforms to the goals of the General Plan and any applicable specific plans; 



PZ-15-00139
February 19, 2016
Page 2

and the proposed amendment will not be detrimental to the public interest, health, safety, convenience, or welfare of the City 
of Flagstaff (the “City”) and will add to the public good as described in the General Plan; and the affected site is physically 
suitable in terms of design, location, shape, size, operating characteristics, and the provision of public and emergency vehicle 
access, public services, and utilities to ensure that the requested zone designation and the proposed or anticipated uses and/or 
development will not endanger, jeopardize, or otherwise constitute a hazard to the property or improvements in the vicinity 
in which the property is located. If the application is not consistent with the General Plan and any other applicable specific 
plan, the applicable plan must be amended in compliance with the procedures established in Chapter 11-10 of the City Code 
(Title 11: General Plans and Subdivisions) prior to considering the proposed amendment.

STAFF REVIEW:

Introduction/Background

The Applicant, the City of Flagstaff’s Recreation Department, on behalf of the property owner, the City of Flagstaff, is 
requesting a Zoning Map amendment to rezone approximately 26.03 acres to the Public Open Space (POS) zone with the 
Rural Floodplain designation. A Public Open Space (POS) designation would allow the expansion of an existing city park 
with passive recreational uses. The Rural Floodplain designation would exist along with the proposed Public Open Space 
(POS) zone, and prohibits certain development within the identified floodway and floodplain. Attached to this report is a 
map of the FEMA-recognized floodway and floodplain across the parcel, with the existing water transmission lines shown in
the floodway. In addition, the Resource Protection Overlay (RPO) zone currently applies to this parcel, and will be carried 
over with this rezoning application. 

The primary purpose of this rezoning is to enact a prior dedication as stated in City of Flagstaff Ordinance No. 2014-23. The 
dedication states: “The portion of real property owned by the City of Flagstaff…is hereby set aside, preserved, and dedicated
to the public for passive park purposes to be included in the immediately adjacent Buffalo Park.” The rezoning of the 
property “to the zoning best reflective of the dedication of the property as a public park” was identified as a secondary 
enactment of the Ordinance. 

Proposed Development Concept Plans

Future development may consist of low-impact trails, interpretive facilities, and the most basic visitor amenities such as a 
parking area and restrooms.

General Plan – Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030

The proposed zoning map amendment meets several policies of the Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 (FRP30). Specifically, the 
plan calls for the preservation of natural areas and increased public recreational amenities. The following FRP30 goals are 
relevant to this application:

Goal OS.1. The region has a system of open lands, such as undeveloped natural areas, wildlife corridors and habitat areas, 
trails, access to public lands, and greenways to support the natural environment that sustains our quality of life, cultural 
heritage, and ecosystem health.

Goal WR.5. Manage watersheds and stormwater to address flooding concerns, water quality, environmental protections, and 
rainwater harvesting.



PZ-15-00139
February 19, 2016
Page 3

Goal REC.1. Maintain and grow the region’s healthy system of convenient and accessible parks, recreation facilities, and 
trails.

The application of the Public Open Space (POS) zone and Rural Floodplain designation implements all of the above noted 
goals of the FRP30. A Public Open Space (POS) zoning designations prevents physical development of a natural area and 
protects passive recreation opportunities within city limits by augmenting the adjacent Buffalo Park property. The Rural 
Floodplain designation adds a further level of protection to the property and supports the City of Flagstaff’s Community 
Rating System (CRS) ranking, which helps lower the flood insurance rates for everyone in the city. 

Zoning – City of Flagstaff Zoning Code

The intent of the Public Open Space (POS) zone is to allow for the protection of resources in a designated undeveloped area
and passive recreation. The “passive recreation” use is very limited and permits low impact trails and bathroom and parking 
facilities at trailheads. The Rural Floodplain designation is applied to natural undisturbed open spaces defined as areas of 
delineated 100-year floodplain that cannot be disturbed or developed except for roadways and utility crossings. 

PUBLIC SYSTEMS IMPACT ANALYSIS:

Traffic and Access

No analysis was required.

Water and Wastewater

A water and sewer analysis was not required as part of this request, however, the Utilities Division requested a condition of 
approval allowing for existing and future utility infrastructure. 

Stormwater

No stormwater improvements have been required.

Parks and Recreation

This zoning map amendment would enlarge the City’s adjacent Buffalo Park property.

OTHER REQUIREMENTS:

Resources: The subject property is also located within the Resource Protection Overlay zone as defined by Section 10-
50.90.020.A of the Zoning Code (Page 50.90-2). This application does not anticipate any physical modifications to the 
existing site. No impact to resources is anticipated.

Citizen Participation: All property owners within 600-feet of this site were notified via mail of the zoning map amendment
and asked to attend the October 19, 2015 Parks and Recreation Commission meeting. Additionally, a notice was run in the 
Daily Sun, which discussed the zoning map amendment and identified the Parks and Recreation Commission meeting as a 
venue for discussion. The Commission did not meet quorum for their advertised meeting, but a public meeting for the 
rezoning was still held with the applicant and other city staff present. One member of the public attended the meeting to 
receive clarification on the Zoning Map amendment for this property.



PZ-15-00139
February 19, 2016
Page 4

DISCUSSION

The application of the Public Open Space (POS) zone to the subject property removes the possibility of any future residential 
development or other significant impacts to the site. Zoned Public Open Space (POS), the property will serve as easily 
accessible public amenity for the surrounding neighborhood and County properties. 

RECOMMENDATION

Staff believes that the proposed Zoning Map amendment has been justified and would recommend in favor of amending the 
Zoning Map for 26.03 acres to the Public Open Space (POS) zone from the Single Family Residential (R1) zone, with the 
following condition:

1. The City of Flagstaff maintains the right to access the subject property to locate, operate, repair, replace, alter, and 
maintain any and all underground pipelines and utility services infrastructure of all types within the subject 
property. This shall include but not be limited to water transmission and distribution lines. The City of Flagstaff 
also maintains the right to remove, alter, or maintain any vegetation, improvements, or obstructions within 15 feet 
of either side of any pipelines or utility services infrastructure on the subject property.

ATTACHMENTS

o Zoning Map Amendment Application
o Current City of Flagstaff Zoning Map
o Floodway/Floodplain Map
o Public Hearing Legal Advertisements





City of Flagstaff - Zoning Map

COF GIS

Parcels
February 16, 2016

0 0.1 0.20.05 mi

0 0.2 0.40.1 km

1:8,000

 
Web AppBuilder for ArcGIS



W FIR AVE

N 
SA

N 
FR

AN
CI

SC
O 

ST

N 
MA

RI
ON

 D
R

E H
OR

NY
 TO

AD
 RD

N 
TU

RQ
UO

ISE
 D

R

N MEADOW LARK DR

295

336

337

470

201 151303351

1908
1926

1920
1922

1911

1915

1919

1923

1927

1935

1914

1918

1922

1926

1909

1913

1921

1925

1929

2101

2200

1927

1830

1900

1912

1909

1911

1915

1919

1923

1923

1919

1913
1908

1912

1916

1920

1924

1910

1912
1914

1916
1918

1924

1937

110-03-001B

110-03-001B
Buffalo Park

McPherson Park

161913

151902

161916

151901

161912

161914

16 CI 1955

12 CI 1962

12 DI 1983

6 AC 1972

6 C
I 1

95
9

12 CI 1978 16 CI 1955
12 DI 1983

430180

457400

455175

455040

455265

454050

430110

454950

453741

457392

453915454095

454725

454185

453738

453960454880

454815

455085

454230

453759454995

455220

457425

454005

457390

454140

430095

430140

454200

454215

430120

453762

453870

453825

453965453752

454060 453756453750

453747

453744

453765

453935

454860

454065

454000

454770

6 CI 1962

6 C
I 1

96
2

6 DI 1960

2 G
A 1

95
5

6 CI 1972

6 CI 1960

4 B
I 1

95
5 2 COP 1983

µ 0 0.050.025
Miles

City of Flagstaff Utilties Department

Possible future waterline 
placement in ROW

Possible future waterline 
placement where existing 

waterline lays

FloodHazardAreas
FLD_ZONE, FLOODWAY

0.2 PCT ANNUAL CHANCE FLOOD HAZARD,  
A,  
AE,  
AE, FLOODWAY
AH,  
AO,  
D,  











 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2016-16 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF, 
AMENDING THE FLAGSTAFF ZONING MAP TO REZONE APPROXIMATELY 
26.03 ACRES OF REAL PROPERTY LOCATED AT THE NORTHEAST 
CORNER OF FIR AVENUE AND NORTH SAN FRANCISCO STREET, FROM 
SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL (R1) AND PUBLIC FACILITY (PF) TO PUBLIC 
OPEN SPACE (POS), AND TO APPLY THE RURAL FLOODPLAIN 
DESIGNATION; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY, AND ESTABLISHING AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE 

 
 
RECITALS: 
 
WHEREAS, The City of Flagstaff (the “Applicant”) applied for a Zoning Map Amendment to 
rezone approximately 26.03 acres of land located at the northeast corner of Fir Avenue and 
North San Francisco Street, Coconino County, Arizona, a legal description of which is provided 
in Exhibit “A” attached hereto (“the Property”), in order to preserve open space; and 
 
WHEREAS, in furtherance of the Applicant’s intention to preserve open space, the Applicant 
has applied to the City of Flagstaff to amend the zoning of the Property from Single-family 
Residential (R1) and Public Facility (PF) to Public Open Space (POS) for approximately 26.03 
acres of real property; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Applicant conducted a neighborhood meeting on October 19, 2015, to discuss 
the proposed Zoning Map Amendment with the surrounding community, as required by Section 
10-20.50.040 of the Flagstaff Zoning Code; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission has formally considered the present Zoning 
Map Amendment application following proper notice and a public hearing on February 24, 2016, 
and has recommended approval of the requested zoning application, subject to the Applicant’s 
compliance with certain conditions set forth below; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Council finds that the Applicant has complied with all application requirements 
set forth in Chapter 10-20 of the Flagstaff Zoning Code; and 
 
WHEREAS, the staff has recommended approval of the Zoning Map Amendment application, 
subject to the condition proposed by the Planning and Zoning Commission, as augmented by 
staff, as set forth below, and the Council has considered the condition and has found the 
condition to be appropriate for the Property and necessary for the proposed development; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Council has read and considered the staff reports prepared by the Planning 
Division and all attachments to those reports, the Applicant’s application, the narrative provided 
by the Applicant, and all statements made by the Applicant during the presentation to Council, 
and the Council finds that the proposed Zoning Map Amendment, subject to the condition set 
forth below, meets the findings required by Section 10-20.50.040(F)(1)(a) of the Flagstaff 
Zoning Code. 
 
 
 
 



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-16  PAGE 2 
 
 
ENACTMENTS: 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF 
AS FOLLOWS: 
 
 
SECTION 1.  The foregoing recitals are incorporated as if fully set forth herein. 
 
SECTION 2.  The amendment requested in the application is consistent with and conforms to 
the goals of the General Plan. 
 
SECTION 3.  The amendment requested in the application will not be detrimental to the public 
interest, health, safety, convenience or welfare of the City and will add to the public good as 
described in the General Plan. 
 
SECTION 4.  The affected site is physically suitable in terms of design, location, shape, size, 
operating characteristics, and the provision of public and emergency vehicle access and public 
services and utilities to ensure that the amendment requested in the application will not 
endanger, jeopardize or otherwise constitute a hazard to the property or improvements in the 
vicinity in which the property is located. 
 
SECTION 5.  The Zoning Map designation for the Property is hereby amended from the Single-
family Residential (R1) zone and Public Facility (PF) zone to Public Open Space (POS) zone 
with application of the Rural Floodplain designation for approximately 26.03 acres, as depicted 
in Exhibit “B”, through the approval of the application and all other documents attached to the 
staff summary submitted in support of this ordinance. 
 
SECTION 6.  The City is specifically relying on all assertions made by the Applicant, or the 
applicant’s representatives, whether authorized or not, made at the public hearing on the zone 
change application unless the assertions were withdrawn on the record.  Those assertions are 
hereby incorporated into this ordinance. 
 
SECTION 7.  That the Zoning Map Amendment be further conditioned upon the Applicant’s 
satisfaction of the following conditions proposed by the Planning and Zoning Commission, as 
augmented by staff: 
 
CONDITIONS: 
 

1. The City of Flagstaff maintains the right to access the subject property to locate, operate, 
repair, replace, alter, and maintain any and all underground pipelines and utility services 
infrastructure of all types within the subject property.  This shall include but not be limited to 
water transmission and distribution lines.  The City of Flagstaff also maintains the right to 
remove, alter, or maintain any vegetation, improvements, or obstructions within 15 feet of 
either side of any pipelines or utility services infrastructure on the subject property. 
 

SECTION 8.  That City staff is hereby authorized to take such other and further measures and 
actions as are necessary and appropriate to carry out the terms, provisions and intents of this 
Ordinance. 
 
SECTION 9.  If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase or portion of this ordinance 
or any part of the code adopted herein by reference is for any reason held to be invalid or 



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-16  PAGE 3 
 
 
unconstitutional by the decision of any court of competent jurisdiction, such decision shall not 
affect the validity of the remaining portions thereof. 
 
SECTION 10. This ordinance shall become effective thirty (30) days following adoption by the 
City Council. 
 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Flagstaff this 5th day of April, 2016. 
 
 
 
 
 
   
 MAYOR 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
  
CITY CLERK 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
 
  
CITY ATTORNEY 



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-16  PAGE 4 
 
 

Exhibit “A” 
 

Legal Description of Property 









ORDINANCE NO. 2016-16  PAGE 5 
 
 

Exhibit “B” 
 

Legal Description of New Zoning 









  14. D. 4. a.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT

To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Jennifer Mikelson, Associate Planner

Date: 03/16/2016

Meeting Date: 03/22/2016

TITLE: 
Public Hearing, Consideration and Possible Adoption of Resolution No. 2016-09: A resolution
amending the Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 to change the area type designations on Maps 21 and 22
from Existing Suburban and Future Urban to Park/Open Space area type for approximately 1.07 acres
located at 805 West Clay Avenue. (Guadalupe Park Minor Regional Plan Amendment)

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
1) Hold the Public Hearing
2) Read Resolution No. 2016-09 by title only
3) City Clerk reads Resolution No. 2016-09 by title only (if approved above)
4) Adopt Resolution No. 2016-09

Executive Summary:
A minor Flagstaff Region Plan 2030 amendment request to change the area type designation on Maps
21 and 22 from Existing Suburban and Future Urban to Parks/Open Space for approximately 1.07 acres
located at 805 West Clay Avenue.

Financial Impact:
None

Connection to Council Goal and/or Regional Plan:
COUNCIL GOALS:
1) Provide sustainable and equitable public facilities, services, and infrastructure systems in an efficient
and effective manner to serve all population areas and demographics
2) Continue to implement the Flagstaff Regional Plan and focus efforts on specific plans
  



REGIONAL PLAN:
Goal REC.1. Maintain and grow the region’s healthy system of convenient and accessible parks,
recreation facilities, and trails.
Goal NH.1. Foster and maintain healthy and diverse urban, suburban, and rural neighborhoods in the
Flagstaff region. 

Has There Been Previous Council Decision on This:
This is an action item from the Plaza Vieja Neighborhood Plan, adopted by Council in October 2015
(Resolution 2015-35).

Options and Alternatives:
Options and Alternatives:
1) Approve the resolution as proposed
2) Approve the resolution with conditions
3) Deny the resolution

Background/History:
The applicant, City of Flagstaff Parks and Recreation Department, is requesting a minor Plan amendment
to ensure conformance with a proposed Zoning Map amendment to designate city owned property with
Public Facility (PF) zoning. Removing the Existing Suburban/Future Urban area types and leaving only
the Park/Open Space will affect approximately 1.07 acres of land depicted on the Future Growth
Illustration (Maps 21 and 22). The amendment table on page III-9 of the Plan states that a minor Plan
amendment is appropriate for the designation of any land for open space. In this instance, the Public
Facility (PF) zoning category is considered a Park/Open Space land use category given its development
and use restrictions. Most public parks in the city are also zoned Public Facility (PF). Formalizing the
Parks/Open Space area type designation over the subject site will provide better clarity on interpretation
of the Future Growth Illustration. The Illustration currently shows an assortment of overlaid area types on
the subject property which do not provide clear direction about preferred land uses. This application will
remove the superfluous area types in favor of the single Park/Open Space area type. 
 
The subject property is located at 805 West Clay Avenue in the La Plaza Vieja Neighborhood, and is
known as Guadalupe Park. Existing access to the site will continue, as will the existing parking and
portable bathroom facilities. Other future improvements to the park will be determined by the Parks
Department.

Key Considerations:
The Planning and Zoning Commission and Council shall find that the proposed Flagstaff Regional Plan
2030 (FRP30 or the Plan) amendment meets the requirements of the General Plan and Subdivision Code
(City Code Title 11). In considering the request for an amendment to the Plan, the goals and policies in
the Plan should be considered to ensure that the requested change to the Future Growth Illustration is in
conformance to the overall vision of the Plan. “The Flagstaff Regional Plan establishes the vision for the
future growth and development of Flagstaff and its surrounding area through goals and policies” (p. III-4).
“General plans are not static documents; they recognize growth as a dynamic process, which may
require revisions to the plan as circumstances or changes warrant” (p. III-1).

As discussed in the “How This Plan Works” chapter (page III-4), the Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 is used
in the regulatory decision-making process by the Planning & Zoning Commission, City Council and city
staff.  The Commission and the Council are responsible for making development decisions such as
zoning map amendments or annexations, approval which depends on whether the proposed changes or
projects are consistent with the Plan’s goals and policies. The Future Growth Illustration on Maps 21
(regional scale) and 22 (city scale) and the text of the Plan will provide supplemental information for the



interpretation of goals and policies. In case of any conflict between the Future Growth Illustration and the
Plan’s goals and policies, the goals and policies will prevail. The Future Growth Illustration displays broad
land use categories, called “area types,” which describe the placemaking context of Urban, Suburban,
Rural, Special Planning Area, Park/Open Space, or in some cases, Area in White. Areas in White retain
existing entitlements and have no other assigned area type. In most cases, these parcels are public
lands held by the Forest Service or city.

Expanded Financial Considerations:
None

Community Benefits and Considerations:
Community benefits and considerations related to this minor Regional Plan Amendment request are
addressed in the attached Planning and Zoning Commission staff report dated February 19, 2016.

Community Involvement:
Public hearings before the Planning and Zoning Commission and City Council are conducted in
conjunction with the Zoning Map amendment request. In accordance with Arizona Revised Statute and
Section 10-20.30.080 (p. 20.30-9) of the Zoning Code, notice of the public hearings was provided by
placing an ad in the Daily Sun, posting notices on the property, and mailing a notice to all property
owners within 600 feet of the subject property. The mailing asked residents and property owners to
attend the October 19, 2015 Parks and Recreation Commission meeting as a venue for discussion. The
Commission did not meet quorum for their advertised meeting, but a public meeting for the rezoning was
still held with the applicant and other city staff present. No members of the public attended this meeting
and there were no email inquiries about this Plan amendment.

Expanded Options and Alternatives:
None

Attachments:  PZ Staff Report
Application
Proposed Future Growth Illustration
Public Notice
Res. 2016-09
Res. 2016-09



PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT
FLAGSTAFF REGIONAL PLAN 2030 AMENDMENT

PUBLIC HEARING DATE: February 19, 2016 
PZ-15-00138-01 MEETING DATE: February 24, 2016

REPORT BY: Jennifer Mikelson
REQUEST:

A minor Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 amendment request by the City of Flagstaff to change the area type designation
on Map 21 and 22 from Existing Suburban and Future Urban, to Park/Open Space for approximately 1.07 acres located 
at 805 West Clay Avenue. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION

Staff recommends the Planning and Zoning Commission forward the minor Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 amendment
to the City Council with a recommendation for approval.

PRESENT LAND USE

City park with a baseball field in the Existing Suburban/Future Urban, and Park/Open Space area type categories.

PROPOSED LAND USE

Parks/Open Space area type, which would reflect the existing active recreational use.

NEIGHBORHOOD DEVELOPMENT

North: Single family residences; Single Family Residential Neighborhood (R1N) zone
East: Commercial business; Highway Commercial (HC) zone
South: Multi-family residential development; High Density Residential (HR) zone
West: Single family residences; Highway Commercial (HC) zone

REQUIRED FINDINGS

The Planning and Zoning Commission shall find that the proposed Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 (FRP30 or the Plan) 
amendment meets the requirements of the General Plan and Subdivision Code (City Code Title 11).

In considering the request for an amendment to the Plan, the goals and policies in the Plan should be considered to 
ensure that the requested change to the Future Growth Illustration is in conformance to the overall vision of the Plan. 
“The Flagstaff Regional Plan establishes the vision for the future growth and development of Flagstaff and its 
surrounding area through goals and policies” (p. III-4). “General plans are not static documents; they recognize growth 
as a dynamic process, which may require revisions to the plan as circumstances or changes warrant” (p. III-1).

STAFF REVIEW

Introduction/Background Discussion
This request is the first of two related items on the Commission’s agenda; the second item is identified as a Zoning 
Map amendment request.

The applicant, City of Flagstaff Recreation Department, is requesting a minor Plan amendment to ensure conformance 
with a proposed Zoning Map amendment to designate city owned property with Public Facility (PF) zoning. Removing 
the Existing Suburban/Future Urban area types and leaving only the Park/Open Space will affect approximately 1.07
acres of land depicted on the Future Growth Illustration (Maps 21 and 22). The amendment table on page III-9 of the 
Plan states that a minor Plan amendment is appropriate for the designation of any land for open space. In this instance, 



PZ-15-00138-01
January 29, 2015

2

the Public Facility (PF) zoning category is considered a Park/Open Space land use category given its development and 
use restrictions. Most public parks in the city are also zoned Public Facility (PF). Formalizing the Parks/Open Space 
area type designation over the subject site will provide better clarity on interpretation of the Future Growth Illustration. 
The Illustration currently shows an assortment of overlaid area types on the subject property which do not provide 
clear direction about preferred land uses. This application will remove the superfluous area types in favor of the single 
Park/Open Space area type.  

The subject property is located at 805 West Clay Avenue in the La Plaza Vieja Neighborhood, and is known as 
Guadalupe Park. Existing access to the site will continue, as will the existing parking and portable bathroom facilities. 
Other future improvements to the park will be determined by the Parks Department.

Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 Amendment Request

As discussed in the “How This Plan Works” chapter (page III-4), the Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 is used in the 
regulatory decision-making process by the Planning & Zoning Commission, City Council and city staff.  The 
Commission and the Council are responsible for making development decisions such as zoning map amendments or 
annexations, approval which depends on whether the proposed changes or projects are consistent with the Plan’s goals 
and policies. The Future Growth Illustration on Maps 21 (regional scale) and 22 (city scale) and the text of the Plan 
will provide supplemental information for the interpretation of goals and policies. In case of any conflict between the 
Future Growth Illustration and the Plan’s goals and policies, the goals and policies will prevail. The Future Growth 
Illustration displays broad land use categories, called “area types,” which describe the placemaking context of Urban, 
Suburban, Rural, Special Planning Area, Park/Open Space, or in some cases, Area in White. Areas in White retain 
existing entitlements and have no other assigned area type. In most cases, these parcels are public lands held by the 
Forest Service or city. 

Attached are exhibits comparing the existing and proposed Future Growth Illustrations. The Plan’s maps and any 
applicable text should be considered in the context of the Plan’s goals and policies. A discussion of the FRP30 goals 
and policies is provided below. 

APPLICABLE GENERAL PLAN GOALS AND POLICIES 

Recreation
Goal REC.1. Maintain and grow the region’s healthy system of convenient and accessible parks, recreation facilities, and 
trails.
Policy Rec.1.1. Integrate active and passive recreational sites within walking distance throughout the region to 
promote a healthy community for all City and County residents and visitors.

Neighborhoods, Housing, and Urban Conservation
Goal NH.1. Foster and maintain healthy and diverse urban, suburban, and rural neighborhoods in the Flagstaff region.
Policy NH.1.1. Preserve and enhance existing neighborhoods.

APPLICABLE SPECIFIC PLAN GOALS AND POLICIES

Parks and Community Spaces (From the La Plaza Vieja Neighborhood Specific Plan)
Goal 3: Enhance parks maintenance, design, and connection
Ensure City parks in La Plaza Vieja provide safe, user-friendly, and interactive neighborhood spaces for gatherings and 
family activities.
Goal 5: Community Centers and Spaces
Provide publicly accessible meeting spaces throughout La Plaza Vieja for education and social events; and provide 
resources for local children, seniors, and small businesses. 
Implementation Strategy 6T.3: Rezone all city owned parks in La Plaza Vieja to the Public Facilities zone. 



PZ-15-00138-01
January 29, 2015

3

Applying the Parks/Open Space area type reflects its current use as a neighborhood park and protects the continued use of 
the property for that purpose. The baseball field and playground are valuable recreational amenities that assist in the 
preservation of existing neighborhood character. The proximity of Guadalupe Park to La Plaza Vieja’s residents and other 
nearby urban neighborhoods allows for a healthy well connected community. Goals and policies in support of public 
recreational opportunities and urban neighborhood conservation are upheld in both the FRP30 and the La Plaza Vieja 
Neighborhood Specific Plan. Adding the Park/Open Space zone to the subject property will reflect a very specific 
implementation strategy set forth in the neighborhood’s Specific Plan to rezone the Guadalupe Park.

Policy Analysis: In summary, appropriate zoning and area type designations ensure that Guadalupe Park will continue 
to serve as an active recreation facility to the surrounding neighborhood and the greater community. The list below 
identifies several key points and community benefits supporting (+) the proposed amendment:

+ This centrally located public park promotes connectivity to Flagstaff’s urban neighborhoods. 
+ Accessible recreational facilities are supported by several of the City’s planning documents.
+ Ensuring the continued use of the park for recreation assists in preserving La Plaza Vieja’s character.
+ The minor amendment supports the Specific Plan’s implementation strategy and its vision of neighborhood 

preservation and enhancement of parks.

PUBLIC SYSTEMS IMPACT ANALYSIS

No public service impact analysis was required.

OTHER REQUIREMENTS

Citizen Participation: Public hearings before the Planning and Zoning Commission and City Council are conducted 
in conjunction with the Zoning Map amendment request. In accordance with Arizona Revised Statute and Section 10-
20.30.080 (p. 20.30-9) of the Zoning Code, notice of the public hearings was provided by placing an ad in the Daily 
Sun, posting notices on the property, and mailing a notice to all property owners within 600 feet of the subject 
property. The mailing asked residents and property owners to attend the October 19, 2015 Parks and Recreation 
Commission meeting as a venue for discussion. The Commission did not meet quorum for their advertised meeting, but a 
public meeting for the rezoning was still held with the applicant and other city staff present. No members of the public 
attended this meeting and there were no email inquiries about this Plan amendment. 

RECOMMENDATION

Staff believes that the proposed amendment to the regional plan is supportable under the guidelines of the Flagstaff 
Regional Plan 2030, and would recommend approval of the proposed amendment.

ATTACHMENTS

Minor Regional Plan amendment application
Future Growth Illustration – existing/proposed
Public hearing legal advertisement





S KN
OL

ES
DR

S MCMULLEN CIR

W DUPONT AVE

S M IKES PIKE

W COCONINO AVE

SWALNUT ST

S K
IN

GM
AN

 ST

S G
LO

BE
 ST

S F
LO

RE
NC

E S
T

S E
LL

IO
T S

T

S P
AR

K S
T

S SPRING ST

W DUPONTAVE

SSYCAMORE ST

E MCCRACKEN ST

W KAIBA
B L

N
W COCONINO AVE

W TOMBSTONE AVE

W TUCSON AVE

W PHOENIX AVE

W GRAND CANYON AVE

W COCONINO AVE

W CLAY AVE

W CHATEAU DR

S B
LA

CK
BIR

D 
RO

OS
T

W CLAY AVE

SM
AL

PA
IS

LN

W LOWER COCONINO AVE

W BUTLER AVE

S M
ILT

ON
RD

S MILTON RD

£¤66

0 0.04 0.08 0.12 0.160.02
Miles

Le ge n d
Parks/Open Space
Proposed Parks/Open Space
Proposed City Limit

Grow th Illus tration  Are a Type s - Future
Vision  Are a Type s

Rural - Future
Suburban - Future
Urban - Future
Industrial / Business Park - Special District

Grow th Illus tration  Are a Type s - Exis tin g
Vision  Are a Type s

Existing Entitlements Retained
Industrial / Business Park - Existing
Rural - Existing
Special District
Suburban - Existing
Urban - Existing 
City Limits Cartegraphic
FMPO Boundary

Parce ls
Parcels

¯

Guadalupe Park Minor Plan Amendment

Date Saved: 2/12/2016 9:15:14 AM Author: Sara Dechter

The  Future  Grow th Illus tration  de fin e s  the  ge ographic location s  of are a type s
an d place  type s . It s how s  the  spatial re lation s hip of e xis tin g an d future  
de ve lopm e n t an d is in te n de d to be  us e d in   con jun ction  with the  Natural 
En viron m e n t Maps (Maps 6-8) an d the  Road Ne tw ork Map (Map 25). This 
Illus tration  should n ot be  r e lie d upon  to de te r m in e  whe r e  s pe cific lan d us e s  
are  allow e d; that in form ation  is foun d in  City Code  Title  10 (Zon in g Code ) 
an d the  Zon in g Map. In  cas e  of an y con flict be tw e e n  the  Future  Grow th
Illus tration  an d the  Re gion al Plan ’s goals an d policie s , the  goals  an d 

policie s  will pre vail.





RESOLUTION NO. 2016-09 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE FLAGSTAFF CITY COUNCIL AMENDING THE 
FLAGSTAFF REGIONAL PLAN 2030 TO CHANGE THE AREA TYPE 
DESIGNATIONS OF APPROXIMATELY 1.07 ACRES OF REAL PROPERTY ON 
MAPS 21 AND 22 LOCATED AT 805 WEST CLAY AVENUE FROM EXISTING 
SUBURBAN AND FUTURE URBAN TO PARK/OPEN SPACE AREA TYPE; 
PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY, AND ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE  
  

 
RECITALS: 
 
WHEREAS, the Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 (the “Regional Plan”) was adopted by the Mayor 
and Council of the City of Flagstaff (the “City Council”) on January 14, 2014 and ratified by the 
qualified electors of the City of Flagstaff (the “City”) on May 20, 2014; and 
 
WHEREAS, among other things, the Regional Plan establishes the authority and procedure for 
minor amendments; and  
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to section § 9-461.06, Arizona Revised Statutes, and the Regional Plan, 
the City has consulted with, advised, and provided the opportunity for public comment on the 
proposed amendment to the Regional Plan; and  
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to A.R.S. § 9-461.06 and the Regional Plan, the City Planning and Zoning 
Commission held a public hearing on the proposed Regional Plan amendment on February 24, 
2016, and provided notice of such hearing in the manner required by A.R.S. § 9-461.06(E). 
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to A.R.S. § 9-461.06 and the Regional Plan, the City Council held a public 
hearing in the City Council Chambers on the proposed Regional Plan amendment on March 22, 
2016, and provided notice of such hearing by publication of said notice in the manner required 
by A.R.S. § 9-461.06(E); and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council finds and determines that (i) proper notice of the proposed 
Regional Plan amendment has been given in a manner required by A.R.S. § 9-461.06, and (ii) 
that each of the required publications have been made in the Arizona Daily Sun, a newspaper of 
general circulation within the City; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council desires to amend the Regional Plan to change the area type 
designations of approximately 1.07 acres of real property on Maps 21 and 22 located at 805 
West Clay Avenue from Existing Suburban, Future Urban to Park/Open Space area type. 
 
 
ENACTMENTS: 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF 
AS FOLLOWS: 
 
SECTION 1. That the Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 is hereby amended to change the area 
type designations of approximately 1.07 acres of real property on Maps 21 and 22 located at 
805 West Clay Avenue, as more particularly depicted in Exhibit “A” (Future Growth 



RESOLUTION NO. 2016-09   PAGE 2 
   
  
Illustration – Proposed), from Existing Suburban and Future Urban Space to Park/Open 
Space area type,.  
 
SECTION 2. That the Mayor, the City Manager, the City Clerk and the City Attorney are 
hereby authorized to take all steps necessary to carry out the purpose and intent of this 
Resolution.  
 
SECTION 3. This resolution shall become effective thirty (30) days following adoption by the 
City Council. 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Flagstaff this 22nd day of March, 
2016. 
 
 
 
               
        MAYOR 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
  
CITY CLERK 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
 
  
CITY ATTORNEY 
 



S KN
OL

ES
DR

S MCMULLEN CIR

W DUPONT AVE

S M IKES PIKE

W COCONINO AVE

SWALNUT ST

S K
IN

GM
AN

 ST

S G
LO

BE
 ST

S F
LO

RE
NC

E S
T

S E
LL

IO
T S

T

S P
AR

K S
T

S SPRING ST

W DUPONTAVE

SSYCAMORE ST

E MCCRACKEN ST

W KAIBA
B L

N
W COCONINO AVE

W TOMBSTONE AVE

W TUCSON AVE

W PHOENIX AVE

W GRAND CANYON AVE

W COCONINO AVE

W CLAY AVE

W CHATEAU DR

S B
LA

CK
BIR

D 
RO

OS
T

W CLAY AVE

SM
AL

PA
IS

LN

W LOWER COCONINO AVE

W BUTLER AVE

S M
ILT

ON
RD

S MILTON RD

£¤66

0 0.04 0.08 0.12 0.160.02
Miles

Le ge n d
Parks/Open Space
Proposed Parks/Open Space
Proposed City Limit

Grow th Illus tration  Are a Type s - Future
Vision  Are a Type s

Rural - Future
Suburban - Future
Urban - Future
Industrial / Business Park - Special District

Grow th Illus tration  Are a Type s - Exis tin g
Vision  Are a Type s

Existing Entitlements Retained
Industrial / Business Park - Existing
Rural - Existing
Special District
Suburban - Existing
Urban - Existing 
City Limits Cartegraphic
FMPO Boundary

Parce ls
Parcels

¯

Guadalupe Park Minor Plan Amendment

Date Saved: 2/12/2016 9:15:14 AM Author: Sara Dechter

The  Future  Grow th Illus tration  de fin e s  the  ge ographic location s  of are a type s
an d place  type s . It s how s  the  spatial re lation s hip of e xis tin g an d future  
de ve lopm e n t an d is in te n de d to be  us e d in   con jun ction  with the  Natural 
En viron m e n t Maps (Maps 6-8) an d the  Road Ne tw ork Map (Map 25). This 
Illus tration  should n ot be  r e lie d upon  to de te r m in e  whe r e  s pe cific lan d us e s  
are  allow e d; that in form ation  is foun d in  City Code  Title  10 (Zon in g Code ) 
an d the  Zon in g Map. In  cas e  of an y con flict be tw e e n  the  Future  Grow th
Illus tration  an d the  Re gion al Plan ’s goals an d policie s , the  goals  an d 

policie s  will pre vail.



RESOLUTION NO. 2016-09 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE FLAGSTAFF CITY COUNCIL AMENDING THE 
FLAGSTAFF REGIONAL PLAN 2030 TO CHANGE THE AREA TYPE 
DESIGNATIONS OF APPROXIMATELY 1.07 ACRES OF REAL PROPERTY ON 
MAPS 21 AND 22 LOCATED AT 805 WEST CLAY AVENUE FROM EXISTING 
SUBURBAN AND FUTURE URBAN TO PARK/OPEN SPACE AREA TYPE; 
PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY, AND ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE  
  

 
RECITALS: 
 
WHEREAS, the Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 (the “Regional Plan”) was adopted by the Mayor 
and Council of the City of Flagstaff (the “City Council”) on January 14, 2014 and ratified by the 
qualified electors of the City of Flagstaff (the “City”) on May 20, 2014; and 
 
WHEREAS, among other things, the Regional Plan establishes the authority and procedure for 
minor amendments; and  
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to section § 9-461.06, Arizona Revised Statutes, and the Regional Plan, 
the City has consulted with, advised, and provided the opportunity for public comment on the 
proposed amendment to the Regional Plan; and  
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to A.R.S. § 9-461.06 and the Regional Plan, the City Planning and Zoning 
Commission held a public hearing on the proposed Regional Plan amendment on February 24, 
2016, and provided notice of such hearing in the manner required by A.R.S. § 9-461.06(E). 
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to A.R.S. § 9-461.06 and the Regional Plan, the City Council held a public 
hearing in the City Council Chambers on the proposed Regional Plan amendment on March 22, 
2016, and provided notice of such hearing by publication of said notice in the manner required 
by A.R.S. § 9-461.06(E); and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council finds and determines that (i) proper notice of the proposed 
Regional Plan amendment has been given in a manner required by A.R.S. § 9-461.06, and (ii) 
that each of the required publications have been made in the Arizona Daily Sun, a newspaper of 
general circulation within the City; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council desires to amend the Regional Plan to change the area type 
designations of approximately 1.07 acres of real property on Maps 21 and 22 located at 805 
West Clay Avenue from Existing Suburban, Future Urban to Park/Open Space area type. 
 
 
ENACTMENTS: 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF 
AS FOLLOWS: 
 
SECTION 1. That the Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 is hereby amended to change the area 
type designations of approximately 1.07 acres of real property on Maps 21 and 22 located at 
805 West Clay Avenue, as more particularly depicted in Exhibit “A” (Future Growth 



RESOLUTION NO. 2016-09   PAGE 2 
   
  
Illustration – Proposed), from Existing Suburban and Future Urban Space to Park/Open 
Space area type,.  
 
SECTION 2. That the Mayor, the City Manager, the City Clerk and the City Attorney are 
hereby authorized to take all steps necessary to carry out the purpose and intent of this 
Resolution.  
 
SECTION 3. This resolution shall become effective thirty (30) days following adoption by the 
City Council. 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Flagstaff this 22nd day of March, 
2016. 
 
 
 
               
        MAYOR 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
  
CITY CLERK 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
 
  
CITY ATTORNEY 
 



S KN
OL

ES
DR

S MCMULLEN CIR

W DUPONT AVE

S M IKES PIKE

W COCONINO AVE

SWALNUT ST

S K
IN

GM
AN

 ST

S G
LO

BE
 ST

S F
LO

RE
NC

E S
T

S E
LL

IO
T S

T

S P
AR

K S
T

S SPRING ST

W DUPONTAVE

SSYCAMORE ST

E MCCRACKEN ST

W KAIBA
B L

N
W COCONINO AVE

W TOMBSTONE AVE

W TUCSON AVE

W PHOENIX AVE

W GRAND CANYON AVE

W COCONINO AVE

W CLAY AVE

W CHATEAU DR

S B
LA

CK
BIR

D 
RO

OS
T

W CLAY AVE

SM
AL

PA
IS

LN

W LOWER COCONINO AVE

W BUTLER AVE

S M
ILT

ON
RD

S MILTON RD

£¤66

0 0.04 0.08 0.12 0.160.02
Miles

Le ge n d
Parks/Open Space
Proposed Parks/Open Space
Proposed City Limit

Grow th Illus tration  Are a Type s - Future
Vision  Are a Type s

Rural - Future
Suburban - Future
Urban - Future
Industrial / Business Park - Special District

Grow th Illus tration  Are a Type s - Exis tin g
Vision  Are a Type s

Existing Entitlements Retained
Industrial / Business Park - Existing
Rural - Existing
Special District
Suburban - Existing
Urban - Existing 
City Limits Cartegraphic
FMPO Boundary

Parce ls
Parcels

¯

Guadalupe Park Minor Plan Amendment

Date Saved: 2/12/2016 9:15:14 AM Author: Sara Dechter

The  Future  Grow th Illus tration  de fin e s  the  ge ographic location s  of are a type s
an d place  type s . It s how s  the  spatial re lation s hip of e xis tin g an d future  
de ve lopm e n t an d is in te n de d to be  us e d in   con jun ction  with the  Natural 
En viron m e n t Maps (Maps 6-8) an d the  Road Ne tw ork Map (Map 25). This 
Illus tration  should n ot be  r e lie d upon  to de te r m in e  whe r e  s pe cific lan d us e s  
are  allow e d; that in form ation  is foun d in  City Code  Title  10 (Zon in g Code ) 
an d the  Zon in g Map. In  cas e  of an y con flict be tw e e n  the  Future  Grow th
Illus tration  an d the  Re gion al Plan ’s goals an d policie s , the  goals  an d 

policie s  will pre vail.



  14. D. 4. b.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT

To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Jennifer Mikelson, Associate Planner

Date: 03/16/2016

Meeting Date: 03/22/2016

TITLE: 
Public Hearing, Consideration and Possible Adoption of Ordinance No. 2016-15:  An ordinance of
the City of Flagstaff, amending the Flagstaff Zoning Map to rezone approximately 1.07 acres of
real property located at 805 West Clay Avenue, from Highway Commercial (HC) to Public Facility
(PF). (Guadalupe Park Zoning Map Amendment)

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
At the March 22, 2016 Council Meeting:
1) Hold the Public Hearing
2) Read Ordinance No. 2016-15 by title only for the first time
3) City Clerk reads Ordinance No. 2016-15 by title only (if approved above)
At the April 5, 2016 Council Meeting:
4) Read Ordinance No. 2016-15 by title only for the final time
5) City Clerk reads Ordinance No. 2016-15 by title only (if approved above)
6)  Adopt Ordinance No. 2016-15

Executive Summary:
A Zoning Map amendment request to rezone approximately 1.07 acres located at 805 West Clay Avenue
from Highway Commercial (HC) to Public Facility (PF).

Financial Impact:
None
  



Connection to Council Goal and/or Regional Plan:
COUNCIL GOALS:
1) Provide sustainable and equitable public facilities, services, and infrastructure systems in an efficient
and effective manner to serve all population areas and demographics
2) Continue to implement the Flagstaff Regional Plan and focus efforts on specific plans

REGIONAL PLAN:
Goal REC.1. Maintain and grow the region’s healthy system of convenient and accessible parks,
recreation facilities, and trails.
Goal NH.1. Foster and maintain healthy and diverse urban, suburban, and rural neighborhoods in the
Flagstaff region. 

Has There Been Previous Council Decision on This:
This is an action item from the Plaza Vieja Neighborhood Plan, adopted by Council in October 2015
(Resolution 2015-35).

Options and Alternatives:
Options and Alternatives:
1) Approve the ordinance as proposed
2) Approve the ordinance with conditions
3) Deny the ordinance based on the required findings in Section 10-20.50.040(F)(1)(a) of the Flagstaff
Zoning Code

Background/History:
The Applicant, the City of Flagstaff Parks and Recreation Department, on behalf of the property owner,
the City of Flagstaff, is requesting a Zoning Map amendment to rezone approximately 1.07 acres to the
Public Facility (PF) zone. A Public Facility (PF) designation would better align with the site’s existing and
anticipated future use as a city park. The primary intention of this rezoning case is to carry forward an
implementation strategy set forth in the Specific Plan to rezone both parks located in the neighborhood’s
Transition Area. This rezoning case supports a vision of neighborhood preservation and enhancement of
parks as stated in the La Plaza Neighborhood Specific Plan.

Key Considerations:
All proposed amendments shall be evaluated as to whether the application is consistent with and
conforms to the goals of the General Plan and any applicable specific plans; and the proposed
amendment will not be detrimental to the public interest, health, safety, convenience, or welfare of the
City of Flagstaff (the “City”) and will add to the public good as described in the General Plan; and the
affected site is physically suitable in terms of design, location, shape, size, operating characteristics, and
the provision of public and emergency vehicle access, public services, and utilities to ensure that the
requested zone designation and the proposed or anticipated uses and/or development will not endanger,
jeopardize, or otherwise constitute a hazard to the property or improvements in the vicinity in which the
property is located. If the application is not consistent with the General Plan and any other applicable
specific plan, the applicable plan must be amended in compliance with the procedures established in
Chapter 11-10 of the City Code (Title 11: General Plans and Subdivisions) prior to considering the
proposed amendment.
 

Expanded Financial Considerations:
None



Community Benefits and Considerations:
Community benefits and considerations related to this Zoning Map amendment request are addressed in
the attached Planning and Zoning Commission staff report dated February 19, 2016.

Community Involvement:
All property owners within 600-feet of this site were notified via mail of the zoning map amendment and
asked to attend the October 19, 2015 Parks and Recreation Commission meeting. Additionally, a notice
was run in the Daily Sun, which discussed the zoning map amendment and identified the Parks and
Recreation Commission meeting as a venue for discussion. The Commission did not meet quorum for
their advertised meeting, but a public meeting for the rezoning was still held with the applicant and other
city staff present. No members of the public inquired about the rezoning of the property. 

Expanded Options and Alternatives:
None

Attachments:  PZ Staff Report
Application
Current Zoning Map
Public Notice
LPVNA Letter
Exhibit A
Ord. 2016-15



PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT
ZONING MAP AMENDMENT

PUBLIC HEARING DATE: February 19, 2016
PZ-15-00138 MEETING DATE: February 24, 2016

REPORT BY: Jennifer Mikelson

REQUEST

A Zoning Map amendment request from the City of Flagstaff Parks and Recreation Department, on behalf of the property
owner, City of Flagstaff, to rezone approximately 1.07 acres within Section 21, Township 21 North, Range 7 East, from the 
Highway Commercial (HC) zone to the Public Facility (PF) zone.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION

Staff recommends the Planning and Zoning Commission forward the Zoning Map amendment to the City Council with a 
recommendation for approval.

PRESENT LAND USE

The site is known as Guadalupe Park and is utilized as a baseball field with minimal parking and portable restroom facilities. 

PROPOSED LAND USE

No change of use is anticipated on the site.

NEIGHBORHOOD DEVELOPMENT

North: Single family residences; Single Family Residential Neighborhood (R1N) zone
East: Commercial business; Highway Commercial (HC) zone
South: Multi-family residential development; High Density Residential (HR) zone
West: Single family residences; Highway Commercial (HC) zone

REQUIRED FINDINGS

STAFF REVIEW. An application for a Zoning Map amendment shall be submitted to the Planning Director and shall be 
reviewed and a recommendation prepared. The Planning Director’s recommendation shall be transmitted to the Planning 
Commission in the form of a staff report prior to a scheduled public hearing. The recommendation shall set forth whether the 
Zoning Map amendment should be granted, granted with conditions to mitigate anticipated impacts caused by the proposed 
development, or denied; and shall include an evaluation of the consistency and conformance of the proposed amendment to
the goals of the General Plan and any applicable specific plans; and a recommendation on the amendment based on the 
standards of the zones set forth in Section 10-40.20 “Establishment of Zones” of the Zoning Code (Page 40.20-1).

FINDINGS FOR REVIEWING PROPOSED AMENDMENTS. All proposed amendments shall be evaluated as to 
whether the application is consistent with and conforms to the goals of the General Plan and any applicable specific plans; 
and the proposed amendment will not be detrimental to the public interest, health, safety, convenience, or welfare of the City 
of Flagstaff (the “City”) and will add to the public good as described in the General Plan; and the affected site is physically 
suitable in terms of design, location, shape, size, operating characteristics, and the provision of public and emergency vehicle 
access, public services, and utilities to ensure that the requested zone designation and the proposed or anticipated uses and/or 



PZ-15-00138
February 19, 2016
Page 2

development will not endanger, jeopardize, or otherwise constitute a hazard to the property or improvements in the vicinity 
in which the property is located. If the application is not consistent with the General Plan and any other applicable specific 
plan, the applicable plan must be amended in compliance with the procedures established in Chapter 11-10 of the City Code 
(Title 11: General Plans and Subdivisions) prior to considering the proposed amendment.

STAFF REVIEW

Introduction/Background: The Applicant, the City of Flagstaff Recreation Department, on behalf of the property owner, 
the City of Flagstaff, is requesting a Zoning Map amendment to rezone approximately 1.07 acres to the Public Facility (PF) 
zone. A Public Facility (PF) designation would better align with the site’s existing and anticipated future use as a city park.
The primary intention of this rezoning case is to carry forward an implementation strategy set forth in the Specific Plan to 
rezone both parks located in the neighborhood’s Transition Area. This rezoning case supports a vision of neighborhood 
preservation and enhancement of parks as stated in the La Plaza Neighborhood Specific Plan.

Proposed Development Concept Plans

No change of use is anticipated on the subject property.

General Plan – Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030:

Goal REC.1. Maintain and grow the region’s healthy system of convenient and accessible parks, recreation facilities, and 
trails.

La Plaza Neighborhood Specific Plan:

Goal 3: Enhance parks maintenance, design, and connection
Ensure City parks in La Plaza Vieja provide safe, user-friendly, and interactive neighborhood spaces for gatherings and 
family activities.
Implementation Strategy 6T.3: Rezone all city owned parks in La Plaza Vieja to the Public Facilities zone. 

The application of the Public Facility (PF) zone implements the above goals of the FRP30 and the La Plaza Vieja 
Neighborhood Specific Plan. This rezoning also specifically enacts an implementation strategy from the neighborhood’s 
Specific Plan. Applying the Public Facility (PF) zone to the property reflects its current use as a neighborhood park and 
protects the continued use of the property for that purpose.   

Zoning – City of Flagstaff Zoning Code:

The Public Facility (PF) zone applies to public and quasi-public lands within the city. The intent of the Public Facility (PF) 
zone is intended to preserve and encourage the establishment of public lands and to provide an area within the City for 
active and passive recreation uses, parks, public open space, governmental buildings and facilities, schools and school 
grounds, quasi-public buildings and facilities, and related uses.

PUBLIC SYSTEMS IMPACT ANALYSIS

Traffic and Access: No analysis was required.

Water and Wastewater: No analysis was required.



PZ-15-00138
February 19, 2016
Page 3

Stormwater: No stormwater improvements have been required.

Parks and Recreation: This zoning map amendment is not expected to impact operations and maintenance of the existing 
park.

OTHER REQUIREMENTS

Resources: The subject property is not located within the Resource Protection Overlay (RPO) zone.

Citizen Participation: All property owners within 600-feet of this site were notified via mail of the zoning map amendment
and asked to attend the October 19, 2015 Parks and Recreation Commission meeting. Additionally, a notice was run in the 
Daily Sun, which discussed the zoning map amendment and identified the Parks and Recreation Commission meeting as a 
venue for discussion. The Commission did not meet quorum for their advertised meeting, but a public meeting for the 
rezoning was still held with the applicant and other city staff present. No members of the public inquired about the rezoning
of the property.

DISCUSSION

The application of the Public Facility (PF) zone to the subject property enacts the Neighborhood Plan’s implementation 
strategy to rezone all parks in the Transition Area. It also removes the possibility of future commercial development or 
significant impacts to the site. With the Public Facility (PF) zoning designation, the property will continue to serve as a 
public recreation facility for the surrounding neighborhood and all city residents. 

RECOMMENDATION

Staff believes that the proposed Zoning Map amendment has been justified and would recommend in favor of amending the 
Zoning Map for 1.07 acres to the Public Facility (PF) zone.

ATTACHMENTS

o Zoning Map amendment application
o Current City of Flagstaff Zoning Map
o Public hearing legal advertisements





City of Flagstaff - Zoning Map

COF GIS

Parcels
February 16, 2016

0 0.015 0.030.0075 mi

0 0.025 0.050.0125 km

1:1,000

 
Web AppBuilder for ArcGIS









 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2016-15 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF, 
AMENDING THE FLAGSTAFF ZONING MAP TO REZONE APPROXIMATELY 
1.07 ACRES OF REAL PROPERTY LOCATED AT 805 WEST CLAY AVENUE 
FROM HIGHWAY COMMERCIAL (HC) ZONE TO PUBLIC FACILITY (PF) 
ZONE; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY, AND ESTABLISHING AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE 

 
 
RECITALS: 
 
WHEREAS, The City of Flagstaff (the “Applicant”), applied for a Zoning Map Amendment to 
rezone approximately 1.07 acres of land located at 805 West Clay Avenue, Coconino County, 
Arizona, a legal description of which is provided in Exhibit “A” attached hereto (“the Property”), 
in order to have the zoning for the property match the property’s existing use as a City park; and  
 
WHEREAS, in furtherance of the Applicant’s reasons for the rezone, the Applicant has applied 
to the City of Flagstaff to amend the zoning of the Property from Highway Commercial (HC) 
zone to Public Facility (PF) zone for approximately 1.07 acres; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Applicant conducted a neighborhood meeting on October 19, 2015, to discuss 
the proposed Zoning Map Amendment with the surrounding community, as required by Section 
10-20.50.040 of the Flagstaff Zoning Code; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission has formally considered the present Zoning 
Map Amendment application following proper notice and a public hearing on February 24, 2016, 
and has recommended approval of the requested zoning application; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Council finds that the Applicant has complied with all application requirements 
set forth in Chapter 10-20 of the Flagstaff Zoning Code; and 
 
WHEREAS, the staff has recommended approval of the Zoning Map Amendment application; 
and 
 
WHEREAS, the Council has read and considered the staff reports prepared by the Planning 
Division and all attachments to those reports, the Applicant’s application, the narrative provided 
by the Applicant, and all statements made by the Applicant during the presentation to Council, 
and the Council finds that the proposed Zoning Map Amendment, meets the findings required 
by Section 10-20.50.040(F)(1)(a) of the Flagstaff Zoning Code. 
 
 
ENACTMENTS: 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF 
AS FOLLOWS: 
 
SECTION 1. The foregoing recitals are incorporated as if fully set forth herein. 
 
SECTION 2. The amendment requested in the application is consistent with and conforms to 
the goals of the General Plan. 



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-15  PAGE 2 
 
 
 
SECTION 3. The amendment requested in the application will not be detrimental to the public 
interest, health, safety, convenience or welfare of the City and will add to the public good as 
described in the General Plan. 
 
SECTION 4. The affected site is physically suitable in terms of design, location, shape, size, 
operating characteristics, and the provision of public and emergency vehicle access and public 
services and utilities to ensure that the amendment requested in the application will not 
endanger, jeopardize or otherwise constitute a hazard to the property or improvements in the 
vicinity in which the property is located. 
 
SECTION 5. The Zoning Map designation for the Property is hereby amended from the 
Highway Commercial (HC) zone to Public Facility (PF) zone for approximately 1.07 acres, as 
depicted in Exhibit “B”, through the approval of the application and all other documents attached 
to the staff summary submitted in support of this ordinance. 
 
SECTION 6. The City is specifically relying on all assertions made by the Applicant, or the 
applicant’s representatives, whether authorized or not, made at the public hearing on the zone 
change application unless the assertions were withdrawn on the record.  Those assertions are 
hereby incorporated into this ordinance. 
 
SECTION 7.  That City staff is hereby authorized to take such other and further measures and 
actions as are necessary and appropriate to carry out the terms, provisions and intents of this 
Ordinance. 
 
SECTION 8. If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase or portion of this ordinance 
or any part of the code adopted herein by reference is for any reason held to be invalid or 
unconstitutional by the decision of any court of competent jurisdiction, such decision shall not 
affect the validity of the remaining portions thereof. 
 
SECTION 9. This ordinance shall become effective thirty (30) days following adoption by the 
City Council. 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Flagstaff this 5th day of April, 2016. 
 
 
 
 
   
 MAYOR 
ATTEST: 
 
 
  
CITY CLERK 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
  
CITY ATTORNEY 



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-15  PAGE 3 
 
 

Exhibit “A” 
 

Legal Description of Property 





ORDINANCE NO. 2016-15  PAGE 4 
 
 

Exhibit “B” 
 

Legal Description of New Zoning 





  14. D. 5. a.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT

To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Jennifer Mikelson, Associate Planner

Date: 03/16/2016

Meeting Date: 03/22/2016

TITLE: 
Public Hearing, Consideration and Possible Adoption of Resolution No. 2016-11:  A
resolution amending the Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 to change the area type designation on Maps 21
and 22 from Future Suburban area type to Park/Open Space area type for approximately 5.31 acres
located off Highland Avenue. (Highland Avenue Minor Regional Plan Amendment)

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
1) Hold the Public Hearing
2) Read Resolution No. 2016-11 by title only
3) City Clerk reads Resolution No. 2016-11 by title only (if approved above)
4) Adopt Resolution No. 2016-11

Executive Summary:
A minor Regional Plan amendment request to change the area type designation on Maps 21 and 22 from
Existing Suburban to Park/Open Space for approximately 5.31 acres located off Highland Avenue.

Financial Impact:
None

Connection to Council Goal and/or Regional Plan:
COUNCIL GOALS:
1) Provide sustainable and equitable public facilities, services, and infrastructure systems in an efficient
and effective manner to serve all population areas and demographics
2) Continue to implement the Flagstaff Regional Plan and focus efforts on specific plans
  



REGIONAL PLAN:
Goal REC.1. Maintain and grow the region’s healthy system of convenient and accessible parks,
recreation facilities, and trails.
Goal NH.1. Foster and maintain healthy and diverse urban, suburban, and rural neighborhoods in the
Flagstaff region. 

Has There Been Previous Council Decision on This:
None

Options and Alternatives:
Options and Alternatives:
1) Approve the resolution as proposed
2) Approve the resolution with conditions
3) Deny the resolution

Background/History:
The applicant, City of Flagstaff Recreation Department, is requesting a minor Plan amendment to ensure
conformance with a proposed Zoning Map amendment to designate city owned property with Public
Facility (PF) zoning. The change in area type from Existing Suburban to Park/Open Space will affect
approximately 5.31 acres of land depicted on the Future Growth Illustration (Maps 21 and 22). The
amendment table on page III-9 of the Plan states that a minor Plan amendment is appropriate for the
designation of any land for open space. In this instance, the Public Facility (PF) zoning category is
considered a Park/Open Space land use category given the development and use restrictions of that
zone. Most public parks in the city are also zoned Public Facility (PF). Formalizing the Parks/Open Space
area type over the subject site will formerly designate the intended land use of the subject property, and
will enact the deed restrictions placed on both parcels.
 
The subject property is located off Highland Avenue in the Woodlands Village Unit 3 subdivision. Details
about future park facilities and other improvements to the site will be determined by the Parks
Department.

Key Considerations:
The Planning and Zoning Commission shall find that the proposed Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 (FRP30
or the Plan) amendment meets the requirements of the General Plan and Subdivision Code (City Code
Title 11). In considering the request for an amendment to the Plan, the goals and policies in the Plan
should be considered to ensure that the requested change to the Future Growth Illustration is in
conformance to the overall vision of the Plan. “The Flagstaff Regional Plan establishes the vision for the
future growth and development of Flagstaff and its surrounding area through goals and policies” (p. III-4).
“General plans are not static documents; they recognize growth as a dynamic process, which may
require revisions to the plan as circumstances or changes warrant” (p. III-1).
 
As discussed in the “How This Plan Works” chapter (page III-4), the Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 is used
in the regulatory decision-making process by the Planning & Zoning Commission, City Council and city
staff.  The Commission and the Council are responsible for making development decisions such as
zoning map amendments or annexations, approval which depends on whether the proposed changes or
projects are consistent with the Plan’s goals and policies. The Future Growth Illustration on Maps 21
(regional scale) and 22 (city scale) and the text of the Plan will provide supplemental information for the
interpretation of goals and policies. In case of any conflict between the Future Growth Illustration and the
Plan’s goals and policies, the goals and policies will prevail. The Future Growth Illustration displays broad
land use categories, called “area types,” which describe the placemaking context of Urban, Suburban,
Rural, Special Planning Area, Park/Open Space, or in some cases, Area in White. Areas in White retain



existing entitlements and have no other assigned area type. In most cases, these parcels are public
lands held by the Forest Service or city.

Expanded Financial Considerations:
None

Community Benefits and Considerations:
Community benefits and considerations related to this minor Regional Plan amendment request are
addressed in the attached Planning and Zoning Commission staff report dated February 19, 2016.

Community Involvement:
Public hearings before the Planning and Zoning Commission and City Council are conducted in
conjunction with the Zoning Map amendment request.  In accordance with Arizona Revised Statute and
Section 10-20.30.080 (p. 20.30-9) of the Zoning Code, notice of the public hearings was provided by
placing an ad in the Daily Sun, posting notices on the property, and mailing a notice to all property
owners within 600 feet of the subject property.  The mailing asked residents and property owners to
attend the October 19, 2015 Parks and Recreation Commission meeting as a venue for discussion.  The
Commission did not meet quorum for their advertised meeting, but a public meeting for the rezoning was
still held with the applicant and other city staff present.  No members of the public attended this meeting
and there were no email inquiries about this plan amendment.

Expanded Options and Alternatives:
None

Attachments:  PZ Staff Report
Application
Proposed Future Growth Illustration
Public Notice
Res. 2016-11



PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT
FLAGSTAFF REGIONAL PLAN 2030 AMENDMENT

PUBLIC HEARING DATE: February 19, 2016 
PZ-15-00140-01 MEETING DATE: February 24, 2016

REPORT BY: Jennifer Mikelson
REQUEST

A minor Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 amendment request by the City of Flagstaff to change the area type designation
on Map 21 and 22 from Existing Suburban, to Park/Open Space for approximately 5.31 acres located off Highland 
Avenue.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION

Staff recommends the Planning and Zoning Commission forward the minor Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 amendment
to the City Council with a recommendation for approval.

PRESENT LAND USE

The site is currently undeveloped, located off Highland Avenue on two parcels totaling 5.31 acres.

PROPOSED LAND USE

The site may become a neighborhood park servicing Boulder Point and other west Flagstaff neighborhoods depending 
upon available funding.

NEIGHBORHOOD DEVELOPMENT

North: Vacant / Mountain Trail Apartments; Medium Density Residential (MR) /Highway Commercial (HC) zones
East: Commercial shopping center; Highway Commercial (HC) zone
South: Interstate 40
West: Vacant; Medium Density Residential (MR) zone

REQUIRED FINDINGS

The Planning and Zoning Commission shall find that the proposed Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 (FRP30 or the Plan) 
amendment meets the requirements of the General Plan and Subdivision Code (City Code Title 11).

In considering the request for an amendment to the Plan, the goals and policies in the Plan should be considered to 
ensure that the requested change to the Future Growth Illustration is in conformance to the overall vision of the Plan. 
“The Flagstaff Regional Plan establishes the vision for the future growth and development of Flagstaff and its 
surrounding area through goals and policies” (p. III-4). “General plans are not static documents; they recognize growth 
as a dynamic process, which may require revisions to the plan as circumstances or changes warrant” (p. III-1).

STAFF REVIEW

Introduction/Background Discussion
This request is the first of two related items on the Commission’s agenda; the second item is identified as a Zoning 
Map amendment request.

The applicant, City of Flagstaff Recreation Department, is requesting a minor Plan amendment to ensure conformance 
with a proposed Zoning Map amendment to designate city owned property with Public Facility (PF) zoning. The
change in area type from Existing Suburban to Park/Open Space will affect approximately 5.31 acres of land depicted 
on the Future Growth Illustration (Maps 21 and 22). The amendment table on page III-9 of the Plan states that a minor 



PZ-15-00140-01
February 19, 2016

2

Plan amendment is appropriate for the designation of any land for open space. In this instance, the Public Facility (PF) 
zoning category is considered a Park/Open Space land use category given the development and use restrictions of that 
zone. Most public parks in the city are also zoned Public Facility (PF). Formalizing the Parks/Open Space area type 
over the subject site will formerly designate the intended land use of the subject property, and will enact the deed 
restrictions placed on both parcels.

The subject property is located off Highland Avenue in the Woodlands Village Unit 3 subdivision. Details about future 
park facilities and other improvements to the site will be determined by the Parks Department.

Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 Amendment Request

As discussed in the “How This Plan Works” chapter (page III-4), the Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 is used in the 
regulatory decision-making process by the Planning & Zoning Commission, City Council and city staff.  The 
Commission and the Council are responsible for making development decisions such as zoning map amendments or 
annexations, approval which depends on whether the proposed changes or projects are consistent with the Plan’s goals 
and policies. The Future Growth Illustration on Maps 21 (regional scale) and 22 (city scale) and the text of the Plan 
will provide supplemental information for the interpretation of goals and policies. In case of any conflict between the 
Future Growth Illustration and the Plan’s goals and policies, the goals and policies will prevail. The Future Growth 
Illustration displays broad land use categories, called “area types,” which describe the placemaking context of Urban, 
Suburban, Rural, Special Planning Area, Park/Open Space, or in some cases, Area in White. Areas in White retain 
existing entitlements and have no other assigned area type. In most cases, these parcels are public lands held by the 
Forest Service or city. 

Attached are exhibits comparing the existing and proposed Future Growth Illustrations. The Plan’s maps and any 
applicable text should be considered in the context of the Plan’s goals and policies. A discussion of the FRP30 goals 
and policies is provided below. 

APPLICABLE GENERAL PLAN GOALS AND POLICIES 

Recreation
Goal REC.1. Maintain and grow the region’s healthy system of convenient and accessible parks, recreation facilities, and 
trails.
Policy Rec.1.1. Integrate active and passive recreational sites within walking distance throughout the region to 
promote a healthy community for all City and County residents and visitors.

Neighborhoods, Housing, and Urban Conservation
Goal NH.1. Foster and maintain healthy and diverse urban, suburban, and rural neighborhoods in the Flagstaff region.
Policy NH.1.1. Preserve and enhance existing neighborhoods.

Applying the Parks/Open Space area type reflects its intended use as a neighborhood park and permanently protects the 
property for that use. A future recreational facility will enhance the existing neighborhood character and quality of life in 
the area. The proximity of the site to Boulder Point residents and other west Flagstaff neighborhoods creates a healthy and 
well-connected community. Goals and policies in support of such public recreational opportunities and neighborhood 
preservation are reflected in the FRP30.

Policy Analysis: In summary, appropriate zoning and area type designations ensure that the subject site will serve as 
an active recreation facility for the surrounding neighborhood and the greater community. The list below identifies 
several key points and community benefits supporting (+) the proposed amendment:

+ This easily accessible site promotes connectivity with existing neighborhoods and residential areas. 
+ A new public park facility will fill the need for the comparatively underserved west side of Flagstaff.
+ Removal of the Existing Suburban area type will fulfil the deed restrictions placed on the land.



PZ-15-00140-01
February 19, 2016

3

PUBLIC SYSTEMS IMPACT ANALYSIS

No public service impact analysis was required.

OTHER REQUIREMENTS

Citizen Participation: Public hearings before the Planning and Zoning Commission and City Council are conducted 
in conjunction with the Zoning Map amendment request. In accordance with Arizona Revised Statute and Section 10-
20.30.080 (p. 20.30-9) of the Zoning Code, notice of the public hearings was provided by placing an ad in the Daily 
Sun, posting notices on the property, and mailing a notice to all property owners within 600 feet of the subject 
property. The mailing asked residents and property owners to attend the October 19, 2015 Parks and Recreation 
Commission meeting as a venue for discussion. The Commission did not meet quorum for their advertised meeting, but a 
public meeting for the rezoning was still held with the applicant and other city staff present. No members of the public 
attended this meeting and there were no email inquiries about this Plan amendment. 

RECOMMENDATION

Staff believes that the proposed amendment to the regional plan is supportable under the guidelines of the Flagstaff 
Regional Plan 2030, and would recommend approval of the proposed amendment.

ATTACHMENTS

Minor Regional Plan amendment application
Future Growth Illustration – existing/proposed
Public hearing legal advertisement





S BEULAH
BLVD

S W
OODLANDS

VILLAGE BLVD

W FOREST
MEADOWS ST

S BEULAH BLVD

S LAKE

MARY RD

S M
ILT

ON
 R

D

§̈¦17

§̈¦40

§̈¦17

§̈¦40

0 0.1 0.2 0.3 0.40.05
Miles

Legend
Parks/Open Space
Proposed Parks/Open Space
Proposed City Limit

Gro wth Illustratio n Area Typ es- Future
Visio n Area Typ es

Rural - Future
Suburban - Future
Urban - Future
Industrial / Business Park - Special District

Gro wth Illustratio n Area Typ es- Existing
Visio n Area Typ es

Existing Entitlements Retained
Industrial / Business Park - Existing
Rural - Existing
Special District
Suburban - Existing
Urban - Existing 
City Limits Cartegraphic
FMPO Boundary

Parc els
Parcels

¯

Highland Avenue Open Space Minor Plan Amendment

Date Saved: 2/11/2016 10:16:08 AM Author: Sara Dechter

The Future Gro wth Illustratio n defines the geo grap hic  lo c atio ns o f area typ es
and p lac e typ es. It sho ws the sp atial relatio nship  o f existing and future 
develo p ment and is intended to  be used in  c o njunc tio n with the Natural 
Enviro nment Map s (Map s 6-8) and the Ro ad Netwo rk  Map  (Map  25). This 
Illustratio n sho uld no t be relied up o n to  determine where sp ec ific  land uses 
are allo wed; that info rmatio n is fo und in City Co de Title 10 (Zo ning Co de) 
and the Zo ning Map . In c ase o f any c o nflic t between the Future Gro wth
Illustratio n and the Regio nal Plan’s go als and p o lic ies, the go als  and 

p o lic ies will p revail.





RESOLUTION NO. 2016-11 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE FLAGSTAFF CITY COUNCIL AMENDING THE 
FLAGSTAFF REGIONAL PLAN 2030 TO CHANGE THE AREA TYPE 
DESIGNATION OF APPROXIMATELY 5.31 ACRES OF REAL PROPERTY ON 
MAPS 21 AND 22 GENERALLY LOCATED AT THE END OF  HIGHLAND 
AVENUE WEST OF WOODLANDS VILLAGE BOULEVARD FROM FUTURE 
SUBURBAN AREA TYPE TO PARK/OPEN SPACE AREA TYPE; PROVIDING 
FOR SEVERABILITY, AND ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE DATE 

 
 
RECITALS: 
 
WHEREAS, the Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 (the “Regional Plan”) was adopted by the Mayor 
and Council of the City of Flagstaff (the “City Council”) on January 14, 2014 and ratified by the 
qualified electors of the City of Flagstaff (the “City”) on May 20, 2014; and 
 
WHEREAS, among other things, the Regional Plan establishes the authority and procedure for 
minor amendments; and  
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to section § 9-461.06, Arizona Revised Statutes, and the Regional Plan, 
the City has consulted with, advised, and provided the opportunity for public comment on the 
proposed amendment to the Regional Plan; and  
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to A.R.S. § 9-461.06 and the Regional Plan, the City Planning and Zoning 
Commission held a public hearing on the proposed Regional Plan amendment on February 24, 
2016, and provided notice of such hearing in the manner required by A.R.S. § 9-461.06(E); and 
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to A.R.S. § 9-461.06 and the Regional Plan, the City Council held a public 
hearing in the City Council Chambers on the proposed Regional Plan amendment on March 22, 
2016, and provided notice of such hearing by publication of said notice in the manner required 
by A.R.S. § 9-461.06(E); and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council finds and determines that (i) proper notice of the proposed 
Regional Plan amendment has been given in a manner required by A.R.S. § 9-461.06, and (ii) 
that each of the required publications have been made in the Arizona Daily Sun, a newspaper of 
general circulation within the City; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council desires to amend the Regional Plan to change the area type 
designation of approximately 5.31 acres of real property on Maps 21 and 22 generally located at 
the end of Highland Avenue west of Woodlands Village Boulevard from Existing Suburban area 
type to Park/Open Space area type.  
 
 
ENACTMENTS: 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF 
AS FOLLOWS: 
 
SECTION 1. That the Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 is hereby amended to change the area 
type designation of approximately 5.31 acres of real property on Maps 21 and 22 generally 



RESOLUTION NO. 2016-11   PAGE 2 
   
  
located at the end of Highland Avenue west of Woodlands Village Boulevard, as more 
particularly depicted in Exhibit “A” (Future Growth Illustration – Proposed), from Existing 
Suburban area type to Park/Open Space area type.  
 
SECTION 2. That the Mayor, the City Manager, the City Clerk and the City Attorney are 
hereby authorized to take all steps necessary to carry out the purpose and intent of this 
Resolution.  
 
SECTION 3. This resolution shall become effective thirty (30) days following adoption by the 
City Council. 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Flagstaff this 22nd day of March, 
2016. 
 
 
 
               
        MAYOR 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
  
CITY CLERK 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
 
  
CITY ATTORNEY 
 



S BEULAH
BLVD

S W
OODLANDS

VILLAGE BLVD

W FOREST
MEADOWS ST

S BEULAH BLVD

S LAKE

MARY RD

S M
ILT

ON
 R

D

§̈¦17

§̈¦40

§̈¦17

§̈¦40

0 0.1 0.2 0.3 0.40.05
Miles

Legend
Parks/Open Space
Proposed Parks/Open Space
Proposed City Limit

Gro wth Illustratio n Area Typ es- Future
Visio n Area Typ es

Rural - Future
Suburban - Future
Urban - Future
Industrial / Business Park - Special District

Gro wth Illustratio n Area Typ es- Existing
Visio n Area Typ es

Existing Entitlements Retained
Industrial / Business Park - Existing
Rural - Existing
Special District
Suburban - Existing
Urban - Existing 
City Limits Cartegraphic
FMPO Boundary

Parc els
Parcels

¯

Highland Avenue Open Space Minor Plan Amendment

Date Saved: 2/11/2016 10:16:08 AM Author: Sara Dechter

The Future Gro wth Illustratio n defines the geo grap hic  lo c atio ns o f area typ es
and p lac e typ es. It sho ws the sp atial relatio nship  o f existing and future 
develo p ment and is intended to  be used in  c o njunc tio n with the Natural 
Enviro nment Map s (Map s 6-8) and the Ro ad Netwo rk  Map  (Map  25). This 
Illustratio n sho uld no t be relied up o n to  determine where sp ec ific  land uses 
are allo wed; that info rmatio n is fo und in City Co de Title 10 (Zo ning Co de) 
and the Zo ning Map . In c ase o f any c o nflic t between the Future Gro wth
Illustratio n and the Regio nal Plan’s go als and p o lic ies, the go als  and 

p o lic ies will p revail.



  14. D. 5. b.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT

To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Jennifer Mikelson, Associate Planner

Date: 03/16/2016

Meeting Date: 03/22/2016

TITLE: 
Public Hearing, Consideration and Possible Adoption of Ordinance No. 2016-17:  An ordinance of
the City of Flagstaff amending the Flagstaff Zoning Map to rezone approximately 5.31 acres of real
property located off Highland Avenue from Highway Commercial (HC) to Public Facility (PF). (Highland
Avenue Zoning Map Amendment)

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
At the March 22, 2016 Council Meeting:
1) Hold the Public Hearing
2) Read Ordinance No. 2016-17 by title only for the first time
3) City Clerk reads Ordinance No. 2016-17 by title only (if approved above)
At the April 5, 2016 Council Meeting:
4) Read Ordinance No. 2016-17 by title only for the final time
5) City Clerk reads Ordinance No. 2016-17 by title only (if approved above)
6)  Adopt Ordinance No. 2016-17

Executive Summary:
A Zoning Map Amendment request to rezone approximately 5.31 acres located off Highland Avenue from
Highway Commercial (HC) to Public Facility (PF).

Financial Impact:
None
  



Connection to Council Goal and/or Regional Plan:
COUNCIL GOALS:
1) Provide sustainable and equitable public facilities, services, and infrastructure systems in an efficient
and effective manner to serve all population areas and demographics
2) Continue to implement the Flagstaff Regional Plan and focus efforts on specific plans
REGIONAL PLAN:
Goal REC.1. Maintain and grow the region’s healthy system of convenient and accessible parks,
recreation facilities, and trails.
Goal NH.1. Foster and maintain healthy and diverse urban, suburban, and rural neighborhoods in the
Flagstaff region. 

Has There Been Previous Council Decision on This:
None

Options and Alternatives:
Options and Alternatives:
1) Approve the ordinance as proposed
2) Approve the ordinance with conditions
3) Deny the ordinance based on the required findings in Section 10-20.50.040(F)(1)(a) of the Flagstaff
Zoning Code

Background/History:
The Applicant, the City of Flagstaff Recreation Department, on behalf of the property owner, the City of
Flagstaff, is requesting a Zoning Map amendment to rezone approximately 5.31 acres to the Public
Facility (PF) zone. The Public Facility (PF) zone is a more appropriate land use designation for the
anticipated use as a public neighborhood park. Furthermore, it is the intent of this rezoning case to carry
forward a deed restriction placed on the subject properties which states that they shall only be used for
“open space and public park purposes.”

Key Considerations:
All proposed amendments shall be evaluated as to whether the application is consistent with and
conforms to the goals of the General Plan and any applicable specific plans; and the proposed
amendment will not be detrimental to the public interest, health, safety, convenience, or welfare of the
City of Flagstaff (the “City”) and will add to the public good as described in the General Plan; and the
affected site is physically suitable in terms of design, location, shape, size, operating characteristics, and
the provision of public and emergency vehicle access, public services, and utilities to ensure that the
requested zone designation and the proposed or anticipated uses and/or development will not endanger,
jeopardize, or otherwise constitute a hazard to the property or improvements in the vicinity in which the
property is located. If the application is not consistent with the General Plan and any other applicable
specific plan, the applicable plan must be amended in compliance with the procedures established in
Chapter 11-10 of the City Code (Title 11: General Plans and Subdivisions) prior to considering the
proposed amendment.

Expanded Financial Considerations:
None

Community Benefits and Considerations:
Community benefits and considerations related to this Zoning Map amendment are addressed in the



Community benefits and considerations related to this Zoning Map amendment are addressed in the
attached Planning and Zoning Commission staff report dated February 19, 2016.

Community Involvement:
All property owners within 600-feet of this site were notified via mail of the zoning map amendment and
asked to attend the October 19, 2015 Parks and Recreation Commission meeting. Additionally, a notice
was run in the Daily Sun, which discussed the zoning map amendment and identified the Parks and
Recreation Commission meeting as a venue for discussion. The Commission did not meet quorum for
their advertised meeting, but a public meeting for the rezoning was still held with the applicant and other
City staff present. No members of the public inquired about the rezoning of this property.

Expanded Options and Alternatives:
None

Attachments:  PZ Staff Report
Application
Zoning Map
Public Notice
Exhibit A
Ord. 2016-17



PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT
ZONING MAP AMENDMENT

PUBLIC HEARING DATE: February 19, 2016
PZ-15-00140 MEETING DATE: February 24, 2016

REPORT BY: Jennifer Mikelson

REQUEST

A Zoning Map amendment request from the City of Flagstaff Parks and Recreation Department, on behalf of the property
owner, City of Flagstaff, to rezone approximately 5.31 acres within Section 10, Township 21 North, Range 7 East, from the 
Highway Commercial (HC) zone to the Public Facility (PF) zone.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION

Staff recommends the Planning and Zoning Commission forward the Zoning Map amendment to the City Council with a 
recommendation for approval.

PRESENT LAND USE

The site is currently undeveloped, located off Highland Avenue on two parcels totaling 5.31 acres.

PROPOSED LAND USE

It is anticipated that the site may become a neighborhood park servicing Boulder Point and other west Flagstaff
neighborhoods depending upon available funding. 

NEIGHBORHOOD DEVELOPMENT

North: Vacant / Mountain Trail Apartments; Medium Density Residential (MR) / Highway Commercial (HC) zones
East: Commercial shopping center; Highway Commercial (HC) zone
South: Interstate 40
West: Vacant; Medium Density Residential (MR) zone

REQUIRED FINDINGS

STAFF REVIEW. An application for a Zoning Map amendment shall be submitted to the Planning Director and shall be 
reviewed and a recommendation prepared. The Planning Director’s recommendation shall be transmitted to the Planning 
Commission in the form of a staff report prior to a scheduled public hearing. The recommendation shall set forth whether the 
Zoning Map amendment should be granted, granted with conditions to mitigate anticipated impacts caused by the proposed 
development, or denied; and shall include an evaluation of the consistency and conformance of the proposed amendment 
with the goals of the General Plan and any applicable specific plans; and a recommendation on the amendment based on the 
standards of the zones set forth in Section 10-40.20 “Establishment of Zones” of the Zoning Code (Page 40.20-1).

FINDINGS FOR REVIEWING PROPOSED AMENDMENTS. All proposed amendments shall be evaluated as to 
whether the application is consistent with and conforms to the goals of the General Plan and any applicable specific plans; 
and the proposed amendment will not be detrimental to the public interest, health, safety, convenience, or welfare of the City 
of Flagstaff (the “City”) and will add to the public good as described in the General Plan; and the affected site is physically 
suitable in terms of design, location, shape, size, operating characteristics, and the provision of public and emergency vehicle 



PZ-15-00140
February 19, 2016
Page 2

access, public services, and utilities to ensure that the requested zone designation and the proposed or anticipated uses and/or 
development will not endanger, jeopardize, or otherwise constitute a hazard to the property or improvements in the vicinity 
in which the property is located. If the application is not consistent with the General Plan and any other applicable specific 
plan, the applicable plan must be amended in compliance with the procedures established in Chapter 11-10 of the City Code 
(Title 11: General Plans and Subdivisions) prior to considering the proposed amendment.

STAFF REVIEW

Introduction/Background

The Applicant, the City of Flagstaff Recreation Department, on behalf of the property owner, the City of Flagstaff, is 
requesting a Zoning Map amendment to rezone approximately 5.31 acres to the Public Facility (PF) zone. The Public 
Facility (PF) zone is a more appropriate land use designation for the anticipated use as a public neighborhood park.
Furthermore, it is the intent of this rezoning case to carry forward a deed restriction placed on the subject properties which 
states that they shall only be used for “open space and public park purposes.”

Proposed Development Concept Plans

No immediate change of use is anticipated on the subject property.

General Plan – Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030

Goal REC.1. Maintain and grow the region’s healthy system of convenient and accessible parks, recreation facilities, and 
trails.

The application of the Public Facility (PF) zone implements the above noted goal of the FRP30 by enhancing recreation 
opportunities for residents within city limits. Applying the Public Facility (PF) zone to the site properly designates it for 
future use as a city park.

Zoning – City of Flagstaff Zoning Code

The Public Facility (PF) zone applies to public and quasi-public lands within the city. The intent of the Public Facility (PF) 
zone is intended to preserve and encourage the establishment of public lands and to provide an area within the City for 
active and passive recreation uses, parks, public open space, governmental buildings and facilities, schools and school 
grounds, quasi-public buildings and facilities, and related uses.

PUBLIC SYSTEMS IMPACT ANALYSIS

Traffic and Access: No analysis was required.

Water and Wastewater: No analysis was required.

Stormwater: No stormwater improvements have been required.

Parks and Recreation: No analysis was required.



PZ-15-00140
February 19, 2016
Page 3

OTHER REQUIREMENTS

Resources: The subject property is located within the Resource Protection Overlay (RPO) zone.

Citizen Participation: All property owners within 600-feet of this site were notified via mail of the zoning map amendment
and asked to attend the October 19, 2015 Parks and Recreation Commission meeting. Additionally, a notice was run in the 
Daily Sun, which discussed the zoning map amendment and identified the Parks and Recreation Commission meeting as a 
venue for discussion. The Commission did not meet quorum for their advertised meeting, but a public meeting for the 
rezoning was still held with the applicant and other City staff present. No members of the public inquired about the rezoning
of this property.

DISCUSSION

The application of the Public Facility (PF) zone to the subject property removes the possibility of any future commercial
development of the site. With the Public Facility (PF) designation, the property will be appropriately zoned to serve as a 
public recreational facility for the surrounding neighborhood, as stated in the property deed. 

RECOMMENDATION

Staff believes that the proposed Zoning Map amendment has been justified and would recommend in favor of amending the 
Zoning Map for 5.31 acres to the Public Facility (PF) zone.

ATTACHMENTS

o Zoning Map Amendment Application
o Current City of Flagstaff Zoning Map
o Public Hearing Legal Advertisements





City of Flagstaff - Zoning Map

COF GIS

Parcels
February 16, 2016

0 0.03 0.060.015 mi

0 0.055 0.110.0275 km

1:2,000

 
Web AppBuilder for ArcGIS









 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2016-17 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF, 
AMENDING THE FLAGSTAFF ZONING MAP TO REZONE APPROXIMATELY 
5.31 ACRES OF REAL PROPERTY LOCATED AT THE END OF HIGHLAND 
AVENUE WEST OF WOODLANDS VILLAGE BOULEVARD, FROM HIGHWAY 
COMMERCIAL (HC) TO PUBLIC FACILITY (PF); PROVIDING FOR 
SEVERABILITY, AND ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE DATE 

 
 
RECITALS: 
 
WHEREAS, The City of Flagstaff (the “Applicant”), applied for a Zoning Map Amendment to 
rezone approximately 5.31 acres of land located at the end of Highland Avenue west of 
Woodlands Village Boulevard, Coconino County, Arizona, a legal description of which is 
provided in Exhibit “A” attached hereto (“the Property”), in order to construct a park or open 
space area.    
 
WHEREAS, in furtherance of the Applicant’s reasons for the rezone, the Applicant has applied 
to the City of Flagstaff to amend the zoning of the Property from Highway Commercial (HC) to 
Public Facility (PF) for approximately 5.31 acres; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Applicant conducted a neighborhood meeting on October 19, 2015, to discuss 
the proposed Zoning Map Amendment with the surrounding community, as required by Section 
10-20.50.040 of the Flagstaff Zoning Code; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission has formally considered the present Zoning 
Map Amendment application following proper notice and a public hearing on February 24, 2016, 
and has recommended approval of the requested zoning application,; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Council finds that the Applicant has complied with all application requirements 
set forth in Chapter 10-20 of the Flagstaff Zoning Code; and 
 
WHEREAS, the staff has recommended approval of the Zoning Map Amendment application; 
and 
 
WHEREAS, the Council has read and considered the staff reports prepared by the Planning 
Division and all attachments to those reports, the Applicant’s application, the narrative provided 
by the Applicant, and all statements made by the Applicant during the presentation to Council, 
and the Council finds that the proposed Zoning Map Amendment, meets the findings required 
by Section 10-20.50.040(F)(1)(a) of the Flagstaff Zoning Code. 
 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF 
AS FOLLOWS: 
 
SECTION 1.  The foregoing recitals are incorporated as if fully set forth herein. 
 
SECTION 2.  The amendment requested in the application is consistent with and conforms to 
the goals of the General Plan. 
 



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-17  PAGE 2 
 
 
SECTION 3.  The amendment requested in the application will not be detrimental to the public 
interest, health, safety, convenience or welfare of the City and will add to the public good as 
described in the General Plan. 
 
SECTION 4.  The affected site is physically suitable in terms of design, location, shape, size, 
operating characteristics, and the provision of public and emergency vehicle access and public 
services and utilities to ensure that the amendment requested in the application will not 
endanger, jeopardize or otherwise constitute a hazard to the property or improvements in the 
vicinity in which the property is located. 
 
SECTION 5. The Zoning Map designation for the Property is hereby amended from the 
Highway Commercial (HC) zone to the Public Facility (PF) zone for approximately 5.31 acres, 
as depicted in Exhibit “B”, through the approval of the application and all other documents 
attached to the staff summary submitted in support of this ordinance. 
 
SECTION 6.  The City is specifically relying on all assertions made by the Applicant, or the 
applicant’s representatives, whether authorized or not, made at the public hearing on the zone 
change application unless the assertions were withdrawn on the record.  Those assertions are 
hereby incorporated into this ordinance. 
 
SECTION 7.  That City staff is hereby authorized to take such other and further measures and 
actions as are necessary and appropriate to carry out the terms, provisions and intents of this 
Ordinance. 
 
SECTION 9.  If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase or portion of this ordinance 
or any part of the code adopted herein by reference is for any reason held to be invalid or 
unconstitutional by the decision of any court of competent jurisdiction, such decision shall not 
affect the validity of the remaining portions thereof. 
 
SECTION 10. This ordinance shall become effective thirty (30) days following adoption by the 
City Council. 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Flagstaff this 5th day of April, 2016. 
 
 
 
 
   
 MAYOR 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
  
CITY CLERK 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
  
CITY ATTORNEY 



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-17  PAGE 3 
 
 

Exhibit “A” 
 

Legal Description of Property 







ORDINANCE NO. 2016-17  PAGE 4 
 
 

Exhibit “B” 
 

Legal Description of New Zoning 







  15. B.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT

To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Elizabeth A. Burke, City Clerk

Date: 03/16/2016

Meeting Date: 03/22/2016

TITLE
Consideration to Remove Item from Table and Postpone: Settlement Agreement and
Release between the Hopi Tribe and the City of Flagstaff. (Removal of item from the table and
postponing action to a future meeting) 
THE COUNCIL WILL NOT DISCUSS THIS ITEM - THEY WILL MAKE A MOTION TO REMOVE FROM
THE TABLE AND POSTPONE TO A DATE SELECTED BY THE CITY MANAGER.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Move to remove the item from the table and postpone to a future meeting date to be determined by
the City Manager.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:
At the Combined Special Meeting/Work Session of March 8, 2016, the City Council moved to table
consideration of the Settlement Agreement and Release between the Hopi Tribe and the City of Flagstaff.
Rule 10.04 of the City Council Rules of Procedure indicates that a motion to table is used to delay
discussion on an item until later in the meeting or until the next meeting. If the motion is successful, no
further discussion can be had without a motion to take off the table which must take place at the same
meeting or immediately succeeding meeting .

Should the Council wish to postpone consideration of this item to a future meeting, rather than let the
issue die, action of some sort is required to be taken at the March 22, 2016, Council meeting, to allow
time for additional information to be gathered. Therefore, this item has been added to the agenda as a
Regular Item ONLY for the purpose of removing the item from the table and moving to postpone it to a
future meeting date, to be determined by the City Manager. No discussion of the specific issue will be
held by the Council at the March 22, 2016, meeting.

INFORMATION:

Attachments: 
No file(s) attached.


	Agenda
	Minutes
	Att1_09.29.2015.CCWS
	Att2_01.12.2016.CCWS
	Att3_02.02.2016.CCRM
	Att4_02.16.2016.CCRM
	Att5_02.29.2016.CCSMES
	Att6_03.01.2016.CCSMES
	Att7_03.01.2016.CCRM
	Att8_03.08.2016.CCSMES
	Att9_03.11.2016.CCSMES
	Open Space Commission Appointments
	Att1_Open Space Roster
	Att2_Open Space Authority
	Disability Awareness Commission Appointments
	Att1_DAC Roster
	Att2_DAC Authority
	Landscape Services Contract
	Att1_Morning Dew Contract
	Att2_Summary Scoring Tabulation
	Street Maintenance 2016 improvements - Construction Phase 1
	Att1_CMAR Contract
	Att2_Phase 1 COF GMP 2016
	Att3_Clarifications and Assumptions
	Att4_Overlay Street List
	Att5_Overlay Key Map
	Consideration of an Intergovernmental, Agreement (IGA) with the State of Arizona, Department of Public Safety, regarding the State Gang Task Force.
	Att1_GIITEM-DPS IGA 2016-023
	Fourth Street Crosswalk Ramp Property
	Att1_Ord. 2016-10
	ORD2016.10.FourthStreetCrosswalks.Exhibit.pdf
	107-14-005b
	108-12-004F
	107-14-005b TCE


	Att2_Exhibit A Ordinance
	107-14-005b
	108-12-004F
	107-14-005b TCE

	Att3_Ramp Drawing
	Brannen Neighborhood Water and Sewer Improvement Project Phase I Construction 
	Att1_Brannen Site Exhibit
	Att2_Construction Contract
	Authorized Check Signatures
	Att1_Res. 2016-14
	City Code Clean-up
	Att1_Ord. 2016-11
	Att2_Ord. 2016-12
	Public Hearing, Consideration and Adoption of Resolution No. 2016-13 and Ordinance No. 2016-22
	Att1_Overview - Reed v. Town of Gilbert
	Att2_Res. 2016-13
	Att3_2016 Sign Standards Amendments
	Att4_Sign Standards Amendments Redline Version 
	Att5_Current Sign Standards
	Att6_Ord. 2016-22
	Ordinance 2016-08 The Hub Zoning Map Amendment
	Att1_Ord. 2016-08
	ORDINANCE NO. 2016-08

	Att2_DA Deal Points
	Att3_PandZ Staff Report
	Att4_Supplement
	Att5_PandZ Commission Packet Supplement
	1.27.15 CT PZC and Exhibits
	Flagstaff - Google Street Views  rendering_2016.01.22 (1) NASv2.pdf

	02.03.2016 PZC Mtg - The Hub - Public Comment Summary
	02.03.2016 PZC Mtg - The Hub on Campus - Public Comment Summary
	01.13.2016 - NWhite
	01.13.2016 - JWalka
	01.13.2016 - DWestheimer
	01.14.2016 - DThorson
	01.15.2016 - CSilver
	01.15.2016 - MMurov
	01.17.2016 - JJohnson
	01.18.2016 - VVanPuyvelde
	01.18.2016 - RThrathnigg
	01.20.2016 - LHuff
	01.26.2016 - WSalas-Humara
	01.26.2016 - GKluwin
	01.26.2016 - ERoss
	01.26.2016 - JGaun
	01.26.2016 - PTaylor
	01.27.2016 - KMaurer


	Att6_Public Comments
	02.16.2016 CC Mtg - The Hub on Campus - Public Comment Summary
	The Hub on Campus - Public Comment Summary (Supplement 3) - 02.01.2016
	01.29.2016 - MMcKell - Fwd  the Hub.msg
	01.29.2016 - MJones
	p&z ltr
	HUB student-parent comments
	Corvallis article

	01.29.2016 - NBranham - info on Hub for meeting.msg
	Hub letter and attachments


	The Hub Development Agreement
	Att1_Res. 2016-18
	Att2_Development Agreement
	McMillan Mesa Village Minor Regional Plan Amendment
	Att1_PandZ Staff Report
	Att2_Regional Plan Amendment Application
	Att3_McMillan Mesa Village Narrative
	Att4_Future Growth Illustration-Existing
	Att5_Future Growth Illustration - Proposed
	Att6_Res. 2016-08
	McMillan Mesa Village Specific Plan & Zoning Map Amendments
	Att1_PandZ Staff Report
	Att2_Zoning Map and Specific Plan Amendment Applications
	Att3_Existing Zoning Map
	Att4_Public Hearing Notice
	Att5_Impact Analysis Information
	Att6_Staff Revised McMillan Mesa Specific Plan replacement pages
	Att7_Public Comments
	Att8_Concept Plan D3
	Att9_Concept Plan D3 Elevations
	Att10_Concept Plan C, D1
	Att11_Concept Plan Elevations C, D1
	Att12_Site Analysis map
	Att13_Vicinity Map
	Att14_Context Analysis Map
	Att15_McMillan Mesa Village Subdivision Plat
	Att16_McMillan Mesa Specific Plan
	Att17_Ordinance No. 1779
	Att18_Public Participation Plan
	Att19_Existing Development Agreement
	Att20_Approved Natural Resource Protection Plan
	dac_RscrceExhibit-SHT1.pdf
	dac_RscrceExhibit-SHT2.pdf
	dac_RscrceExhibit-SHT3.pdf
	dac_RscrceExhibit-SHT4.pdf
	dac_RscrceExhibit-SHT5.pdf
	dac_RscrceExhibit-SHT6.pdf
	dac_RscrceExhibit-SHT7.pdf
	dac_RscrceExhibit-SHT8.pdf
	dac_RscrceExhibit-SHT9.pdf
	dac_RscrceExhibit-SHT10.pdf

	Att21_Ord. 2016-14
	ORDINANCE NO. 2016-14

	Att22_Exhibit A -Parcel C legal description
	Att23_Exhibit B-Parcel D1 legal description
	Att24_Exhibit C-Parcel D3
	Att25_Exhibit I-C - Development Area IC legal description
	Observatory Mesa Annexation
	Att1_Application and Narrative
	Att2_Planning and Zoning Commission Staff Report
	Att3_Annexation Legal Description
	Att4_Ord. 2016-20
	Observatory Mesa Regional Plan Amendment
	Att1_Planning and Zoning Commission Staff Report
	Att2_Future Growth Illustration Proposed
	Att3_Res. 2016-12
	Observatory Mesa Zoning Map Amendment
	Att1_Planning and Zoning Commission Report
	Att2_Observatory Mesa ZMA Application
	Att3_FRP 2030 Goals and Policies
	Att4_Open Space Commission Minutes
	Att5_Ord. 2016-21
	ORDINANCE NO. 2016-21

	Att6_Exhibit A
	Picture Canyon Zoning Map Amendment
	Att1_Planning and Zoning Commission Staff Report
	Att2_Application
	Att3_Picture Canyon Zoning Map 5
	Att4_Picture Canyon Zoning Map 6
	Att5_County Zoning Letter
	Att6_Picture Canyon HPC Report
	Att7_Open Space Commission Minutes
	Att8_FRP 2030 Goals and Policies
	Att9_Zoning Notice
	Att10_Ordinance No. 2016-19 Exhibit A
	Att11_Ord. 2016-19
	ORDINANCE NO. 2016-19

	Buffalo Park West Minor Regional Plan Amendment
	Att1_PZ Staff Report
	Att2_Application
	Att3_Proposed Future Growth Illustration
	Att4_Public Notice
	Att5_Res. 2016-10
	Buffalo Park West Zoning Map Amendment
	Att1_PZ Staff Report
	Att2_Application
	Att3_Zoning Map
	Att4_Floodway Utilities Map
	Att5_Public Notice
	Att6_Exhibit A
	Att7_Ord. 2016-16
	ORDINANCE NO. 2016-16

	Guadalupe Park Minor Regional Plan Amendment
	Att1_PZ Staff Report
	Att2_Application
	Att3_Proposed Future Growth Illustration
	Att4_Public Notice
	Att5_Res. 2016-09
	Att6_Res. 2016-09
	Guadalupe Park Zoning Map Amendment
	Att1_PZ Staff Report
	Att2_Application
	Att3_Current Zoning Map
	Att4_Public Notice
	Att5_LPVNA Letter
	Att6_Exhibit A
	Att7_Ord. 2016-15
	ORDINANCE NO. 2016-15

	Highland Avenue Minor Regional Plan Amendment
	Att1_PZ Staff Report
	Att2_Application
	Att3_Proposed Future Growth Illustration
	Att4_Public Notice
	Att5_Res. 2016-11
	Highland Avenue Zoning Map Amendment
	Att1_PZ Staff Report
	Att2_Application
	Att3_Zoning Map
	Att4_Public Notice
	Att5_Exhibit A
	Att6_Ord. 2016-17
	ORDINANCE NO. 2016-17

	Consideration of Moving Item from Tabling and Postponing_ Hopi Settlement

